Y / { { A

LIBRARIES

UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN-MADISON

History of Dunn County, Wisconsin. 1925

Minneapolis, Minnesota: H.C. Cooper, Jr. & Co., 1925
https://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/JQJDCQANMBRVD9D

This material may be protected by copyright law (Title 17, US Code).

For information on re-use see:
http://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/Copyright

The libraries provide public access to a wide range of material, including online exhibits, digitized
collections, archival finding aids, our catalog, online articles, and a growing range of materials in many
media.

When possible, we provide rights information in catalog records, finding aids, and other metadata that
accompanies collections or items. However, it is always the user's obligation to evaluate copyright and
rights issues in light of their own use.

728 State Street | Madison, Wisconsin 53706 | library.wisc.edu



istory of Dunn County Wisconsin
EN 977.5 C98 3 235000247862

00 0

urtiss-Wedge, F.

Rnomonie Public Library







mmmwaq
600 Wolske Bay
Menomonie, Wi 54751


















HISTORY OF

DUNN COUNTY
| 'WISCONSIN

COMPILED BY .
F. CURTISS-WEDGE, PH. D., GEO. O. JONES
AND OTHERS :

ILLUSTRATED

Manomonie Public Library
600 Wolske Bay Rd.
+» WI'54751

1925
H. C. COOPER, JR. & CO.

MINNEAPOLIS—WINONA
MINNESOTA



Available from:

HIGGINSON BOOK COMPANY
148 Washington Street
Post Office Box 778
Salem, Massachusetts 01970
508/745-7170

Complete catalogs of our genealogy and local
history reprins aie available. Please call or write.

This facsimile reprint has been photoreproduced
on acid-free paper manufactured to Library of Congress
standards (ANSI Standard C39.47-1984).
Hardcover bindings are Class A archival quality.

PRINTED AND BOUND
BY THE LEICHT PRESS
WINONA, - MINNESOTA



PREFACE

The aim of this book is to present in available form what the average citizen
desires to know about those events which have conjoined to make Dunn County
what it is today. To the narration of said events has been addzd biographical
mention of many former and present-day citizens, having a strong human interest
that will he personal, directly or indirectly, to many readers of the volume.

The material for the history proper has been drawn from many sources, among
them: the History of Northern Wisconsin, 1881; History of the Chippewa Valley,
1892; the back files of the Dunn County News; papers prepared by well known
pioneers and long-time residents of the county and read by them at meetings of the
Ol1d Settlers’ Society; official records at Madison and at the Dunn Countv court-
house; the Wisconsin Blue Book or legislative record: the state and federal census
reports giving various statistics; and other literary and documentary records. in
addition to which must be mentioned a considerable amount of valuable data that
was orally contributed.

The large amount of biography, amplified in many cases by more or less
genealogy, was obtained’ through personal interviews with those who are thus
represented, or with some member or members of their respective families.

The purely historical data—that contained on the first 246 pages of the volume—
after being compiled, was for the most part submitted to certain well informed
citizens for approval or correction before going to press. Mr. C. E. Freeman, of
Menomonie, in this capacity rendered much valuable service, also contributing some
articles from his own pen.  There were also many other helpers, some in Menomonie
and some in other parts of the county, to whom the publishers owe a debi -f grati-
tude.

Probably no perfect history was ever written, but we trust that in the preseut
work we have rectified the most serious errors of former historians of this region
without any of our own being sufficiently great to affect its value as a fairly reliable
history of the county of which it treats.

H. C. COOPER, ]JR. & CO.

Minneapolis, Minn.
September, 1925
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CHAPTER I
PRAIRIE DU CHIEN AND THE RED CEDAR

Dunn County lies at an altitude of about 1,000 feet above sea level in its highest
part. It is situated near the southern border of the first continent that was lifted
from the ocean’s bed, and which extended from Labrador southwest along the
margin of the St. Lawrence River and the Great Lakes, and crossed into Michigan
and Wisconsin, thence stretching northwest to McKenzie's River. .As the land
gradually neared the surface with an ever-advancing shore, it was subject to the
action of the waves, the heat and cold, and other vicissitudes of that distant geologic
period, and the disintegration of the rock-bound coast followed, pulverizing the
formation and forming numerous beds and drifts. In the process of time these
became cemented and indurated, and the rock produced what is called the Potsdam
sandstone. That this rock was formed by the disintegration of an older rock, by
aqueous action, is proved by the ripple marks everywhere seen on it, and that it
originated in an early geologic period is gathered from the fact that so few animal
remains exist in it, and those of a simple form, namely, trilobites and two varieties
of lingula.

While the water over this region was comparatively shallow, innumerable ice-
bergs, crowded into the ocean by glacial action, and holding in their frigid embrace
the boulders and other material, called the drift, accumulated in a more northern
region, deposited their debris as they melted, which accounts for the formation that
is found so generally distributed here.

There are signs and indications that while the coal measures were forming this
region was above the sea, but that it afterwards sank and received other deposits.
Above the drift alluded to, the sandstone crops out wherever the upper strata has
been deeply cut into by water courses. Characteristic sandstone ledges may be
seen in various parts of the county, in particular along the Chippewa and Red
Cedar Rivers and along Wilson’s and Gilbert’s Creeks.

In the southern part of the county a narrow strip of the Niagara limestone may
be found, appearing above the glacial drift in the towns of Sherman, Eau Galle and
Lucas. There are no metallic ores, properly so called, in this region, and although
a number of years ago some traces of iron, and even gold, were found in the vicinity
of Knapp, causing considerable excitement for a while, there was not enough of
either metal to repay the cost of smelting, and what was found was undoubtedly
the result of glacial action. Nothing has ever been found in Dunn County to repay
the labors either of a mineralogist or an antiquarian.

Dunn County comprises 24 government townships, as divided by ranges, or 22
political towns, with a total area of 552,960 acres. The eastern part of the county
is fairly level, consisting mostly of prairie, with some marsh land, the soil being
easily worked and productive. ~The western portion is more rolling, and in pioneer
days was covered with extensive forests, but most of the valuable timber was sub-
sequently cut by the lumbermen, who acquired the rights to thousands of acres,
The soil produces excellent crops, and the greater part of the land is now laid out in
farms. Fish and game in numerous varieties, were abundant in early days, this
whole region being a paradise for hunters and trappers, but the fur bearing animals
and larger game have disappeared. In some of the streams, however, there is still
good fishing. There are few lakes in the county, the largest, Lake Menomin, at
Menomonie, having formerly been a mere pond used for storing logs, but increased
in size and depth by the building of a dam.

Much of the early history of Dunn County, and the Red Cedar or Menomonie
Valley, of which it is a part, is closely connected with that of Prairie du Chien, the
oldest city in western Wisconsin. Prairie du Chien was probably first occupied
by white men, the servants and agents of LaSalle, in 1681. As early as 1737 it

1



2 HISTORY OF DUNN COUNTY

doubtless became the semi-yearly rendezvous of fur traders and in 1781 the per-
manent abode of settlers. '

The immense profit in the sale of furs in European markets was one of the in-
centives for private exploration in the unknown lands of the West. In the fur
trade Mackinaw became an important point between Quebec and all that region
of country draining into the upper great lakes. As soon as the divide between the
waters tributary to lake Michigan and those tributary to the Mississippi river was
crossed and the Fox-Wisconsin route was established, a large business in furs on
the head streams of the Mississippi opened for the adventurous trader. Mackinaw
was a long way off and the site of Prairie du Chien, a prairie on the eastern bank of
the Mississippi about three miles above the mouth of the Wisconsin, was the natural
topographical place and the geographic point for a center of distribution of supplies
for this trade and for the collection of the pelts of the fur-bearing animals of numer-
ous kinds to be found along the newly discovered river courses.

Old world and new world treaties also played a part in fixing this point of future
settlement. At first the whole of the western country was under the domination
of France, but in 1763 she ceded to Spain all her lands on the west of the Mississippi
River, and to England all those to the east of the river. A portion of the last by
treaty with Great Britain in 1783, passed to the United States, which country later
still acquired the lands formerly ceded by France to Spain lying on the west of the
river.

During this time of the separate holdings of the country divided by the Mis-
sissippi, Prairie du Chien by reason of its location at the western entrance of the
principal water way across the eastern half of the continent, assumed a position of
national, even of international importance, and there was a demand for stockades,
forts and barracks to be built and defended at national cost and with national
troops. A military occupation drew to it a more or less permanent population.
After the place became useless as an international outpost, the military structures
and a military force were continued to protect the settlers and fur traders from the
hostile Indians.

That Prairie du Chien was early considered a point of vantage, appears from a
letter of La Salle’s dated August 22, 1682. He, after setting forth the enterprise of
Du Luth in securing beaver and other furs above the head of lake Superior and on
the headquarters of the St. Croix River, and complaining of the action of the govern-
ment in' permitting Du Luth to bring his furs by way of the Wisconsin and Fox
Rivers, says: ‘“But if they go by Wisconsin, where buffaloes are hunted in the
summer and where I have begun an establishment, they will ruin the trade on which
alone I rely, owing to the great number of buffaloes killed every year, which is
greater than one can believe.” Reference is made in this letter to the Chippewa
River, as though thus early blazing the way from Prairie du Chien to Menomonie.
He says: ‘‘One comes to the Riviere des Boeufs (Buffalo River) which is as wide
at its mouth as that of the Illinois.”

This account 1s doubtless founded on a report of Father Louis Hennepin, a
priest of the order of the Recollects of St. Francis. He and his two companions,
Antoine du Gay Auguel, known from his birthplace as ‘“‘le Picard” and Michael
Accault were sent out by La Salle, from Fort Crevecour, near Lake Peoria, Illinois,
on February 28, 1680. They were on their way up the Mississippi when they
were captured by a band of Sioux warriors on the warpath against the Illinois and
Miami nations. These Sioux took the white men to the Mille Lacs region in north-
ern Minnesota. He mentions the Buffalo River, which he calls “R. de Boeufs,”
which he said was full of turtles and which he ascended for several leagues. It is
believed that he ascended Beef Slough, which at that time was possibly the main
channel of the Chippewa River. He does not mention any other river that would
correspond with the Chippewa River of the present day. After spending some time
in the Mille Lacs region in Minnesota, Hennepin and Auguel, leaving Accault as
hostage, were taken down the river by the Indians after supplies which La Salle
had promised to send to the mouth of the Wisconsin. On this trip they hunted
in the region between the Chippewa and the Wisconsin, and possibly saw Dunn
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* County in these wanderings, Accault and his guards joined the party and were
Ift for a while at the mouth of the Chippewa or possibly at the mouth of Beef
Slough. Here and on various islands the squaws hid meat. They then again
ascended the Mississippi, and were rescued from the Indians by Daniel Graysolon,
Sieur du Luth. Toward the end of September Hennepin, Du Luth and the two other
men again descended the Mississippi and reached Canada by way of the Wisconsin
River, the Portage, Fox River and Green Bay. The Franquelin map of 1688 calls
the Chippewa the R. des Sauteurs.

The next mention of the Chippewa River is in an account of a journey of Le
Swnr’s up the Mississippi River in September of the year 1700. It is there stated
tha . on the fourteenth day after leaving the mouth of the Wisconsin River, “He
left on the east side of the river,a large beautiful river, which comes a great distance
from the north, and called Bon Secours, from the great number of buffalo, stags,
bears and deer found there.” This river, the account further states was below and
near Lake Pepin. This reference serves to locate the river “left on the east” as the
Chippewa; the same stream that Hennepin in 1680 called the River of Bulls and
La Salle in 1682 mentions as Buffalo River. '

In this account of Le Sueur’s journey in 1700 is probably the first reference to

. the stream now known as the Red Cedar River., Speaking of the Chippewa it is

said: *Three leagues up this river there is a lead mine: and seven leagues higher,
on the same side, you meet another river of great length.” From this description
we may not be able to rediscover the lead mine, but the distances given do serve to
locate the river spoken of as the Red Cedar.

The agents of La Salle probably learned of the general features of the lower
Chippewa Valley as high up as the Red Cedar in the year 1680, for in his letter of
1682 he said, writing of the Chippewa: ‘It is followed from ten to twelve leagues,
the water being smooth and without rapids, bordered by mountains which widen
from time to time, forming meadows.”

It is possible that the Red Cedar River had been explored by white men before
Le Sueur’s journey and perhaps before Father Hennepin’s discoveries. It is known
that Lake Court d’Oreilles had been a gathering place of the Indians from early in
the seventeenth century. The trails from the headwaters of the Wisconsin, Black
and Chippewa Rivers passed by this lake on the road to the Sioux country. It is
near the sources of the Red Cedar River. Old beaver dams on all tributaries on the
Red Cedar indicate that its valley was once rich in furs.

In La Salle’s letter of 1682, he reports to the government that DuLuth had for
three years been trading in the Lake Superior country and sending his men among
the Sioux and the Chippewas, finally coming himself by the Bois Brule and St.
Croix Rivers to Lake Pepin. Hennepin says Du Luth came by this route in 1680,
In a letter directed by an official to the governor of Canada written in 1683, it is
stated that Du Luth was then sending a company of traders to the Sioux which was
to be jcined by other persons. The Sioux were then on the upper Mississippi. In
a similar letter in 1690-91 it is stated that Perrot in going up the Mississippi River
met at the Fox-Wisconsin portage a canoe of Frenchmen coming from the Sioux
country and further that he on arriving at the Mississippi dispatched men to warn
the *‘French-men who were then among the Nadouaissoux to proceed to Mich-
ilimakinak, this because of a threatened war between several different tribes of
Indians.” Itis stated that in 1693 Le Sueur built a fort near Red Wing, Minnesota,
to protect the fur trade route from Lake Superior by the St. Croix River. When
Le Sueur in 1700 arrived at Lake Pepin, word was brought to him that a Frenchman
had recently been killed in the country near by. At his command the Indians
brought the companion of the man who had been killed. He “was a Canadian
named Dinnis. He stated that his comrade had been accidentally killed; his name
was La Place; he was a soldier who had ‘deserted from Canada and fled to this
country.” Further, there came to Le Sueur in the winter of 1700-07, on Blue
Earth River in Minnesota ““seven French traders from Canada.” ‘“They had been
plundered and striped naked by the Sioux.” ’

It is quite certain that there were at that early day beaver on the Red Cedar.
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It appears that traders and trappers in large numbers were then pressing up the
Mississippi and its branches.  There is no direct evidence that these trappers caught
these beavers, yet it is a fair inference that they did and that they knew of and
traversed the Red Cedar Valley.

That the validity of this supposition, that white men were on this river as early
as the year 1700 should not be impugned by reason of the absence of direct written
evidence coming from the trappers themselves, is evident. They as a class were men
who could neither read nor write. It was then unlawful for any one to trap for
fur-bearing animals, especially beaver, without a license from the government. It
was also unlawful to engage on the frontier in the fur trade without such license.

Notwithstanding these prohibitions many communications addressed to the
government show that illicit trading and trapping was carried on to so great an
extent that at one time the price of pelts was so reduced that there was fear that the
fur trade would be ruined. Trappers often staid in the wilderness several years at
a time and engaged friendly Indians to market, as their own. the pelts taken by

" them in violation of the regulations of the government. Soldiers neglected their
duties and went on trapping cxcursicns.  Some even deserted and took to the wan-
dering life of trappers.. ‘

Du Luth and Le Sueur were accused of engaging in this illicit trade. The former
was said to cloak his trade under pretense of exploring new lands, and the latter to
hide his violation of the law by eager search for mines. It was pointed out that
both of these men carried on their operations in the best fur producing regions,
and went equipped with large quantities of merchandise solely adapted to the Indian
fur trade.

The Red Cedar being a side stream would naturally be visited, if visited at all,
by individual trappers or small parties of trappers, who probably had no license.
Even had they had the ability to make a record, such adventurers would not publish
their discoveries. They would not by publication invite detection and punishment
and at the same time inform rivals in trade of the locations where pelts were to be
gathered in plenty.

The next reference to the Red Cedar after that of Le Sueur’s journey of 1700 is
in an account of a journey by Jonathan Carver. In 1767 he made his way up the
Chippewa River and incidentally remarks: “Nearly thirty miles up, it separatcs
into two branches, and I took my course through that which lies to the eastward.”
He followed this branch (the main Chippewa) to some distance beyond its falls.
Then by one of the trails passing by Lake Court d’Oreilles he went to the head-
waters of the St. Croix. Of the lower Chippewa, he says: **The country adjoining
the river, for about sixty miles is very level, and on its banks lie fine meadows,
where larger droves of buffaloandelks were feeding than I observed in any other part
of my travels.”

Carver was a Connecticut man who had served in the British army in North
America during the French war, and seems to have been the first Englishman to
make a journey Lirough the Northwest. He is the first person for whom is made a
claim of proprietorship of the site of Menomonie. The claim rested on a deed said
to have been given by two Sioux chiefs to Carver, covering lands in western Wis-
consin, including Dunn County. The territory of these two counties was in the
early political organization of this state included in Crawford County. and this
deed showing the symbol signatures of the chiefs, a turtle and a snake, is spread
upon the records of that county. By the terms of the deed, this land grant had a
maximum width of 120 miles on the line drawn due north from a point due east
100 miles from the head of Lake Pepin to form its east boundary; and from the
north end of that line the northern or northwestern boundary ran southwestwardly
in a straight course about 175 miles to the Falls of St. Anthony. The side formed
by the Mississippi River and Lake Pepin, in their irregular meandering but generally
southeastward course extends on a direct line between its ends about 70 miles.

Measuring due east 100 miles from the foot of Lake Pepin at the mouth of the
Chippewa River, the southeast corner of this grant, is found in the central part of
Wood County, Wisconsin, about five miles southeast of Pittsville. Thence the east
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boundary, measured due north 120 miles. passes about six miles east of Marshfield,
Wisconsin, through the west part of Marathon County, and along the east line of
Taylor and Price Counties to the northeast corner of the grant in Iron County,
about two miles southeast from Mercer, Wisconsin. On the northwest, a straight
line running thence to the Falls of St. Anthony passes near Rossville, in Sawyer
County, across the Red Cedar Lake and upper Turtle Lake in Barron County,
and by the railroad towns of Turtle Lake and Amery, crosses the St. Croix about
two miles north of the Apple River, and crosses the central part of White Bear Lake
in Minnesota.

There is no evidence that Carver at any time took possession of the lands
granted or ever tried to enforce a right of possession, but his heirs and their grantees
have ineffectually tried to establish a title under the deed. The possession of the
site of Menomonie has been claimed by many Indian tribes; France, Great Britain
and the United States have successively exercised dominion over it, but Carver made
the first private claim of ownership to it. This claim, the United States in 1854
ignored by issuing to William Wilson a patent covering a part of the site of Men-
omonie. A decision of the United States supreme court made in 1823 in effect ruled
out the Carver claim and deed. Chief Justice Marshall wrote the opinion filed by
the court. Hereviewsthehistory of the socalled Indianlands, and points out as a
fact that the French and English from the time of their earliest discoveries and
conquests in North America had insisted that the fee in all lands vested in the power
making the discovery or conquest and that the right of the Indian tribes therein
was limited to mere occupancy. And that when these sovereign powers ceded to
the United States parts of these lands so held such absolute fee therein vested in this
nation. The court held that by the established law, whether right or wrong as
an abstract proposition in ethics, the Indian tribes had only a right to remain in
possssion of the lands until the dominant power saw fit to disposess them. In
the cye of the law the Indians held no claim to or right in the lands that they could
sell and convey. They have been permitted to cede them to the nation in power
but never to cede them to another nation nor under any inherent or original right
to sell or surrender them to individuals.

Froin the time of Le Sueur’s journey to that of Carver's, incidental mention in
the official correspondence of Canada is made of traders being on the upper reaches
of the Mississippi River and of French officers building forts on Lake Pepin to
protect the traders and to conciliate Indian tribes that they might be kept from
joining, at first the Sauk and Foxes in their war against the Frenchand still later the
tribes friendly to the Sauk and Foxes in their war against the French and later the
tribes friendly to the English during the seven years of war. For overa halfa
century, from 1700 to 1767, no direct accounts of travellers are found relating to
Prairie du Chien and the Chippewa River Country. The warfare above mentioned
prevented settlement and discouraged exploratien.

Carver in his book of travels has given what seems to be the first authentic and
trustworthy description of the Chippewa River and has also given the first direct
and particular account of Prairie du Chien. Carver says nothing of permanent
settlers nor of resident traders. It is a much disputed question, this of the first
white occupier or settler of Prairie du Chien, who he was or whence he came.
Tradition has it that Jean Marie Cardinelli and his wife, both French, were the
first real settlers of Prairie du Chien. They are said to have come there, bringing
with them an Omaha Indian as a slave, some time between 1720 and 1730,

The next personal and succinct account of Prairie du Chien, after that of Carver,
is given by Peter Pond, a successful fur trader. He, like Carver, was a Connecticut
man born and bred. In 1773 he first traded on the Mississippi, and his account
pertains to this and the two ensuing years. Pond seems to have entered the
Western trade with a good deal of confidence and he and his partner accumulated
an immense quantity of goods at Mackinaw for the Indian trade. He says: “I
divided my goods into twelve parts and fitted out twelve large canoes for different
parts of the Mississippi River. Each canoe was made of birch bark and white
cedar; they would carry 7,000 weight.” At Green Bay he “engaged nine clerks



6 ' HISTORY OF DUNN COUNTY

for different parts of the Northern and Western country.” After giving out some
goods on credit to Indians on the Fox and Wisconsin Rivers, he at Prairie du Chien
saved one outfit for himself, which he took to St. Peter's River and sent out the
rest in charge of his clerks. He says: ‘‘I had nine clerks which I had employed in
different rivers that fell into” the Mississippi. On his return in the spring to
Prairie du Chien he says of the trade; ‘‘the number of packs of peltry of different
sorts was called fifteen hundred of a hundred weight each which went to Macki-
naw.” Qf the amount that went down the river to St. Louis he makes no mention,
although it is.evident from his account that some did go this way. It is possible
that one of his nine clerks “on the rivers that fell into the Mississippi” may
have been located in the Chippewa and Menomonie Valleys.

In 1784, eight years after Pond’s first visit, three Frenchmen purchased from the
Indians,a large part of the Prairie des Chiens. This purchase was sanctioned by
the British commander at Mackinaw, it was recognized in Jay's treaty, and later
confirmed by Congress, not however until after 1820.

As permanent buildings became necessary at Prairie du Chien for defense and
for trad: it wa. {ound that the most accessible material for con-tructin~ them was
the pine on the Red Cedar River, then called Menomonee River. And Wilson
Creek then known as Meadow River, was found to be the first suitable watercourse
above the mouth of the Menomonee for a dam, useful alike in getting out logs and
in the manufacture of the same into timber and lumber. At its mouth this creek
had on each side, high banks, rising sheer, not far from the water’s edge. A wide
extent of bottom lands immediately above gave ample room for a reservoir. On
its banks extending several miles above its mouth, and on the banks of the Men-
omonee River near by stood large forests of pine.

This particular locality and the river courses of the Menomonee and the Chip-
pewa. connecting it with the Mississippi River were then within a neutral Indian
belt of country lying between the lands occupied by the Chippewas and the Sioux.
These streams made transportation easy and neutrality made it comparatively safe.
It was under these conditions, therefore, that lumbering operations were started
at the present side of Menomonie in 1822.



CHAPTER II
EARLY LUMBERING OPERATIONS

The first lumbering operations in Dunn County or in the Red Cedar Valley of
which it is a part, were in 1822, when Harding Perkins, backed by James H. Lock-
wood and Joseph Rollette, rival fur traders, erected a mill at the confluence of the
Wilson or Meadow Creek and the Red Cedar or Menomonie River, the present
site of the city of Menomonie.

The next was the logging operations of a military expedition from Prairie du
Chien in 1829 under the command of Lieutenant Levin Gale with the purpose of
securing logs and timber for the defense of Fort Crawford at that place.

Shortly after this came the building of a second mill at Menomonie in 1830 and
a mill on the banks of the Gilbert Creek, a short way down the river in 1831, both
by James H. Lockwood, backed by Joseph Rolette.

A third location was selected by Hiram . Allen on the banks of Irvine Creek, still
further down the river from Gilbert Creek. This mill was evidently built in the
middle 30’s, as Allen probably did not come into the valley until 1834, and mills
seem to have been running on Wilson, Gilbert and Irvine Creeks when John H.
Fonda, who had been a member of the military expedition of 1829, started his
second operations here in 1836 or 1837. Allen in addition to building the Irvine
Creek mill bought the Gilbert Creek mill and possibly an interest in the Wilson
Creek mill.  Allen originally came to cut logs and get out squared timber to float
down the river, but found that to make the lumbering business profitable he must
have means of mill sawing. The Wilson Creek mill was called the upper mill,
the Gilbert Creek mill the middle mill, and the Irvine Creek mill the lower mill.

Recorded information regarding these early operations is found in the narrative
of James H. Lockwood published in Vol. II of the Wisconsin Historical Collections;
the narrative of John H. Fonda, published in Vol. V of the Wisconsin Historical
Collections: and the account of Henry R. Schoolcraft of his trip down the Red
Cedar River, on pages 388-389 of his *‘ Personal Memories of a Residence of Thirty
Years With the Indian Tribes, 1812-1842.”

Of the operations of Hardin Perkins, Mr. Lockwood says:

““About the year 1822, a man by the name of Hardin Perkins, from Kentucky,
came to Prairie du Chien for the purpose of building a saw-mill in the Indian
country, and obtained permission from Major Taliaferro, then agent for the Sioux
Indians, with the consent of the Indians, to erect a saw-mill on their land on the
Chippewa River and tributaries; but Perkins not having the capital to carry out
his project, nor sufficient influence to obtain the permission of the Indians to erect
this mill, solicited Joseph Rolette and myself to join him, which we did, and con-
tracted with Wabashaw's band of Sioux, who claimed the Chippewa River country,
for the privilege of erecting a mill and cutting timber for it, paying them about
$1,000 per year in goods, and furnished Perkins the necessary means for the purpose;
and he was to take charge of and conduct the business. =He proceeded to Men-
omonee River, a tributary of the Chippewa, and on a small stream running into
the Menomonee, about twenty miles from its mouth, erected a saw mill and had
it so nearly done that he expected to commence sawing in a very few days, when one
of those sudden freshets to which hilly countries are subject, came upon him and
swept away the dam, mill and appendages, and Perkins returned to Prairie du Chien
with his family and hands, having suffered during his residence there considerably
from fear of the Chippewa Indians who resided near, and sometimes visited the
mill builders.

““Col. Snelling, who commanded at Fort Snelling, had frequently since Perkins
and his men commenced operations, threatened to send a force and destroy the
mill, saying the Indian agent had no authority to give permission to build mills in

7
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the Indian country. The parties being pretty well convinced of the fact, and that
Col. Snelling had malice enough to carry out his threat, if for nothing else but to
punish Mr. Rolette, with whom he had some difficulty, concluded not to rebuild,
until they could be authorized by some better authority, supposing then that the
Secretary of War had that power; and Mr. Rolette and myself made up our minds
to pocket the loss, and let Perkins off with the loss of the few articles he had fur-
nished and his services, which amounted to about fifteen hundred dollars. It
proved a bad speculation to all parties. The annuity we agreed to pay the Indians
for the privilege of building the mill and cutting timber, being stopped during the
time there was no work on the mill, the Indians insisted upon its payment, and
inquired the reason we did not go on with the work. . We were obliged to tell them
that their Great Father would not allow us to do so. They said they had given us
permission, and that the country was theirs, and the Great Father had no right to
say anything about it.”

Mr. Lockwood continues the narrative as follows:

“In the fall of 1829, returning from St. Louis, I met at Galena Major John
Biddle of Detroit, who had then been electe:1 our du'egate to Congress from Mich-
igan, and inquired what he could do for me, or the people of Prairie du Chien at
Washington. I then related to him the situation in which I and Mr. Rolette were
placed with regard to the mill and annuities to the Indians. He told me that when
I got home, if I would address him at Washington, stating our case, that he would
attend toit. I wrote to him a full statement of the case and difficulties, and Major
Biddle obtained for us from the Secretary of War, permission to erect mills, etc.,
provided we contracted with the Indians through the Indian agent at Prairie du
Chien.

“We renewed our contract with the Indians, through their agents, and in May,
1830, sent a mill-wright who was also a partner, a superintendent, carpenter and
blacksmith, with laborers, provisions, teams, and tools, to erect a mill on the
Chippewa River or its tributaries. The mill-wright selected the site of the old
dam of Perkins for his dam, and built the mill on the Menomonee River, and dug
a canal across a point of land from the small stream to the mill. The hands we
were obliged to employ were mostly Canadians, and we engaged the wife of one of
them, a Menomonee half breed, as cook for the hands. Few Americans can manage
the Canadian voyageurs to advantage. They suppose that they must be treated
with the same familiarity as American laborers, and reason them into doing their
duty; but this is not the proper treatment. The voyageur has been so long ac-
customed to look upon his employer, as his superior and to be treated by him as
his inferior, that so soon as he is treated as American hands expect to be treated by
their employer, they at once conceive a contempt for him, and become mutinous.
Such was the case with our superintendent, and he proved not to be qualified to
superintend any kind of men or business, and all the hands looked upon him with
contempt.

“Three or four Chippewasca1ic tothein and the Menomonee half breed woman,—
she being the only one that understood the Chippewa language,—and told them
that if they did not leave there, they would kill them all. This was about nightfall,
and the superintendent was so much alarmed that at dark he got into a canoe with
one man, as much frightened as himself, and went down in the night over the rapids,
that were difficult to navigate even in the day time, leaving orders with the men to
load the provisions, tools, etc., into the boat, and to start in the morning down the
Chippewa River near to its mouth, which they did, driving the oxen by land. The
superintendent, whose name was Armstrong, arrived at the Prairie evidently much
alarmed, and gave me a terrible account of his escape; and not until he had been
at the Prairie some considerable time did he inform me that he had ordered all the
men to leave the mill, and that they were probably on their way down. I was then
satisfied that my presence was required there, unless I intended to abandon the mill;
and it being in the hot weather of August, I did not feel much inclined to make a
voyage in a canoe exposed to the sun, but from the materials we had to deal with,
I saw at once that it was necessary.
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‘I had a canoe manned with a half breed Winnebago, who spoke Chippewa, and
together with Armstrong and the Frenchman who had come down with him, put
out at once, taking.in my canoe provisions enough for myself and crew to reach the
mill. We had proceeded about forty miles up the Mississippi, when early in the
morning at a sand-bar, in the middle of the channel about one fourth of a mile from
the shore, I met a canoe with a Menomonee half-breed and a large athletic Ohioan
by the name of Hartwell, whom I had never seen before. Armstrong had engaged
him as carpenter, and taken him to the mill without my having seen him, or knowing
his name. 1 asked them where they were going, and they said to the Prairie. I
said, “no!—you must return with me.” I knew that the half-breed would obey
without difficulty, but Hartwell said he was going to the Prairie, and I knew in order
to take all of them back, I must take these back as I met them. Hartwell was a
strong man and armed with a rifle, but I said to him, ‘“This canoe at leastis mine,
and does not go to the Prairie; you can take you choice, whether to go back, or to
remain oun this sand-bar.”

“He concluded to go back, and for fear that they might give me the slip, I got
into the canoe with them and we proceeded up the river about ten miles farther,
where we met all the Canadians with the half-breed Menomonee woman, when we
all put ashore. I told them that they must go back to the mill, which they refused
to do. I soon discovered, as I had suspected, that the woman was the leader of
the party, and I bribed her to go back. She consented, and the others followed her
example. She and her husband were in a large canoe, not half finished, which
would go hard up stream. From the manner of her consenting so readily to return,
I suspected thatsheintended as soon as they could lag a little behind, and getsome
point between me and them, to slip down the stream, which I afterwards learned
was really their intention. To prevent this, I told them, as they were weak-handed,
and had a heavy canoe, that I would embark with them and help paddle. I paddled
all day, and made a good day’s work up stream, and encamped in a channel of the
river opposite to Wabashaw’s Prairie.

“The men had only taken provisions enough to last them to the Prairie, and it
was soon seen that my stock would not be sufficient for the additional mouths until
we reached the boat. In camp at night one of the men named Francis La Pointe,
a native of Prairie du Chien, and well acquainted with the customs of the Indians,
told me that it was but a short distance across the country to the Chippewa, where
the boat then was; and proposed to go there, take a canoe and meet us with pro-
visions, which I requested him to do. He accordingly after breakfast borrowed a
gun, took some crackers in his pocket, and started across, while we proceeded up
the channel along under the bluffs for about five miles to where the canoes cross the:
Mississippi to the western side. Just as we were about putting off from the shore,
La Pointe came running down the hill hallooing, Indians.” The canoes were all
putting out into the river, but I ordered the canoe that I was in to put to shore,
and take the man in, confiding, at the time, in his statement.

‘“La Pointe had on, when he started, two cotton shirts, and when he returned
one of the shirts was nearly cut from him, and several stabs through the other. He-
had thrown away all his ammunition and his hat, and stated that after crossing
the hill and getting into a ravine of tall grass, that five Chippewa Indians suddenly-
surrounded him, took away his powder, shot and provisions, cut his hat and shirt:
all to pieces, called him a dog, and would have taken his gun had he not begged hard
to retain it, telling them that it was not his. He told so probable a story of what
would naturally be the conduct of a war party of Indians, that I at first believed
him, but we stopped shortly after for dinner, and although the men pretended to
be much afraid of the Indians, I discovered something in their conduct that satisfied
me, that it was a hoax. They proposed to turn back to Prairie du Chien for fear
of the Indians, but I told them that I was never in the habit of turning back through
fear, until I saw there was really danger, and that I did not require them to run
any risk which I would not myself freely share.”

“We finally proceeded on quietly until near the mouth of Riviere Au Boeuf or
Buffalo River, when Armstrong and the man who came down with him, who were
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actually in great fear, as they were not in the secret of the plot, discovered an Indian
on the bluffs below its mouth, or imagined they did, and gave the alarm of ** Chip-
pewa!” But we met some Sioux at the foot of the Bluffs, and theyv said that it
could not be Chippewas, as they had the day before been hunting over there and
thought it probable that some of their people might still be hunting there. So we
proceeded to a point opposite to the mouth of the Chippewa River, and encamped
for the night.

““So much had been said about danger from the Chippewas, that I began to
believe there was something in it, and must confess that the next morning I entered
the narrow mouth of the Chippewa, fringed with bushes, with some fear that some
Indian might be hid, and fire upon us without giving notice of his presence : but once
in, the feeling of fear wore off, and we proceeded on with little to eat until 10 o'clock,
when we came to a Menomonee lodge, where we found a great deal of venison, and
a quantity stuck up around the fire cooking, to which we did ample justice. We
then proceeded about ten miles up the river, where we found the boat and three
Americans who had remained with it. But they refused, as well as the Canadians
to go back to the mill under " superintendence of Armstrong; and from all ac-
counts of the men, as well as from what I had seen of of him, I was satisfied that he
was not calculated to conduct such a business, and I concluded that the best way
to get rid of him, was to purchase him out, even if I had to give more than he was
justly entitled. His fear of the Chippewas was such, that he did not wish to return.
He owed me about five hundred dollars, which would not be worth much if he left
the mill; yet, to get rid of him, I gave him that, and took a quit claim of all his
claims upon the mill, and let him have a small canoe in which he descended the
river.

““My people agreed to go back to the mill, provided I would get the Menomonees
to go up the river with us, but I had no interpreter in whom I could confide, as my
half breed Winnebago had joined his comrades, the Canadians, against me. 1|
sent down for the Menomonees at the lodge we had passed, to come and go with us:
but presume that the half-breed Menomonee woman had instructed them how to
act; for although I offered them a high price, they pretended to be afraid of the
Chippewas, whichI was satisfied was not the case, and they declined to go, unless
another band who were hunting on the Chippewa, above the mouth of the Menomonee
River, would go with them. So I sent an Indian for them and proceeded on with
my boat, and encamped on a sand-bar opposite the Menomonee River, and waited
forthe Indians untilabout noon the nextday, when thevarrived, but thev didnot want
to go into the Menomonee, expressing their fears of the Chippewas. 1 offered them
a keg of powder, a bar of lead, and promised, when they next came to Prairie du
Chien, to give them a keg of whiskey; but they still declined going, reiterating their
apprehensions, which I was satisfied were feigned for the occasion, and that they
were but playing their part as instructed by the half-breed woman. Believing
such to be the case, I ordered the men to put the things in the boat, telling them
that I was 1.0t afra.d of the Chippewas, and should go to the mill.  Upon this, some
of the Canadians showed a disposition to mutiny, but I had madeupmy mindto go.
and knock down the leader with a club; and force them to accompany me. How
I should have succeeded I do not know, but at that moment the Indians finding that
I'was determined to go without them, said they would go, and we proceeded up the
Menomonee River about nine miles, where we encamped.

““The Winnebago and Menomonee half-breeds unloaded one of the canoes and
said there was a lake near there, and that thev would go and shoot elk; but in about
an hour they returned, apparently much alarmed, and said they saw tracks of
Indians around the lake. But the Menomonees who had agreed to go with us
fearing to lose their promised pay if we went back, said that the tracks were not
Chippewas but Menomonees, as some of their people had been there that day
hunting. The next day we proceeded on up the river without anything of note
until we reached the mill, except occasionally seeing a Chippewa in imagination.

There was among the carpenters of my party a discharged soldier of the name of
Holmes, who was a better mill-wright than Armstrong, and upon whom, as I after-
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wards learned, Armstrong had depended to build the mill. I then made a bargain
with [saac Saunders, one of the carpenters Armstrong had taken up, giving him an
interest in the mill to superintend it, and engaged Holmes by the day to build the
mill. There had been very little work done during the summer, and they did not
get the mill ready to commence sawing until March, 1831; and by the first of June
following, had sawed about 100,000 feet of lumber. It was impossible at that time
at Prairie du Chien to get any other hands than Canadians, except occasionally a
discharged soldier; and among the Americans that were at the mill, there was not
one who knew how to construct a raft.

“The Canadian manner of rafting had been to lay two floats of timber about
ten inches square, and raft the boards on them, and they rafted our lumber in that
way; but when they had completed the raft, they found there was not water enough
to float it, the water being very low that spring. As many of the men’s time would
be out in May, I went up with another set of hands to supply the places of those
that would come away with the raft. But on arriving there, I found the water
very low, and the Canadians declared that the lumber could not be rafted out of
the river. It appeared that we would have to wait for a rise of water; and having
a double set of hands, I concluded to build another mill, on a stream about one
mile from the other. I set the hands to work getting out timber for the dam, mill,
ete.,

“ The Canadians who had first gone there, and went back with me against their
will, and whose times were about expiring, were still disposed to be mutinous, and
declared their intention of not waiting for a rise of water to get the timber out,
and of leaving as soon as their time should expire. I told them that they could not
leave until they took down the lumber; that I would pay them for their time, and
that they could not get provisions to go unless they took it by force, and that, I
did not think, would be very safe for them to attempt while I was there, and if they
cut a pine tree to make a canoe of, I would have them prosecuted and imprisoned—
and, as a Canadian is much afraid of a jail, they concluded to continue their work.

“During the time I was contriving how this lumber was to be got to the mouth
of the Menomonee, and talking with Holmes one day about it, he told me he had
somewhere seen lumber rafted over rapids by laying one sawed board or slab lapping
about half its length upon another, after the manner of shingling, and thus repeat
and combine until the raft or crib should be formed; and that it would hang to-
gether in passing over any rapids. Upon this hint I caused a crib to be made, but
the men said it would drown any one who would be fool-hardy enough to take it
over the rapids. I waited till the following Sunday, when the men would be idle,
and then told two of the hands that if they would take that crib to the mouth of
the Menomonee, I would pay them one dollar each. They did so without accident,
and returned by land before night, and reported that the lumber could be taker
down in that way without any difficulty. The men now went to work and rafted it ;-
got it nearly all to the mouth of the river, when about the first of June, it commenced
raining, and continued most of the time very hard for a fortnight. The stream omr
which our dam was, rose in about twelve hours something like twelve feet, and the
Menomonee River about the same, carrying away the dam, and sweeping the loose-
made cribs of lumber from their moorings, and scattered the lumber over the
bottoms of the Menomonee and Chippewa Rivers. About fifty thousand feet of
this lumber was afterwards recovered in a damaged state, at a great expense, and
taken to St. Louis and sold at a reduced price. Such were some of the difficulties
attending the early attempts at lumbering in this country. The only hands that
could be employed were the Canadian voyageurs; they could row a boat well, or
run a raft, but that was about the extent of their knowledge of lumbering. Occa-
sionally you could pick up a discharged soldier that had some knowledge of the
business, and these were the materials that pioneer saw-mill proprietors had to use,
and manage as best they could.”

Of the military expedition of 1829 Mr. Fonda says:

It was in the fall of 1829, while the present Fort Crawford was building, that
Col. Zachary Taylor, afterward president of the United States, ordered a body of
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men to proceed to the pineries on Menomonee River, there to cut logs, hew square
timber, make plank and shingles to be used in the construction of the Fort and its
defences. The number of soldiers drafted for the purpose was seventy, besides three
officers and myself. Col. Taylor himself came to me as he had done before, and did
afterward—and said he wanted me to pilot that expedition. It was late in the
season, and I did not like to bear the responsibility, and told him so; but Taylor
had more confidence in me than I had in myself, and nothing would do but I must
go. We left here in seven Mackinaw boats, with ten men in each boat. The
officers accompanying the expedition were Lieut. Gale, Lieut. Gardinier, Segt.
Melvin, and myself as pilot. Lieut. Gale was the senior officer, and had command.
I was put in command of the advance boat, Gale in the third boat, Melvin in the
fifth, and Gardenier in the rear boat, with orders to keep the boats well up, and see
that they reached shore together at night.

‘“The weather was fine for that season of the vear, cold nights and clear frosty
mornings. The boats made good heading against the current, kept together ad-
mirably, and the men felt vigorous under the influence of the pure, bracing atmos-
phere. Officcrs and men were in good spirits, and we passed along swimmingly
until we reached Wa-ba-shaw’s Prairie. As we entered Lake Pepin, floating ice
was encountered, the current was swifter, and the cold intense. Now, instead of
the men being in good spirits, good spirits got into the men, and from that moment
we had trouble. Lieut. Gale would get ashore with his gun and a couple of men,
to kill some of the geese and ducks for our mess, and always left orders for the boats
to keep together. One afternoon, when we had entered the Chippewa River,
Gale landed on the northwest shore to shoot brant geese, that were very plenty,
leaving Lieut. Gardenier in command, with strict orders to keep all the boats to-
gether, and at night to land them in a body, so the men might form one camp.
This was necessary for the sake of convenience, and because it kept the men from
getting separated, in case the river should close suddenly. After Gale went ashore,
I took his boat, which was the flag-boat, of the expedition, and appointing one of
the men to take temporary command of mine, continued up the river. Chippewa
River is a very crooked stream, and the channel is worse. Often only one or two
of the boats would be in sight, on account of the bends and abrupt turns in the
river. At sun-down we had arrived to within fifteen miles of the mouth of the
Menomonee River, and only three boats in company. I decided to encamp, and
wait for the other four boats.

‘“Selecting a place on the southeast side of the river, the men prepared camp,
and I sent a skiff to the opposite shore to bring over Lieut. Gale and one soldier
named Earl, who had come down stream opposite to the camp. Gale saw the other
boats were missing, and sent me down in the skiff to find them and hurry them up.
Some distance below, I met Melvin with two of the boats. He said Gardenier had
run aground on the sand-bar that I had guessed as much, for Gardenier was far
behind when across the river at right angles with the course of the stream. Lieut.
Gardenier was not aware of this, and when his boats struck the bar the men tried
to force them over into the deep water channel just above, but this made matters
worse, for the boats were heavily laden with stores, and the quicksand closing
around them, soon made it impossible to move back or forwards. Between the
boats and the shore on either side, the swift, icy water was too deep to wade, and the
only alternative was to remain where they were until the other boats took them off.
So when I got down to the bar, there they were tight enough—in more respects than
one. It was very cold, and to keep the blood in circulation, they had tapped two
of the wiskey casks, and were circulating the liquor—every soldier was allowed a
certain amount of wiskev per diem, at that time called ‘“‘wiskey rations’’—this
article of the soldier’s rations was abolished during Jackson’s administration, and
coffee and sugar substituted. :

“On arriving alongside of the boats, I saw it was useless to think of getting them
off that night, so telling all who could to tumble into the skiff, I pulled for the shore,
and after three or four trips, had all the men, together with their blankets and pro-
visions, safely landed in the Chippewa Bottoms. After the fires were made, I
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got into the skiff and rowed back to the main camp, where Melvin had arrived before
me. I reported to Lieut. Gale, and sitting down regaled myself on roasted goose.
Next morning we went to Lieut. Gardenier’s camp to inquire into the matter of
running the boats aground. A council was held and resulted in Lieut. Gardenier's
being sent back. There was an effort to attach the blame on me, but it fell through.

The day following was spent in unloading the boats, and fruitless attempts to
get them off the sand bar.  On the third night the Chippewa River closed, and while
the ice was getting strong, we made sleds to draw the stores on the ice fifteen miles
up to the point on the Menomonee River, where we were to cut timber. By the
time the sleds were made, the ice on the river was strong enough to bear a team,
and the sleds were loaded with casks of wiskey, blankets and provisions, and we
drew them up to the proper place on the Menomonee River, where Gale remained
with two men to watch the stores, while I returned with the men and sleds for an-
other lot.

“It seems that soon after I left, Gale discovered a war party of Chippewas on
the path, looking for Sioux, and having a natural fear of Indians, he made off
through the wooded bottoms at the top of his speed. The chief of the party
sent a couple of his swiftest runners to bring Gale back, but they could not overtake
him. The warriors had no idea of disturbing anything, but seeing the liquor and
goods lying around without a guard, they were tempted to help themselves, and
took some of the goods and filled everything they had that was capable of holding
whiskey, and then departed. It is seldom war parties are out after snow has fallen;
I have only noticed it among the Sioux and Chippewas, who were always warring
against each other. I arrived the second day with more goods, and learned from
the two men that Lieut. Gale had been gone almost sixty hours from camp. I sent
men in the direction he had taken, and discharged guns every moment, and sta-
tioned a look-out on the high ground that commanded an extensive view of the
Chippewa Flats. The day passed without our finding the Lieutenant. On the
third day, the oldest chief of the war-party paid us another visit, returning all the
things they had taken, except the whiskey, which they promised to pay for with
venison.

“While the party were in the camp, the look-out reported that he could see
some object moving on the marsh, about three miles distant. Two soldiers were
sent out who succeeded in creeping on Lieut. Gale, and catching him before he
could get away. He had been wandering three days and three nights, and exposure
had deranged his mind, and he did not recognize his friends. He was brought in,
and, on examination, I found his feet and legs were frozen up to the knees. A
hole was cut in the ice, and the Lieutenant’s limbs thrust through. After the
frost was out of the frozen parts, they were greased with melted deer-fat, and wrap-
ped up in blankets. In a few hours Gale had come to his senses—especially that
of feeling—and ordered us to carry him down to Prairie du Chien. We made him
as comfortable as possible on a sled, and with three men started to draw him to
the Prairie, leaving Sergeant Melvin—who was my senior, and ranked me—in
command of the men. Lieut. Gale endured great pain, for every motion was
torture, but when we were within sight of the Indian lodges on Wa-ba-shaw Prairie,
he forgot his pain, and wanted us to avoid meeting the Indians. This would have
been a difficult thing to accomplish, so we marched into the village, and Wa-ba-
shaw came out of his wigwam to welcome us. Upon learning the condition that
Gale was in, the chief had him carried into his lodge, and treated after the Indian
manner with a concoction of white-oak bark and poultice of roots. To these
remedies Gale owed his perfect recovery, if not his life,. We left Wa-ba-shaw
Prairie and arrived safe at Prairie du Chien, and the Lieutenant was placed under
the care of Dr. Beaumont. I was immediately ordered up the river again, with the
three men, and had to drive two yoke of oxen back. When we arrived at the camp
on Menomonee River, the men had a log cabin most finished, and were drawing the
goods into it.

“We had only been there a short time, when one of the men who was drawing a
sled, slipped down and broke his lower jaw. Sergeant Melvin was a severe dis-
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ciplinarian and believed in flogging a soldier for an accident. He ordered the man
to strip and prepare to receive a few lashes. It was brutal, to scourge a man who
was already suffering with pain, so I told the man to keep his coat on. The Ser-
geant glared at me, but perhaps he discovered something in the expression of the
men’s faces, for he kept silent, and the man was put on the sick list. The men were
divided into three gangs, two of thirty men each, one gang commanded by Melvin,
another by me; and the third gang of ten men, remained in camp. It was my first
duty to build a large flat boat, and having selected a piece of timber suitable for
the gunwales, we erected scaffolds and prepared pullies and ropes to raise the log
upon them. This preparation attracted the attention of Melvin, and he supposed
the men were about to hang him. Fear had previously caused him to have built a
small block-house in which he had placed all the arms and ammunition, and where
he now unnecessarily shut himself up. He gave me orders through a loop hole,
but would never come out to see if they were faithfullv executed.

“The work progressed steadily until the river opened. Trees had been felled,
timber hewn, stuff for the flat-boat got out, and we had divided the log with whip-
saws, and the parts were being hewed into the proper shape for gunwales, when one
of the men laid his thigh open to the bone with a broad-axe. It was necessary that
the man should have medical aid, so Melvin made out his report of the work done,
also a charge against me for creating mutiny, and appointed me to carryv the docu-
ments and two wounded men—the man who broke his jaw was unfit for duty—in
a dugout down to headquarters. I paddled down the river without accident, and
entered the slough north of fort one evening after dusk, and was surprised to hear
the bugles playing the ““Dead March.” I had the men put in the hospital as soon
as I landed, and then repaired to Maj. Garland’s office, where I found Tavlor and
his officers, holding a council. They were deliberating on the removal of Lieut.
MacKinzie's body from the old burying ground near the mound, where Col. Dous-
man’s dwelling stands, to the officers’ graveyard north of the new fort. It was to
be done with the honors of war, and the musicians were practicing for the occasion,
which accounts for the music I heard. I delivered the papers to Quarter Master
Garland, and after perusing them in silence, he began to read Melvin’s charge
against me in his droll tone, that convulsed all present with laughter. Garland
asked me if we intended to hang the sergeant. . I told him we hadn’t thought of
such a thing, and then gave a straight-forward account of all that had transpired
from the departure of the seven boats, up to my leaving the camp on the Menomonee
in the dug-out. I was not court-martialed.

‘“Lieut. Gardenier, Boiseley, myself and seven men, returned to the pineries to
bring down the rafts. We found on our arrival, that the men had worked well,
and had got out a large quantity of square timber, with anv amount of shingles, and
the flat boat was put together and nearly finished. Two rafts were soon formed of
the timber, and I was put in command of one, and Lieut. Gardenier took the other.
My raft was the largest, but it drew less water, and therefore all the provisions for
the men of both rafts, were placed on it, except a barrel of whiskey. Melvin was
left with some of the men, to bring down the shingles in the flat boat, as soon as it
was launched.”

The account of Fonda .of the location of this force on the Menomonee is pro-
vokingly meagre, but from what is stated it would seem that the camps were estab-
lished and the cutting done near the mouth of the river, and not far from Dunville.
First he makes the statement that the stop on the Chippewa for repairs was made
within fifteen miles of the mouth of the Menomonee River,” and then hesaysthat
when the start was made again the journey was ‘‘fifteen miles up to the point on
the Menomonee River where we were to cut the timber.”

The description of the wanderings of Lieutenant Gale on the Chippewa flats,
over which was an extensive view from the high point occupied by the lookout,
also fixes the place at the mouth of the river in the vicinity of Dunnville, as no other
place on the Menomonee can be made to fit this description.

There is a tradition also that one camp of this expedition waslocated on the west
bank of the Menominee as far up as one mile below Irvine Creek.
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From the account of Schoolcraft of his journey down the Red Cedar River in
August, 1831, we learn that this second stream which he passed on August 11,
here referred to by Lockwood was "“a creek just below’’ the creek on which the
first mill was built. And from it we also find this first stream estimated to be 15
miles below the falls of the Menomonee River, at present Cedar Falls, then called
“Kakabika Falls.” Lockwood in writing about the dam construction by Perkins
says it was across ‘‘a stream running into the Menomonee, about twenty miles from
its mouth.” These two accounts clearly locate the first and second dams as built
on Wilson Creek and the third on Gilbert Creek.

Schoolcraft in his account also mentions the fact that after two hours run from
the falls he “reached the site of a saw mill,” and further that “a Mr. Wallace, who
with ten men was in charge of it, and was engaged in reconstructing a dam that had
been carried off by the last spring freshet, represented Messrs. Rolette and Lock-
wood of Prairie du Chien.” He said that no Sioux had been here for seven vears.
At that time a mill was here and the Sioux came and encamped in it. Wallace also
told him there was a mill on a stream just below but not in sight from the river.

The Mr. Wallace mentioned is probably Captain George Wales, a confusion be-
tween the two names being entirely possible. It is known that Gilbert Creek mill
was built some distance up that creek and not visible from the Red Cedar River.
Schoolcraft asked Wallace *“where the lines between the Sioux and the Chippewas
crossed. He said above.” On a map accompanying the report the Chippewa-
Sioux boundary under the treaty of.1823 is shown to cross Wilson Creek about one
one mile above its mouth and to cross the Menomonee River at a less distance
above the mill, then it is represented by a straight liné running to the Chippewa
River at a point near the mouth of Mud Creek.

After the freshet of June 1831, Lockwood makes no further mention of the
Menomonee mills, the record made by S. hoolcraft under date of August, 1831 is not
continued. ‘ ,

In 1836 or 1837, Mr. Fonda again visited the mills on the Red Cedar. He
speaks of going to Lockwood'’s mills on the Menomoniee in 1836 or 1837 and remain-
ing two years. In another he casually remarks ‘“In 1839 while in the Menomoniee
pineries,” and in still another place he speaks of an election at Prairie du Chien in
1840 as having taken place ' the vear after my coming down from Lockwood’s mills.
This would indicate that he was here in 1837-39.

Of these two years he writes: ‘‘I went to the mills on the Menomoniee River.
I went to Lake Pepin with my family in the steam boat Science. At the lake were
two trading houses. Immediately upon our arrival at the lake, a fierce battle was
fought on its shores, between the Sioux and Chippewas, which resulted in the defeat
of the latter. I passed the scene of the fight, and saw the mutilated bodies of the
dead Indians. The Chippewa Indians were better warriors than the Sioux, but
being poor, their arms are almost valueless, which accounts for their defeat. From
the lake we went up the Chippewa River in Mackinaw boats. The water of the
Chippewa is as red as wine, and a crimson streak may be seen for some distance
below its mouth. This color I attribute to deposits of iron-ore through which the
channel on the river runs. On reaching the mills, (there being three of them,)
I entered upon my duties as a lumberman. The mills were situated on the Me-
nomonee River, in a tract of neutral ground between the Chippewa and Sioux
Indians. These two tribes were constantly warring against each other, and I had
frequent opportunities to see war parties of both tribes. There were some Chippe-
was living near the mills, who sold game, maple sugar, wild fruits and such like
articles to the mill hands.

On one occasion the hands had gone to work, and left their cabin locked up,
when a number of Chippewas came in their absence, crept through a window,
stole the blankets from the beds, pork from the barrel, filled their blankets with
flour and started away with all their plunder. Fortunately, the mill hands dis-
covered their loss early. They pursued the Indians, overtook them, gave them a
good whipping, and took away everything that had been stolen. It was with such
incidents as these, that we relieved the monotony of life in the pinery.
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“One day my wife was alone in our cabin, when an old Chippewa who had often
visited us, came in with some maple sugar. My wife took the sugar, and in return
gave him some pork and flour, at the same time telling him she thought there were
Sioux Indians near, for that day she smelled kinnikinnick .smoke in the woods.
The Chippewa soon left, and it seemed not more than a moment after that the house
was filled with a war party of Sioux. The chief asked if there were any Chippewas
there, and she answered that she had not seen any. The Sioux said they had
tracked one to the cabin, and taking some-of the sugar the Indian had brought,
called it ““ Chippewa’s sugar,” and said they would eat the sugar, and cut the Chippe-
wa’s throat when they caught him. The war party ate all the food they could get,
and then filed out; but they didn’t catch the old Indian, for he managed to escape,
and afterwards brought game to our house.

“There is something mysterious in the appearance of a war party. I have
seen several, and they glided along like a serpent, with noiseless, even motion; and
had I not been looking at them, I should not have known that they were passing
within thirty feet of me. Once a raft broke to pieces, and I went with the men to
recover the lumber. While engaged in collecting it, we had to pass over a ridge
frequently during the day, and at night when we were going over on our way back
to the mills, we heard a laugh close by our side. We looked around for the cause,
but not finding it, we were about to move on, when the laugh was repeated, and we
were surprised to see what we had taken for a pine stump, assume the form of a
Chippewa scout. It appears he had been hid there all day, watching for Sioux, and
we had passed within arms’ reach several times, without seeing him.

“I remained two years in the pineries and could have made money, had I
accepted the offer made me if I would remain longer; but I desired to return to
Prairie du Chien.”

One feels the loss of specific statements by Fonda as to the location of the Wilson
Creek dam and mill; of the work and living shanties used, and where located; of
the specific localities where logs were cut; the manner in which when cut they were
transported to the mill and the method by which they were there sawed; as well as
the place where and the manner of the rafting of the lumber. How the lumber was
run out of Gilbert Creek; the number of men in each crew at the different mills;
the way in which the people lived; whether in one mess or in several messes; how
many women were then here; what if any food was raised about the mills for the
people; and the names of some of the men and women he met during his two vears
stay in the ““Pineries.” The nearest Fonda comes to the mention of names in his
narrative is to be found in the use of pronouns and impersonal designations, as
“1”, “my wife”, “my family”’, *the mill hands”, *“the Sioux” and the ““ Chippe-
was.” Besides the general statements herein before given there is but little touch-
ing the life generally of the people at the mill.

The mill on Irvine Creek was probably built about 1835 by Hiram S. Allen,
afterward a pioneer of Chippewa Falls, where he spent the remainder of his life.
Allen came to the Red Cedar Valley from Galena in 1834, and started getting out
logs and square timber. He found however, that lacking booms in which to secure
logs near the mouth of Chippewa, he must saw his logs into lumber if he was to be
successful in his venture. Accordingly in 1835 he bought the Gilbert Creek mill and
probably acquired an interest in Wilson Creek mill. This part ownership is in-
dicated by a deed dated January 8, 1841, conveying the Wilson Creek mill from
James H. Lockwood and Hiram S. Allen to James Green. Allen was married in
1838 to Mary De Marie, a daughter of Louis De Marie, who lived at French Town
opposite Chippewa Falls. The romance started when the young lady accompanied
her father from Chippewa Falls to the Allen camp in the Red Cedar country for
supplies. The Irvine Creek (Randall calls it Spring Creek) mill was sold in 1841 to
Stephen S. McCann. Among his employees were Simon and George W. Randall,
who afterward, with himself and Jeremiah C. Thomas formed in 1846 the Eau
Claire firm of McCann, Randall and Thomas. The Irvine Creek mill was burned
in 1843, the loss falling on Allen, the original owner.

The mill was rebuilt by Bois Hurd. From the fall of 1847 to June, 1849, Andrew
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Tainter was his partner there getting out shingles. Mr. Tainter sold to Lorenzo
Bullard, who became Hurd's partner. The United States survey of 1849 says of
this point on Irvine Creek: * Creek 25 links wide. Hurd’s mill on this creek is a
small fixen one saw, and very little timber around.”

An entry in the books of Black & Knapp under date of September 1, 1847,
shows a charge against Hurd & Tainter, ‘“ To repairing stirup for mill, $2.50.”
In November same year, * To boating goods to mill, $36,” and the account con-
tinues to June 16, 1849. These books show that on June 26, 1849, an account
was opened with Hurd & Bullard, the item on that day being, “To mending mill
stirrup, $1.00.” It is a singular coincidence that these two accounts should be
opened with an item of the same nature, repairing for mill, and presumably the
Irvine Creek mill in both instances. This inference is strengthened by the fact
that a note of Bullard's was turned in by Tainter to Knapp & Tainter for $311 on
Tainter’s purchase of a partnership interest in the Wilson Creek mill from John H.
Knapp in 1850. :

The Gilbert Creek mill, erected by James H. Lockwood in 1831 was sold in
1835 to Hiram S. Allen. In 1842, G. S. Branham became his partner. In 1846 they
sold to Samuel Gilbert, Sr., from whom the creek takes its name. From the fall
of 1846 to the summer of 1847, Andrew Tainter was associated with Mr. Gilbert
in getting out lath at the mill. In the minutes of the United States survey made
in 1849 is this legend,“ Came to corner of a house near which 5 others belonging to
Samuel Gilbert and son and occupied by their families and workmen. Breast of
mill dam, 15 feet high; fifty links south is a sawmill running one upright and two
circular saws.” _

A mill was built on the Eau Galle, the present site of Eau Galle village, in 1838-
39. Itwaserected by Captain George Wales with Thomas Savage as a partner. The
millwright was Captain Dix. Captain Wales was a brilliant young West Point
graduate, who appears to have acquired extravagant habits while in frontier army
posts. He was in charge of the Lockwood operations at Wilson and Gilbert Creeks
for a while, and upon leaving that employ, started for himself on the Eau Galle.
Captain Dix had also probably been employed at the Lockwood mills. The Eau
Galle mill was put in operation in 1839. In 1839, not long after the completion
of the mill, William Carson, a Canadian, and Henry Eaton, a down-east Yankee,
appeared. Claiming that the mill company had noexclusive rightsin the forest, they
commenced getting out square timbers and shingles, the former by hewing and the
latter by riving and breasting, forming the timber into rafts upon which the shingles
were loaded for transportation. This proved annoving to the owners of the Eau
Galle mill, for it not only took much of the most convenient and valuable timber
but also obstructed the navigation of their little river for their cribs of lumber.
Dix and Savage, therefore, decided to sell an interest in the mill to the intruders,
and thus maintain the monopoly which thev had established and prevent the mono-
poly which they feared. The partnérship about this time and for some time
thereafter was known as William Carson & Co.

Not long after this, Savage and Dix withdrew and the partnership of Carson,
Eaton and Wales continued the business, Wales being the financial man of the
concern.  Wisconsin was at this time a territory, and the Chippewa and Red Cedar
Valleys little more than unexplored wilderness. Mr. Carson was optomistic as to
the future which would bring great numbers of people to so heavily timbered a
region. The mill owned by Carson, Eaton and Wales was a large one for that time,
having a cutting capacity of 10,000 feet per day with two upright saws of the gate
variety, the only kind known to the times.

Captain Wales, as noted, was the financial and also the sales agent of the firm.
In his visits to St. Louis and other Mississippi points which this work involved, he
found his expenses more than his income, and in 1844 he sold out to his partners.

The partnership of Carson and Eaton was continued for some years. In 1852
an interest was sold to Eldridge D. Rand, a prominent lumberman of Burlington,
Iowa. Later Mr. Eaton retired and the firm became Carson and Rand. The
mill was destroyed by fire in 1860 but was immediately rebuilt.
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The Eau Galle operations of the firm continued with many enlargements and
improvements to the mill until 1874 when through the scarcity of timber on the
Eau Galle, the further operation of the mill was not thought profitable and oper-
ations were discontinued. The firm however, continued to operate a flour mill in
connection with the mercantile business they had established. In 1874, Mr.
Carson removed to Eau Claire where he died in January, 1898.

Samuel Lamb, a veteran of the Black Hawk war, came to the Red Cedar country
in 1834 and settled at what afterward became known as Lamb Creek Falls. Lamb’s
wife was Susan Margaret De Marie, a daughter of Louis De Marie, a pioneer of
Frenchtown, opposite Chippewa Falls. Arthur McCann and Hiram S. Allen also
married daughters of this sturdy French Canadian. In 1835, Lamb and his wife
settled at Cedar Falls, above what is now Menomonie, and their first child, Char-
lotte, was born there in 1838.

Shortly afterward Lamb built a house near the junction of the Red Cedar and
the Chippewa, and opened a saloon. It became a noted resort for the lumbermen
and hunters who roamed the region. The Lamb settlement later came to be called
Dunnville.

The second child of Mr. and Mrs. Lamb was born at Dunnville in 1840. This
child, Henry, is still living at Brookville, St. Croix County, this state. Lamb was
a carpenter and millwright. He not only built several houses at Dunnville, but
also worked on some of the mills elsewhere in the valley. In 1841 he sold out to
his brother-in-low, Arthur McCann, and moved to Brookville, St. Croix County.
There he met his death by falling from a mill which he was building. Arthur,
Stephens and Dan McCann had come to the valley in 1840, the year previous.
They were natives of Marietta, Ohio. Arthur McCann was murdered by a man
named Sawyer in 1843. His wife returned to her parents and afterward married
George P. Warren, first county clerk of Chippewa County. Philo Stone took pos-
session of the tavern. Philo and Roswell Stone, brothers, had come from Vermont
in 1838 and engaged in hunting and fur trading in this region. Amos Colburn was
another early settler, and the settlement was for a while called Colburn’s. He
erected a frame building and used it as a tavern. In 1843 John Macauley se.tled
nearby.

Dunnville was tentatively designated the county seat of Chippewa County in
1845 and was made the county seat of Dunn County in 1854. The temporary
county building was burned in 1838, and on January 1, 1861, the county seat was
removed to Menomonie.

The murder of Arthur McCann is vividly recounted by Randall. He states
that McCann had formed a partnership with J. C. Thomas, who proceeded to build
a mill then known as the ‘“ Blue Mill” midway between the present cities of Chippe-
wa Falls and Eau Claire. McCann continued to live at Dunnville. They had

“employed on the work for some time, a man by the name of Sawyer, who when his
time was up, went down to McCann'’s for a settlement, after which McCann pro-
posed cards, at the same time treating freely.

The game went on until evening, when some dispute arose the later threw a
scale-weight at the former, whereupon he repaired to the cabin of Philo Stone,
near by, carefully loaded his rifle, went back to the door of McCann'’s house and
called him; on his appearance at the door Sawyer took deliberate aim, and McCann
fell dead on his own door-step, the victim of a drunken brawl. Sawyer made his
way up the river to Eau Claire, and thence to the Falls of Chippewa, where his
pursuers lost track of him, since when he has never been heard of, although a large
reward was offered for his apprehension by McCann’s friends.

In the spring of 1846 John H. Knapp, with William Wilson as silent partner,
purchased the Wilson Creek dam and mill from David Black, followed by a convey-
ance there of June 10, 1846. From that time authentic records are in existence,
and the settlements which sprang up about the various mills and camps may be
treated as separate entities.

In considering the history of Dunn County from this point it is well to bear in
mind that before that year mills had been erected on Wilson Creek, Gilbert Creek,
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Irvine Creek and the Eau Galle River. A settlement had been started at Dunn-
ville at the junction of the Red Cedar and the Chippewa. Several lumber camps
had also been established at various points.



CHAPTER III
THE JEFFERSON DAVIS MYTH

The story that Jefferson Davis, afterward president of the Southern Confeder-
acy, was at Menomonie in the early thirties is one that has found much favor with
those who later delighted in telling of pioneer operations on the Red Cedar. The
story was repeated from mouth to mouth, and has been published in many books,
including histories of the Chippewa Valley and its counties. Attorney Charles E.
Freeman, of Menomonie, has made a close study of the subject, which has attracted
wide attention among historians, and is here reproduced to correct an error which
has been wide spread. In his article, Mr. Freeman says:

“Whilethesecond Fort Crawford at Prairie du Chien was being built was Jeffer-
son Davis at the site of the present city of Menomonie? Was he an officer of the
United States army, in charge, during that time of a force of men engaged in the
cutting of pine timber on the Red Cedar River?

The Red Cedar, or Menomonie, empties into the Chippewa River from the
north, at a point about 30 miles from the mouth of that river. The location of
the city of Menomonie is on this river about 18 miles from its junction with the
Chippewa. The first Fort Crawford was established in the year 1816, and the
second fort of that name was constructed during the vears 1829 to 1832. Davis
was in the army from July 1, 1828 until some time in August, 1835. Timber was
cut on the Red Cedar by direction of the commander of Fort Crawford during the
time of its construction, and while Davis was in the army. The army records show
that Davis was at three different times from 1828 to 1832 assigned to duty at Fort
Crawford.

It was customary at that early day for privates in the army, at the end of their
term of enlistment to remain on the frontier and engage in such work as they could
find to do. Among the privates at Fort Crawford who followed this custom were
Elisha Brown, Joseph Benson, Mr. Decker and Mr. Lemon. They came after
service in the army to the Red Cedar country and worked in the lumber camps.
It appears from the account books of the firm of Black and Knapp that Benson
and Brown were here as early as 1846, the former in June and the latter in September
of that year. Benson opened his account with the purchase of “‘2 plugs of tobacco,
$1.50” and Brown with ““1 pair of Pantaloons, 84.50.” It is probable from state-
ments of early residents of Menomonie as to their impressions, that these two men
had been here for some time previous to 1848, working for former owners of the
Wilson Creek mill to which the account book’s mention pertain.

Upon the statements of Brown, Benson, Decker and Lemon as remembered
by those to whom they ever made, rests the local tradition, perpetuated in widely
circulated printed accounts, that Davis was on the Red Cedar in person, that he
was in charge of a force of United States soldiers, and was engaged in the cutting of
lumber with which to build Fort Crawford. Like all other traditions there is in
this an uncertainty as regards time and place. It may have been at any time from
1828 to 1832 or even earlier. As pine grew in abundance on the west side of the
Red Cedar River, the place of Davis’ supposed operations is referred to as being on
the west bank, anywhere from the mouth of the river to the present site of Me-
nomonie.

It is a noticeable fact in trying to trace down these traditions that some of these
men were not free and explicit at any time in regard to their adventures in the
service of the government, and were extremely reticent in the early years in regard
to their army experiences. Benson continued to live in Menomonie during the
remainder of his life. He died in this county and is buried in Evergreen Cemetery.
Brown lived in Menomonie for a number of vears and then moved away, but fre-
quently returned to visit with relatives. Decker and Lemon lived many years in
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this county. It is believed that these men originated the tradition of Jefferson
Davis and the Red Cedar, and the facts and circumstances that can be marshalled,
which by inference only, go té support it.

It is to be regretted that no definite and specific statement, made by any of these
four men, can be given in support of the story that Davis was on the Menomonie
and cut timber from its banks. Local writers on early times in Wisconsin have
followed this traditionary story regarding Davis, and in some instances have cited
Brown’s supposed statements as authority. Reviewers of the ante-war service of
Davis and one of the biographers, also,seem to have adopted these local statements
made by the narrators of early events.

In a little book written by Thomas E. Randall, of Eau Claire, entitled ‘“ The
History of the Chippewa Valley” on page 11, he, after referring to the establishment
of the mills of Lockwood on Wilson and Gilbert Creeks, tributaries of the Red
Cedar River, says: ‘‘Itis to these mills that voung Lieutenant Jefferson Davis is
said to have been despatched for lumber to rebuild Fort Crawford. An amusing
incident is related by several of the old soldiers who were with Davis and some offi-
cers on one of these trips for lumber. The order had been filled at the mill (Lock-
wood’s), the lumber rafted down the Red Cedar in strings to the Chippewa,
all safely coupled up, and an old voyageur shipped as pilot. The officers and all
leaped on board, and all went well until they neared the head of Beef Slough.
“To de right, hard,” said the old Frenchman. ‘What's that, you villain?”’ cried
the West Pointer,  You're going to run this raft right to hell. I tell you to pull to
the left where the main river is.” It was done and the lumber lost in Beef Slough,
as the channel was effectually blocked with drift wood. ‘

In the “History of Northern Wisconsin,” a large quarto volume, published by
“The Western Historical Company, in 1881, at Chicago, mention is made of the
early cutting of timber on the Red Cedar River for Fort Crawford, and of the prob-
able connection of Davis with such cutting, and it is stated; ‘“‘ The story as told by
the old settlers is, that this was the redoubtable Jeff Davis, which is probably true,
as Davis was located at the fort.”” This is on page 274.

In a “‘History of the Chippewa Valley,” also a quarto volume, published at
Chicago, in 1891, reference is made to the story of Davis’being on the Red Cedar
River and especial mention is made of the story as given by Elisha Brown. On
page 141, we find it stated that Jeff Davis “went in 1830 with about thirty men,
Brown being one of the number, up the Chippewa River to fell timber and make it
into rafts.”

A comparison of the general trend of the traditions as to the time when, the
place where, and the purpose for which, Davis was hereabouts, with well authenti-
cated statements of traders and residents on and along the Fox-Wisconsin route
from Green Bay to Prairie du Chien; with records concerning the army; and with
Davis’ own statements, seems to lead to the conclusion that there is no trust-worthy
basis for this traditional story and that as a matter of fact Davis was never in
charge of the cutting of timber on this river for Fort Crawford and was never here
in person.

The tradition or traditions are associated with many personal incidents, such
as the great peril of Davis while here from hostile Indians; his mistake in running a
raft into Beef Slough, and his elopement with General Taylor's daughter. The
peril and the mistake of others, and the elopement, it is believed,is aside from the
questions under discussion.

Brown is cited as authority, by the Editor of ‘“ History of the Chippewa Valley”
for the story that Davis ran a raft into Beef Slough, and is credited with being one
of the soldiers who manned Gen. Taylor’s boat when, it is said, he pursued Davisand
his eloping daughter.

In a book of some wider circulation than the local works referred to, ‘“Dodd’s
Jefferson Davis,” the various versions of Davis’ expedition to this river have become
crystallized in this form: ‘‘Davis was stationed at Fort Crawford in 1828 and 1829
and in the early months of 1829 was detailed to superintend the cutting of timber
on the banks of the Red Cedar River, a tributary of the Chippewa. The party
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camped near the present site of the town of Menomonie. Owning to the proximity
of unfriendly Indians, it was necessary to fortify the camp and maintain guards or
small out posts.” Then follows an account of Davis’ becoming isolated from camp
and of his having to hide in the underbrush to escape being scalped by the Indians.
No authority is given for these statements, either as to Davis’ beinghere or as to the
incidents detailed. In the memoirs of Davis by his wife, on page 59 it is stated:
“While stationed at Fort Crawford in 1829 he commanded a detachment for cutting
timber to repair and enlarge the fort.” While, on page 65, it is stated: “‘In the
autumn of 1829, Lieut. Davis was ordered -down to Ft. Winnebago where he
remained until 1831.” Attention is especially called to these statements of Mrs.
Davis, as they indicate that Davis, if on this river in 1829, must have been here
before the autumn of that year, and as Dodd states, in the early months of 1829.

Coupled with the first statement is this: “The requisite timber for the repairs
he found among the hackmatak, (tamarack), cedars and other varieties of timber
that grow near the Menomonie or Red Cedar River.” Again, ‘“Lieut. Davis was
camped ten miles from the mouth of the Chippewa, the first stream that empties
into that river.” As this stands, it is a meaningless description. If we eliminate
some of the data as worthless, the location would seem to have been ten miles up
the Menomonie or at the site of Varney Creek. This is where some of the tradi-
tionary statements place him. At this place, however, he certainly cut no cedars
and probably no tamarack.

Then is given in these Memoirs an account of the running of the timber cut,
similar in detail to that given by tradition. It is said, * When the timber was rafted
oxenand outfit were placed upon it, but the swift stream sucked it into a side current
of the Chippewa River. The raft was broken up, several of the oxen drowned, and
the whole work had to be done over again.” ‘In consequence of this accident it
was called Beef Slough, and it is so named to this'day.” It certainly did not need
this incident to name this slough as the whole river over a century before had been
known as Beef River from the numbers of buffalo that roamed its adjacent meadows.
So the name cannot be brought forward as proof of the incident and then the inci-
dent being thus established taken as proof of the fact of Davis’ visit here. The
account closes with this statement: ‘Four miles from where Lieut. Davis logged
in the wildernesses is Menomonie, a city of 7,000 inhabitants.” For authority,
Mrs. Davis cites some western historian whose name, she says, was not com-
municated to her.

These traditions, and the statements, presumably based upon them, do not
seem to have any direct confirmation either from history or from personal statement
of Davis himself. The fact that for a brief time in 1829, for a longer time in 1831-32
and for a short time in 1832-33, Davis was stationed at Fort Crawford, coupled with
that statement in a letter written by Davis, that he was at one time put in charge
of the cutting of timber for Fort Crawford, would perhaps, at first blush, tend to
corroborate the traditions and statements mentioned. But a careful consideration
of these supposable confirmatory proofs in connection with records of Davis’ em-
ployment during the years mentioned, and with recorded statements of the employ-
ment of others in the building of this fort during the years of its construction, comes
near positive disproof of the facts claimed as to Davis’sojourn onand his command
of a force working on this river.

As showing the improbability of such local visit and temporary emplovment of
Davis, the following facts and arguments are presented. The Army Register for
1828 shows Jefferson Davis to have been graduated from West Point Military Aca-
demy in that year and to have been commissioned July 1, 1828, second lieutenant
of the First Infantry.

In Cullum’s Officers and Graduates of that Academy, vol. 1 p. 333, is this brief
army assignment of Davis. “‘Served: on frontier duty at Ft. Crawford, Wis.,
1829; Ft. Winnebago, Wis., 1829-31; Yellow River, superintendent saw-mill, 1831;
Ft. Crawford, Wis., 1831; Dubuque mines, Ia., 1832; Jefferson Barracks, Mo., 1832;
and Ft. Crawford, Wis., 1832-33.”

After Jefferson Davis had been chosen president of the Southern Confederacy,
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the taunt by the aristocratic Southerners that Lincoln had been a rail splitter was
met by the retort that Davis had been a “‘lumber jack.” Davis’ friends wished
to clear up the matter so far as he was concerned, and he finally wrote a letter to
his friend Gen. George W. Jones, then of Dubuque, Iowa, dated January 5, 1872,
A newspaper copy is in the library of the Wisconsin History Society marked F834-
3D. F. L.

This letter reads in part as follows: “In 1829, I went to Fort Winnebago, then a
stockade, and was put in charge of the working parties to obtain material for the
construction block houses, barracks, and stores. Gen. (then captain) W. S, Harney
was sent with his company to the maple, ash, and oak forest on the Baraboo River;
both parties used the whip saw, and being among wild Indians were, doubtless,
objects of wonder. When the timber procured on the Wisconsin was brought down
to the portage of the Wisconsin and Fox rivers, the former wasso full that its waters
flowed over its banks and ran in a broad sheet into the Fox River. Taking advan--
tage of the fact, we made rafts suited to the depth of the water and floated the
lumber across to the site of the fort on the east bank of the Fox River.” Again,
referring to the vear 1831, he writes: ‘‘Was ordered to Prairie du Chien and sub-
sequently was sent up the Yellow River, where we (the government) had a sawmill,
to cut lumber for Fort Crawford. Pine logs were obtained on the Chippewa and
rafted to the mill on Yellow River, oak logs were cut around the mill and the lumber
of both kinds rafted and floated to the landing at Prairie du Chien.” He than adds:
“To this extent was I a ‘lumberman’ in Wisconsin, being then in the United States
Army.”

The Yellow River mentioned by Davis, is a stream flowing into the Mississippi
River from the west, in the state of Iowa, about two miles above Prairie du Chien,
(see Wis. Hist. Colls. vol. 2 p- 156 and vol. 5 p. 126, note). This river was a well
known place as early as 1766. Jonothan Carver in an account’ of his travels of
that vear says that, on leaving Prairie du Chien and proceeding up the Mississippi,
A little farther to the west, on the contrary side; a small river falls into the Mis-
sisippi, which the French call Le Jaun Riviere, or the Yellow River. Here the
traders who had accompanied me hitherto took up their residence for the winter.”
Carver's Travels p. 42.

In the Memoirsof Davis by hiswifeon pages80,and 811t is stated;'*In 1831 while
Fort Crawford was still in the process of construction Lieut. Davis was ordered up
Yellow River to superintend the building of a sawmill.” ““The weather was in-
tensely cold and he was often wet to the skin for hours.” ** The exposure brought on
pneumonia, and he lay for many months at this isolated place, directing as best he
could, the operations of his men from his bed.” It will be noted that Davis’ himself
savs, that he was ordered to a mill already built. As to the other statements of
Ars. Davis, it must be said that it is very singular that Davis should have been
left sick at this place for so long a time when medical aid was within two miles.

If the weather was intensely cold the :iver must have been frozen over and
he could have been taken to the fort. Or, if too sick to be moved, it is singular
that some other officer was not put in command. It may have been such improba-
bilities that induced Hon. A. J. Turner, in his account of Fort Winneabago and
Portage, in 14 Wis. Hist. Colls., to transfer this Yellow River episode, sawmill and
all, bodily, to Yellow River, a tributary of the Wisconsin River, and to picture
Davis successfully running a raft through the Dells of the Wisconsin, instead of
unsucesstully into Beef Slough off the Chippewa. And for a similar reason Dood in
his ** Jefferson Davis” may have thought it proper to locate this Yellow River, as .
he says; above Chippewa Falls, some three hundred miles from Fort Crawford.”

Davis’ statement and the army records show that Harney ranked Davis, so
it is evident that he did not have charge of the Upper Wisconsin expedition of
Harney in 1829, so probably Davis was not at Yellow River on the Wisconsin or if
- Yellow River above Chippewa Falls be taken as the site of the sawmill, then, it is
evident, logs from the Menomonie were not sawed there.

In pursuing this subject it is well in connection with Davis’ letter and the
Memoirs to note the statement of Saterlee Clark an early resident of Wisconsin,
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published in vol. 8 Wis. Hist. Colls., pp. 309and 310, as to the whereabouts of Davis
from 1828 to 1831. He savs: ‘“‘The same season, 1828, the first infantry was
ordered to the Portage to build a fort, to be called Fort Winnebago.” Again, “Of
the officers stationed at Fort Winnebago from 1828 till the 5th of July, 1831, only
two survive, to-wit: General William Harney and Lieut. Jeff Davis. Harney at
that time was a captain, and Davis his subaltern.”

It should be remembered that the Army Register before cited shows the First
Infantry to be Davis’ regiment.

This statement of Clark is supplemented by Morgan L. Martin in a narrative
published in 11 Wis. Hist. Colls., where he states that in the autumn of 1828, he
met Maj. Twiggs and Lieut. Davis with three companies of soldiers going to es-
tablish a garrison at Ft. Winnebago. Morgan met them on the Fox River and they
were going to the Portage of the Wisconsin.

Although Davis does not mention being at Ft. Winnebago in the fall of 1828,
but says that he went there in 1829, these statements of Clark and Martin show him
to have been there in 1828. Confirming this is a report of Maj. Twiggs of the First
Infantry, dated at Ft. Winnebacn, September 30, 1828, in which he says that he
had that day arrived with his command and selected a site for temporary barracks.
Again in December, 1828 he reports progress in getting up the temporary barracks
and states that the timber has been and is being procured in the vicinity not more
than 9 to11 milesaway .Thesereports are given in 14 Wis. Hist. Colls. pp. 73, and 74.

It will be noted that in his letter, Davis in connection with this statement that
he went to Ft. Winnebago in 1828, says; “‘than a stockade.” This shows a prior
occupancy, that of the year before, according to Clark, Morgan and Maj. Twiggs,
and Dayvis there.

The report of the secretary of war for 1828 with an accompanying report of the
engineer in charge, shows that old Fort Crawford was not to be kept up, and that
it was recommended that a fort be established on a bluff opposite Prairie du Chien,
on the west bank of the Mississippi River. Detailed plans for the proposed fort
were submitted with the report. This report is dated, December, 1828.

The county records of Crawford County, book “A” in the office of the regis-
ter of deeds, page 84 and other pages, show that the United States did not pur-
chase the site of the second Fort Crawford until in May, 1828.

John H. Fonda, an early resident of Prairie du Chien, in reminiscences published
in Vol. 5, Wisconsin Historical Collections, says that he enlisted in the United
States army in April, 1829, at Fort Crawford, then in command of Col. Zachary
Taylor; that in that vear the second Fort Crawford was commenced; that he was
sent by Taylor to show a force of men where to get timber with which to build the
fort; that he took them up the Wisconsin River to where Galena was afterward
built, and that timber was there cut and rafted down the Wisconsin River: that in
the fall of 1829, Taylor ordered a force of seventy men under the command of Lieu-
tenant Gale, having under him, Lieutenant Gardenier and Sergeant Melvin ‘‘to
proceed to the pineries of the Menomonie River, there to cut logs, hew square
timber, and make planksand shingles to be used in the construction of the fort and
its defense. Fonda was sent on this expedition as general utility man. He gives
a very circumstantial account of the expedition, in its going to Menomonie, its
operations there during the winter of 1829-30, and of its return to Prairie du Chien
in the spring of 1830.

Some things stated by him are very noticable, when read in connection with the
traditions and accounts given by others of Jefferson Davis’ operations on this river.
The commander, Gale, in fear of a Chippewa war party left his temporary encamp-
ment and to save his scalp, as he supposed, went in hiding in the Chippewa bottoms,
and nearly perished there from cold and want of food. Fonda further states that
Sergeant Melvin later built stockades and placed guards to protect his men from
the savages and that Lieutenant Gardenier recklessly or carelessly ran the raft under
his command into Beef Slough where it was lost among the wreckage with which
the slough was filled. Fonda's account is “I cried to Gardenier to either make
fast above me or pull for the point opposite the slough. He heard me and tried
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to make the opposite shore, but owing to the strong current or some mismanage-
ment, the raft was wrecked in the slough.”

It is possible that Mrs. Davis’ * Western Historian’’ appropriated this account of
Lieutenant Gardenier’s mishap in the spring of 1830 to his own purpose and applied
it to Lieutenant Davis in the spring of 1832. It does not seem possible that army
officers would have allowed this ““sucking in"" of a raft into Beef Slough to have
occurred twice within two years.

Fonda’s account would indicate that the early camp and operations of which he
speaks were near the mouth of the Menomonie, probably near the site of the present
village of Dunnville.

Itisa singular fact that in the telling by Brown and Fonda of this matter of the
running of the raft into Beef Slough there is a similar personal incident related by
each. Brown is reported as saying that Davis told him “to tell General Taylor
that the logs could be hauled across the country, but this he refused to do.” Fonda
says: ‘‘Gardenier promised me something handsome if I would not give the par-
ticulars in my report as to how the raft was lost.”

It is possible that Brown, Benson, Decker and Lemon were with the expedition
of 1829-30. If so, it is probable that in after years their recollections of the names
of officers in charge was a trifle hazy. Davis’ name became prominent in connection
with the Civil war, and the fact of his presence at Fort Crawford in an early day
became a matter of public talk. Under these circumstances it would be natural for
these men to come to the conclusion that their employment on this river had been
under Davis.

Prof. Butler, in an article in Vol. 10, Wisconsin Historical Collections, page 75,
states that Davis at one time wroteto him that he, in 1829, while on detached duty
from Fort Winnebago, visited the site of Madison, and claimed to have been the
first white man there. This tends to show that any assignment which Davis may
have had at Fort Crawford in 1829 must have been temporary.

In a note in Vol. 12, Wisconsin Historical Collections, page 234, it is stated that
Davis "was absent from Fort Crawford during January and February, 1832, and on
furlough from March 26 to August 18, 1832, and was sent to St. Louis, with Black
Hawk in August or September, 1832, If on furlough, as stated, it is not probable
that he ran lumber by raft out of the Menomonie into the Chippewa and thence
into Beef Slough in the spring of 1832.

Conceding that Davis was at Fort Crawford in 1828, he could not have been
there until after the date of his commission, July 1; the statements of Clark and
Martin place him at Ft. Winnebago in September of that year.  The report of the
secretary of war for 1828 shows that the site of the new Fort Crawford had not
been established as late as December of that year and would indicate that no con-
siderable rebuilding or repairs of the old fort were under way. The narrative of
Fonda states that work on the new fort was not commenced until after April, 1829,
and the records of Crawford County showing transfer of the site of the new fort to
the United States in May, 1829, corroborates his statement in this regard.

It is evident, therefore, that Davis did not get out timber on the Red Cedar
River for Fort Crawford before the summer of 1829.

According to Davis’ letter to Gen. Jones, he did not go to Fort Crawford until
1831. The Memoirs state that he did not go there until that year. Clark states
that Davis was at Fort Winnebago until July 5, 1831. Davis’ letter to Prof.
Butler shows he was at Fort Winnebago in 1829 or on detached duty from there.

It is quite certain, therefore, that Davis did not in 1829, 1830 nor up until
July 5, 1831, get out timber on this river for Fort Crawford.

An examination of the unpublished reports of commanders and subaltern officers
at Forts Crawford and Winnebago, during the years 1828 to 1832, inclusive, might
throw new light on this question of Davis’ employment during that period of time.

It is stated in the History of Crawford County page 337, that in the year 1831,
the garrison was removed from the old fort to the new fort on the prairie. This
would indicate that the fort was built but not finished. Naturally then it would
be lumber that was now required for finishing. And Davis in his letter distinctly
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says, that he was sent to a government mill on Yellow River to cut lumber, and
tells from where the pine logs were obtained, that is, on the Chippewa. If he had
gone personally to get the pine logs he would have said on the Menomonie, foras
a matter of fact if any were obtained they were taken from there. At no time has
there been pine on the Chippewa below the falls of that river, a distance of fully
fifty miles farther away than the location of pine on the Menomonie.

Here again, basing a conclusion on what Davis himself states to have been his
employment and the place of his work; on the fact that the fort had been so far
completed that the garrison had moved in, warranting the inference that it was
lumber for finishing and not timber for construction that was needed and that Davis
supplied; together with the fact that he could have been employed in getting out
lumber for only a short time in 1831-32, judging from the record of his frequent
absences, furlough, and the period of his sickness at Yellow River narrated in the
Memoirs, it is evident that Davis was not on this river in 1831-32 getting out timber
for Fort Crawford.

There seems to be no claim that Davis was here at a later date than 1831-32
nor are there an, «ircumstances warranting such a claim, and in his letter of January
5, 1872, he states that his work on Yellow River in 1831 closed his service as lumber-
man in Wisconsin.

A summarization of these separate conclusions into one final judgment can result
in no other determination than that Jefferson Davis was at no time in charge of
a force of men cutting logs on theRed Cedar River, and that probably he never was
at the present site of Menomonie, nor on the Red Cedar River.



CHAPTER 1V
JURISDICTION AND COUNTY BOUNDARIES

Jurisdiction over Dunn County has been claimed by four nations, Spain, France,
Engzland and the United States: the French and English colonial authorities; the
territorial officials of the Northwest Territory, and of the Territories of Indiana,
Illinois, Michigan and Wisconsin; and the officers of the counties of Crawford,
St. Croix and Chippewa.

Spain, by virtue of the discoveries of Columbus and others, confirmed to her by
papal grant (that of Pope Alexander VI, May 4, 1493) may be said to have been
the first European owner of the entire valley of the Mississippi River, but she never
used this claim as a ground for taking actual possession of this part of her domains
other than was incidentally involved in De Soto’s doings. The name of Florida
was first applied to the greater part of the eastern half of North America, commenc--
ing at the Gulf of Mexico, and extending northward indefinitely.

England, basing her claims on the explorations made by her subjects along the
Atlantic coast, issued to various individuals and ‘‘companies”’, charters to vast
tracts of land extending from the Atlantic westward. Practically, however, the
upper Mississippi valley may be considered as having been in the first place,
Canadian soil, for it was Frenchmen from Canada who first visited it, and traded
with its natives. The names of Canada and New France were used interchangeably
to apply to the vast French possessions of the American continent. The name
Louisiana was invented by La Salle and applied by him to the entire Mississippi
valley. But, generally speaking, the Canada or New France of the Eighteenth
century took in the upper Mississippi valley, while the name Louisiana was used
only for the lower valley.

At the close of the great European conflict which found its echo in the so-called
French and Indian War in America, the area that is now Wisconsin, became by the
Treaty of Paris, signed Febuary 10, 1763 (a preliminary treaty having been signed
at Fontainebleau, November 3, 1762), a part of the British empire.

The success of the American Revolution resulting in the Treaty of Paris,
September 3, 1783, revived the claims of the coast states, but finally these claims
were ceded to the Federal Government, in order to form new States and Territories.

After the land was acquired by the Federal authority, many plans were proposed
for its government, Thomas Jefferson suggested that the territory be divided into
ten States, of which the State of Mirtigan was to include the present Dunn
County.

The Northwest Territory was erected by the Congress of the Confederation
(the Constitution of the United States not being adopted until Sept. 17, 1787)
through the “ Northwest Ordinance’’, passed July 13, 1787. Eventually there were
formed from the Northwest Territory, in addition to Ohio, the Territories of In-
diana (May 7, 1800), Michigan (Jan. 11, 1805), Illinois (Feb. 3, 1809), and Wis-
consin (April 29, 1836).

Wisconsin was a part of the Northwest Territory from July 13, 1787, to May 11,
1800; of Indiana Territory from May 7, 1800, to Feb. 3, 1809; of Illinois Territory
from Feb. 3, 1809, to April 18, 1818; and of Michigan Territory from April 18, 1818,
to April 29, 1836, when the Territory of Wisconsin was created.

Crawford County, erected by proclamation of Lewis Cass, governor of Michigan
Territory, October 26, 1818, included what is now Dunn County. When the
Territory of Wisconsin was organized, April 29, 1836, Crawford County, Wisconsin,
also included in its vast area the present limits of Dunn County. ‘

St. Croix County was created Jan. 9, 1840 under No. 12, Laws of Wisconsin
Territory, 1839-40. This county embraced all the territory north and west of a
line beginning at the mouth of Porcupine River, on Lake Pepin, thence up said
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river to its first forks, thence to the Meadow fork of Red Cedar River, thence up
that river to Long Lake, etc. Thus all that part of the present Dunn County,
north of Wilson Creek and west of the Menomonie River was placed in St. Croix
County, and the rest remained in Crawford County. St. Croix County elected
officers on the first Monday in August and selected what is now Stillwater in the
state of Minnesota as the county seat. The early settlers in what is now Dunn
County, north of Wilson Creek were in St. Croix County, but it is doubtful whether
the jurisdiction was ever more than in name only.

Chippewa County was created in 1845, by an act of the territorial legislature
approved February 3. It embraced all the area west of Portage County, north of
Crawford County, east of the Mississippi and south of St. Croix County. This
county included 1n its territorv that part of the present Dunn County not already
described as being in St. Croix County. An election of officers was set for the fourth
Monday in November, 1845. At this election, commissioners were also to be named
to create a county seat. Until such action was taken the county seat was to be
located at the mouth of the Menomonie River, at or near its junction with the
Chippewa River, at or near the residence cf Samuel Lamb. This would place the
county seat at Dunnville. The countv was to remain attached to crawford for
judicial purposes. While Chippewa County was thus created, no organization was
perfected until some years later.

By a readjustment of the boundaries between St. Croix and Chippewa Counties.
on March 8, 1849, Chapter 77, Laws of 1849, all the present Dunn County was
placed in Chippewa County.

Dunn County was set off from Chippewa County on Feb. 19,1854 by Chapter 7,
General Laws of 1854. It embraced all the present Dunn and Pepin Counties.
The county was attached to Chippewa for judicial purposes. A general election
was ordered to be held in November, 1854, for all proper county officers, not in-
cluding clerk of the circuit court nor county judge. The officers were to take office
on Jan. 1, 1855. The “‘seat of justice’” was to be located at Amos Colburn’s at or
near the ferry across the Red Cedar River, near its mouth; in other words, at Dunn-
ville.

By an act approved, March 31, 1856, it was ordered that Dunn County be fully
organized on Jan. 1, 1857. It was placed in the eighth judicial district, and court
was to be held in the county on the second Monday in June and the second Monday
in December. A county judge was to be elected on the first Monday of September,
1856, and the county officers, in November, 1856. All were to take office on Jan. 1,
1857.°

Pepin County was set off from Dunn County by Chapter 15, General Laws of
1858, thus leaving Dunn County with its present boundaries.

The county was named from Charles Dunn, Chief Justice of the Supreme Court
of Wisconsin Territory, appointed by President Andrew Jackson, in 1835. The
legislative steps which led to the creation and organization of Dunn County are
worthy of extended study.

The Journal of the Assembly shows that William M. Torbert, then representing
the counties of La Pointe, St. Croix, Pierce and Polk in the assembly, presented to
that body on January 21, 1854, a petition of William B. Newcomb and others for
the organization of a new county; that the petition was immediately referred to the
committee on town and county organization; that W. J. Gibson, member from La
Crosse County was chairman of this committee; and that on January 16, five days
before the petition of Newcomb was presented, Gibson had introduced a bill to
attach a part of Chippewa County to Pierce and Buffalo counties, and that he on
January 18, introduced a bill to attach a part of Chippewa County to Buffalo
County; and, that on January 24, the committee of which Gibson was chairman
acting on the petition of Mr. Newcomb reported a bill for the organization of Dunn
County. This became known as Assembly Bill No. 71.  On January 27, this bill
was considered in committee of the whole and reported back without amendment.
On January 28, it was reported as correctly engrossed, and on the same day read a
third time and passed.
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The Senate Journal shows that this bil] was, on January 30, reported to that
body as having been passed by the Assembly; that on the thirty-first the Senate
heard the bill read a third time and passed it.

Again, by the Assembly Journal it appears that on February 1, the bill was
reported back from the Senate as passed. and that on F ebruary 2, it was reported
by the Assembly enrollment ccmmittee as correctly enrolled.

The bill thus passed by both houses was approved by Governor William A.
Barstow on the third dav of February. 1854, and became '*An Act to organize the
County of Dunn,” known as Chapter 7, laws of 1854, and was published February
19, 1854,

The area of the county is given in the bill as that now comprised in the present
county of Dunn together with all of the territory of Pepin County as now con-
stituted. The act provided for the election in November, 1854 of “the proper
county offices for county government, (not including clerk of Circuit Court nor
County Judge).” The officers elected were to enter upon their duties January 1,
1855.  For judicial purposes the county was attached to the county of Chippewa.
The county seat was designated as* located at Colburn’s at or near the ferry across
the Red Cedar River, near its mouth.”

Mr. Gibson on Januaryv 19, seems to have paved the way for Mr. Newcomb's
petition, for he on that day moved that his bill to attach a part of Chippewa County
to Pierce and Buffalo counties be laid on the table. Mr. Gibson’s other bill to
attach a part of Chippewa County to Buffalo County became a law. It detached
but a small part of one government township lving to the southeast of Dunn County.

The present generation may never know the log-rolling that brought all this
about. But note the celerity of action. The petition was presented January 21,
and on February 2. 13 days after. the act was signed and approved by the governor.

In 1856 Mr. Gibson, then a state senator, introduced in the Senate on March 14
a bill to organize the county of Dunn for judicial purposes. This bill took the usual
parliamentary course through the Senate, was sent to the Assembly and returned
to the Senate as passed by the Assembly, and from the Senate presented to the
governor for his signature. The governor on March 31, 14 days from the in-
troduction of the bill, signed and approved the act which became Chapter 91, Laws
of 18356.

By this act the county became fully organized for judicial purposes from and
after the first day of January, 1857, and was to constitute a part of the Eighth
Judicial Circuit. ‘

What is here given is but a brief abstract of the legislative procedure by which
Dunn County became a political subdivision of the state. The present generations
lack the historical setting; a knowledge of the social and political conditions that
prompted the effort that inaugurated the legislative action.

Records state that William B. Newcomb and others petitioned the legislature
to act. But, why did they petition, and who were the others who joined in the
petition? The petition itself was doubtless cast aside as it cannot now be found in
the state archives. It, of course, would if found show the names of the signers, and
perhaps disclose the conditions then existing or the reasons then offered to show
why the Legislature should dismember Chippewa County and out of the territory
taken away establish the county of Dunn.

One suggestion made as a demand for the organization of this county is that the
government of this part of the territory of Chippewa County was inefficient and
weak, both as to civil and criminal matters. No records of the proceedings of the
county board of Chippewa Countyv, nor of the action of its officers prior to the time
of the organization of Dunn County can be found; it is generally understood that
no permanent record was ever made. This absence of records and failure to keep
records lends weight to the suggestion of an inefficient and weak government.

It may have been that taxes were not equitably levied or that public moneys
were not impartially expended; that roads were not judiciously laid or properly
kept up; that political offices were not fairly distributed or that political patronage
was not satisfactorily dispensed. In any event the county was duly created and
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organized, and was launched upon the career which was to make it one of the most
prosperous communities in the whole sovereign state of Wisconsin.



CHAPTER V
COUNTY GOVERNMENT

When Dunn County was created in 1854, the act of the Legislature provided
that a general election should be held in November, 1854, and that the officers thus
elected should take office, Jan. 1, 1855,

A general election was held Nov. 7,1854. The officers elected for Dunn County
which then included Pepin County, were as follows: William Cady, clerk of the
board of supervisors and register of deeds; Henry Eaton, county treasurer; Thomas
B. Wilson, county surveyor; Alex Hamel, coroner; William Wilson, supervisor;
Willard Holbrook, sheriff; Sheriah Stevens, superintendent of schools and justice
of the peace; and Jacob Rowell, constable. These officers were certified to the
secretary of state by the clerk of the board of supervisors of Chippewa County on
Dec. 5, 1854,

By the provisions of law at that time applicable to a case where a new county was
established having within its territory no organized town, the whole territory of
the county was deemed to constitute a town and its inhabitants were authorized to
elect town supervisors. These supervisors were by positive provision of the statute
empowered to act as supervisors of the county. Tradition has it that the other two
supervisors beside Mr. Wilson, elected in the fall of 1854, were J. McCain and
William Carson. It is more probable, however, that they were elected town, and
consequently county, supervisors in the spring of 1856.

It would appear that William Cady qualified as clerk of the board of supervisors,
for late in 18535 he signed himself as clerk in filing with the secretary of state a list
of officers elected in November of that year. This list is as follows: Samuel B.
French, register of deeds: William Cady, clerk of the board of supervisors; Thales
Burke, treasurer; L. G. Wood, surveyor; and Seriah Stevens, coroner.

That any county government which existed before 1856 was more or less vague
and informal is indicated by the fact that despite its action of 1854, the Legislature
in the spring of 1856, ordered a general election for November, 1856, and specified
that the county officers elected then should take office o~ Jan. 1, 1857.

Apparently the three town supervisors, Thomas Wilson, J. McCain and William
Car<on met on Aug. 11, 1856, as the county board of supervisors and created seven
townships; Menomonie, Spring Brook, Eau Galle, Dunn, Rock Creek, Bear Creek
and Pepin. The last two named were in what is now Pepin County.

A general election was held in November, 1856, and officers elected.

A town election was held in each of the seven towns on April 7, 1857. The
seven chairmen elected constituted the the county board. They were: William
Wilson, Menomonie: Carroll Lucas, Spring Brook; William Carson, Eau Galle;
John Gardner, Dunn; Daniel Weston, Rock Creek: L. C. Wood, Bear Creek;
M. M. Davis, Pepin.

All the early records of Dunn County were destroyed in the fire at Dunnville
in 1858. There is considerable doubt as to the exact date of this fire. There is
considerable conflict of testimony.

From a minute book used as a reception book for instruments delivered for
record, now in the office of the register of deeds, it appears that the last mortgage
recorded on page 497, in volume 1 of mortgages, this volume having been burned,
was received for record from September 28 to October 10, 1858, while previous to
this omission of twelve days and immediately afterwards that instruments were
received nearlyevery day. Again volume 3 of deeds, saved from the fire, shows on
page 530 an instrument received for record September 22, 1858, while the next
instrument, recorded on page 531, is marked as received for record October 12, 1858.

In the absence of more precise information it seems safe to place the time of this
court house fire between some date in August and some date in October, 1858.

31
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Probably between September 28 and October 18, 1858.

In the Eau Claire Free Press, a weekly paper established in September, 1858
appears a paragraph under date of October 14, 1858, as follows: ‘‘Destructive
Fire.” “By a gentleman from Dunnville, we learn that the court house of Dunn
County was burned last night, at 11 o’clock. All the records of the county were
destroyed, except the record of deeds. We did not learn how the fire originated.”

At first blush this might seem to fix the date of the fire during the night of
October 13, 1858. But no one can now tell when the paragraph was written,
October 14, or on some previous dayv of the week, before which the paper went to
press. In any event the time limit within which the fire occured is apparently
shortened to the week ending October 14, 1838. ,

The first official record of the meeting of the county board, now to be found at
the Courthouse, is that of its meeting on November 9, 1858. Atthattimethedestruc-
tion of the county property and records was evidently considered complete. 'Rooms
were rented for county offices. New record books were purchased. As to articles
saved no action seems to have been taken, except that a committee of the county
board was appointed whose sole duty was stated to be, “to dispose of one keg of
nails that was saved from the fire of the courthouse.”

Register of Deeds—It is possible that William Cady elected register of deeds in
1854 did not qualify as such officer. The only records from the register’s office
saved from the courthouse at the time of the fire in 1858 were the index of the record
of instruments. It does not appear from this index book nor from the deed book
who was register in 1855 or in 1856. The first date of the receipt of papers for
recording shown therein 1s of June 18, 1855. There appears to have been five deeds
received for record on that day.

An old appointment record at Madison shows that William B. Newcomb of
North Pepin was appointed register of deeds for Dunn County on May 3, 1835.
North Pepin was then in Dunn County. In the list of officers for 1855 heretofore
given, it appears that Samuel B. French was elected register of deeds in November
of that year. Mr. French in later years stated that after he was first elected register,
Mr. Newcomb refused to turn the books pertaining to his office over to himand that
finally he hired a young attorney-at-law who came to Menomonie to locate, to go to
North Pepin and get the books. Mr. French stated that the attorney got the books
but he was under the impression that they were procured by tact and force rather
than by writ and due process of law.

The appointment of Mr. Newcomb presupposes a vacancy in the office of
register of deeds. The election of 1855 being in an odd numbered year indicates
that it was a special election. At that time a vacancy in a county office might be
filled at a special election. Mr. French having been elected register of deeds at
such special election, would, if he qualified, take the office and supplant Mr. New-
comb, the appointed officer, for the remainder of the regular term of two years to
which William Cady had been elected in 1854, and for which he failed to qualify.

Probably the controversy between Mr. French and Mr. Newcomb was over the
question whether an appointee to fill a vacancy in the office of register of deeds held
for the remainder of the full term or only until a successor should be elected at a
special election to fill such vacancy and should qualify. Following are the registrars
succeeding Mr. French: J. H. Green, 1857-58; F. R. Church, 1859-60; Francis
Breck, 1861-64; W. S. Grover, 1865-66; F. R. Lockwood, 1867-69; J. Kelly Jr.,
1870-75; S. A. Peterson, 1876-81; Peter Peterson, 1882-88: and Charles Knutson,
1889-92; Charles Knutson, 1893-94; Martin Fladoes, 1895-1902; Hy. S. Inenfeldt,
1903-10; Edward C. Quilling, 1911-18; M. F. McLeod, 1919-25.

County Judge—An Act of the Legislature of 1856 provided for the election of a
county judge for Dunn County on September 1, 1856, he to take office January 1,
1857, and hold for the term of two vears. There is however no record of either
an election or an appointment. Whether elected or appointed, William Cady
seems to have become the first county judge of Dunn County. The record book
now preserved in the office of the county judge shows a probate proceeding com-
menced before Mr. Cady as county judge and an order therein made by him as



HISTORY OF DUNN COUNTY 33

early as February 18, 1857. The file of papers in such proceeding has also been
preserved and is now pigeon-holed in such office. By such record book Mr. Cady
seems to have held the office of county judge until 1859, two years, the limit pre-
scribed by the act of 1856. The county judges succeeding Mr. Cady are as follows:
E. B. Bundy, 1863-68; P. C. Holmes, 1868-73: Robert Macauley, 1874-81; John
Kelly, Jr., 1882-98; Robert Maccauly, 1899-1902; William S. Swenson, 1903-16;
J. W. McCarley, 1918( resigned after 1 vear) and C. R. Freeman, 1919.

Coroners—Axel Hamel, 1855; Seriah Stevens, 1856-58; D. H. Buman, 1859-60;
Walter Crocker, 1861-62; office vacant, 1863-66; A. W. Studabaker, 1867-68; J. P.
Wood, 1871-78; H. S. Barden, 1879-80;: N. Crosby, 1881-82; G. M. Lanchkton,
1883-84; John Knoble, 1885-86; John Borland, 1887-88: J. J. Merrick, 1889-90;
W. H. Park, 1891-92: George W. Higbie, 1893-94; George Galloway, 1897-1908;
Frank Hintzman, 1909-18 and Carl Olson, 1919-25. '

Sheriffs-——Willard Holbrook, 1855-56: Amos Colhirn, 1857-58 ; E. E. Evans,
1859-60; W. R. Culbertson, 1861-62; Levi Vance, 1863-64; S. Marugg, 1865-66;
Thomas Blair, 1867-68; W. W. Winterbotham., 1869-70; E. L. Doolittle, 1871-72:
Samuel Omdahl, 1873-74; T. J. George, 1875-76; C. W. Moore, 1877-78: T. J.
George, 1879-80; S. Severson, 1881-82: George Thum, 1883-84: Thomas W. Ma-
cauley, 1885-86; William H. Wright, 1887-88; George Thum, 1889-90; George Dyle,
1891-92; Henry Miller, 1893-94; Charles Howison, 1895-96; Daniel P. Chamberlin,
1897-98; Henry Miller, 1899-1900; George Parker, 1901-02; John Stule, 1903-04:
Willard L. Smith, 1905-06; Henry Haefner, 1907-08; M. F. Swant, 1909-10: Fred-
erick G. Kopp, 1911-12; Fredinand Mortenson, 1913-14; Ludvig A. Tilleson,
1915-16; Fredinand Mortenson, 1917-18; Ludvig A. Tilleson, 1919-20; Charles I
Owen, 1921-22, and C. W. Helm, 1923.

Superintendents of Schools—Seriah Stevens, 1855; A. J. Messenger, 1865;
Carroll Lucas, 1866-67; T. C. Golden, 1868-69; Carroll Lucas, 1870-71; W. S.
Johnson, 1872-73; George Tonnar, 1874; George Schaffer, 1875-79; Florence Tick-
ner, 1880-81: A. B. Finley, 1882-84; Mary B. Slvle, 1885-86: J. C. Sherwin, 1887-88:;
H. W. Reed, 1889-90: J. E. Florin, 1891-92: J. E. Florin, 1893-94; Elvera Bricklev.,
1894-98; Nelson O. Varnum, 1899-1906; Jennie M. Brackett, 1907-10; John .
Klingman, 1911-18 and Earl L. Eades, 1919-25.

County Clerks.—William Cady, 1855-56: James R. Green, 1857-58; James
Breck, 1859-60; Francis Breck, 1861-64: W. W, Winterbotham, 1865-68; Samuel
Black, 1869-74; W. H. Landon, 1875-38; Alexander Horsford, 1889-98: Charles
G. Sedgwick, 1899-1906; Hans M. Halvorson, 1907-10; Frank Pieper, 1911-19 and
Arthur O. Quilling, 1921-25.

Clerks of Court.—Francis Breck, 1859-60: Milton E. Jones, 1861-62; P. H.
Foster, 1863-64; A. D. Harrington, 1865-66: F. R. Lockwood, 1867-69; J. Kellve,
Jr., 1870-74; Nils Michelet, 1875-78; W. J. Cowan, 1879-82; Thomas Running,
1883-86; Timothy Murphy, 1887-98; Ole N. Oleson, 1899-1914 and Joseph Trinko,
1915-25.

County Treasurers.—Henry Eaton, 1855: Thales Burke, 1856; David Hiller,
1859-60; F. R. Church, 1861-64; L. A. Newsom, 1865-66; Carroll Lucas, 1867-92:
Edgar M. Drake, 1893-95; Elmer B. Hill, 1897-99; William F. Micheels. 1901-04;
Frank A. Vasey, 1905-08: O. P. Stenerson, 1909-12; John C. Hardy, 1913-22 and
O. N. Nesseth, 1923-25.

District Attorneys.—C. S. Bundy. 1857-60: William D. Webb, 1861-66; S. W.
Hunt, 1867-68: Robert Macauley, 1869-72; R. C. Bierce, 1873-78; C. E. Freeman,
1879-82: R. D. Whitford, 1883-86: J. C. Ticknor, 1887-88: R. D. Whitford, 1889-90:
Robert Macauley, 1891-92; Peleg B. Clark, 1893-96; Joseas E. Florin, 1897-1902:
J. W. Macauley, 1903-12; C. R. Freeman, 1913-14; J. C. Ticknor, 1915-16; H W.
Ruhdow, 1917-22 and J. C. Ticknor, 1923-25.

County Survevors.—Thomas B. Wilson, 1855; I. G. Wood, 1836; D. Beeman,
1857-58; M. E. Jones, 1859-62; T. A. Butterfield. 1863-66: G. M. Fowler, 1867-68;
Thomas Parker, 1869-70; C. M. Bonnell, 1871-72; W. S. Johnson, 1873-74: J. A.
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Webster, 1875-78; Samuel Omdahl, 1879; Daniel Harshman, 1880: D. W. Waite,
1881-90; H. Webster, 1891-92; William Parker, 1893-94; L. W. Morris, 1895-96;
Daniel W. Waite, 1897-1908; W. A. Harding, 1909-10; A. T. Thompson, 1911-14
and W. A. Harding, 1915.

As already mentioned when the court house burned at Dunnville in 1858 the
records of the county for the first few years of its history were destroyed. The new
book of records (proceedings of the county board) that was started after the fire
shows the names of five towns namely; Eau Galle, Spring Brook, Rock Creek, Dunn
and Menomonie, into which the county was then politically divided. It was from
these towns, or some of them, that the others were subsequently set off. In this
process. there were very few fragmentary changes, or transferences of a few sections
from one town to another, so common in the early history of some counties; when
a new town was set off its boundaries were in almost every instance made to cor-
respond with the government townships and ranges.

The first new town mentioned on the earliest record book now existing was that
of Peru, which was organized on March 3, 1859, being set off from the town of Rock
Creek. This—the smallest town in the county—had for its north and west bound-
aries the Chippewa River, and hence to that exi it was, and is, irregular in outline.

The town of Red Cedar was organized Dec. 3, 1860, and included in addition to
the present town of Red Cedar the towns of Wilson, Sand Creek, Otter Creek,
Grant, Tainter and Colfax.

An entry in the county board records in August, 1861, shows that the towns of
Dunn County were at tha: time associated for government purposes with Dallas
County, or, practically, that territory that is now Barron County. The name
Dallas County appears regularly in the assessment tables on the county board
records for some seven or eight years, being first omitted in the tax table recorded
in November, 1869.

The next town organized after Red Cedar was Weston, which was set off from
Eau Galle with the same territory as at present.

The town of Lucas was next set off, from Menomonie, with its present territory.

Elk Mound was next set off from Spring Brook, on Dec. 30, 1865, with the same
territory as it has today.

" The town of New Haven was set off from the town of Menomonie on Dec. 10,
1866, its territory being defined as ‘‘all of townships 29, 30 and 31 of range 14,”
which includes what are now the towns of New Haven, Tiffany and Stanton.

The town of Grant was next organized, being set off from the town of Red
Cedar on Dec. 26, 1866. Its territory included what are now the towns of Grant,
Sand Creek, Wilson and Otter Creek.

The town of Sherman was set off from the town of Menomonie on Nov. 13, 1867
and included the present towns of Sherman and Hay River.

The town of Sheridan was set off on Nov. 13, 1867, its territory being defined as
township 31 of range 13, or what it is today. The records do not say from what
town it was taken.

The town of Colfax was set off from Red Cedar on Dec. 28, 1868, and contained
the present towns of Colfax and Tainter.

The town of Tainter was set off Jan. 23, 1869, from the towns of Colfax and Red
Cedar, the part taken from Red Cedar being Sections 5 and 6 and the north half
of Sections 7 and 8, which included, or was, the site of the village of Cedar Falls.

The town of Stanton was the next town created, Nov. 15, 1870, from the town
of New Haven, and included what is now the town of Stanton and the south half
of what is now the town of Tiffany.

The town of Tiffany seems to have been organized between November, 1873 and
November, 1874, as it appears as a separate town in the tax tables recorded in the
latter month and year but not in the former. The present editor could find no
record of the exact date of its organization. It probably was given the territory
which it now has, as none seems to have been taken from it or added to it sub-
sequently.

The town of Sand Creek, with the territory it has today, was set off and organized
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from the town of Grant on Nov. 16, 1876.

The town of Otter Creek was set off from the town of Grant on Nov. 16, 1877,
as now constituted.

The town of Hay River was set off from the town of Sherman on June 28, 1879,
with its present territory.

The town of Wilson was set off from Grant in 1886, though at what particular
session of the county board does not appear. It was the last town organized in the
county, making up the full total of 22.

As elsewhere stated, Dunn County orginally included the county of Pepin,
which was set off as a separate county in 1858. An act of the legislature, approved
April 2, 1860. sanctioned the submission of the question ot the removal of rne county
seat trom Dunnville to Menomonie at the next general election. The majority,
having voted amrmativelv. the seat of government was accordinelv changed, the
officers and county business moving to Menomonie on Jan. 1, 1861. Un their
arrival L€y occupled i privace residence of G. M. rowier on Main Street, (where
the post-office now stands) which, in accordance with previous arrangement, was
vacated for that purpose. They remained there three years, after which the county
rented any suitable building that could be secured. Several of the county officials
at times for a few years occupied other buildings, as happened to be most convenient
to them. The terms of court were held in a hall at the rear of the Menomonie
House, also in what was known as Grob’s Hall now Smith’s Hall.

In 1867 the county hired and fitted up what was known as the ** Charley Waller
building,” on the corner of Main Street and Broadway. The offices were on the
first floor and the court room upstairs. On the night of Oct. 14, 1868, burglars
broke into the former and stole one hundred dollars. In 1870 the court house
business was moved to the building that was later used as the “Times” office,
loc~ted on the site of the present Arcade building. That building was used but a

erected by Canute Thompson, at a cost of $36,000. The inside fittings brought
the total cost up to $45,000. It was occupied in the fall of the latter year. It is
a good-sized and substantial brick building and is situated in the center of a park
occupying a whole square, the land having been donated to the county by W' :iam
Wilson. A. J. Kinney was the architect of the court house and the supervisors at
the time of its construction were T. W. Macauley, J. W. Granger and A. Sherburn.
It is interesting to note that the brick used in the building was made on the court
house ground and in Wilson Park, a tract also donated to the city by Captain
‘Wilson soon after the plat of the city was made. The clay was hauled to the spot
from beds lving on the outskirts of the city. An addition was made in 1915,

The first jail possessed by the county was a small building at Dunnville, which
in October, 1858 burned down. A block building was ttin erectrd, and in 1869
after the county seat had been removed to Menomonie, the jail was taken to pieces
and moved also, being erected at the southeast corner of the courthouse park. It
was destroyed by fire, and the present jail was erected in 1874, at the corner of
Chestnut and Fourth Streets, (now Ninth Avenue and Tenth Street) at a cost of
87.500. It was subsequently improved at a cost of $2,000.

When Dunn County was organized it was made a part of the Eighth Judicial
District, which was presided over by Judge S. S. N. Fuller, who served until 1860.
His successor was Henry D. Barron, whose service, however, was short, as in that
same year, 1860, Judge L. P. Wetherby of Hudson became circuit judge.

In 1862 the Eighth District was composed of Eau Claire, Chippewa, Dunn,
Pepin, Pierce, St. Croix, Polk, La Pointe, Douglas and Burnett counties, and it so
remained until 1865, when several counties having been dropped, or tranferred to
other circuits, it was made to include only the counties of Chippewa, Dunn, Eau
Claire, Pepin, Pierce and St. Croix. .

In 1866 Dallas (now Barron) was added, and in 1867 Judge H. L. Humphrey,
of Hudson, became the circuit judge as successor to Judge Wetherby. The judicial
records for 1873 mention Barron County, omitting its former name of Dallas,

A change was made in the circuit in 1878, Barron and Chippewa counties being
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placed in the Eleventh Circuit and Eau Claire in the Thirteenth, leaving the Eighth
Circuit to include the counties of Dunn, Pepin, Pierce and St. Croix. At the same
time Judge Egbert B. Bundy of Menomonie succeeded Judge Humphrey on the
bench.

In 1879 Buffalo County was added to the circuit and Eau Claire was taken back,
making the Eighth Circuit to consist of Buffalo, Dunn, Eau Claire, Pepin, Pierce
and St. Croix. Thus it remained until 1892-93, when Eau Claire was transferred
to the Seventeenth Circuit. As no further change has been made, the Eighth
Circuit is now composed of the counties of Buffalo, Dunn, Pepin, Pierce and St.
Croix.

Judge Bundy, having served on the bench of the Eighth Circuit for 18 years,
was succeeded Jan. 1, 1897, by Eugene W. Helms, of Hudson, who died in office and
whose successor, in 1915, was Judge George Thompson, of Ellsworth, the present
judge of the circuit.

Dunn County in general has always been one of the most law-abiding sections
of the state and few notable crimes have been committed here. What was supposed
tc be the first murder of a wtit: man in the valley happened at Menomonie in 1844.
The victim was stealthily shot in the garret of an old log house. The perpetrator of
the cold-blooded crime was arrested and taken to Prairie du Chien, where he was
tried before Judge Dunn and acquitted.

Another episode which cost the lives of a respected official of Dunn County and
that of his brother of Pepin County, and which resulted in the lynching at Durand
of one of their murderers, will always form one of the most interesting portions of
local historv. While the principal events took place at Durand, Dunn County was
directly concerned and its entire population was acutely interested. The excite-
ment incident to the tragedy extended to the whole country and the affair became
one of national celebrity.

On Sunday, July 10, 1881, Milton Coleman, under-sheriff of Dunn County, and
Charles Coleman, deputy sheriff of Pepin County, accompanied by E. A. Toft of
Menomonie, were returning through Durand in charge of a prisoner captured at
Wabasha, who was accused of burglary committed at Mr. Toft’s jewelry store
two weeks before. As thev éntered Durand about 5:30 p. m. they were told that
Alonzo and Ed. Williams, alias Maxwell, notorious horse thieves and desperadoes
from Missouri, for whom a reward was out, had crossed the river in a skiff that day,
and were skulking in the outskirts. Placing their prisoner in the Durand jail for
safe keeping, the Coleman brothers, against warnings given them, set out to look
for the outlaws. They were armed with shot guns and had no fear. At about
8:30 o'clock, on the edge of town, they saw two men approaching along the road,
each armed with a Winchester rifle and a revolver. Milton Coleman raised his
gun and cocked it, aiming at Alonzo Williams. At the same time he said, * You are
my ............ " but he never finished the sentence. Williams fired with un-
erring aim and Milton fell back, his neck broken by the bullet. As he fell his
gun was discharged at his antagonist. Alonzo fired a second shot and fled down
the road. At the same time this occurred Charles Coleman and Ed. Williams
exchanged shots. Charles received a fatal wound just below the heart, and Williams
kept on firing, shooting five or six times with his revolver. Coleman sank on one
knee in the road and fired a second time. Then he fell dead. He had been hit
twice. Both the Williams brothers, it later developed, had been struck by shot,
Ed’s wounds being the more serious, but after the shooting he walked away and
joined his brother. The excitement throughout the entire Northwest was aroused
to the highest pitch, and for more than six weeks the Eau Galle woods, in which the
murderers had taken refuge, were scoured without avail. Armed men came from
as far as Winona and Red Wing to join in the search and menomonie furnished many
volunteers. The Ludington Guard was ralled out in July to assist in the hunt.
Not until November, however, was definite news obtained of the fugitives. Word
was at last received that Ed. Williams was captured in Hall County, Nebraska.
Sheriff Killian of that county found both brothers in bed in a farm house, and, after
a desperate struggle made Ed. his prisoner, Alonzo making his escape. Ed. was
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brought to Menomonie Thursday. November 17, by Sheriff Killian and Deputy
Henry Coleman of Dunn County and locked in jail here by Sheriff Severson. At
this time Williams told of their terrible experience in the Eau Galle woods. Both
men suffered intensly from their wounds and went for days at a time without food.
After ten days they emerged from the woods, reached the Mississippi at Maiden
Rock, found a boat and crossed Lake Pepin to Minnesota. Not until they reached
that state did they learn of the effect of the shooting. At 10 a. m., Friday, Williams
was brought into the circuit courtroom to enable the people to see him, but there
was no disorder. That afternoon the man was taken to Durand for preliminary
examination by Sheriff Killian of Nebraska, Undersheriff Miletus Knight, Deputy
Henry Coleman, Justice N. F. Carpenter, and the correspondent of the Pioneer
Press. On Saturday morning, the time set for the examination, the hearing was
postponed until 2 in the afternoon. Williams was then taken before Justice
W. B. Dyer in the Durand courthouse, the room being crowded with spectators.
The prisoner when arraigned gave the name of William E. Maxwell and pleaded
not guilty. He waived examination, however, and was remanded for trial. As the
officers with the prisoner were coming out of the courtroom and down the stairs,
cries of “Hang him” were heard. A man with a rope dodged through the outer
door and placed the noose over the prisoner's head. The officers were then hurried
down the corridor by a crowd of men, after offering fruitless resistence Maxwell,
or Williams, fought like a tiger, but was quickly overpowered and dragged by the
rope outside and to an oak tree in the courthouse grounds. He was hanged over a
horizontal limb of this tree, and fifteen minutes later his body was cut down by the
authorities. It is said that not more than 25 men had a hand in the hanging, which
was well planned. The body was buried in Potter’s field. Nothing further was
heard of Alonzo Williams (up to 1910).



CHAPTER VI
DUNN COUNTY IN THE BARSTOW-BASHFORD ELECTION

The Barstow-Bashford election took place in 1885. At this early date, Dunn
County became connected with a state wide political scandal. The situation was
not made in the county and came about by no criminality of its electors nor through
any iniquity of its citizens. The accidental association of the county with this
unsavory episode has generally been attributed to an attempt on the part of certain
Eau Claire democratic politicians to exploit the Dunn County community in an
illegal endeavor to elect as governor the candidate of their party. The opposing
candidates for governor were William A. Barstow, democratic nominee, and Coles
Bashford, republican nominee. Dunn County had then been established but little
more than one year and was not fully organized by the election of a board of super-
visors and by the election of general county officers until 1857. :

It appears that the records in the office of the secretary of state show, that at
the election of 1855, Dunn County was apparently divided into three voting pre-
cincts. It had in fact but two such precincts. The vote in these three supposed
precincts on governor was given in the returns made, as follows: Menomonie 44
for Barstow, democrat, and 1 for Bashford, republican; at O'Galla (Eau Galle),
respectively, 27 and 28, and at Gilbert’s Mills 53 and 14. The return of this vote
at Gilbert’s Mills was filed with the secretary of state on an application of Mr.
Bashford for a writ of quo warranto to oust Mr. Barstow as governor, into which
office it was alleged he had intruded. He was in fact inducted into that office on
these fradulent votes supposed to have been cast at Gilbert’s Mills and other
similar votes cast in other parts of the state, counted for him by the state board of
canvassers. A similar conclusion as to the fraudulent character of these vote: at
Gilbert’s Mills was reached by a legislative committee appointed to investi_ate
charges made of corrupt practices at this election, so far as it concerned the office
of governor.

The whole story as to the entire state is interesting reading, but of especial
interest to Dunn County people is this vote at Gilbert’s Mills. The return filed was
certified to by William Smith and Thomas Taylor, inspectors, and James Henry
and Henry Wilson, Jr., clerks. John W. Hunt, assistant secretary of state,
testified before the committee that he received this return at the secretary’s
office on Dec. 14, 1855. He thought he received it by mail. He also testified that
he received a similar return from Spring Creek, Polk County, on the morning of
December 15. This was the day set by law for the state canvassing board to can-
vass the state vote.

This return from Spring Creek was found by the court and by the committee of
investigation to be a forgery and fraudulent. The fact is, the evidence taken failed
to locate any such place as Spring Creek, Polk County, where an election was or
could have been held. As to Gilbert’s Mills, it was found to be a geographical
entity, but it was also found that no election had been held there. J. Gillet Knapp,
assistant sergeant-at-arms of the senate, testified before the committee that he and
others went to Gilbert’s Mills and there on Dec. 26, 1855, ‘““saw and conversed with
Oliver Gilbert, the proprietor of the mills, and inquired of him and of others
whether an election was held at that place in November, 1855, and further says,
“we were assured that no election precinct had been established there, and no elec-
tion hadbeen held, nor attempted to be held.” He also stated that Gilbert’s Mills
is in the same township, and but two and a half miles from the Menomonie Mills,
where a precinct had been established and a poll opened. But Mr. Gilbert assured
this deponent that no one went there from Gilbert's to vote.”

Mr. Knapp unhesitatingly asserted before the committee that in his opinion
the returns from Gilbert's Mills and from Spring Creek as well as another return
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which had been declared fradulent by the court, and had been filed as a statement
of a vote'at Bridge Creek in Chippewa County, were all written at the same place
and time by a Jackson County official. That he had written them in his office at
Black River Falls. Mr. Knapp explained that he had examined the handwriting
of the returns filed at Madison for the places named and had taken particular
attention of the kind of paper on which the returns were written. That he had
inspected the handwriting of the official in question found in his office and in the
public offices of Jackson County. He then states before the committee, “I also
first pointed out ... ... .. the fact that one of the half sheets, on which the returns
from Gilbert’s Mills were written. on file in the secretary’s office, had been torn
from a half sheet of the returns from Bridge Creek, and the other half sheet had
been torn from the returns from Spring Creek.” The aggregate spurious votes
returned from the three precincts named were 294, showing a majority for Barstow
of 207. Adding to these the spurious votes returned from Waupaca County, the
aggregate was raised to 384 and Barstow’s apparent majority from these four sources
to 283.

The result of the state canvass on the face of the returns was to give the office’
of governor to Barstow by a majority over Bashford of 157, The Supreme Court
in its decision as to the result of this election for governor contented itself by de-
claring that Bashford received a plurity of the legal votes cast for that office and
was therefore duly elected governor of the state. In arriving at this decision many
Bashford votes were discarded not because they were inherently fraudulent but
because the result had not been properly certified to the state board of canvassers.
For instance, all returns made direct to that board from the voting precincts were
rejected as the law provided that the precinct officers should certify the results
found by them to the county board of their respective counties and thence be re-
ported to the state canvassers. Under this ruling, which was the law, the votes of
Menomonie Mills and O’Galla in this county were thrown out. It was not possible
here to comply with the law, as this county had not become fully organized and it
had no board of supervisors at that time. So far as the result of the gubernatorial
election of 1855 was concerned the two legal precincts of Dunn County exercised no
more influence on the results of the election than did the supposed legal but spurious
vote of Gilbert's Mills.

It might be thought that after all Barstow was ousted from the office of governor
not on the strength of charges of fraud but by reason of the informality of the return
of votes but the Supreme Court in overruling his motion to dismiss the proceeding
provided for his further participation in the proceedings by way of answer and trial,
His counsel, however, appeared at the bar of the court and declined to take further
action in the matter. By thus refusing to proceed in the case it was virtually ad-
mitted by Barstow that he knew thot the legal vote of the state was against him.

Through the intermeddling of outside politicians Dunn County not only became
named in the scandal but also innocently became named in connection with the
resulting epoch-making decision relating to the rights of electors to have their
votes which have been lawfully cast, counted, and not be nullified by the counting
against them of spurious votes, which by mere forms of law have been placed before
a canvassing board. It has been said that in this quo warranto case our Supreme
Court was the first of all courts in the United States to decide that it would go
behind the returns of a legally established canvassing board and ascertain in a
judicial proceeding the true lawful vote cast by the electors for a nominee at a
political election for the office of governor of a state, and decree the installation of
the rightfully elected candidate for the office in dispute, as so ascertained by it.

It was conceded by the attorneys for Barstow that in the case of a state officer,
the present procedure would lie, but they insisted that a governor was not an
officer but something other and greater, that he was an executive; that the executive
branch of the government was in some way embodied in him and that he and it
was bevond the reach of the judiciary branch of the government. The court held
that the governor is an officer within the meaning of the provisions of the constitu-
tion and of the statutes, that he in person is distinct and separate from the executive
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department of the state.

After the decision of the canvassing board the scene in this political contest was
confined to the capital of the state. The action in the story henceforth was swift
and the shifting events connected with it created intense feeling and interest in the
spectators. On Jan. 7, 1856, Barstow was installed as governor and on the same
day Bashford appeared before the Supreme Court and took the official oath as
governor. On the eleventh and twelfth of that month Bashford applied to the
attorney general of the state, as relator, for leave to present to the Supreme Court a
writ to try the right of Barstow to the office into which he had been inducted and
left with him the form of application that he wished him to present to the court.
The attorney general refused to grant leave as requested but prepared an applica-
tion and writ of his own devising, which on the fifteenth he presented to the
court, and on which on the seventeenth a summons was issued requiring Barstow on
February 5 thereafter to answer thereto. The summons having been served and
return made on January 22, Bashford appeared by his attorneys and moved that
the information filed by the attorney general be discontinued and that he, Bashford,
be permitted to file an information in his own behalf. The motion was denied and
the attorney general allowed to prosecute the proceeding. No sooner was this done
than Barstow by his attorneys filed a motion to quash and dismiss the summons
issued at the request of the attorney general on the ground that the court had no
jurisdiction in the premises. The position taken by Barstow was that the executive
department of the government was a co-ordinate department and as such was in-
dependent of the judiciary department even to the extent that it had the right to
determine the matter of the election of its head—the governor. That the governor
was not an officer within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory provision
providing for an interference by the courts. This motion was denied and Barstow
ordered to plead. On February 21 a stipulation was presented to the court in
effect asking the court to pass upon the case on certain features thereof then pre-
sented. The court refused to consider the case as presented. Then on February
25, Barstow filed a plea which by its terms denied the jurisdiction of the court. To
this the attorney general demurred and the court sustained the demurrer, saying,
“We have already decided that we have jurisdiction of the case.” Barstow was
required to answer over within four days. Whereupon on the day set for Barstow
to plead his attorneys came into court and announced that now they withdrew from
the case and handed to the court a communication from Governor Barstow which
stated his views and his position and closed with these words: **And I shall deem
it my imperative duty to repel with all of the force vested in this department, any
infringement upon the rights and powers which I exercise under the constitution.”

The attornevs for Bashford then moved the court for judgment on default of
Barstow to plead. The attorney general protested that this motion was made
without consultation with him and that he representing the people desired time in
which to consider the matter. Time was granted to March 18, at which time the
attornev general filed a statement to the effect that the rights of the people were
not being conserved by the prosecution of the case any further and asked to dismiss
the case. This statement was dated March 15 and the records of the court show
that the attorney general had filed with the clerk of the court on the tenth a state-
ment that he would not prosecute the case further and that he then and there
dismissed the same.

Later “the court proceeded to the decision” of both motions, the attorney
general's motion to dismiss and Bashford's motion for judgment. It was ruled by
the court that technically a judgment of ouster should be entered on the record but
considering the gravity of the matter involved wished notwithstanding the default
to have evidence presented as to the right of Bashford to a judgment. Testimony
was taken relative to the returns which had already been placed before the court by
Barstow on his plea which was called a plea to the jurisdiction of the court. Upon
the default and on the evidence required by the court, a judgment of ouster was
entered against Barstw.

Barstow and his partisans, having foreseen what would be the decision of the
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court, though to negative its effect so far as that was to be political in its nature by
resigning. Accordingly on March 21, in a communication to the legislature he
submitted his resignation, and the next day Arthur McArthur, Heutenant governor,
addressed a communication to the legislature informing that body that he had
assumed the duties of governor, the governor having resigned.

I't was pointed out that Barstow not having been legally elected governor could
not by a pretended resignation of an office to which he was not entitled thus trans-
mit it under the provisions of the constitution to the lieutenant governor. March
28, Basford sent a message to the legislature informing that body that in accordance
with the judgment of the Supreme Court he had assumed the duties of governor
and that he was ready to co-operate with them.

McArthur had asserted that he would never give up the executive offices until
compelled to do so by a judgment of a competent court, but Bashford armed with a
certified copy of the judgment in the Barstow-Bashford case and accompanied
by a sheriff's posse of friends walked into the governor’s offices and McArthur
walked out. He is credited in the official report as having served from March 21 to
March 25, 1856. Bashford took office March 25, 1856 and served the remainder
of the term.

During this time of the trial of the right to the gubernatorial office in the court,
there went on a sort of comic opera series of events in the legislature, which pieced
together would make a laughable chapter. The whole situation is probably pre-
sented in the resolution offered by a disgusted member who sought to condemn the
practice of the legislature in spending its time, “in political discussions, passing
buncome resolutions, framing or building political platforms,” and equally frivolous
ways. The senate was republican and the assembly democratic in complexion.

This state was new at the time: it had been admitted to the union but seven years
before this trial; Eau Claire County had not vet been established; Dunn County
had not then been organized; the state capital was mentioned in the proceedings
as the "' Village of Madison;”’ the total vote of the state was less than 73,000 and
the margin between two political parties in a bitter contest was less than 200 votes.
The peaceable outcome was a distinctive triumph of law over force. The acquies-
cence of the people in the decision rendered showed the strength of their faith in
the efficiency and honesty of the judicial branch of their government. At the trial
three able men sat upon the bench. Judges Edward V. Whiton, Abram D. Smith
and Orsamus Cole presided. At the bar appeared advocates of wide reputation
for learning and ability. Barstow was represented by Matt H. Carpenter, J. E.
Arnold and Harlow S. Orton, and there appeared for Bashford, Edward G. Ryan,
James K. Knowlton and Timothyv O. Howe. In the report of the proceedings are
transcribed the main arguments of counsel on both sides and the separate opinions
of the three judges. The proceeding then in court wac novel in its nature and the
question presented was political in aspect. It had already been discussed both in
and out of the legislature and had heen decided in their own mind by thousands
of our citizens mostly according to the political bias of each. .

The fact that all of the prevailing excitement subsided on the announcement by
the court of its decision is matter little short of the miraculous. In the case the
protest of Barstow was that the judiciary could not constitutionally interfere in the
executive department of the state and supervise its prcrogatives and privileges, as
it would do 1f it assumed to correct or set aside the action of the state canvassing
board which had certified that he had been elected to the office of governor. On the
part of Bashford it was claimed that no interference was asked with the prerogatives
and privileges of the executive department; that the claim was that on a proper
application the court could and would protect the people in their right to an honest
vote and an honest count, this under the fundamental right of suffrage reserved to
them by the constitution. If the wrong doing against such right had been done by
a canvassing board it made no difference, the wrong would be righted. The position
of Barstow’s counsel was specifically put on record by a question put by the court
and answered by Mr. Carpenter, thus: .

" Chief Justice Whiton— Do vou hold then, Mr. Carpenter, that the executive
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is judge of his own election?’ "

“Mr. Carpenter— Certainly, T hold that the governor is the ultimate judge of
his own election and qualification, subject only to the people; that there is no other
department of the government authorized to decide.” ”’

The claim of Bashford was concretely stated by Mr. Ryan:

““We do not propose to interfere with the executive at all; only to ascertain who
is the executive. If the record is true, the canvass is a falsehood” and “‘the intru-
sion of Barstow into the executive office was a usurpation, it was a violation of the
constitution.”

The court held in the case before it that it had power to determine who had been
elected and adjudged that Coles Bashford had been elected to that office. In
writing the opinion of the court the chief justice announced, ‘“An election by the
qualified voters of the state, and not a canvass of the votes, confers a right to office.”

As an aid to those who may wish to study this portion of our history the follow-
ing references are given:

Vol. 4, Wis. Repts. pp 567 to 836.

Senate and Assembly Journals for session of 1836 with the appendices to the
same. :

The various histories of Wisconsin especially those of Thwaites and of A. M.
Thompson. The first author had the advantage of interviews with a friend of
Bashford who knew personally of the events of this election as they transpired, and
the last gained knowledge from a friend of Barstow’s who was daily about the
capitol during the time when the returns of this election were being canvassed.



CHAPTER VII
SOME ECONOMIC ASPECTS OF 1846

James H. Lockwood, to show that his comtemplated enterprise of lumbering,
on the Red Cedar River, was in the nature of a public benefit, set forth in his
application, in the yvear 1825, for a government permit, that ‘‘the improvement
now going on in the country between this valley and St. Louis and the probable
increase in population that will come into the mining country, makes timber neces-
sary, there being none cut in the Indian country.”

The mining country mentioned was the Galena District on the Galena River.
Its population did soon increase, but its supply of lumber, in a few years, came
largely from the Wisconsin River, cut from Indian lands under government per-
mits. In fact one of its lumbermen, about 1833, built a sawmill in this “mining
country.” Evidently Mr. Lockwood failed to foresee the enterprise of others.

No record appears on the account books at Menomonie of sales of lumber in
this mining country. The only entry found pertaining to it seems to indicate
merely a tie-up of the raft at that point. It is a cash credit, in 1848. “ By provi-
sions for man at Galena $2.92.”

Lockwood seems to have been too sanguine about trade at the mines, and also
as to a quick settlement of the Mississippi River Valley. As a matter of fact there
was no considerable settlement in this valley between Prairie du Chien and Fort
Snelling before 1846. It has been stated by a good authority that the only settle-
ment between these places up to 1845, was that at La Crosse and but seven males
and five females were then living there, and that in that vear the first frame house
was built between Prairie du Chien and Red Wing. In 1846, below Prairie du Chien
and above the rapids of the Mississippi River there were only the mining settlements
mentioned and the small towns of Dubuque and Ft. Madison.

St. Louis was the first market place below the rapids. To run lumber to St.
Louis added greatly to the expense of up-river lumbering. There was not only
the increase of cost in wages and board of the raft’s crew for the additional distance
down and back, but the breakage in passing the rapids at what is now Keokuk.
This loss of breakage has been estimated by a Wisconsin River lumberman who in
the early days of lumbering ran his lumber to St. Louis, at five per cent, one-
twentieth part of the whole amount of lumber run over the rapids.

The river towns below Prairie du Chien had greatly increased in importance
from 1829 to 1846, but their condition at the end of that period was ou¢ of depres-
sion. This is what the newspapers of the valley in 1846 said, and they evidently
voiced the talk of the people in their conventions and upon the street. One leading
paper in presenting the situation stated it to be such, that, “our river towns are
languishing.” The cause of this sickly state was said to be the neglect of the
general government to improve the channel of the Mississippi River at the rapids.
By reason of this neglect it was said there was not available sufficient transportation
facilities and all trade was being diverted to Chicago and other great lake towns.

During the summer, conventions were held at Memphis and at Chicago. The
former to urge improvement of the river and the latter to make further known the
fact, that at the head of Lake Michigan there was a natural distributing depot
from the West to the East and also from which to distribute the goods of the East
over the West. At this convention there were present 2,300 delegates.

Whether during the latter part of the period from 1829 to 1846 the demand for
lumber on the river below was too limited; whether the proprietors of the mill at
Menomonie did not give the business proper attention; whether the financial back-
ing of this enterprise was too small, or whether from all these things combined the
result came, it is not easy to determine, but the fact is, the business here was not
prosperous. It does not appear to have been as successful in 1846 as it was from
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1837 to 1839, at the time when John H. Fonda savs he worked here for Lockwood.
The existing conditions did not seem to warrant an investment, in 1846, in a
sawmill at Menomonie but business men often forecast future conditions and invest
on what they think they foresee, rather than on those things which have become
established in the past and are continuing at the present time. John H. Knapp and
Wiiliam Wilson probably, in 1846, invested, believing that future favorable condi-
tions in the Mississippi River Valley for a lumber trade would so on exist, as did
Lockwood in 1829. (See article on the Knapp, Stout & Co. Company’).

The river towns may, as reported, have “languished,” but there was a large
rural population, yearly emigrating into southern Wisconsin, northern Illinois and
Jowa. The hard times of 1837 and other adverse economic factors operating in the
eastern states, set in motion a stream of westward emigration. Men came, with
and without families, each eager to secure cheap lands. This rush was in full push
in 1845 and continued well into the fifties. This farm settlement beckoned trade
in lumber but local conditions at the mill at Menomonie were adverse to purchase.
From Jan. 1, 1841, to June 1, 1846, there had been four successive proprietors of
this sawmill, called the upper mill, located at the mouth of Meadow River, now
known as Wilson’s Creek. Four changes of ownership in five years does not present
a situation indicating that continuity of action necessary to the stability required
for the prosperity of any permanent business enterprise. The court records of the
time show the last three of these proprietors each to have been bankrupt or nearly
so when he quit business here.

It was not a fully prosperous and well established enterprise that Mr. Knapp
and Mr. Wilson bought in May, 1846. Mr. Knapp although somewhat fore-
handed had his money invested in business at Ft. Madison. Mr. Wilson, had no
ready money to invest and in fact had heavy obligations as the result of an unfor-
tunate steamboat venture. Mr. Knapp paid the money required to be paid down
on the purchase and his financial standing supplied the credit necessary to start the
business.

These men were cautious. They bought only a one-half interest, but to secure
some stability of action, entered into a contract with David Black, from whom they
bought and who retained the other one-half interest, by which for five years they
were to have full and unquestioned control of the entire business.

They were at Menomonie in conference about June 1, 1846, the time set for
them to take full possession of the property. It was agreed they should divide
supervision. Capt. Wilsen was to attend to the manufacture of the lumber at
Menomonie, and start it on its run as far as the mouth of the Chippewa, at that
point, Mr. Knapp was to take charge of running it down the river and selling it
at any river towns where he found a market.

This decision served to make Capt. Wilson a resident partner at the mill. He
soon saw what this meant to him in social life. He was to be separated from his
family, to live with a crew of mill men, they equally deprived of the social influence
of family life. Connected with this social situation is an incident told by Henry
E. Knapp, the same having been told to him by his father, John H. Knapp.

At the end of the conference here mentioned Mr. Knapp started on his journey
home. At the mouth of the Chippewa River he found the steamboat on which he
was to take passage on its way up the river instead of down, as by schedule time
it should have been going. Rather than wait ashore he went aboard and made the
trip up and back. On the return, at the Chippewa, Mr. Wilson got aboard. Mr.
Knapp, surprised, said, *“ Why, Capt. Wilson, what has happened? You were to
stay at the mill.” The captain replied: **Mr. Knapp, I concluded it was not the
best thing for me to stay there without my family. I am going to Ft. Madison
and make arrangements for my family to move to the mill.” The captain’s wife
and his family did arrive here on the ensuing fourth of July.

A man ordinarily considers the city, town or country community where his
family resides as his permanent abiding place and all other human settlements
where he may chance to be mere temporary living places. Here was an instance
of the application of this principle or theory of living. Capt. Wilson now sought
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to conmect, with his definite business aim to establish a stable business enterprise, the
helpful aid of a permanent home. He extended the application of the theory to his
workmen, and proposed to employ a better class of workmen than those he had
found here and to employ when he could men of family who would bring their
families here. Several men of family soon did move here with their families.
Among them may be named Lorenzo Bullard and Jason Ball. John Vale probably
already had his wife here. An entry of credit in Capt. Wilson's account in 1846,
reads: ‘“‘By six days in June procuring supplies and hands, $6.66." Probably the
time mentioned was when he was at Ft. Madison after his family.

Heretofore the workmen were to a large extent such as Lockwood describes as
being hired in yearly shifts. Of the workmen left here by David Black many were
transients, some staid but a few weeks, others but a few months.  Among those
recently hired or who staid here and who did remain for some time may be named,
William and Samuel Whitcomb, Isaiah Hix, Alexander Hammal and Joseph Benson.

The leaving of workmen did not in all instances mean that the men who quit here
left the Red Cedar basin. There was then on the river above a logging camp at
Lamb’s Creek and another or more on Hay River. There was a sawmill settlement
at Gilbert’s Creek; a mill at “ Hurd’s Mill” on Irvine’s Creek; and on the Eau Galle
River, that of Carson and Eaton. The quitting of a man here might mean simply
that he was shifting to one of these places. John Fay was a transient. His ac-
count in 1846 shows that he worked six and one-half days, became indebted for
medicine, board and whiskey and went away 75 cents in debt. Others show an
account of but a few weeks’ duration.

One of those chance or unlucky events soon occurred to work its unfavoring
influence on this sawmill enterprise. David Black, the equal partner of John H.
Knapp, died in July, 1846. In law the death of a partner dissolves the partner-
ship.  The natural and normal business of the firm instantly stops. The remaining
partners are thenceforth known as the surviving partners. Their lawful duty and
their only legal right is to close out the business, convert the partnership effects
into money and to therefrom pay all expenses incurred by them in relation to the
partnership property, pay all just claims and demands against the firm and then
pay to the legal representative of the deceased partner the part of the net proceeds
in their hands to which his estate is entitled.

This restrictive activity of a surviving partner is so rigidly enforced under the
law that if they engage in new ventures even though made with the purpose of
making present assets of greater value, vet in case of loss they have personally to
bear the whole loss, while if there should be a gain, they must divide that gain, as
profit, with the estate of the deceased partner.

The contract by which Knapp and Wilson were to have supervision of the busi-
ness for five years was intended to give stability to the enterprise. It expired with
the expiration of the partnership, at the death of David Black, and so became as
naught. )

We have no traditions to tell us what was done to keep this business venture
running or what steps were taken that resulted in the preservation of the property
intact in the hands of Knapp and Wilson and from no early chronicle can we read it.
From the court record at Prairie du Chien of the administration of David Black’s
estate and from the account books of the upper mill from 1846 to 1850, it is possible
to construct this probably true story. .

At the death of David Black, administration of his estate was granted to John S.
Lockwood, as administrator. He came here in November, 1846, and staid until
about December 18. On that day he is charged $10, for four weeks’ board while
“administering of estate of D. Black,” and is charged in the month $6 for service
of horse and driver to Lake Pepin. The driver was John H. Knapp as we learn from
his account in the same month. While here Lockwood settled an open account
between Black and the firm of Black and Knapp. He is credited “By 15847 ft. of
lumber at $8.62 per M. being amount due estate D. Black on lumber a/c for 1846.”
The credit is carried out at $136.60. It seems to have been subject to certain de-
ductions, which having been made, Lockwood was paid in cash $117.10.
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On Black’s account during the summer there are five separate memorandum
charges for lumber delivered for his benefit, to which no price is attached. These
charges taken in connection with this definite measurement amount found due,
indicates that the basis of this account was a certain quantity of logs or lumber
belonging to David Black which was not included in the sale to Knapp and Wilson
and which he left at the mill for the then present use of the firm, to be at some time
returned to him in kind.

On this same trip Lockwood closed up, for the time being, the co-partnership
business of Black and Knapp. His account is credited with the sum of $595.94 on
settlement of partnership business to Dec. 1, 1846. There is a statement on the
account that this sum is to be paid according to an agreement entered into, the
terms of which are not stated. ,

These adjustments only touch the difficulties consequent upon the death of Mr.
Black as to business already done. They did not provide for the future operation
and development of the lumber enterprise. The ownership of the property was
still left clouded with an uncertainty as to who would eventually own Mr. Black’s
one-half interest.

This interest could be and doubtlessly was considere 1 from two different stand-
points. Mr. Lockwood claimed the mill and buildings to be property owned in
common in which Mr. Black’s estate held a one-half part. Mr. Knapp claimed
them as personal property which he and Mr. Black had held as partnership property
and the full ownership and control at Black's death came to him as surviving
partner. Probably Mr. Knapp’s position was correct. The private rights ac-
quired here in the improvements made were merely the rights of squatters on the
public lands. The land belonged to the United States. It had not been surveyed.
It had not been thrown open to sale. Had the improvements become actually a
part of the land then they would have been the property of the United States.
Evidently they were personal property the same as logs cut, lumber manufactured
or goods put into the store or warehouse. The license frcm the government to
Black and Knapp merely permitted them to possess the site and cut timber in the
Indian country. Lockwood, as administrator. proceeded to make, if possible, at
public auction, a sale of Black’s supposed separate one-half interest, ignoring Mr.
Knapp’s claim of right to sell it as a part of the whole assets of the firm.

Knapp and Wilson did not help to further this public sale. In one of Lock-
wood’s reports to the court he complains that Captain Wilson failed to post up at
the mill a notice of this sale. A public sale meant for Knapp and Wilson great
annoyance if not considerable financial loss. It was next to impossible for them to
raise the money to buy in Black’s one-half interest, and it was not desirable to them
that a stranger become a part owner of the mill.

The public sale was not made and the matter was allowed to drag along for four
vears. On May 4, 1850, Lockwood as administrator transferred Black's interest
to Knapp and Wilson. In the price paid there was probably included such sum as
the parties agreed upon for all unsettled partnership affairs of the firm of Black and
Knapp.

To keep the business running after Black’s death it is apparent from the partner-
ship books that many makeshift schemes were resorted to and dummy accounts
kept, and probably with the knowledge and consent of Black’s administrator.

To get logs for the mill required an obligation of some one to pay for the cutting
and driving. As Knapp and Wilson were to assume any such debt and it could
not be made a charge to the business of Black and Knapp, they entered upon the
work of logging. This was done in the name of several partnerships. In some the
name of Capt. Wilson openly appears as a partner, while the accounts of others
but thinly veil the fact that he and Mr. Knapp were interested parties adverse to
Black and Knapp. _

Of these companies there was Bliss and Whitcomb, Whitcomb and Wilson,
Bullard and Wilson and Wickham & Co. There were also three other partnership
logging companies operating in this immediate vicinity that furnished logs to Knapp
and Wilson. In two of these three companies Mr. Bullard was interested. One
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of these three companies was that of Brown and Vance. Its accounts on the com-
pany book continue from 1846 to 1852. It had a camp at Lamb’s Creek and was
an independent company. William and Samuel Whitcomb, William Wickham
and Lorenzo Bullard were employees of Knapp and Wilson., William Whitcomb

Hay River. Josiah Harris, one of its workmen, is credited with 830, “for measuring
logs on Hayv River.” This company appears to have bought shingles and to have
bought as well as cut logs. The aggregate amount of its account running over
two and one-half years is $7,000. On the ledger for 1847 are columns of the scale
of logs of this company filling two pages with one colmun over. The scale is un-
footed and at the bottom is the memorandum ‘““measured at the mill.”

The acconnt of Wickham & Co. seems to have been but a name under which
Knapp and Wilson carried on a logging and shingle business. At the end of this
account which for the most part consists of general entries without price carried
out is this statement: 1850, Oct. 4, settled all accounts on this book to this date,
Wickham & Co., and William Wickham, and balanced the book.” No totals nor
balance given in figures.

At one time separate from the accounts of Wickham & Co., Wickham is credited
with 680,000 shingles, $1,360.00. Shingle makers were usually charged with the
bolts turned over to them and credited with the price of the shingles made. In
the account of Wickham & Co. appear credits to thirteen different men for shingles
made, aggregating 701,500. No price stated.

It does not seem necessary to carry the examination further. We must be satis-
fied by the showing made that these logging companies named were to a large extent
fictitious. It is not fair to assume that they were conceived in fraud and carried on
to cheat, but rather that they were necessary business methods resorted to for the

tangled and the proprietory right to Black’s one-half interest in the property be
acquired by some person who could be legally charged with losses as well as credited
with gains. '

The number of men employed in the Red Cedar Valley in the early days is un-
certain,

Lockwood merely says that a force of carpenters, and laborers were sent here
at the building of the first mill. N othing stated from which the number could be
estimated or calculated. Fonda states precisely of the military expedition of
1829-30 that there were 74 persons. From an account by Lockwood of his picking
up detachments of his returning crew of 1830 when they « handoucd the mill, in

brought to replace them to be equally strong, then we can put the force of 1831 at
from 40 to 50 persons. Schoolcraft on August 11, 1831, in an account of his voyage
down the Red Cedar River, says, that a Mr. Wallace with ten men was at the upper
mill.  Lockwood being then engaged in getting out timber for the dam and mill at
Gilbert Creek would naturally have a much larger force there. From Fonda’s
account of 1837-39 we can learn nothing of the number of people here at any one
or at all of the mills.

We have no mention during the earlier period under consideration of the per-
sonal property at the middle and lower mills.  The first mention of such property
at the upper mill is in the mortgage given by Green to Lockwood January 28, 1841,
for there is included “6 pair of oxen with yokes and chains, and 1 set of blacksmith
tools, and also all tools belonging to said mill (called the upper mill).”

The next mention of such property is in the estate of William Black who died in
1844.  The inventory filed shows: .

“Sawmill $2200, Frame house 8250, Log housc $200, 6 yoke of oxen, yokes and
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chains $450. Blacksmith tools $45, Farm and kitchen utensils 820.” Total
value 83,165.

No inventory appears of record in David Black’s estate, and in the deeds of
Black and of his administrator to Mr. Knapp the personal property is mentioned
only in general terms, as including all that pertains to said upper mill. But it
appears that Mr. Knapp paid in all for the property $4,600, an increase over the
William Black inventory of $1,435. This sum includes of course in part the ac-
cumulations for such time as Mr. Knapp may have accounted for profits of the
business to the estate of Black.

By a rough inventory as of August 20, 1853 the property at the upper mill was
put at $70,000. By a more carefully taken inventory, taken in April, 1853, it is
shown to be 878, 317.21. To those who knew of the millions shown by the later
inventories of this upper mill this inventory will be of interest in its details. For
this reason it is here given: . ‘

Farm, $2,000; mill, $30,000; 20 yoke oxen, $2,000; 10 horses, $800; 6 wagons,
$400; sleighs and harness, $250; 15 cows, 8$350; young cattle, $125; 1 corn mill,
$100; 2 boats, $250; farm implements, $150; mdse. on hand, 86, 575 logs, $§30,000;
lumber in yard, $5,317.21; total, 8§78, 317.21.

This last inventorv was taken by the persons interested as the value of the
property as of the organization of the firm of Knapp, Stout & Co., on August 20,
1853.

The increase of property from 1846 to 18353 would indicate a prosperous condition
of the business in those and the intermediary vears. The entries in the books of
Black and Knapp for the first three years show an immediate increase of business
under the management of Knapp and Wilson. By an entry Nov. 24, 1846, there:
appears to have been put into the Chippewa River 60,000 feet of logs and 21 M.
shingles. In July, 1847 is shown under designation of trip No. 2, receipts from raft
$1,555.52 and expenses paid in getting the raft to market of $701.22.  Aug. 24, 1847
trip No. 3 a credit of $1,708.95 and debit against same $599.59. November, 1847
trip No. 4 $1,220.52, debit $887.79. Three trips were made in 1848 aggregating
credits of $5,087.34, debits $2,423.48 and in June of this vear there is a credit from
sales at lumber yard and to individuals of $1,165.18. The cutput for 1849 muste
have increased greatly or the price of lumber must have been advanced for the
credits for trips during that year are from two and one-half to three times larger
than for 1847.

The number of accounts of workmen for 1846 and 1847 indicate a force of men
employed of 20 to 23, and the accounts of payments for logs, lumber and shingles
shows a large amount of these commodities to have been gotten out by jobbers.

The success of these men men (Knapp & Wilson) is in strong contrast with prior
failures. The records of Crawford County show that Green quit a bankrupt and
that the estates of both William and David Black were insolvent.

All hands, loggers and shingle makers, were, judged by the standards of a dry
town, hard drinkers. A liquor account here was for a few vears kept in the form of
a score, a mark to each drink not paid for, it covers several pages and is kept
as threshers tally grain, in blocks, four upright marks crossed by a fifth.  The scores
run, for each credit customer, from 20 to 150 drinks, each month. Some are entered
as: ‘“103 drinks and 114 pints, $61.82,” and ‘81 drinks and 5 pints, $6.31.” Often
the transfer to the drinker’s general account is humorously covered up, as “‘sun-
dries,” or as ‘“‘nourishment.”

Much liquor appears in the book accounts. Alexander Hammal, a workman,
who appears also to have been a trader, is charged in July, 1846, with ‘“Boating
whiskey from the lake, $2.00,” and in March, 1847, he is credited, “by 40 gallons
whiskev, $20.00.” George Wilson was probably a workman and jobber. His
account shows that at one time he worked for Brown and Vance, he was here with
David Black before 1846. His account in 1847 is credited with thirty-eight gallons
of whiskey, delivered to Whitcomb. Brown and Vance as late as September 12,
1850, balanced their account by turning back “ whiskey to balance, $34.10.” (n
the debit side of its account on the first page thereof it is charged with four barrels
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of whiskey. Joseph Benson worked in Wickham's camp. On July 14, 1830, he is
charged. "' To whiskeyv at Wickham's, $3.75.”" One J. J. Gage on settlement of his
account in July, 1847, is credited. " 1 barrel whiskey to Whitccmb & Wilson, $25.00.”
In the winter of 1846-47 there are several credits in Capt. Wilson’s account for
whiskey charged to Whitcomb and Wilson and to Brown and Vance. In 1850
George R. Buckley is charged with whiskey to date, $7.50. In the same year
Andrew Case appears charged each month with about $3.50 for whiskey. In the
day book of 1851-52, Quinn Schay is charged on a certain day, ““4 bottles wine,
82.00." A couple of days later he is charged for, “upsetting table and breaking
furniture, $15.0.”  William Mullaney is also charged, on this book, with “ pint of
brandy. §0.75,” and soon after for *'lyving and getting drunk, $5.00.”

Mr. Knapp and Mr. Wilson belonged to separate religious organizations, but
both churches held to the doctrines of *‘free will” and man’s personal moral res-
ponsibility.  Here they acted on the principle that the man who drinks to excess
should be held accountable for the result of his actions. There is shown in the
accounts above quoted no disposition to shift the penalty for drunken misdemeanor
from the drinker to the man behind the bar. :

AMr. Knapp and Mr. Wilson were when they came here ardent temperance men
and they continued through life to be consistent advocates of temperance. Soon
after their coming they abolished the custom of rolling out, at the unloading of the
keel boat at each trip, a cask of liquor for general drinking. But they were men of
great common sense. They saw the rights of others and understood their whole duty
towards and their obligations to those under and about them, and governed their
management of affairs accordingly.

All accounts of early lumbering show that the workmen were as a class hard
drinkers. Lockwood has so described the workmen on this river. The account
books of Black and Knapp show that such were the laborers left here by David
Black, and they also show that the new men hired by Mr. Wilson in June, 1846,
equalled, possibly excelled in deep potations the men that staid.

High as were the personal principles of the Messrs. Knapp and Wilson, deeply
as they deplored some of the conditions existing in the lumber woods, earnestly as
they endeavored to promote temperance, they did not nevertheless attempt to
override, through their authority asemplovers the habits, customs and appetites of
a class of laborers who, independent and carefree, as all cld settlers know, would
have snapped their fingers and ranged on to other camps and other mills had their
supposed private right to drink as much liquor as they pleased been forcibly inter-
fered with by an emplover. .

Knapp and Wilson did succeed in overcoming the adverse business factors en-
countered by them and did establish a successtul business. This was primarily
for what they came here. They did not come here as prohibition missionaries nor
as temperance aposties but they are entitled to much credit for what they did
accomplish here in inducing sobriety and correct living.

A er 1850 the success of the business established by Mr. Knapp and Mr. Wilson
and afterwards conducted by them is such that the story of its success seems tinged
with romance. Its narrative recital can scarcely be believed to be what it really is,
a veritable historical review.



CHAPTER VIII
»o%¥8
MILL AND DAM LOCATIONS AT MENOMONIE

About a vear or two after Hardin Perkins, backed by James H. Lockwood and
Joseph Rolette, secured permission to erect a mill, in 1822, a dam was built across
Wilson’s Creek, and a mill was there constructed. Dam and mill were soon swept
away by a sudden freshet, the mill not yet having been put into operation. In 1830
Lockwood and Rolette sent a second crew here, the foreman of which selected as a
site for his dam the identical place built upon by the former crew. The number in
the respective crews is not stated, but from things that are stated by Mr. Lockwood
in his narrative of these two expeditions it is inferred that there were from 20 to 235
men in each. No woman is mentioned in the first crew but in the second was a
Menomonie squaw who served as cook and as interpreter with the Chippewas.
She was the only woman and the only member of the force who could speak the
Chippewa language.

Again a freshet broke the dam after about 100,000 feet of lumber had been sawed.
Probably at this time the mill was not carried away, as Lockwood in his account of
the incident does not mention the mill and only states that the dam was carried
away. Schoolcraft, who passed here in 1831 soon after the freshet, mentions par-
ticularly the work of replacing the dam, but says nothing about a mill having
been destroyed. ,

These two consecutive dams and the third one, built in 1831, it is now confi-
dently affirmed, stood where the present dam across this creek now stands. To
support such a conclusion there is not only Lockwood’s statement and School-
craft’s report, but there are the statements of men who saw this dam rebuilt and
repaired in later vears. The then position of old timbers, they sayv, clearly indicated,
at this certain place, the foundation of a former very old dam and no other founda-
tion for such a purpose, either above or below it, was thus, or in any other way
shown.

It seems to be a matter of general knowledge that a dam has been continuously
maintained on this early site. As before, so since 1831, it has, at times, been swept
away by freshets, once, within the memory of many now here, when the yellow-
brown water of Wilson's Creek was forced through the channel of the Red Cedar
River, then itself at freshet stage, and across the lake to the foot of the bluff below
the City Hall. The broad band of muddy water could be easily traced this whole
distance by one standing above on the bank of the lake. This current of water
from the creek then cutting transversely that of the river, then at its flood, shows
the terrific force of a freshet on this small stream.

The shape of the lower valley of this creek is such that an on-coming freshet
has no opportunity of lateral expansion. - The descending flood cannot spread.
The basin of the creek at its mouth is bottle-shaped. For 100 rods above the dam
it is straight and narrow and the water is confined between high banks. The exit
of a flood into the river is as through a chute, that a government surveyor reported
in 1849 to be 150 links (99 feet) wide.

This site on Wilson's Creek for a dam has been accounted a fairly safe one,
not withstanding the frequency of its visitation by disastrous floods. The destruc-
tion each time, although annoying and expensive, was not wholly financially ruinous
to those who owned it. In 1838 and in 1846 the first dams were built at Chippewa
Falls and Eau Claire and they were soon injured by freshets and in 1847 they were
completely washed away by floods, entailing so serious a loss that all of the proprie-
tors were made bankrupts. These dams have since frequently been swept away
by high water.

While the historian may with confidence lccate the three first dams across Wil-
son’s Creek on the site of its present power dam, scme uncertainty creeps in when
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we attempt to locate the first three sawmills built here. Three such mills are
mentioned in early narratives as having been built on this creek. Probably the
first dam and the first mill were built together as they went out together, and as.
such a joint or close construction was the usual early method of building a low
power dam and its accompanying mill. Regarding the second mill Lockwood
states that the foreman of his crew built it below a point of land that jutted out into
the river, as a lower lip of the creek. That he cut a canal across this lip through
which to bring logs to this mill. The north bank of the river in that day extended
out considerably into what is now the channel of the river. In imagination one
might place the position of this mill bodily in the present river channel between
the power house and the north end of the wagon bridge, both as now located.

We are not told how water was supplied to this mill for power purposes, but
naturally it would be by a flume from the creek pond along the west bank of the
creek to the mill. Provokingly there is an entire absence of information on this
poiut, neither are we told why this mill was placed on the river. Possibly it was
so placed as a precaution for its safety in case anotherfreshet carried away the dam,
a precaution which it seems did save the mill at the time of the flood of 1831,

It has been a general impression of early settlers that all early mills were located
at the east end of the creek dam. This impression would seem to have been con-
firmed by the statements before mentioned of these who reconstructed and repaired
this dam as to the foundations found, and their further statements that no abut-
ments or approaches along the creek such as are required to support a mill building
were found, except at the east end of this dam. But, here is Lockwood’s statement
that the second mill was built below the creek on the river and the fact that Lock-
wood does not mention the destruction of the mill at the carrying away of the second
dam, and the fact that Schoolcraft does not say anything about the rebuilding of a.
mill but does mention the rebuilding of a dam. It is possible to reconcile the-
correctness of the general impression of early settlers with the fact that the second
mill was built where stated by Lockwood and that it remained there intact when
the second dam was washed out.

There is extant a statement, in a history of the Chippewa Valley,—we do not
know on what authority it is founded—that Hiram S. Allen in 1837 rebuilt the
first sawmill erected here. Such a rebuilding possibly furnishes a solution of this
perplexing question as to the location of the mills. When Allen rebuilt he con-
structed at the east end of the creek dam a mill to take the place of the second mill.
This mill undoubtedly remained and marked the mill site known to the early settlers
and its foundation timbers superimposed on those of the first mill helped to make the
aggregate accumulation of timbers found by those who later dug into them in mak-
ing repairs.

It is a pleasure to record the fact that the dam built here somewhere between
1846 and 1849 across the Red Cedar Rivui not far below the entrance of Wilson’s.
Creek was never while the manufacture of lumber continued, wholly nor partially
destroyed by freshets. It is to be noted in the first place that this dam seems to
have been well constructed and in the second place it is known that it was well cared
for, both as to its physical condition and as to its subjected strain.

From the foregoing discussion, it would appear that the second man in authority
to come here built where the first man had constructed. That is, at the head of
the gorge that leads out of Lake Menomin, just within the mouth of the creek that
empties from the north into the gorge. For effective and efficient work within the
terms of his employment he could have made no other selection. He was to erect
a mill of moderate capacity and construct a dam at low cost. It must be in the
Sioux country near the Chippewa line, and within the neutral belt recognized by an
Indian treaty, which was approximately 25 miles in width. The Chippewa line
across the river was scarce a mile farther up, and there was no available creek
between here and Cedar Falls, beyond which place it was impracticable to go.
Above the mouth of the river and below these falls no stream so completely answered
the'purpose sought as did this creek. Irvine's Creek was passed; it was too small,
with insufficient water. Gilbert's Creek had a fair flow of water, but no banks at
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its mouth into which to set a dam to make a reservoir. Here was a creek of fair
capacity and with banks at its entrance into the river. A dam here with a mill
placed beside it served not only the creek but also the river. Logs cut either on
the creek or on the river could be conveniently floated to the mill and there sawed.
At Gilbert’s Creek logs from the river could not be sawed at its mill save by forcing
them up stream at least one mile, a thing utterly impracticable.

In passing it might be of interest to state that the Gilbert’s Creek valley con-
tained an immense quantity of as excellent pine, both as to size and quality, as
grew anywhere in the Red Cedar River basin. Old settlers have stated this as
a fact, and an inspection and measurement of the stumps on any uncultivated
tract to be found in this creek valleyv corroborates the statements.

The selection here, on Wilson's Creek, once known as Meadow Creek, of the
site for the dam was made from business considerations of adaptability and utility;
the place was adapted to the cheap generation of power and could be readily
utilized as a point for the cut of a wide range of pine.



CHAPTER IX
EARLY SETTLEMENT OF MENOMONIE

The modern history of Dunn County dates from the beginning of the lumber ,
business at Menomonie in 1822-23. The permanent settlement dates from 1830.
Milwaukee was settled but a few years earlier; Madison in 1837, seven years later;
Chippewa Falls, 1838, eight vears later; Black River Falls, 1839, nine years later;
Hudson, 1841, eleven years after; and Eau Claire, 1845, fifteen vears affer. Going
outside of the state it is found that Chicago had but two families one vear after
the site of Menomonie was first occupied; that St. Paul was not settled until 1838,
eight vears after permanent settlement in Menomonie.

The occupation of 1822-24, told about by Lockwood, cannot be said to have
been a settlement; it was at best only an attempted settlement. This was followed
by an occupation of the river banks near Dunnville in the winter of 1829-30 by
officers and soldiers of the United States to the number of 74, engaged in getting
out timber and lumber, but there was no thought by them of making a settlement.
Quite a full account of the doings of this force, detailing the character of their work
and the mode of their life has heen given by one of its members, from which it
appears that the expedition was purely military.

The occupation here in 1830 is the first that can truly be called a settlement occu-
pation. That of Gilbert’s Mill was close upon its heels as it was begun in 1831.
The life of these camps can only be conjectured. The workmen were French-
Canadians who had formerly served in the fur trade and discharged United States
soldiers, or, in some cases, deserters. In general, rough crews, whose daily life of
work, with recreation of cards, music, dancing and drinking can be imagined from
many accounts extant of western pioneer life. The Indians furnished venison,
bear meat, fish, game birds, maple sugar and berries. The men so inclined, on
leisure days hunted and went fishing. Some ate in the company kitchen and slept
at the company’s bunk house; some, by couples, or more, organized a mess and
lived by themselves, and some took to themselves squaw wives. All traded at
the company store and their supplies were occasionally pilfered by thieving Indians.
The crews were for the most part hired for a season: came here in the fall and during
the next summer from May to November went on company rafts to Mississippi
River towns. Some came back, others did not return, and new men were hired to
take their places. Often brothers or chums came at the same time and went away
together. :

Schoolcraft reports a Mr. Wallace with ten men as being here in August, 1831.
Randall in his papers on the Chippewa Valley states that George Wales, an ex-
army officer, was then in charge here. As the name of Wallace, as a lumberman,
is not known in this region, and Wales is known to have engaged in other lumber
enterprises in this vicinity, it seems proper to consider that the man interviewed by
Schoolcraft was named Wales and not Wallace.

John H. Fonda was the member of the military force of 1829-30 who wrote an
account of the expedition. He also came to this mill in 1837-39. He has recorded
the fact of his living here, but his account is very meager. He brought here his
wife and children, but we are not informed that any other family resided here at
the same time. He has, however, stated the method of transportation in and out.
He and his family came from Prairie du Chien to Reads Landing on a steamboat,
thence up the Chippewa and Red Cedar Rivers on a Machinaw boat. When he
went away he got a Machinaw 30 feet long in which with his family he floated down
the rivers to the place from which he came. He expresses himself with having been
pleased with his work and his life here, and tells us of the Indians as providers and
as pilferers, and describes the quite, stealthy and serpent-like glide of an Indian
war party on its chase through a forest. '
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The enterprise of lumbering called for a united effort of a crew of men or of
several crews of men located at one place or at nearby places, to cut, draw, skid and
float logs to the sawmill; to there saw them into timber and lumber; and grade, pile
and raft the same, and from the mill run the rafts to market. The sawmill was the
central point of each particular enterprise; the place where the logs came, where
they were sawed and from whence the product was shipped. It naturally became a
center of settlement, a place where proprietors and those employed lived and to
which their respective families came and remained. The lumber business decidedly
fostered community life. To this business this valley owes its first settlements made
at the very earliest period of settlement of the upper Mississippi River basin above
Prairie du Chien.

The year 1846 ushered in here a new era; it is the date at which, socially, perman-
ent and abiding things began at this place and have continued to this day; it
separates the present period of records and recorded knowledge, concerning what
has and is now happening here, from accounts before traditional and conjectural;
it marks the time of the advent into the settlement at Wilson’s Creek of woman as
a permanent factor, and the commencement time, when marriage was instituted,
in this valley, and after which children were born and reared, the time when the
family became established in this prior settlement of gregarious woodsmen massed
in crews.

Captain William Wilson established permanent family life on the present site
of Menomonie, when in 1846 he established a home here, and brought here his
wife and family. Mr. and Mrs. Lorenzo Bullard came with them. John Vail,
one of the workmen, already had his wife here. A little later than the Wilsons and
the Bullards came Mr. and Mrs. Jason Ball. These four were the only families
living in Menomonie in 1846.

Of the arrival of Mrs. Wilson and Mrs. Bullard, Randall has said: ‘At this
early day there was no means of ingress or egress to any part of this valley except
by the river, the keel boat, propelled by men with poles, going back and forth on
the running boards, the lower end of every pole being furnished with a steel pointed
iron socket, which was thrust against the bottom, while against the other end pressed
with all his might if need be the shoulder of the ‘“living engine,” whose duty it was
to drive the boat over sand-bars and rapids to its destination.”

On the first trip up the Red Cedar, the river being low and the boat heavily
laden, got around four miles below their destined home, and these ladies with their
children, took the foot path winding along the side hills, and over the steep rocky
bluffs to their new homes.

Of the many amusing incidents related by these ladies of their first experience
in their secluded and nearly embargoed domicil, there is room here for only one.
Soon after their arrival, Mrs. Blois Hurd came with her husband, who was a mill-
wright, to reside at Gilbert’s Mill, three miles below, and for some months, was the
only woman residing there—a beautiful intelligent lady, but whose health was very
delicate. Near the close of a day in September, Mr. Gilbert, (the old gentleman)
came up and requested the immediate assistance of one or both of these neighbor
women for Mrs. Hurd who had been taken very ill. How they were to get there,
was now the difficult problem to solve, to walk three miles over the difficult, in-
tricate foot-path, after the fatigues of the day, was too much for their strength.
Their husbands were ready to accompany them, and a bright thought seized one of
the party, a raft with oars all on, “ready to pull out,” lay just below the mill; to
‘““tie loose” was only the work of a moment, but not one of the men had ever run
those rapids, or knew how to handle a raft, but in high glee away floated the party,
their hearts full of benevolence, and their heads with novel ideas of traveling;
down they went with wonderful speed, and hair-breath escapes from wreck, over
the first falls, but on the second chain, where the intricate channel wound along
between great boulders, the necessity for the guiding hand of an experienced pilot
was soon made apparent, by the bow running high and dry on the rocks while the
stern was whirled around by the rapid current, which threatened to break up the
whole contrivance. No boat was near, night was coming on, the water was deep
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all around them, and there they were inextricably fast, nothing now remained but
to wade ashore, and cautiously they followed Mr. Gilbert supporting each other,
as waist-deep in water, whirling and eddying between the smooth boulders, they
made their way to terra firma, and climbed the steep bank to the trail, and in their
wet garments, drabbling in the sand, walked on to the residence of the sick lady,
after again getting wet, by fording Gilbert'’s Creek.

The census reports both state and federal, -reflect the untoward conditions
existing here for settlement, up to 1860. In 1850 Chippewa County comprised
practically all of the territory at present included in Buffalo, Trempealeay, Chippe-
wa, Eau Claire, Rusk, Barron, Polk, St. Croix, Pierce, Dunn, and Pepin counties,
and vet the United States census of that vear gives the population of Chippewa
County as 615. This nearly staggers belief, that less than 70 years ago the area
of these eleven counties contained but 615 inhabitants subject to census enumera-
tion. However, the state census of 1855 g-e Durn County only 1796 and the
federal census of 1860 only raised it to 2704. An estimate of the number of persons
at this place and in the camps in its immediate vicinity in 1850, based on the names
appearing on the account books of the company gives 150,

Elisha Brown and Levi Vance came here in the summer of 1846 and each worked
for Black and Knapp until in October of that vear. They on October 28, jointly
began logging on contract for this firm under the partnership name of Brown and
Vance. It does not appear that they had had any former experience in this busi-
ness, they apparently had no capital. As might well be predicted, they did not
make money. They first established a camp at Lamb’s Creek and later moved to
the South Fork of Hay River. Their business was confined to transactions with
Black and Knapp and their account shows a settlement November 21, 1847. They
were then in debt $180.62. On September 12, 1850, there was a final settlement
with them and they were still in debt. While the fact of this showing of continuous
and ultimate indebtedness does not of itself show that these men did not make a
profit, vet the character of the articles shown as charges in their account against
the price of their logs indicates it. Most of the price was absorbed in charges for
supplies and equipment to be used up in camp.

There is a tradition that Jason Ball died here in the spring of 1847 and that his
widow that same vear married Levi Vance, one of the partners of the firm of Brown
and Vance. By Vance she had children and some of her descendants still live in
this city.  On the company’s books there is some corrobative evidence of the death
of Ball and of the marriage of his widow to Vance. From legendary story, Ball’s
burial place is placed by some at the big elm near the present warehouse and by
others on the eastern bank of Wilson’s Creek above the La Pointe Lumber yard.

Up to March 10, 1847, after July 26, 1846, Ball’s account shows a daily liberal
purchase of household supplies and (f articl~s of family domestic use. After March
10, but few entries appear. On March 23, 1847, the account is credited with,
“1 overcoat $11.50.” On April 28, “By charge to Philander Ball 83.00.” On
Philander Ball’s account of the same date is a charge “ To credit of Mrs. Ball $4.00,”
and under the entry is another which does not appear on Jason Ball’s account,
“To credit of Mrs. Ball $20.60.” The significance of this last entry lies in the fact
that in the account of Brown and Vance, the same year, month not shown, there
is a credit, “By Mrs. Vance, balance due her, charged to Philander Ball, $20.00.”’
No charge on Philander Ball’s account is found as a credit to Mrs. Vance. It
seems probable that the same $20 is concerned in these two entries; that Black
and Knapp charged it to Philander Ball and gave to the widow of Jason Ball some
paper to the effect that it owed to her the amount of this charge;later that
Mrs. Ball as Mrs. Levi Vance transferred it to Brown and Vance, that this firm
presented it to Black and Knapp and were given credit on its books for the sum
called for, $20. '

Jason Ball’s account was closed with the credits mentioned and one from John
Vale for $1.25. These various credits seem to indicate that Jason Ball dropped out
of the life of the settlement in some way, and the form of the credits in the closing
of his account seemingly indentifying Mrs. Ball as Mrs. Vance indicate that Jason
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Ball died. We may look at the matter in cre of two ways: that the legend that
TJason Ball died and his widow married Vance is confirmed by the entries on the
books, or that the probabhilities arising from the entries on the books, of such death
and marriage are substantiated by the legend.

The Wilsons and the Bullards remained here permanently. Levi Vance moved
to another part of the county but as noted his descendants are still here. All that
is known of Jason Ball rests entirely on tradition, save the entries in his personal
account on the lumber company’s books.

Present information regarding John and Fannie Vale comes from early written
narratives and personal testimony of early settlers. In Randall’s History of the
Chippewa Valley is this reference to Mrs. Vale: *‘Since the departure of Allen
and Branham, with their families, no female, or, only one, Mrs. Fannie Vail, had
been bold enough to seclude themselves and undertake the hardships and privations
of such an isolated abode.”

This reference to the Allen and Branham families, would indicate that several
of the early lumbermen may have had their white wives here in the davs before
1846. It is well established, however, that there were no white women here except
Mrs. Vale when the Wilsons and Bullards arrived.

A more extended mention of the Vales appears in a narrative written by Mrs.
Bella French and published in 1875 by the Sketch Book Company, LaCrosse,
Wisconsin. It purports to be founded upon tradition but its language suggests
that the narrative is somewhat colored by the imagination of the writer, and is
confined almost exclusively to an account of the death of Mrs. Vale at the cabin of
A. Lemon and of her burial at a nearby place. John Vale is described as an old
man, uneducated and much given to drink and Mrs. Vale as a woman who had
lived a hard life and ““in the matter of civilization, was but little above the savages.”
This expression is emphasized by the further statement that two white wemen,
Mrs. Vale included, as one, had “been among the Indians so long that they had
about forgotten that they did belong to the Caucassian race.” No clue to the name
of the other of the two women referred to by this writer, is given by her.

This account of the death of Mrs. Vale is a grewsome tale. The asserted squalor
of the place where she died, the revolting detailed circumstances of her death and
burial and the impassioned action of her husband on these two successive occasions
need not be here repeated, but it is very questionable whether the place as described
and the scenes as depicted justify the conclusion above stated.

The books of the lumber company show that Vale in 1846 and 1847 was a com-
mon laborer and was credited with work to the amount of $§423.40, and in 1847-48
with $239.72. Does a savage at low wages perform labor to the value of $663.12
inside of three years. Vale's account opens in the fall of 1846 and closes March 19,
1849. From October 28 to December, 1830, Vale again ran an account but it was
small and he went away in debt to nearly the total amount of this his last account.

From Mrs. French’s narrative it would seem that it was in the fall of 1850 that
Mrs. Vale died. Her name appears on the books of the company but once. It is
in a credit to Capt. Wilson, under date of September 6, 1847, By boarding Stickney
and Fannv Vale when sick, $12.50.”" \rs. Vale may have been but *“little above”
the savages vet Capt. Wilson and his wife took her in and ministered unto her.

On the company’s books in November, 1848, Vale is charged with " 6 pounds of

beefsteak.” This is the first instance where a charge for meat is found designated
as “beefsteak,” on these books. His account shows a fair average for family fcod
supplies, large charges for liquor and little that was designed for the personal service
or individual comfort of the wife. At the death of his wife, Vale, according to
Mrs. French’s statement threatened to go and drown himself. What became of
him she does not record. It is probable that this couple had knocked about the
frontier half a life time, living often in penury and dying in want. ‘They were one
of the four families that Capt. Wilson gathered here in 1846 with which to start
his policy of building up a stable ccmmunity with workmen having resident families.

Modern investigators have been reluctant to believe Mrs. French's low estimare

of the Vale family. and are inclined to believe that she was striving for dramatic
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effect rather than for historic accuracy or justice to pioneer womanhood.

Recent testimony regarding Mrs. Vale has been given by William Lemon of
Weston in this county. that Mrs. Vale.died at his father’s house at V. arney’s Creek,
formerly Tainter’s Creek, and that he was at home at the time. This is a small
stream that empties into the Red Cedar River on its west side about one and one-
half miles below Irvington and five miles below Menomonie. Anthony Lemon,
William'’s father, when he first came into this country went to Chippewa Falls,
from there to Dunnville, then to Varney Creek, later to Gilbert’s Mill and later
still to Eau Galla. In 18350 he lived at Varney Creek; William was then nine years
old. He remembers John Vale as a tall slim man of a crooked appearance and as
being a hard drinker of intoxicating liquors, but of a kindly manner and disposition,
and Mrs. Vale as mean spirited and especially vixenish in word and action toward
her husband. At this time she repelled his every advance of attentive kindness.
Perhaps this was not an inate disposition of Mrs. Vale but a shrewishness acquired
by reason of the hard condition of her life. Mr. Lemon distinctly remembers the
circumstances of Mrs. Vale’s death but does not recollect where she was buried
but thinks it probable that she was buried on the east side of the river opposite
Varney Creek on the prairie. He remembers that Vale, after his wife’s death staid
at Varney Creek a short time and recollects that it was told about the camp not
long after that he had gone down the river.

Two incidents served to fix the memory of the Vales in the mind of young Lemon.
One that at the near approach of death he remembers it was said Mrs. Vale should
not die on a feather bed; that she should be put on a straw tick. Whether this
was the expression of a superstitious early day notion or merelv the enforcement
of some economic or sanitary demestic practice the writer is unable to say. The
other incident was, that during Mrs. Vale’s last sickness she gave to his mother,
Mrs. Lemon, two old fashioned heavy flatirons. One of these with the handle gone.
William Lemon now has and in a somewhat changed form uses it in the setting of
saws. :

From another source, from a person who then occasionally lived at the Upper
Al it is learned that Mrs. Vale figured in one of the frequent Indian scares of those
times. One day word came to Captain Wilson that an Indian was assaulting
Fannie Vale. It is to be believed that Mrs. Vale was a woman small in stature and
of spare form. The Captain went at once to her cabin, located near and east of the
site of the present piano factory, and found that an Indian had Mrs. Vale against
the inner wall of the cabin and was choking her. When rescued she was nearly
strangled and was black in the face. When the Captain entered the cabin he
grabhed the Indian whose blanket immediately slipped off and the Captain clutched
him by the tufts of hair on his head and pulled him to the door. There the Indian
braced himself, a hand on each side of the opening for the docr. In his determina-
tion to oust the Indian the Captain had dragged him so energetically that upon
stopping at the door the Indian’s hair was pulled out. Resistance on the part of
the Indian then ceased and he went awayv and laid down on the nearby river bank
where members of his tribe came to see him. Rumors of dire vengeance on the
part of the Indian’s friends became rife, but when the Captain met the principal
Indians and had explained how it had all come about thev put away their wrath and
said the Indian was justly punished. The Indian’s assault was on account of Mrs.
Vale's refusal to turn over to him all of the bread that she had baked for her own use.

The women mentioned on the company hooks from 1846 to 1850 are: Mrs,
Wilson, Mrs. Bullard, Mrs. Clair, (she lived with the Bullard’s) Mrs. Ball, (later
Mrs. Vance,) Mrs. Vale and a certain Phebe Brown. The least is known about the
last woman mentioned. She had an account which in 1850 shows a credit by
22 prs. mittens $5.50 and 8 flannel shirts $2.00.”” The items of this account in-
dicate a habit of industry that pertains to the Caucasian race rather than to general
savagery. What man is there who on the facts known will be so ungallant as to
assert that any of these women were near savages?’ Probably Phebe Brown was
the wife of Elisha Brown and she probably stayved at the camp of Brown and Vance
on Lamb’s Creek. In an early mortgage record, in volume 2, page 624 of mort-
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gages in the register’s office in this county, ‘“ Elisha Brown and Phebe Brown his
wife”’ are named as mortgagors.

Mr. Bullard opened an account at the Company’s store July 13, 1846, and
from the credits on his account it would seem that for several vears he ran the
boarding house, worked in the mill, got out logs in the pinery and cut lath. Two
of the entries in his account would indicate that the widow Clare worked at the
boarding house: ‘‘August 13, 1846, 1 pair side combs for Mrs. Clare, $0.19;”
“August 5, 1847, to Mrs. Claire’s bill to January, 1947, $26.72.” That Mrs.
Bullard was here seems evident from this charge, ‘ November 1, 1847, pair shoes for
Mrs. B., 81.25.” That Mr. Bullard at that time had a daughter who may have
been away is indicated by the charge, “* May 26, 1847, cash paid out for daughter,
$13.55.” This daughter, some years later, married Samuel B. French.

The same store accounts show that July, 1846, Jason Ball was charged, ‘‘to
amount of steamboat fare, $8.00,” and in August, 1846, he was credited by ““37
days cooking, 8$25.34.” These charges in a way corroborate the early statements
regarding the coming here of Jason Ball. A further entry in his account, *‘ March
23, 1847, to 2 notes of hand, handed to Mrs. Ball,” tends to prove that he then had
a wife here.

After 1846 there was a successive annual increase in the number of families that
settled here. Women came and remained. The state census of 1855 shows of
females 358 of males 726. in the Menomonie precinct, practically one-half as many
females as males. The families came and business success.came. The company’s
lumber business increased amazingly and no other industry for 14 vears was started
here. The camp became a permanent settlement.

In April, 1847, Mrs. Claire, alreadv mentioned, married William Whitcomb.
Two years later, Thomas Piercewell and Margaret Scott were married.

In 1858 the occupied part of the site of Menomonie was that on the north side
of the river. The Wisconsin Milling Company’s office now stands where probably
the first cabin was built in 1822-24. It is the spot upon which in 1830-31 stood the
trading shanty, and upon which ever since, to this time, has stood either a trading
shanty, a store or an office. There was n"t, up to 1858, any individual ownership
of the lands or of houses. The lumber company owned everything.

In 1854, the erection of a first mill, the first building to be put up on the south
side of the river was begun. In 1857-38 a bridge was built across the river where the
present bridge stands. The mill and bridge were built by the company. In 1858
a village plat on the south side of the river was surveyed. It was duly mapped and
recorded. The next vear the sale of lots commenced. Thus in 1839 there hegan
still another period in the development of the city.

But before proceeding any further with the general history of Menomonie, it
is necessary to glance back once more, and, starting at the very beginning, narrate
in a detailed and consecutive manner the story of the Knapp, Stout & Company;
for, this famous lumbering concern for many vears practically was Menomonie;
the foregoing chapters of this volume have been merely preliminary to its history,
and what afterwards remains to be told will be largelv the story of what was since
grown out of its work in this region. While this task will make it necessary to deal
with certain subjects that have already been more or less casually mentioned, the
advantage of having the story related in a systematic and consecutive manner as to
details, and dealt with as a complete entity in a separate chapter will outweigh the
inconvenience of occasional reiteration. The story of the rise and growth of this
great concern has been told on several occasions, in different publications, but never
without a considerable admixture of error, not to mention the omission of important
facts. Its early history, in particular, was never correctly given, and with reason-
ably full detail, until written by C. E. Freeman and read by him as a historical
paper before the Unity Club of Menomonie as representing the Memorial Library
some vears ago. Later in a general way it was presented in a paper read before
the January meeting, 19—, of the Commercial Club. Mr. Freemans paper begins
far back and with meticulous care traces every step in the history of lumbering
operations in the valley up to the vear 1838, when the site of Menomonie was sur-
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veved and platted, together with the successive steps in the formation of the Knapp,
Stout & Company. It will be given verbatim in the following chapter, supple-
mented by additional data from other sources refering to the later history of the
company. Mr. Freeman’s article includes the consecutive paragraphs in quotation

marks.



CHAPTER X
THE KNAPP, STOUT & CO. COMPANY

The original Knapp. Stout & Company was organized on August 20, 1833.
The co-partnership was based on an inventory of an estimate value of $70,000 hold-
ings by the gentlemen who entered into the agreement. The story of the acquiring
of the various interests dates from 1846.

William Wilson, a resident of Fort Madison in the then territory of Iowa, who
previously had had some experience in lumbering operations in northern Penn-
svlvania, having been informed that there were vast pineries and excellent induce-
ments and opportunities for investment on the Chippewa River and its tributaries
in the territory of Wisconsin, concluded to make personal examination. Accord-
ing! he made the trip to the Chippewa and Red Cedar covnties, and his compre-
hensive business grasp, practical knowledge and keen insight enabled him to see
and determine at once that here was a rare opportunity for investment in pine
lands and to engage in the manufacture of lumber. He returned to his home full
of enthusiasm and confidence, and told his friends of the beautiful rivers, vast forests
of pine and rare opportunities for investment and labor and the securing of re-
numerative reward for each.

He found in John H. Knapp, also of Fort Madison, one who saw like himselt
his life’s best opportunity, and who earnestly and enthusiastically offered to join
him in an effort to gain a competency in the almost uninhabitable wilds of the
Chippewa Valley. On May 19, 1846 the two men executed a co-partnership agree-
ment for lumbering operations in the Chippewa Valley. They were not, however,
the first arrivals or pioneers in this business here, though the enterprise they started
in time so far over-shadowed the comparatively insignificant work of their pre-
decessors that the latter has almost been lost sight of. Mr. Freeman'’s story of the
evolution of the Knapp-Stout concern, together with the antecedent facts, referred
to at the end of the previous chapter, is as follows.

“He who studies the past growth of this city gets at the same time the history
of the city and the story of a great lumber enterprise. Until recent years the history
of either well might be taken as the narrative of the other. Among the fruits of
that enterprise are two of our city’s important benefactions—the Memorial Library
and the Stout schools. That this lumber business was a great enterprise is a fact
attested by tradition, by the pagesof contemporarily published lumber magazinesand
periodicals, by the statements of some now living who were engaged in its later year
activities and by the business records of the company that conducted the enterprise.

“A writer for the Wisconsin Historical Society Collections, in a book of the
Industries of Wisconsin during and after the Civil War, has stated that Knapp,
Stout & Company was said, in the early '70s, to be the greatest lumber corporation
in the world; that it in 1873, on the Red Cedar and Chippewa Rivers, owned 115.000
acres of pine lands, and had in its employ 1200 men. The real estate book of this
company shows that during its existence it owned in the valley of the Red Cedar
River alone some 490,000 acres of pine lands.

“The first occupancy here for the lumber business was in 1822 or 1823. The
first permanent settlement, that which has continued to this day, was in 1830.
In 1830-31, 100,000 feet of lumber was cut here. At our river mill the last log was
sawed in August, 1901. There was a continuous cutting of logs into lumber for
70 vears, the once appointed term of a man’s life, but more vears, by far, than the
actual span of life of many a man who in those vears worked here.

“Tt is evident, in the association of past events and in vears of settlement, that
this is an old city. Its age, measured by vears, is best understood by a comparison
of its permanent beginning with the time when other cities near and far had their
beginnings.

60
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“A search of the records of the state shows that Milwaukee was settled but a
few vears earlier: Madison in 1837, seven vears later; Chippewa Falls, 1838, eight
vears after; Black River Falls, 1839, nine vears later; Hudson, 1841, eleven years
after, and Eau Claire. 1843, fifteen vears after. Going outside of the state it is
found that Chicago had but two families one vear after the site of Menomonie was
first occupied; that St. Paul was not settled until 1838, eight years after permanent
settlement here.

“In the administrative function of the state it is presumed that every person
knows the law. In considering the history of a community, a town or a city it is
assumed that everv person knows the history of the place where he resides. We
all know that as a matter of fact the presumption and the assumption are mere
fiction, that there is scant basis of truth for either to stand upon. A decent regard
for the feelings of our fellows constrains us to admit that we all do know the history
of the place in which we live.

"By way of apology, for considering the history of this city at this time, perhaps
it may suffice in connection with the admission that all permanent residents do know
the city history, to suggest that each vear ushers in a new generation and each week
strangers are welcomed as permanent settlers, and to call attention to the fact that
no authoritative publication in book form is available for correct information for
the new generations and for the new settlers. .

“The books treating of the history of Menomonie are: The History of the
Chippewa Valley, published in Chicago; The History of the Lumber Industry of
Northern Wisconsin, published in Chicago; A Sketch of Menomonie, by Mrs.
Bella French, and an Early History of the Chippewa Valley, written and published
by Thomas E. Randall, of Eau Claire, Wisconsin, in 1875; the others are founded
upon it so far as the early history of our city is concerned. All of these books are
grossly inaccurate in statement as to dates, and as to the personal names of pro-
prietors, and as to the relative times of their ownership, and as te the mutual as-
sociation of persons in firms or corporations. Even the writer on Civil War in-
dustries referred to, whose work was published by the Wisconsin Historical Society,
makes the blunder of misnaming the corporation operating here, giving it as** Knapp
Stout and Company.” It should have been The Knapp Stout & Co. Company.
Again, he antedates the operations of this corporation by laving the stress as to his
statistics at a time some five vears prior to its organization. He refers to 1873 and
this corporation was not organized until 1878. '

**The matter of a name of a corporation is not a trivial thing. The exact name
of a corporation stands to it in the same stead as does the baptismal name of a per-
son. The corporation is an entity, a corporate thing, and at its organization the
state stands sponsor for its name. ~ By the name given it, it is known in the law, and
by no other name. The corporation operating here was named The Knapp Stout &
Co. Company. When a part or parts of this name are eliminated through careless-
ness its identity is lost. It may not legally contract in a shorter name and it cannot
be successfully prosecuted in such shorter name in a civil or a criminal tribunal of the
state.

“Of all of the early settlements in this state this settlement has probably the
most complete original record evidence of its initial time of commencement and of
the precise local place of its beginning. Its first step and all subsequent steps are
authenticated, by either the written statement of some one who participated in the
events constituting the step, bv files or records of the transactions of the step in
some court of record of the state, by the extant original instruments attesting
transfers or agreements as to transfers of the site or by preserved daily original
business entries in business books kept from 1846 continuously to the recent close
of the active affairs of the corporation that finally took over and continued the
business enterprise here. Any one certain fact in our history may be evidenced
by more than one of these testimonies.

““Such being the available material it would seem to be our duty to correct rather
than by inaction help to perpetuate the errors that outside narrators have engrafted
upon our local history. It were well that scme “Truthful James” enter the field



.62 HISTORY OF DUNN COUNTY

and tell in simple language what he knows about the scenes, the persons and the
events that make up our aforetime history. As an aid to such a coming result I
give to you an abstract of the information that lays open at your door.

“The first location and establishment of a dam and mill in this valley was in
1822-23, on Wilson Creek, at its mouth. These were destroyed by a flood within
a few months after commencement of work and before their completion. Both
were rebuilt, but not until 1830-31. By March, 1831, 100,000 feet of lumber had
been sawed at the Wilson Creek mill, but in June of that year the dam was swept
out by a freshet and the lumber carried away and scattered. This dam at Wilson
Creek was probably on the exact site of the present dam on that stream.

“There is no definite and well authenticated account of an occupation even
temporarily on this river for any purpose before this of 1822-23. Between the
occupancy of 1822-23 and that of 1830 it is probable that some private forays were
made on the timber growing here, but no mention is found of them. Lawfully,
only those having a permit from the United States could then cut timber on this
river, and during this period it is believed no such permit was issued.

In both instances, that of 1822-23 and that of 1830-31, James H. Lockwood
and Joseph Rolette, rival fur traders, both of Prairie du Chien, were the backers of
the enterprises. In the first venture one Hardin Perkins was interested and a man
named Armstrong was a part owner in the second. Perkins lost his services and
81,500 and Lockwood & Rolette divided the remainder of the loss. Armstrong,
to get rid of him, was paid $500 for his interest in the business venture of 1830-31,
before the dam and mill at Wilson Creek were completed. Then an interest was
given to one Isaac Saunders.

“From August 11, 1831, until the fall of 1837 we find no mention of this mill by
any one claiming to have been here during that period. John H. Fonda, an early
resident of Prairie du Chien, in a published statement, states that he was at the
mill on the Menomonie River in the years 1837, 1838 and 1839, in all two years.
He calls the mill Lockwood’s mill.

“From a statement made by James H. Lockwood, the last known owners before
1841 of the Wilson Creek mill were Lockwood and Rolette, with an interest in Isaac
Saunders, given to him to induce him to take charge of the business there. By
Fonda’s statement it would appear that in 1837, 1838 and 1839, Lockwood owned
this mill. There is no evidence of a transfer of the interest of Rolette or of Saunders
in and to this mill. Yet it is probable that not only the interest of Rolette, but
that of Saunders, was, at some time, conveyed, for by a deed recorded in Crawford
County, it appears that a transfer was made of the Wilson Creek mill to James
Green by James H. Lockwood and Hiram S. Allen. This deed bears date January 8§,
1841. By the same records it appears that Green, by a deed, dated May 18, 1842,
conveyed this mill to William Black. The records of the county court of Crawford
County show that William Black died in 1844 and that David Black, described in
the petition for administration of his estate as the nearest relative living in this
vicinity, became administrator of his estate. An inventory was filed which showed
only personal property. David Black asked for an got an extension of two vears
in which to settle the estate, which in fact never was settled so far as the records
show. Before the two years for which the extension was given had expired. David
Black died. It is conjectured that David Black in some way acquired title to the
Wilson Creek propertv through these administration proceedings, for bv a deed
recorded in Crawford County, dated June 16, 1846, for a consideration of $2,000,
he conveyed to John H. Knapp an undivided one-half interest therein. It was but
a few weeks after the giving of this deed that he, David Black, died.

““A partnership was formed between David Black and John H. Knapp at the
time of the sale of the one-half interest by which Mr. Knapp was to carry on a
lumber business at the mill for the firm styled *‘Black and Knapp” for a term of five
years.

“David Black’s estate was administered through the county court of Crawford
County and the administrator thereof became authorized to and did give to Mr.
Knapp a deed of the one-half interest remaining in David Black. This deed is



HISTORY OF DUNN COUNTY 63

dated May 4. 1850. For this one-half interest $2.600 was paid. On thousand
dollars in cash and two short time notes of eight hundred dollars each. It will
be remembered that for the first one-half interest Mr. Knapp paid two thousand
dollars. By the record it appears that now John H. Knapp became the sole owner
of the Wilson Creek mill, paving therefor the sum of forty-six hundred dollars.
As a matter of fact, however, Mr. William Wilson, through whose enterprise this
purchase was made, was a joint and equal owner with Mr. Knapp. On the death
of David Black it was the legal duty of Mr. Knapp to close up the partnership
business, but it is evident that this sacrifice of the property was avoided by a con-
tract entered into with the administrator of Black's estate. by which Mr.” Knapp
agreed to continue to conduct the business. He did so until 1850 when he bought
the remaining one-half interest of the administrator.

“It is not difficult, from this time on, to trace the successive ownership of this
property. In 1823, and again in 1830, the right acquired by Lockwood and Rolette
rested on a permit from the United States government to cut timber on Indian
lands, supplemented by a contract with the Indians by which they were to receive
81,000 per vear in goods for their consent to the privilege granted. The first
avowed claim to any specific tract of land at Wilson Creek appears in the deed from
Lockwood and Allen to Green, wherein the grantors covenant to put the grantee into
possession of land on the Menomonie River in Carver Grant, so-called, one-half
mile square. By a description of the survey, the mouth of Wilson Creek was placed
at the middle of the east boundary line of this square. The deed from Green to
William Black conveys the same tract, so also do the deeds of David Black and of
the administrator of David Black, to Mr. Knapp. It has been noted that no
transfer from William Black to David Black is found, and it is surmised that title
came to the latter by administration of William Black’s estate.

“The country about here had not been surveved when the deed of Black to
Knapp was given, and it contains this promise: ‘“that whenever the above tracts
of land shall be sold by the United States or when the same shall be in the market,
that then and in such case the said Black shall either prove up a pre-emption or
purchase the same at the land sales and convey the one equal undivided half thereof
to said Knapp, he, said Knapp, paying one equal half of the consideration money."’

“Black’s death occurred before the land was pre-empted or sold and before it
came into market.

“In May, 1846, before the purchase by Knapp from Black had been consumated
by deed, Mr. Knapp and William Wilson entered into an agreement by the terms
of which they were to carrv on a lumber business at the Wilson Creek mill for five
vears. This agreement, although technicallv not a partnership agreement between
Mr. Knapp and Mr. Wilson, was in effect such an agreement to carry out the agree-
ment on the part of Mr. Knapp with David Black. Its effect was to make Knapp,
Wilson and Black partners and on the death of David Black, it left Knapp and Wil-
son the surviving partners, and they conducted the business under the firm name of
Black and Knapp until 1850 when the deed was given by the administrator of the
estate of David Black to Mr. Knapp.

““The death of David Black made it impossible to secure title to the land de-
scribed in his. deed in the manner therein agreed upon. A United States survey
of the lands was made in 1849, and we find that William Wilson, on April 24, 1851,
by pre-emption entered lots 1, 2 and 3, section 26, township 28 north, of range 13

Knapp. On ‘this pre-emption Wilson received a patent dated April 19, 1855,
The title granted by this patent, by operation of law, inured to Mr. Knapp and his
grantees by virtue of the convevance to him of April 28, 1851. The remainder of
section 26 was pre-empted by other persons in 1855, who were then members of the
firm of Knapp, Stout & Company. :

After the conveyance by the administrator of the estate of David Black, and the
entry by Wilson, the changes in the associates in business and the title to the

property at Wilson Creek mill were rapid. August 19, 1850, Knapp sold a one-
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third interest in the business to Andrew Tainter, and a new set of books were
opened in the firm name of Knapp and Tainter. Knapp and Tainter sold within
the next three vears interests in the business to B. B. Downs and Henry L. Stout.

“To give a summary of the successive steps in this four-part partnership,—
first, Mr. Knapp sold to B. B. Downs a one-twentieth interest; second, Mr. Stout
bought the interest of Downs, whereupon Tainter sold to Stout a one-twelfth of the
whole property and Mr. Knapp sold to him seven-sixteenths of the whole business.
This gave Mr. Stout a one-fourth interest.

“The new and old owners formed a co-partnership as of August 20, 1853, based
on an inventory of an estimated value at $70,000, to be known as Knapp, Stout &
Company. The apportionment of interests made onthe books shows Knapp,
one-half, Tainter one-quarter, Stout one-fifth, and Downs one-twentieth. It will
be borne in mind that William Wilson's interest is here included in Mr. Knapp's
one-half. In 1854 Knapp sold to Thomas B. Wilson a one-fourth interest in the
business with the agreement that the firm name should remain as then fixed.
Downs, in the same vear, sold his interest to Stout, thus reducing the number of
partners to four, each having a one-fourth interest. But, in fact, the interest of
William Wilson was carried in the one-fourth part of Thomas B. Wilson, he making
a declaration of trust showing his father’s interest in his share.

“This somewhat circumstantial and detailed account of the organization of
the firm of Knapp, Stout & Company is given in the hope that it may correct some
of the whimsical and unsatisfactory statements which have appeared in histories
of the Chippewa Valley and have been written into the biographies of the deceased
members of this firm.

“The private papers and the private records of the last line of owners showing
the establishment of their business and the successive firm names of their enterprise
have been put in my hands and I have used them, in connection with information
found in the public records of Crawford and Dunn counties, in an earnest endeavor
to give a correct statement of events, leading from the first settlement here up to
the permanent organization of the lumber company as a corporation.

““An investigation will show a certain parallelism of continuous advancement in
business and in social development. The temporary logging camp had a force of
men, only, independent and self-reliant. unrestrained. save at times of actual work;
a somewhat permanent camp was attended with a self regulated hamlet; a more
permanent camp with a politically organized town government and a permanent
corporate organized business became seated in a civic organized city.

“ After the formation of the partnership company Mr. Knapp sold to Jehn H.
Douglass an interest and there were then six members of the firm although record
title appeared in only five members. These later members were John H. Knapp,
William Wilson, Andrew Tainter, Henry L. Stout, Thomas B. Wilson and John H.
Douglass, named in the order in which their repective interests were taken. These
men, at first some of them as a group and later all of them as a group, conducted
business under the firm name of Knapp. Stout & Company from August 20, 1853,
until March 16, 1878. On June 1, 1878, they formally transferred their firm and
individual interests to a corporation organized by them.

“In order to preserve, as nearly as the law would permit, the old firm name
under which they had done business there was prefixed to such old name the word
‘The,’ and affixed thereto the word ‘ Company’, making the name of the corporation
“The Knapp Stout & Co. Company.’

The capital stock of the corporation was fixed at $2,000,000. John H. Knapp
was made president; Andrew Tainter, vice president; Thomas B. Wilson, secretary;
and John H. Douglas, treasurer. Of these men, William Wilson, John H. Knapp.
Andrew Tainter and Thomas B. Wilson actively identified with the history of
Menomonie as residents here. Henry L. Stout was a prominent resident of Du-
buque and ended his days there. John H. Douglas moved from Dubuque to St.
Louis and ended his davsthere. JohnKnapp,son of John H. Knapp. becamea stock-
holder in the corporation, and soon afterward Peter E. Wilson, eldest son of Thomas
B. Wilson, and William W. Cassidy of Read's Landing, also became stockholders.
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“Of the three early mills along the Red Cedar River we have a traditionary
account. It has been given by Mr. Thomas E. Randall, now deceased, late of Eau
Claire, Wisconsin. Some years ago he wrote a series of sketches on the early
history of the Chippewa Valley, printed first as newspaper articles, later published
in book form. He did not come to the vallev until 1845, and located and lived to
the time of his death on the main Chippewa. He and Hiram S. Allen became great
friends. An inspection of his book reveals but incidental mention of the Menomonie
or Red Cedar River, and for the most part such mention is for the purpose of giving
incidents in the life of Mr. Allen. The traditions as given by Randall have been
copied in subsequent publications concerning this county as being its early history.

“As given by Randall some of the legendary history runs as follows: ‘In the
spring of 1828, Street and Lockwood erected at Wilson Creek the first mill built in
the Chippewa Valley. This firm constructed a second mill at Gilbert Creek. In
1835 Street and Lockwood sold both mills to H. S. Allen. In 1839 Allen built a
sawmill at Irvine Creek, which he rebuilt in 1841. He then owned the three mills
called Upper, Middle and Lower Mills.. The same year (1841) he sold the Lower
mill to Stephen S. McCann; it was burned in 1843; in the fall of 1841 the Upper mill
was sold to one Green, who soon after transferred it to a Mr. Pearson, by whom the
first dam across the Menomonie was erected ; he soon sold it to an old gentleman by
the name of Black, who, in 1844, transferred a half interest to Knapp and Wilson,
who, the following year, associated themselves with Mr. Stout under the firm name
of Knapp, Stout & Co.; in a later article this event is placed by Randall as of 1846
and that Knapp, Stout & Co. in 1860 sold to Andrew Tainter a one-fourth interest
in their business.’

‘“Generally speaking, it may matter but little to the general reader in giving
early local history whether events be placed within five or even ten years of their
real occurrence or whether names of settlers and owners connected with such events
be given as Jones or Brown, but, to the local resident it is sometimes exasperating
to find the antecedents of his present personal surroundings grossly misstated.

“In the present instance it is well established that the first mill here was built
in 1822-23, not in 1828, and that no mill was built here in 1828, but that in 1830 and
1831 this mill was built by Lockwood and Rolette and none at any time by Street
and Lockwood; that Mr. Black mentioned by Randall did not in 1844, nor at any
other time, transfer the property to Knapp and Wilson, but that another Black did
transfer a one-half interest in such property in 1846 to John H. Knapp; that Mr.
Stout did not associate himself with Knapp and Wilson in 1844 nor 1846, but not
until 18353; that Andrew Tainter acquired an interest in 1850, instead of 1860, and
prior to Mr. Stout’s purchase.

““The records show that Lockwood and Allen conveved the Upper Mill to Green,
but at the same time it shows that out of a consideration of $5,000 Green gave back
a mortgage of $4,671 running to Lockwood. While these transactions might in-
dicate an interest of Allen in the Upper Mill they negative the idea that Allen owned
it and sold it to Green. There is no direct evidence that Allen ever owned this mill.

‘“As the records show a deed to Green in January, 1841, and one from Green to
William Black in May, 1842, it seems improbable, in the absence of direct evidence,
that there was an intermediary named Pearson, as stated by Randall to be the fact,
who made some progress in the erection of a dam across the Menomonie River.
Regarding the dam across the river, we find in the deed of David Black, given four
years after the time stated as being the time when Pearson entered upon its con-
struction, this proviso: that the grantor also transfers an equal undivided interest
in and to a contract in relation to the building of a new mill on and a dam across
the said Menomonie River. This proviso would seem to indicate a project for
the building of a dam and mill rather than the completion of an enterprise already
well forwarded. In the accounts of Black and Knapp there is no appearance of
this contract having been in any way entered upon or carried out, although the fact
is a dam had been constructed across the river before October, 1849. Perhaps the
death, soon after this deed was given, of Mr. Black may have put the project in
abeyance.
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‘“As to the time when Mr. Stout acquired his interest and as to the time when the
co-partnership under the name of Knapp, Stout & Co. was formed, an entry on the
firm books of Knapp and Tainter shows it to be as of August 20th, 1853, instead of
1844 as stated by Randall.

“To corroborate Lockwood in his statement that he and Rolette built the mill,
we have from the United States Department of the Interior copies of the application
of Lockwood for, and of the permit by the War Department to build this mill,
which shows that Rolette was associated with Lockwood. Schoolcraft, when in
1831 he was at the Wilson Creek mill. was told by the man in charge that the mill
belonged to ““ Messrs. Rolette and Lockwood.” Fonda in 1837 calls this mill Lock-
wood’s.  The permit here mentioned required a contract with the Indians through
the Government Agent. General Street was at that time such agent at Prairie
du Chien. Popular suspicion may have connected him with the enterprise and
Randall have merely written the suspicion into his sketch.

“It was long the fashion to write the histories of monarchies by setting forth
the facts as to the rise, the reign ana fall of monarchs. It may be a suspicion that
I have here given you as a history of our city but a list of snccessive proprietors
who have in succession each obtained, held and relinquished the ownership of the
Upper Mill, the early name of this site.

“To set out in detail the progressive economic story of the former business
period here with its accompanying social advancement wouid take too much of
your time.

“The ground that I have gone over is that whereon chaotic error has heretofore
mostly been found, the field wherein wrong statements have been most persistently
repeated.

“Up to 1858 the occupied part of the site of Menomonie was that on the north
side of the river. The Wisconsin Milling Company office now stands where prob-
ably the first cabin was built in 1822-23. It is the spot upon which in 1830-31 stood
the trading shanty, upon which, always, ever since, to this time, has stood either a
trading shanty, a store or an office. There was not up to that time (1858) any
individual ownership of lands or of houses. The lumber company owned every-
thing.

“In 1854 the erection of a grist mill, the first building to be put up on the south
side of the river, was begun. In 1857-58 a bridge was built across the river where
the present bridge stands. The mill and the bridge were built by the lumber
company. In 1858 a village plat on the south side of the river was surveved. It
was plotted and recorded. The next vear the sale of lots commenced. From this
time on the general histories of this place are for the most part accurate in statement
although meager in narrative.”

Thus ends Mr. Freeman’s narrative as he wrote it. That which follows is
derived, as previously stated, from other sources, but is printed with Mr. Freeman’s
approval.

The little single sash sawmill of Black & Gyreen had a capacity for manufacturing
from 5,000 to 7,000 feet of ““timber” (lumber?) per day. The sawing and rafting
of the lumber, running it to market and selling it in those early davs devolved
mainly upon the proprietors. There was at that time no market for the sale of
lumber, or the purchase of food, nor any of the commodities essential to living,
even on the frontier, nearer than Prairie du Chien. The only means of communica-
tion with the business world was by keel boat down the river or by the Indian trail.

About 1850 a new mill, 60 x 100 feet in ground plan, was built by the firm, and
two years later a gang saw was placed in the mill. This mill burned Dec. 26, 1856,
and the firm then erected a large water sawmill on the same site, which was enlarged
from time to time, and was in operation at the time of the fiftieth anniversary of
the company’s activities.

They bravely and energetically met every obstacle and disadvantage, each vear
adding a little to the plant and resources of the firm. The company d:d not during
the first 41 years of existencedeclare a dividend nordivide itsprofits. The members
of the firm clearly perceived that at no far distant day, the value of uncut pine lands
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would of necessity become greatly enhanced, and on this account, as well as the
maintenance of their business they used much of their surplus capital in the purchase
of large tracts of timber mostly pine lands which in those days were obtainable at
low prices. :

Among these were the purchases from C. C. Washburn, Cornell University,
Russell Sage, Haley & Pitcher, the North Wisconsin and the Omaha railroad
companies, the United States government and the state of Wisconsin. The pur-
chase from C. C. Washburn in 1863 was over 10,000 acres of land and the mill at
Waubeek. The purchase from the Cornell University in 1879-80 was also over
10,000 acres. The total purchase of pine lands in Wisconsin as shown by its real
estate records were about 530,000 acres of which about 490,000 acres were in the
Red Cedar valley.

Regarding the extent of the pine forests in this valley, it is a matter of history
that they were included in the great pine belt which extended across the states of
Wisconsin, Michigan and Minnesota. Some men now living tell of the immense
tracts of pine they saw in this valley in an early day. In many instances in solidly
covered contiguous sections were found the best quality pine trees that grew in
the valley. Many still living can remember seeing in the spring of each year the
pond at this place, now Lake Menomin, covered to far ahove the cemetery with
saw logs so thickly massed that scarce a square yard of open water could be seen in
the whole area covered, more than 300 acres. This supply was for the current
vear, the logs to be replaced by the next winter’s cut.

The amount of lumber cut by this company was enormous, but there is not
sufficient data at hand from which to make even an approximate accurate statement
of the total. No estimate based on an average cut per acre of the lands purchased
can be of value. In two instances, that of the Washburn and the Haley-Pitcher
purchases, a large acreage was of cut-over land. From 1846 to 1851, the pine trees
manufactured were cut on government lands under permits from the departments
at Washington. Early inventories and sawmill accounts have been destroyed or
lost by accident of flood or fire.

The vast area of cut-over land was eventually devoted to agriculture. Some of
the finest farms in Barron County, one of the leading dairy communities in the
world were developed from lands once covered with dense pine forests and cut-over
by Knapp, Stout & Co. . :

In the 70’s Knapp, Stout & Co., was said to be the greatest lumber corporation
in the world. It was certainly most excellently situated so far as established facili-
ties for carrying on the lumber business was concerned. It had nearly complete
mastery of the Red Cedar River Valley; its mill dams and its mills were located at
most of the available sites on the main river; its flooding dams were built across
every northern tributary and contiguous to each such dam there were located as
many logging camps as could be accommodated in their output of logs by the
forced artificial flooding capacity of the streams;at the mills were well stocked
supply and merchandise stores; on every route from each central mill to its out-
lving camps were, at easy stages, stopping places: at these stopping places there was
either a farm or a large camp garden; at the mills were local lumber yards and at
most of the important towns on the Mississippi River as far down as St. Louis
were sales yards, each with its complement of finishing mills.

The efficiency of this system of mills, stores, farms, gardens, stopping places,
local and sales yards and the right of exclusive control of the upper small streams
of the Red Cedar River can best be summed up by citing the remark made by Mr.
William Carson, a lumberman of Eau Claire, and one of the founders of Eau Galle
this county, made at a time when the price of lumber was, for the producer, ruin-
ously low. He stated, that owing to the system of operation here described, the
Knapp, Stout & Co. Company could manufacture lumber at the then general market

- prices and make a profit, while lumbermen on other rivers could not at the same
prices get back the cost of production.

In the earlier vears in this region men were averse to looking forward to a life
of work for wages. It was not uncommon then to see a man buy horses, harness,
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and a wagon, and haul produce or products under a general contract or at a specific
price per load rather than drive an employer’s team at daily, weekly or monthly
wages. This man cheerfully faced loss rather than take personal service. It was
usually in such a case a loss, if the man’s income at the end of the vear were to be
compared with the amount of wages he might have received for the same period
of time. Some, or all, of these things, were sure to happen; loss of a horse by
disease or accident; loss of time, from lameness of the horse, from laving off for
repairs to be made, by the shoeing of horses or in the hauling of hay and feed.

In 1873 the firm owned 115,000 acres of pine lands on the Chippewa and Menom-
onie Rivers, from which it cut and manufactured during that vear, in its various
stream and water power mills, 55,000,000 feet of lumber, 20,000,000 shingles and
20,000,000 lath and pickets. It maintained at Menomonie, in addition to its
lumber mills, store, and stables, a foundry machine shop and blacksmith shop, a
grain warehouse of 40,000 bushels capacity and a grist mill in which its vearly
requirement of flour was ground. It owned six large farms in Dunn and Barron
counties containing 6,000 to 7,000 acres of improved land; upon which was raised
large supplies of wheat and pork. It conducted general merchandise stores, the
annual sales of which amounted to 8750,0uU. Its dams and camps were on every
available site in the valley. Large lumber vards were maintained at Read’s Land-
ing, Dubuque and St. Louis. Twelve hundred men were on its payroll.

As the time approached when the pine timber would be exhausted in Wisconsin,
the company looked to other localities for investments. During the five vears
prior to 1896 it carefully selected, examined and purchased over 400,000 acres of
pine lands situated in Missouri, Arkansas and Mississippi. The comapny also
owned extensive and valuable real estate properties in St. Louis, Mo., Dubuque,
and Fort Madison, Ia. The combined sawing capacity of those mills in the late
90’s was over 750,000 feet of lumber a day, allowing 11 hours’ work for each day.
The mills in Wisconsin were cutting 650,000 feet of lumber per day. This did
not include lath and shingles. The principal lumber vards were at St. Louis,
Fort Madison, Dubuque and Cedar Falls. The lumber for all the vards located
outside of Wisconsin was rafted at the mills and run down the Red Cedar, Chippewa
and Mississippi Rivers to the points of destination.

As an indication of the cut per vear it may be cited that at a stockholders’
meeting in 1887 a proposition was brought before the meeting to limit the board of
directors in their operation of the mills in that year to a cut of 87,000,000 feet of
lumber with its proportionate cut of shingles and laths.

The annual manufacture of the company for many vears was from 80,000,000
to 90,000,000 feet of lumber and 50,000,000 shingles at the several mills at Me-
nomonie, Cedar Falls and Downsville, disposed of at its wholesale yards at various
points on the Mississippi River, in addition to an extensive car trade which the
company had been enabled to carry on with the western prairie country, through
the railroad facilities which had opened direct communications with all parts of
the nation. The number of employees on the payroll of the company averaged
about 2,000 during the last twenty years of operations. In this number were in-
cluded the employees at the various business branches in the states where the corpor-
ation carried on business.

This concern was one of the oldest lumbering institutions in the country. From
the point of view of the business transacted during the last 30 years of its existence,
it stood at the head of the list of lumber manufacturers in the United States. There
have been associations, or combinations of corporations, that have cut more timbher
in a given time, to be floated down streams or transported by railway to different
points, to be manufactured by different persons, firms and corporations, but no
single firm or corporation equaled it in the amount of lumber manufactured.

Perhaps the most significant fact in the whole history of the institution is that
while its members may have been prosperous, may have accumulated a competence,
yet at the same time hundreds of the employees have been able, through their
employment and aid, to purchase and pay for homes and purchase and improve
farms, so that there is scarcely a neighborhood in the Red Cedar and the Chippewa
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vallevs where there are not well-to-do and prosperous farmers who receivea the
first dollar that was paid on the purchase price of their homes from the Knapp,
Stout & Co. Company for services rendered. Nor is this all. It may safely be
said that no other lumbering concern in the Northwest bore so largely and yet
uncomplainingly the burdens of taxation nor paid as much into the public treasury.
During the last 35 vears of the company’s operations, it paid, as a firm and corpora-
tion over $1,500,000 in Wisconsin alone. This does not include taxes paid by
individual members nor taxes paid in other states. During the last 30 years of its
activities the company as a firm or corporation paid in taxes in the several states
where its business and prosperity has been located, more than $2,000,000.

In the days that saw the beginning of this significant venture, this section was a
wilderness covered by splendid pine forests. Civilization followed the woodman'’s
axe. The lumberman literally blazed the way for settlement and progress. The
small industry that was taken over in 1846 by Messrs. Wilson and Knapp and which
increased and flourished under the wise direction of these men and their associates
became the nucleus around which for many years all things in this vicinity centered.
From this nucleus was evolved a busy, beautiful and prosperous city. At no time
did the interest of these founders in the welfare of the settlement ever flag. Nearly
every pioneer now living includes in his biography a period when he was employed
in some capacity by the Knapp, Stout & Co. Company. The archives of this cor-
poration contain the material from which an almost complete history of Menomonie
might be written. Its pay rolls for many years contained the roster of nearly all
its bread winners. When gradually the lands were cleared and fertile farms sprang
up where the virgin forests had reared their majestic heads, the interest of these
sturdy and far-seeing founders did not cease with the passing of the era of lumbering,
but continued through that epoch when agriculture was established as the stable
and enduring foundation of the communities prosperity.

On August 12, 1896, the members of the corporation, their families and invited
cuests assembled to celebrate the semi-centennial anniversary of the beginning of
this enterprise. The exercises were held during the afternoon and evening of that
day at the residence of Senator James H. Stout. The spacious grounds had been
appropriately decorated for the occasion. and for two hours were thrown open
to the public that all might share in the notablecommemoration. A novel feature
of this observance was the presence of a band of Chippewa Indians, who had pitched
their tepees on the lawn, and as a pleasant reminder of the amicable relations
alwayvs maintained between the company and the red men in the early days, the
leader, Aleck Moose, lit a peace pipe, which was passed among the officers, each of
whom puffed heartily at the calumet. At the banquet which was spread out upon
the greensward, addresses were delivered and reminiscences recalled by members
of the company and pioneers bearing upon the long-continued and honorably
conducted activities of the corporation.

Between 1846 and the final cessation of operations in 1901 the company’s
activities continued practically unabated. The company was never formally
dissolved for the reason that its services are still occasionally needed in the clearing
of land titles and the like, but while its corporate existence still endures theo-
retically, the great enterprise like the men who made it what it was, has passed from
the field of effort, leaving a permanent monument behind it in the form of other
varied and important interests which it made possible.

In 1886 John H. Knapp, on account of failing health, declined serving longer as
president of the corporation and Henry L. Stout was elected president. Mr. Knapp
died in the autumn of 1888, and his widow and children, in the settlement of his
estate, became stockholders in the corporation. The next of the founders to depart
this life was the oldest of them all, Capt. William Wilson, who died in this city
(Menomonie) in 1892 at the age of 85 years. T. B. Wilson, his oldest son, who
gave practically his entire life to the company'’s business, having come to Menomonie
with his father in 1846, and who enjoyed before his death the distinction of being
““the oldest inhabitant’’ passed away in March, 1898. Capt. Andrew Tainter died
Oct. 18, 1899, after an active career here, which began in 1850. Henry L. Stout
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died at his home in Dubuque on July 17, 1900. It was claimed as a remarkable
coincidence that on the day of Mr. Stout’s death the rear of the last drive from
Rice Lake left that place. At about the same time, James Bracklin of Rice Lake,
head woods foreman, and one of the well known characters of the northwest, died,
the date of his passing being July 26, 1900.

Singularly enough, the lives of the founders nearly spanned the period of activity
of the big lumber company. Though the organization went on. and the mills kept
on sawing, in the course of a short time it was necessary to abandom manufacture
because of the exhaustion of the supply of material. The Cedar Falls.and Downs-
ville mills ceased work in the fall of 1900. The following year the three Menomonie
mills—the steam mill, the water mill and. the shingle mill—closed business, the
last raft being sent down the river on August 12, 1901.

The water power and franchises were sold to the Wisconsin Power Company,
which disposed of them to the Chippewa Valley Railway, Light & Power Company,
by which they are now owned and operated for the transmission of electric current
to various points. The St. Louis property was taken over by the heirs of T. B.
Wilson. The Thornton. Ark., interests were acquired by J. H. Stout, who greatly
extended them. He died Dec. 10, 1910. F. D. Stout purchased the propertics
of the company located at Leeper, Mo., Dubuque and Fort Madison, Ia., and in.
Mississippi. The land holdings in this vicinity went to various parties. The
Wisconsin Land Company purchased a large tract of Barron and Washburn County
lands.

Thus closed one of the most interesting chapters in the history of Northern
Wisconsin’s pioneer industry, the source of its greatest wealth, a chapter without
which the annals of settlement and progress in the entire northwest would be in-
complete.



CHAPTER XI
AGRICULTURE

Most of the pioneer settlers in Dunn County were attracted to this region by
the opportunities for steady employment in the lumber industry, though there
were a few, even in the early 60’s, who took homesteads and began to build up
farms. Some of these settled on prairie land in the vicinity of Colfax, and are
mentioned personally in connection with the history of that village.

With the clearing away of the timber the number of farmers increased, coming
here from various places, even as far as New England. Many of them—undoubt-
edly a majority—worked for a part of the time at lumbering, either in the woods,
on the river, or in the mills, to earn money for current expenses, for few of them had
any capital except what they gained by such labor, and there were many who settled
on lands with the idea of farming when they had not more than a dollar or two in
their pockets. In such cases they put up a hastily built shack or log hut, with a
straw-roofed barn for their cow or oxen, installed their families—if they were
married—and then went into the woods as lumberjacks, which they remained for
years, improving their farms as they found opportunity.

It took hardy men, and women, too, to endure the hardships of such an existence,
and there were few others who tried it. The labor of tree-felling, grubbing, or
extracting the stumps of the cut timber, breaking the soil, and building houses and
barns, in places remote from any depot of supplies, and sometimes far from even
the roughest kind of a road, was not such as to attract the soft-handed or pleasure-
loving habitant of the cities, accustomed to the conveniences of civilization. It
was work that took strong hands and a stout heart, endowed with a plentiful
stock of patience and endurance, and it was by such men—lumberjacks and farmers
that the foundations of Dunn County’s wealth and prosperity were laid.

Dunn County has evolved agriculturally into one of the richest areas in Northern
Wisconsin.  Dairying is the branch of farming that is now most favored, and a
tour through the districts contiguous to Menomonie, as well as in many other parts
of the county, invariably surprises the traveler by the character of the farm houses
which it reveals. According to recent figures the equalized property valuation in
Dunn County is over $51,000,000, the greater part of which is on the farms that have
Menomonie as their trading center. Other available figures show the value of the
dairy products shipped from Dunn County to be 85,100,000 for one year. Wiscon-
sin is known as the greatest dairy state in the Union, and Dunn County ranks fourth
among the 71 counties in the state in the output of butter, which in one year from
the 18 creameries now operating amounted to 8,000,000 pounds, valued at $4,-
000,000. Each of these creameries contributed its share to the reputation Wis-
consin butter enjovs for quality throughout the world.

The combined output of the three creameries located in and near Menomonie,
namely, those operated by the New Hudson Road, Rusk ,and Downsville co-opera-
tive creameries last year (1924) reached the enormous amount of 5,000,000 pounds
of butter. The cash receipts of these same plants for the year amounted in round
numbers to $2,500,000.

Dunn County has seven cheese factories also, making approximately 1,000,000
pounds of cheese annually. The increase in the number of fine dairy cows has
accounted for the banner years in production, there being 45,100 dairy cows in the
county, 20,000 cows have had “C. T. A.” records.

Much of this progress must be credited to The Dunn County School of Agricul-
ture and Domestic Economy, which for the last 23 years or more has been a potent
influence in educating the farmers and inducing them to adopt scientific methods.

Many farmers are interested in the raising of pure bred cattle, the breeds most
favored being the Holstein-Friesian, Guernsey, Jersey, Ayrshire, Shorthorn, Here-
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ford and Brown Swiss. There are three countv dairy breeders’ associations—
Holstein, Guernsey and Jersey. The high quality and high production of the dairy
cows of Dunn County has been demonstrated at the National Dairy Show. Cows
from Dunn County won first in the grade Guernsev class of the Cow Testing
Association work. In calf club work Dunn County made among the largest number
of winning points. The county also ranks first in the number of silos and first in
corn production among the ten counties in Western Wisconsin. It is also first in
potato production. It ranks among the first in the northern part of the state in
the amount of hogs and corn and corn products. Due to the splendid climate,
warm soil, and favorable weather conditions, corn grows, matures, and vields much
better than in some of the counties farther to the east and south. Because of the
abundant growth of corn many hogs are produced, the leading breeds of which are
the Duroc-Jersey, Poland-China, Chester-White, Berkshire and Hampshire. Sheep
do very well in the vicinity of Menomonie, as the soils are well drained and afford
good grazing. Shropshire, Southdown, Hampshireand Oxfordsare the leadi ngbreeds.

While there has been a constant and consistent rise in the value of farm land
abcnt Menomonie, the community is fortunate in that it has ~vperienced no artificial
inflation such as has characterized in some sections the period following the war.
Consequently the lands are not over-encumbered and there is room ahead for a
healthy development without a set-back. Official records show that Dunn County
has surpassed in material progress the average county of the state. This is proved
by the actual value of the land, which in 1911 was $34.25 an acre, in 1921, $92.50
per acre. In 1921 the average for the state was $83.C0 an acre.

Fifty carloads of lime were spread on the soil in 1924. And over 1,000 acres
of alfalfa were sown. In the winter and spring of 1925 there were 100 cars of lime-
stone spread on the soil and over 2,000 acres.of alfalfa sown.

With respect to the acres in cultivated crops, land area and number of farms,
according to theagricultural statistics for the vears 1922 and 1923, Dunn County
ranks second among the ten counties of the West District (Buffalo, Dunn, Eau
Claire, Jackson, La Crosse, Monrce, Pepin, Pierce, St. Croix and Trempealeau),
being exceeded only by St. Croix County. The total crop aereage in Dunn County
was 204,507 acres; approximate land area, 556,160; the land in farms, 490,044:
the number of farms (1923), 3,543; the number of farms owned and managed,
(1919 census), 3,126; number of farms rented (1919 census), 440.

Of the above mentioned counties in the West District, Dunn County stcod
highest in total corn production, the amount being 1,199,750 bushels. It had the
largest area in corn, namely, 52.625 acres, but was slightly exceeded by four counties
in the yield per acre. It stood highest, however, in the farm value of the product,
$1.599,800. The acreage of corn for grain (1923), 28,367 acres—ivas the highest
in the West District, as also was the procuction, 1,077,946 bushels. With respect
to corn for silage, the yield per acre was 7.5 tons. The silage and fodder acreage
of the county was 24,258; the number of silos, 1,942, increase of 189 over the previ-
ous vear (1922).

In the same year, 1923, Dunn County devoted 63,400 acres to the raising of oats,
producing 1,902,000 bushels, with a farm value of $817,860. The vield per acre
was 30 bushels, not a high average as compared with tl.e other counties of the West
District, all of which exceeded that figure.

The amount of land sown to barley was 11,243 acres, with a vield of 30 bushels
to the acre, or a total of 337,290 bushels, having a farm value of $205,747. In this
crop the county ranked among the first as to vield per acre.

The statistics for rye for the same year show as follows: number of acres sown,
6,711; bushels produced, 100,665; farm value. $65,432.

Spring Wheat—Number of acres sown, 2,311; production, 41,598 vield per acre,
18 bushels; farm value, $40,766.

Winter wheat—Number of acres sown, 838; production, 13,408: vield per acre,
16 bushels; farm value, $13,140.

Buckwheat—Number of acres sown, 1.762: production, 24,668 bushels; vield
per acre, 14 bushels; farm value, $21,594.
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Clover seed (1922)—Number of acres sown, 4,686; production, 7.029 bushels;
vield per acre, 1.5 bushels: farm value. $71,696.

Clover and timothy hay (1923)—Number of acres, 56,578; production, 67,894
tons; vield per acre, 1.2 tons; farm value, $936,937.

Alfalfa (1923)—Number of acres, 362; production, 941 tons; yield per acre,
2.6 tons; farm value, $20,937.

Other tame hay—Number of acres. 2,380; production, 3,094 tons; vield per
acre, 1.3 tons; farm value, $35,581.

Wild hay—Number of acres, 6,417; production, 8,342 tons; vield per acre,
1.3 tons; farm value, $83.420. ’

Potatoes—Number of acres, 4,929; production, 374,604 bushels: vield per acre,
76 bushels; farm value, $146,095. In this crop Dunn County stands at the head
of all the counties in the West District, though the figures are small compared
with those for the year 1922, which were as follows: Number of acres sown,
7,043 ; production, 802,902 bushels; yield per acre, 114 bushels; farm value, $216,783.
The decrease was due to low price of potatoes.

Tobacco (1923)—Number of acres, 504; production, 622,680 pounds; yield per
acre, 1,235 pounds; farm value, $68,049. This was an increase in the acreage over
1922 (434 acres) but a somewhat smaller production, which in that yvear was 1,260
pounds.

Cabbage— Number of acres, 356; production, 2,492 tons; farm value, $24,621.

Peas for canning—Number of acres, 220; production, 3,916 cwt.; farm value,
$11,230.

. Dry edible beans—Number of acres, 411 ; production, 3,699 bushels; farm value,
81,336. Only 2 acres were sown to sugar beets, 74 acres to flax, and 285 acres to
soy beans.

The number of tractors in Dunn County in 1923 was 396.

In 1924 (January 1) the number of dairy cows and heifers of one year old and
over in Dunn County was 45,100, with a total farm value of $2,300,100, or farm
price per head, §51.

Number of all cattle on farms (Jan. 1, 1924) was 66,500, valued at $2,749,500,
or 841.35 per head. :

The number of horses and mules was 13,900, with a farm value of 81,223,200,
or S88 per head.

The number of swine was 48,000, with a farm value of $465,600, or $9.70 per
head. '

The number of sheep was 8,300, with a farm value of $70,550, or $8.50 per head.

The total land area of Dunn County is 556,160 acres. The following figures
present a summary of the general increase in agricultural values for the period
between 1900 and 1920:

Number of farms: In 1900 there were 3,221 farms in the county; in 1910 there
were 3,297, and in 1920 there were 3,566.

Improved land in farms: 1900, 218,067 acres; 1910, 245,142 acres; 1920,
265.693 acres.

Value of all farm property: 1900, $8,748,003; 1910, $20,913,419; 1920, $50,-
732,758.

How divided: Land, 1900, 85,255,710; 1910, $12,985,549; 1920, $30,228,423.
Farm buildings: 1900, $1,726,950; 1910, $4,356,001; 1920, $11,154,746.

Implements and machinery: 1900, $417,200; 1910, $937,317: 1920, 83,348,312.
Live stock on farms: 1900, $1,348,143; 1910, $2,643,552; 1920, $6,001,277.



CHAPTER XII
THREE DUNN COUNTY INSTITUTIONS

Agricultural Society and Fair—A society called the Dunn County Agricultural
Society was started in 1872 and a single fair was held, after which operations were
suspended for a time owing to the difficulty of transportation.

On June 19, 1883, a new Dunn County Agricultural Society was organized at
a meeting held in the courthouse, when 44 farmers signed the constitution. George
Gallaway called the meeting to order, and the officers elected were: William Millar,
president ; Theodore Louis, L. D. Brown and John H. McGilton, Sr., vice presidents;
H. W. Reed, secretaryv, and Samuel Black, treasurer. No fair was held the first
vear, but in that year the county board was induced to appropriate $3,500 for the
purchase of 50 acres of land east of the -ty for a fair ground. The first fair was
held in 1886, when the gate receipts were $965.62.

Since then fairs have been given annually except during the war years of 1916,
1917 and 1918. But while this gap appears in the annuals of the fair, each succeed-
ing exhibition from the beginning has been an advance over its predecessor. '1he
aim has been to make a show worth while to the people—a fair of real educational
value. Thus the amount put into the plant and into premiums has increased
with the increase of receipts. The purpose has not been to make a profit but to
create an enterprise of the highest service, bearing in mind that prudence requires a
margin of safety for continuance of the life of the institution and as provision against
the rainy day.

For the last five vears the society has been on a stock basis; its indebtedness has
been cleared up, improvements have been made on the grounds, and its finances are
in a prosperous condition. The policy of the county board toward the fair has been
liberal and, in short, the fair is in a better position than ever to serve the public.
In 1924 a new grand stand was erected that will seat 3,000 people, 2,000 of the
seats being covered by a roof. Along the front end of the stand there are several
box sections with a capacity of six to each section.

The following statistics illustrate the growth of the fair. Gate receipts—1886,
§975.62; 1923, $8,802. Grand stand receipts—1886, $67.15; 1923, $1,348.50.
Amount of premiums—1886, $349.50; 1923, 85.690.

A good idea of the present activities and financial status of the institution may be
obtained from the annual report of the society for 1924, the fair being held that
year from September 16 to 19 inclusive, which contains the following items:

Receipts—From the state since last report, $4,345.37; from Appropriations—
Aid, $2,500.00; from subscriptions or gifts, $67.50; from loans, $13,500.00; from
memberships, $20.00; {:om ga*c receipts, $8,274.25; from grand stand and bleachers,
$2,823.25; from entries—speed, $265.00; from space and privileges, $1,875.22;
from stall and pen fees, $370.80; from advertisements, $393.00; cash on hand at
date of last report, $5.12; total 834,439.51.

Disbursements—Total premiums actually paid, 85,486.50; for ribbons and ban-
ners, $315.70; for repayment loans and interest, $8,190.03; for plant and equipment,
$9,578.83; for officers’ salaries, 8274.00; for purses—speed department, $2,352.70;
for special acts and features, 84,088.82; for advertising and publicity, 8337.30; for
printing and supplies, $816.74; for judges and superintendents, $474.71; for police,
gate and other help $1,085.14; for insurance, $453.51; for water, light and power,
$210.88; for hay and forage, $398.85; general expense, $361.24; cash on hand, $12.56;
total, $34,439.51.

Assets—Value of grounds owned, $5,000.00; value of buildings owned, $31,-
076.03; cash, 812.56.

Liabilities—Capital stock outstanding, $1,810.00; bonds or mortgage loans,
$5,000.00; notes pavable, $1,550.00.
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In addition to the competition in exhibits of various kinds of stock there were
running races for Dunn County horses, and a number of special features, as a bread
contest, a school display, a flving circus consisting of an aeroplane and a corps of
acrobats performing daring feats on the wing of the plane, a carnival on the pike,
a teachers’ meeting, American Legion dances, and a great fireworks spectacle—the
Dunn County historical pageant.

The following is a list of the successive presidents and secretaries of the society
from the beginning, the presidents’ names being places first in each vear:

1885 to 1887 (inclusive)—William Millar, H. W. Reed; 1888—A_ C. Sherburn,
H. W. Reed; 1889—-William Millar, H. W. Reed; 1890—Geo. H. Seely, John N.
McGilton; 1891—A. R. Hall, O. W. Massee: 1892--Geo. Gallaway, O. W. Massee;
1893—F. J. Golden, O. W. Massee; 1895—Paul C. Wilson, Geo. Gallaway; 1896 to
1897—Henry Millar, Geo. Galloway; 1898—F. A. Vasey, Geo. Gallaway; 1899—
F. A. Vasey, R. W. Cronk; 1900—]. B. Chickering, R W. Cronk; 1901 to 1905
(inclusive)—]. B. Chickering, Geo. Gallaway; 1906 and 1907—S. W. Jackson,
N. J. McArthur; 1908—S. W. Jackson, J. D. Millar; 1909 to 1915—Paul C. Wilson,
J. D. Millar; 1916 to 1918 (inclusive)—no fair; 1919 to 1924 (inclusive)—Frank
Pierce, J. D. Millar.

The Dunn County Asylum for the Chronic Insane is an institution of which the
county may well be proud. The Dunn County News, in its Semi-Centennial
Edition in 1910 said in regard to it: ‘‘Humanity and economy—tender considera-
tion, enlightened methods of treatment and efficient business management—these
are the cardinal characteristics which have made the Dunn County Asylum for the
Chronic Insane a source of relief for hundreds of unfortunates and a means of profit
to the tax payers of the county. They are a combination of qualities in public
service rarely found developed in so high a degree, and have placed the local institu-
tion well to the forefront among those of its kind in the United States.”’

The primary object of the institution is not to make money but—to quote the
words of a former trustee—'‘to providegd comfortable wholesome home where the
unfortunate charges placed in our care may be made happy,” and this object has
been well attained. :

It has required careful and efficient management, but more than ordinary
foresight was displayed when the plan was conceived hy the authorities in control
of the government some 335 vears ago. At the session of the county board of 1890,
a special committee appointed the year before, consisting of A. R. Hall, H. D.
Ransier and George Gallaway, reported that it would be advisable to build a county
asylum, and recommended that a building commission of three be appointed.
At that time there were 20 county asvlums in the state; and Dunn County was
supporting 49 patients in various hospitals. The expense of this burden amounted
to §4,000 annually to the county, and a like amount to the state. It was urged that
at least 200 acres of land be procured near the existing poor farm for an institution
that would enable Dunn County to properly care for this class of indigents, and at
the same time save money to the county.

On Feb. 10, 1891, at an adjourned meeting of the board, a special committee,
consisting of A. R. Hall, William Miller, J. H. Stout and R. J. Flint, made a report.
They found that the present system of keeping the chronic insane in county asylums
was inaugurated in this state in 1881, the rate for maintenance per patient being
fixed at 83 per week. As an encouragement for counties to try the new system,
the state agreed to pay $1.50 for the local support of each patient. Each county
providing a suitable asylum would receive $1.50 per head for supporting its own
insane, and 83 per week for supporting the insane of other counties. In November,
1881, the State Board of Charities and Reform certified five counties to the secretary
of state as having availed themselves of this inducement, and the system had been
found a success from the start.

The committee visited the asylums in Dodge, Jefferson, Iowa, Dane, Outagamie
and Racine counties, and they found that the best results were obtained in a building
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large enough to accommodate 100 inmates, with a central building and two wings.
The open door plan was urged, which means that the patients are given a minimum
of restraint. This was the system adopted and which has proved to be one making
for the comfort and contentment of the afflicted, leading in many cases to their
complete recovery. One of the chief benefits of the plan, and which was dwelt
upon by the committee, is that it furnishes inmates with, emplovment and keeps
their minds occupied in a wholesome manner. The committee showed that the
system had an average cost per capita in the existing asvlums in 1888, running from
81.25 in Winnebago County to $2.63 in Shebovgan. They were all self-supporting
and all had paid for their buildings. Architect John Charles of Mineral Point had
made estimates showing the total cost of the buildings to be $60,0€0, which, with
the initial investment in land, would bring the original investment up to $65,000.

An appropriation for this amount was reccmmended, the general government
of the institution to be placed in the hands of a board of three trustees, each to be
elected by the county board for three years. The trustees were to elect a superin-
tendent and a physician. Resolutions were unaminously adopted for the purchase
of a site, for an anpropriation and the appointment of a building commission. Tt
was stipulated that the asylum was to be completed by Dec. 1, 1891, and a com-
mittee of four members of the county board was to act with the building commission.
The chair appointed as a commission J. H. Stout, A« R. Hall and William Miller,
and as the committee to act with the commission E. C. Jacobs, J. K. Heller, A. C.
Sherburn and E. H. Drake. At the annual session of the board in 1892, the building
commission reported that it had finished its labors Feb. 8. 1892, and turned over the
buildings ready for occupancy to the trustees. The whole amount expended was
864,703.77, leaving a balance in the fund of §296.23. The first patient was received
on Feb. 10, 1892,

The first board of trustees consisted of J. H. Stout, A. R. Hall and William H.
Smith. Their first report, submitted in the fall of 1892, showed the institution
to have been a success frcm the start. The gain shown in that report. covering a
period from Feb. 9, 1892 to October 1 of the same vear was $5,147.88. The number
of patients received during that time was 111, there remaining in the institution
Sept. 30, 1892, 90, of whom 48 were Dunn County charges. By 1905 the indebted-
ness to the state was discharged.

The institutionhasalways been self-supporting, so that no county tax nor appro-
priation has ever been needed to meet a deficit in its finances. The building covers
considerable ground and consists of a basement, first and second floors, and an attic,
The portion occupied by the patients is divided into four wards. each containing
seven sleeping-rooms, and there are four dav rocms. In addition there is a cottage
containing three rooms. The normal capacity of the asvlum is 117 patients, but
two or three more can be cared for when necessarv. The average number ap-
proaches close to the normal capacity. The main kitchen is on the first floor and
there is an auxilliary one in the basement. The buildings have been improved from
time to time, chiefly through interior changes or adaptations. and no expense has
been spared to keep them up-to-date and make them thoroughly commodious and
serviceable for their purpose.

Each year one of the trustees retires. his place being taken by one newly elected.
The official indoor staff of the institution consists of a superintendent, matron, four
day attendants and two night attendants. There is no resident phyvsician, but the
asylum is visited twice a week, or oftener if necessary. by a phyvsician from Me-
nomonie, who is a member of the statl. The medical attendant for the last 25 vears
has been Dr. N. L. Howison.

It should be noted that the asylum is located two miles east of Menomonie,
in the town of Red Cedar, and a shert distance farther east on the same road,
(State Highway No. 12), is the Poor Farm. the two institutions heing under the
same management, which arrangement has prevailed since the asvlum was built.
The amount of land originally ircluded in the property has since been increased to
1010 acres. on which farming and dairving is carried on for the benefit of the institu-
tion, three men being en:ricyved on the farm.  These men are assisted in summer by
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some of the more trustworthy patients. in accordance with the plan originally
conceived of giving the latter healthful occupation tending to direct their minds into
normal channels. In this, so far as may be. the patients’ individual inclinations
are consulted, some liking to care for horses or cattle, while others prefer field or
garden work.

As more farm products are raised than can be used by the institution, the very
considerable surplus is marketed, the receipts from this source proving an improtant
item in its resources. These products include not only the ordinary farm crops but
also a considerable quantity of milk and cream.

The water supply of the institution is obtained from two wells on the premises,
each with a depth of 400 feet, and a resevoir on Bullard hill having a capacity of
3,000 barrels. The water is pumped into the resevoir from the wells by electric
power derived from the power line which supplies the city, and which also supplies
the current for the electric lighting system.

The report of the trustees for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1924, and signed
by the superintendent and matron contains the following statements:

“During the past year the usual amount of general repair work, and some per-
manent improvements, have been made. The new building used for a pump house
and garage has been completed since our last report. This building houses the new
deep well pump, and the 500-barrel storage tank was a necessary addition to the
water svstem. The old ice house is in poor condition and has been condemned by
the State Board of Control, and the institution is now quite in need of a more modern
and up-to-date cold storage to take its place. A new and modern building for this
purpose, equipped with an ice-machine and storage rooms for vegetables and fruits,
meats and dairy products, and a work room where these commodities can be
handled. would be most desirable.” The report of the attending physician showed
the general health of the patients to have been very good, but few sick, and six
deaths due to old age and chronic diseases.

The balance sheet of the institution for the yvear ending June 30, 19253, showed
the proprietary interest of Dunn County therein to amount to $232,210.99, this
including the value of all properties, the available balance charged to the county
treasurer, and accounts receivable. The total expenses of operation for the vear
were 837.237.08. The operation of the farm and garden showed a net profit of
$4,412.43.

The board of trustees (April 1, 1925) consists of the following members: Geo.
R. Topliss of Eau Galle, president; Edward S. Roach of Colfax, vice president; and
C. K. Averill of Menomonie, secretary. T. H. Moore has been superintendent
since April. 1912, and Mrs. D. C. Moore, matron. H. O. Geopfarth is bookkeeper.

The Dunn County Home and Poor Farm are situated just east of Bullard Hill,
and adjacent to the Asvlum grounds, the land pertaining to it being included in the
1010 acres mentioned in connection with the Asylum. The two buildings are not
more than half a mile apart, but the Poor House is the older building. It is very
much smaller than the Asylum and is a red brick structure of two stories and base-
ment, having accommodations for 23 inmates. This institution also is equipped
with all modern conveniences. It is heated by two furnaces located in the base-
ment; the electric current for lighting, etc., is supplied from the city, and the water
supply is derived from the Asylum plant on Bullard Hill. Since the Asylum was
built the two institutions have been under the same management. At the present
time (April 1. 1923) the Home has 12 inmates who are being cared for by the county.
The report of the trustees for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1924, showed the cost
of maintenance for the vear to have been 82,696.21. There was in the Poor fund
the sum of §1,351.47, and there was due from county, towns and villages the sum of
82,665.00. The inventory of farm products, live stock, and other property per-
taining to the farm amounted to the total value of 81,438.00; accounts receivable,
§2,665.00; receipts, S3,740.69; disbursements, $2,396.21; total assets, $23,135.41.



CHAPTER XIII
THE COUNTY SCHOOL SYSTEM

With respect to the early rural schools in Dunn County few records have been
preserved; perhaps because there was little to record in regard to them. Though
not insensible to the benefits of education, the pioneers were engaged in too hard a
struggle for existence, and had too little means, to be able to devote much money
for school purposes. Schools were started here and there, however, where there
was a sufficient population to support them, and teachers were engaged for a small
recompense. Many of them had received no special training for that work, but
as they were expected to instruct the pupils in little more than the three most ele-
mentary branches of education—reading, writing and arithmetic—their duties were
not pticularly hard. Perhaps their greatest troubles lay in the management of
unruly children and in the primitive accommodations with which they had to put
up.
The first county schoo! superintendent was Seriah Stevens, who took office in
1855, and apparently served ten vears, as the next countv superintendent men-
tioned was A. J. Messenger, who entered upon his duties in 1865. In 1839 the
county board of supervisors appropriated a total of $144.96 for educational pur-
poses, which was distributed among the five towns then composing the county as
follows: Menomonie, $19.20; Eau Galle, $17.92; Rock Creek, $27.84; Spring
Brook, $44.48: and Dunn, $35.52.

In the following vear, 1860—in which there were six towns, Peru having been
set off from Rock Creek—the total apportionment was $169.00.

A. J. Messenger was succeeded as county superintendent by Carol Lucas, who
served in 1866-67. By this time, if not before, the schools of Dunn County vere
receiving state aid, as the county board records in November, 1867, mention the sum
of 8§959.27 as *‘State school money from state paid the several towns.”

The successive county superintendents up to 1892 (after the two already
mentioned) were: T. C. Golden, 1868-69; Carroll Lucas (second term). 1870-71;
W. S. Johnson, 1872-73; George Tonnar, 1874; George Schaffer, 1873-79; Florence
Ticknor, 1880-81; A. B. Finley, 1882-84; Maryv B. Slyle, 1885-86; J. C. Sherwin,
1887-88; H. W. Reed, 1889:90; J. E. Florin, 1891-92. (For later superintendents
see chapter V).

With the meager records that have been found for these early vears, it is impos-
sible to give a detailed account of the growth and development of the educational
system of the county. The tax apportionments from vear to vear show a steady
increase, and for the yvear 1900 there is a record to the effect ““ That there be levied
for school purposes a county school tax of §10,800.7%, to be the same as the amount
apportioned to the several towns and Menomonie City by the state superintendent
for the year 1900.” As the amount set apart for Menomonie City was $2,519.17,
the apportionment for the rest of the county was $8,413.60.

From the year 1912 down to the present more definite information is available.
In that year the county was divided into 133 school districts, with 135 schools,
in which 163 teachers were employed. Of these schools 122 were one-room district
schools; two were two-room district schools; three were second-class state graded
schools; six were first-class state graded. and two were free high schools. Colfax
and Downing had high schools, that at Downing having been organized at the be-
ginning of the year. In the same year five teachers’ institutes were held at as many
different places in the county, and one school board meeting was held in the city of
Menomonie. The total expenses of the office of county superintendent of schools
(not including the superintendent’s salary) were $763.41, which had been previously
paid out of the general fund. In the following vear, 1913, a sum of $2,532 was set
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apart (to be raised by taxation) to defray the expense and salary of the superin-
tendent of schools. The county school tax. aside from this, was $24,846.96.

The annual report of the county superintendent of schools to the county board
of education for the school year ending June 30, 1914, showed that there were then
in the county 134 school districts and 136 schoolhouses, in which 170 teachers were
employed. One new building had been erected during the vear and a number of
schoolhouses had been remodeled. Of the teachers, 11 were men and 159 women.
There were 7,476 children of school age in the county, 5,222 of whom were enrolled
in the public schools and 384 in the parochial schools. The high schools (outside
Menomonie) had 14 graduates. The average daily attendance in all the schools in
the county (outside the city of Menomonie) for the vear ending June 30, 1914,
was 3,398. The average yearly salary of teachers was: Rural—male, $337.03:
female, $332.88. State Graded——male, $615.37; female, 8528.83. High Schools
and Grades below—male, $833.67; female, $397.91. The total cost of maintaining
all the schools in the county (outside of the city of Menomonie) was $105,592.95.
One-day teachers’ institutes were held in each of the following places: Eau Galle,
Knapp, Elk Mound, Wheeler, Boyceville, Downing, Colfax, Downsville and Ridge-
land. A two day institute conducted by F. S. Hyer of the Stevens Point Normal
School was held in Menomonie.

The state Graded Schools were those at Boyceville, Cedar Falls, Downsville,
Elk Mound, Eau Galle, Knapp, Ridgeland, Weston and Wheeler. The High
Schools were those at Colfax and Downing. The report (containing other items
not here included) was signed by Dona A. Taylor, county superintendent.

The report of County Superintendent Dona A. Taylor for the school vear ending
June 30, 1915, showed that most of the school buildings had been improved during
the previous summer. There was an additional school district and schoolhouse,
anc 169 teachers had been employed—one less than in the previous school year.
Tk average daily attendance was 3,410. There was an increased interest in pen-
manship, with better results shown in the pupils’ work. The last legislature having
passed a law providing for the appointment of a supervising teacher in each county,
Dunn County had obtained the services of Miss Theresa A. Leinenkugel, who for
six years had been county superintendent in Eau Claire County. There were six
graduates from the high schools.

Mr. Taylor was connty superintendent also for the year ending June 30, 1916.
His report for that year showed 30 graduates from the high schools, a large increase
over the two or more previous years. The cost of maintenance was $108,381.22.
Two children’s Reading Circles had been formed, one at Sand Creek and the other in
the Knapp Settlement School.

Dona A. Taylor was succeeded as county superintendent by Theresa A. Leinen-
kugel, the previous supervising teacher, and her report for the vear ending June 30,
1917, showed the number of children of school age in Dunn County (outside the
city of Menomonie) to be 7,567, of which 5,185 were enrolled in the public schools.
There were 171 teachers, of whom 16 were men and 155 women. The total cost
of maintenance (outside the city of Menomonie) was $112,785.90. In August, 1917,
a Teachers’ Institute was held for a week, and on September 15, the same vear, a
State Graded Teachers’ Meeting was held in the assembly room of the Dunn County
Normal School—the first of its kind ever held in Dunn County. Reading Circle
work was progressing rapidly in the county. Miss Anna Ryss, formerly of River
Falls State Normal School, was appointed supervising teacher.

Miss Leinenkugel’s report for the year ending June 30, 1918, mentioned the
formation of a new school district (No. 4 in the town of Sand Creek) and building
of a schoolhouse there; also the construction of a schoolhouse in District No. 2 in
the same town. There was a somewhat smaller enrollment this year, namely,
4,664. There were 174 teachers, and the cost of maintenance was $154,338.66.
‘Teachers’ meetings were held in all the larger villages, and a five day Institute was
held in Menomonie, August 12 to 16 inclusive. The report mentioned the sale of
thrift stamps and war savings stamps by the children,.beginning in December, 1917;
also the organization of War Savings Societies. Since the beginning of the war
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much more work had been expected of the teachers, and also from the county
superintendent, due to the fact that the public schools had been used as a medium
by which information had been called for by the governement. This additional
work included taking a census of the cattle and hogs and the organization of calf,
pig, sheep and canning clubs.

Earl L. Edes, the present county superintendent, assumed the duties of that
office as successor to Miss Leinenkugel, and his report for the year ending June 30,
1919, mentioned a four-page paper called ‘“ Dunn County Schools,” issued by the
principal of the Training School and the county superintendent semi-monthly,
which was proving a help to the teachers, giving them valuable suggestions. Owing
to the prevalence of influenza only two Teachers’ Meetings were held, though in
August a five day Teachers’ Institute was held in Menomonie.

Mr. Edes’ report for the following year—that ending June 30, 1920—showed that
three new school buildings were under construction, and that extensive repairs were
being made in several others. The general movement for school consolidation was
acquiring impetus, and in June the first consolidated school in Dunn County was
organized at Elk Mound, the new district including the Elk Mound Graded School,
the Hanson School, the Transport School and .iie Banner School. Plans were under
way for the erection of a new building to house the seven departments. For a more
detailed account and description of this school the reader is referred to the history
of the village of Elk Mound. The second consolidated school was organized at
Rusk by combining the Rusk School, the Beyer Settlement School and the Lyndale
School, but it was decided for the present to continue holding school in the three
district schoolhouses. Nine days in the school year were devoted to Institute work.

In his report for the next school year, ending June 30, 1921, the county superin-
tendent referred to a shortage of qualified teachers, which had made it necessary to
1ssue some special third grade certificates and five special permits; in regard to the
general undesirability of such proceeding he made some pertinent remarks. Some
of the districts were remodeling their schoolhouses by putting in basements, in-
stalling modern heating, ventilating systems, and electric lighting svstems. The
total enrollment of children was 4,704 ; the total number of teachers, 177. Reference
was made to community work, which was beginning to attract a good deal of atten-
tion throughout the state, and the organization of school societies was commended,
with suggestions as to programs.

Mr. Edes’ report for the vear ending June 30, 1922, contained a list of books
recommended for Teachers’ Reading Circle work, which by this time was well
organized, each teacher beingrequired to read and study three such booksduring the
vear. The YoungUPeoples’ Reading Circle work had also been improved. A number
of text books were recommended for use in the ruraland graded schools of the county.

The rural schools now number 128, of which 40 are joint district schools. The
state graded schools are six in number—by name those of Downsville, Eau Galle,
Wheeler, Knapp, Cedar Falls and Ridgeland. The high schools are at Colfax,
Downing, Elk Mound and Boyceville. The above enumeration refers, of course,
to the schools under jurisdiction, excluding the Menomonie City schools.

The work of the present county superintendent has been of a marked progressive
character, with a strong tendency toward more perfect organization. Its main
features deserve special mention. .

One of his chief aims has been to systemize and coordinate the work of the
rural schools, which up to six years ago, was lacking in such coordination, each school
pursuing its own studies largely at the discretion of the teacher as to the time
devoted to the different subjects, without reference to what was being done in the
other schools. This lack of uniformity led to much unevenness in the results at-
tained, and occasionally to deficiencies in certain studies on the part of the pupils
of one school as compared with those of another. The new system has obviated
this, and now the pupils in the rural schools all over the county not only spend the
same amount of time daily on each study, but also pursue that particular study
all at the same time, except in a few cases where special modifications of the rule
have been found necessary. :
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Mr. Edes has also thcught cut and intrecuced certain activities and custcms
calculated to increase tie interest of pupils, teachers, and rarents in the work done,
through the influence of competitive effort, which finds its manifestation in local
and other exhibitions—a plan that has proved its value by raising the average of
scholarship throughout the county. For a number of vears previously there had
been scme small school exhibits at the annual county fair, but the work is now better
systematized and more far-reaching.

This competitive exhibition work begins in the rural schools the pupils in each
being encouraged to use their best efforts. The. best examples are then selected
from each school for exhibition in a ccmmunity fair, of which 16 will be held this
spring, each in a different community in Dunn County, and those winning prizes,
or favorable mentions, are reserved for exhibition in Mencmonie at the time of the
graduation exercises of the eighth grade in the city schools, occurring usually early
in June. The winners in the city exhibition are accorded the honor of having their
work exhibited in the annual state fair held in Milwaukee. Thus, the interest of
the children in their studies and related work is greatly and healthfully stimulated,
and there are few who will not strive their best to win the approbation of their
teachers, parents, and other judges, and perhaps have their efforts praised by the
general public of their own and other localities.

The system not only includes examples of work in the ordinary studies suitable
to such representation where the presence of the pupil is not required, but also
takes in literary and musical contests and athletics. Each school decides for itself,
with respect to the literary and musical contests, what kind of selection it can best
give; the local winner then competes in the ccmmunity contests, and the winner
there competes at the county fair, the * Fair” contest being held in the evening. At
the fair, also, races and other forms of competitive exercise, have been introduced
recently for the older people to take part in, the spirit of friendly emulation existing
among the children, being thus extended to the parents and others.

For these Fair comgetitions a special building was erected in September, 1924
on the pattern of a modern rural school, the ground plan measuring 34 x 34 feet,
not counting the entrance portion of 10 x 16 feet. It has a basement, in which are

in which the pupils’ work is exhibited. Some of the material for this building was
donated by business firms, both in and out of the city, the county board also making
an appropriation, and the balance of the cost being raised by the schools through
entertainments of one kind or another.

Another practice has been introduced by Mr. Edes with the view of increasing
the efficiency of the teachers, and which has been carried on for the last three years.
A group of teachers—usually some 12 or 15, accompanied by the superintendent,
or one of the two supervising teachers—will pay a visit to some selected rural school
during school session and observe the work of the teacher in charge. Then after
the pupils are dismissed a general discussion is held, helpful suggestions being often
made by which all present may profit.

Parent-teachers’ organizations have also been formed in some ccmmunities,
at which talks are made for the purpose of advancing community work, especially
in regard to the schools, and to bring the teachers and parents of the children into

ccmmon aim.

All these activities are in accordance with the most modern methods of educa-
tional work, and present a striking and happy contrast with those in use in pioneer
days when the rod was regarded by most teachers, and many parents, as the most
effective means of stimulating scholastic effort on the part of the pupils. It was
a method in use for many centuries in practically all countries, for a proverb that
has been deciphered from the monuments of ancient Egypt reads: “The ears of a
child are on his back,” and classical literature reveals that the same stimulus was
used by schoolmasters in Greece and Rome. The temptation to play truant under
such circumstances was but natural. Modern society, in this country at least, is
to be congratulated on its more humane methods, which make the path of learning
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easy and pleasant to all but the most stupid or lazy pupils, of whom today there are
comparatively few.

The educational exhibits at the county fair are not confined to the rural schools
but include also the pupils in high schools outside the city of Menomonie, pupils
of the ninth and tenth grades in graded schools and students of the Dunn County
Agricultural School and Dunn County Rural Normal School. It is also open to
teachers of Dunn County. Premiums are given for the best exhibits in the different
classes. In Class A, for grades 1, 2, 3 and 4, the exhibits for the best specimens of
which premiums were offered were (in 1924): Mounted display of freehand paper
cutting, page of writing, poster, illustrated booklet, illustrated story or poem,
illustrated alphabet, exhibit by any individual of not more than three articles not
included under any other entry in this class.

In Class B, for grades 3, 6, 7 and 8: product map of any continent, product map
of Wisconsin, three drawings, either in ink, pencil or crayon, mounted display of
four letters received from pupils in other parts of the United States or other coun-
tries, four physiology drawings, page of writing, collection of six wild flowers pressed,
mounted or named ; riap of t". : United States showing territorial growth since 1783;
booklet showing mounted pictures of principal breeds of cattle, hogs, horses and
sheep; school district map showing schoolhouse, roads, silos, breeders of pure bred
stock, and pure seed farms; and best exhibit by an individual of not more than three
articles not included under any other entry in this class.

Class C is open to all pupils of the first eight grades, and the exhibits, briefly
stated, were: Map of the pupil’s congressional district. bird chart, map of Wisconsin
showing institutions, map of Dunn County, original poem, kodak views, model of
log cabin, bird house, poster showing the development in methods of travel frém
early times to the present, poster showing changes in the means of communication
from early times up to the present, poster illustrating the effects of invention upon
the life of the housewife, and a booklet illustrating a selection studied in reading or
litera-ture.

Class D, for pupils in high schools (outside Menomonie), ninth and tenth
grade pupils, students in the Agricultural and Rural Normal Schools embraces
exhibits arranged on the same general plan adapted to different or more advanced
studies; while Class E, for teachers and students in the Rural School has similar
application to the work of those special schools.

Class F included the athletic races, which were held by townships, the district
contests being under the direction of the teacher or principal in charge.

Class G embraced the literary and musical program contest. It may be said in
connection with this branch of competition that at Downsville there is a very good
band, which is conducted by Mr. Edes; at Louisville there is a fine community
orchestra, and at Cedar Falls also there is an orchestra. These organizations,
besides others in the county, not connected with the schools, are exerting an in-
fluence in matters of musical taste not to be disregarded.

The Dunn County School of Agriculture and Domestic Economy.—The exten-
sive application of science to agriculture has within a recent period created a new
branch of education. The pioneer farmer of the Northwest differed less in his tools
and methods from his prototype of Biblical times than he did from the farmer of
today. This great and comparatively recent change is due in some measure to the
invention and introduction of agricultural machinery, but to an even greater extent
it is the result of a scientific study of nature’s methods.

The aid rendered the farmer by modern machinery, great as it is, is purely
mechanical and mathematical. It simply multiplies the amount of power which
he formerly derived from his own muscle and that of his draught animals. It has
never called for a greater exercise of brain power on his part. The modern science
of agriculture, on the contrary, has made him use his intelligence and demands from
him a theoretical and practical knowledge of a wide range of subjects of which his
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pioneer predecessor knew little or nothing. In short, it has made him go to school
to learn his trade.

In 1903 an agricultural paper. “ The Farmer’s Voice,” said: Twenty years ago,
well, anybody could farm. Today the successful farmer is the trained farmer, and
ten vears from now the farmer who is not trained will find it hard sledding to get on
at all.” About the same time a prominent Dunn County farmer remarked, “ The
time is rapidly coming when a farmer should know pretty nearly everything.”

Each statement was a prophesy and the prophesies have been practically ful-

ters of farmers had been able to avail themselves of the state colleges, partly be-
cause of insufficient preparation for entrance, and partly because of the distance to
the school and consequent expense in attending. It was necessary to bring such
schools nearer to the people, and to specially adapt them to the purpose in view.

The Dunn County School of Agriculture and Domestic Economy was the first
of its kind to be established in America. This school and the similar one of Mara-
thon County were authorized by legislative act in 1901, and Dunn County was the
first to organize under thisact. Plans for the establishment of schools of this nature
were outlined in a report of the state superintendent acting as a special commis-
sioner. The principles laid down in that report, and in the law, were followed in the
establishment of this school, which was primarily intended for boys and girls from
the country who had finished the work of the country schools. Ng schools had pre-
viously been created to meet the special needs of those who, without a full high
school training, wanted to pursue the special subjects of agriculture, manual train-
ing and domestic economy.

It was in November, 1901, that the Dunn County Board of Supervisors took
action. The Normal School had already been established, pursuant to a legislative
act of 1899, and was occupying temporary quarters. It was decided to house the
two schools in the same building, and a building committee was appointed, consist-
ing of Supervisors Clark and Cronk, with J. H. Stout, J. E. Florin and N. O. Var-
num, Mr. Florin being an attorney and Mr. Varnum then county superintendent.
The board appropriated $20,000 for the cost of the building; the actual cost, however
was only 816,353.13. Its ground plan dimensions are 42 x 96 feet; it is built of
brick and is three stories high. The four lots on which it stands, valued then at
85,000, were bought with money donated, Mr. Stout contributing $2,500, the city
of Menomonie $1,500. and the balance of §1,000 being raised through the personal

Davis, Ph. D., principal, and in direct charge of the agricultural department :
Grace J. Stokes in charge of the department of domestic economy, and L. M. Cole
in charge of the department of manual training. The board of control consisted
of J. H. Stout, president; N. O. Varnum, secretary, and J. E. Florin, treasurer.
In beginning the work of the school the instructors and “county school board
(board of control) asked for the loyal support and patropage of the people of Dunn
County and the surrounding region, issuing a general statement in which, after
referring to the origin of the school, they said: “Here the rural boys and girls
will find splendid opportunities for securing more intimate knowledge of the things
with which they are likely to be concerned in after life. They have a right to this
knowledge and to the kind of training necessarily required in securing it. To
compel the boys and girls to enter into the competition of life without the special

point of individual development.”

In a printed bulletin, published quarterly by the school authorities, the courses
of study were outlined and the students given useful and interesting information
in regard to the institution. The second number, published in December, 1902,
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contained the statement that the state law of 1901 provided that the state should
pay to the county maintaining a school of agriculture and domestic economy ‘‘a
sum equal to one half the amount actually expended for instruction’’ in such school
during the preceding vear, provided that the amount given by the state to the
county should not exceed $2,5C0.

Some changes were soon made in the law so that it authorized “any county
(not to exceed four) to build and equip a school of agriculture and pay the running
expenses for one vear. After that the state will pay two-thirds of the annual cost
of maintaining the school—not to exceed $4,0C0 for each school.” Two years’
experience in running the Dunn County school then showed that the annual running
expense was about 86,000, two-thirds of which was paid by the state and one-third
by the county. The present law gives the County Agriculture Schools $6,000 per
vear as aid.

Much was done for the school by individuals and local institutions to make it
a success. The authorities of Tainter Memorial Library began purchasing books
of special value to students in the Agricultural School and they were granted the
free use of Lhe library. The authorities of the Stout gymnsium ¢+iended to the
voung men of the school the privileges of that institution. For the first year
Senator Stout permitted the young men to use the complete equipment of the
Stout Manual Training carpenter shop for their lessons in farm carpentry. This
cave them time for fitting up the shop building belonging to the school and getting
it properly equipped to begin work for the fall of 1903. It also saved the Agri-
cultural School much expense in equipment while the other departments were being
provided for. Senator Stout also had the vard in front of the building well cleared,
filled, enriched and graded, and the floors of the entire building waxed and finished
in the best possible manner; and a few months later he gave to the Agricultural
School the original Stout Manual Training building, which was moved from its
old location on the Central School grounds to the southeast corner of the Agri-
cultural School lot. It was used by the Agricultural School for manual training
work until the new shop was built.

Prominent educators, not only in the state of Wisconsin, but in many other
states, were watching the school with considerable interest as an experiment which
or might not prove successful, but it was not long before its success was a recognized
fact.

The farmers throughout the county were urged to visit the school and see for
themselves the work that was being done and they and their families were always
made welcome, as they are today. The regular course for young men was as follows:
science or agriculture, soils and fertilizers, dairying, poultry raising, stock feeding
and care, judging and marketing. plant life; economic insects and diseases; vege-
table, flower and fruit gardening; farm carpentry and blacksmithing; rural architec-
ture and building; business arithmetic; farm accounts and commercial forms;
history; civil government; library reading.

The course for voung women included sewing. cookin,, home economy, personal
and domestic hyvgiene, millinery, home nursing, poultry raising, chemistry of foods,
principles of gardening, history. civil government. library readings.

A special short course for young men and young women was also arranged to
cover two winter terms of 12 weeks each. This short course did not require any
academic work, but was made up chiefly of agriculture and shop work for voung
men and of cooking. sewing and laundering for voung women. Tuition was free in
in both the regular and the short courses to all students living in Dunn County;
the amount charged students from other counties being only four dollars for the
winter term of 12 weeks.

The enrollment for the first vear in the regular course was 53, most of the
students being residents of Dunn County. though four were from neighboring coun-
ties and one—a girl—from Pueblo. Colo. In the short course there were ten stud-
ents, all of Dunn County, while one student took a special course.

Some students have been obliged to earn their way by doing various kinds of
work out of school hours. but this has been no detr'ment either to them or the
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school. It has taught them habits of self reliance and proved their earnestness and
determination, and in no case have they lost caste either with the faculty or the
student body by so doing.

Before the Agricultural School was established a Dunn County Farmers’ Club
had been organized. The instructors of the school began to work in unison with
club,and sub-ordinate organizations were formed in the various townships of the
county. with the object of advancing the interests of agriculture in all its branches.
Rural school teachers having classes about to finish the country school course were
invited to bring their pupils to visit the Agricultural School, and thus information
was spread and interest increased. '

Soon after starting, the Agricultural School purchased sets of tools to be loaned
to any county school wishing to try manual work, either at noons and recesses,
or in classes, and Senator Stout soon after presented the school with 15 sets of such
tools to be used for that purpose.

In December, 1903 Dr. A. E. Bryant, V. S., was engaged to give special lectures
on veterinary science. Angeline Wood had succeeded to the charge of the depart-
ment of domestic economy. H. E. Layne had succeeded Mr. Varnum as county
superintendent, and was secretary of the county school board, J. H. Stout being
president and J. E. Florin vice president.

It is less, however, with men than with measures that this history is concerned.
To enter into all the details of the school’s work would be to usurp the function of
its prospectus or bulletin. Some things should be mentioned, however, as most of
the things the students did then, they do now, besides others, which will be subse-
quently referred to.

The voung men learned to make models of farm buildings. In the metal work-
ing class thev were taught forging, welding, tempering, pipe-fitting and soldering.
They took drives to farms to learn how to test herds, judge stock and poultry,
prune trees and otherwise test in a practical way the experience they had gained in
school. In the domestic economy department the girls learned to make their own
garments and became good cooks.

- The school did many things and does now for the farmers free of charge. Milk
and cream were tested for butter fat; farm and garden seeds were tested ; clover and
other legumes were treated for bacteria: oats were treated for smut and potatoes
for scab; apple trees were grafted when the scions were furnished; good roads were
planned; barns, silos, poultry and milk houses were planned; also water systems for
houses and barns, and drainage and sewer svstems for barns and homes; pure bred
stock was selected for buyers, and information was given regarding feeds, stock,
crops, new plants, planting, weeds, diseases, insects, spraying, fruits, machines,
powers, and all farm subjects. .

Another building was soon added to those already mentioned. It was given by
Mr. Stout and 105 others, and the city of Menomonie, and was called the horticui-
tural building. It measured 28x50 feet and was two stories high over a bank base-
ment. The building derived its name from the basement story, which was used for
the potting of plants, grafting and budding lessons, winter storage of scions, roots,
bulbs and tender plants. On the main story was a poultry department and a room
for keeping and exhibiting machinery and tools used by the school on the farm and
garden. The upper story was used by the students as a gyvmnasium.

In 1903 Jennie M. Brackett was elected county superintendent, and in the spring
of that year the school bulletin contained the following announcement, addressed
to teachers:

A summer school in agriculture, manual training and domestic economy will
be held in the county building in Menomonie for two weeks, beginning July 24, 1905.
The work will be in charge of the taculty of the County Agricultural School. Prof.
Danvis will have charge of the work in agriculture, Prof. Cole of the manual training
work, and Miss Angeline Wood of the domestic economy work. Arrangements are
being made to do some work in the common branches if it found that the needs of
the summer school require it.”” This was a teachers’ institute and all teachers in
Dunn County were urged to attend.
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Throughout the county agriculture was now experiencing a wonderful intellec-
tual uplift, due to the work of the school. Young people were urged to enter the
school at any time, if they could not enter at or near the beginning of the term. No
entrance examination was given, and tuition was free to all living in Dunn County.
The school was in the receipt from time to time of many useful gifts from individuals
or business firms. Cordial relations existed between this school and the Teachers’
Training School, and work was exchanged between the two schools to the mutual
advantage of each.

In the same vear, 1905, Mrs. Bertha Tainter gave a greenhouse to the school,
which was fitted up for the work of the students. Soon after this, the testing of
cattle for tuberculosis was taken up by the school, and classes of students were
taken out to herds where the owners wished the testing done, the farmer and
students getting the benefit. The farmers were also being taught to get rid of poor
and unprofitable cows and replace them by better stock; also how to practice
economy in feeding. They were shown the best methods of fighting insect enemies,
preventing plant diseases, managing crops, grafting fruit trees, planning and
building farm structures, combating weeds, estallishing water and sewage systems,
draining marshy or boggy lands, testing seeds, deciding on what power systems to
use, whether water, wind, steam or gasoline engine, etc.

In 1907 Prof. James A. Wilson succeeded Prof. Davis as principal of the Agri-
cultural School. He was a practical farmer, dairyman and stockman, and had
much experience in farm institute work. He was a graduate of the Minnesota
School of Agriculture, and had taken the full university course in the college of
agriculture. He had also taught common school at Cottonwood and Thief River
Falls, Minn.; at the latter place he organized and built up a good high school,
and had been principal for one year of the School of Agriculture at Crookston,
Minn.

It is not the purpose of this article to relate all the minor changes that have
taken place in the growth of the school. Its origin and general plan of work have
been described, and that plan has been pursued with but slight modification up to
the present time. The number of students has increased to 85, and the faculty
now consists of seven members, who are as follows: D. P. Huges, B. S. A., prin-
cipal; Clara Moeschler, B. A.. M. A.. assistant principal; Mrs. E. Gibson, Stout
Institute domestic economy; Elwood Cleasby, B. S. A., science: Ben McDonald,
Stout Institute manual training; Arthur Gordon, River Falls normal husbandry;
and Mrs. Florence Pierson, clerk and librarian.

Mr. Hughes became principal in 1917, succeeding Theo. Sexauer.

The courses of study now include the four-year agricultural course, the four-year
home economics course, two-year agricultural course and the two-vear home
economics course, and the two-year winter short course in agricluture and domestic
economy.

In the four-vear agricultural course the first vears work (suitably and progres-
sively arranged for the two semesters) includes the following subjects: English,
commercial arithmetic or algebra (algebra in alternate years to first and second year
students), general science, animal husbandry, phyvsical education, shop work,
and civic biology.

The second vear’s work includes English, poultry, horticulture and bees,
citizenship, farm crops, feeds and feeding, physical education and dairy husbandry.

The third year’s work includes English. modern history, farm mechanics,
soils, physical education and general geography.

The fourth year’s work includes English or advanced shop work, U. S. history,
chemistry or physics, economics, physical education, algebra, geometry, commercial
arithmetic, advanced shop work are classed as elective studies.

In the same manner. the four-vear hcme economics course for the first year
includes English, arithmetic or algebra, general science, home economics, physical
education: for the second vear, English, poultry. citizenship. home econnmics,
physical education, gardening and horticulture: for the third vear. English, modern
history. economics and physical education; and for the fourth vear, English, Ameri-
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can history, chemistry, home economics and physical education. The electives are
geometry and algebra.

The two-year courses in agriculture and domestic economy consist of the same
subjects as are given in the first two vears of the four-year course. In addition,
other subjects may be elected from the vocational subjects offered in the third and
fourth years.

The two-year winter short course in agriculture includes for the first year,
arithmetic, milk testing and feeds and feeding, crops and soils, farm mechanics
(rope work, harness work, forge and carpentry) and physical education. For the
second year it includes English, animal husbandry (veterinary science and farm
animals), poultry and horticulture, farm mechanics (gas engine and autos), mechan-
ical drawing and concrete, and physical education.

The general work of the school 1s very interesting as well as instructive to visitors,
and those among them who are old enough to remember the agricultural methods
in vogue 50 to 60 years ago in this region cannot resist the conviction that the young
people of the present day are better off in their opportunities than their grand-
parents were.

Extension Work and Smith-Hughes Work.—The Dunn County Agricultural
School has done a great deal of extension work with the farmers and their wives
along the lines of farming and home making since its origin. The main lines of
assistance given to the farmers are testing grass seeds for purity and germination
and corn for germination; testing milk, cream and skim milk; testing soil and telling
how much lime to use; organization of cow testing associations; breed associations:
horticultural societies; soil improvement associations, as well as poultry and bee
associations. This work has been carried on for many years. The farmers have
been aided to secure pure seeds and better livestock and the use of limestone has
been practiced. One year the school aided the farmers to get 14,000 pounds of
certified Grimm alfalfa and 50 carloads of limestone. The surveying of land for
tile drainage has been done also. Many thousands of hens have been culled by
the teachers and pupils of the school and the vaccination of thousands of hogs for
protection against hog cholera. Boys and girls club work has been carried on for
several years and last year the club boys and girls exhibited 75 calves at the Dunn
County Fair. Many orchard pruning demonstrations have been held in the county
and many culling demonstrations.

The Smith-Hughes part-time schoolsand project work began in 19180r1919 and
has continued up to the present time. The average attendance at the three part-
time schools held during the fall of 1924 and spring of 1925 was 25. The study of
dairy cattle and home grown feeds was the line of discussion at these schools. Sev-
eral carloads of limestone were purchased by the farmers attending the meetings
and many fields of alfalfa and soybeans are being planted as the result of these
schools.  The joining of Cow Testing Associations and improving of herds is one of
the direct results. Sweet clover pastures are being started also.

The aim of the Smith-Hughes work is to bring practical instruction and follow
up project work to the farmers and their sons who are actually engaged in farming
and who cannot get away from the farm to attend other schools.

Principals of the Dunn County Agricultural School —XKary C. Davis, 1902 to
1907; Jas. A. Wilson, 1907 to 1909: F. R. Crane, 1909 to 1911; W. W. Sylvester,
1911 to 1913; Theo. Sexauer, 1913 to 1917; D. P. Hughes, 1917 to 1925.

The Dunn County Rural Normal School.—The following historical sketch of
this school was written by Miss Elizabeth Allen, principal, on the occasion of its
twenty-fifth anniversary (1924), and is reproduced with her permission.

“On Wednesday, Aug. 10, 1899, State Supt. L. D. Harvey came to Menomonie,
Wis., to discuss the question of establishing in this city a Training School to prepare
teachers for the rural schools of the county.

“The idea of such a school doubtless originated in the brain of Conrad E. Patzer,
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now of Milwaukee State Normal School, who with Supt. L. D. Harvey, gave
publicity to the idea which was promptly seized upon by Marathon County, and
especially by her capital city, Wausau, to whom belongs the credit of impressing
the state legislature with the importance of investing a portion of the school funds
for the improvement of the rural schools.

“As a result of their publicity work, the legislature of 1899 made an appropria-
tion of $2,500 to establish experimental training schools in two counties of the
state, of which Marathon County should be one. This sum was to be divided be-
tween the two counties, $1,250 each, provided the county board of said county
would set aside 82,500, or twice the amount given by the state, for the same purpose.

““Marathon County responded promptly and her school was opened Sept. 11,
1899, with Ex-State Supt. O. E. Wells as principal and Miss Rosalia Bohrer as
assistant. Twenty-five student teachers were enrolled the first day and the school
has gone on from that day with rapid strides to its present splendid strength.

At this meeting in Menomonie, Aug. 10, 1899, there were present Senator
J. H. Stout, Mr. R. J. Mathews, Mr. J. E. Florin, County Supt. Varnum, Mr. G. W.
Clark and several members of the County Board of Supervisors. Supt. Harvey
made a very forceful presentation of the need of trained teachers throughout the
state, and County Supt. Varnum gave important statistics showing the number of
schools and teachers in the county and the extent of training for the teaching work.

“Tt was due largely to the discussions at this meeting and to the far-sighted
vision of Senator Stout and his desire to promote educational advantages for the
boys and girls in Dunn County that at a special meeting of the county board held
Tuesday. Sept. 5, 1899, by a unanimous vote, it was decided that Dunn Countv
should be the second county to accept the state’s proposition. The state would
pay $1,250, the city of Menomonie $500, and the county of Dunn 81,700. The
school should be opened on Monday, Sept. 18, 1899, to graduates of the eighth
grade and others who so elected, and it should offer a one year course.

“A Training School Board was elected consisting of President J. H. Stout,
Treasurer J. E. Florin, Secretary N. O. Varnum, it being so ordered that the county
superintendent should always be ex-officio secretary of this board.

“The board was empowered to secure a principal for the school at once and an
assistant as soon as necessary; and on Monday, Sept. 18, 1899, exactly seven days
later than the opening of the Marathon County school, Principal W. L. Morrison
stood before a group of twelve student teachers ranging from eighth grade to high
school graduates and formally organized this school. The following week eleven
more students enrolled and Mr. Waite acted as assistant to Mr. Morrison until a
permanent teacher could be secured.

“On October 23 of the same year the membership had reached 41 and Miss
Elizabeth Allen of the Milwaukee State Normal School took her place as assistant.
During that first year 57 students were enrolled, 18 of whom were graduated June
29. 1900. The course of study prescribed covered necessary reviews of all subjects
taught in the rural schools added to a vear’s training along professional linzs.

“The school was most fortunate at its inception in having men associated with
its organization who so well understood the needs of the county and who were so
strongly committed to the promotion of its welfare and to the advancement of
rural schools, and also to the splendid attitude of the county board of supervisors.

“With nocharge for their use Senator Stout furnished and equipped two large
rooms on the fourth floor of the Stout Manual Training building. at the south end
of the building, for the use of the school, and here it was housed for two years until
it had a building of its own.

““The enrollment in the fall of 1900 made it evident that a building would very
soon be an actual recessity, and the county board of that vear appointed a ccm-
mittee to investigate the matter. Senator Stout offered the gift of “ Music Hall,”
formerly the old Baptist church, provided the city of Menomonie would furnish a
lot. After due consideration of the building and other factors in the situation, the
matter was voted down for these reasons: The conservative element of the board
considered the school still in its experimental stage. The building in itself was
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inadequate for the purposes desired. There was a strong probability at this time
that at the next session of the hoard a county school of agriculture would be estab-
lished and both schools could be housed in the same building.

“In November, 1901, that school was unanimously ordered to be organized,
at at the same session a building committee was appointed to take charge of the
erection of a suitable building to house both schools. Supervisors Clark and Cronk,
acting with the Training School board, Messrs. Stout, Florin and Varnum, were
the committee who brought to a successful completion the present building. Mean-
time the school was working at full capacity with 70 enrolled selected from 80 appli-
cants and with 10 on the waiting list.

“The board appropriated $20,000 for the building. The four lots on which
the building now stands, valued at 85,000, were donated as follows: $2,500 by
Senator J. H. Stout, $1,500 by the city of Menomonie, and the bhalar.ce, $1,000, by
personal subscriptions of citizens, and it is due largely to the splendid efforts of the

*The building was formally accepted by the board on Saturday, Nov. 8, 1902,
and it was opened to the school on Monday, Nov. 17, 1902, Moving Day’’ was an
event not soon to be forgotten; the historical bottle was carefully stored in the office
and the “County Normal’’ was at home.

“In the fall of 1902 it was found necessary to add another teacher to the faculty
in order to accomplish work outlined, as the school was automatically growing into

work till it numbers five at the present time (1924).

**As principal Prof. W. L. Morrison served five years and began the sixth when
his health made it imperative for him to go to California, where he has since resided,
carrying on his splendid ideas in educational work through organized classes for
training Sunday school and Bible class teachers. His work in organizing and pro-
moting this school was one of absolute devotion and his memory is held dear in the
hearts of the bovs and girls who recited to him here.

“Mr. Morrison was succeeded by Mr. G. L. Bowman, who came to us Oct. 27,
1904, from the Waupaca County Training School. Mr. Bowman gave 18 of the
best yvears of his life to this school and to Dunn County and was, by an untimely
stroke, taken from his work April 19, 1922, His love, his loyalty, his ideals remain
as a living testimony to the quality of his work.

“In June, 1912, Miss Allen resigned from her position as supervisor of practice
and went to Newburgh, N. Y., as a fruit farmer. From this busy life she was
recalled to take the principalship of the school in August, 1922, a position which
she still occupies.

“In 1924 the Bowman Model School was erccted, being dedicated in N ovember,
that year. It stands on the school grounds facing Third Street, and is used as a
model school of practice and demonstration for the training classes (including
grades 1 to 6). This building represents the standard type of a one-room rural
school of the first class, thoroughly modern and up-to-date in every particular as to
construction, heating, ventilating and equipment. The cost, including equipment,
was about $12,000.

“In 25 vears the school has had but three principals. It has enrolled about
1,000 students, graduated nearly 800, had 14 assistants on its roll, and been as-
sociated with seven different county superintendents, and always with the highest
degree of co-operation. The original course of study was arranged for one year’s
work following eighth grade, leading to a third grade certificate. The course now
administered is a one vear's course following high school graduation leading to a
first grade certificate, a noteworthy advance.

" The school was established on a basis of Loyalty, Integrity, Co-operation and
Service—and it still stands on that platform. It is, as it has always been, a school
of opportunity, of choice, of initiative. Its motto is “Forward” and it has not
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departed from it. The prophecy uttered by Principal W. L. Morrison in 1900:
“If the normal keeps for its purpose the elevation of the rural schools; to reach the
most remote corner of the county and give character to the weakest school; to
furnish refuge and council to teachers in trouble; to relieve teachers from the
burden of frequent examinations; to inspire to better and grander service; then it
will live, because there is nothing that can take its place.” has been fulfilled.”

The present faculty of the Normal School (1925) consists of Elizabeth Allen
(principal), Mrs. Nelle Gordon Edes, Edith Carey, Gladys Zimmerman, Agnes S.
Anderson and Agnes G. Winston. The county school board this year consists of
John N. McGilton (president), Henry Miller (treasurer), and Earl L. Edes (secre-

tary).



CHAPTER XIV
FURTHER HISTORY OF MENOMONIE

Linked with Prairie du Chien by the Mississippi, Chippewa and Red Cedar
rivers and the opportunities for commerce upon their currents, the settlement at
Menomonie followed that of the early military post and trading rendezvous as a
natural consequence. Timber was needed to construct the buildings at the sta-
tion on the Mississippi, and the pine on the banks of the Red Cedar River, then
the Menomonie, offered an easilv accessible supply. A temporary settlement had
been made here in 1822, and the forests of the valley were well known to the fron-
tiersmen. In 1822 Hardin Perkins obtained permission from the agent of the
Sioux Indians to erect a sawmill in the Indian country, but his enterprise was
never carried out, and James H. Lockwood and Joseph Rolette, fur traders of
Prairie du Chien, obtained like consent in 1829. A mill was erected at the mouth
of Wilson Creek, which began sawing in March, 1831, marking the beginning of
operations that continued until Messrs. Wilson & Knapp bought the property in
1846, several changes of ownership having in the meanwhile occurred.

From this beginning was developed the great lumber industry that is traced
more in detail in a review of the activities of Knapp, Stout & Co.” From this be-
ginning also grew up the community that became Menomonie. In 1855 the post
office was established with T. B. Wilson as postmaster. Menomonie was platted
in 1859 and was at once given its name. Various persons were asked by the lum-
bermen, Wilson & Knapp, who had the village plat made, to suggest a name. .
B. French, who had arrived six years before, proposed the name ‘“ Menomonee,”’
which had been the original name of the Red Cedar River but had been dropped
as such in 1850. Why the name of the river was changed is not known, as there
was little red cedar on the banks of the stream. But a revival of the name in
connection with the village appealed to the founders and the suggestion was acted
upon. The letters in the last syllable of the name were later changed to “ie” by
the post office department to distinguish it from other geographical names having
the same pronunciation. The word is of Chippewa Indian origin and has refer-
ence to wild rice, of which there was an abundance on the stream when it was
given the title.

Menomonie is known far and wide as a city of rare physical attractions. The
citizens generally take especial pride in the appearance of their home surroundings;
front lawns are kept sightly and back yards sanitary, and squalid conditions in
any part of the city are practically unknown. Practically all the buildings that have
been erected for a number of years past, especially in the residential portion of the
city, are of substantial construction and pleasing architecture. The residence
streets are for the most part laid out in the form of boulevards with grass plats
at either side and skirted by handsome shade trees. Two parks, Wilson and River-
side, given to the city by wealthy citizens in early times, add to its beauty and
afford means of wholesome pleasure to the people, and to these must be added
the lake bank being developed by the Improvement Association.

Surrounding the city and extending throughout Dunn County, are many nat-
ural beauty spots of great charm, affording accessible places for enjoyable outings
and fine opportunities for the sportsman with rod and gun. Well stocked trout
streams are found in abundance, and the Red Cedar River and Lake Menomin
contain numerous game fish of several varieties. Among the beauty spots with
which nature has favored Dunn County may be mentioned as among the most
popular, Wilson Creek, whose banks afford a_ wonderful variety of scenic delight;
the banks of the Red Cedar, both above and below Menomonie; Paradise Valley;
Chimney Rocks, southwest of Downsville, Lamb Creek Falls, Cedar Falls, and
Elk Mound.
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Evergreen Cemetery.—The ground comprising this cemetery, some 43 acres,

situated near the river in the northeast part of the city near the limits, was for-
‘merly the property of Knapp, Stout & Co., and was laid out by them as a cemetery
at an early date. They were at that time the prime movers in all public enter-
prises, and, a cemetery being necessary, they not only laid it out but also for many
vears retained the management of it. In 1904, the company—then the Knapp,
Stout & Co. Company—having closed out their lumber business here, with other
related enterprises, a meeting of the lot owners and citizens was called at the court
house to provide other management for the cemeterv. The meeting was called
to order and presided over as chairman by C. E. Freeman, J. C. Wilcox acting as
secretary. T. B. Wilson, of the Knapp, Stout & Co. Company, placed before the
meeting the proposition of the company to deed Evergreen Cemetery to a properly
organized association. On motion of R. J. Flint the association was named the
Evergreen Cemetery Association. An annual meeting was provided for and three
trustees were elected, namely, Torger Hansen, T. B. Wilson and J. B. Chickering,
to serve for one, two and three years respectively. Through reelection the same
trustees continued to serve until Mr. Hansen’s death in March, 1924, when E. C.
Quilling was elected to succeed him. In March, 1925, Paul E. Bailey was elected
to succeed Mr. Chickering, who died that year. The cemetery has been improved
and well cared for, and its headstones and monuments awaken many tender memo-
ries on the part of the old-time residents of the city who stroll through its cwiet
paths.

An important and interesting chapter in the development of the community
was the advent of the railroad now known as the Chicago, St. Paul, Minneapolis &
Omaha. The government had made a large grant for the building of a line to
St. Paul, and the Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul held this grant for vears. In
1869 a popular movement was started which resulted in the organization of a
partly local company, the Milwaukee & St. Paul Company having meanwhile built
a line up the Mississippi River. The grant was transferred to the company above
mentioned, and Messrs. Humbird & Baldwin made an agreement to build a line
from Tomah on the Milwaukee road to Black River Falls, Eau Claire, Menomonie
and Hudson, and the road was built under the name of the West Wisconsin Rail-
road Company. This road reached the city in 1871, the following January mov-
ing trains both ways. The route north of the city was one of three that were pro-
posed. One went through the course of Gilbert Creek, another through the city
and across the pond by the lumber yards, striking the route of the present line
three or four miles out of town. There were objections to the trestle over the
pond, and also to a bonus demanded for going through the city, and the course
finally selected which passes through the present Junction. Henrvy H. Porter,
who was then president of the road, came here several times in an effort to get the
line over the pond, but failed. The West Wisconsin road experienced financial
difficulties, and after several changes of name became a part of the present Chicago,
St. Paul, Minneapolis & Omaha system. The line at first ran between St. Paul
and Tomah. After the Chicago & Northwestern built its line to Elroy, the route
of this road was changed so that it went through Camp Douglas to Elroy, and it
finally became attached to and affiliated with the Northwestern. For years it was
necessary to go from the city to the Junction to take trains, and this led to a strong
agitation for a connection with the city. On Aug. 29, 1876, bonds for 850,000
were voted for the execution of a contract with the Chippewa Valley & Minnesota
Railroad Co., of which S. B. French was secretary. The arrangement was not
carried out and the town was released from all obligations. Then President Porter
of the West Wisconsin road proposed to bring a spur into the north side of the city
for $10,000, but the citizens would give nothing unless the line came across the
river. This Mr. Porter agreed to do if given a depot site and $25,000. This
proposition was accepted, and the town issued $28,000 worth of bonds, of the
proceeds of which $3,000 was to be used for depot grounds. An election was held
on Aug. 26, 1879, the result being 412 for the bond issue and 135 against it. The
bonds were for 10 and 20 years at 7 per cent interest, and the first half were retired
Feb. 5, 1890, and the second half Feb. 5, 1900. The Chicago, Milwaukee & St.
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Paul built its branch up the Red Cedar to Menomonie as a spur of the Chippewa
Valley division in 1882 without sepcial financial inducement. Both roads oper-
ated short lines to the mill at Cedar Falls. J. H. Hyland, who later rose to an
eminent position in the railroad world, was the first station agent here of the
present Omaha company.
The proximity of Menomonie to the great railway gateways of St. Paul and
Minneapolis and to the rail and water terminals at Superior and Duluth, together
ith the local rail connections, afford ready facilities to the inhabitants of the
city and surrounding territory for getting products to market. The earnings at
the stations of the two roads here— the Chicago, St. Paul, Minneapolis & Omaha
(comprising part of the N orthwestern sustem) and the Chicago, Milwaukee & St.
Paul—are indicative of the vast volume of trade which centers at this point. In
recent years the total amount of freight received has approximated 200,000,000

freight forwarded is annually about 148,000,000 pounds, on which is paid 8178,-
929.13. The ticket sales of the two roads approximates $79,705.87. The com-
bined earnings of these lines at Menomonie is therefore in round figures over
S549,000 a year.

Included in the transportation facilities of the city and county must be men-
tioned the improved highway svstem that is now being developed. Four federal
aid trunk lines pass through the city; one known as No. 12 and one, as No, 116
running east and west; and the others, No. 25 and No. 70, running north and
south. No. 12 is the state’s most direct and best highway connecting Chicago and
the Twin Cities. No. 25 forms part of the shortest route between southwestern
Wisconsin and the cities at the head of Lake Superior. Another federal trunk
line, No. 64, cuts across the northern part of Dunn County east and west. Besides
these arteries of interurban traffic, the county is developing a system of good roads
with Menomonie as the center.

During the 36 years following the purchase by Wilson & Knapp of the Wilson
Creek mill (1846) there was no village organization, and in fact there has never
been any. Until 1882 the local government was conducted under town organiza-
tion, though a village plat had been made. In 1882 Menomonie was incorporated
as a city, the charter being prepared by Rock J. Flint, then a member of the state
senate. A. J. Turner of Portage assisted in the work. Subsequently some amend-

changes now being confined to adoption of portions of the general charter. Since
1902 elections have been held biennially. In 1912 Menomonie adopted the com-
mission form of government—by a mayor and two councilmen—which has proved
more satisfactory to a majority of the citizens than the former aldermanic system.
The commission keeps taxes down to as low a point as is consistent with good serv-
ice, the rate being among the lowest known for cities of the same class in Wisconsin,

The first mayor elected by the city was Capt. William Wilson, and the first
city clerk, J. R. Mathews. Succeeding mavors have been, in the years given, as
follows: 1883, William Schutte; 1884, G. H. Seeley; 1885, E. Marks; 1886, William
Schutte; 1887, T. S. Heller; 1888, Peter E. Wilson; 1889, E. Marks; 1890 E. Marks;
1891 and 1892, John Hopwood; 1893, E. A. Barker; 1894 and 1895, Roak J. Flint;
1896, George Gallaway; 1898 and 1899, John J. Carter; 1900, A. H. Johnscn; 1902,
Edward Haag; 1904, J. R. Mathews; 1906, A. H. Johnson:; 1908-1910, J R Math-
ews; 1911-1915, Carl E. Peterson. The councilmen now serving are A. L. Johnson
and F. W. Rowe, the latter being also city clerk and comptroller. A. L. Johnson
is treasurer.

The Menomonie Improvement Association.—During the years of their opera-
tion here the Knapp, Stout & Co. Company (known previous to the year 1878 as
Knapp, Stout & Co.) owned the water power which included the pond and pond
bank—a fact not generallv known to the public, as by many people it was sup-
posed to be public property and was used as such without interference by the big

LN
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lumber firm. The situation was better understood, however, when T. B. Wilson,
Sr., offered the pond bank as a gift to the city if the latter would accept it and
make it a public park. This offer was declined and the company, wishing to dis-
pose of the property, as they were practically through with their work here, sold
it to private parties, a number of lots being disposed of to individuals. Finally
the complete water power, including the pond and what was left of the pond bank,
was transferred to the Wisconsin Power Company. A few thoughtful and far-
sighted people now awoke to the fact that if the natural beauties of the city were
to be preserved and become a heritage for future generations, it was necessary to
take action at once in that direction.

It was over 20 years ago that on a certain day four prominent citizens of Me-
nomonie, namely, J. H. Stout, C. E. Freeman, J. C. Wilcox and W. C. Ribenack,
met on the street and the question of paving improvements came up and was
discussed. Mr. Stout remarked, “ Well, we’ll have a town here after a while,” to
which Mr. Wilcox responded, *“If we are ever going to have the town look like a
civilized place we’ll have to clean up the lake front.” The remark was well timed,
for the water front at that ti ne was ¢ 1ything but clean or attractive in appear-
ance. It had been uncared for and was defaced by unsightly shacks, sheds, dead
and fallen trees and other objects detracting from its natural beauty, and had be-
come a place that the better class of people were more disposed to keep away from
than to visit. At that time there was a tax assessment against the Wisconsin
Power Company (of which Mr. Stout was president) of 4,500 on account of pav-
ing improvements, and this matter having been mentioned on the occasion referred
to. Mr. Wilcox further remarked that it would be a graceful act on the part of the
Wisconsin Power Company to turn over the lake front to the city in consideration
of the remission of the paving tax. Mr. Stout was favorably impressed by the
suggestion and said that he would take the matter up with the board of directors
of the company. Three or four days later he announced that he had done so and
that they had consented to the proposition. The next thing was to get the city
to adopt it, and early in 1904 the Advancement Association presented it to the
city council. It had by this time received some publicity, and as it had been cal-
culated that the handling of the project by the city would mean a tax of about
849, a number of prominent citizens objected and ranged themselves in opposition,
presenting a petition to the council against it. The council thereupon turned the
matter down and the friends of the improvement scheme were forced to seek some
other method of carrying it through. The only way that seemed feasible was
through public subscription but in that case it was necessary that there should be
a visible and responsible organization possessing the necessary powers.

At a meeting held in the basement of the Memorial building, J. E. Florin, an
attorney, told those present that such an organization could be formed under the
provisions of the Olin law, which had been passed to meet a similar situation in
Madison, whereby five or more persons could incorporate for the purpose of effect-
ing public improvements hy means of money raised through subscriptions. The
Menomonie Improvement Association was thereupon formed. Mr. Florin being
employed to draw up the constitution and secure the charter. The Woman'’s Club
took up the matter of securing subscriptions and did secure money or pledges to
the amount of about $1.500. But much more than this was needed—S84,500 being
required to secure the transfer of the rights to that part of the water front involved
from the Wisconsin Power Company to the Association, to say nothing of the
further sums that would have to be raised to effect the desired improvements.
But the purchase of the property was the first step necessary. The articles of in-
corporation were signed on June 1 and on the following day the first regular meet-
ing of the Association took place, when officers were elected, namely: Alfred Pills-
bury, president; Miss Stella Lucas and Miss Isabel Epley, vice presidents; Miss
Elizabeth Allen, recording secretary; Mrs. F. F. Morgan, corresponding secretary;
and Mrs. Kate Weber, treasurer. J. H. Stout was chosen director for three years;
Mss. A. J. Josephson, director for two years:and J. C. Wilcox, director for one year.
The articles of incorporation provided that the purpose of the Association should
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be to acquire, open, extend. maintain and improve parks, boulevards and pleasure
drives in and about the city of Menomonie according to authority contained in
Chapter 55 of the Laws of 1899 (the Olin law). A plan for raising funds through
membership fees, suggested by J. C. Wilcox. was adopted and made a part of the
by-laws, which provided for three classes of members—annual, life, and honorary.
Annual members were to pay dues of $1.00 or more in advance; any person might
become a life member by paying $100: honorary members might be elected by the
directors but should have no vote. Under these regulations severa] persons be-
came life members and ahout 125 more subscribed frem $1.00 to 825 per vear for
five years in order to raise the amount necessary to purchase and improve the
pond property.

In this manner the money was raised and the work began. First, the pond

bank, or what was left of it, was purchased and with the assistance of many citi-

Another task undertaken by the Association was the much needed improve-
ment of grading and terracing Wilson Avenue from Broadway to a connection with
the depot hill road, this work costing about $900 The city assisted in this im-
provement by putting down a good brick walk with gutters on each side. Ag g
further improvement on depot hill the Association bought a lot and moved the
Pixley house and blacksmith’s shop, so that the city, having bought out Mr. Kirk-

better roadway into the city from the west. A number of shacks which disfigured
the approach to depot hill were moved to another track of land and improved to
some extent in appearance by being better grouped and by the laying out of gar-
dens and the planting of fruit trees about them. All this was good work and well
done, but what was now needed was a comprehensive and coherent plan of opera-
tion so that the money raised, not without difficulty, through subscriptions might
not be wasted in haphazard and amateur attempts at improvement which might
prove ill-advised or too costly in the end, but that it might be expended wisely for .
permanent bénefit to the community. This idea having been advanced by J. C.
Wilcox, Mr. Stout, to whom it seemed timely and sensible, took early action on it
by sending for Warren P. Manning, a famous landscape architect of Boston, who
came here and for a fair remuneration took in hand the task of making a general
survey and laying out a definite plan of work for the Association.

Subsequent to the sale of the pond bank to the Association the Wisconsin
Power Company sold its holdings to the Chippewa Valley Railway, Light & Power
Company, and when the latter company raised the old dam three and a half feet,
the shallow pond, formerly used for floating logs to the mill, was suddenly con-

ciation is responsible for a number of other Improvements, [ts latest
work has been to reclaim the banks of Wilson Creek along Highway No. 12, the
. land between that highway and Wilson boulevard having been acquired. A part
of it is to be made into a tourist park and the rest laid out into a community park
and children’s playground for North Menomonie. The Menomonie Improveme..¢
Association has now a membership of 200 or more prominent citizens, and its work
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has met with the approval of the public and has made Menomonie a cleaner, better
and more attractive city. Much more might be said in regard to the history of
the organization than is contained in this outline sketch, but to relate it would be
to go into too much detail. As might be expected with such an ambitious and ex-
tensive program, there was not always unanimity of opinion among the members,
either as to the advisability of the plans suggested, or as to the methods that should
be adopted in carrying them out; and there were times when the burden of initia-
tive and decisive action fell upon the shoulders of a few; but the general public is
mainly interested in the results accomplished, and those results speak for them-
selves. .

All franchises on the Red Cedar River and tributaries were formerly, as else-
where stated, owned by the Knapp, Stout & Co. Company, and were used by them
in the operation of their large lumber business. Under these franchises they had
dams at Downsville, Menomonie. and Cedar Falls, in Dunn County; Rice Lake,
Chetek, Cedar Lake, and Prairie Farm (on Hay River) in Barron C unty, . d at
Birchwood in Washburn County. These dams were used for flooding purposes to
facilitate the transportation of logs down the streams. They also operated grist
and flour mills at Menomonie, Chetek and Rice Lake. In 1901 they ceased opera-
tions in this region and in the following year sold their water-power franchises to
the Wisconsin Power Co., who also took over the grist and flour mills, operating
them until 1908, when they sold out to the Chippewa Velley Railway Light &
Power Co. The last mentioned company in 1910 built a more modern dam at
Cedar Falls, and the company continued operations under the same name until
1914, in which year the stockholders sold out to a Mr. Brewer (of Grand Rapids,
Mich.) and the company was reorganized into the Wisconsin-Minnesota Light &
Power Co. The latter concern sold in 1924 to the Northern States Power Co.

A waterworks system was installed in Menomonie in 1883, the city paying under
the terms of the franchise $50 a year as hydrant rental on each of the 110 hydr ats
provided at the outset. The plant was built and owned by Moffet, Hodgkins &
Clarke of Syracuse, N. Y., engineers and contractors, and consisted of the com-
bined standpipe and direct pressure systems, the pumping being done by two
compound duplex engines with a united capacity of 2,000,000 gallons a day. The
number of hydrants has since been increased to 133. The franchise held by the
waterworks company was made to cover a period of 60 years, or to run to the year
1945, but the city was given the privilege of taking oyer the plant at the end of
five year periods upon an appraised valuation, provided a year's notice of the in-
tention to purchase was given. In accordance with this agreement the city took
over the plant in October, 1915. In January, 1918, the question came up of drill-
ing artesian wells to improve and increase the city's water supply. Water, it was
thought, could be obtained by drilling to a depth of about 280 feet. T his artesian
water was clear and cold and not too hard. The water from the then existing
wells was too hard unless mixed with river water, but when so mixed it was not
always palatable nor safe. This plan was approved and the wells were subsequently
drilled, coming into use in 1920. There are two of these wells, each 387 feet deep
and equipped with arc lifts, and all the present water supply is derived from them.
The total capacity is 2,000 gallons a minute. There are now 17 miles of main
piping in the city, and about 1,100 water takers.

Lighting System.—At an early day, soon after electricity came into use for
general lighting purposes, the Knapp, Stout & Co. Company established an elec-
tric light plant on Wilson Creek and used it for their plant and to light the homes
of some of their stockholders, the city then having no street lights. Finally, in
1897, the company organized the Menomonie Electric Light & Power Company,
for more general purposes, the power being obtained from the dam and plant at
Wilson Creek. As the power proved insufficient at times, a steam plant was added
and the two were used together when it was found necessary. The Menomonie
Electric Light & Power Company continued operations in this manner until May,
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1911, when it sold its city franchises and outfit to the Chippewa Valley Railway
Light & Power Company, which had previously—in 1908—bought the Knapp,
Stout & Co. Company water franchises.

On April 11, 1904, an ordinance was passed granting a franchise to the Menom-
onie Gas Company, and since that vear the service has been widely extended, es-
pecially for fuel purposes. The concern has changed hands a number of times and
in 1909 the gas works were rebuilt. an equipment for the manufacture of water
gas being installed. In 1918 the company was reorganized with a capital stock
of 840,000, all the stockholders except three living outside this state. There is
now an investment of $65,000 in the business and the concern is in a prosperous
condition. ’

A considerable quantity of paving has been done and the city now has modern
streets throughout the down town district and in a part of the residential portion.

The city maintains a fine public hospital, built in 1915, fuller mention of which
is made elsewhere in this chapter. There are several parks owned by the city,
in addition to the beautiful parkway along the lake front, that along Wilson Creek
boulevard, and other pleasure grounds along the lake and streams, owned and
controlled by the Menomonie Improvement Association. These are much en-
joyed by residents, students and visitors in the summer months,

According to its last census Menomonie has a population of 5,104. With the
growth of the city its wealth has increased apace. The valuation in 1883, as equal-
ized by the county board, was $1,375,705; in 1890 it was 81,762,955 in 1900 it was
$1,787,967; in 1909 it was $3,003,089, and in 1924 it was $5,907,457. The total
personal property (1924) is assessed at $1,428,555. ,

In 1885 a volunteer fire department was organized, with Thomas A. McNevin,
chief; William Fricke, assistant chief; Frank Carter, secretary; and William Schutte.
The men were paid for actual time in service. Abundant pressure through the
water mains is had from an 80-foot standpipe situated upon a high elevation in the
eastern part of the city, thus obviating the necessity of maintaining fire engines.
The department includes: Hose companies Nos. 1, 2 and 3, and Hook and Ladder
No. 1, one hose company being located at North Menomonie. In December, 1906,
a substantial two-story brick hose house was erected adjoining the city hall. The
latter is a frame building that was moved to its present location about 40 vears
ago. The equipment of the fire department now includes an American Lafrance
combination truck of two horses. The department is now only partly volunteer,
the chief and three drivers receiving full pay. At North Menomonie there is a
volunteer company of ten men. Further improvements are being planned. Be-
fore 1911 the chiefs of the department succeeded each other at frequent intervals,
few serving more than a vear or two, but in that year cities of the fourth class came
under the control of the state fire and police commission, by the rules of which a
fire chief serves until he is incapacitated by age, or resigns, or is removed for cause.
J. E. Johnson, who then became chief, has continued to serve as such up to the
present time.

The first fire to occur in the city involving serious loss was that of 1880, which
destroyed the S. B. French block on Main Street between Third and F ourth avenues.
The second occured on Nov. 28, 1884, when flames wiped out Grob’s hall and the
Merchant’s Hotel on Broadway, opposite the present Hotel Rvan. In this fire
the damage amounted to about $29,000, those who suffered losses being Mrs. E.
Grob, on building; F. Schmidt, saloon keeper; P. G. Hannemeyer, hotel and furni-
ture; R. Farr, furniture in hotel; John Hanson, tools and stock; Anton Anderson,
dwelling and blacksmith shop. There were other minor losses. The Grob build-
ing destroyed at that time was erected in 1869, when it was the largest business
structure on this side of the river. The second floor was used as a public hall and
a year before had been remodeled and finely furnished. The Merchant's Hotel
was built in 1873, and at the time of the fire was conducted by R. Farr. The old
hook and ladder company fought this fire as best it could, aided by volunteers.
At one time the Eau Claire department stood in readiness to come to Menomonie's
relief, but the request of Mavor Seely for assistance was countermanded when at
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last the flames were gotten under control. After this blaze the fire department was
reorganized. The next large fire was that which destroved the Central School and
Training buildings on Feb. 3, 1897. On April 24, 1906, flames wiped out property
worth 850,000 on Main Street. The heaviest loss on this occasion fell on J. S.
Sipple, whose department store was burned, with damage amounting to $26,000.
Other properties destroyed or damaged were the buildings owned by C. A. Clark
and Max Lachner, Paul Sommerfeld’s stock, Pabst Brewing Company building,
Mike Mitzger’s stock, Palace Bakery, building and stock of Victor Hanschel, and
a few other places, on which the damage was about $2,000. The flames raged on
both sides of the street and devastated a considerable area. The next big fire oc-
curred Aug. 31, 1922, when the three buildings of the Stori estate, with the two
Teare buildings on Main Street opposite the Memorial Librarv were destroved,
with a loss of about $125,000. There was but little insurance, there being none
on the Stori buildings. On Oct. 11, 1922, Edgar Johnson’s garage on Main Street,
between Seventh and Eighth streets, burned down with a total loss of about
$25,000. The next and last big fire occurred May 5, 1924,-also on Main Street,
involving a part of the A. H. Johnson (now William Johnson) estate and the Ole
Beiyg estate, the Evangelical church being also da..:aged. The total loss was be-
tween $135,000 and $150,000, there being a partial insurance. This fire was found
to be of incendiary origin, as were also one or two of the others, evidence to that
effect having been found after the fires. -

The serious disasters that have visited Menomonie since the time of its found-
ing have been confined to the several fires, (elsewhere mentioned) of no great ex-
tent, though entailing considerable loss to a few individuals, and to two or three
floods. During several seasons, the city was visited by floods which occasioned
considerable loss, not only locally, but throughout the valleys of the Red Cedar
and Chippewa rivers. The worst of these in the remembrance of those now living
occurred in 1880 and 1905. On June 4, 5 and 6 of the former year copious rains
caused a rapid rise in the waters of the streams, and the dams at Colfax and the
Wilson mill on Elk Creek were carried away and a number of bridges were swept
out. The rains were renewed and a week later the situation was greatly aggra-
vated. The shingle mill at Cedar Falls was carried away, the boom went out and
the bridge went into the river. The dam and booms of the Knapp, Stout & Co.
Company in Menomonie were for a time in great peril but held out. During the
week beginning June 4, 1903, there were freshets that caused an estimated loss in
Dunn County of $200,000. The old water mill, the west end of the *company’s
bridge,” and the bridge near the residence of Thomas Stone were wrecked by the
torrents in Menomonie, and the Irvington bridge and the railroad bridge at Downs-
ville suffered a like fate. A ferry had to be operated across the Red Cedar 200
yards south of the old red wagon bridge near Riverside Park, and a ferry was put
in at Irvington. The Milwaukee road suffered a heavy loss, and a stage route had
to be established to Dunnville for mail. Many farms on the river bottom were
inundated. The residence and business portions of Mencmonie are fortunately
situated, inasmuch as they occupy a plateau high above the water level, thus en-
joying immunity in time of floods.

Post Office.—At a very early date in the history of Menomonie the mail was
obtained from Prairie du Chien in anv way that happened to be convenient. About
1850 a post office was established at the ‘“middle mill” on Gilbert’s Creek, with
Oliver Gilbert as the postmaster. In 1855 it was removed to Menomonie, being
kept in the office of Knapp, Stout & Co. on the west side of the river, with T. B.
Wilson as postmaster. There it remained until 1860, in which year it was moved
to the east side. Its first location on this side of the river, as now remembered,
was in a frame building that stood on the site of the First National Bank. After
that it occupied a building on the site of the present office and show rooms of the
P. H. Hamarly stone and monument works on Main Street. Frem there it was
moved to a building in the center of the same blcck kncwn as the Tonror drug
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store. Its next location was across the street in a building owned by S. B. French.
The latter building being destroyed by fire on Jan. 1, 1880, the post office was
moved across to a warehouse on the north side of the street, being moved back into
the French building after it had been rebuilt. Its next location was in the Heller
building, opposite the school grounds, and after that in the Arcade building, where
the Five and Ten Cent Store is now. There it remained until March 20, 1915,
when it was moved into the fine government building that is its present quarters.

The postmaster who succeeded T. B. Wilson was Mr. Church, but it is not
known when he took the office nor how long he served in it. He was succeeded
by W. W. Winterbottom—probably about 1869—and Mr. Winterbottom’s suc-
cessors in consecutive order, with the approximate length of time during which
they served, were as follows: S. D. McKahan, 13 years; E. L. Everetts, four years;
J. R. Mathews, two vears; O. P. Stenerson, four years; Thomas Stone, four years;
E. Marks, 17 years: R. E. Bundy, nearly five years. Mr. Bundy was followed by
M. A. Hanson, the present postmaster, who took the office in April, 1922, and who
has served in the post office continuously in one position or another since April,
1882. The postmasters who had charge while the office was in the French build-
ing were McKahan and Everett; those in the Heller building, Everetts, Mathews,
Stenerson and Stone, and those in the present building have been Postmasters
Marks, Bundy and Hanson. The work rooms in this building are large, conven-
iently arranged and well lighted, and the building on the outside is neat and at-
tractive in appearance.

To the Menomonie post office are attached ten rural routes, which is more than
are controlled by any other office in the state. The first was established in April
2, 1900, when the rural route system was in an experimental stage. On Oct. 15
the same year two more were established, the others being subsequently added
from time to time. None of them is less than 25 miles in length. On Dec. 1,
1904, the city carrier system was inaugurated and five carriers are now employed.
This did away with most of the boxes, of which there were formerly 800 or more,
a number now reduced to 150. Yale lock boxes were introduced in 1878. The"
large number of boxes previous to December, 1904, entailed a large amount of
work on the postmaster and his assistants, as the people would rush to the office
at every mail distribution. One man is remembered who thus called for three
years without receiving a letter, and really not expecting one, but at last his per-
sistence was rewarded, and much to his surprise and pleasure, one was finally
handed to him. He is still a resident of Menomonie and has not forgotten the
incident,

The first schoolhouse in Menomonie was a private one erected in 1852 by Knapp,
Stout & Co., for the accommodation of their children and those of their neighbors.
Dr. Rogers taught there during the winters of 1852 and 1853, and the Rev. Joshua
M. Pittman in the winters of 1854, 1855 and 1856. A regularly organized district
school was established in the last named year. When the village was surveyed and
platted in 1859 a one-room frame schoolhouse was built. There were then about
40 pupils. This schoolhouse was destroyed by fire in 1868. In 1870 a new public
school building was erected with four rooms, which later became a part of the
Central, or high school, structure, to which additions were made from time to time.
In 1880 the city schools were in a VETy prosperous condition, having a regular graded
system and four schoolhouses, namely: The Central, erected at a cost of $12,000;
East School, $4,500; Coddington School, $5,000; West Side, $1,000. The High
School had a four vears’ course, including matheraatics through geometry, Latin
through Virgil, and German. The High School had 100 pupils, and, what was re-
markable, there had been no case of tardiness for two years. The other schools
were graded from the primary, through the intermediate, to the grammar, and
embraced seven years of study. There were 600 pupils in the several departments,
and good teachers were emploved from the several state normal schools.

About 1890 or 1891, through the generosit-- of Senator James H. Stout, a
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manual training and domestic science school of two rooms, was attached to the
Central High School and soon had an enrollment of 40 pupils. The board of
education made it a part of the free school system. The manual training building
and Central School building were burned in 1897, but in a very few months work
was under way for the erection of a larger and better building. This building,
erected in 1898-99 is the brick manual training building conspicuous by a high
tower, and was the first of the group of buildings in which the work of the Stout
Institute is now carried on.

It should be noted that all the developments which had taken place before 1903
were for the boys and girls of the city of Menomonie, and all of the shop and labo-
ratory work was carried on under the public school administration. The yvear 1903
marks the beginning of the Stout Training Schools, which were organized for the
purpose of training teachers of manual training, domestic science, and kindergar-
ten work. At this time Dr. Lorenzo Dow Harvey was made superintendent of
all the schools of Menomonie, and his unusual capacity of organization and leader-
ship had much to do with the rapid development of these schools, which, after
Mr. Stout’s death in 1910, were taken over Ly the state. In that year, 1910, there
were enrolled in the public schools of the city, 1,114 children, divided as follows:
High School, 205; Central, kindergarten and eight grades, 403; Coddington, kin-
dergarten and four grades, 112; Fowler, six grades, 128; East, four grades; 48;
North Menomonie, six grades, 143; Junction, ungraded, 31. There was but one
large modern school building in the city system, the Central. The wide area over
which the city extends presented a complicated problem in the proper housing of
all the grades, and it was necessary for some students from all parts of the city to
attend Central School.

In the interests of economy, as well as efficiency and convenience, it was planned
to replace the Fowler and Coddington schools in the Fourth ward with modern
buildings in which the pupils then attending those schools should have a centrally
located school home. The Central school building now in use was erected in 1897,
and when built was one of the finest and most complete of its kind in the state.
It replaced the building which stood on the same site, and which was destroyed
by fire with the Stout Manual Training building, the previous winter. The cost
of the bare building was $42,850, the furnishing and equipment bringing the entire
outlay to upwards of $60,000. A new Coddington School building, at the corner
of Fifteenth Avenue and Sixth Street, was erected in 1917 and opened in January,
1918.

The first city school superintendent was JeSse B. Thayer, who held that posi-
tion until about 1875, serving some 10 or 12 years. He was succeeded by John
G. Ingalls, who served for a number of years. His successor was R. B. Dudgeon,
who had charge of the schools until the fall of 1903. After him J. E. Hoyt was
superintendent until the fall of 1903. Mr. Hoyt’s successor was Dr. L. D. Harvey,
head of the Stout schools, who was also superintendent of the city schools from
the fall of 1903 to Jan. 1, 1909. ‘The next superintendent was George A. Works,
who in 1905 had succeeded Thomas L. Jones as principal of the high school, and
who served as city school superintendent from Jan. 1, 1909 to 1921. He was fol-
lowed by Fred Thompson, 1911-1914; C. G. White, 1914-1917; E. W. Waite, 1917-
July, 1920; and Will G. Ballentine, July, 1920, to the present time.

Senator Stout’s position on the Board of Education of the Menomonie public
schools proved in the highest degree fortunate and uplifting. Educational devel-
opment was a subject that lay close to his heart and he brought to the task a driv-
ing force that had already manifested itself in other directions, and which was
guided by sound and far-sighted judgment. Coupled with the efforts of the local
authorities, it accomplished wonderful results. Nor was he sparing of his ample
means, as the magnificent Stout Institute, that has spread the fame of Menomonie
as an educational center all over the land, sufficiently proves.

It was in the public schools that Senator Stout’s progressive ideas were first
worked out. The schools were organized into a senior high school, a junior high
school, the intermediate and elementary grades, and kindergarten, and this system
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has since continued. The senior high comprises the tenth, eleventh and twelfth,
grades, and the junior high school the seventh, eighth and ninth grades. The
courses of study in the senior and junior high schools are organized around the
five major fields of educational interest, namely: English, foreign languages,
science, history and mathematics. In addition to these, vocational work, man-
ual training, home economics and commerce are also taught, and opportunity for
work in music and the fine arts is offered. The music work deserves special atten-
tion, having reached a high degree of excellence. The school maintains at a high
standard, an orchestra, and glee clubs for both boys and girls. Thus, a pupil with
musical ability finds opportunity and encouragement to develop his talent.

The junior high school is arranged to give the pupil a large number of com-
paratively brief contacts with the field of education. In other words it proposes
to give the students a sample of each subject that the senior high school has to
offer.  With this experience he can enter the senior high school, knowing in a way
his likes and dislikes, his special abilities, and with reasonable freedom of election
select those lines of work which suit his interests best. Especial mention should
be made of the exceptional opportunity for work along lines of manual training
and home economics which is open to the high school students. All the faculties
of Stout are available for this work, giving it a range and equipment far beyond
that found in the average public school. As proof of the quality of the high school
work it may be stated that the high school is on the accredited list of the North
Central Association of Colleges. This rating allows its graduates to enter without
examination any college or university in the 18 states comprising the Association.
The first six grades are housed in four buildings distributed over the city, so that
no child is far from a grade school. All the grade school buildings are modern
structures, embodying the best features of up-to-date schoolhouse construction.
TFe usual grade program is carried out by the regular grade teachers, who, in each
of .he subjects of music, art and physical training are assisted by a specially trained
supervisor. The health of the children is carefully guarded by the schools. A
graduate nurse is a regular member of the teaching force. She visits each room
practically every day. Contagious diseases are detected promptly and epidemics
prevented. Defects of eyes, ears, teeth and throat are discovered and recommen-
dation for correction made to the parents. Under-nourished children are detected
and, with the approval of the parents, are given one feeding of milk each day at
school. Tn addition especially under-nourished children are formed into nutrition
classes which meet for dinner one day each week. Correct foods are emphasized
at this weekly luncheon. In Menomonie parents can send their children to school
with confidence that their helath will not be jeopardized; rather that under the
careful supervision the child has a chance to grow not only mentally but physically.

In the present year, 1925, the city has four school buildings—the Central, Cod-
dington, East, and North Menomonie. The Central school includes high school,
eight grades, and kindergarten. It is provided with a gynmasium, some of the
pupils also using the armory for gymnastic purposes. Music is made a prominent
feature and there is a band and orchestra conducted by Paul E. Gregg. The
Coddington school includes six grades, with a kindergarten and an opportunity
room reserved for retarded scholars. This is a comparatively new building and
when it was erected the old Fowler school was given up, the present Coddington
school taking its place and that of the old Coddington. The East school, now
being rebuilt, which up to the present time has had four grades, will have six hence-
forth and probably also a kindergarten. The North Menomonie school has seven
grades and a kindergarten.

The pupils enrolled number 1192, divided as follows: senior high school, 286;
junior high school, 261; Central Kindergarten and grades, 179; Coddington kin-
dergarten and grades, 276; North Menomonie kindergarten and grades, 126; East
school, four grades, 64. All the school buildings are of modern construction, the
North Menomonie, like the Coddington, having been completed within the last
few years. In connection with each school there is a Mother’s Club, designed to
interest parents in the progress of their children. These clubs meet with the teach-
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ers once a month and are well attended. Such are the Menomonie public schools
today, but it is not unlikely that they may be better in the future, for the spirit
of Senator Stout still lives and operates as an active influence in their management
so that those who have them in charge, not satisfied with past achievements, how-
ever gratifying, are hoping and working for still greater results.

St. Paul’s Lutheran School.—The St. Paul’s Lutheran congregation, consisting
of about 300 families, believing it a duty to impart a liberal education in a Christian
spirit to the younger generation, has conducted for many vears a well organized
parochial school of eight grades. It is the aim of the teachers to make the pupils
entrusted to their care healthy-minded by developing originality and by teaching
activity, the mechanical part of education being subordinated to the understand-
ing of those principles which regulate reason and sound judgment which can then
be applied as circumstances demand. The present school building was constructed
in 1904 and is very adequately adapted to the purpose in mind. The teachers are
normal graduates of many years’ experience.

St. Joseph’s School.—As early as 1890 the members of St. Joseph’s parish
(Catholic) had feit the nccessity of providing for a parochial school whici shoul !
give adequate religious training as well as secular instruction to their children.
The rather modest frame building on Ninth Street first used for school purposes
soon proved inadequate to the purpose and a good brick school was put up in 1901.
Within ten vears or so this in turn was out-grown and in 1912, the present fine
school building was erected, facing Tenth Avenue. It is a solid brick structure,
two stories high, of tasteful architecture, and modern in every way, the four class
rooms being fully equipped. In addition the building contains a beautiful chapel,
a society room with a kitchen attached, and a roomy basement with all mcdern
facilities. Special attention has been paid to the heating and ventilating systems.
The average attendance varies between 110 and 125 pupils. For almost 30 years
the Franciscan Sisters of La Crosse have had charge of the school, the pastor of
the church acting as principal. At present there are four teachers besides the pas-
tor. While the system of education followed at St. Joseph’s school aims at the
svmmetrical development of the religious and moral sense, together with the cul-
tivation of the mental faculties of the pupils, every effort is made to secure for
them an all-round, complete, well-balanced, up-to-date elementary education. By
harmonious and sympathetic co-operation, wherever possible, with the city schools,
St. Joseph's has been fortunate enough to make arrangements very beneficial to
its pupils. A special feature of this plan is that the children of the seventh and
eighth grades spend one entire afternoon each week under the supervision of the
Stout practice teachers. The practical results achieved by the children in both
manual training and domestic science have been particularly gratifying under this
system of co-operation with Stout Institure.

A parochial school was established in 1886 by the Evangelical Lutheran Frie-
dens Church. but after being conducted for 33 vears, was given up in 1919.

The City Hospital of Menomonie, a well equipped and well managed institu-
tion, was established in 1915, the building being erected and opened in that year.
It cost $13,333 and was equipped with beds, other furniture, and all necessary utili-
ties at a cost of $9,000 more, making the total cost over $22,000. It is a city insti-
tution, the money for its establishment having been raised by taxation, but is
practically self-supporting, as the citv and county physicians send some of their
cases here to be cared for. There is no resident doctor, but there are five regis-
tered nurses under charge of a superintendent, who is also a registered nurse of
experience. The hospital as first constructed was a brick building of two stories
and basement, standing in the midst of spacious grounds between Twelfth and
Thirteenth streets and, Eleventh and Twelfth avenues. On Nov. 15, 1920, a fire
took place which destroyed the roof, besides doing other damage, the loss being
$15,000, which was covered by an equal amount of insurance. The building was
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at once repaired, being partly rebuilt and made as fireproof as possible, and some
time after that a new addition was made to the building in memory of Melchior
Brooks, a retired merchant of Menomonie who had died and left $16,000 to the
institution. The hospital now contains 20 beds, having accommodations for that
many resident patients. The first superintendent was Miss Lorna Stafford, who
held that position until Januarv, 1916. Her successor was Miss Leah Stratton,
who was succeeded in March, 1920, by Miss Irene Lage. Within a few months
after becoming superintendent Miss Lage died and in July, 1920, Miss Ethel
Hewett succeeded her, the latter holding the position until May, 1924, when she
was succeeded by the present superintendent, Miss Della M. Lystol. In addition
to the superintendent and nurses, the hospital employs six persons in the general
work of the institution. Among them, Frank Gadow, who has been employed
here from the beginning, has proved himself especially useful and efficient as
janitor and utility man.

Wisconsin Telephone Company.—The first telephone was installed in 1878 or
1879, on a private line from Knapp, Stout and Company’s office to the place now
known as Menomonie Junction. This line was grounded. In 1882 a local com-
pany was formed. O. K. Ranum was manager and he became toll agent for the
Wisconsin Telephone Company. The exchange was located in a drug store on
Main Street. In December, 1894, the Wisconsin Telephone Company, -which had
been granted an ordinance, took over this exchange. A year later an ordinance
was granted J. D. Hills and Sanford Heafield to build an exchange to compete
with the Wisconsin Telephone Company. This was accomplished and in January,
1899, the property was transferred to the Menomonie Telephone Company. This
company had little success, however, and in September of the same year the
Menomonie Telephone Company and the Wisconsin Telephone Company were
consolidated, and the exchange was moved to the Johnson building on the corner
of Main Street and Broadway. One toll section and two magneto local sections
were installed. The number of subscribers amounted to approximately 300. In
1906 the exchange was moved to 307 Main Street, its present location. ~A modern
type 9-D, six-position switchboard, equipped with 400 lines, was installed. = All
grounded lines were changed to metallic, the outside plant was rebuilt, a cable
extending throughout the city being put in. At the completion of the new switch-
board on May 1, 1906, the Wisconsin Telephone Company had 366 city subscribers
and 90 rural. Business increased rapidly in volume and as a result of the conges-
tion on cables and switchboards it became necessary, during the vears 1915 and
1916. to install two additional switchboard sections and 200 additional multiples.
The cable plant was enlarged and the cable system extended further into the resi-
dence districts. The underground system, costing approximately $7,000, was in-
stalled at this time in order that the poles and cables might be removed from the
business section of the city. One of the cables installed was a 990-pair cable,
containing 12 quads of No. 13 gauge, to handle the toll circuits. During the year
1919 one additional toll section was installed on account of the increase in toll
business. During the vear 1921 it was necessary to install one additional toll sec-
tion and one additional local section. Two hundred multiple jacks and signals,
also additional rural and toll equipment were installed. The construction crew
has recently completed the erection of three miles of 50-pair cable commencing at
Thirteenth Street extending east of Menomonie into rural territory in order to
eliminate the over-head wires on account of the strain on the poles, also avoiding
considerable trouble in the event of sleet storms. Erection of cable is contem.
plated for 1925 west of Menomonie in order to remove the excess strain of the
over-head wire lead in this territory. On April 1, 1925, Menomonie exchange had
1770 subscribers, of which 645 are rural.

The Bank of Menomonie is the outcome of a very early banking enterprise in
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Menomonie. For a number of vears Knapp, Stout & Co. (later The Knapp,
Stout & Co. Company) did a limited sort of banking business here as an adjunct
to their lumber industry, the chief feature of which was the issue of script, which
they paid out to their employees and which was good for its face value in Menom-
onie, but could not be redeemed elsewhere. But by 1867 the need of a banking
institution of more general scope was felt, and one was started in May of that year
by S. B. French, in the store he conducted, located two doors east of the present
Bank of Menomonie, on Main Street. Mr. French issued drafts or bills of exchange,
both domestic and foreign, but conducted no checking account. After a number
of years a fire destroyed one half the block including the French store, and in 1881
he erected the building now occupied by the Bank of Menomonie, in which for
some years he conducted a regular banking business. Then, owing to a deal on
margin in “Omaha’ railroad stock, which proved unfortunate, he became finan-
cially involved and made an assignment under the state law. The property and
business were bought by Capt. Andrew Tainter, and his son Louis S., who con-
ducted it as a private bank. Captain Tainter died in 1899, after which Louis S.
Tainter 1 \n the business alone until 1903, when, on Aug. 24, it was organized under
the state law. The charter, or “certificate of authority,” dated Aug. 28, was re-
ceived a few days later and the concern began business as a state bank, with Louis
S. Tainter, Fred L. French, Mrs. Bertha Tainter, and Mrs. Fanny McMillan as
stockholders. Louis S. Tainter was president; Mrs. Fanny McMillan, vice presi-
dent; F. T. Watson, cashier; and Fred L. French, assistant cashier. The organiza-
tion was under the name of the Bank of Menomonie and the capital was $30,000.
No important changes occurred until Feb. 19, 1906, at which time all of the old
stockholders sold out, the stock being bought in by a new set, consisting of James
H. Stout, L. D. Harvev, Elmer B. Hill, and W. C. Ribenack. James H. Stout was
president of the new organization; L. D. Harvey, vice president and Martin Fladoes
became cashier, no further changes occurring until the death of Mr. Stout Dec. 8,
1910, when L. D. Harvey was elected president. Mr. Stout’s interest was bought
by L. D. Harvey, Martin Fladoes, O. O. Nesseth, Olaf Noer and Dr. L. A. Dahl,
and is still owned by them. The present officers of the bank are: Martin Fladoes,
president; Oscar Wilson, vice president; John A. Fladces, cashier; and Myrtle
Hosford, assistant cashier. The bank's capital remains at $30,000; there is now
a surplus of $8,000 and the deposits amount to 8300,000.

In November, 1873, the firm of Schutte & Quilling, composed of William Schutte,
Sr.. and Albert Quilling, who were general merchants on Broadway, started a
banking business as co-partners, occupving quarters in the rear of the Schutte &
Quilling store building. The business was successful from the start and enjoyed
a steady growth. It was continued as a partnership concern until 1903, in which
year the state legislature enacted a law requiring all banks to incorporate or dis-
continue using the sign or name of bank or banking. To conform with this law,
the Schutte & Quilling banking concern was incorporated as The Schutte & Quill-
ing Bank, with a capital of $30.000 and a <urplus of $6,000. The same quarters
were occupied until 1907, when the bank was moved into a new home at 630 Broad-
way. In January, 1918, the capital was increased to $100,000, and in 1920 to
$200.000. ~ On Nov. 20, 1923, the bank celebrated its golden jubilee with an open
house, entertaining in the afternoon more than 1,500 friends and patrons. Early
in the following vear it was merged into the First National Bank, Albert Quilling,
the survivor of the two original partners, selling his stock and quitting the regular
banking business, to organize the Security Loan & Trust Company. William
Schutte, Jr., for many vears cashier of the Schutte & Quilling Bank, became a
vice president and a director of the First National, while O. C. Kausrud and Alfred
Peterson. directors, also joined the First National.

The First National Bank was started as a state bank in 1879 by the late F. J.
McLean, and began business with a capital of $30,000. On Jan. 2, 1883, it became
a national bank. Mr. McLean was its first president and served in that capacity
for many vears. In 1906 his interest in the bank was taken over by the late Sen-
ator James H. Stout. who remained at the head until his death in 1910, when his
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interest was acquired by Frank Pierce. then engaged in the banking business in
Durand. Mr. Pierce became president of the First National in 1911, moving here
on Sept. 1, and he has since continued in that capacity. The original capital of
the First National was $50.000. which was later increased to $60,000. Continued
growth made further expansion necessary and in 1920 the capital was again in-
creased, to $100,000. J. A. Decker was the first cashier of the bank when it came
into existence as a state bank, and continued in that capacity after it was nation-
alized until the spring of 1883, when he resigned, leaving Menomonie a few months
later to engage in banking business at Baldwin. Mr. Decker was succeeded by
the late W. C. McLean, who was cashier for many years. W. C. Ribanack foi-
lowed Mr. McLean, holding the position for about three years, when he was suc-
ceeded by James P. McLean, who was cashier during 1904-1905. In 1905 Frank
C. Jackson came here from Superior to take the cashiership, and continued in that
capacity until July 1, 1923, when he resigned and went to California to make his
home. A. M. Simpson has been serving as cashier since Mr. Jackson retired.
One of the most notable events in the history of this bank, and in the business
history of Menomonie, was referred to in the Dunn County News of Jan. 10, 1924,
as follows: “ Arrangements have been completed which will bring about consolida..
tion of the First National Bank of Menomonie and the Schutte & Quilling Bank,
two of the oldest and strongest banks in the N orthwest. Frank Pierce, president
of the First National, continues at the head of the enlarged institution. Within
a week, as soon as the remodeling at the First National is completed, the working
force and equipment at the Schutte & Quilling Bank will be moved to the First
National building. By the transfer the First N ational takes over the assets and
liabilities of the Schutte & Quilling Bank, with the exception of the Schutte &
Quilling Bank building. The ownership of this property passes to Albert Quilling,
who has for half a centurv been president of the bank which now. goes out of busi-
ness. The merger of these two banks gives Menomonie the largest bank for a
city of its size in Wisconsin, and, with one or two exceptions, the largest bank in
any city of 5000 population in the United States. The combined resources under
the new arrangement will reach nearly $4.000,000. According to the financial
report of the First National at the close of business Feb. 3, 1923, its resources
amounted to $1,731,744.98, and those of the Schutte & Quilling Bank to $1,952,-
117.16. To meet the needs of the business which this large expansion has made
necessary, the capital of the First National will be doubled. TIts present capital
of $100,000 will be increased to $200,000; the bank's surplus will be $40,000.”
The merger was celebrated by a public reception held at the First National Bank
on Saturday, Feb. 16, 1924." That it was an event widely noted was manifest
when the officers of the local institution received bouquets and congratulations
from the officers of various banks throughout the Northwest, including the cities
of St. Paul, Minneapolis, Milwaukee, Fau Claire, and Chicago, besides others.
Visitors were received from all over the county and from neighboring counties, as
well as from the city ( Menomonie). Probably 4,000 persons visited the institution.
Officers of the bank met the visitors at the door and presented flowers to the ladies
and cigars to the men, and neat packet-pieces of a new penny, surrounded by an
aluminum horseshoe, were given to the children. There was music by an orchestra
and the girls of the bookkeeping department were kept busy serving luncheon.
Guides escorted the people through the large vault containing the money safes and
safety deposit boxes, explaining the electrical alarm, time locks, and other features
of interest. The new vault has four times the capacity of the old one, and is the
last word in burglar-proof construction. It will accommodate more than 2,000
safety deposit boxes and anticipates growth for vears to come. An attendant is
constantly on duty to respond to the demands of the customers of this department.

The Kraft State Bank was formed in March, 1914, by Phillip Kraft and his
sons, John S., William F. and Samuel P. Kraft. It was organized as a state bank
with a capital of $30.000 and a surplus of $5,000, and the building was erected
which has been the home of the bank up to the present time. The first officers
were: Phillip Kraft, president: John S. Kraft, first vice president; Samuel P. Kraft,
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second vice president; and William F. Kraft, cashier. In August, 1923, Phillip
Kraft died and Samuel P. was elected president, O. G. Anderson becoming first
vice president, John S. Kraft second vice president, William F. Kraft cashier, and
Rudolph Rommelmever and H. B. Hendrickson assistant cashiers. There has
since been no change in the official board. The concern was engaged in a general
banking business from March, 1914 to May, 1924, when a trust department was
added. In 1918 the capital was doubled, being increased to $60,000, and in May,
1924, it was further increased to $100,000. At the present time the total resources
of the bank, including deposits, are over $1,000.000.

The Security Loan & Trust Co. was organized on March 17, 1924, by Albert
Quilling, with certain business friends and associates. It received its charter on
March 17 that year and started with a capital of $100,000 and a surplus of $10,000.
It occupies the first floor of the building at No. 630 Broadway—the building which
formerly housed The Schutte & Quilling Bank. The operation of the institution
includes trust service, savings and time deposits, real estate loans and investment
securiteis, and the drawing of contracts, deeds, mortgages, wills, and other legal
papers. The present officers are: Albert Quiiling, president; C. K. Averill, vice
president; Geo. R. Brewer, vice president; H. W. Quilling, cashier; and Emil ]J.
Bressler, assistant cashier.

In writing a history of retail lumbering in Menomonie, it becomes necessary to
go back into the early 50’s when material for the first buildings to be built in this
city were retailed by the Knapp, Stout and Company from the present site of the
LaPointe Lumber Company. The management of the Knapp, Stout and Company
at that time was in the hands of Captain William Wilson, grandfather of the present
manager of the company, G. W. LaPointe, ]Jr.

It was in this yard in 1879 that August Morscheck obtained employment as a
yard man, and has for nearly 46 years handled building material that has gone out
of the yvard to furnish shelter for man and beast. Mr. Morscheck’s record is one
of faithful, continuous service. In his time he has undoubtedly handled more than
a million feet of lumber every vear.

With the closing of the saw mills, the retail operations were taken over by The
Wilson-Weber Lumber Company, which was organized in May, 1902. Thomas
B. Wilson, James F. Wilson, Charles H. Weber and Louis H. Weber were the in-
corporators. They continued retail operations here and at other points in this
section of the state until 1911.

In 1911 the ownership of the local vard passed to the LaPointe Lumber Com-
pany, a corporation, and G. W. LaPointe, Jr., of Wilson, became manager. Mr.
LaPointe had previously engaged in the hardwood lumber business and in logging
operations in the northern part of the state and operated a retail yard at Wilson
and also one at Downing. Associated with Mr. LaPointe at Downing was A. H.
Barnard, a hardwood lumberman of Minneapolis. In the spring of 1912 the lum-
ber vard at Rusk operated by the North Star Lumber Company was purchased
by the LaPointe Lumber Company.

In 1916 the O. & N. Lumber Company was incorporated and its general office
located in this city with Mr. LaPointe as secretary and general manager. The
stockholders of the O. & N. Lumber Company are all lumbermen and pioneers.
J. T. Barber, president of the O. & N. Lumber Company, came to this section of
the country from Hannibal, Missouri. In 1875 he obtained a position with the
North Western Lumber Company and, at the death of Mr. D. R. Moon, became
its president. Mr. Barber has also served as secretary of the Montreal River
Company. S. G. Moon, treasurer, is the son of D. R. Moon. Mr. Moon’s father
was first engaged in buying and selling timberlands, logs. lumber and general
merchandise in Eau Claire in 1861. In 1869 Mr. Moon became interested in a
saw mill at Hannibal, Misscuri, and it was here that he made the acquaintance of
Mr. Barber. Mr. Mocr was also connected with the Sterling Lumber Company.
A. R. Owen, vice president, is general manager of the John S. Owen Lumber Com-
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pany at Owen, and is president and general manager of the Rust-Owen Lumber
Company at Drummond. John S. Owen, director, is president of the John S.
Owen Lumber Company at Owen, and is also interested in the mill at Drummond.
Both A. R. Owen and John S. Owen are interested in extensive lumbering opera-
tions in the South and West. Aside from his duties as secretary and general man-
ager of the O. & N. yards and president of the LaPointe Lumber Company, Mr.
LaPointe has served the Wisconsin Retail Lumber Dealers Association as its presi-
dent, treasurer and as a director.

The number of yards owned by the O. & N. Lumber Company was just about
doubled in 1917 when they became owners of the Wisconsin vards of the Midland
Lumber and Coal Company. Today they operate 33 vards located from Down-
ing to Stetsonville on the “Soo” Line and from Wilson to Neillsville on the Omaha.
O. & N. yards are located in nine counties and serve people in fifteen.

Up until the LaPointe Lumber Company became owners of the West Side yard,
the majority of homes that were built in Menomonie were built without plans.
Plan books were just beginning to be thought of. Up until this time lumber yards
were merely looked upon as dealers engaged in selling lumber. So it was something
a little bit new for the LaPointe Lumber Company to advertise in our pages that
they furnished complete plans and prices for complete homes, which they did along
about 1912 and 1913. Many homes were built in Menomonie from plans furnished
by the LaPointe people, but it was found that in a number of cases plans that were
offered in plan books were not suited to this particular section, or that very often
the builder wanted to make changes.

With the thought in mind of increasing its service to the builders of this com-
munity, the company in 1917 employed a draftsman to take charge of making
plans for prospective builders. Arnold O. Arntson, a graduate of Menomonie High
School, took charge of this part of the work. From this small beginning, the
Builders’ Service Department, as it is now called, has gradually grown until today
four men are employed in the drafting of plans and making guaranteed estimates
of building costs. The LaPointe people have eliminated all the guess work from
building. They have also provided a means whereby people are able to clearly
understand what their homes are to look like through the means of complete blue
prints and working drawings. This is a service that is not found in many towns
the size of Menomonie and it is only because of the large system of yards which
the O. & N. people operate that they are able to offer this service. here

The company employs the HoltBid System of estimating which was originally
compiled by one of its former emplovees, A. W. Holt, now located in Minneapolis.
The company also uses a modern electrical blue printing machine.

Few of us realize the number of people employed by the O. & N. and LaPointe
Lumber Companies in this city. Twenty-five families are represented in the O.
& N. and LaPointe offices here today. A group photograph was taken a year or
two ago at the time of the annual convention of yard managers which is held in
this city every February. Since the picture was taken a number of vards have
been added and at the last convention banquet there were 90 present.

The Wisconsin Milling Co. owns and operates the flour mill that was started
67 vears ago by Knapp, Stout & Co., that famous lumber concern having built
the original flour mill in 1858. It was operated by water power and had five run
of stone, to which two more were later added for feed grinding purposes. In
course of time the old millstones were replaced by steel rolls, and other modern
equipment was put in. The concern was incorporated as The Knapp, Stout & Co.
Company in 1878, and continued to opetate the mill subsequently until they ceased -
business here in 1901. They then sold it to the Wisconsin Power Co., by whom it
was operated until 1906, when it was bought by the Wisconsin Milling Co. The
latter have since more than doubled the capacity of the flour mill. The plant,
consisting of several good-sized buildings, is situated on both sides of the Red
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Cedar River, which at this point runs from east to west. On the south side of the
stream, which is here crossed by a bridge, is the large flour and feed mill, with a
small building formerly used as an office but which is not at present in use. It is
in the larger building that the company manufactures its flour products, and to
it the farmers bring their wheat to grind into flour, also corn, oats and barley for
grinding into feed. Just across the bridge is the fine office building now in use,
standing on land somewhat elevated above the level of the road, while to the west
of it is the “scratch feed plant,”” where mixed feed for poultry is ground, and which
has two elevators, one at each end, each forming an integral part of the building.
The east end of this mill was formerly the warehouse of the Knapp, Stout & Co.
Company, and it therefore possesses historic interest for the older residents of
Menomonie and the surrounding territory. The flour mill turns out eight stand-
ard products, namely: Mill Rose Flour and Company’s Best. the latter a fancy
patent flour; Rye Flour, Bolted Corn Meal, Buckwheat Flour, Hygienic Flour,
a whole wheat product for bread and pancakes; Rye Graham, and Creamola, a
breakfast food made from the heart of the wheat. The feed mill manufactures a
number of brands, w!.ich bet r the trade-mark of ‘“ A-C Feeds,” and which are pre-
pared in accordance with the published results of scientific research in the agri-
cultural stations of America. They include: A-C Dairy Ration, made from pure
grains and protein concentrates and mineral salts, for feeding cattle; A-C Calf
Meal, Monarch Dairy Feed, A-C Scratch Feed, A-C Chick Developer Feed, A-C
Baby Chick Feed, A-C Egg Producer (a mash), Monarch Scratch Feed, No. 2
Chop Feed, for horses and mules, and A-C Hog Feed. All these feeds are specially
designed for the purpose indicated. containing a variety of grains, seeds, and other
substances mixed in suitable proportions, and have won approval from the farmers
and increased patronage of the mills. The flour mill has a capacity of 600 barrels
in 24 hours. The mills are operated by water power, supplemented by electricity,
and are fully equipped with the most approved modern machinery. The product
is shipped to points in Wisconsin, the Central States, and Eastern territory, includ-
ing the markets of New York and Philadelphia. The present officers of the com-
pany are: E. O. Wright, president; A. E. Brecht, vice president; B. L. Kabot,
treasurer; and F. C. Myer, secretary. About 35 men are employed on an average.

The Menomonie Milling Company is engaged in the operation of a mill on
Gilbert Creek, about a mile from the city. The enterprise was established some
35 vears ago by Andreas E. Hofland, who built a steam mill on his farm. About
six months later, steam power having proved unsatisfactory, Mr. Hofland made a
contract, which included a 99-year lease, with Frank McLean for the water right
on Gilbert Creek, and moved the mill to the new site, where he built a dam and
resumed operations. Two years later the mill burned. Then, on April 19, 1902,
the Menomonie Milling Co. was incorporated with A. E. Hofland president, O. J.
Tilleson vice president, Alex Hosford secretary. and W. C. Ribanack treasurer.
Albert Quilling was a director, in addition to the officers above mentioned. In
January, 1904, Mr. Quilling was elected secretary, and in 1911 Odin Hofland be-
came a director. Byran L. Kabot has been secretary and treasurer since 1912.
The concern has continued to do a profitable business, doing custom milling, man-
ufacturing pearl barley, and dealing extensively in feeds. The product of the mill
averages 200 cars a year and is sold throughout the United States.

The manufacture of brick has been a leading industry for many years, and it
may be said to have taken in large measure the place of the once great lumber in-
dustry.

One of the earliest brick makers in Menomonie, if not the first, was a man
named Jesse Hughes, who operated a small plant located where the barn of the
Hydraulic Pressed Brick now stands. It is not known just when he started, but
he was still engaged in the business in 1888, ceasing operations soon after that.

In 1872 John and Frank Kelly, with W. A. Drowley, started a brick-making
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plant situated on the Hudson road two miles west of Menomonie, which was known
as the Kelly & Drowley vard. It was a small concern, but in 1882 was incorporated
as the Dunn County Pressed Brick Co., with J. G. Thorpe, of Eau Claire, as presi-
dent, J. T. Gilbert of Milwaukee secretary, and John H. Knapp of Menomonie
treasurer. John Hopwood and Judge John Kelly were stockholders. Mr. Gil-
bert, though his legal residence was in Milwaukee, spent about half his time in
Menomonie, being here during the summers. The output of the concern was in-
creased. About 1886 the name was changed to the Menomonie Pressed Brick Co.,
Frank Kelly at the time being superintendent. W. A. Drowley dropped out about
1888 and went over to the Standard Pressed Brick Co., a new concern, and in 1897
the plant was sold to the Hydraulic Pressed Brick Co., who operated it until 1907,
when they ceased to do so.

In 1888 the Standard Pressed Brick Co. was started, with yards in the town of
Menomonie northwest of the city and outside its limits. The site had been pre-
viously occupied for brick making by a man named Maltby, who had about three
acres of land, and who was bought out by the Standard people. The latter were
from Minneapolis, a Mr. Byers being president of the company and F. W. Cook,
secretary. W. A. Drowley of Menomonie was superintendent. The Standard
Pressed Brick Co. went out of business in 1894, and the property was subsequently
leased by the Ménomonie Pressed Brick Co., who operated it for three years.
They had no clay land, however, but leased some from Mr. Drowley who owned
a tract across the road.

Another concern, called the St. Paul & Minneapolis Pressed Brick Co., also
operated a brick-making industry, having 80 acres of land to the southwest of the
Standard property. The president and manager was J. K. Caldwell, a New
England man, who, it is said, came here from Galesburg, Il1., and the plant, there-
fore, was commonly referred to as the Caldwell plant or yards. Mr. Caldwell,
however, was not successful, and after operating for a while, and buying machinery
which he never installed, he quit and returned to Galesburg to live with a son-in-
law who resided there. The plant subsequently remained idle for a number of
years and was finally bought, about 1902, by the Hydraulic Pressed Brick Co.,
whose property it is now.

In 1885 the Wisconsin Red Pressed Brick Co. was incorporated, whose yards,
covering about 28 acres, were situated, as they are still, on the west bank of Red
Cedar River, within half a mile from the post office and within the city limits.
At that time J. W. Kendrick, of Minneapolis, was president of the company, and
A McMullen, also of Minneapolis, secretary and treasurer, while the superinten-
dent was S. L. Alexander of Menomonie. The concern has enjoyed a prosperous
existence up to the present time. It has a capital of $50,000 and employs about
55 men. Its officers are: J. P. McLean, president; F. J. McLean, vice president
and treasurer; and Oscar Wilson, secretary. Since 1921 it has been controlled by
the Excelsior Brick Co.

The Excelsior Brick Co. was organized as a stock company in the year 1900 by
F. J. McLean, J. H. Stout, and S. L. Alexander. Its vards are located within the
city limits about a mile and a half west of the post office. Its original capital of
$15,000 has been increased to $50,000 and its present officers are: J. P. McLean,
president; W. W. McLean, vice president: and F. J. McLean, secretary and treas-
urer. Oscar Wilson is manager and O. E. Carlson, superintendent. About 1912
this company bought from the heirs of Harry Sprink the property and good will
of the Tramway Brick Co., whose plant was situated about six miles northwest of
Menomonie, changing its name to the Menomonie Brick Co. The combined
product of the Wisconsin Red Pressed Brick Co. and the Excelsior Brick Co.; as
united under one management, is over 12,000,000 brick per year. It includes
rough texture brick, wire-cut-faced brick, red sand mound brick, also veneer, colo-
nial, sewer, chimney and common brick. The concern also keeps fire clay and
mortar coloring in stock.

The Hydraulic Pressed Brick Company, organized in 1868, having headquar-
ters in St. Louis and offices in M inneapolis, has two brick plants a mile and a half
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west of town, started about 1893, and is engaged in the manufacture of Hytex
brick. The company ships to all parts of the Northwestern States and employs
approximately 125 men in operating both plants.

In 1912 a man named Segerstrom came to Menomonie from Minneapolis and
got the citizens and Commercial Club interested in the establishment of a piano
factory here. He was given a site for a plant just across the river and a large
factory was erected. After operating it for two years Mr. Segerstrom failed, and
George P. Norris of Minneapolis was appointed receiver. He then organized the
Holland Piano Co., which is now operating the factory, the present manager being
J. M. Sleeper, who succeeded Henry M. Johnson in that position. The concern
manufactures upright and plaver pianos, both under two names or trademarks,
namely, the Holland piano and the Geo. P. Norris piano, the total output being
about 3,000 a year. From 60 to 100 men are employed.

The Forster Foundry Co., a concern that has enjoyed an uninterrupted career
of prosperity for the last 27 years, was started in 1898 as the :Junn County Iron
Works by H. H. Forster and Gotfried Kruger, who erected the building now in
use—a frame and concrete structure. The site, on Broadway near Ninth Avenue,
was part of a tract formerly belonging to John H. Knapp, and 56 years ago was
occupied by the Edwards & Son chair factory. But after a few years the chair
factory burned down and for a number of years thereafter the land was used for
a cow pasture and sometimes as a circus ground, until Mr. Forster bought it from
Henry Knapp. For four years the Dunn County Iron Works were conducted as
a common repair shop. At the end of that time Mr. Kruger sold his interest to
Mr. Forster and the latter, about six months later, sold it to T. L. Thorsen. The
concern then went into the manufacture of the Aetna gas engines. Mr. Thorsen
remained in it for two years, and when he dropped out his place was taken by
Samuel H. Forster, a son of H. H. Forster. On Jan. 1, 1922, the concern was in-
corporated as the Forster Foundry Co., with a capital of $§10,000, and George B.
Forster (another son of H. H.) was taken in as a member of the company. The
manufacture of gas engines had been given up several years before, and since then
the business has been conducted as a first class repair shop, though some manu-
facturing is still done to order—chiefly of structural iron work and miscellaneous
building material, which is shipped mostly to points in Wisconsin and Minnesota.
The present officers of the company are: H. H. Forster, president; S. H. Forster,
vice president; and George B. Forster, secretary and treasurer.

The Globe Iron Works were for some six or eight yvears a manufacturing con-
cern of Menomonie that was engaged in the manufacture of the White gas engines.
The promoters came here from Minneapolis and had a good engine, but failed to
develop a domestic trade, shipping their product mostly to Australia and New
Zealand. For a while they did a good business, but the inventor of the engine,
becoming manager, made some changes in it which he regarded as improvements,
but which were not acceptable to the foreign trade, the consignees returning the
shipments, and soon after that the concern went out of business here. Their plant
was bought and is now used by the Litnum Bronze Company.

The Litnum Bronze Company was organized as a stock company in 1919 by
August Litnum, of Milwaukee, H. C. Inenfeldt, of Menomonie, and others, for
the manufacture of lithum bronze, an invention of Mr. Litnum which has been
perfected by Mr. Innenfeldt. The concern acquired, by purchase, the plant of
the former Globe Iron Works, which manufactured the White Gasoline engine,
and has since continued its operation. The material manufactured in various
forms has some remarkable qualities, being stronger than steel, while 20 per cent
lighter, and having better wearing qualities, besides having a wonderful resistance
to the corrosive power of acids. It is produced in the form of all serts of bronze
castings, and as such largelv used in all the paper mills in the Fox River Valley,
and also in the form of centrifugal pumps, which are shipped to Los Angeles, Calif.
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Some of the product goes east to New York and to various other parts of the coun-
try. The present officers of the company are: H. C. Inenfeldt, president; S. B.
Ingram, secretary; B. F. Crane, vice president; A. J. Josephson, treasurer. There
are seven trustees, including the officers above mentioned, with the addition of
Ed. E. Roach, George Emerton and E. A. Finley. Mr. Litnum is not now a mem-
ber of the company.

In 1917 the John Wildi Evaporated Milk Company came to Menomonie and
built a fine milk condensary plant costing $250,000. Operations were commenced
in April, 1918, and continued by the company for several years, when they sold
out to Nestle's Food Company, and the plant was operated by the latter for three
or four vears. It had a capacity of 150 to 200,000 pounds of fluid milk a day, or
a dailyv output of $1,500 to 2,000 cases of factory product, necessitating normally
the employment of 150 to 200 persons. But unfortunately the great expectations
raised by the establishment of so large an industry in Menomonie were doomed
to final disappointment, as the receipts proved insufficient to cover the great cost
of operation. The plant was closed down in the fall of 1924 and is now being dis-
mantled.

In 1895 H. H. Foster, C. J. Anderson and Fred Kempe established the Menom-
onie Iron Works, which were operated for about ten years as a general foundry and
machine shop, employing ten or more skilled workmen. The plant then burned
down and the business was discontinued. .

The Oscillating Sleigh Co., an enterprise started in 1904 for the manufacture
of high grade vehicles, and the Waldron & Vasey feed mill, started in 1909, are no
longer operating.

Cigar making has been carried on in Menomonie for quite a number of vears.
A leading concern in this line is that of Anderson Bros., Inc., which was established
in 1893 and is now the largest cigar factory in northern Wisconsin. The company
is capitalized at 840,000 and has turned out as large an output as 2,000,000 cigars
in one year. Associated with this concern is the A. B. Leaf Tobacco Company,
having a capital stock of $50,000, of which $22,000 is paid in. It started business
in 1920 in Barron, Wis.

The Menomonie Cigar Company, with Reine Breitzman and Al. Plutshack
proprietors, also manufacture several brands of popular cigars.

The Menomonie Marble and Granite Works, P. H. Hamerly proprietor, is a
well established concern, which manufactures tasteful monuments and gravestones.

The Menomonie Greenhouse has been operating for over 20 years and is noted
for its excellent service and the quality of its product. Design work, cut flowers
and plants, shrubbery, vegetables and bulbs are the most important lines of horti-
culture carried on by the manager of the plant.

The Menomonie Nurseries were begun about three years ago for the purpose
of supplying the surrounding country with hardy homegrown strawberries, rasp-
berries, blackberries, and other small fruits; also with plum, apple, cherry and other
trees.

The Mencmonie Dairy Co. is a concern operated under the management of
H. J. Vigels in the manufacture of ice cream, also doing a general dairy business.
The output of ice cream amounts to about 50,000 gallons a year.

In retail lines Menomonie is acknowledged to be one of the best cities of its
size in the state. Shippers come here from many miles around, including resi-
dents of other cities and villages, being attracted by the complete stocks of high
quality goods on sale. In 1924 the equalized valuation of the merchants’ stocks
was 8790,959. One department store alone carried a stock worth $150,000. It
would be impossible in a work of this kind to go into a general history of the various
stores. Reference may be found to many in the biographical part of this volume,
contained in the biographies of their respective proprietors.

In 1863 the village began to feel the need of a hotel and Nathan Eytcheson
built the Menomonie House, which continued for many years to afford accommo-
dations to travelers, the proprietor in the early 90’s being O. K. Fox.

The Central House was started in 1869 by P. Hansen, who soon afterwards took
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his brother, T. Hansen, into partnership. It has been several times enlarged and
improved and is now conducted by W. P. McGuinnes, who has been its proprietor
for five years.

In 1871 George P. Hanneymer built the Merchant’s Hotel, which burned down
in 1883 and not rebuilt.

The Royal Hotel was built in 1885 by the Menomonie Hotel Company, which
was incorporated in the same vear, with F. J. NcLean as president and A. Quilling,
treasurer. It was opened by Mr. and Mrs. William Auer of Chicago and has since
changed owners a number of times, the present proprietor being Wilbur Tibbils,
who took it five years ago.

The Farmers’ Mutual Fire Insurance Company is an organization that has now
enjoyed an unbroken and successful career of half a century. It was first con-
ceived by a group of about 40 farmers who met in Grange Hall in the town of Spring
Brook. The actual date of organization was Oct. 16, 1873, and business was
commenced on Jan. 17, 1876. The company operates on the vearly assessment
plan, the assessments being regulated so as to cover losses plus the small expense
of operation. A central office is maintained in Menomonie and there are agents
among the farmers in the different towns. 7The statutes of the company provided
that one man could be insured for not more than 83,000, (now $15,000) and all
kinds of farm property could be insured. There has been a steady growth, and
in January, 1925, there were 3,041 policies in force representing about $15,000,000
of insurance. Thomas Dickson was the first president, and H. A. Farnham was
the secretary of the company during its infancy. Then W. H. Landon was sec-
retarv until 1913, after which E. B. Young held the office for a year. Then J. B.
Chickering, who died recently, performed the duties of the office until 1920, when
he was succeeded by J. D. Millar, who has served up to the present time. The
losses for the first vear consisted of a barn owned by William Blume and a cow
owned by John Stavrum, the total amounting to §420. The assessment of two
and a half mills has remained the same despite the fact that the total losses last
vear (1924) were about $35,600. The field covered by the company is confined
to Dunn County. The present members of the board of directors are: E. B.
Young (president), J. D. Millar (secretary and treasurer), S. S. Sivertson, Thomas
Dunning and Frank Stewart.

Social activities have been a strong feature in the city’s life from an early
period in.its history. In one of its issues in the year 1874 the Dunn County News
published a review of the principal societies then existent here, which, in addition
to the Masons and Odd Fellows, included the following: The Ladies’ Benevolent
Society, non-sectarian, which was controlled and managed by ladies, though gen-
tlemen were admitted as members; Grace Mission Church Scciety, for promoting
the welfare and prosgperity of the Episcopal church, for which purpose the society
gave various entertainments; the Ladies’ Sewing Scciety, organized in. 1868 by the
ladies of the Methodist church; the German Harmonia Scciety. a musical organiza-
tion sustained by German citizens, a Turner Society keing included in it; the Ger-
man Aid Society, organized in 1874; the Scandinavian Aid Scciety, which had a
singing society connected with it; and the Mencmonie Literary Society, having
as its object, the mental improvement of its members by means of lectures, read-
ings and similar exercises. Other societies sprang up later, such as the Good Tem-
plars, a temperance organization, which had its uses in the saloon days; the Sons
of Herman and Daughters of Herman, German societies; the Ancient Order of
United Workmen, and others. Some of these societies have gone out of existence,
no one remembers when, but their places have been filled by others, and there is
todayv no lack of opportunities for those desiring social intercourse outside of the
home. Brief mention will be here made of the principal social or fraternal organi-
zations now existing in the city, some of which were established many years ago.

Menomonie Lodge No. 164, F. & A. M., was granted a dispensation Sept. 6,
1866, and its charter is dated June 12, 1867. It is the oldest fraternal society i
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Menomonie, having carried on its work for over 58 years. Its present membership
is 276.

Mencmonie Chapter No. 33. R. A. ML, is 11 vears vounger than the lodge, hav-
ing received its dispensation July 24, 1877, and its charter being dated Feb. 20,
1878. At the present time (May 1, 1925), it has 165 members,

Menomonie Chapter No. 131, O. E. S. (Eastern Star) received a dispensation
May 9, 1902 and a charter dated May 17, 1902. It has 248 members,

Menomonie Commandery No. 47, K. T., was constituted Oct. 18, 1922, and
now has 75 members.

In 1914 the fine building known as the Masonic Temple was erected at the
southwest corner of Main Street and Broadway. It is a large, handsome and
substantial two-story brick structure with basement, and is well fited up through-
out. Its cost was $30,000, the money being raised through stock subscriptions,
the stock being purchased not only by Masons but also by citizens of Menomonie
and Dunn County not belonging to the order. The holding company is known as
The Masonic Temple Association, of which Walter A. Clark is now president and
Oscar Wilson, secretarv and treasurer. One of the hardest workers for the suc-
cess of this enterprise was Brother A. C. Anderson. ‘The Commercial Club occu-
pies the first floor of the building, and also the basement, where there is a good
bowling alley, while on the upper floor are the rooms of the Blue Lodge, Chapter
(R. A. M.), Commandery and Eastern Star, all these organizations paying a fixed
rent to the holding societv for their accommodations. The Masons have a strong
organization in Menomonie and the meetings of the different branches of the order
are well attended and marked by a spirit of unity and interest in the work.

Bury Lodge No. 183, I. 0. O. F., was instituted Aug. 3, 1870, and in August,
1876 Red Cedar Lodge No. 261 (German ritual), I. O. O. F., was instituted. These
two lodges were consolidated in 1912 under the name of Red Cedar Lodge No. 183,
I. O. O. F., with a charter dated June 5 that year. )

Ben Hur Encampment No. 54, I. O. O. F., was organized about 1890 and was
reorganized in 1922 with a charter dated Oct. 11. There were 30 charter members,

Evergreen Lodge No. 44, D. of R. (Rebekahs), I. O. O. F., was instituted March
1, 1873, and received a charter dated Dec. 3, 1875. There were 20 charter mem-
bers. At present the lodge has 74 members.

The Odd Fellows own a two-story brick building on Main Street, which was
purchased and remodeled in the spring of 1916. The ground floor is occupied by
Olson’s art store. The lodge rooms, which are on the cecond floor, are used not
only by the Odd Fellows, but also by several other fraternal societies, including
the following: White Rose Colony No. 240, Beavers’ Reserve Fund, chartered
July 11, 1906; Mencmonie Tent, Knights of the Maccabees, chartered in April,
1897; Independent Scandanavian Workingmen’s Association, chartered May 23,
1898 ; Normanna Lodge, Scandanavian Sisters of America, chartered Sept. 13, 1905;
Forest Hcme Camp No. 93, Royal Neighbors of America, an old camp, the char-
ter of which, however, bears no date; Juvenile Camp of Royal Neighbors No. 93,
chartered in October, 1921, with 27 charter members, and the Carpenters’ and
Joiners’ United Brotherhood No. 68, chartered in February, 1901.

Pine Camp No. 1261, M. W. A. (Modern Woodmen) of which the Royal Neigh-
bors’ camps are auxiliaries, was organized in January, 1890, and now has about
305 members. In January, 1923, the camp moved into their present room in the
Knights of Pythias hall, having previously cccupied quarters in the I. O. O. F.
hall. Forest Home Camp of Royal Neighbors has between 250 and 260 members,
and the Juvenile Camp 34 or 35.

Ed. C. Gottry Lodge No. 170, K. of P., was instituted Feb. 9, 1909, with 18
members, and in the following June received its charter. It has had a steady
growth and is now a strong lodge with 201 members (April, 1925).

Liberty Temple No. 34, Pythian Sisters, was organized April 18, 1918, and
now has a total membership of 87—66 sisters and 21 knights.

Another branch of the Knights of Pythias order was organized in January,
1925, namely, the Dramatic Order of Knights of Khorassan, a purely social or-
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ganization, sometimes referred to as ‘“The Dokkeys,” and which may be regarded
as “the playground of Pythianism.” The growth of the Pythian order in Menom-
onie became visible when the Pythian Temple was erected in 1924. On April 18,
that year, the building association was incorporated, and on Julv 27 the corner-
stone of the building was laid with imposing ceremonies, including a procession
with band, and an address by Richard S. Witte, of Milwaukee, supreme repre-
sentative. There were many Pvthians present from other towns. The temple,
situated on Main Street between Fourth and Fifth, was dedicated in November
the same year. It cost $24,000 and is owned by the Pythian Building Association,
incorporated with $20,000 worth of stock, all held by members of the Pythian
order.

The Menomonie Liederkranz, formerly one of the most prominent musical or-
ganizations in this section, was formed in 1905 by a few enthusiastic spirits whose
purpose was to advance the musical interests of the city. Dr. A. F. Heising was
the~first president. The society had a fine male chorus and social functions were
held once a month in Stori’s hall. During the war the Liederkranz was changed
to a purely social club, a1:d about a year ago it dissolved.

The Commercial Club, one of the leading civic organizations of the city, in-
cluding on its membership roll the names of nearly all the influential business
men, held its first meeting in the Gymnasium building on Jan. 17, 1905. N. J.
MacArthur was chairman of the committee on organization, and the first officers
elected were: J. H. Stout, president; L. D. Harvey, first vice president; E. J. Kim-
ball, second vice president; N. J. MacArthur, secretary; and William Schutte, Jr.,
treasurer. It was announced that Mr. Stout gave the club the use of the rooms
in the Gymnasium for a period of three vears, subject only to the condition that
the work of the club should not interfere with the work being done for the schools
of the city. These rooms were occupied by the club until June, 1914, when re-
moval was made to its present fine quarters in the Masonic Temple, the club rent-
ing the first floor and basement. The formal opening of the Commercial Club
took place on March 3, 1905. It started with about 81,000 worth of furniture
and supplies of its own, besides property installed for the use of the club and owned
by Mr. Stout. It began in a prosperous condition with no indebtedness. During
the 20 years of its existence the club has interested itself actively in many projects
for the advancement of the city. It has succeeded in creating a common feeling
of fellowship among the business men of the city, and all classes of citizens, the
spirit of democracy being largely emphasized in its membership, and has helped
to create a stronger union between the city and the county in general. A pleasant
feature has been an annual banquet to the members of the county board, the first
of which was held in the fall of 1905. Among the projects in which the club has
interested itself may be mentioned the launching of the new Omaha depot
project in 19035; commercial and industrial and transportation improvement,
covering a number of subjects; sanitary conditions surrounding the citv water
supply; summer band concerts in the parks; advertising of the city’s advantages;
investigation of the resources of Menomonie and surrounding territory; taxation
of electric corporations; and other useful work in promotion of the public welfare.

The Dunn County Old Settlers’ Association was organized at a meeting held
in the court house on Saturday, Oct. 3, 1891, when a constitution was adopted.
Henry Ausman, of Elk Mound, was elected president for the first year, and S. B.
French, of Menomonie, secretary. It was decided to hold annual meetings.
According to the constitution, any person who had reached the age of 45 years
and who had lived at least 25 years in Dunn County, was eligible to membership.
A great many joined, as the records that have been preserved show a total of be-
tween 500 and 600 names. Many of these, of course, have now passed away,
but some of the original members are still living. For a number of years the
society has held its annual meetings in the Memorial Building, Menomonie. At
the meeting held on Saturday, Oct. 18, 1924, more than 100 members were present.
The member then present with the longest residence in the county was Mrs. Lu-
thera E. Ames of Eau Galle, who came here from New York State in 1854. It is
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usual at these reunions to have a banquet and for some of the members to read
historical papers or relate their personal experiences of early days, and in this way
some valuable contributions to the history of the county have been made and
preserved through newspaper publication.

The Rotary Club of Menomonie was chartered in January, 1924, with 25
members and now numbers 33. Like similar clubs elsewhere, it is a service or-
ganization intended to include one representative from each line of business and
each profession in the city. While too young as yet to have an impressive record,
the club has a membership of active and mentally alert citizens who are not likely
to let any opportunities slip by them for advancing the best interests of the com-
munity.

In January, 1911, an organization known as the Associated Charities was ef-
fected in Menomonie for the general relief of the .poor and needy of the city. The
Charities are supported by public subscription, the organization being composed
of a number of prominent citizens, both men and women; several of the churches
also have taken part in the work. - Cases of need are investigated and help fur-
nished in the shape of food, clothing, fuel, medical attendance, nurse service, or
whatever is most necessary in each particular case. Occasionally assistance is given
to people residing outside of the city. It was through thisorganization that theserv-
ices of a visiting nurse were secured for Menomonie, and for a number of years she
was supported entirely by the organization. Thena few years ago the cityappropri-
ated 850 a month toward her salary, her duties being enlarged to include those of
school nurse, but now the city payvs the entire expense of a city nurse. Before the
organization of the Charities, Menomonie had an Anti-Tuberculosis Society, of
which Dr. Anfin Egdahl was the head, but the work of that society was taken up
by the Associated Charities after the organization of the latter. Dr. N. L. Howi-
son has been a most active worker for the Charities. In 1916 the city appropriated
for the Charities 830 a month, that amount being increased to $40 a month later.
The rest is made up from donations—money collected on tag days, and by sub-
scription. The presidents of the Associated Charities have been: M. C. Douglas,
Dr. Anfin Egdahl, Mrs. Paul Wilson, Frank Jackson, and Rev. A. E. Westenberg,
the last mentioned of whom is now serving. Mrs. Frank Pierce is now vice presi-
dent, Mrs. E. P. Noves secretary, and Martin Fladoes, treasurer.

The public rest room on Third Street between Main Street and Crescent
Avenue, was donated to the city by Albert Quilling.

A branch of the Child’s Conservation Society of America has recently been
organized in Menomonie.

The Menomonie Country Club was organized three years ago by a group of
progressive citizens who realized the advantage of such an asset to the citv. It
now enjoys a splendid nine-hole golf course of incomparable beauty. Situated as
it is, one mile from the city, on Federal Highway No. 12 and State Highway No.
79, on the banks of Wilson Creek, the location is ideal. The spacious, well-
appointed club house is situated directly on the banks of Wilson Creek in a set-
ting of virgin white pine, which are greatly admired by all who knew Wisconsin
in the days of its lumber industries The club house is thoroughly equipped with
every convenience and is available for use by visitors to Menomonie through var-
ious avenues of approach; and students of the summer school of Stout Institute
have the privilege of its use through arrangements with the school authorities.

The Woman’s Social Club was an organization formed in October, 1907, for
the promotion of the physical and social well being of the women of Menomonie.
Its first president was Miss Alma Binzel, and Julia Bigelow was physical instructor.
This club dissolved several vears ago.

The Menomonie Woman’s Club was formed in April, 1902, with Mrs. E. E.
Lamberton secretary, and with an enrollment of 20 members. The original pur-
pose was mutual help and united effort toward intellectual development. It
gradually enlarged its scope, however, so as to include any movement for the
general improvement or welfare of the city. Among its useful activities mayv be
mentioned its co-operation with the Improvement Asscciation at the starting
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of that organization, the providing of swimming suits to high school students, the
providing of waste paper baskets for the streets, improvement of conditions in the
public schools, the holding of an arts and crafts exhibit, distribution of Christmas
dinners, and social help and the promotion of ideals among the members. The
club joined the Wisconsin federation in its first vear and has always been repre-
sented by delegates at the state conventions. It has now a good membership,
including many of the leading women in the community.

The Tuesday Musicale was a woman’s club which was organized Nov. 1, 1905,
with Mrs. Fannie Macmillan, president; Miss Edith Gerard, vice president; Miss
Ada Kelsey, secretary; and Mrs. Frank Torrey, librarian. The objects of the club
were to study the works of the classical composers, advance the proficiency of the
members in music and bring about a closer social intercourse among them. For
the first year the club met at the homes of members and subsequently in the
Memorial building, an open session being held once a year. The club did much to
promote the musical interests of the city but finally dissolved. Its place has been
taken by the Wednesday Musicale, organized along similar lines.

Several other important subjects in conuectioi. with the history of the city
remain to be treated, among them the press, the Stout Instiiuie, the Memorial
Building and Library, military societies and the churches, all of which will receive
mention in succeeding chapters.






THE STOUT INSTITUTE BUILDINGS:

The Household Arts Building at left, Gymnasium in the rear, Industrial Arts Building
in the centre. The building at the right is the Public High School,



CHAPTER XV
THE STOUT INSTITUTE, MEMORIAL BUILDING AND LIBRARY

The Stout Institute—Twenty-two vears ago there was established in Menom-
onie an educational enterprise that has spread the fame of the little city not only
throughout the United States, but also in Canada and lands beyond the sea. It
had for its unique purpose the training of teachers of household arts and of indus-
trial arts. The word *“unique” is used advisably, for the idea was then new, and
even today there are no other schools in the country exclusively in its field of work,
To Menomonie come students from all over the land, and even from other coun-
tries, to get new ideas in the teaching of children and in the philosophy of bringing
the school into vital relations with the practical things in human living.

The germ of this idea dates farther back than the period above mentioned.
It was conceived in the mind of James H. Stout, state senator for 16 vears, and a
member of the great lumber company whose activities resulted in the founding
of the city. Mr. Stout—to whom thousands of human beings owe a deep debt of
gratitude—had amassed a considerable fortune, but, unlike most men with similar
opportunity, he acquired money not for the sake of money but for the good that
money can do for the welfare of humanity. He came to Menomonie in 1889, but
before that had become interested in manual training. Almost immediately after
his arrival here he became active in that direction, and also in the cause of general
education, and as a member of the school board for some years he accomplished
some notable things.

At that time (1890) manual training was given in only two or three cities of
Wisconsin. After a conference and arrangement with the school board in Sep-
tember of that year, Mr. Stout set to work and in 1891 his first school, a two-room,
two-story building of 22x24 feet in ground plan was opened, offering to the boys
and girls of Menomonie courses in manual training and domestic science in con-
nection with the city school system. On the first floor were the wood-working and
mechanical drawing departments, and on the second the sewing, dressmaking and
cooking departments. This building, which stood just north of where Central
School now stands, was soon out-grown, and, having been moved, is now used by
the Agricultural School.

To take its place Mr. Stout erected in 1893 a large building costing $100,000
and equipped completely for carrying on many lines of hand work. - The motive
for this building was found in the St. Louis Manual Training School, though its
actual model was the Toledo Training School. It was of three stories, with a
ground plan of 59x137 feet. '

The work proceeded, watched with interest by leading educators throughout
the state, but in 1897 there came a brief interruption, for on Feb. 3 of that year
the building was destroyed by fire. So much success had been already attained,
and so much interest created, that on the day following this disaster a petition was
circulated, and signed by hundreds of citizens, urging Mr. Stout to rebuild the
school. In response he offered to build a larger and better manual training build-
ing, to be fire-proof, and to cost not less than $60,000, on the understanding, or
condition, that the city should build a high school at an equal cost. This being
agreed to, a new manual training building—the one now in use—was erected,
costing with equipment about $150,000. This substantial and ornamental struc-
ture, with its high clock tower, is conspicuous in the Stout group, and, with the
rest, is a fitting monument to the big-hearted lumberman and statesman to whom
it owes its existence.

In 1901, carrying further forward his plan of complete and symmetrical equip-
ment, Mr. Stout built the School of Physical Training, containing a gymnasium
and a natatorium, and costing ccmplete about $100,000. Here for some years
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the school children were given free baths and also taught to swim, and here also
for a period the Commercial Club had quarters. Prof. N. J. MacArthur was the
first physical instructor, coming from Toronto, Canada, and launching the work
most successfully. He and his successors have not only instructed the pupils in
the care of their bodies and directed their exercises, but under their tutelage Me-
nomonie High School and the Institute have produced athletic teams that have
added to the reputation of Menomonie institutions through their success in com-
petition with other schools.

In September, 1899, after the organization of the Dunn County School for the
training of teachers for rural school work, it was given quarters in the main build-
ing of the Stout Institute, but in 1902 the county provided a special building for
it, which it shares with the Dunn County School of Agriculture, The history of
these two county schools is sketched in separate articles.

It should be noted that all the developments which had taken place before 1903
were for the boys and girls of the city of Menomonie, and all of the shop and lab-
oratory work was carried on under the public school administration. The year
1903 marked the beginning of the Stout Training Schoois whicu vere organized
for the purpose of training teachers of manual training, domestic science, and
kindergarten work. In that year Mr. Stout established two schools for this pur-
pose—one for manual training work and the other for domestic science. Subse-
quently a school for home makers was founded for the benefit of girls who desire
to acquire proficiency in the domestic arts but do not intend to pursue professional
work as teachers. The coming of Dr. L. D. Harvey in 1903 was an important
event, not only for the Menomonie public schools, of which he was made superin-
tendent, but more particularly for the Stout schools, the rapid development of
which was due largely to his unusual capacity for organization and leadership.
In September, that year, there were 25 students enrolled in the Training School.
Forty-eight were enrolled the second year, 98 the third vear, and in 1908 there
were 197 students enrolled. By 1913 the number had increased to over 500 and
it is now over 600. Summer schools we.2 started in 1906.

The Kindergarten department of the Stout Institute grew out of a movement
inaugurated by Mr. Stout in 1899. when he erected kindergarten buildings in con-
nection with the Coddington and North Menomonie schools and equipped rooms
in the Central building for the training of kindergarten teachers. In 1909 the
kindergarten department of the Institure was closed, thereby giving more room to
other departments which needed it badly.

Early in 1908 another important development took place, when the Stout
schools were incorporated and became the Stout Institute. After the death of
Mr. Stout, which took place on Dec. 10, 1910, the Institute was taken over by the
state. In 1913 the state appropriated $265,000 for new buildings and grounds,
and in the same vear the Building Trades School, costing $50.000, was erected.
The year 1916 saw the erection of the Household Arts Building at a cost of $§200.000.
In addition to these, there are the Industrial Arts Building and the School of Phys-
ical Culture.

While the early development of the work of the school was due largely to the
efforts of Mr. Stout, its later development and progress were brought about by
Dr. Harvey and Mr. Stout’s working together. When the school was taken over
by the state, the work of bringing about legislation providing for appropriations
for the maintenance of the school, and for new buildings and equipment, fell
largely upon Mr. Harvey, and this was always handled in a masterly way. For
many years after coming to Menomonie he spent considerable time in traveling
and lecturing. His messages concerning the work done at Stout were carried into
all sections of the United States. The new ideas were broadcasted over the coun-
try, with the result that for many years the Stout school at Menomonie was rec-
ognized as a school doing a new and unusually valuable work for the advancenemt
of education. Hundreds of visitors came each year to view at first hand the work
of the school.

Following the death of President Harvey in June. 1922, Superintendent of



THE HOUSEHOLD ARTS BUILDING, STOUT INSTITUTE

THE TRADES BUILDING, WITH INDUSTRIAL ARTS BUILDING IN
BACKGROUND, STOUT INSTITUTE






HISTORY OF DUNN COUNTY 119

Schools Burton E. Nelson of Racine, Wis., was, by the board of trustees, made
president. He assumed active charge in April, 1923. Mr. Nelson organized the
first vocational school in the central west, working under separate organization
and administration. This same statement probably holds true for the entire
country. The advanced law making this school possible is accredited to the late
Charles McCarthy of the Wisconsin Reference Library, and was passed by the
Wisconsin Legislature in 1911. Mr. Nelson gave the following seven vears to a
careful study of vocational education and the development of the Racine Vocational
School.  With his wide acquaintance with the city superintendents throughout the
middle west the school should receive a new impetus for growth and advancement.

When in 1911 the Stout became a state school it assumed a new obligation to
produce a sufficient supply of competent teachers for the state. New problems
of expansion and specialization had to be met. But the demand for Stout Insti-
tute graduates increased so rapidly that a further extension of the course became
imperative. There came now a demand in all of the larger high schools for degree
graduates. The Stout Institute was not authorized to go beyond the two-year
diploma course. No other school was prepared to furnish such instruction as
Stout was able to give. Recognizing that fact, the legislature in 1917 conferred
upon the Stout school the degree granting power—that of Bachelor of Science in
industrial arts or household arts according to the school in which the work is taken.
The school continued to grant the two-year diploma because the demand for four-
vear graduates far exceeded the supply. Beginning in July, 1925, upon comple-
tion of two vears of work, a certificate of attainment will be given. Those who
choose the three-year course will recejve the diploma. This, and in some cases
the certificate, forms the basis for the issuance of a teaching license. In Wiscon-
sin a license is issued for one vear, and is renewable for another year. After two
vea s of successful teaching a life certificate is issued.

Vhile the major part of the Institute’s enrollment is from Wisconsin, almost
every state in the Union is represented in the student body. Stout graduates are
teaching virtually in everv state; they are teaching in Canada, the Canal Zone,
Cuba and other parts of the West Indies and in Hawaii. Graduates who can be
strongly recommended are generally placed before the diplomas are granted. The
Stout Institute strives not for enrollment but for accomplishment.

Beginning with the summer session of 1921 the Instutite has operated on a
45-week year. There is the usual holiday vacation and a short recess between the
regular and summer sessions. The school year, now considered as being 45 weeks,
is made up of five nine-week terms, one of which is the summer session. In the
latter, certain courses are operated on the semester basis to enable the students
to earn semester credit.

The average attendance at Stout Institute for 12 vears up to September, 1924,
was 408; its lowest was 221 in 1917-18, and its highest was 589 in 1922-23, when a
number of special students were carried in addition to regular students. With
the enrollment restricted to regular students the attendance dropped a little but
is now again in the neighborhood of 600.

It has been the policy of the school for some years to restrict the number of
freshmen; the number of men is confined to 102 and the women to 144 each fall.

The school has been designated by the state board of vocational education of
Wisconsin as the institution to be recognized and federally aided for teacher train-
ing for vocational schools. It has also been federally recognized as the center for
the efforts of the federal board of vocational education in Wisconsin.

All organizations and outside activities of the school are banded under one
head, the Stout Student Association, the board of directors of which is made up
of the executive officers of the several organizations. It is the mission of the asso-
ciation to influence uniformity in the extra-curricular activities of the student body,
to curb those activities which are too apt to absorb an undue amount of attention
of the student body, and to promote interest in those activities which bring about
more rounded development of the minds and bodies of the students but which are
not generally popular. ‘
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The school band is unusually complete and active for a collegiate band, and is
popular with the students, who welcome its appearance at assemblies, “‘pep’’ meet-
ings, ceremonies and games. The dramatic club, under the name of The Manual
Arts Players, has built up a reputation for excellence in performance and staging
that packs the auditorium at every appearance. The men’s glee club takes a trip
every spring and the women'’s glee club always is in demand.

The athletic teams always are strong contenders. The football team of 1921
held the state normal conference championship. The basketball and gymnasium
teams have had strong records, finishing well up in the percentage column many
times in spite of the packed schedules of the players caused by the large number
of laboratory courses which cut into the afternoon practice time. A weekly paper,
The Stoutonia, is edited and printed by a student staff under the direction of the
printing and english departments. A separate staff edits the school annual, The
Tower.

Stout Institute's faculty comprises 47 instructors. In the administrative group,
besides President Nelson, are Clvde A. Bowman, director of the school of Indus-
trial Arts and summer session: ..Jiss Daisy A. Kugel, director of the school of Hor »e
Economics; B. M. Funk, business manager; Miss Myrtle M. Bletsoe, registrar and
appointment secretary; and Mrs. Adelaide C. French, secretary. Practice classes
in both industrial arts and home economics are taken from the grades and high
school classes of the city schools, as they were when Mr. Stout first began his
teacher training school.

The first public library in Menomonie is said to have had its origin in 1874,
when the question of license or no license having been voted on at the spring elec-
tions, and the result having been against the saloons, the women of the community
established a library and reading-room, supported by public subscription, as a
place where the young men could spend their leisure time. In 1876 it was taken
over by the city and was maintained as a municipal institution until the year 1900,
when it was discontinued. Carrol Lucas was the first president, and S. B. French
the first secretary, of the original library board, and among the directors were, in
addition to Mr. Lucas and Mr. French, Mrs. Andrew Tainter, Mrs. E. H. Grannis,
J. B. McKahan, W. H. Landon, Torger Hanson, T. B. Wilson, E. H. Weber, F. J.
McLean, John H. Knapp, and other well known people. For several vears the
library was located on Broadway in the business district, and was then moved into
the two northeast rooms on the second floor of the First National Bank building,
where it remained until 745 of its 3,000 volumes were turned over to the Tainter
Memorial Library (subject to being called for) and the rest placed in the hands of
the school board. For some years prior to the closing of the library, the city made
an annual appropriation of $800 for it. For a time after it went out of existence
the city appropriated $200 annually to the Memorial Library as compensation to
that library for service of books to the public schools.

The Mabel Tainter Memorial is an institution of which the people of Menom-
onie and of Dunn County, generally, have reason to be proud. It was erected by
Captain and Mrs. Andrew Tainter as a memorial to the daughter whose name it
bears, a young lady of unusual promise who died on June 10, 1886. Somewhat
less than two years after her death. or in April, 1888, the Rev. H. D. Maxson
came to Menomonie and organized the Unitarian society, in which Captain and
Mrs. Tainter became interested. Availing themselves of Mr. Maxson’s help in
organization, and thoughtful of the public needs and of their daughter Mabel's
known feelings, they decided to erect as her fitting monument a building which,
with other uses, should be the home of a free public library.

In the accomplishment of this purpose they lost no time. The building was
built of Dunnville sandstone, faced on the inside with Menomonie brick. All the
roofs are of slate, furnishing additional protection against fire. The whole build-
ing was artistically and richly furnished and decorated. The permanency of this
decoration and finish can be judged from the fact that scarcely any redecorating
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has been done and that after 33 vears of constant use it is in fairly good condition.
This beautiful edifice, which” cost in the neighborhood of $125,000 was dedi-
cated July 3, 1890. The ceremonies were held in the handsome auditorium of the

Captain and Mrs. Tainter, the mayor and members of the common council, the
speakers of the evening, several of the resident clergy, and L. S. Tainter, president
of the Mabel Tainter Literary, Library and Educational Society, which had been
organized for the purpose of accepting the gift, and of carrying on from generation
to generation the useful work for which the property and money were given. As
eloquently stated on behalf of the donors on that occasion, ““In accordance with
her wish, the father and mother have felt that the fittest monument to the dear
dead is a contribution to the welfare of the living.”

In graceful yet forceful language the Rev. H. D. Maxson made the presenta-
tion address, setting forth the aims which it was intended the institution should
carry out. ““It is desired that this building be a center of those various activities,”’
he said, “which can deepen, broaden, heighten the entire round of life. In con-
formity with this purpose there has been provided a free library and reading-room,
to be kept clear of all narrow partisan or sectarian control, and to offer its privi-
leges on equal terms to all residents of this county. It is desired that these rocms
be supplied with the best literature for young and old, such as will enlarge and
enrich the mind. In harmony with the general purpose for which this building
is erected, there has been provided the room in which we meet tonight. It is de-
sired that it be devoted to lectures, entertainments, services such as will quicken
the intellect, strengthen the character, fill the soul with glimpses of those larger
relations which link us with the infinite and eternal. In harmony with this general
purpose for which this building is erected there have been provided on the floor
below, several rooms for whatever amusements and social satisfactions can broaden
life without impairing the inheritance of tomorrow. . . . ... In this place may no
man feel himself a stranger. Here may there be cultivated that spirit, here may
there be realized that ideal which permits no boundary line of caste nor creed to
separate man from man.”

On behalf of the incorporators—the Mabel Tainter Literary, Library and Edu-
cational Society—the trust was accepted by S. W. Hunt in a brief but earnest
speech, and an impressive dedicatory address was delivered by Rev. J. H. Crocker
of Madison.

About a month before the dedication of the building, the property had been
conveyed by deed to the incorporators of The Mabel Tainter Literary, Library and
Educational Society, who have since had charge and control of the institution.
Under the terms of the gift the Unitarian Society has the free use of the auditorium,
assembly room, parlors, ladies’ work room and young men’s club room, but the
management and supervision of the whole building is in the hands of the officers
of the corporation. ~In other words, the general management of the building is
entirely independent of that society. The library and reading-room are main-
tained ““as separate and distinct from all religious supervision.”

There were 13 original incorporators of the Mable Tainter Literary, Library
and Educational Society. Seven directors were appointed by them, who fill ail
vacancies in the trustees, incorporators and in this board as they occur. Any

is in accordance with the benevolent and public-spirited purpose of the founders.

Up to the time of Captain Tainter’s death, which occurred Oct. 18, 1899, he
furnished the money necessary for the immediate defraying of the expense of the
building and of the library. In his will he left an endowment fund, but at his
death there were no funds provided for the immediate defraying of the expense
of the building and of the library. None, in fact, were available until the endow-
ment fund could be turned over to the trustees of the building by the trustees of
the estate and time enough should have elapsed for some income to have accrued
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therefrom. It was two years before there was any accumulated income from the
trust funds. During that period of time such expense was paid by Mrs. Fanny
Crane and the late Louis S. Tainter, daughter and son of Captain and Mrs. Andrew
Tainter. The original endowment—of $65,000—has since been increased to
$105,000 through legacies left by other members of the Tainter family and by
other citizens of Menomonie.

The Memorial Library was opened to the public on Jan. 21, 1891, and at that
time contained 3,000 volumes. The first vear it had 900 patrons and a circulation
of 15,000. Books have been continually added until now the collection embraces
about 16,374 volumes, besides 2,577 public documents and 3,930 pamphlets. The
annual circulation is 60,000. The total number of patrons in 1924 was 5,964, of
whom 1,947 were from the rural districts.

While this is a privately endowed library, it is conducted for a public purpose.
That purpose is the circulation of its accumulated books throughout the county
of Dunn without cost to its patrons. The primary qualification of a patron is
that he or she be an inhabitant of cuch county. A person once having become a
patron, his standing thereafter, if he continues to be an inhabitant of the county,
rests solely on his own conduct. He is only 1equired o observe a few rules made
for the care and return of the books taken by him and generally to live up to the
legal obligations of a bailee having the possession of property belonging to another.

In the foundation of the library there were made three innovations or depar-
tures from the generally accepted restrictions to be imposed upon a library. It
widened its field beyond the limits of the municipality in which it was organized
and became a circulating library for the entire county of Dunn; it did not require
its patrons to procure a guarantee for the faithful performance of their obligations
to the library, nor to put up a money deposit to secure such performances; and it
opened up its shelves to the free and unhampered inspection of all patrons and
visitors. The library is tolerant in matters of religion and politics. It endeavors
to place on its shelves the works of all reputable writers on all phases of religion
and politics. Unasked, its library staff does not assume to advise nor to direct nor
influence the reading of any patron, Its managing committee believes that its
patrons know what they wish to read and what and when they want to read. The
only way the library seeks to influence its patrons is by the qulaity and kind of
books it purchases. Suggestions as to what to purchase are always welcome from
those who have a kindly interest in the welfare of the library.

When first opened the library had a much smaller circulation in the rural dis-
tricts than now. The automobile and the parcels post have helped the managers
of the library to a great extent in the carrying out of the wishes of the donors that
the benefits of the library should be as great to the patrons living outside of the
city as to those living within the city. In this respect this library long stood unique.
It has been of especial value to the schools, and every encouragement is offered for
the use of the books both by teachers in the city and those of the district schools.

The first librarian was Miss Cora Farnum (now Mrs. P. B. Clark), who entered
upon her duties Aug. 1, 1890. Other libraries were visited and library manage-
ment and classification of books studied. A catalogue was completed for public
use by Jan. 21, 1891. This catalogue was the only one published, as the continual
arrival of new books soon compelled the adoption of a card catalogue system in
its place. The first assistant was Miss Ada Kelsey, now Mrs .Fred Curran. She
or Miss Lizzie Kelsey (now Mrs. N. L. Howison), were assistants during the four
years of Mrs. Clark’s work in the library. Mrs. Clark had a very efficient and
able library board in Rev. Henry Doty Maxson, Mr. C. E. Freeman and Miss
Stella Lucas. At one of the board meetings Mrs. Clark suggested that to have
book-marks would be of great use in protecting the books from turned down cor-
ners, pencil marks, etc. The plan was adopted, and, having proved very popular,
has been continued. They are known as the Maxson book-marks from the fact
that on every one is printed a number of reasonable requests indited by Mr. Max-
son supposed to be made by the book to a little boy reader, with respect to its
proper use and care; they are now sold in many bookstores.
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After Mrs. Clark resigned, Miss Stella Lucas became librarian and served for
17 years or until her death in August, 1911. Mrs. Essie C. Nickerson, who acted
as librarian for several months during Miss Lucas’ last illness, was appointed to
the post of regular librarian in September, 1911, and is still serving. The work
of the library has so increased that now several persons are required as assistants.
Of the members of the library board, much is due to C. E. Freeman, who has given
to the institution unstintedly of his time, advice and assistance. The late Prof.
G. L. Bowman, who was also a member of the board, worked effectively in its
behalf, and through his death the library lost a friend hard to replace.

In concluding this article it should be mentioned that, in addition to the library,
the Grand Army of the Republic and the Woman’s Relief Corps have commodious
rooms in the Memorial Building. The entire establishment is illustrative of far-
seeing wisdom as well as of the highest form of philanthropy, and has done much
for the elevation and enlightenment of the people of Menomonie and Dunn County.



CHAPTER XVI
THE PRESS OF MENOMONIE

The Dunn County News.—The intelligence of a community is to a large extent
reflected in its press. To conduct a successful newspaper the editor and publisher
must be quick to gauge the modes of thought of the public upon whom he depends
for support, and to ascertain their attitude with respect not only to local needs and
interests, but also in regard to the broader questions of politics, both domestic and
foreign, education, new inventions affecting civic or social interests, and many other
things that have more or less to do with the daily life of the average citizen, or
which may affect their children in years to come. To a certain extent he may act
as a guide or teacher, but not in an arbitrarv sense regardless of public opinion, or
his public will soon desert him. His chief business is to print tke rews, and sec-
ondly, in his editorial capacity, to act as a sort of intellectual filter in straining out
and presenting in its purest form the best and strongest sentiment of the ccmmunity,
with such modifications or emphasis as may be suggested by his own knowledge
and experience, which, after all, is but public sentiment condensed and clarified
through an individual medium.

All this is no light task when it is remembered that a newsparer is not merely
an educational, but a business institution, and must be made to pay.  Any serious
mistake may ruin its commercial success, and even when no such mistakes are
made, there are various other causes which mayv operate adverselv and lead to
failure. Competition, the wealth or poverty of a ccrrmunity, its average intelli-
gence and degree of business enterprise expressing itself through tke advertising
columns, are all factors which enter into the matter and have to be taken into
consideration. When a newspaper, therefore, can point to its begirning in a pio-
neer community and to 65 years of steady growth without anyv notable embarrass-
ment or misfortune, it argues exceptionally good management, as well as reasonably
favorable conditions of operation.

On April 21, 1910, the Dunn County News published a **Semi-Centennial Edi-
tion,” in which it reviewed its 50 vears of history up to that time. Frem that re-
view the following account is taken nearly in full, such hrief porticns only being
omitted that are not essential to the main story, or which are more conveniently
printed elsewhere in this volume. Enough has been added to bring the narrative
up to date.

“Fifty years ago (65 this vear, 1925) the reading public of Dunn County greeted
the initial appearance of their first newspaper. Like Menomonie’s first industrial
enterprise, like nearly every important undertaking in the early davs here, like the
the very community itself, it had its inception at the hands of those sturdy, saga-
cious builders who furnished the brain and sinew of the great business concern
known as Knapp, Stout & Co.

‘““ Appropriately, the newspaper in its beginning was called The Dunn County
Lumberman. In those days nearly every material interest in this section, if not
actually bound up in, was at least related to, the vast enterprise whose character
was indicated by that title. As time went on the young community took on more
diversified interests. Lines of mercantile and industrial activity were developed
and a symmetrical growth was ere long manifest, in which many spheres of action
were in evidence. While the prosperity and progress of them all depended to a
great degree upon the central motive force which has taken form in the mammoth
mills upon the pond bank where the river currents bore down frcm the pineries
the potential sources of great wealth, at the same time the ramifications of ccmmu-
nity life gradually led to the feeling that the place was something more than a
‘lumber camp. It began as the yvears went by to assume the aspect cf a small city,
some pretentious in its appearance and its purposes as cities of its class were reck-:
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oned in that pioneer period upon the wooded northern frontier. And so the little
city’s newspaper partook of, and to a degree led in, the metropolitan spirit, and in
a few years became ill content to be known by a designation that told of but one
field of business effort.

‘“Therefore, after a few years’ publication, in which it had proven its right to
stand before the world as the printed spokesman of a vigorous and cosmopolitan
body of people, it one day in 1866 came out with its title changed from that of a
class or trade publication, and has been known from that time to the present by a
title which more accurately indicated its character as a public journal covering the
broad field of human effort. But although the name was cnanged, the paper con-
tinued to be the same, its growth continued from the same beginning, its utterances
were along the same lines of policies as before, and today a retrospect of the life
of the paper carries one back to that Thursday in April, 1860, when from the second
story of the tinshop building at the “ Company’s” plant the first printed sheet run
from the press in Dunn County saw the sunlight. :

“Unfortunately, no copy of that original issue, so far as diligent search can
reveal the fact, is now extant. There is at the Memorial Library a bound copy of
Volume 3 of the Dunn County Lumberman. The third series of 52 issues begins .
with the edition of April 19, 1862. As a complete volume of a weekly publication
embraces 364 days, one day being gained in each volume as compared with the
ccalendar year, the natural inference would be that the second volume began on.
April 20, 1861, and the first on April 21, 1860. But local history has it otherwise.
Chronicles based upon information obtained from early settlers insist that the
original publication day was April 1. If this be true, a discrepancy exists that is
not explained. Some light is shed upon the interesting point by the records in the
probate office of Dunn County. It appears that the first probate notice filed is
that pertaining to the estate of S. W. Sherburn, and the affidavit of publication,
signed by C. W. Wheaton, foreman in the office of the Dunn County Lumberman,
attests the fact that the first publication of the notice was given Thursday, June
7, 1860, in the tenth issue of that year. If the tenth issue was on June 7, running
back from that date it would be easy to ascertain that the first was on April 5 of
that year. Affidavits relating to subsequent notices would lead to the same con-
clusion. Just wherein the discrepancy occurs between that date and that which
is indicated by the beginning of the third volume will probably never be absolutely
established, in the absence of the first two years’ files. But certain it is that in
the month of April, 1860, the paper was established and has been issued continu-
ously ever since. Its original day of publication was Thursday and continued so
for a considerable time, though in the interim before the beginning of the preserved
files it was changed to Saturday.

“Going back to the beginning, it is found that Knapp, Stout & Co. exer-
cised the same careful and judicious choice with reference to the first editorship of
The Lumberman as was manifested by them in selecting material for other impor-
tant posts in the great business scheme which they had created and directed. The
man selected for the management of the newspaper was Charles S. Bundy, then a
young attorney of Menomonie, and now (1910) one of the municipal judges of the
District of Columbia. He was the first of the line of strong men who successively
had charge of the paper, either as editor or proprietor, each carrying it forward
consistently with its traditions and its never-changing purpose to stand for the
best in the community and for the highest ideals of citizenship.

“Three vears ago, in response to a request made at that time by R. J. Flint,
then one of the proprietors of The News, Mr. Bundy wrote at Washington his
account of the founding of the paper.”

In that account, after reminding his prospective readers that Dunn County
originally extended south to the mouth of the Chippewa River and included what
was finally set off as Pepin County, he went on to say:

‘That change of boundaries moved the center of Dunn County several miles
northward and made Cunnville no longer geographically suitable to remain the
‘county seat, and insured its removal rorthwest to Knapp, Stout & Co.’s mills on
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the Menomonie River. If I remember rightly, the act creating Pepin County
provided for the change. However that may be, ‘ Menomonie,’as it was christened
by Mr. S. B. French, was unanimously chosen for the county seat. Almost the
first thought after that was settled was a county paper. In order to carry my
readers back to those times, it will be necessary to explain that the country was
then ‘“new’ in a very real sense. What is now Menomonie consisted of Knapp,
Stout & Co.’s mills; the company store, a large and well stocked establishment,
where could be bought almost every article of food, apparel, ornament, or shelter,
either for man or beast; Bullard’s hotel on the knoll just west of the company store,
where the best kind of mince pie and coffee could always be had; Andrew Tainter’s
house, still nearer the store to the northward—a modest two-story frame; Capt.
William Wilson’s rambling one-story and story and a half frame, only a few steps
to thé southeast of the entrance to the store; Mr. S. B. French’s house, and a few
others which I am not able to recall. There was. besides, a considerable cluster of
other buildings down the west bank of the river below the mills, some large, as the
dining-hall and dormitory, and others small, and used as lodgings for the mill
hands and their families. These buildings were all frames, as I recall them, and
they furnished cumfortable quarters for a population of probabLiy 500 :: h1abitants.
There was no bridge across the river then and the only mode of crossing was by
ferry boat attached by sliding pulleys to a rope stretched across the river at a point
just above the dam. All that plateau where the ‘village,” and later the city of
Menomonie now is, was unbroken prairie without a single house, and was not yet
platted on paper.’

After mentioning the members of the Dunn County bar and the county officials
of that day, Mr. Bundy continued:

‘The whole population of Dunn County was probably below 5,000. Farming,
beyvond the raising of potatoes and a few garden vegetables, had not then begun.
There were no farms immediately around Menomonie, Mud Creek prairie, Sher-
burn prairie and Elk Creek prairie had each a few settlers who raised enough of
grain and vegetables for their own use and probably some potatoes for sale at the
mills. The company had begun to raise potatoes on their farm at Rice Lake and
possibly were then able to supply their own wants, but the people generally de-
pended upon the lower country for their bacon, beans, corn, wheat and fruit; in
fine, evervthing except rain, sunshine and fuel. Prairie roads soon became sandy
from travel, but as there were no fences, wherever the sand became too deep each
traveler could turn out of the old tracks and make a new path for himself. In
summer time this worked admirably in practice, since all the driver had to look
out for was the gopher hole that was liable to trip the horse; but in winter, especially
for night travel, this freedom of choice led to occasional wanderings from the
straight and narrow paths that led to warm fires, supper and lodgings. There was
a stage route from Black River Falls to Hudson by way of Menomonie. This
stage carried the mail. This is the merest glimpse of the field which was to sus-
tain the new paper. Captain Wilson was a born optimist, and he was the ‘whole
push’ in Menomonie. He had determined to have a newspaper. With plenty of
money at his command. it was an easy matter to procure a press, type and materials,
and it seems that he had a printer in mind who would do the mechanical work.
All he lacked was an editor. Turning to me one day, he says, ‘Bundy, I believe
you would make a pretty decent editor. Suppose you try it? As I had never
yet read anything in type of my own composing and had never seen the inside of
a printing office, I had no grounds for doubting my qualifications for the post, and
I cheerfully signified my willingness ‘to try.” That was the genesis of the first
Dunn County newspaper, founded in 1860.

To resume the main narrative: ‘‘ The paper, under the editorship of Mr. Bundy,
who, it may be said, is now living at a venerable age in Washington, D. C., was a
seven-column folio, and in politics was Republican, as it had been during the half
century of its existence. When the Civil War broke out Mr. Bundy enlisted in
Company K, Fifth Wisconsin Infantry, serving as orderly sergeant. Upon his
departure the editorial chair was filled by his brother, E. B. Bundy, later for many



HISTORY OF DUNN COUNTY 127

vears circuit judge for the Eighth Judicial Circuit, who conducted the paper for
a short time. He was succeeded by Thomas Phillips, who remained in editorial
charge untii Knapp, Stout & Co. sold the paper to Dr. E. G. Benjamin in 1865.

““During those far-off vears the paper was all home print, as there was in that
period no patent, nor ready-print, service for country newspapers. Plate houses
were then unknown, and the paper had to be all set up, as well as printed, in the
local office. But the four bright pages of news matter, comment and advertising
displays still hold a fascination for those who love to delve into the events and
affairs that engaged the serious attention of those who lived in the days gone by.
The advertising columns showed then, as now, who were active and influential in
the business world. The announcements of Knapp; Stout & Co., naturally occu-
pied liberal space, and the public was made familiar with the fact that the stores
of the firm sold everything desired by the household, from pins and needles and
calico prints to sides of beef and pork by the barrel. Neither could the reader
escape the fact that the big concern had emporiums at both Dunnville and Menom-
onie. Its manufacturing facilities were duly exploited in regard to flour milling,
machine shop work, tinsmithing, harness-making, etc., as well as in the produc-
tion of lumber, lath and shingles. The ‘ads’ show the quaint characteristics of the
day, both with reference to typographical composition and subject matter. Prices
were not featured, as they are in modern merchandising, but the buyer was at-
tracted by an enumeration in detail of the commodities he was likely to require,
with assurance as to their quality, which one may believe were amply justified by
the fact. Full page displays by the company were not infrequent, but in the form
of separate announcements running down the column rather than in a co-ordinated
collection of panels, each forming a part of one general effect.

““Among the individual announcements are those of pioneers whose names it
would be of interest to recall, but space does not permit a reproduction of them all.
Among the professional cards, however, were those of Dr. E. G. Benjamin, physi-
cian; W. D. Webb, attorney and counselor; F. R. Church, notary public and land
agent; E. B. Bundy, attorney; Dr. J. C. Davis, physician and surgeon; and S. B.
French, real estate agent and dealer in land warrants. The news columns, as do
those of any representative local paper, furnish a mirror of the life of the time.
They contain accounts of local happenings, with such comments as to reflect ac-
curately the social life of the people and their everyday relationships, and convey
a correct idea of their amusements, recreations, business dealings and their more
intimate affairs, as well as of the more important events that constituted their
history as a body politic.

“Through these early numbers runs a strain of pathos in the accounts of the
operations in the army, forming largely a record of casualties, whether in the
achievement of victory or in the sufferings of defeat. Facilities for the prompt
transmission of the news were not what they are today, even with the metropolitan
and more pretentious publications, and the reports of great battles were often de-
layed for many days and were presented in the briefest form. But they were clear
and concise and given with intelligent comment, and one may well understand how
anxiously they were awaited and how intently the readers hung upon every thrill-
ing sentence. . ‘

“Dr. E. G. Benjamin, who had been associated with the Free Press at Eau
Claire as part owner of that paper, came here through the influence of Capt. Wil-
liam Wilson as the city’s first physician in August, 1860. One day in November,
1865, the name of the firm of Knapp, Stout & Co. disappeared from the heading
of the paper where for five years it had stood as an indication of the proprietor-
ship. In its place stood forth the name of Dr. Benjamin.

“Dr. Benjamin was a man of pronounced ideas, strong principles, and the abso-
lute courage of his convictions. His connection with the paper left a strong im-
print on its character, which remained throughout its subsequent history. That
the new editor was not disposed to be too much restricted by the bonds of prece-
dent may be judged from the following, taken from an editorial published Dec. 9,
1865: ‘With an eye to brevity, we review the first three weeks with the Dunn
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County Lumberman. At the start a change of name was contemplated; because
the old name did not seem wide enough to cover and represent the business of the
county. We are not all lumbermen any more. The farming and commercial in-
terests begin to loom up; and mechanics and manufacturers are claiming attention.
And the old name stands yet; and so let it stand. What’s in a name?

‘“The new editor, however, was not long content to rest with this mere protest
against what he deemed an impropriety which it was in his power to rectify. On
Saturday, April 7, 1866, the paper came out with a new heading. Across the top
of the front page appeared the words, in bold tvpe, ‘The Dunn County News.’
How important the new owner regarded this change will be clear from the fact
that the old serial numbering was abandoned with this edition, and the issue was
designated as Volume 1, Number 1. That this was carrying the idea a little too
far appeared to be the belief of succeeding owners, who recognized the period dur-
ing which the paper was known as The Lumberman as in fact a part of its history,
and changed the serial enumeration to conform to the original plan and include
the first six years of publication. Thus the serial numbers appearing at present
on the folio line are approximately correct, allowing for certain discrepancies that
crept in during the early history of the paper.

“While remaining staunch and true to Republican doctrine, and upholding
strongly the policies that made for local advancement, the new editor made other
minor alterations in form, and his personality stood forth strikingly in the printed
columns. Up to this time the motto of The Lumberman had been: ‘Union and
Liberty, Come What May; in Victory as in Defeat, in Power as out of Power,
Now and Forever.” This quotation from W. H. Seward was dropped from the
title page by Dr. Benjamin and in its place shone forth the legend: ‘The Union
Forever, One and Inseparable.’

“Dr. Benjamin was intensely patriotic and prided himself on the fact that he
was not afraid at any time to express by verbal speech or written word the thoughts
that lay upon his mind. Many allusions in his articles demonstrate this to be a
fact regarding persons; as to principles he delights in thundering forth his convic-
tions regardless of whom they pleased or offended. He was particularly pro-
nounced in his views regarding the evils of the liquor traffic._______._ Nor must
it be presumed that it was a slight matter for a frontier journal in those days to
wage the war he did with such vigor and persistency.

“A noteworthy change effected by Dr. Benjamin upon his purchase of the
paper was one of location. The outfit was removed from the upper story of the
tinshop at the Company’s plant bevond the bridge, and established in a portion of
a frame dwelling house which stood on the site of the present Heller block.‘ Office
opposite the schoolhouse’ is the manner in which the office address was designated
in the paper’s standing card in 1866. A partner was taken into the business at
the time of the issue which announced the change of name.”

This partner was Charles E. Mears, a practical printer who had purchased a
half interest in the office, becoming co-editor and co-proprietor. The paper was
then enjoying a patronage which placed it among the first of the county papers of
its time. It does not appear, however, that Mr. Mears had an active personal
hand in the editorial work of the paper, nor was his connection with it of much
more than six months’ duration.

“On August 10,. 1867, the News appeared for the first time with S. W. Hunt as
editor. Here is the terse proclamation setting forth the change in control:

‘Sold Out.—After a pleasant acquaintance with the readers of the Dunn County
News for two years, I have sold the institution to Messrs. Wilson and Messenger
and retire on terms and conditions quite comfortable and satisfactory. E. G.
Benjamin.’

‘“ After this came the following: ‘To the Public—On the 6th inst. we purchased
the Dunn County News, and at the same time procured the services of S. W. Hunt,
Esq., as editor. We start out in our newspaper career with the present number,
a great part of which, however, had been made up before we became proprietors.
In making our debut in this to us untried field we deem it right to indicate briefly
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what our intentions and desires in this respect are: and, in the first place, we in-
tend to do what we can to advance the interests of this section of the state, and
especially of Dunn County,—will try to advance all religious, moral and educa-
tional movements; and in politics we shall never be neutral, but for the Union all
the time. Finally, we hope and desire to make our paper a journal of so much in-
terest that every resident of Dunn County will desire a copy in his house. —W. & M’

As an item of interest to many readers of this volume, though not directly con-
cerned with the subsequent history of the News, it may be added that Dr. Benja-
min, after severing his connection with the paper, left town and went to White-
water, where for some vears he was proprietor of the Whitewater Register. Later
he returned to Menomonie and acquired a competence in mercantile lines.

The new firm of newspaper owners was composed of Capt. William Wilson and
A. J. Messenger, the former, as every student of history of Dunn County knows,
being for many years one of the best known and most active citizens of the county,
and a leading spirit in most of its progressive enterprises. Alvin J. Messenger and
his family had arrived here in 1860. *'He was a native of Portage County, Ohio,
and when 18 years of age, in 1839, he moved with his father to Des Moines, Iowa.
He had served as clerk of court for eight years at Burlington, and when he came
to Menomonie he had a varied and well rounded business experience. During his
residence here he had charge of the land department of Knapp, Stout & Co.’s
business, looking after titles, taxes, and certain legal points, particularly relating
to the firm's real estate interests. He was county superintendent one term, and -
his death occurred in 1880.

“Samuel W. Hunt, who served as editor under the liberal proprietorship of
Wilson & Messenger until 1871, was a lawyer by profession, and an able one. He
was a native of Tioga County, New York, where he was born in 1833 of sturdy
English stock, though the family was intensely patriotic in its allegiance to America.
Mr. Hunt’s grandfather, with two brothers, fought in the Revolutionary War with
the Colonial troops. Always a student, his inclinations early turned to the pur-
suit of law, but before completing his study at Owego Academy, he came, upon
the advice of his physicians, to Wisconsin in 1858. He first located at Hudson,
where he formed enduring friendships with Judge J. L. Humphrey and other lead-
ing men. He attended school for a time at River Falls, and then spent a year at
Lawrence University, Appleton. His health being restored, he returned in 1860
to his old home, and completed his course in law, finally graduating from the
Albany law school in 1865. In the autumn of that vear Mr. Hunt came to Wis-
consin. He spent one year at Hudson, and then came to Menomonie, taking up
his permanent home here in 1866. For four vears following the purchase of the
News by Wilson & Messenger he served as its editor, evincing marked ability in
that capacity. Under his direction the paper assumed a position whereby it was
acknowledged one of the most influential journals in northwestern Wisconsin
Previous to entering upon newspaper work, Mr. Hunt for three years was associated
in law practice with F. J. McLean, whom he had induced to come to Menomonie.
In 1872, after his retirement as editor, he formed a partnership with C. E. Free-
man under the firm style of Hunt & Freeman.________ Mr. Hunt always took
a deep interest in the welfare and prosperity of the Chippewa Valley and Dunn
County, and stood for everything that made for their advancement. Under his
guidance the News became a valuable factor in this direction, as the files of the
paper during his regime, and the results attained, bear witness. He was person-
ally connected with the development of some of the most important local institu-
tions, such as the Tainter Memorial, the Unitarian Society, etc. He served in the
Assembly in 1868, and in 1880 was a delegate to the Republican National Conven-
tion, but while he was an active member of his party and never shirked his duties
as a citizen, public office never had great attraction for him. He died in this city
Oct. 3, 1897.

“Saturday, Aug. 12, the first issue of the News appeared under the ownership
and editorial management of Flint & Weber, a firm of ambitious and energetic
young newspaper men, who came to the city from Prescott.” .
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The new firm in making its bow to the public in an article headed ‘We rise to
Explain,’ said, among other things, ‘If anyone wants to know what kind of a news-
paper we shall print, the best way for him to find out is to subscribe for it for a
year, read it diligently every week, and by the time his subscription expires he will
be able, as far as he is concerned, to answer that question without our assistance.’

“The modest but pointed salutatory of the new proprietors proved to be the
preface of a long chapter wherein success stood forth on every page. The paper
steadily and gradually improved in character, widened its field of circulation and
influence and increased its following. When Flint & Weber took charge of the
paper it was an eight column folio and all home print. In December, 1875, so
well had affairs progressed, that it was decided to equip the plant with a power
press, which was done, a Fairhaven being substituted for the old Washington hand
press. At the same time the form of the paper was changed to a six-column
quarto, and for the first time it came out an as eight-page sheet, with patent in-
sides.”’

This improvement was effected at considerable expense to the publishers, but
was justified by the subsc.juent grwth of the paper, which was gradual and healthy.
The equipment was also bettered to enable the office to turn out a higher quality
of job work to meet the demands of the increasing business.

“Then a blow fell that was seriously felt, not only by The News, but by the
entire community. Edwin Henry Weber, who had been a partner in the Menum-
onie publishing firm for nearly 27 years, died on Jan. 16, 1898. He passed away
at his home in this city on a Sunday afternoon in the fifty-third year of his life.
The cause of his death was Bright’s disease, and though his dangerous condition
was understood, the end came sooner than expected. The shadow of a great sor-
row fell upon the circle of his home and of his business activities. To Mr. Flint,
with whom he had been associated for more than 30 years as a friend and business
companion, the bereavement came keen beyond expression. Mr. Weber was born
in Friendship, N. Y., Oct. 26, 1845, and came to Wisconsin with his parents, who
were among the early settlers of Friendship, Adams County. He learned the
printer’s trade in the office of the Adams County Press. In 1864 he enlisted with
the Union army as a private in Co. K, 40th Wisconsin. Upon the mustering out
of his regiment he resumed his trade in the office of Brannan & Turner, publishers
of the State Register at Portage. In 1868 he formed a partnership with Rock ]J.
Flint, an employe in the same office, under the firm name of Flint & Weber, and
they purchased the Prescott Journal, then published by that gifted writer, Lute
A. Taylor. In June, 1871, their office was destroyed by fire, following which they
came to Menomonie, taking over, as stated, The News, on Aug. 12, 1871. Mr.
Weber led the life of a public spirited citizen in the best sense. For ten years he
was superintendent of the Menomonie Water Works Co., he was a member of the
board of trustees of the city library for many years, and was a charter member of
William Evans Post, G. A. R. When he died loyal tributes were published by
many admirii.g bretl.ren of the press. He was universally pronounced one of the
bright lights of journalism, and one who would be sadly missed by the craft.

“Until Nov. 2, 1900, Mr. Flint ably continued the publication of the paper
but in that month a partner was again taken into the business in the person of
F. F. Morgan. A high rank in the field of journalism had been won solely on his
merits by the newcomer. For 12 years he had been publisher of The Cumberland
Advocate, one of the influential Republican papers of Barron County. ‘Under
the new dispensation,’ said Mr. Flint’s introduction of his associate, ‘we are cer-
tain the old family paper will grow better and better as the years roll by.” Mr.
Morgan assumed his duties with no promises to make, but he said, ‘it shall ever
be our steadfast purpose to assist in holding the News up to its present honorable
and enviable position among the weeklies of the state, and we shall address our-
selves to the task with that loyalty and enthusiasm which the conditions seem to
inspire.’

“That he did address himself to his task with the highest form of loyalty and
enthusiasm his record showed from the very first. Mr. Morgan was a veritable
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dynamo of energy, and the persistency with which he labored for the welfare of
the paper is still proverbial. Three months after the advent of Mr. Morgan an
expansion to a seven-column quarto was manifest in the paper, this change taking
place on Feb. 8, 1901. In November, 1904, the paper became permanently an
all home print publication.

“On Nov. 2, 1906, the paper was issued for the last time on Friday, which had
been the publicaton day since January, 1888. From Nov. 8 forward the publica-
tion day was Thursday, this change being made for the convenience both of sub-
scribers and advertisers.

“The second death to occur in the publishing firm was that of Mr. Morgan on
Feb. 3, 1908.________ His sudden end was a great shock to the community, and
an irreparable blow to his family, friends and business associates. He was born
at Campton, Kane County, I11., Oct. 3, 1861, his family locating in Buffalo County,
Wis., when he was but a vear old. He began his first newspaper work on the Ar-
cadia Leader, and conducted the paper for five years. For two years he followed
daily newspaper work in La Crosse, and in 1888 went to Cumberland, where he
purchased The Advocate. His work there, as in Menomonie, was rewarded with
signal success.

“J. T. Flint, son of the senior member of the firm, had been made a partner on
Jan. 1, 1907, with a one-third interest, though following both this change and the
untimely death of Mr. Morgan, the firm name continued to be Flint & Morgan,
Mrs. F. F. Morgan continuing to hold her husband’s one-third interest until the
last transfer of the property.

“The business change which brought the paper under a new ownership and
management was effected on June 1, 1908, and on June 4 was announced in The
News as follows:‘W. R. Hotchkiss, the president and manager of the Dunn County
News Company, as the publishing house is now known, came to Menomonie from
Barron, where he for three years had published and edited the Barron County
Shield, following a newspaper experience embracing various points in the southern
and eastern portions of the state. It has been his unceasing effort to merit the
generous introduction to the public of Dunn County accorded him by his prede-
cessors, and to carry forward the work which they had advanced so well.

“The present company is the first corporation that has owned The News.
Besides Mr. Hotchkiss, the stockholders are Mrs. Mabel Hotchkiss and O. J. Barr,
the latter of Brodhead. The business is conducted by Mr. Hotchkiss, the others
being silent partners M. C. Douglas, now serving as editor, began his duties
May 1, 1909, coming from Milwaukee, where for 16 years he had been connected
with the newspapers of that city, seven years as managing editor of The Sentinel.

“The retirement from the local newspaper field of Rock J. Flint, now United
States Marshal for the Western District of Wisconsin, and J. T. Flint, the son who.
had literally grown up with the News and contributed much by faithful attention.
te his duties with the paper to its latter-day successes, is deserving of more than
passing attention. R. J. Flint, during the more than 37 vears in which he was a.
publisher of the News, took an advanced position for all that made for the welfare
of the city, and imparted the Benefit of his wisdom and experience to many move-
ments tending to its up-building. He was one of the prime movers in the estab-
lishment of the county asylum, has served as one of the incorporators of the Menom-
onie Literary, Library and Educational Society, served for years as chairman of
the town before the city of Menomonie was incorporated, and was one of two men
who collaborated in preparing the draft of the charter under which the munici-
pality was organized. These are but a few of the activities that have distinguished
him as a useful citizen. Still hale and hearty, capable, genial, untiring in his
labors and unfalteringly true to his friends, all who know him wish him a long
continued career of valuable service and contentment.”

In October, 1913, the News was sold to M. C. Douglas and J. T. Flint. In the
following February the Flint-Douglas Printing Company, a corporation, was or-
ganized to take over the property, which is still owned by this company. Mr.
Douglas was subsequently president of the company and editor of the News until
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his death on Nov. 5, 1923. The present officers of the company are: Lucile W.
Flint, president; Malcolm S. Douglas, vice president; and J. T. Flint, secretary-
treasurer and manager, who has held this position since the company was formed.

“Since the retirement of Flint & Morgan the work of advancement, carried
forward so far by them, has been continued. The company has added about
$4,000 worth of equipment, including two large cylinder presses, with electric power
equipment, a power stitcher and other machinery, which, with the two job presses
installed by Flint & Morgan, and large quantities of tvpe and other material for
doing book and job printing of every description, make the News office the best
equipped printing establishment in northwestern Wisconsin.

Also illustrative of the evolution since the beginning is the improvement and
enlargement of the quarters which have been used as the home of the Dunn County
News. Mention has been made of the first small office above the tinshop at the
Company’s plant and of the removal to the site where the Heller block now stands.
In 1867, upon the retirement of Dr. Benjamin, the plant was again removed, this
time to a small structure on the rear of the lot where the present building stands,
facing Third Oi.eet. It remained here but a short time, and then ‘"1 building
was erected on Wilson Avenue to the east of the present structure, which served
as the paper’s home for 40 years and became one of the familiar landmarks of the
city. This building, still well preserved, is now used as a contractor’s shop on
Second Street. The present commodious edifice was erected at Wilson Avenue
and Third Street in 1907, and was first occupied on June 27 of that year. It con-
tains well arranged quarters for each of the several departments, including suites
for the business offices, editorial rooms, composing room, press and mailing room,
stock room and bindery, and in the absence of untoward interference by the
elements should serve for many years to come.”

At one time or another the Dunn County News has had competitors, nearly
all of which, however, had but a brief existence. In March, 1870, a paper called
the Lean Wolf, which had been established at Durand in October, 1869, was moved
to Menomonie; but in the following July it was merged in the Dunn County News.

A paper that lasted longer was the Menomonie ““Times,” the publication of
which was begun in 18735 by a man named Relph. After a few months, not finding
sufficient support, it ceased, or suspended publication; but it was revived in July,
1876, as a Democratic paper, that being the yvear of the Blaine-Tilden campaign.
Flavius J. Mills was then proprietor and editor. A short time afterwards it was
again owned by Mr. Relph in association with a Mr. Gardiner. The latter subse-
quently retiring, Mr. Relph conducted it alone until July, 1879, when Mr. Gardiner,
who held a mortgage on it, transferred the security to a Chicago firm, who fore-
closed the mortgage. The plant was then purchased by Dr. D. H. Decker and
F. j. McLean, who published the paper under the style of the Menomonie Times
Printing Company, though no incorporation took place until 1884. In October,
1888, A. P. Davis became the editor and principal stockholder of the company.
After Mr. Davis sold his interest in the early 1900’s there was a succession of ed-
itors until 1910, when the paper was discontinued.

In December, 1887, a German weekly paper called the Menomonie Nordstern
was started, being published from the beginning by the German Printing Co.
The stockholders were Herman and Carl Freischmidt, Willlam Winrich, Carl
Pieper, and others. The paper was edited by Carl Pieper until January, 1902,
then by Frank and Antonio Pieper until its suspension in March, 1904. Another
edition was issued styled “Nordwesten.” The paper was independent populist
in politics.

The Wisconsin Signal, another populist paper issued weekly, was founded in
1891 by Carl Pieper. In the following vear it was sold to the Signal Publishing
'Co., composed of 100 farmers of Dunn County. From 1892 until the spring of
1894 it was edited by Miss Leona Windsor; then by Miss Anderson. J. B. Tainter
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was business manager until N ovember, 1898, after which there is no further men-
tion of it.

The Menomonie Badger was a juvenile paper founded by Thomas Dreer in
October, 1903. It was published by him weekly until May, 1904, when it ceased
to be issued.

A paper called Facts and Figures was published as a quarterly from April,
1900, to April, 1901, for the Wisconsin Anti-Saloon League by H. W. Rintelman,
being edited by Henry Coleman.

The Dunn County Herald, another temperance paper, was established in 1888,
veing edited by Dr. Kate Kelsey and F. A. Vasey. It lacked sufficient support
and after a brief career was suspended.



CHAPTER XVII
MILITARY RECORD

In September, (Sept. 8 and 9) 1876, an organization was effected in Mencmonie
of the survivors of the Civil War. A former history mentions a second reunion,
which took place on July 4, 1877, when the whole village participated. Governor
Ludington furnished the equipments, and the famous war eagle, Old Abe, was in
the procession, borne by David McLane, one of the soldiers who carried him through
the war. This organization had four or five reunions, after which its activities
ceased, the survivors of the war, or most of them, becoming members of the Grand
Army of the Republic.

While the Civil War was in progress an association called the Soldiers’ Aid
Society, was formed and conducted by the lealing wdi en in the town in accord-
ance with the purpose-indicated by its name.

William Evans Post No. 58, G. A. R., was organized Jan. 6, 1883. It was
named after Capt. William Evans of Company K. Fifth Wisconsin Infantry, which
company he raised, ranking as captain from May 3, 1861. He was mortally
wounded at Golden’s Farm, Va., and died in a hospital in Philadelphia on July 28,
1862. Capt. Evans was a resident of Menomonie and ar employee of Knapp,
Stout & Co., having come to Wisconsin in 1856. He was a native of York County,
Penn. He was succeeded in command of the company by Capt. John Milton Mott,
who ranked from Sept. 1, 1862. Capt. Mott was taken ill while in the service
and died at Frederick City, Md., July 26, 1863. He had tvphoid fever but was
recovering and being allowed outside of the hospital, he found some blackberries
in a wood, it is said, and having eaten too many of them, suffered a relapse which
proved fatal. In course of time William Evans Post attained a membershij of
270, a number that has since dwindled to a dozen or 15 through deaths and re-
movals. Some of the surviving members live out in the country, and usually there
are not more than five or six who now attend meetings, even of those living in the
citv. The Post has occupied nicely furnished rooms in the Mabel Tainter Build-
ing ever since it was erected, this provision being made for it by the donors, Mr.
and Mrs. Andrew Tainter. Previous to that the Post occupied rooms on Main
Street in a building next to the Johnson building that was burned in May, 1924.
When the members were younger and still enjoyed vigor and health, the Post took
active part in evervthing relating to Grand Army affairs, sending delegates to the
annual national conventions, held successively in various cities, which occasions
were marked by a grand parade; also marching in Memorial Day parades, holding
camp fires in association with the Woman's Relief Corps, and taking part in other
public functions. But time has wrought its changes and the Post is no longer
active as such, though a few individual members have retained their faculties to
a fair degree and are still a power in their respective communities, where they are
honored for their civic and patriotic records. It is worthy of note that the Post's
first commander, Rock J. Flint, is now serving in that capacity.

Woman's Relief Corps.—A history of this organization was read on its fortieth
anniversary, held on Tuesday, April 25, 1925, by Mrs. Cora Steele, from which
the following account has been taken.

“ After William Evans Post was organized on Jan. 6, 1883, a number of loyal
women decided to form an auxiliary. The first meeting was held at the home of
Mrs. Naomi Doolittle on Main Street on April 2, 1884, and the William Evans
Relief Corps No. 7 was organized. Officers were elected and installed. S. J.
Bailey, then commander of William Evans Post No. 58, assisted by R. J. Flint,
officer of the day, acted as instituting and installing officers. The meetings were
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held in the A. O. U. W. hall in the Johnson Block, at that time the home of che
Grand Army. :

“Only 28 ladies were present, although 35 members were enrolled on the char,
ter. Our first officers were: President, Amanda Bailey; senior vice president-
Elizabeth Skeel; junior vice president, Jannette Pease; treasurer, Hattie Vander-
hoof; secretary, Lida E. Doolittle; chaplain, Ida Relph; conductor, Naomi Doo-
little; guard, Cora Macauley.

“From the Woodmen hall we moved with the Grand Army to the hall in the
Sipple building (now occupied by the Waterman-Erhhard Co,. store). This was
our home until Feb. 25, 1891, when, through the generosity of Mr. and Mrs. An-
drew Tainter this beautiful Memorial Hall was provided for our use.._______
During the first ten years of our existence there were many calls for aid. Af that
time we worked hard for funds to pay off a mortgage for a soldier’s widow, to pro-
vide nurses for the sick, and food and clothing for those in need, as pensions were
not what they are today. We also assisted the department by furnishing a room
at the Soldiers’ Home in Waupaca and contributing to many funds.

“April 2, 1894, we celebrated our tenth anniversary. The entertainment was
public and held in what was known as Stori’s Hall. Mrs. Nettie Lutz was presi-
dent.

“About this time we started the monument fund. Our idea was to purchase
a monument for the city or the cemetery, one that would be a credit to our society
and a living tribute to our heroic dead.

“In May, 1896, the Department of Wisconsin honored our corps by electing
Mrs. Elizabeth Skeel as department president. This made Menomonie head-
quarters of the department for one year and gave our corps two department offi-
cers, as Cora M. Steele was appointed her secretary. In 1897 Mrs. Skeel was
elected department treasurer, serving two years.

“In 1898 the Spanish-American war cloud hung over us. Many of our mem-
bers had sons, husbands, or brothers, who enlisted. Weeks and months of anxiety
passed before the loved ones returned—some never. We assisted the department
in all calls for aid. Individually many necessities and dainties were forwarded to
our boys. When they returned we assisted the citizens in giving them a royal
welcome and banquet.

‘“After the war was over we redoubled our efforts to finish raising the amount
still needed for our management fund. In the spring of 1901 this was accomplished
and in the latter part of April the monument was placed on the Grand Army lot
in Evergreen Cemetery, a beautiful monument which was unveiled May 30 and
dedicated to the sacred memory of the heroes of both wars.

“In 1909 we celebrated our twenty-fifth anniversary. To commemorate the
event we presented the Central School and the Normal School each with a large
bunting flag. The presentation was made by Mrs. Kate Weber. Later a beau-
tiful silk banner was presented to the local corps by J. A. Decker, a gift from
William Evans Post, G. A. R., followed by an interesting program of music, songs,
recitations and the corps history. Mrs. Rosalie Phillips was president at this
time. Nearly 200 veterans of the Blue and members of the W. R. C. enjoyed the
occasion.

“In April, 1914, a second time we were called upon to assist the government
to care for soldier boys. This time the results were so awful, the grief and sorrow
so widespread, that we were taxed to the limit both in purse and loving labor to
assist the Red Cross, and provide for husbands, sons, and lovers called across seas.
To dwell on this is unnecessary; it is fresh in the minds of all. Let me only add
that our relief corps was second to none in doing our share.______ We were at all
times ready to furnish a banquet for the boys as they returned and assist all other
patriotic societies and organizations to show our appreciation of the sacrifices of
the World War veterans.

“This time last year we furnished $75 to plant elm trees on the Memorial high-
way, considering it an honor to do so.

“Since organized we have always responded to calls for relief work from both
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department and national headquarters; we have visited schools and presented them -
with patriotic literature and flags; looked after all veterans of the Civil War,
cheered them with flowers when ill, remembered them each on their birthdays and
holiday time with some gift. Their deep appreciation of these little courtesies
gives us great pleasure.

“While financially they do not need our assistance, as many did years ago,
socially they appreciate our calls, and we will gladly continue to try to make life
pleasant, not only for those who wore the Blue, but every man who has served his
country in uniform. Memorial Day is always observed in the most impressive
manner. Flowers are furnished and services attended in a body.

“Death first entered our circle Dec. 23, 1884; Mrs. Henrietta Guptil, a charter
member, was called beyond. Many have followed since then. The last to answer
the summons was Mrs. Naomi Doolittle, who died April 5, 1924. She, too, was a
charter member. Of the 35 members enrolled 40 vears ago, but eight remain.
They are Elizabeth Skeel, Ida Relph, Elizabeth Diedrich, Johanna Weils, Alice
Flint, Minnie Anderson, Anna Bates and Cora Steele. Since organizing we have
initiated 732 members.______ Todav we represent a total membership of 122.

‘“Since organized we have expended over $3,400 in relief work. This does riot
include contributions called for various department funds, Memorial Day in the
South, literature, fruit and furnishings for the Soldiers’ Home, fruit and flowers
for the sick, or flags for different cemeteries in the county. For many years we
held our afternoon socials at the homes of our members, but of late the attendance
is so large we have met here. At one time it needed only one hostess; now it re-
quires eight to attend to the serving. While we greatly enjoy these social gather-
ings, we are not unmindful that our first duty is to labor for those more unfortu-
nate than ourselves; to extend charity to those who need our assistance; cheery
greetings for the ill and depressed; with loving and thoughtful service to each and
all with whom we come into contact.”

T. J. George Camp, No. 8, United Spanish War Veterans.—A local organiza-
tion of Spanish War service men was formed soon after the close of the war, and
when regularly organized took the name of ““T. J. George Camp No. 259, Spanish-
American War Veterans.” The earliest minute book of the camp that can now
be found has its first page dated in the month of October, 1903, but it seems prob-
able that it was organized before that. The first meetings held were informal, as
a number of Spanish war organizations were being formed at the time and the
local men waited awhile so as to have time to consider which they should join,
finally uniting with the ‘“Spanish-American War Veterans,” as above intimated.
Later some of these different bodies united and the local camp was reorganized as
T. J. George Camp No. 8, United Spanish War Veterans, with a charter dated
April 18, 1904. At the time of reorganization there were about 26 members, a
number that has since been reduced to 15 or 17. The camp takes part in Memorial
Day exercises every year.

The Ludington Guard, a military organization with a long and honorable his-
tory, was formed as a cavalry company, Jan. 16, 1877, with Thomas J. George
(still a resident of Menomonie) as captain. It was named after Harrison Luding-
ton, then governor of the state. The company remained as cavalry for about six
years, when the members found difficulty in obtaining mounts, as each man had
to furnish his own horse. It was then made an infantry organization, becoming
Company H of the Third Infantry, Wisconsin National Guard.

Several times the local soldiers were called to duty: on June 23, 1878, on ac-
count of the Indian troubles in Burnett County; on July 23, 1881, to hunt for the
Williams brothers, and on July 8, 1894, on account of the strike at Spooner. On
each of these occasions the company showed promptitude in turning out at the
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first call, and courage in the performance of duty, not a man showing a white
feather.

On April 28, 1898, the company was mustered into federal service, on account
of the war with Spain, and saw service in Porto Rico under General Miles, at the
battle of Coama supporting the Sixteenth Pennsylvania Regiment, which took an
active part in the fight. They were under the direct command of Capt. John
Ohnstad, who is now in the regular U. S. army. No casualties were suffered.
They were mustered out of service in January, 1899,

The company was reorganized on May 9 of the same year with J. W. Macauley,
captain. In 1916 Company H was mustered into federal service again and was
sent to the Mexican border, being mustered out of service Dec. 14 of the same year.
On March 26, 1917, the call again came and a guard was placed on the main line
Red Cedar railroad bridge. Twenty-four men and one officer were left to guard
the structure, while the remainder of the company were sent to Superior to guard
bridges and ore docks. )

On Sept. 5 the entire regiment was concentrated at Camp Douglas and three
days later were sent to Waco, Texas. In the latter part of the month the regiment
was reorganized and the local company became Company H, 128th Infantry. On
Feb. 14, 1918, the men entrained for Camp Merritt, N. J., and sailed for Brest,
France, four days later. They arrived in France March 10. Captain Albert
Nathness was transferred to the 18th Regiment of the First Division, the rest of
the company joining the 28th Regiment of the same division.

The first taste of battle came in June, 1918, when the regiment containing the
local men was transferred to Alsace-Lorraine, being among the first American
troops to step on German soil. They stayed there until the middle of July, when
they were shifted to Chateau Thierry. From there they were shifted north to
Juvigney. For 20 days they were in the battle of the Meuse-Argonne, which was
the longest stretch of straight fighting the men were in.

After the armistice was signed the men took part in the march into Germany
and were stationed at the Coblenz Bridgehead, where they held one of the honored
positions between the First and Second Divisions of the U. S. regular army. The
regiment returned to the States and was mustered out of service at Camp Grant,
May 17 and 18. They returned home May 19, at which time they received one of
the greatest ovations ever tendered a local organization.

Such was substantially the account of their service in the great war as written
by their former captain, John Ohnstad, and published in the Dunn County News,
in its issue of April 17, 1924, with other data contained in this article. All of them,
however, did not return, for 22 had fallen on the field of battle. The names of
the members of Company H who went to France for World War service are pre-
served on a bronze memorial tablet affixed to the face of a granite monument which
stands in a conspicuous place on Main Street, between the post office and Memorial
building, and which bears the following inscriprion:

“To those who offered their lives in defense of thejr ideals and in memory of
those who gave the last full measure of devotion.”

The names of the dead, each indicated by a star, are: William H. Buckland,
Dan Storing, Charles L. Owen, Lawrence W. Neverdahl, Ralph L. Richard, Albert
Amundson, Ravmond Branshaw, Arthur C. Close, Stanley R. Harris, William H.
Hosford, Lloyd S. Howe, Anton Juve, Arnold Keister, Guy R. McClusky, Arthur
C. Nelson, Odin F. Olson, Clarence G. Paff, Arnold G. Peter, Fred W. Ranee,
Fred J. Rassbach, and Hedley Semdstrom. There is one other name indicated by
a star—that of Winifred Hays; he was erroneously reported as dead but returned
home about a year after the close of the war, and is now living.

This monument was erected by an organization known as Company H Sisters,
which was fortned soon after the company went to France for the purpose of sup-
plying the boys with comforts that they would not be able to get at the front.
The cost of the monument, about $1250, was defrayed by money raised through
entertainments of various kinds. It was unveiled with appropriate ceremonies on
Armistice Day, Nov. 11, 1921. Exercises were held at 10:45 a. m. in the audi-
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torium of Stout Institute, the principal speakers being President Harvey and the
Rev. A. E. Von Stilli. The ex-service men of Stout Institute were provided with
reserved seats. At 2:00 p. m. the unveiling ceremony took place, the monument
being unveiled by Major A. Nathness and the Rev. P. H. Linley of Milwaukee
delivering an address. The ladies of the Woman’s Relief Corps also presented a
flag to Walcott Post, G. A. R. Music was furnished by the local band.

On March 4, 1920, Company H was again reorganized, this time under the
captaincy of Albert Nathness. On Dec. 14 Nathness was promoted to major and
Gordon Cassel became captain. The company had a strength of 103 men and three
officers. When Cassel resigned Arthur Anderson became captain, being followed
by Gustav Hitz, the officer now in charge.

The company has taken several expensive pleasure trips and participated in
camp manuevers at various times, showing themselves to be well drilled soldiers.
On Aug. 26, 1884, they were the guests of the First Regiment of Milwaukee, and
on that occasion the citizens of Menomonie showed their appreciation of the sol-
diers by presenting them with a beautiful silk flag. Their next trip was to the
International Encampment and Rifle Contest at Chicago, Oct. 1 to 8, 1887; and
on Jan. 6, 1889, they went to Madison to the inauguration of Governor Hoard.
In 1907 the entire company went to Fort Benjamin Harrison at Indianapolis on
a two weeks’ trip. Eleven days were spent in camp. In the summer of 1922 they
participated in maneuvers between Camp Douglas and Sparta with two Wisconsin
and one Illinois regiments and a troop of the Fifth U. S. Cavalry. Several other
troops of infantry and cavalry regulars took part in the demonstration.

After the company was mustered out of service at the close of the World War
the local soldiers reorganized as the Eleventh Separate Company, but in 1921 they
were organized as Company A, 128th Infantry. When Captain Hitz took charge
in August, 1923, there were 35 active men on the roll and about 20 ‘‘deadheads,”
but the company has since been recruited up to 93 enlisted men and three officers,
active. Captain Hitz, a World War soldier, with a citation for gallantry in action
has brought the organization up to a high degree of military efficiency, and in the
spring of 1924 it was highly praised by Major Lee Sumner of the U. S. regular army.

The following is a list of commissioned officers from the time of organization
of the company up to the present time: Captains—T. J. George (promoted to major
in 1883), George R. Brewer, L. O. Haugen, J. C. Ohnstad, J. W. Macauley, M. F.
Swant, Albert Nathness, Gordon Cassel, Arthur Anderson and Gustav Hitz.

First lieutenants—Simon Marugg, William Young, George R. Brewer, H. E.
Knapp, S. A. Peterson, M. Doolittle, A. S. Ladd, O. B. Ballard, J. C. Ohnstad,
A. Magnuson, J. W. Macauley, Dane Waite, M. F. Swant, A. P. Davis, Walter
Nevs, Albert Nathness, H. W. Quilling, Harry C. Nelson, E. C. Hill, Talma Scott,
Frank Schroeder, Arthur Anderson, Arthur Oestreich, C. M. Russell.

Second lieutenants—William Young, George R. Brewer, H. T. Cassidy, H. E.
Knapp. H. A. Wilcox, S. A. Peterson, A. S. Ladd, O. B. Ballard, R. Carlsrud, A.
Ransier, L. O. Haugen, M. Hansen, A. Magnuson, J. W. Macauley, E. Skeel, M.
F. Swant, A. P. Davis, Walter Neys, M. J. Winters, H. W. Quilling, Hans M. Han-
son, Harry C. Nelson, E. C. Hill, Harold Buckland, Martin Lierman, Gordon Cassel,
Sever Setter, Edgar Setter, John M. Fladoes.

Majors—T. J. George, Albert Nathness.

The armory in Menomonie was built after the Spanish-American War, from
money allowed by the state, which was saved until the company had enough to
buy the lot and build it.

The Ludington Guard Band.—A military band was organized in Menomonie
about a year after the organization of the Ludington Guard and subsequently be-
came the regimental band of the Third Regiment, W. N. G. Jacob Miller, who
was the organizer, was also its capable leader for a number of years, after which
John B. Williman took hold of it and also proved a good director. Like most sim-
ilar organizations, it had its ups and downs, and some time after Mr. Williman
gave up the directorship on account of advancing vears, it broke up. In 1888 it
was reorganized under the directorship of Charles Ingraham, and under the old
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name of the Ludington Guard Band soon regained its former reputation as an
efficient musical organizaion. Mr. Ingraham continued as director until 1907,
when he was succeeded by Ole C. Kausrud, under whose directorship the band
remained until about five vears ago, when Paul E. Gregg succeeded him. About
a year or so previous to that the Knights of Pythias had formed a band, largely
if not entirely composed of members of the Ludington Guard Band, and had
bought a set of uniforms for it. It was known as the “Dokkey” or ““ Dokie”” Band,
and Paul E. Gregg was the director. As such it did some parade work and gave
some concerts, holding separate rehearsals. But two rehearsals a week with dif-
ferent directors proved an inconvenient arrangement for the men, and Mr. Kaus-
rud, who had been conducting the Ludington Guard Band rehearsals, finally
dropped out, being succeeded, as already mentioned, by Paul E. Gregg, and the
old order of things was resumed. At present the band consists of about 25 men.
Besides taking part in parades on general holidays and other special occasions, it
does a considerable amount of concert work in summer, including the St. Criox
county fair work at Glenwood City, and usually the Buffalo County fair work at
Mondovi; also playing Sunday concerts at Electric Park, on the traction line be-
tween Eau Claire and Chippewa Falls, and concert work in Menomonie. For
concert work in the city park a shell band stand was erected several years ago,
costing about 82,000, the city appropriating $300 of this amount, and the balance
being raised by public subscriptions. In August, 1923, the band won a gold saxo-
phone as prize in a band competition held at Winona, Minn., and on various other
occasions it has been highly spoken of as an excellent musical organization.

Hosford-Chase Post No. 32, American Legion, was organized in Menomonie
Aug. 9, 1919. Publicity had been given in the Dunn County News to the pro-
posed organization and 28 service men signed written applications for membership.
The following officers were elected.to serve for the remainder of the year: J. W.
Macauley, commander; P. M. Krogstad, vice commander; A. O. Arntson, adju-
tant; Paul E. Bailey, finance officer; A. Cantrell, historian. At this meeting com-
mittees were appointed to arrange for a Home Coming Day at the Dunn County
Fair, Sept. 10, also for securing members and obtaining a charter. The Post.
conducted Fourth of July celebrations in 1921, 1922 and 1923. It also paid a part.
of the cost of Point Comfort (part of the city park system) in 1922, assisted in
raising money for the Tourist Camp in 1924, and sponsored and assisted in financ-
ing the Boy Scout troops in 1925.  The commanders who have served since Com-
mander J. W. Macauley have been: 1920, P. T. Huntington and C. M. Peddycourt;
1921, Orville A. Tilleson; 1922, H. G. Lundegard; 1923, Galen F. Martin; 1924,
A. L. Mitten; 1925, Herbert O. Goepfarth.

The American Legion Auxiliary Unit of Hosford-Chase Post No. 32 was or-
ganized in May, 1920, and in the first vear had about 91 members. At the present
time there are 130, all female relatives of service men who died in the line of duty,
either during the war or since. The Auxiliary acts as aid and support to the
Legion, especially in rendering assistance to disabled service men. It holds its
meetings once a month in the American Legion club rooms. Its largest assets are
from the sale of the American Legion poppies before Memorial Day, though other
funds are raised through entertainments of various kinds. The first president of
the Auxiliary was Mrs. A. J. Johnson, who served in 1920-21, and whose successors
have been: Mrs. J. E. Joyce, 1922; Mrs. A. W. Macauley and Mrs. A. R. Joseph-
son, 1923; Mrs.- Ada Hosford, 1924; and Mrs. E. E. Stevens, 1925.

The national organization of home war activities after this country declared
war against Germany, which was extended on much the same general lines to
states and counties, made the work practically the same everywhere except as to
minor details. It would be impossible within the limits of reasonable space to
mention all the residents of Dunn County, who, disqualified by reason of age, sex,
or other disabilities, from service in the army or navy, yet did work at home that
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helped to win the war; for such a list would include a very large proportion of the
men and women of the county, besides many of the children. Some facts, how-
ever, should be briefly touched upon, and a few names mentioned, such personal
mention in no wise implying that others were not as active and self-sacrificing, but
serving merely to indicate the principal leaders, through official position, of the
different organizations engaged in patriotic work. At the outset it may be men-
tioned that the Press performed an effective part in support of all branches of the
work, to which it gave publicity, and it is from the pages of the Dunn County
News that the following items are taken, being arranged, so far as may be, in
chronological order as the events referred to occurred.

A Red Cross Chapter was organized in Menomonie as early as March 19, 1917,
before war had been actually declared, at a meeting presided over by T. B. Wilson
as chairman; with Mrs. E. E. Lamberton as vice chairman; Mrs. Jonathan Boothby
secretary; and William Schutte treasurer. There were about 70 persons present.
A board of 12 directors was nominated by a committee appointed for that purpose.
After the declaration of war on April 6, 1917, there were many applications for
membership. The first quarters uccupie. by the chapter were on the second floor
of the Wilson-Weber building, but theyv soon proved too small, and a frame build-
ing—formerly the Oscar W. Huber home—to the north of the Wilson-Weber Lum-
ber Co.’s office, was turned over to the chapter for their work by T. B. Wilson.
The work committee, with Mrs. H. C. Inenfeldt chairman, was divided into four
classes, or subdivisions, all organized for practical service, in which all were soon
actively engaged.

On Wednesday, April 18, 1917, a movement was started to form a local service
council analagous in scope and purpose to the National Defense Council, the idea
being to bring under one head all local activities pertaining in any way to war
preparedness, and so to co-ordinate the various efforts as to effect the best results.
This movement was strongly backed by the Menomonie Commercial Club and
took concrete form in a committee composed of five members, namely: L. D. Harvey,
R. H. Rodgers, R. J. Flint, H. W. Quilling and C. K. Averill. The organizations
asked to participate were the Menomonie Woman's Club, the Grand Army of the
Republic, the Red Cross Chapter, and the Spanish-American War Veterans.

A Loyalty Parade took place on May 4 under the direction of O. C. Mauthe.

The Dunn-Pepin County Medical Society. as a meeting held in the office of
Dr. A. F. Heising on Friday, April 20, pledged fullest co-operation of the society
along the lines of medical preparedness.

Toward the latter part of May a Y. M. C. A. war fund campaign was under way
and about $500 collected. The citizens were urged to buy Liberty bonds and a
bond campaign was planned by the county council of defense.

After the passing of the draft law, June 5 had been appointed as registration day,
and by June 7 2187 young men between the ages of 21 and 30 had registered.

Up to June 14 the application for Liberty bonds turned in to the four local
(Menomonie) banks totaled 362,750, divided as follows: First National Bank,
52,700; Schutte & Quilling Bank, $6,000; Bank of Menomonie, $3,950; Kraft State
Bank, $100. The committee in charge of the Liberty bond campaign consisted
of J. T. Flint, H. C. Inenfeldt, E. P. Wright, R. E. Bundy and C. B. Stone. The
committee in charge of the city canvass was composed of Frank Pierce, L. D.
Harvey and A. O. Giese. Many of the county meetings were large and enthusi-
astic. The Ludington Guard Band and New Zenith Band assisted at a number of
the village meetings.

Toward the middle of June plans were under way for putting the Menomonie
Chapter of the Red Cross and its auxiliaries in the running with full force for the
war fund to be raised in the week between June 18 and June 25. This was a na-
tional campaign and the county work was mapped out by T. B. Wilson, J. C. Wil-
cox and B. H. Waterman, who constituted the campaign committee. This drive
resulted in the collection of $7,849.83.

On June 21, 1917, the Liberty bond flotation in Cunn County amounted to
$88,150, purchased by 4935 subscribers.
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By the end of June, 1917, Dunn County had a well organized County Council
of Defense, with L. D. Harvey chairman, to take the place of the original organiza-
tion, and at a meeting of the local council, with R. H. Rodgers chairman, and H.
W. Quilling acting as secretary, which was attended by 20 representatives of local
councils of defense outside the city, about 40 persons being present including the
city delegates, Mr. Rodgers explained the nation-wide plan of organization, with
respect to war emergency measures and the part to be taken therein by the national,
state and county councils of defense respectively.

The county council of defense as at first composed consisted of the following
citizens: Chairman, L. D. Harvey; executive committee, J. S. Goven, E. O. Wright,
Geo. P. Wolf and H. C. Inenfeldt; secretary, Frank Pieper; treasurer, Martin
Fladoes; with the following additional members representing the departments in-
dicated: Agriculture, Geo. P. Wolf (county agent); labor, H. C. Inenfeldt; manu-
factures, W. O. Wright; general business, E. F. Stoddard; transportation and com-
munication, W. H. Francis; bankers, Frank Pierce; the press, M. C. Douglas;
patriotic_organizations, O. G. Kinney; women's organizations, and Red Cross,
Mrs. A. Egdaht; physicians, Dr. P. E. Riley; education. J. S. Govin.

July 1 (Monday) the Dunn County draft board appointed by Governor E. L.
Philipp held its first session at the court house, electing Sheriff Ferdinand Morten-
sen chairman and Frank Pieper (county clerk) secretary. Other members of the
council were E. B. Hill of Colfax, Dr. I. V. Grannis of Menomonie, E. E. Black
of Downing, George M. Hovlid of North Menomonie and Henry Miller of Weston.

July 10 the county board voted $1,000 to the defense council, there being only
three negative votes. In the same month there was a drive among the women for
fcod conservation.

September 3, 1917 (Labor Day) was selected on which to go through a public
program in honor of the draft-selected men from Dunn County. It included a
parade, a basket dinner at the Fair grounds, band concerts, and an address by
Richard Lloyd Jones of Madison. The program was successfully carried out.

The work of the exemption board on the first draft ended Aug. 30. One hun-
dred and forty men passed the examination. Dunn County’s quota was 103, of
whom the first contingent—five in number—left for Camp Grant on Sept. 6 from
the Omaha depot, a large number of citizens turning out to give them encouraging
cheers. These five men were Elmer T. Nelson, John C. Chase and Cornelius J.
O’Keefe of Menomonie, Chris Delong of Eau Galle, and Roy James of Knapp
(Route 2).

Sept. 20 a patriotic drive was planned to present the American side of the war
to the people of every community in the county so that all might understand the
great issues involved. This drive was under the charge of a committee of five
and opened on Oct. 4, loyalty meetings being held in every part of the county.

On Sept. 11 the Woman’s Liberty Loan committee called a meeting to plan
activity for the women in the approaching new Liberty bond sale.

On Monday, Sept. 19, the second contingent, of 41 men, left for Camp Grant
amid the cheers of 2000 people. ‘ .

The drive for the second issue of Liberty bonds started Oct. 14, the quota hav-
ing been placed at $350,000.

Oct. 23 the Dunn County Chapter of the Red Cross held its annual meeting in
Menomonie, a good report being presented. There were by this time ten branch
chapters in the county.

A week’s drive to secure funds for Y. M. C. A. war work was started Monday,
Nov. 12. By this time the work in all departments had become intensified. The
Y. M. C. A. drive was followed by one for the Knights of Columbus, and in the
same month, November, there was a food pledge drive resulting in 3,493 pledges
being obtained, with 257 refusals.

In December a speaking campaign was planned and carried out, speakers vis-
iting each of the 140 rural schools in the county to educate the people in the causes
and objects of the war and increase the patriotic spirit. The committee to perfect
details consisted of L. D. Harvey, chairman of the county council, E. O. Wright,
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G. L. Bowman, R. H. Rodgers and F. H. Good. Miss Theresa Leinenkugel,
county superintendent, co-operated heartily in the work.

Dec. 15 the county clerk and assistants began sending out questionnaires pre-
pared for the men on the registered list of the new draft. In the same month a
drive for new members of the Red Cross was begun.

In the meanwhile a close co-operation between the state educational body and
the council of defense was promoting patriotic education in the Menomonie schools,
and loyalty pledges were being signed by the pupils. The establishment of branches
of the Junior Red Cross was also encouraged.

By January 1, 1918, about 85,000 worth of war saving stamps had been sold
in Menomonie. A war stamp drive was begun on Feb. 3, local selling points being
established. The women’s societies and most of the fraternal societies helped in
this work. In the same month a big drive was put on throughout the state by
the Lutheran Church to provide funds for the national conference for soldier’s and
sailors’ welfare. The Rev. E. C. Haavik was chairman of the Dunn County com-
mittee and good results were attained.

The waste due to the liqnor traffic was receiving national attention and on
March 7 a plan was devised to get prospective voters at the spring election to
sign pledge cards. A meeting for this purpose was called by the organizing com-
mittee of the Progressive League, consisting of B. H. Waterman, A. Quilling, H.
G. Johnson, M. King, E. O. Wright, C. K. Averill and R. E. Bunday. The women
did good work in the campaign; but in the election in April the city voted for li-
cense. Two other license contests were fought out in Dunn County, one in the
town of Tiffany (containing the city of Boyceville), and the other in the town of
Weston, in both of which the ‘“drys” prevailed.

In March another drive for the Red Cross was planned, with the object of
raising $18,000 a year to maintain work.

March 28, 1918, it was announced that Dunn County’s quota for the third
Liberty loan drive was $360,000, and Chairman Frank Pierce and the workers
under him began making preparations for the drive, committees being appointed
in the various towns.

In the meanwhile a drive was put on to increase the acreage of wheat in the
county, which resulted, as announced April 18, in an increase of over 4,000 acres.

In the Liberty Loan drive Dunn County ‘‘went over the top,” the total face
value of bonds bought amounting to $424,250.

Friday and Saturday, May 10 and 11, were big davs in Menomonie, a great
Community Fair for the benefit of the Red Cross being held at the armory on both
days, and a grand parade being held on Saturday to celebrate the success of the
third Liberty Loan drive. The Fair cleared $4,500.

A Red Cross drive was started May 3, the American Red Cross having called
for an effort to raise $100,000,000, and at the same time it was announced that
Dunn County had a quota of $§9,000 to be raised as part of a national fund of
$10,000,000 for the Salvation Army.

From time to time during these money-raising, and other war time activities,
the soldier boys were leaving for camp, with the encouragement of the home people,
who attended in large crowds at the depot to minister to their comfort and give
them parting cheers. On May 28 a contingent of 80 left, which was the largest
up to that date. Itissad to relate that some of these departing heroes who bravely,
if not cheerfully, waved farewell to their friends and relatives as the train moved
out of the depot, were destined never to see home again, but met their death on
Flanders’ Fields or in camp or army hospitals. Already news of casualties had
begun to arrive, and ere long the pages of the Dunn County News showed por-
traits of the honored dead, sometimes in groups of three or four, with suitable
tribute to their deeds and character. A list of those who thus gave up their lives
in the cause of freedom from military despotism may be found in the article on
the Ludington Guard contained in this volume.

In July Dunn County again went over the top in a war saving stamn drive,
which was over-subscribed by $14,000 or more.
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On Sunday, July 21, memorial services were held in Stout Auditorium in honor
of the soldiers from Dunn County who had given up their lives in the great con-
flict. A large audience was present, the hall being filled.

In September preparations were made for the fourth Liberty Loan drive to
begin Sept. 28. This drive was over-subscribed by nearly $50,C00, the total sale
of bonds being $589,100.

In October. the schools, churches, and other public meeting places in the city
were temporarily closed on account of the prevailing influenza. :

A report of an armistice between the contending armies which reached this
country in the first week of November being sent under an mistaken impression by
an American officer, and which was given publicity in the News issue of Nov. 7,
caused a premature celebration; but a few days later a correct report arrived that
the armistice had been actually signed on Nov, 11. A grand demonstration then
took place, all the stores and places of business being closed, and preparations be-
ing hastily made for two parades, which were carried out, one in the forenoon and
another in the afternoon, in which the Stout students took part, besides many of
the citizens. All were rejoiced at the news of vistory, and that the reports of addi-
tionat dead and wounded which toward the close of the war had been appearing
more and more frequently in the News columns, were now practically ended, and
that with the exception of the few who were destined still to succumb from wounds
or disease, the soldier boys who still survived would ere many weeks be on their
return home to their anxious relatives. Of those joyous reunions it is needless
here to speak; they can better be imagined than described. Some of the soldiers
were detained for awhile with the army of occupation in Germany, but there was
no longer the same anxiety as to their lives and welfare, and hope deferred was in
time realized and the citizen soldiery absorbed again into their respective com-
munities with joyful welcome.

With respect to the Red Cross, Miss Marion Ingalls, the present secretary,
has kindly furnished the following article:

On March 2, 1917, a meeting was held in the Memorial Building to discuss
the formation of a Red Cross chapter. The meeting was opened by T. B. Wilson,
who was elected temporarv chairman. Mr. L. D. Harvey was the speaker of the
evening. A petition signed by 47 charter members to form a Dunn County chap-
ter was forwarded to the National Red Cross.

On March 19, 1917, authority having been received, the permanent organiza-
tion of the chapter took place at a meeting in the Memorial Building, with the
following officers: T. B. Wilson, chairman (succeeded in 1921 by B. L. Kabot);
Mrs. E. E. Lamberton, vice chairman (succeeded in October, 1917, by Mrs. O. E.
Huber); Mrs. Jonathan Boothby, secretary (succeeded in 1918 by Marion Ingalls,
who still holds that office) ; William Schutte, Jr., treasurer. The board of directors
chosen was composed of the following persons: Mrs. E. E. Lamberton (succeeded
in October, 1917, by Mrs. O. W. Huber), William Schutte, Jr., Mrs. Jonathan
Boothby, Mrs. I. B. Spencer (succeeded in 1920 by Rev. A. E. Westenberg), Rev.
Mr. Tolleys (succeeded in 1918 by Miss Hessie Freeman), Mrs. Frank Carter,
Miss Hattie Bates, Mrs. A. ]J. Josephson (succeeded in 1921 by B. L. Kabot), Mrs,
Robert Taufman, B. H. Waterman, Mrs. C. H. Diedrich and T. B. Wilson.

In November, 1918, it was voted to add to the board of directors the chairman
of each branch.

The active work of the chapter was organized with Mrs. T. B. Wilson in charge
of the surgical dressing department, who served continuously to the end of the
war. Mrs. Charles Nelson was succeeded by Mrs. O. W. Huber as matron or
superintendent in charge of sewing. Marion Ingalls was in charge of the cutting
of hospital garments and the supply of branches. Mrs. W. G. Patterson was suc.
ceeded by Mrs. Belle Ranney as head of the inspection department. Mrs. Jona-
than Boothby had charge of knitting and Mrs. Paul Wilson of packing and shipping..

The following branches were organized: Big Otter Creek, May 14, 1918; chair-
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man, Mrs. O. E. Losness. Blair Moor, June 11, 1918; chairman, Mrs. R. D. Rob-
bertson. Boyceville, Sept. 11, 1917; chairman, Mrs. William Clough. Cedar
Falls, May 17, 1918; chairman, Mrs. Frank Wilkinson. Chippewa Bottoms, June
6, 1918; chairman, Mrs. A. L. Knutson. Colfax, June 5, 1917; chairman, Mrs.
George T. Vorland; Connorsville, May 16, 1918; chairman, Mrs. Benjamin Clough.
Damon Ridge, Aug. 29, 1918; chairman, Mrs. Sanford Baum. Downing, July 12,
1917 chairman, Mrs. Harris Pratt. Downsville, Jan. 5, 1918; chairman, Mrs.
Mary Flick. Dunnville-Waubeck, Jan. 3, 1918; chairman, Mrs. A. N. Abbott.
Eau Galle, ............ ; chairman, Mrs. George Topliss. Elk Mound, Aug. 11,
1917: chairman, Mrs. George Mars. Fall City, Oct. 17, 1917; chairman, Mrs.
Albert F. Klatt. Finstad Valley, ............ : chairman, Mrs. H. Mattison.
Grant, May 30, 1918; chairman, Mrs. Frank Fischer. Knapp, ............ ;
chairman, Mrs. William Robinson. Lambs Creek, ............ ; chairman, Mrs.
O. T. Thompson. Little Otter Creek, June 13, 1918; chairman, Mrs. Fred Palmer.
Louisville, Jan. 10, 1918; chairman, Miss Leola Norgard. Lucas, Jan. 16, 1918;
chairman, Mrs. Walter Hughes. Maple Ridge, Aug. 9, 1918; chairman, Mrs.
Wallace Kunz. Meridean, May 24, 1918; chairman, Miss Agn:- Fossum. North
Hay Creek, May 21, 1918; chairman, Nettie J. Eide. Ridgeland, ............ ;
chairman, Mrs. M. L. Randall. Rock Creek, ........... ; chairman, Mrs. Mary
Melrose. Sand Creek, Aug. 24, 1918; chairman, Mrs. Robert Worman. Spring
Brook, June 21, 1917; chairman, Mrs. Edna Tiffts. Twin Hills, March 12, 1918;
chairman, Agnes Tietz. Vanceburg, Sept. 6, 1917; chairman, Mrs. L. G. Richards.
Washburn Farm, Aug. 13, 1918; chairman, Alvena Anderson. Weston, Jan. 29,
1918; chairman, Mrs. William Branshaw. Wheeler, June 20, 1917; chairman, Mrs.
Charles Sahlie.

There were also three unorganized auxiliaries, namely: Hatchville, North
Menomonie, and Rusk, presided over respectively by Mrs. George Hovlid, Mrs.
J. C. Jacobson and Mrs. F. R Ross.

During the period of the war 151 boxes of completed work were shipped from
the Dunn County Chapter, comprising 83,960 articles, of which 68,275 were sur-
gical dressings, 6,927 knitted articles, 6,483 hospital garments, and 2,306 refugee
garments.

Two consignments of used clothing were collected and shipped for Belgian
relief, weighing 7,198 pounds and 7,069 pounds respectively.

The total collections made up to Jan. 1, 1919, totaled $58,542.18, in which
amount is included the First War Fund Drive of $6,764.27, turned over entire to
the National Chapter. This total also includes $11,898 from memberships, $4,500
from the Red Cross Fair, $9,861.32 from the monthly donations of the City and
County Support Clubs, organized under the direction of James F. Wilson to supply
the necessary operating funds for the production of work the Dunn County Chapter.

The work rooms were first on the upper floor of the Wilson Land & Lumber
Co.’s building, then the entire cottage next to this building was occupied, and
finally removal was made to a large suite of rooms :n Stout Institute; the uses of
all of which places were donated to the chapter. The faithful workers who gave
so freely of their time and labor to the Dunn County Red Cross accomplishments
are legion.

The Red Cross were asked by the mayor to conduct a hospital during the in-
fluenza epidemic in 1918, because the city hospital could not take care of contagious
cases. The hospital was maintained at 409 Wilson Avenue under the personal
direction of James F. Wilson, with Red Cross members as volunteer nurses under
the supervision of Mrs. C. B. Stone. One hundred and twenty patients were cared
for, with no fatalities.

Following the war the Chapter has maintained an office and a full time secre-
tary for home service and information, and assistance with government claims for
Dunn County service men. The average number of men seeking such service
during this entire period, 1919-1925, has been 100 per month, with never dimin-
ishing regularity. There are 227 active disability cases on the Chapter files, and
over 2,000 service men.
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From October, 1920, to October, 1921, the Red Cross had a regularly employed
county public health nurse, Miss Rachael Dietrichson. When this work was taken
over by the county, the Red Cross followed with classes, 1921-1922, throughout
the county in home hygiene and the care of the sick, with Katherine E. McKinley
as instructor. There were 24 classes, with 518 country women enrolled. Mrs.
H. C. Inenfeldt was chairman of the nursing committee, under whose direction
fell the health work.

In Disaster Relief, $1,250 was forwarded for the benefit of the sufferers from
the Japanese earthquake in September, 1923 $3,200 was raised in Dunn County
for the Dunn, Barron and Polk counties cyclone sufferers in June, 1922, the local
relief work being under the direction of T. B. Wilson; $236.35 was contributed to
the relief work in connection with the Illinois cyclone in 1925,

The Junior Red Cross was active during the war under the chairmanship of
E. W. Waite and Theresa Leinenkugel. Since the war Earl Edes and W. G. Bal-
lentine have been chairman for the county and city respectively. The funds are
used for financing medical and surgical care for children whose parents are unable
to do this. This branch of work has averaged ten cases per year.

The activities for the present year, 1925, include soldier and soldier family home
service, and a monthly series of Free Chest Clinics. The Chapter is always in
readiness for disaster relief, and co-operates with other existing agencies in the
handling of civilian cases. ‘ Marion Ingalls.

The Dunn County News in its issue of Nov. 28, 1918, said:

“Dunn County in the recent war work campaign exceeded its quota by $2,482.
The divisions that collected in the form of individual subscriptions during the
campaign enough money to put them over the top were Hay River, the village of
Colfax, the village of Downing, village of Elk Mound, village of Weston, Otter
Creek, Sand Creek, town of Stanton and town of Tiffany. Towns in which appro-
priations were made by the town board to the amount of the allotments, or to
make up deficiencies, were the towns of Colfax, Menomonie, Rock Creek and
Spring Brook. Those in which levies were ordered by the county board to make
up deficiencies were the towns of Dunn, Elk Mound, Eau Galle, Grant, Lucas, New
Haven, Peru, Red Cedar, Sheridan, Sherman, Tainter and Weston. Stout Insti-
tute did especially well, subscribing $1400. Throughout the county exceptionally
noteworthy work was done by women’s organizations.”

Dunn County was one of the comparatively few counties in the state to make
good its quota of war savings stamps for 1918 before the close of the year and it
did so handsomely. The quota—$508,400: sold—$514,180; surplus—$5,780.

In December the influenza, which had taken so heavy a toll, not only of the
men in the army, but also the people at home, began to decrease, and with the
dispersion of the clouds of war and pestilence the light of hope grew stronger and
the people began to adjust themselves to the new conditions which confronted
them—conditions caused by the war, involving the country in vast financial obli-
gations and affecting all classes of society.

In the six and a half years that have since elapsed much has been done to repair
war’s ravages, but much still remains to be done and a large part of the burden
must be transferred to the shoulders of the next generation. The present has its
problems, which are strenuous enough, but the spirit of co-operation which has
hitherto proved stronger than faction, and has held the American people together
in a forward movement on lines of industry, patriotism, and good will toward the
other nations of the earth, will doubtless prevail, and to the historian of the future
will fall the task of recording more perfect victories and higher achievements than
have been witnessed by those now living.



CHAPTER XVIII
CITY CHURCHES AND PARISHES

Centenary Methodist Episcopal Church.—According to previous histories of
this region, it was the Episcopal Methodists who established the first religious con-
gregation in Menomonie. The Rev. Chauncey Hobart, D. D., was the first man
to represent the denomination in the upper Mississippi Valley, which included the
Menomonie circuit in the Chippewa district, and the first meeting held here for
divine service was in the summer of 1852. It was conducted by the Rev. MIr.
Mayne under the direction of Mr. Hobart. Services were also held in the winters of
1854, 1855 and 1856 in the private schoolhouse of Knapp. Stout & Co., in the mills,
by Rev. Joshua M. Pittmann, who, however, is said to have been a Baptist, so
these may have been either Baptist cr union services, no particular demonination
being mentioned. In 1857 the Rev. Mr. Hobart was presiding elder for the Metho-
dists, having charge of the Trempealeau, Eau Claire, Chippewa, Willow River,
and Apple River circuits. Acting under his instructions, the Rev. S. Boles organ-
ized the Methodist Episcopal Church society at Menomonie in the fall of 1657.
The Rev. J. L. Dyer had charge of a portion of the Chippewa Valley district in
1838, and in that year and subsequently meetings were held in the mills of Knapp,
Stout & Co., among the pastors who conducted the services being the Revs. W. N.
Darnley, J. Gurley, J. L. Dyer, and E. S. Hanens. In 1861 the Rev. J. B. Rev-
nolds was pastor of the society. He was followed by the Revs. D. F. Knapp and
W. Woodley. In 1864 the services were held in the schoolhouse in the village, and
late in that year the preliminary steps were taken for the erection of a church
building by the purchase of a lot for its site. The location was on Block 128, on
the Wilson flat, between Broadway and Second Street West, the building when
completed standing on the southwest corner of the block, and facing south. For
some time previous to its occupation, however, the Methodists and Congrega-
tionalists conducted services on alternate Sundays in an old schoolhouse on Main
Street, on the site that is now the north half of the Central schoolhouse grounds.
The two societies conducted a union Sunday school. The Rev. W. Haw was the
Methodist pastor in 1866, and under his direction, in association with W. Wilson
and A. J. Messenger, the corner-stone of the church edifice was laid by the Rev.
Bishop W. Thompson. The church was dedicated in the spring of 1867. For
some time after its completion the Congregationalists held services in it everv
Sunday alternating morning and evening with the Methodists, until finally the
latter desiring to have the full use of the building, the Congregational society left
and sought another place of worship. At some time in the latter 70’s, probably
about 1877—the precise vear not now being remembered—the church was moved
to the present site on Wilson Avenue, and a new dedication took place. TUnder a
succession of active and earnest pastors, the congregation grew, in spite of occa-
sional financial stringency, until more commodious quarters became necessary.
In the year 1900, therefore, the church was rebuilt by Contractor G. W. Pepper
from plans prepared by Architect John Charles, and on Sunday, Jan. 20, 1901,
another dedication took place, with appropriate ceremonies. The dedicatory ser-
mon was preached in the morning by the Rev. Robert Forbes of Duluth, after
which the financial needs of the church were presented (amounting to about S800),
and an appeal made for aid, to which there was a liberal response. In the after-
noon further ceremonies occurred, conducted by Presiding Elder Trimm of Chip-
pewa Falls, assisted by the Rev. A. J. Davis, resident pastor, and other ministers.
A largely attended meeting was held in the evening, conducted by Mr. Forbes, at
which further contributions were made. The seating capacity of the remodeled
building was 350, and in the local newspaper the building was described as *‘a
beautiful structure, a credit to the society and to the city.” As complete records.
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are lacking, it has been found impossible to give a full list of all the pastors who
have served this congregation. Among those who seem to have been pastors here
at an early date were Rev. T. C. Golden, Rev. A. J. Davis, Rev. H. W. Bushnell,
Rev. S. O. Brown, Rev. G. D. Brown, Rev. John W. Bell, Rev. E. S. Hanens,
Rev. J. McClane and Rev. G. T. Newcome. Some of these may have served later
than some of the following, the approximate time of whose pastorates have been
ascertained, namely: Rev. S. S. Benedict (1870-1879), Rev. John Steele, 1879-
1880). Rev. John B. Bachman (1886), Rev. J. D. Brothers, and Rev. James Evans,
the last named assuming the duties of the pastorate in October, 1890. Among
others who served later were the Revs. Mr. Marcellus, Mr. Beeks, Mr. Emery,
Rev. James Coram and Rev. Mr. Dunn. Then came the Rev. Arthur Dinsdale,
who served two years or more, and, after him, the Rev. James Benson, who served
three or four years. The next pastor was the Rev. W. I. Lowe, and he was suc-
ceeded by the Rev. A. R. Klein, who preached his first sermon here Sept. 6, 1920,
and who is still in charge. In 1922 the church edifice was rebuilt, only a small
part of the original building being utilized. A pipe organ was installed, and on
Sunday, Nov. 19, 1922, the church was rededicated, the Rev. A. R. Klein, D. D.,
presiding, and the dedicatory sermon being preached by Rev. Roy P. Smith of
Simpson M. E. Church, Minneapolis. There was a choir of 30 voices and the new
pipe organ was used for the first time. In the evening the speaker was Rev. Dr.
J. W. Irish of Madison. On Monday evening an organ recital was given by Charles
C. Kirk as a part of the dedicatory exercises. The present membership of Cen-
tenary M. E. Church is 305, but over 500 attend the services. There is a choir
of 30 voices. The Sunday school has an earollment of 308. There are several
active societies, including: The Woman'’s Foreign Missionary Society; the Standard
Bearers, a missionary society of young people; the Light Bearers, a missionary
society of younger people; and the Epworth League, which has a membership of
about one hundred. The church has one mission, the Methodist Church at Cedar
Falls. The congregation of this mission is an old one, and, so far as now remem-
bered, has been served from Menomonie from the beginning. The building will
seat 113 and in summer there is a good attendance, the services being held from
9:00 to 10:00 a. m., while in winter they are held in the afternoon. The member-
ship is about thirty.

First Congregational Church.—On Feb. 17, 1861, a meeting of citizens of
Menomonie was held in Newman Hall (known later as the Knapp, Stout & Co.’s
land office) for the purpose of organizing a Congregational church and society.
Lorenzo Bullard was chairman and S. B. French secretary of the meeting, and by
unanimous vote the society was named ‘“The First Congregational Church and
Society of Menomonie.” The first members were the Rev. P. Canfield, Mrs. P.
Canfield, H. C. Brunelle, Mrs. Orella Shorey and Mrs. Eliza E. Malcome. Before
a notary public on March 6, at their second meeting, the officers were elected and
steps were taken for the proper organization according to the state laws, and on
March 10, the constitution and by-laws presented were accepted and signed by 23
persons. The church was regularly organized by the Chippewa Valley District
Convention of Ministers and delegates on Dec. 28, 1861, adopting the articles of
faith and covenant taken from the year book of 1859 and held in common by many
churches at that time. The church continued to use Newman Hall until arrange-
ments were made to occupy an old schoolhouse located on Main Street (on the
north half of the Central School grounds) where services were held every other
Sunday, the congregation alternating with the Methodists, and the two societies
having a union Sunday school. Through the generosity of Knapp, Stout & Co.,
a house was built in 1862 for the pastor’s use, and was called the Congregational
parsonage. The Rev. Philo Canfield, who had been instrumental in organizing
the church, terminated his pastorate on May 17, 1863, during which time six mem-
bers had been added to it. For 18 months thereafter the people were unable to
hold religious services. However, the Rev. J. C. Sherwin of West Salem, Wis.,
was with them occasionally, and he recommended the Rev. J. P. Imes, who became
pastor here in December, 1864. As Mr. Imes’ religious opinions, however, were
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more in accordance with those of the Baptist denomination, in which the people
declined to follow him, he remained here less than a vear. His attitude greatly
distressed and humiliated Mr. Sherwin because he had recommended him. In
1865 the church was admitted to the St. Croix Valley Association of Presbyterian
and Congregational Churches, and was represented at the National Council of
Congregational Churches at Boston by the Rev. George Spaulding of Hammond,
Wis. After the departure of Mr. Imes the people were able to hold services only
on occasions when it was possible to have with them either the Rev. George Spauld-
ingor the Rev. A. Kidder of Eau Claire, Wis., until in the spring of 1868 they per-
suaded the Rev. Mr. Sherwin to leave his church at West Salem, Wis., and take
charge of the work in Menomonie. At some time in the two-year period that
elapsed between the departure of Mr. Imes and the acceptance of the pastorate
by Mr. Sherwin a church edifice was erected, the people of the village in general
helping in the work. It was supposed by many to be a union church, but when
it was dedicated in the spring of 1867 it was called the M. E. Church. The Rev.
Mr. Sherwin, however, held Congregational services in it every Sunday for some
time, alternating with the Methodist pastor until the Methodists decided to
occupy the pulpit exclusively. This put the Congregationalists to the necessity .
of seeking a new place-of worship, which they found in an old carpenter shop that
was also being used for school purposes (the old schoolhouse having been burned)
and which was in a very dilapidated condition; but they continued to hold services
there until the cold weather drove them to the warmer quarters of the Menomonie
House hall, at that time the only hall in the village. With the lapse of years there
had been a considerable growth in the membership, and in June, 1869, the society
was reorganized and several amendments made to the original constitution. In
July of the same year it was decided to erect a house of worship on the lots now
occupied by the H. E. Knapp residence, which were donated by Knapp, Stout &
Co. The building was commenced immediately but was not completed until the
fall of 1870. For nearly ten vears the people had been struggling with difficulties,
having to hold services in almost any kind of sanctuary. sometimes at the home
of a member, and for a part of the time having had no pastor; the completion of
their first church edifice, therefore, was an event that was hailed with great joy.
I1 health forced the Rev. Mr. Sherwin to leave the pastorate after eight years of
faithful work, in which he had won the esteem of all who were associated with him,
and had increased the membership of the church by more than 100. On August
18, 1875, the work was taken up by his successor, the Rev. A. McMasters, during
whose pastorate, which lasted four years, new rules and regulations for the church
government were drafted and accepted. Mr. McMasters, who was a very able
minister, also advocated the removal of the church building to some place more
centrally located, but the people were not yet ready to take such a radical step.
He preached his farewell sermon on Aug. 9, 1879. Answering a call, the Rev.
Henry Ketchum of Wolfboro, N. H., preached his first sermon on Aug. 16 as pas-
toral candidate, «id by the unanimous vote of the congregation was elected pastor
for one year, to commence in September, 1879. Coming to his work in Menomo-
nie in the strength of vigorous vouth and manhood, Mr. Ketchum inspired the
congregation with new life, which brooked no interference in its onward march
and recognized no limit to the measure of success the church might attain. He,
also, like Mr. McMasters, advocated the removal of the church building to a more
central location, and this time the suggestion met with approval and was acted
on. Four lots were secured where the church and parsonage are now located—
corner of Wilson Avenue and Fifth Street—and the building having been moved
in the fall of 1880, the first services at the new location were held on June 16 the
same year. The attendance was greatly increased on account of this central loca-
tion, and about two vears later, on consideration that the church build an annex
to be used as a prayer room and study. and paint the building, Mr. Knapp built
and gave them a parsonage. The Rev. Mr. Ketchum not only increased the mem-
bership but seemed to bring the members of not only the church but of the allied
societies closer together. In 1887 he tendered his resignation, which, however,
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was not then accepted. In the next year he again tendered it, and as this time
his decision could not be changed. it was accepted and he terminated his pastorate
on Feb. 13, 1888, after a service here of eight and a half vears. The Rev. S. S.
Hebberd, who answered the call on April 15 the same vear, was a scholarly gentle-
man who did especially good work among the voung people. He remained two
vears and was succeeded on July 1. 1890, by the Rev. James W. White. In order
to do more effective work. because the membership of the church had grown to
be large, and the work had expanded, the Rev. Mr. White advanced the idea of
building a new church with greater facilities, which was met with enthusiasm, and
owing to the generosity of two of the ladv members, the reople were enabled to
erect a beautiful church edifice that was dedicated June 1, 1902 and is still in use.
It will seat 600 people. Mr. White remained in Menomonie as pastor of the First
Congregational Church for 11 vears and five months, during which time the church
not only grew in numbers but gained a splendid reputation, as he was a very
effective minister who instructed and led his congregation in and to higher views
of Christian life. Under the leadership of Rev. R. L. Breed, who succeeded Mr.
White in November, 1901, the congregation made amendments to their by-laws,
arranged a new system of record keeping, and changed the order of services. An
address given to the society in January, 1903, by the Rev. J. W. Frizzell of the
First Congregational Church of Eau Claire, Wis., on ““The Opportunities of the
Church of Today.” was very instructive and aided the people in their subsequent
work. The annual state convention of Congregational Churches met in Menomo-
nie for the first time in October, 1903, nearly 300 ministers and delegates being
present. In 1904 amendments were again made to the regulations, uniting with
the church the allied societies, of which there were quite a number, each having a
large membership. After four vears of successful work, Mr. Breed resigned,
preaching his farewell sermon on Nov. 1, 1903, and after hearing several excellent
ministers, the church on Dec. 7, that year, extended a call to the Rev. Lathrop C.
Grant of Eau Claire, who began his pastorate here Jan. 7, 1906. Mr. Grant was
an able and persuasive orator and proved an earnest worker on behalf of the comn-
gregation. As a stout and aggressive foe of the liquor evil he rendered valuable
service to his fellowmen. He remained here until about the end of the year 1914,
and for about eight months after his departure the church had no pastor, but had
to depend on outside supplies. During that period some able ministers preached
here, but the need of a regular pastor for advancing the work of the church and
society was strongly felt, and finally the services of the Rev. Arthur E. Westenberg
were secured. He assumed charge on August 1, 1915, and has remained to the
present time. His work has been earnest and effective and under his direction
good progress has been made. In 1924 the interior of the church edifice was re-
decorated. The full membership of the church is now about 250, of whom 185
are resident members. There is a large Sunday school and several active societies,
including: the Christian Endeavor, organized some 30 to 35 years ago; the Woman'’s
Auxiliary, corresponding to a ladies’ aid society, which under one form or another
has been in existence many years and was formerly known as the Social Circle:
the Woman’s Missionary Society, and the Scritsmier Club, the last mentioned be-
ing intended to include all the young men and high school boys who have ever
belonged to the Sunday school.” The parsonage, a commodious and thoroughly
modern residence, is situated on a lot adjoining the church on its south side. It
is owned by the society and has been in use in its present condition for the last
18 years.

Immanuel Baptist Church.—The origin of this congregation was a series of
meetings held in Menomonie in the winter of 1861 by Rev. Amasa Gale, a Baptist
minister, which aroused considerable interest in the denomination. In the fol-
lowing year the Rev. Morgan Edwards conducted meetings and baptized a num-
ber of converts to this faith. As a result the Menomonie First Baptist Church
was organized in December, 1864, with ten members. Occasional services were
held and in October, 1866, the Rev. W. W. Ames began his duties here as pastor.
About the same time L. L. Larkham became a member and was chosen first deacon;
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Gerard Orderman, second deacon;and H. Hanford, clerk. Under these officers
the church reorganized. The congregation differed from the majority of the Bap-
tist churches in the West, in that they held to the sentiments of the denomination
in the northern states in the time of the anti-masonic movement which followed the
supposed abduction and murder of William Morgan, after his alleged exposure in
1828 of the secrets of free-masonry. Mr. Ames had resolved during his previous
pastorate never to serve a church which would not disfellowship members of secret
organizations. Ultimately, through his influence, this church was organized against
all forms of secret association. In 1868 a mission Sunday school was formed at
Sherburne Prairie and in the following year a chapel was built there. In 1868
Capt. William Wilson became a member of the church, and in 1869 a Sunday school
was established in the hall at the works of Knapp, Stout & Co., with Captain
Wilson as superintendent. He built and furnished a fine edifice for the First
Baptist Church, which was dedicated March 12, 1871, by Rev. J. W. Fish, and
which is said on good authority to have cost about $17,000. Captain Wilson gave
the organization the use of the building on the condition that it continued to retain
the same 1jstinctive principles which had been adopted previous to his becoming
a member. On the day of dedication he told the congregation that he intended to
deed the property to the church on the same conditions as soon as the organization
was in a position to maintain it free from debt. The announcement of this inten-
tion greatly increased and strengthened the opposing influences which had always
operated against the church from various sources. But the chief factor in those
influences was the position of the church against secretism. It resulted in the
depletion of the numerical strength of the association by the withdrawal of 18
members under the leadership of Rev. C. K. Colver, who was the pastor for one
year, 1873-74, immediately after the close of Mr. Ames’ pastorate. (The latter,
Rev. Ames. was again pastor of the original church in 1878). The majority of the
seceding members formed a new organization known as the Olivet Baptist Church,
which discarded the anti-secret resolution that had been adopted in the First
Church. This new association ceased to exist in 1886, and the Immanuel B: >tist
Church was then organized, with 30 members, by Rev. W. A. McKillop o1 Eau
Claire. The first pastor of this cohgregation was the Rev. A. C. Blackman, who
served three vears, and was followed by Rev. John McGuire, a student pastor from
Rochester Theological Seminary, who remained a few months. The pastorate
was then vacant until the appointment of Rev. S. A. Abbott on Jan. 1, 1891, ex-
cept that S. E. Price, another theological student, preached occasionally in the
interim between regular pastors. The early meetings were held in a hall over the
hardware store of John Edwards & Son, on Main Street, Mr. Edwards being one
of the deacons. About 1892 Immanuel Baptist Church erected a church building
near the corner of Eleventh and Elizabeth Streets—the latter street being now
known as Thirteenth Avenue. There they worshipped until 1914 or 1915, when
the building was moved to its present location, at the corner of Broadway and
Fifteenth Avenue, and at the same time it was enlarged and improved, an outside
brown stucco finish being put on. The new site was donated by Deacon Goodson,
who also gave a frame house which stood on it for a parsonage, this house, which
stood on Broadway, being moved back on the lot to its present position just east
of the church. The pastor who succeeded the Rev. S. A. Abbott was Rev. Henry
A. Buell, who preached his trial sermon on October, 1913, and after being called
to the pastorate, remained here until he resigned on Nov. 2, 1916. Then the Rev.
J. B. Reynolds received a call and, having accepted, remained for a year. His
successor was the Rev. P. C. Hanson, who was called in the spring of 1919, and
while he was pastor the parsonage was improved by the addition of an outside
stucco finish, making it to harmonize in appearance with the church. The next
pastor, C. E. O’'Beirne, accepting a call extended to him in April, 1921, remained
in charge for two vears, after which, there being no pastor for a vear, no services
were held. Then the congregation engaged the services of Rev. J. E. Kess, who
assumed the duties of the pastorate in May, 1924, and is still serving. At present
the church has 54 members; the Sunday school about 60, with an average attend-
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ance of 43. The Ladies’ Union is active in ladies’ aid work. There are two mis-
sions also served by the Mencmonie pastor: one near Rusk, which was established

good basement. The membership of both these missions is, small, but the Otter
Creek mission has many supporters. With respect to the subsequent history of
the original, or First Baptist, church, the conditions imposed by Captain Wilson
when he donated the church property, not having been fulfilled, on his death in
1892, both the building and site passed to his daughter, Mrs. James Stout. Mr.

of the gymnasium—and Mrs. Stout offered to give the church edifice to the society
if they would move it to another location. This they agreed to do, and engaged
a man to do the moving. Being in poor financial condition,'however, they were

possessed is said to be now in use in St. Paul’s Evangelical Lutheran Church of
Menomonie. A fine baptismal font, which was one of the fittings, disappeared
and its present whereabouts—if it Is in existence—is not known. ..

St. Joseph’s Parish.—The first priest to hold services for the Catholics in and
about Menomonie was Father Smedding of Chippewa Falls, who came here for
occasional visits as early as 1861. It was in that year that a small frame church
was erected at Mencmonie, the site being given by Knapp, Stout & Co. A loca-

Falls until 1871. It was then that the F. Keller, residing at Eau Galle, built
the first parish residence but left before its completion. After him Father Michel
took up his residence at Menomonie, remaining until 1878. He was succeeded by
the Rev. M. Heiss, who was pastor until 1882. The next pastor to take charge
was the German Baron, Constantine Von Droste, under whose administration a
new church was begun, which, however, was severely damaged by a storm before

school building, the old church was used. Father Kaluza turned over his own
residence to the sisters, he himself living in a room temporarily added to the sac-
risty. Father A. J. Joerres succeeded Father Kaluza in 1892. He remained at
Menomonie until 1897, in which vear Father J. T. Volz assumed the pastorate.
Under the latter’s administration a new school was started in 1901. In the same
year the church was destroyed by fire. It was rebuilt in the following year in
practically the same place as the old church, the new structure, howevér, being a
solid brick building. A substantial rectory was erected in 1905 at a cost of $6000.
The Rev. J. B. Hauck was appointed pastor of St. Joseph’s parish in 1907. As it
was found that the school did not meet modern requirements, a new building was
put up in 1912.  The cost of the new school amounted to $18,700, a very moderate
cost to the parish for a fine modern building. In 1914 the Rev. A. J. Dorrenbach
was given charge of St. Joseph’s parish. The debt of 86,000 still remaining on the
school was paid off in 1915, The following year the old school building was re-
modeled into the present St. Joseph’s Convent at the cost of $6,000. The old
sister’s house was removed and the premises were improved and beautified. The
church was entirely redecorated in 1920, at a cost of $2,500, Mr. Hy. Gartner
being the artist. At present the parish numbers somewhat over 200 families,
The school is attended by 125 children. Four teaching sisters have charge of the
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school, and an additional teacher conducts the nusic departmemt. The present
trustees of the parish are Messrs. John Cramer, Jr., J. W. Styer, C. O. Govin and
W. J. Myers. The parish has four societies, two of a strictly religious nature and
two of the social and insurance type. The former are the Ladies’ Altar Society,
headed by Mrs. C. Finney, and the Men's Holy Name Union, presided over by
George Belair; the latter, the Knights of Columbus and the Knights of Wisconsin.
The Knights of Columbus, Council 2055, -were organized in the parish five years
ago, the membership being 150 and Mr. Herman Born acting grand knight. The
Knights of Wisconsin have been in existence at Menomonie as Branch 135 since
1892 The number of members at present is 112, John Lammer being president.

Grace Episcopal Church has a history which covers more than half a century.
It is said that Episcopal services were held in the village as early as 1870, but it
was not until two years later that the church was organized, after application had
been made, Sept. 1, 1872, to Bishop Armitage of Milwaukee. The first officers
elected were: Robert Macauley, warden; E. B. Bundy, treasurer; and E. H. Weber,
secretary. Mrs. Robert Macauley, Mrs. E. H. Weber, Mr. and Mrs. G. H. Bar-
wise, Mr. and Mrs. J. R. Mathews and M. and ! is. A. P. Davis were also among
the original members. Until 1874 the congregation was under the pastoral care
of Rev. R. F. G. Page of Eau Claire and became an active Christian organization.
A lot was purchased in March, 1873. In September, 1874, the Rev. P. B. Mor-
rison was appointed missionary pastor, and the corner-stone of the church was laid
by him on June 10, 1875, assisted by the Rev. M. L. Kern of Chippewa Falls.
On July 1, 1875, the Rev. W. H. H. Ross was appointed missionary and the first
resident pastor, and in the following October the church—a brick structure—was
completed, services being held in it Oct. 10 by Rt. Rev. E. R. Welles, assisted by
the Revs. P. B. Morrison and W. H. H. Ross.  As all the church’s records are not
now in possession of the society, some difficulty has been experienced in procuring
a complete list of the successive pastors in their proper order, in particular for the
period between 1880 and 1888—but after patient inquiry and investigation, the
list as here given is believed to be substantially correct. The Rev. M. L. Kern
took charge of the mission in 1876 and remained until October, 1877. During the
next three or four years it was served by the Rev. C. D. Mack, Rev. O. E. Osten-
sen, Rev. Ammi M. Lewis (who died here after a brief pastorate), and Rev. E. R.
Sweetland. The last mentioned, who assumed charge in July, 1879, was reap-
pointed by the Bishop for another year in July, 1880. In April, 1881, he left and
that year the Rev. M. L. Kern became rector again and officiated as such for five
years, or until his death on July 7, 1886. In May, 1882, the church was reconse-
crated, or rededicated by Bishop Wells and assisting priets, probably after some
changes or renovations had been made in the building. After the Rev. Mr. Kern,
the Rev. C. R. D. Crittenden seems to have been rector for a year or so, the Rev.
Charles H. Hartman being appointed in April, 1888. In that.year a parsonage
was built at a cost of $1300. It was a frame building situated just south of the
church on Sixth Street, and is still standing, though now rented out. After a
brief pastorate the Rev. Mr. Hartman left and Mr. A. A. Miller,lay reader, con-
ducted the services for about a year, or until the appointment as rector of the Rev.
E E. Edwards in 1890. Mr. Edwards, with Robert Macauley, as a committee of
two, drafted a plan to improve the church, and while the work was in progress
services were held in the court house. For a number of years the ladies of the
church, organized as the Grace Mission Church Society, were very helpful in pro-
moting the welfare and prosperity of the church by holding fairs and giving other
entertainments in order to raise funds. In 1891 the Menomonie mission petitioned
to be made a parish and the petition was granted. In the following year electric
lights were installed, the old chandeliers being taken out and donated to the Epis-
copal church at Knapp. In the same year, 1892, the Rev. E. E. Edwards left and
Rev. A. V. Gorrell took his place, remaining as pastor until 1893. A call was then
extended to Rev. James Simonds, who became rector in that year. In the fall of
1894 he resigned, his successor, in 1895, being Dr. S. H. Meade. About that time
a wing was built on to the south side of the church to be used as a guild hall. Dr.
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Meade’s pastorate was short, as in 1895 the Rev. W. B. Thorne of Winter Rock,
Fla., became rector. In 1898 the death of E. H. Weber deprived the church of
one of its best workers. He was one of the owners of the Dunn County News and
a man of influence in the community. The Rev. W. B. Thorne left in 1899 and
was succeeded by the Rev. W. A. Dennis, who remained until 1903, A call was
then extended to the Rev. C. W. Turner, who became rector in 1904 and served
the parish until 1909. In January, 1910, the Rev. Phillip Reed assumed the office
of rector, but left in the same vear. He was succeeded by the Rev. E. E. Williams
and in the latter’s pastorate, in 1911, a hot air heating plant was installed in the
rectory. In 1913 Mrs. E. E. Bundy, who was a very devoted worker in the parish,
offered to pay off one half the standing indebtedness if the parish would raise the
other half. This was done and the debt cleared off. In July, 1914, Rev. E. E.
Williams resigned and the Rev. W. H. Wolfe of Eau Claire, took charge of the
services. He was then a deacon, but was ordained to the priesthood in Menomonie
in November, that year, by Bishop W. W. Webb of Milwaukee. Soon after that
he came here to live and remained pastor until 1918. While he was in charge the
church edifice was burned, on Sunday, Jan. 16, 1915, the fire, which started in the
basement, being discovered about § o’clock in the morning. It was very cold
weather—about 20 below zero—and the firemen worked hard till well along in
the afternoon but little was left of the building save the walls. There was an in-
surance of $3700 on the building, of $900 on the contents, and $200 additional on
the piano. An offer of the use of Memorial Hall as a temporary place of worship,
made by the Rev. C. F. Niles on behalf of the Unitarian Society, was accepted.
Plans were soon under way for a new church, which was built on the same lot and
is the edifice now in use. No guildhall was built but a good basement was put in
and supplied with a kitchen. The Rev. Mr. Wolf remained here until the church
was completed, and after he left the Rev. E. E. Williams returned, the congrega-
tion establishing themselves in their new church. In 1918 the Rev. M. G. Argus
succeeded Mr. Williams and remained until 1920, after which, for about a vear,
Mr. O. A. Carlson, lay reader, conducted the services. Then Rev. A. B. Dimick
was rector for awhile and after him the Rev. A. H. Head, the latter leaving in the
fall of 1923. On May 11, 1924, the Rev. Horatio Gates assumed the duties of
priest in charge and has since remained. At present (March, 1925) the church has
60 communicants, with a confirmation class of 14 soon to become members. The
number of supporters and contributors amounts to about 80. The societies now
active are: the Woman’s Guild: the Woman's Auxiliary, a missionary society; the
Girls’ Friendly Society; the Servers’ Guild, composed of young boys who serve at
the altar; and the Altar Guild. In addition there is a well attended Sunday school.

First Evangelical Church.—The origin of this congregation dates back about
65 vears, to the vear 1860, when a number of families came from Pennsylvania to
Dunn. County, Wisconsin, and met for worship in the home of Peter Sippel at
Iron Creek. In that vear and in 1861 the congregation was served by the Rev.
J. Rapkopf from Buffalo County, his period of service lasting for one year. In
1861 Dunn County and what is named in the church records as ““Chippewa Falls
County” were united under the name of the Chippewa Mission, and the Rev.
Herman Bunse, who was placed in charge. visited Iron Creek once a month, com-
ing from Minnesota. In 1863 the Rev. F. Emde succeeded the Rev. Mr. Bunse
as pastor in charge of the mission, and in that year the first church edifice of the
Iron Creek congregation was built. In 1864 the Rev. C. F. Zimmermann was
attached to the Chippewa Falls and Dunn County Mission and served until 1865,
He was succeeded by the Rev. William Pfefferkorn, who, like other pastors during
this period, preached both in the church and in the homes of the people. After
him, in 1867, came the Rev. F. Asman, the above mentioned and following pas-
tors assuming charge usually within two weeks after the conference, which was
held in April. The next pastor, 1868-1869, was the Rev. F. Stroebel, and it was
in 1869, when he was pastor, that the mission, having become self-supporting, was
changed into the Dunn County Circuit, and the Iron Creek congregation built a
parsonage. In 1870-1872 the pastor was the Rev. Matthew Wittenwyler, and
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after him there came in succession the Rev. Peter Spich, 1873-1874; and Rev.
M. C. Werner, 1875-1877. It was in the latter year, 1876, that a church edifice
was built in Menomonie, which was known as Zion Church of the Evangelical Asso-
ciation, and which was situated at the corner of Seventh and Balsam streets, the
latter street being now known as Eleventh Avenue. The dedication of the new
edifice took place on Nov. 26, 1876, the ceremonies being presided over by Bishop
R. Dubs of Cleveland, Ohio. At that time the congregation probably had about
40 members. In 1877 this field was organized as the Menomonie Circuit and in-
cluded the churches at Menomonie, Iron Creek, Elk Mound and a congregation in
the town of Tainter, in the southeast corner of the town, and close to the line sep-
arating that town from the town of Red Cedar. In 1879 the Rev. ]J. P. Viel be-
came pastor and served two years. The next pastor, 1879-1880, was the Rev.
C. F. Reichert and according to a custom which prevailed at that time and for
many years afterward, he had an assistant, who was the Rev. William Detert.
The Rev. David Sneider assumed the pastorate in 1881, with F. Moser as assistant.
In 1882 the Rev. F. Moser became the regular pastor and served the field in that
year and in 1883. In 1884 the rastor assigned to the Menomonie Circuit was the
Rev. William Pfefferkorn, and in that vear the annual conference was held in
Menomonie. The pastor placed in charge in 1886 was the Rev. C. F. Finger, and
he remained until the spring of 1889. Then came the Rev. H. Clement, 1889-
1892; Rev. G. Friedrich, 1893-1894; Rev. A. F. Haberman, 1895-1897: and Rev.
J. 1. Seder, 1897-1900. While the Rev. Mr. Seder was pastor the Iron Creek con-
gregation erected their second church edifice, a frame building. His successor was
the Rev. F. J. Siewert, 1900-1904; after whom came the Rev. R. Eilert, 1904-1907;
then the Rev. Phillip Schneider, who served from 1908 to 1911, and in whose pas-
torate the present parsonage at No. 1215 Seventh Street, was built at a cost of
about $5,000. The previous parsonage, on Sixth Street, had been purchased.
From 1913 to 1916 the Rev. R. Eilert was again pastor, being succeeded by the
Rev. W. L. Lembke, who served from 1916 to 1920. The latter was succeeded
by the present pastor, the Rev. B. J. Diekvoss, who has remained in charge. In
1923 plans were laid for the present church edifice, the site was excavated in Octo-
ber, that year, and on June 6, 1924, the corner-stone was laid with appropriate
ceremonies by the Rev. W. G. Radetz. On Dec. 9, 1924, the church was dedicated
by Bishop L. H. Seager, D. D, from Le Mars, Iowa, assisted by the presiding elder,
the Rev. W. G. Radetz, and the pastor of the church, a number of other pastors
being present. The building, which was erected at a cost of 857,000, is a fine brick
structure, 109 feet in length, with an average breadth of about 50 feet, the front
being 60 feet in width. The church is beautified by stained glass windows, some
of which were donated as memorial windows by members of the congregation;
Mr. and Mrs. P. Kraft donating one, Mr. and Mrs. William Foster one, C. C.
Wieman two, Mrs. Arthur Schaefer one in memory of her husband, Mrs. William
Albright one and Mrs. Fred Blume one; and another was donated by Gilbert
Pfefferkorn, Mrs. S. P. Kraft and Mrs. John Kothlow in memory of their father
and mother, Rev. and Mrs. William Pfefferkorn (see list of pastors). A pipe organ
about to be installed will be donated by the Kraft brothers—Samuel, William and
John—in memory of their father and mother. The present membership of the
church is 160; that of the Sunday school, 190. The auxiliary societies are the
Ladies’ Aid, with a membership of 35; the Woman’s Missionary Society. also about
35; and the Christian Endeavor League, composed of young people, with a mem-
bership of about 34. Up to about seven vears ago the four congregations previ--
ously mentioned—those of Menomonie, Elk Mound, Iron Creek and Tainter—
were members of the Menomonie Circuit; but they were then divided into two
circuits or districts as at present, one being composed of Elk Mound and Iron
Creek and the other of Menomonie and Tainter. The last mentioned, therefore,
is also served by the pastor of the church in Menomonie. Since this change was
made there have been no assistant pastors, and the services have been conducted
entirely in English.

German Methodist Episcopal Church.—This congregation was organized in
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1864, but nothing is known of its activities during the first four vears. The exist-
ing records begin with the date of Oct. 19, 1863, when the F irst Quarterly Confer-
ence was held in the home of John Quirling (now spelled Quilling) in the town of
Spring Brook. At that time, when a formal organization seems to have taken
place, John Quirling, Nicholas Kock and Ernest Bublitz are mentioned as the
first trustees, and Rev. Friedrich as district superintendent or presiding elder.
The Rev. Adam Mueller was pastor. In the following vear a church edifice was
erected at the corner of Sixth Avenue and Second Street West—the location now
occupied by the Menomonie Welding Works—and a parsonage built the same year
south of the church. During the pastorate of the Rev. William Hildebrandt
(1872-1875) the parsonage and lot were sold and the church moved to the present
location, corner of Tenth Avenue and Eighth Street (at that time Sixth Avenue
and Spruce Street), a new parsonage being built on the south side of the church.
In 1878. in the pastorate of the Rev. Daniel Pfaff, the old church was torn down
and the present one built, which seats about 200 people. In 1897 the parsonage
was sold and the present one built at 1002 Ninth Street. The list of pastors who
have served this congregation is as follows: Rev. Adam Mueller, October, 1867 to
September, 1870; Rev. Henry Singenstrue, September, 1870 to October, 1872;
Rev. William Hildebrandt, October, 1872 to October, 1875; Rev. Charles Schoen-
heider, Sr.. October, 1875 to October, 1877: Rev. Daniel Pfaff, October, 1877 to
October, 1880; Rev. William Pomerenke, October, 1880, to October, 1882; Rev.
John Nieppold, September, 1882 to September, 1883: Rev. Christian Nachtrieb,
September, 1883 to October, 1886; Rev. August Biebighaeuser, October, 1886 to
October, 1891; Rev. George Goess, October, 1891 to October, 1896: Rev. F. T
Wiegand, October, 1896 to October, 1900; Rev. C. A. Borchardt, October, 1900 to
October, 1906; Rev. William E. Baumgarten, October, 1906 to October, 1910;
Rev. Carl Krueger, October, 1910 to September, 1913; Rev. Friedrich Brinkmann,
September, 1913 to January, 1920; (The Rev. MTr. Brinkmann having died while
pastor here, E. W. Gehrke, a local preacher, served the congregation until October,
1920); Rev. John F. Steiner, October, 1920 to Octover, 1922; Rev. Henry Potthoff
served one year, 1922-1923; Rev. F. C. Schulz, from September, 1923 to the present
time. The church was at its highest point of membership and activity during the
pastorate of the Rev. A. Biebighaeuser. During the Rev. C. A. Borchardt's time
there was an Epworth League of 28 members. The Rev. F. J. Wiegand started a
mission in the town of Spring Brook; and while Rev. William E. Baumgarten was
pastor a church was built there (about two miles southeast of the village of Elk
Mound). which is served by the pastor of the Menomonie church. About eight
families belong to this rural congregation, and a Sunday school and Ladies’ Aid
Society are maintained. The combined membership of the two churches is about
85; that of the two Sunday schools, 53. The Menomonie church hasa Ladies’ Aid
Society of 22 members. The relatively small Sunday school in Menomonie, which
numbers but 19 or 20, and the abandonment of the Epworth League, are due to
several causes; one being that many of the young people of the church have left
the city to seek employment elsewhere, while others prefer to attend services con-
ducted in the English language; also to war conditions, and to the merging of the
Northern German Conference with the English Conference. From 1880 to 1886
the Menomonie pastors also preached at Deer Park; and also in former years two
other small missions were served from the Menomonie church, one of which was
in the Lierman settlement in the town of Lucas, about seven miles from Menomonie.
Neither had a church building.

First Norwegian Evangelical Lutheran Church, Menomonie.— The first service
by a Norwegian Lutheran pastor in Menomonie was held in 1859 by Prof. Dr.
Laur. Larsen, who was at that time preacher at Rush River, Pierce County, Wis.'
Regular services were held first in 1867 by Rev. K. Thorstensen, at that time pas-
tor for Froen, Little Elk Creek and adjoining congregations. Existing records
show that seven services were held in Menomonie in 1867. After service in a
schoolhouse on the west side of Red Cedar River on Oct. 27, that year, the ques-
tion of effecting a regular organization in Menomonie was discussed but was not
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definitely decided until a meeting had been held after service on Dec. 15. The
organization of ‘“The First Norwegian Evangelical Lutheran Congregation in
Menomonie, Dunn County, Wis.” was effected Jan. 23, 1868, and a constitution
was adopted. The Rev. K. Thorstensen, called as pastor of Little Elk Creek and
Cranberry Creek, also served the congregations of Baerum, near Elk Mound,
Lyster in Bufialo County, Holden at Eighteen Mile Creek, near Colfax, Bonnet
Valley in Buffalo County, Bloomer Prairie, Sand Creek, Solum at Prairie Farm,
Barron County, and Menomonie. A contribution of §484 having been received
or collected, the congregation joined with the German Lutherans in the upkeep
of a church edifice, which was dedicated on Sept. 19, 1871. Already in May, 1874,
the congregation had purchased its own lot. In March, 1875, the German con-
gregation bought the Norwegians’ interest in the church but gave the Norwegians
the privilege of using it for four years longer if they desired, but in 1877 the Nor-
wegian Lutherans built a church of their own. In connection with a preacher’s
conference held in Eau Claire, Oct. 10 to 17, 1877, three churches were dedicated:
one in Eau Claire on Sunday, Oct. 14, the church at Little Elk Creek on Thursday
forenoo.1, Oct. 17, and the Menomonie church in the afternoon of the ~ame day.
Prof. Laur. Larsen delivered the dedicatory sermon here. The church edifice,
32x50 feet in ground plan, and with furnishings, but without the tower, cost 83,400,
with a debt of $800. The Rev. I. L. P. Dietrichson was at that time pastor of
the congregation. No particular changes were made in the church building until
D. Kvasse was pastor. In 1895 a basement was put under it and a furnace in-
stalled. The year 1897 saw the installation of electric lights, and in 1898 the
church was changed inside and out, by building a tower, a choir room, a sacristy,
gallery, new altar and new seats, also decorating it. Owing to these extensive
changes, which made it look like a new church, it was rededicated by President V.
Koren on Sept. 25, 1898. In 1906 a pipe organ was put in by the Young People’s
Society and in 1909 a bell was purchased. The first pastor who visited the con-
gregation lived in the Little Creek parsonage, in which this congregation had pro-
prietary rights. In 1891 the Froen congregation, together with Baerum congre-
gation, bought two lots, and the house which was located back of the church, for
$1,100. In 1893 the house was rebuilt and it continued to serve as a parsonage
until the present one was built in 1915, which cost about $7,000. In a historical
sketch of the church written a few years ago by Rev. E. C. Haavik, he remarked:
“In the 50 years that the congregation has been in existence it has been connected
with Froen congregation, from which it also has received valuable aid and co-
operation.”

The congregations which now stand in connection with Menomonie, aside from
Froen, the history of which is sketched elsewhere in this volume, are Our Saviour’s
Church at Varney Creek and St. John’s Church in North Menomonie. The fol-
lowing pastors have served the congregation: K. Thorstensen, 1868-1874; H. G. J.
Krogh, 1875-1876; I. L. P. Dietrichson, 1876-1879; P. A. Dietrichson, 1879-1889;
K. Seehuus, 1889; T. K. Thorvilson, 18§9-1892: . Kvanse, 1892-1912; E. C.
Haavik, 1912 to the present time. The first trustees were: Christian Johnson,
Syver Syverson and A. Amundson; assistants, Karl P. Knutson and O. Ohnstad;
secretary and treasurer, A. Amundson; choir leader and Sunday school superin-
tendent, Elling Larson. The Ladies’ Aid Society was organized in 1875 with Mrs.
Francisca Young as first president. Mrs. A. H. Johnson was president for the
Ladies’ Aid Society in 1877, and served with faithfulness and much capacity for
28 years until 1905. The Young People’s Society was organized in 1895, with
Nettie Benson as the first president. The choir was organized in 1875. The
Young Girls’ Society was organized in 1898 by Mrs. D. Kvaase. Fram, a men’s
society, was organized in November, 1913, with P. P. Graven as president. At
one time the congregation had a band led by F. W. Micheels. The congregation
joined the synod of the Norwegian Evangelical Lutheran Church in America at
the annual meeting held in Holden church in Goodhue County, Minnesota, in
1874. On June 9, 1917, in the city of St. Paul, occurred the consolidation of the
three Norwegian Lutheran church bodies—the Hauge Norwegian Lutheran Synod
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founded in 1846, the Synod for the Norwegian Lutheran Churches organized in
1853, and the United Lutheran Church started in 1890. The natural effect of this
union was to bring together the local congregations and unify local work. In the
fall of 1918 committees representing the local congregatigns were elected for the
purpose of effecting local union; that is, the union of the Menomonie churches and
those in the surrounding territory depending on service from the Menomonie
pastors. In the city of Menomonie proper there were two Norwegian Lutheran
congregations, one being the Synod congregation, known as the First Norwegian
Lutheran Church, and the other a United Lutheran congregation; and in North
Menomonie there were also two, one of each of the above mentioned branches.
The synod church edifice in North Menomonie was built about 1885, and the
United Lutheran edifice a little before that. Each of these congregations elected
a committee of five members and the four committees met and agreed on articles
of incorporation and on the consolidation in each place of the two divergent
branches into a single congregation. Thus in Menomonie the United Lutherans
and the First Norwegian Lutheran body were merged into one congregation, which
took the name of *“Our Saviour’s Lutheran Church,” to which was also attached for
pastoral service and control the Mamre United Lutheran Congregation (located
five miles west of Menomonie); while in North Menomonie a union occurred be-
tween the Synod church, known as St. John’s, and the United Lutheran congregat-
tion, to this consolidated church being joined a third congregation known as the
Tramway Norwegian Lutheran Church, these three congregations after their
union taking the name of “ The Norwegian Lutheran Church of North Menomonie.”
The United Lutheran Church building is still in use but the synod building has
been converted into a residence. It should also be mentioned that a similar con-
solidation took place at Elk Creek of the Froen Norwegian Lutheran Synod con-
gregation and the Little Elk Creek congregation of the United Lutheran body,
which were formed into the Evangelical Lutheran Congregation of Little Eik
Creek. These consolidations, which reduced eight congregations to three, made
it possible to dispense with one of the two Menomonie pastors, so that there has
since been only one here, who serves as pastor of Our Saviour’s, the congregation
in North Menomonie, the Little Elk Creek congregation, and what is known as
the Varney Creek congregation. The pastor conducts two or three Sunday serv-
ices, in summer having the assistance of a theological student. The present par-
sonage in Menomonie—a fine modern residence, was erected in 1915 and dedicated
in December, that year.

In the year 1871 Rev. Amund Johnson organized Spring Brook Norwegian
Evangelical Lutheran congregation at old Meridean, Dunn County. Some of the
members of the congregation lived on the north side of the Chippewa River and
some on the south side. The Rev. Mr. Johnson served the congregation until
1872, when Rev. Gzermund IToyme took charge of it and served until 1876. In
that year the Rev. Lars Lund became minister. In 1875 the first church was
built at old Meridean. Up to that time the service had been conducted mostly
in living-houses and sometimes in the lumber yards. In 1886 the church burned
down, but in 1889 a new and much larger church was built to take its place. At
that time a considerable number of people emigrated from Norway and settled on
the prairie west of Rock Falls in the town of Rock Creek, down on the bottoms
around Meridean and on the north side of the Chippewa River, north of Caryville,
in the town of Spring Brook. Most of these people were members of Spring
Brook congregation, which was a large one, probably numbering between 300 and
400 members. From the beginning the congregation was connected with Con-
ference, and was a Norwegian Lutheran church body till 1890, when the United
Lutheran Church of America was organized, which it joined. When in June 1917
the three Norwegian Lutheran church bodies known respectively as the Norwe-
gian Lutheran Synod, the Hauge, and the United Lutheran Church of America
were consolidated and formed into the Norwegian Lutheran Church of America,
the Spring Brook congregation automatically became a member of that body.
The Rev. Mr. Lund served the congregation until 1893, when Rev. I. A. Skare
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was called as minister. On account of sickness Rev. Mr. Skare resigned in 1888
and the Rev. M. O. Waldal became the minister and served until 1910. In that
year the Rev. E. A. Norson took charge of the congregation and served until 1917.
In March of the latter vear it was decided to divide the congregation in two, so
that those members living on the north side of the Chippewa River might have the
chance of organizing one of their own, which they did, giving it the name of Spring
Brook Norwegian Lutheran Congregation. Those living on the south side of the
Chippewa River named their congregation the Rock Creek and Meridean Norwe-
gian Lutheran Congregation. The parsonage at old Meridean was sold and a
parsonage was bought in Caryville by the two congregations jointly. In 1918 the
Rev. K. Sumstad accepted a call frcm both congregations and became pastor.
In 1919 Spring Brook congregation built a church two miles northwest of Cary-
ville on the north side of the Chippewa River, This is a frame building plastered
with stucco on the outside, and having a ground plan of 56x30 feet, The member-
ship of the congregation is 140. The Rock Creek and Meridean Congregation
bought the old church, which they moved south upon the prairie three miles west
of Rock Falls and three miles southeast of Meridear. The church was rebuilt in
1920 and is a wooden structure of 70x32 feet. The membership of this congrega-
tion is about 200. As a rule services are held every other Sunday in each church.
Each congregation has a Ladies’ Aid Society which meets every other week,
and a Young People’s Society meeting as a rule every other Sunday afternoon.
Each congregation has a Sunday school and a six weeks religious school (vacation
school) in the summer time.

Our Saviour’s Norwegian Evangelical Lutheran Church of Varney Creek was
started in 1884, when eight or ten Danish and Norwegian families began meeting
for worship at the homes of the members. They were served until 1889 by Rev.
P. A. Diedrichson of Menomonie. After three or four vears a schoolhouse was
built in the neighborhood and the congregation worshipped until about the year
1909, when they erected the church edifice now in use, which is situated in the town
of Dunn, two miles south of Irvington and about a mile from the river. The church,
which is a fair sized frame building, with steeple and bell, and a seating capacity
of 100 people, stands on the gravevard or cemetery property. which was laid out
some five vears or more before the building was erected, the graveyard occupying
the south part of the land. The Rev. E. C. Haavik of Menonomie preaches for
the congregation about once every three weeks, though strictly it is not within
his charge.

Evangelical Lutheran St. Paul's Church was organized as a German Lutheran
congregation in 1864, the services being conducted for a number of vears by min-
isters from an adjoining town. Up to 1869 they were held in private homes, but
in that year the people joined with the Norwegian Lutherans in erecting a church
edifice, corner of Fifth and Balsam streets, the trustees at the time being Fred
Brunn, William Schutte and August Rowe. Both congregations used the building
until 1877. in which vear the Norwegins built a church for themselves. St.
Paul’s congregation had purchased the Norwegian interest in the building in 1875,
it being agreed or understood, however, that the Norwegians might use the build-
ing for four vears thereafter, if necessary. After acquiring full possession, the
German Lutherans moved the church to a lot on Ninth Street, between Eleventh
and Twelfth avenues. On July 16, 1878, the society was incorporated. A par-
sonage was built in 1879. The first six pastors of the church were, in the order
named: Revs. C. Althoff, Eugene Notz, W. Jaeger, F. Fruechtenicht, P. Kleinlein
and Aug. Pieper. While the last mentioned was pastor the congregation erected
on Ninth Street, near Eleventh Avenue, the large brick church that is now in use.
The old church was subsequently used by the society as a schoolhouse until 15 or
16 vears ago, when it was torn down and the present parochial schoolhouse built.
At an early day two stations, or rural congregations, had been established, one
on Iron Creek in the town of Red Cedar, and the other in the Boyer Settlement
in the town of Spring Brook, which up to the time of the Rev. Aug. Pieper were
served by the pastors of the Menomonie Church. About that time they began to
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engage pastors of their own. who served the two missions, the Menomonie pastor
only visiting them occasionally when there happened to be a temporary vacancy.
The first of these rural pastors was Rev. Ed. Kirshke. who remained about two
vears; then Rev. G. R. Baum served for a year; Rev. E. Stevens ten vears; Rev. H.
Schaller four years; and Rev. William Baumann, of Rusk. four vears up to the
present time. In 1884 some 30 families separated from St. Paul’s congregation
and organized the Frieden's Church of Menomonie. The Rev. Aug. Pieper was
followed as pastor of St. Paul's Church by Rev. M. Eickman, who served from
1891 to 1903. His successor was Rev. J. Schwartz, 1903 to 1920, and since 1920
the pastor has been the Rev. William Keturakat. The fine modern parsonage
now in use was built in 1921, the old parsonage, standing on the same site, being
sold. During the last five years the congregation has added about 50 families to
its membership and there are now about 315 connected with the parish, with 245
voting members and almost 1,000 communicant members. The parochial school,
a well equipped brick building, standing on the site of the old church, is attended
by 122 scholars. The first teacher called here was a Mr. Bublitz, who assumed
his duties in a vacation period when the Rev. Eugene Notz was pastor. He stayed
about a vear, and was succeeded by F. Karbaum, who remained two vears, leay-
ing in 1887 when the present church was built. Then F. W. Rowe (present city
clerk) became teacher and remained so until 1904. His successor was Henry
Klug. who served about five vears, when he was succeeded by Otto Stindt, the
present teacher, whose assistant is Gertrude Klaenhammer. St. Paul’s has a
a Ladies’ Aid Society of 89 members, and a Young People’s Society of the Walther
League numbering 50. There is now no debt on the church property and plans
are under way to renovate and redecorate the building, and also to install a new
organ. The officers of the church society, in addition to the pastor and teachers,
are: President, Aug. J. Brummond; deacons, Aug. Holzheuter and Henry Kreuger;
secretary, Robert Steinbring; financial secretary, Otto Stindt; treasurer, Emil
Bressler; trustees, Frank Rowe, William Schutte and Robert Steinbring.

Evangelical Lutheran Friedens Church was organized in 1883 as the result of
a controversy whereby 30 families separated themselves from the Evangelical
Lutheran St. Paul’s Church and formed an independent congregation. Applica-
tion was made to the Rev. P. Recknagel of Eau Claire for a pastor and the first
meetings of the new society were held in the court house, the Rev. P, Recknagel
himself conducting services for about three months. At the end of that time the
congregation secured the services as resident pastor of the Rev. John Weihrauch.
A church edifice was erected on the present side, on Eighth Street corner of Twelfth
Avenue, and dedicated on Sept. 28, 1884. In 1885 a parsonage was built and in
the following vear a schoolhouse, the first teachers of which were, successively,
H. Voight, W. Shack and M. Hetze, the last mentioned of whom, still a resident of
Menomonie, taught for 14 vears. After that one or two ladies acted as teachers
until the school was given up in 1919. A Sunday school had been established a
number of vears previously, and has been efficiently conducted up to the present
time, having now 116 regular members. In 1887 the congregation bought a cem-
etery site, about half a mile south of the city, and a cemetery was established which
is still owned and used by them, and which is nicelv laid out and kept in excellent
order. In 1899 the Rev. H. Hoerig succeeded the Rev. Mr. Weihrauch as pastor
and served until 1917, when he was succeeded on Oct. 15 of that vear by the pres-
ent pastor, the Rev. J. M. Woerth. The congregation now includes 354 families,
or over 1,600 communicants, and its steady growth has twice made it necessary
to enlarge the church. The services are held alternately in English and German.
The Ladies’ Aid and the Luther League—-the former with 124 and the latter with
94 members—are active auxiliary societies.

Unitarian Society of Menomonie.—This society was organized at a meeting
held in the court house on April 9, 1888, *“‘for religious, charitable and educational
purposes.”  Among the first names that appear on the minute books of the or-
ganization were those of R. J. Flint, S. W. Hunt, C. E. Freeman, R. D. Whiftord,
N. F. Carpenter, F. E. Pease, S. ]. Bailey, D. W. Waite, John Steele, Sever Sever-
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son, Carroll Lucas, Mrs. M. S. Messenger, Stella Lucas, Elmer J. Newsom, F. E.
Pease and Mrs. Bertha Tainter. The first trustees elected were S. W. Hunt, Mrs.
M. S. Messenger, Mrs. Bertha Tainter, S. J. Bailey, Dan W. Waite and Stella
Lucas. The first officers were: S. W. Hunt, president; Elmer J. Newson, secre-
tary, and Stella Lucas, treasurer. A committee of three was appointed to draft
the constitution and bylaws, consisting of S. W. Hunt, F. E. Pease and Stella
Lucas. It was moved and carried that a call be extended to Prof. Henry D. Max-
son to be pastor and teacher of the congregation. The following ““Bond of Union,”
presented by S. W. Hunt, was then adopted by the society: ‘“ We whose names are
hereunto subscribed, desiring a religious organization which shall make integrity
of life its first aim, and leave thought free, associate themselves together as the
Unitarian Society of the city of Menomonie, and accept to its membership all of
whatever theological opinion, who wish to unite with us in promotion of truth,
righteousness, reverence and charity among men.” The articles of incorporation
provided, among other things, that the society should co-operate with and be
identified with the Unitarian or Independent Fellowhsip of America; the officers
to consist of a minister or te. cher, ¢:+ en trustees, and a secretary; these officers,
with the president or chairman of any society connected with the main society to
constitute the executive committee. Thus the society was launched, with Pro-
fessor Maxson, who had accepted the call tendered him, as minister. At a meeting
held in December, 1889, the president read the following communication from
Andrew Tainter, dated Dec. 16: ‘It is my purpose to convey the Memorial Build-
ing I am erecting in this city to trustees for certain public uses, among which is
the tender to your society and congregation of a place for the prosecution of its
educational, social, and religious work. I hope to have such a place ready for
your use on or about the middle of May next. A. Tainter.” This offer was ac-
cepted and a vote of thanks passed. The Memorial Building, however, was not
ready by May, nor for some time after, and until it was the society held their
services in Unitarian Hall, a room in the upper part of the building in which the
Waterman & Ehrhardt store is now located. In July, 1890, the society being then
installed in Memorial Building, a Young Men’s Club was organized, and other
activities followed, a kindergarten being organized in the spring of 1901. On Nov.
23, 1891, Professor Maxson died and in June of the following vear a call was ex-
tended to the Rev. H. D. Stevens of Alton, Ill, to become pastor of the society.
He accepted but remained only until January, 1893, and after he withdrew MTrs.
Ada Kelsey was engaged to read sermons at the regular services until another
pastor could be procured. Mr. Stevens’ successor was the Rev. C. F. Niles of
Janesville, Wis., who soon after assumed charge and remained for a number of
vears. A Sunday school had been established and was being successfully con-
ducted. In 1894 a piano was bought and in November, 1905, a Monday Evening
Club was formed, to consist of all adult members of the society and congregation.
In June, 1896, it was proposed to sell the parsonage and to loan out the proceeds
for the benefit of the society. This parsonage stood on Lots 3 and 4 in Rlock 14,
in Codington’s addition to Menomonie. It was not sold, however, for a number
of years afterward. On several occasions in the next few years the Rev. Mr. Niles
tendered his resignation but was persuaded to withdraw it and remain with the
society. In February, 1897, on account of poor health Mr. Hunt withdrew from -
active work with the society and Mr. P. B. Clark became a member of the board
of trustees in his place. The custom of holding no services during the summer
vacation period seems to have been begun in 1900. Elmer J. Newsom, one of the
most active members of the society from the beginning, died toward the latter
part of this vear, for mention is made of his death in the minutes for Jan. 1, 1901.
F. F. Morgan was elected to the board in his place. In 1901 the parsonage was
repaired. About this time the organization of a Men's Club was discussed. Mrs.
Sarah E. Hutchinson was in charge of the Sunday school and so remained for
several years, proving highly capable. In April, 1902, Mr. Niles made a report
showing that the services reached at least 400 people. On April 9, 1903, the society
celebrated its fifteenth anniversary at Memorial Amusement Rooms with a ban-
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quet, the Memorial Sunday School Orchestra furnishing music. It was decided
to hold quarterly socials with supper and monthly socials without supper. Letters
of congratulation were read and the Rev. Mr. Niles delivered an inspiring address.
In May Mrs. Elizabeth Howison was appointed assistant tredsurer to solicit funds
to carry on the work of the society. In December, 1902, Miss Stella Lucas re-
signed as treasurer, receiving a vote of thanks for her long and faithful service,
and P. B. Clark was chosen to fill the vacancy. Mr. Stout had been for some time
a very liberal contributor to the society and about this time plans were discussed
to raise funds to relieve him of a part of the burden. In 1905 the society had two
officers, R. J. Flint being president and P. B. Clark, secretary and treasurer. In
March Mrs. Elizabeth Howison was elected a member of the board of trustees to
fill the place of Mrs. M. S. Messenger then recently deceased. About this time it
was resolved to purchase the Alexander house (on the north side of Twelfth Avenue,
second block west from Broadway) for a parsonage, which was done and the home
put into good condition for the pastor.  As shown by the list of names entered in
the record book of the society, there were at this time about 250 persons connected
with the society. The number of names actually recorded is 252, but several are
followed by a question mark, which implies some doubt as to their being regular
members. At the annual meeting held in March, 1906, it was reported that the
old parsonage had been sold and a new one bought. R.J. Flint, who had served as
as trustee for 18 vears, retired from the board, being given a vote of thanks for
his long and faithful services. The trustees elected were J. H. Stout, James B.
Chickering, P. B. Clark, Miss Stella Lucas, George Thompson, Mrs. Elizabeth
Howison and Mrs. Andrew Tainter. In September a committee of three was ap-
pointed to assist the treasurer in raising funds, namely: Miss Stella Lucas, Miss
Hessie Freeman and Mrs. Charlie Anderson. In April. 1907, the Sunday school
had a membership of 140, Charles Ingraham being superintendent. Mr. Niles
reported that 60 new names had been added to the church rolls the past year.
Mrs. Bertha Tainter was given a rising vote of thanks for the great interest she
had taken in the society, and her kindly assistance to the same, and a deep feeling
of regret was expressed at her absence. In September Mr. Niles was invited to
continue his services with the society for another five years and accepted. He

siderable interest in the society throughout the county. A campaign for funds and
new membership was started. In February, 1911, F. L. Curran became superin-
tendent of the Sunday school in place of Mrs. Essie Nickerson. In this year an
appeal for help was made to the American Unitarian Association, but without
result. Encouraging letters were received from time to time and the work con-
tinued in spite of insufficient resources. In the latter part of the year, 1911, Miss
Stella Lucas died, after having been an active member and officer of tne society
for a period of 23 years, and her place on the board of trustees was taken by Mrs.
Essie Nickerson. In 1912 it was decided to improve the parsonage, the money
to be raised by placing a mortgage on it, and, in September, 1913, it was decided
to sell the barn on the parsonage lot and to paint the parsonage. A report in
February, 1914, showed that the Girls’ Guild had raised the money to purchase a
new set of song and service books and had a small balance left over. Money being
due the pastor, it was resolved this vear to place an additional loan on the par-
sonage. In September, 1916, Mr. Niles resigned, his resignation being accepted
and a financial settlement being made with him. A report in February, 1918,
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bership, bringing up the total membership of the society to 144. The Ladies’
Reading Circle had been very active and much Red Cross work had been done.
Some money had been raised by means of a lyceum entertainment and it was pro-
posed to give further entertainments of this kind. The board of trustees elected
for this vear consisted of J. B. Chickering, Louis Ehrhard, F. E. Niles, Mrs. Pills-
bury, Mrs. Frank Crane, Miss Hessie Freeman and F. L. Curran. The officers
were: J. B. Chickering, president; F. E. Niles, vice presifent; F. L. Curran, secre-
tary, and Miss Freeman, treasurer. A report on subscriptions showed that about
one half of the money raised was paid by two persons, the other half being paid
by 37 persons. About this time, or soon after, the Rev. Walter Smith left, and
the church being without a pastor, the services were suspended. The question of
resuming them came up in February, 1921, and they were subsequently resumed,
the Rev. A. E. Von Stilli, of Artesian, S. D., becoming pastor. In January, 1924,
he was released at his own request, and since Feb. 24, that year, no services have
been held.

The Christian Science Society of Menomonie.—In the summer of 1906 a few
people interested | : Christian Science met together to study the works of Mary
Baker Eddy. After having met a few times without making very rapid progress,
it was resolved to take up lessons for the week from the Christian Science Quar-
terly, meeting Tuesday afternoons of each week. This was done until September,
1907, when the meetings were changed from Tuesday afternoons to Sunday morn-
ings, being held in private houses until larger quarters could be obtained. In
March, 1908, the society began holding Wednesday evening services also—a cus-
tom that has since been continued—and in the following month a more formal
organization took place, eight persons becoming regular members. On May 8
they had their first lecture, delivered by Judge Clarence Buskirk, and in the same
month the society decided to rent a room in the Heller block in which to hold
services, which were first held there on June 7 with Reta L. Ayers as first reader.
In November of that vear Mrs. Anna Boardman resigned as clerk, her place being
filled by Mrs. F. Massev. Some money was contributed to the Publishing House
Extension Fund. In January, 1909, literature for the reading-room was bought;
also music for the services. Fletcher Massey was treasurer. The society wes
strengthened by the addition of four new members. In September, that vear, it
was decided to start a Sunday school with Mr. Massey as superintendent, the first
session to be held on October first. Miss Ayers, Mr. and Mrs. Thorsen and Mrs.
Massey were appointed teachers for the balance of the year. D. K. Hill was
clerk of the society. In November Mr. and Mrs. F. Massey resigned and also
Mrs. H. W. Jimmerson. In January, 1910, D. K. Hill was elected clerk and
treasurer and Mrs. Hill superintendent of the Sunday school. In June of that
year Miss Reta L. Ayers resigned. By this time the society was fairly well estab-
lished, holding regular meetings and with officers duly elected from year to year,
or whenever a vacancy occurred. In November, 1913, the regular status of the
society was affirmed by a resolution that “ Henceforth raembers of the society shall
be those who herein sign the tenets of the Mother Church.” An occasional resig-
nation occurred, but new members were also received, so there was a slow but
gradual growth. As previous to this, however, a number of the members had left
town and the congregation was hardly large enough to need the rooms in “he
Heller block, in July, 1918, they began meeting in private homes. Occasional
contributions were made at this time to the war relief fund. In September, this
year, a new organization took place, as a ‘‘committee on organization’’ consisting
of Mrs. George Seeley and Hazel L. Johnson, was appointed. In July, 1919, the
society went back to the Heller block, leasing two rooms. Boxes containing free
Christian Science literature were placed in the city depot and junction depot.
The society also contributed to the relief of the Duluth fire sufferers: Another
removal was made to rooms in the rear of the Noer drug store building, and while
there the Sunday school work reached a high point of efficiency and interest. In
June, 1922, the question arose whether the society should follow the manual of
Mother Church toward being a branch of the same, or follow the course of the dis-
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senters at Boston and call themselves ** A group of Christian Scientists.” It seems
that this question was not officially settled until January, 1923, when the society
decided to follow the manual. In the same month it was decided to rent a room
in the First National Bank building and the meetings have been held there since
march, 1923, The officers elected in January, 1924, were: Miss Emma Bruenn,
first reader; Mrs. AL C. Peddycord, second reader; Mr. A. L. Inenfeldt, president:
Mrs. Inga Kuester, treasurer: Mr. T. A. Kvale, clerk. Miss Emma Bruenn and
Mrs. Mary Massey were members of the literature distributing committee. Mrs.
Mary Massey was practitioner for two-vears, but resigned in March, 1923, on
account of leaving town. The officers of the society in the present vear, 1925, are
the same as in 1924 except that Mr. Kvale and Mr. Inenfeldt have exchanged
offices, the former now ‘being president and the latter clerk. The society is still
small but is imbued with an earnest spirit and is making good progress.



CHAPTER XIX
INCORPORATED VILLAGES

Boycevilie.—The incorporated village of Boyceville is situated on Tiffany Creek
in the southeast corner of the political town of Tiffany, a town named after Pettis
Tiffany, who came to Dunn County in 1840—it is not known from where—and
conducted the first logging operation on this creek.

The village occupies a level site on a stretch of prairie land bordered in several
directions by low hills or bluffs, which on the southeast approach very close to it.
It was settled as early as 1860, and is said to have been surveyed and platted in
August, 1868, though the earliest plat on record at the Dunn County courthouse is
dated in 1884, the vear in which the Wisconsin Central railroad was built through it.
'This latter plat calls the village Barker (the name given t» the station by the rail-
road company), and was made in September, 1884 by D. W. Waite, county sur-
veyor, for Abel Kaye, ‘“for purposes of sale and assessment.” The location 1s
defined as ““a part of the N. E. 14 of the N. E. 14 of Section 35, Township 30 N. of
Range 14 W.” The plat shows the four blocks between Tiffany and Main streets
and between East and Center streets.

Another plat, called ‘“Brown’s Addition,” and consisting of two blocks between
Tiffany and Main and between Stanley and Center streets, was made for Moses
Brown by D. W. Waite in the same month. Later additions were made for Adolph
Peterson in 1908, 1911 and 1914 for Otto E. Skamser in 1913; the *“ Park Addition,”
consisting of 634 acres, for Vick Lewis and wife, in 1914; the ** Twin Oak Addition”
for Mrs. A. D. Caryl in 1915; “Hayes Addition,” 1915; ““High School Addition,”
December, 1921; and the survey and map made on the incorporation of the village,
the map being dated December 9, 1921.

Thomas West, a pioneer still living, came to this region in 1858 and worked for
the Knapp, Stout & Co. Company, and the Jewett and other lumber companies.
In 1867, he came to Boyceville and found lumbering was being done in this vicinity
by A. C. McDougall and Mike Conners. At that time there were plenty of Indians
here. At the village ““ Mose”” Brown had a small grocery and A. Barton, a black-
smith shop, while the Hays (or Hayves) brothers had a mill at Haystown. Barton
lived at his shop on the creek and Brown's house was the only one on the village site.
Menomonie was the place whence the people obtained their supplies. The railroad
was not vet thought of and there were nomade roads, only trails through the woods. and
the people walked, or used ox teams. The only man in this region who had a horse
team was John Brewer, a farmer, who lived six miles out. At that time the towns
of New Haven, Tiffany and Stanton were all comprised in the town of New Haven
and the men voted at Menomonie. Mr. Wost, who lived six miles north of the
village site, in the spring of 1868, helped to build the first schoolhouse in this dis-
trict, half a mile north of the site of the Boyceville creamery. It was a log building
and is still standing. The big lumbermen got through in this territory about 20
years ago, though some cutting has been done since.

When the railroad came in 1884 the company (as already mentioned) named the
station Barker, by which name the village also was known for some seven or eight
years, though the name of the post office was Boyceville. In 1891 there were about
100 inhabitants here, and the industries included the sawmill of John Marlett, the
saw and flour mill of F. L. and J. C. Roberts, and, about a mile to the west, at
Haystown, the saw and grist mill of A. A. Hays & Bros. The Cadott hub and
spoke factory was also a local industry for several years.

John Cook must have been the first postmaster of Boyceville, as the office,
previously known as the Tiffany Creek office, was moved to his house from Hays-
town some time before the coming of the railroad. It is not well remembered who
succeeded Mr. Cook, though it may have been pioneer N. W. Bradshaw, as he had
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the office for some time. Miss Anna Trainer also had it for a while, and so did
Mrs. Bradshaw, who. after becoming a widow, married Fred Brook. Mr. Brook,
who became postmaster in 1901, served as such for some years. Adolph Peterson
took the office in 1907 and Lyle I. Daigneau in 1914. On Feb. 21, 1921, R. C.
Taylor became postmaster and is still serving as such. Boyceville became a third-
class office on Jan. 1, 1914, while Mr. Peterson was still postmaster. Three rural
routes are attached to it.

The first school in the town of Tiffany—the one mentioned by Mr. West—was,
according to another authority, a log building with a shanty roof, located on the
bank of Tiffany Creek within the present limits of the village of Boyceville. Miss
Annie Stickney, who subsequently became Mrs. William Hayes, was, it is thought,

the first teacher. Mrs. Levisa Blakeley (wife of Nelson L. Blakeley) was also an
early teacher here, probably the second. The log building after some years was
sold for a farm residence and a frame schoolhouse was built which occupied the site
of the present high school This was a one-room building about 20 x 30 feet long,
and was the school of District No. 1, town of Tiffany. Mrs. Blakeley was the
first teacher here, and Mrs. Hayes also taught in it after her marriage; other teachers
in this school were Eliza, Kate and Mary Teare.

By 1888 the population of the district had so increased that the schoolhouse was
no longer large enough to accommodate the number of pupils, and accordingly a
new, two-room building was erected immediately adjacent to the old one, and this
latter was in use until 1913, when more space being again demanded, a four-room
brick building was put up on practically the same site, the frame structure becoming
a residence, which it is now. Three years later an addition of two rooms was made
to the brick building, which gave the district a six-room school. On a winter’s
night three or four years later this building burned down and for a while the pupils
of this district attended school in the Methodist church and in the Opera House,
continuing to do so until the present schoolhouse was built. In addition to the
eight grades, the school provides a four-year high school course, the grades taking
up four rooms (two in a room), and the high school three, namely, the assembly,
English and commercial rooms. There is also a half basement under the assembiyv
room, which is used for gvmnasium purposes. Altogether seven teachers are em-
ployed, three in the high school including the principal. There are now (May, 1924)
67 pupils in the high school and about 144 in the grades. '

About 1890 a man came to Boyceville from Baldwin, St. Croix County, and
established what is now the Boyceville creamery. He was induced to do so by
Benjamin Brickle, who furnished funds to start the enterprise. Either because it
was not properly managed or because the farmers were not vet ready for it, it was
unsuccessful and after a while passed into the hands of other parties operating
under the name of the Montanyea Creamery Co., who kept it going for five or six
vears, though with little profit.” It was then changed into a farmers’ co-operative
concern, which it has since remained. As such it has had some ups and downs, but
has made progress and is now on a sound financial basis. The annual report for
the year ending Dec. 31, 1922—an especially good year—showed, among other, the
following items: Total pounds of cream received, 1,356,711; butter fat, 346,573;

" butter made, 421,426 amount paid patrons by check, $136,638.30: by butter and
other supplies, 87,145 average price paid to patrons, $0.414; average price received
for butter, $0.369. Corresponding items for the year 1923 were: Total pounds of
cream received, 1,028,228: butter fat, 216,089; butter made, 318,836; amount paid
patrons by check, $122,082; by butter and other supplies, $6,057.13; average price
paid to patrons, $0.49; average price received for butter, $0.43. The officers of
the company are: Emrick N elson, president; Frank Meisner, secretary-manager;
Robert Grutt, treasurer. Directors: Jake Wisemiller and Jos. Lipovsky, Jr. The
creamery has 160 patrons.

The Boyceville Press was started Aug. 10, 1910, by E. E. Conroy, who came here
from Elmwood, Wis. It wasa two-page, six-column paper, independent in politics.
Mr. Conroy conducted it until Feb. 21, 1912, when he sold out to H. K. Halvorson,
who enlarged it to an eight-page, six-column paper and made it Republican. He has
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since continued as editor and proprietor, and for the last four years Mrs. Myrtle
L. Halvorson has been associate editor. Mr. Halvorson has been successful in
making the paper interesting, printing special articles such as biographies of pioneers
of this locality, in addition to the regular home and foreign news. A good job print-
ing office is also conducted by him.

The village has a fine brick opera house, which was built in the fall of 1916. It
is owned by a stock company, the directors being William Zabel, Otto E. Skamser,
Elwyn Benner, and Ajer and Frank Drake. It is used for film shows, community
meetings and various entertainments, and fraternal society and American Legion
meetings are held in the basement. The stage measures 20 x 40 feet and the
auditorium has a seating capacity of 370, which can be somewhat increased by the
use of folding chairs. There are several accessory rooms, the building is heated by
steam, and fire exits are conveniently placed.

The Bank of Boyceville is a state bank which was founded in 1909, with a capital
of 810,000 and a surplus of $2,000. The organizers were Arnt Erickson of New
Auburn, William Larson of Bloomer, and O. G. Kinney of Colfax; these men con-
stituted the official board. In July, 1910, Clifford W. Hayes came in as bookkeeper
and in the fall was made cashier. un July 27, 1915, the capital was increased to
$25,000, and in October, 1918, to $30,000, which it is now. There is a present
surplus (May, 1924) of $6,000 and deposits of about $440,000. The officers in
this year, 1924, are: William R. Zabel, president; Theron N. Clough, vice presi-
dent; Clifford W. Hayes, cashier, and Charles H. Zabel, assistant cashier. The
directorate is composed of the officers with the addition of John Schultz and William
Schlough. During the participation of this country in the World War this bank
handled about three hundred dollars’ worth of government certificate indebtedness.
It has also been helpful to the farmers in various ways. It has helped some to get
started in pure bred stock, having been instrumental in distributing over 100 pure
bred Duroc-Jersey hogs. In 1921 it took some of the farmers to the National
Livestock Show at St. Paul, and in cooperation with some of them it procured a
limestone crusher and last year ground over 600 tons; during the present yvear (1924)
it has procured for them a ton of alfalfa seed. The bank has contributed to, and is
cooperating with the campaign for national publicity of Wisconsin dairy products.

The First National Bank of Boyceville was established in 1917, application for a
charter being made September 5, that yvear, by W. A. French, Martin Schlough,
Jr., William Anderson, F. C. Sutliff and Elwyn Benner. The meeting for organiza-
tion was held Dec. 8, 1917. The charter was issued Jan. 11, 1918, and the bank
opened its doors for business in the same month, with a capital stock of $25.000, and
a surplus of $5,000. There were 40 stockholders, as there are at the present time,
all farmers. The officers were: W. A. French, president; Elwyn Benner, vice
president, and Herman Steffen, cashier. The board of directors included the above
mentioned officers, also William Anderson, O. E. Rose and Charles E. Whistler.
The bank’s first quarters were in the Isaac Mahanna building on Main Street, but
were occupied only temporarily, or until a special building could be erected. This
building, also located on Main Street, is a good brick structure and cost about
$6,000. Removal to it was made in the fall of 1918. The bank has enjoyed a
steady growth from the first and has made particularly rapid progress during the
last two years. The capital and surplus have remained the same, while the deposits
are now (May, 1924) $210,000. Gustave Oie is now the president, Ray Marcy,
vice president; and M. M. Setter, assistant cashier.

The Boyceville Telephone Company is an offshoot of the Knapp Telephone
Company, whose lines were extended to Boyceville in or about the year 1910. The
village of Wheeler was also included in the system, but in 1914 the three-fold
interests were divided and each village has since had its own independent company.
The lines are respectively owned and controlled to a half-way distance between
them, and between other neighboring towns or districts in like manner, such as
Menomonie, Downing and Prairie Farm. Connection is made at Menomonie with
the lines of the Bell (long distance) system, and at Glenwood City with those of the
West Wisconsin Telephone Company, full day and night service being maintained.
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The present officers of the Boyceville company are: William Clough, president; -
George Talmage, vice president: C. W. Hayes, secretary; Lavina Williams, assistant
secretary.  William Clough is manager, and the directors are William Schlough,
William Clough, C. W. Hayves, George Talmadge and O. E. Skamser. The present
lineman is James Harmon.

Some 16 years ago Jacob Karlen started a portable sawmill in Boyceville, and
since then has operated it in Knapp and Downing, as well as in Boyceville, cutting
timber in the neighborhood of these villages and doing custom work for building
and fuel purposes, and also custom planing. His mill is equipped with a circular saw
and is operated by steam. When moving he transports his heavy timbers with a
traction engine and the lighter parts with a team. Robert Karlen, a brother of
Jacob and also a resident of Boyceville, also operates a portable mill, at present at
Clenwood City and near Wilson, but formerly in the norther part of Dunn County,
at and near Connersville.

The elevator and feed mill of the Wisconsin Milling Co. was built and established
here in 1920 by Arthur Heinsohn. Mr. Heinsohn has had considerable experience
in the business, as in 1913 he became proprietor of the Downing feed and grist mill,
which he conducted for four years, and then started the Wheeler feed mill, which
he owned and operated for three years, then selling it to the Wisconsin Milling Com-
pany. Since establishing the Boyceville plant he has been its manager. The
elevator has a capacity of 20,000 bushels, and the concern handles all bulky com-
modities needed by the farmers. In the summer of 1923 the company built an oil
station here for both wholesale and retail purposes, which is called the Boyceville
service station.

" Boyceville was incorporated as a village in the spring of 1922, the first officers
elected being as follows: Ralph Hunt, president: I. L. Harmon, N. A. Anderson,
Elda A. Caryland D. W. MeclIntyre, trustees; V. B. Lewis, supervisor; Alice Apple-
by, clerk; John Eicher, treasurer, and Edward Witt, assessor. The population in
1920 was given as 413. :

Previous to the year 1916 for domestic lighting purposes the residents used
mostly individual gasoline-pressure apparatus. Then the Glenwood and Downing
Light & Power Co. put in power lines, and the people for the first time enjoyed the
convenience of electric lights. About two years later the company sold this branch
of their system to the Wisconsin-Minnesota Light & Power Co., who operated it
for a vear and then sold it to the West Wisconsin Hydro-Electric Co., the present
owners. Water for domestic and other purposes is obtained from wells, some houses
being installed with home pressure plants!  As yet there is no organized fire depart-
ment.

There are three churches in the village, one Methodist, and the others Scan-
danavian and German Luthern respectively.

Several branches of Methodists have in former times held services either in or
near Boyceville. As early as 1878 a Protestant Methodist Church was started in
the northeast part of the town of Stanton, about two miles from Boyeceville, this
village, however, being then known as Barker. M r. and Mrs. O. E. Clark were the
chief movers in starting the society, and services were held at more or less frequent
intervals for some years, after which they were given up.

: In 1888 a Free Will Methodist Church was started in the village, and held

services in a frame schoolhouse, which was moved to a location near that of the pres-
ent St. John's Lutheran Church. The people were joined by some German Metho-
dists, but soon a disagreement arose and the German Methodists left the village
organization and started a church of their own about two milles out in the country
on the road to Menomonie, where they have since remained. The Free Will
Methodists in the village then united with the Methodist Episcopal Church and
Boyceville became the afternoon point in the Downing circuit. Among the most
prominent and active workers in those early days were Mr. and Mrs. Oddie, Mr.
and Mrs. T. J. Rundle, Mr. and Mrs. Nel Blakeley, and, a little later, Mrs. J. B.
Clark, Mrs. Elda Caryl, Mrs. Burget and others. The society grew slowly and by
1917 had but 22 members. In the autumn of that year the Rev. E. J. Sachjten, of
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Enderlen, N. D., came to Boyceville as the first resident pastor, serving also the
Blanchard and Pine Grove charges. Steps were immediatelv taken to erect a
church building, a canvas for subscriptions being taken during the winter. Work
on the building was started in the spring and it was ccmpleted at a cost of about
$8,000; its present valuation, however, is nearer S10,000. It was a hard task to
secure the necessary funds, but under the leadership of Rev. Mr. Sachjten and Dr.
I. W. Irish, superintendent of the Eau Claire District of the West Wisconsin Con-
ference, the work went on. In the fall of 1918 the Rev. Jchn W. Burchall was
appointed to Boyceville, coming here frcm Chetek. The prevailing epidemic of
influenza had delayed the dedication of the building, which finally took place on
May 25, 1919, Dr. John Thempson of Chicago and Dr. J. W. Irish cfficiating.
In September, 1920 a good house was bought for a parsonage, costing $4,4C0. The
Rev. John W. Burchall served here for three vears, leaving in the fall of 1921. The
next pastor was the Rev. J. A. Moats, who remained a vear. and in the fall of 1922
the Rev. F. J. Smith took charge and is still serving. He has devised a means of
easing the financial strain put on the people by the erection of the church and par-
sonage by exhibiting motion pictures in the opera house once a month. These
pictures are of gciieral subjects, but are especially educational an uplift.. ;. They
have proved popular and the financial results have been encouraging. The present
membership of the church is about 54, while the Sunday schcol has an enrollment of
about 75. There are no outside appointments now and morning and evening ser-
vices are held each Sunday. The Ladies’ Aid Society laid a new floor in the church
basement in 1923 and in the same year a 36-inch bell was placed in the belfry. The
Junior League and Epworth League are active societies. This is the ccmmunity
church for the American people of Boyceville and vicinity.

St. John’s Lutheran Church (German) was organized in the village some 30
years ago and about seven or eight years later erected its present frame building.
There are now about 24 members in the congregation and services are held in
English and German.

Trinity Lutheran Church (Norwegian) is also an old congregation, the date of
its organization not being now remembered. Its present edifice, a good frame build-
ing, was erected in 1912, but for a number of years previous to that the congregation
held services in St. John’s Lutheran Church, the pastors ccming frem Glenwceed
City. Services are now conducted everv other Sunday-.

There is an Evangelical congregation attached to the Wheeler, Boyceville and
Oak Grove circuit, located a mile and a half or so to the southeast of Boyceville on
County Trunk Road K. It is an old congregation having about 27 members and
holds services in a schoolhouse.

Of the organized societies in Boyceville, aside from the churches, the first
established was R. P. Hobson Camp, No. 5747, M. W. A., which was chartered
Oct. 8, 1898, with 27 members and named after a hero of the Spanish-American war.

On June 1, 1905, North Star Lodge, No. 206, Mystic Workers of the World, was
chartered with 11 members.

A camp of Royal Neighbors of America, the woman'’s auxilliary to the Modern
Woodmen, was instituted Oct. 29, 1909, and its charter, dated Nov. 18, 1909,
bears the names of 20 members.

Boyceville Lodge No. 27, I. O. O. F., was instituted Feb. 14, 1918, and was
chartered June 5, that year. The charter shows the names of but eight members,
who must have been officers, but the lodge now has about 85 members.

Good Luck Rebekah Lodge, No. 202, woman's auxilliary to the Odd Fellows,
was instituted and chartered in 1921, with 27 members.

Harmon Harris Post, No. 314, American Legion, has a charter dated Feb. 8,
1921. The first commander was Kenneth Stout, the second Carl Hedlund, and the
third Albert Anderson, who was succeeded by the present commander, Norman
Peterson. The post has 35 paid up members, some of whom reside in the village
and some in the adjacent or surrounding country,

In addition to the above mentioned societies there is the Boyceville Woman’s
Club, now in the fourth year of its existence, with 46 members, which follows a
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miscellaneous program. A lodge of Beavers was also established about 1913 or
1914, but lasted only a'vear or two.

. During the war the town of Tiffany was divided for home war work into two
halves, east and west, the village of Boyceville being located in the east half. 1In all
the drives the district ““went over the top.” The first loan, handled by Walter S.
Clough and C. W. Haves, between $3.000 and $4,000 was raised; the amount
raised on the second was $15,200; the third, $§39,300, and the fourth, $37,450.

It is unnecessary to ennumerate all the business enterprises of Boyceville, of
which there are between 35 and 40, if not more. They include, besides those al-
ready individually mentioned, a smaill but good modern hotel, conducted on the
European plan by O. E. Skamser, a salting station belonging to the M. A. Gedney
Co., three potato warehouses. and the large lumber yard and building of the Inter-
State Lumber Co., besides the various stores and shops. The banks, opera house
and most of the stores are situated on the north side of the Main street running
parallel with the railroad tracks. Alvin C. Hilson is agent for the “Soo’’ line.

In the neighborhood of Bovceville there are many breeders of Duroc-Jersey
hogs, who have formed an association called Boyceville Duroc-Jersey Breeders
Association, of which V. B. Lewis is president and William R. Zabel, secretary-
treasurer. The Boyceville Equity Exchange, Inc., handles grain and other pro-
duce. Cheese is manufactured in this vicinity by Ernest Intermueller and by the
Annis Creek Cheese Co.

Colfax.—The village of Colfax is situated at the junction of Eighteen Mile
Creek with the Red Cedar River, in Section 9, Township 29 north of Range 11 west,
or in the political town of Colfax. The village is on the Minneapolis, St. Paul &
Sault Ste. Marie Railway, commonly known as the ‘“Soo,” which was built as the
Wisconsin Central in 1884 and taken over by the “Soo’” on a 99-year lease in 1911,

Colfax is said to have been first settled in 1867, though the History of Northern
Wisconsin, published at Chicago in 1881, gives the year 1865 as that of its first
settlement. However that may be, John D. Simons is generally regarded as the
first settler on the village site,

Some yvears before, however, certain pioneers had arrived in the vicinity and
settled on farm lands, among them Mr. Simons himself, whose farm was in Section
18.  An account of these early settlements, and also of others in Running Valley,
was contained in certain papers read before the Old Settlers’ Association some years
ago by Mrs. D. C. Baldwin—herself one of the original pioneers—and the data she
then supplied has been drawn on largely in the present account, so far as it relates
to pioneer days. Mrs. Baldwin’s Colfax article was read Oct. 11, 1916, and her
article on Running Valley (also printed in this volume) on Oct. 20, 1917.  In mak-
ing use of the former, the order of events as therein given has not always been
followed, some items have been condensed and some omitted, the latter on account
of being elsewhere given, or for other reasons, the omissions, however, being few
and comparatively unimportant. Much is given in Mrs. Baldwin’s own words,

“In April, 1838, she say, “Cyrenius Baldwin and James Mathews left Wau-
kesha for Dunn County. They first went to Prairie du Chien and took the boat for
Rumsey’s Landing. There they met Charles Boles and he brought them over to
where Colfax stands at the present time. There was so much water it was almost
impossible to travel around. C. Baldwin bought a half section on 17 and James
Mathews a quarter section on 8. This land he (Mathews) bought half for himself
and the other half for his brother, A. T. Mathews. Then they returned to their
homes in Waukesha County. In 1864, C. Baldwin drove a span of horses through,
bringing his wife and two children. and artiving in November. They also brought
a span of two-year old colts. D. C. Baldwin and Albert Hinkley left Waukesha
Oct. 1, 1864. They drove 121 sheep to Oconomowoc, shipped them to Sparta, and
drove them from Sparta to Dunn County. ....... They arrived at the J. E. Mathews
home Oct. 20, 1864. Albert H inckley went back to Waukesha the next year. On
May 20, 1865, this flock of sheep was destroyed by prairie fires.”
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These sheep were valued at from S10 to S350 per animal, as they were of high
grade, and wool was worth 81 a pound at the time. Some time after this—the exact
date has not been ascertained—X>\Ir. Baldwin started a store in the village, which he
continued to operate until his death in 1892.

“In May, 1860, James and Andrew Mathews, of Palestine, Waukesha County,
started with their families for Dunn County. They had two wagons drawn by two
voke of oxen. On their arrival thev camped near the river on land owned by
Cyrenius Caldwin, not knowing exactly where their own land was.” The women
of the two households did their washing with the soft water from the Red Cedar
River and hung the clothes on the bushes to dry. But a large band of Indians hav-
ing come down the river and pitched their wigwams nearby, the women took in the
clothes, fearing the Indians might steal them. This angered some of the squaws,
either because they considered that the act cast a reflection on their honesty, or
because they were really looking for such an opportunity and felt disappointed, and
one of them threatened Sarah Mathews (daughter of Andrew Nathews) with a
poker; but Sam Barker and a man named Cantrell coming up, prevented any mis-
chief, talking to the squaws in the Chippewa language. Next day the Indians broke
camp and returned up the river, and the Mathews faiuilies had no further inter-
course with them except on friendly terms.

Among other early settlers near Colfax mentioned by Mrs. Baldwin were: John
Hill, who came from Waukesha County in 1860, James Lowry in 1863, and John
Lowry and wife in 1864, also from Waukesha County. David Philander Knapp, of
Ogdensburg, N. Y., in 1860 drove a horse and ** buckboard buggy’’ from Milwaukee
to Capt. Moore’s farm and traded that property to Capt. Moore for a land warrant.
He got 120 acres, homesteaded the adjoining 40, and bought other adjoining land
until he had 400 acres. This land subsequently came into possession of his children
and Mr. Knapp returned to his native place. He had come to Wisconsin with his
family by the Great Lakes route, landing at Milwaukee and staving all winter with
relations in Dodge County, driving over land to Dunn County in the spring. He
was usually called “Elder Knapp,” being a preacher as well as farmer, and his
experiences in both capacities, as well as in that of a hunter, were many and various
and of a typical pioneer character.

In 1865, W. A. Mathews was married in Eau Claire to Laura Mann. Albert
worked two vears for the Shaw Lumber Company and then moved with his family
to a farm. John and George Paul entered the employ of the Knapp, Stout & Co.
Company. John soon returned to Waukesha for his family, bringing them to Dunn
County with a horse team and they settled on a farm. John and Thomas Studley
arrived here with ox teams in 1865 and took homesteads, as James McElwain also
had done, who came here in 1860. Alex Running and David Monteith were the
legal advisors of the community in pioneer dayvs; Farnham Chickering was the recog-
nized orator on social occasions, and Carrol Lucas, of Menomonie, is said to have
been the first school superintendent. E. B. Hill was county treasurer for a number
of years. Some later settlers mentioned by Mrs. Baldwin were Dr. L. A. Larson,
who came here from Chicago in 1896; Dr. George Ribensack, about 1899 (both
physicians and surgeons), and Dr. Brooks dentist, about 1902. There were no open
saloons but many ‘“blind pigs.” (Carroll Lucas was the third county school
superintendent. See Chapter V.—Editor).

The Knapp, Stout & Co. Company was a great help to the early settlers, buying
their grain, giving them credit, so thev could erect their buildings and feed their
families, and helping them in many other ways. The log drive, which lasted
several weeks, was always hailed with delight. One drawback, from this side of
the river, was that the cattle all crossed the river for pasture, and it did not seem
possible that they could go into the river among the logs and make their points on
the home side at evening.

“Rev. William Galloway was the Methodist minister on this circuit in 1865
I remember he left his team of horses at James Kidd's and they were running in the
pasture when one of them was killed by lightning. ....... Mr. and Mrs. E. W. Viets
moved into Knapp, Stout & Co. Company’s big boarding-house at Twenty-two Mile
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Ford in 1877 and stayed there until 1888. when they moved onto the oakland stock
farm at Menomonie.” Mrs. Andrew Tainter said of Mrs. Viets at one time,
‘“Blessed is the home maker and peace maker, for of such is the Kingdom of Heav-
en.” “We got along very wellfor and there was an abundance of fruit, blueberries,
red raspberries, wild grapes and fine wild plums. Mr. and Mrs. J. B. Russell moved
here from Delaware County, N. Y., in 1877.” Among the early school teachers
mentioned by Mrs. Baldwin were Maggie Miller, Martha McCormick, Miss Belk-
nap, Anna Chickering, Jessie Butterfield and Sarah Jame McCormick. J. R.
Mathews taught school here later. Frank Butterfield taught at the school in Run-
ning Valley which O. C. Kinney went to.

John D. Simons built the first house in the village in 1867, and in the spring of
1869 he built a mill here and ground wheat flour, corn meal and buckwheat. It was
a great help to the farmers, as they previously had to go either to Menomonie or to
Chippewa Falls. Every time there was a heavy rain the dam went out, and it was
a godsend to the people, because he hired men and their teams to rebuild it, and they
got flour for their families and feed for their teams. “Mr. and Msrs. Simons lived
in their log house, which was very comfortable. Mrs. Simons decided that she
would open up a store in one of her living rooms.  She got several pieces of orange
and blue calico, unbleached sheeting, Coats’ thread, hooks and eyes and matches,
and took great delight in showing her goods.

“Mr. Simons the same vear sowed rutabaga seed on some breaking. He had
1,400 bushels of rutabagas and they were fine. The men working in the mill had
many to eat, and as our town had no name, they called it Begga town. You will
often hear an old settler call it Begga town at the present time. If anyone in the
vicinity went to Menomonie, he got the mail, and as nearly all drove oxen, it would
be midnight when they returned. They would put each one’s mail on a post,
or any place handy, and when the snow disappeared in the spring we would find mail
all around the house. It seemed as if we did not know enough to nail up a box, so
it would be safe. In 1870 J. B. McKahan built a store in Begga town, and W. R.
Culbertson moved his family here and acted as manager of Mr. McKahan’s busi-
ness. Chris Kinney, O. G. Kinney's brother, was head clerk. George Galloway,
of Menomonie, hauled goods from that place for Mr. McKahan. Mrs. Baldwin
states that the arrival of the Culbertsons was *“ the beginning of social life.”” Some
years later J. B. McKahan sold his store to John D. Simons, who took over the
office, also, which he held for a number of vears.”

Among the social events or institutions mentioned by Mrs. Baldwin was a de-
bating school held in the old schoolhouse. * Dr. Nichols,” she says, “was the
physician who was called here in pioneer days. Dr. Eli Monteith of Iron Ridge
was the first doctor to locate here (in 1876) and Hamp Barden was the first dentist.
He manufactured his own dental tools and did good work. Mrs. Dr. Monteith was
the first music teacher in Colfax. Silas Pooler moved here with his family in 1860,
driving an ox team. Ole Larson and family arrived from Vernon County on June
15, 1861. O. J. Running came in 1862 from Coon Prairie, bringing his family of
nine children in a prairie schooner drawn by oxen. He had nine dollars in money
when he arrived here. James Kidd came in 1867 from Utica, N. Y. Arthur Simp-
son came here from Millville, Mass., in 1865, and Andrew Simpson from Staten
Island, in 1868. About 1870 the “Omaha” railroad was built to Menomonie.
Prior to that all produce was drawn, by oxen mostly, either to Menomonie, Eau
Claire or Chippewa Falls. At that time Rusk was the nearest trading point for
this part, and I have often $een 40 ox teams on their way to Rusk in one morning.”’

Alec Running and J. E. Mathews started a store in 1873, which was conducted
by them for a number of vears. The Dr. Monteith, mentioned by Mrs. Baldwin,
came to Colfax in 1876 and practiced here for many years. The first blacksmith’s
shop was operated by Halver Erickson and the first barber shop, by Thomas Leach.
The first child born within the limits of the village was Lulu Maud Culbertson on
Oct. 21, 1870. She became an artist of merit and in October, 1893, married Oscar
Knutson and went to Santa Clara, California. ‘“‘Andrew Johnson built a
large store and used the upper story for a hall, Andrew Ajer being manager. The
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hall was used for all public gatherings. We had a Good Templars Lodge (organized
in 1898), so we got up a play and the largest crowd I ever saw in a hall in the village
attended.”

Andrew Johnson sold his store to O. G. Kinney and Severin Fjelsted and the
concern was known as the McKinney Mercantile Co. In April, 1904, it was con-
solidated with the firm of Flitcroft & Thompson and the O. K. Hardware Store,
under the name of the Colfax Store Co., with the first officers as follows: O. G.
Kinney, president; Thomas Emmerton, vice president; E. B. Hill, secretary;
T. E. Thompson, treasurer, and W. C. Flitcroft, manager. In 1881 the village had
a population of 60. In 1884 Lou Calkin was placed in charge of the Northern Grain
Co.’s warehouse, being succeeded in that position later by J. D. Burns. The latter
was succeeded by Joe Freestone, who was still holding the position in 1916 when
Mrs. Baldwin wrote her reminiscences, having retained it for half a century.

It was on July 11, 1884, that the Wisconsin Central Railway was completed to
Colfax, and a large crowd of people from the surrounding country gathered in the
village to celebrate the occasion. It was in the same vear that Peter Running
opened his hardware store, the first in tte village. Mrs. A. C. Havner had the first
millinery store. Mr. Sackett carried the mail from Menomonie to Bloomer. Later
Myron Doolittle, of Menomonie, carried the mail from Menomonie to Sand Creek.
The early settlement of Colfax village was north of the creek, which location was
retained until the coming of the railroad, when, the tracks having been laid some
half mile south of the creek, most of the business concerns and residences were moved
over to that side, where they are todayv, except that the creamery, schools, a church,
and about 14 or 15 houses are across the bridge to the north. The original site was
mostly brush timber, except along the banks of Eighteen-Mile Creek.

The village of Colfax was first surveved, by order of Andrew Tainter, on June
26-27, 1874, its location being given as the southeast quarter-of the southwest
quarter of Section 9, Township 29 north, of Range 11 west. Thomas Parker was
the surveyor and the plat showed two blocks of eight lots each. Since then quite a
number of additional surveys and plats have been made. John D. Simons was res-
ponsible for at least three, made respectively in September, 1884 ; June, 1897, and
May, 1899, a part of the third, however, being afterwards turned back into farm
land. Geo. T. Vorland platted an addition in October, 1898; J. E. Rublee in
February, 1899; Berg & Braaton in February, 1909; and among other additions were
Fjelsted’s in May, 1912; the Lake View addition in July, 1912; Cutting’s in 1915, and
Jacob Thompson’s and the Park addition in 1915. A history of the Chippewa Val-
ley, published in 1892, gave the population of Colfax at that time as ‘‘about 100,’
and mentioned as the business enterprises the water-power flour and grist mill of
John D. Simons, a blacksmith’s shop, a wagon shop, and a few stores, besides the
post office.

In 1904 Colfax was incorporated as a village, the question being submitted to
the people on July 12, and an election for officers on August 6. The officers elected
were: Geo. T. Vorland, president; A. C. Chance, clerk; O. G. Kinney, treasurer;
K. A.S. Swenson, assessor; J. H. Clark, constable; S. A. Lee, police justice; D. Pooler
and Jacob Thompson, justices of the peace; and James Kidd, Dr. L. A. Larson,
Peter Peterson, Jerome Beebe, E. B. Hill and O. C. Olsonj trustees.

On March 10, 1905, the high water washed out the dam on Eighteen-Mile
Creek, cutting off the power and depriving the village of light. On Friday, March
31, the same year, a monthly market day was started and there was a big sale of
livestock. On June 7, 1905, on account of high water, due to storms, the railroad
bridge across Red Cedar River gave way while a passenger train was crossing it,
the engineer and fireman losing their lives. No passengers were killed or hurt, as
they had got out to walk over before the train attempted to cross. The engine was
not taken out of the river until December 4.

Mrs. D. C. Baldwin in her reminiscences has described how in very early days
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the mail was brought from Menomonie and hung up or thrown down in any con-
venient place outside the residences of the respective families, or persons, to whom
it was addressed : and that sometimes after a snow storm it would not be found and
would remain where it was until spring. When J. B. McKahan established his
store, however, in 1870, and engaged W. R. Culbertson to manage it, the latter
was appointed postmaster, the office being then established. Later, when Mr.
McKahan sold out to J. D. Simons, the latter took over the office and held it sub-
sequently for a number of years Then Miss Jessie Mathews was appointed, and
it seems had it for at least several vears (she was serving in 1897); and after her N. A.
Lee, during whose administration the first two rural routes were established, a
number since increased to five. On September 1, 1915, J. D. Burns succeeded Mr.
Lee and has since remained postmaster The office is now in the third class and is
installed with 195 boxes, the building which it occupies being owned by Mr Burns.
After the entry of the United States into the World War, a large war stamp business
was done. :

On Jan. 1 , 1912, the telephone building was burned and the village was tempor-
arily w ithout service. About 1902 Oluf Olson established the Colfax Cement
Block Works, which he had conducted successfully ever since, having built up a
considerable business.

The water-power flour and grist mill of John D. Simons was erected in the late
80’s. A few vears later he sold it to James Anderson. It subsequently passed
through the hands of Elbert E. Hill and T. E. Thompson, the latter selling out in
1910 to Carl O. Larson. It was then known as the Colfax Feed Mill and Electric
Power Plant, and was operated in its double capacity by Mr. Larson until 1920,
when he sold the light plant to the Colfax Light & Power Co., but is still conducting
the feed mill with his son, Reuben O., as partner. The power plant is situated
on the Red Cedar River, two miles north of the village and was built at a cost of
$500.000. A large irregular bend of the river was cut off by the construction of a
half-mile channel, by which means a 22-head of water was obtained. The generator
is composed of two separate units, one of 500 kilowatts and the other of 1,000 kilo-
watts. The plant, which is connected with the Northern Wisconsin Power Co.,
went into operation April 21, 1921. The main office of the company is at Amery,
Wis., E. J. Snyder being president. The local plant is in charge of R. D. Winger.

The original water supply of Colfax was derived from individual wells, but in
1889 the business men, realizing the necessity of better fire protection, got together
and laid a main (on Main street) from the mill to Railway Avenue, putting a rotary
pump into the mill which furnished direct water pressure. A hand chemical and
hand-drawn hosecart were also purchased and were in use until 1921, when a motor-
chemica fire truck was bought, together with a hook and ladder truck, which
constitute the present fire extinguishing apparatus. The department is organized
on the voluntary system, the members being paid 83 each for actual fire duty and $1
for practice duty. In 1914 the present domestic water system was instituted, the
leading spirit in the enterprise being O. G. Kinney. A standpipe and tank resevoir,
115 feet high, were erected, the tank having a capacity of 40,000 gallons, the water
being pumped into it by an oil engine from a well 270 feet deep. Since the inaugura-
tion of this system the village has had a good pipe line supply.

The Colfax Telephone Exchange was installed in 1903 by Oscar I. Anderson,
previous to which time the village had no local exchange but only a long distance
toll line from Menomonie, controlled for-some years by Louis A. Tainter. Mr.
Anderson operated the local exchange until Jan. 1, 1911, when he sold it to T. E.
Thompson, the present proprietor. At the time of the purchase it had 200 phones,
a number since increased to 475. In 1897 J. L. Smith became local agent for the
“Soo’ railway, which position he held for 14 vears. He then spent several years
in other business pursuits, and in 1915 bought the Hotel Colfax, which he has since
conducted. This hotel had been built by Aaron A. Owen and run by him for eight
years.

The Colfax Messenger was founded by Andrew C. Chase in April, 1897, the first
number being issued on Friday, April 30. Mr. Chase was born in Sauk County,
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Wis., in 1863, and was married in 1886 to Jennie M. Conroy. For a number of
years he was vice president of the Wisconsin State Press Association. The Messen-
ger, when started, was an eight-page, five column paper, but had only two pages
of home print. It was not the first paper published in the village, as one had been
started previously by a man who took a number of subscriptions, ran his paper—
called the Colfax Record— for six months, and then left town abruptly, leaving the
people without confidence in newspaper enterprises. This made it hard for Mr.
Chase and the chances of success for the Messenger for some time seemed doubtful.
But he persevered and made gradual headway, within two and a half vears opening
up two more pages of home print and enlarging the paper to six columns. In
May, 1913, he enlarged it to seven columns. Mrs. Chase acted as associate editor,
and the Messenger favored the Independent Republican side in politics. After a
journalistic career in Colfax of 20 years, during which time he built up a good
patronage, Mr. Chase, on March 1, 1917, sold out to Ward L. Swift, the present
proprietor, who moved the plant in the fall of 1920 to its present location, and has
since greatly improved it. Mr. Swift has put in new presses-and a good linotype
machine, and in addition to the publication of the Messenger as a weeklv newspaper
with home and foreign news, 1s operating a job printing office. The Afessenger is
now an eight page, seven column paper, with four pages of home print. For about
eight months at the start Mr. Swift had Donald M. Leight as a partner, but at the
end of that time bought out Mr. Leicht’s small interest. The Messenger Publishing
Co. was incorporated in 1917, with Mr. Swift as the principal stockholder and editor
of the paper.

When the first number of the Colfax Messenger was issued (April, 1897). the
following business enterprises and professions were represented in the village.
Three general merchandise stores conducted respectively by J. D. Simons, Ole
Nelson, and Kinney Mercantile Co.; the Royal Hotel, conducted by E. W. Viets,
the Colfax Hotel by L. E. Roen, and the Farmers’ Home Hotel by D. Pooler, who
was also justice of the peace; Peter Running, general hardware; Ole Noer, drugs,
dry goods and boots and shoes; S. J. Bronstad, shoe repair shop; Larson & Rogers'
pumps and windmills; Theo. Bennett, confectionary and tobacco; the Misses
Erickson & Solid’s dressmaking and millinery establishment; Mrs. A. C. Hayvner,
milliner; the Star Livery and dray line, J. N. Scritsmier, manager; Haaken Iverson,
harness shop (sold out to H. H. Scritsmier in November, 1897); A. R Lewis, black-
smith and wagon maker; the Colfax Grist Mill, J. A. Anderson, proprietor; O. R.
Johnson, cigar manufacturer; K. Helgerson, paper and laundry agent; Geo W.
Higbee, justice of the peace and town clerk; W. S. Swenson, lawyer; L A. Larson,
phvsician and surgeon. The lodge of Modern Woodmen was also in operation,
and there were Methodist and Lutheran churches, besides the post office and a
public school. Several Bloomer and Chippewa Falls business concerns had adver-
tisements in the Messenger.

In January, 1898, the People’s Bargain store was doing business, with H. P. and
O. Hanson as proprietors; in September, that year the Wisconsin Central depot was
burned; in December, 1899, the Odd Fellows lodge was organized, and in June, 1900,
the Messenger mentioned the starch factory, a building measuring 40 x 110 feet,
which had been erected, or was then in process of erection, on the bank of Red
Cedar River, about 40 rods from Main. This was an enterprise from which much
was expected, but which was operated intermittently for a few years only. Its
lack of success was due chiefly to the fact that potatoes then brought a high price
in the regular market, and it did not pay the farmers to sell them to the factory.
The building is still standing on the bank of the river.

The number of pupils enrolled in the Colfax public schools for the term ending
Nov. 23, 1900, was 127; the daily average 92. In the same vear Dr. L. A. Larson
reorganized the Colfax ‘Band of which he is the leader; the new Royal Hotel was
built, the Colfax Stone Company was started, and the firm of Flitcroft & Thompson
advertlsed themselves as having ‘‘the most complete general store in the North-
west.’

In 1901 A. C. Chase published a souvenir edition of the Messenger, in pamphlet
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form, a copy of which is preserved in the public library. It contained an enumer-
ation of the business enterprises of the village and its professional interests, showing
some additions within the two or three previcus vears; also scme pioneer data, and
short biographies of some of the prominent resident and early settlers, with some
illustrations. The population of the village was said to be 404, and the staple
articles of export, potatoes, hay and oats, of which 1,000 car loads had been shipped
during the previous five years Between 1900 and 1902 several fraternal lodges
were started, and on Oct. 24, 1902, the Colfax Milling Co.’s plant was destroyed by
fire.

The Bank of Colfax was established as a private bank, Aug, 1, 1899, by George
D. Bartlett and G. T. Vorland, and continued as such until July, 1903, when it was
incorporated as a state bank with George D. Bartlett, president; William Lister,
vice president; and G. T. Vorland, cashier. The capital was $10,000, which was
later increased to $20,000, then to $25,000, and finally to $30.000, which it is now.
There is a present surplus of $10,000 and deposits of about $400,000. In 1900
Messrs. Bartland and Vorland, as private bankers, erected a small brick building
on the present site  In 1911 an addition was built on to it, and it was again enlarged
in 1916 and 1920, in the year last mentioned assuming its present size and appear-
ance, which is sufficiently impressive. In the course of time some changes have
occurred in the official board, and J. T. Joyce is now president; G. T. Vorland, vice
president and C. A. Shern, cashier.

The Peoples State Bank was founded in the fall of 1915 and opened for business
on Sept. 8. The chief promotor was Oscar Gunderson, who came here from Brown'’s
Valley, Minn. The incorporators were W. E. Van Brunt, C. N. Amble, N. A. Lee,
Edwin Anderson and W. W. Mathews. Mr. Mathews was the first president and
has since remained in that office. The first vice president was C. N. Amble, while
the present incumbent of that office is T. E. Thompson. Oscar Gunderson, the
first cashier, was succeeded in the early part of 1917 by A. R. Bronken, now serving.
The first directors were W. W. Mathews, W. E. Van Brunt, C. N. Amble, N. A.
Lee and Oscar Gunderson, while those now serving (1924) are W W. Mathews,
T. E. Thompson, W. E. Van Brunt, Ole Everson, S. S. Sivertson, George De Laitsch
and A. R. Bronken. In spite of some early reverses the bank has made progress
and now enjoys the confidence of the business community. It has deposits of
about $295,C00, the original capital of $20,000 having remained unchanged.

One of the substantial and successful industries in the village is the Colfax Stone
Company, which, however, is owned in Madison by John Peterson. The enterprise
was started by William Lister, who came here from Maiden Rock, Pierce County,
Wis., in 1900, accompanied by O. W. Olson, and while prospecting in this vicinity,
discovered a deposit of good building stone in a bluff one mile from the village.
Securing title to the land, he established a quarry, which he operated alone for about
eight years. At the end of that time he took in as partners Sam Conway of Eau
Claire and John Peterson of Madison. In the spring of 1916 Mr. Lister died, and
his death was followed in the fall of the same vear by that of Mr. Conway. Mr.
Petersen bought out the heirs. In the meanwhile the concern had become consoli-
dated with the Wisconsin Construction Co. of Madison, and building stone for
churches, schools and other public buildings—among them the fine Memorial
Lutheran Church in Madison—was cut and shipped out in considerable quantities,
the stone for the church above memtioned alone amounting to 30 carloads. The
business is still conducted on the same successful basis, about 15 men on an average
being employed in the quarries. O. W. Olson, who has been with the local concern
since the beginning, is manager of the yard and quarries.

The Colfax Creamery Co. was founded as a farmers’ cooperative concern on
June 24, 1905, the chief promotors and incorporators being S. S. Siverson, W. ]J.
Mathews, A. A. Anderson, Ben Bjornson and B. C. Baldwin. The creamery
began operating July 1, 1905, and in the first six months—from that date to January
I—manufactured 96,316 pounds of butter, with total receipts of $21,115.63. In
1906 the output of butter was 208,000 pounds, which sold at the net price of 2214
cents per pound, the total receipts being $47,857.76. Since then the business has
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gradually increased, and in 1923 the quantity of butter manufactured was 386,145
pounds, with total receipts of $170,395.89. There were approximately 230 patrons,
who were paid a total of $152,288.44. The present butter maker, Al F. Braaton,
assumed his duties here about one year ago. The present officers and directors are :
M. O. Christoffersen, president; Carl Amble, vice president; Nick Bergeson, treas-
urer; with' B. Tollefson as an additional director.

The first school building in Colfax was a rude little structure situated 80 rods
west of the site of the present Methodist Episcopal Church. It was built in 1864
and measured 16 x 18 feet with 10-foot posts. It seems to have done duty for about
seven years, as in 1871 the second schoolhouse was erected, a frame building of
18 x 20 feet with 12-foot posts, which was used for school purposes until 1889.
It stood on the site of the present residence of S. O. Mattison, and in later vears
was referred to as ““the old red schoolhouse.” Margaret Miller is said to have been
the first teacher in the original building, and Sarah Wilson the first teacher in the
second one. Among the later teachers in the latter was O. G. Kinney.

When the second building was no longer large enough to accommodate the
increasing number of pupils, a two-story frame building of tvo rooms was erected
(about 1910) on the present school site across the creek. It measured 26 x 50 feet,
and later an addition was built to it, making a three-room school used for grade pur-
poses. The first teacher here was John Andrews. This building is still in use, and
next toit stands the highschool, a substantial stone building of three stories, which was
completed in 1910 and opened September 12 that year. In addition to the high
school courses, it accommodates grades 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8, the first three grades being
conducted in the frame building. The high school provides an accredited four-year
course, including English, Latin, science, agriculture and manual training, and
commercial and domestic science courses. The domestic science department is
housed in the old frame building, while back of the latter is another building used
for the agriculture and manual training department, which are united. About 100
- pupils are now enrolled. There are 12 teachers in addition to the principal, who at
the present time (1924) is Mr. N. O. Reppen. Though the present buildings have
answered well up to the present, it seems liely that in the near future a new and
larger high school will have to be constructed.

Among the various activities of John D. Simons was the building of a church.
It was the original idea to build a Union Church, which any Protestant denomina-
tion might use, but a disagreement arose among the members of the building com-

nittee, and as it could not be satisfactorily adjusted, Mr. Simons built the church
himself, and occasionally services were held in it for some years until it came into
possession of the United Lutherans. It was generally known as “Simon's Church.”
It was a good-sized frame building and was subsequently sold to the Odd Fellows
lodge, being now used for meetings by that lodge and others.

The first Lutheran services in Colfax were held in private residences in the early
or middle 60’s, the first pastor to serve the community being the Rev. O. J. K. Hage-
stad, who had a charge at Little Elk Creek, a few miles south of Menomonie, but
lived in what was known as the Rush River Settlement, Pierce County, which was
his principal charge. He visited Colfax occasionally between 1864 and 1866. This
congregation was affiliated in doctrine with that branch of Lutherans now governed
by The Norwegian Lutheran Church of America, which was formed in 1917.
Locally the congregation belonged to what was known as the Holden territory, which
included also the Holden Church, four miles (by road) north of Colfax in the
country, and another congregaticn at Norton, six miles west of Colfax, where serv-
ices had been held from an early date, though it was not until Oct. 1, 1911, that the
corner stone of the Norton church edifice was laid. This building cost $4,000.
The three congregations were under a single organization and all three belonged
to the same denomination of Lutherans. The next pastor of the Holden district
was the Rev. K. Thorstensen, who served it from 1866 to 1874, and he was succeeded
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by the Rev. H. F. Haakonsen, who assumed the charge in 1875 and left in 1879.
It was during the latter’s pastorate that the Holden congregation, four miles north
of Cclfax, built a church edifice costing $7,000, which was opened for worship on
Christmas Day, 1876. The Rev. Haakonsen was succeeded by the Rev. D. J.
Growe, who served here until 1883, and whose successor was the Rev. J. Waage,
frcm 1883 to 1907. While the Rev. Mr. Waage was pastor a bell was placed in the
belfry of the Colfax church, a substantial stone building, the corner stone of which
had been laid Oct. 12, 1902, and which was being used though not yet fully com-
pleted. In 1907 the Rev. T. Saetveit became pastor of the Holden district, and in
the following vear, on May 17, the Colfax building was dedicated. A pipe organ
was installed in the church in 1911, being first used on Sunday, May 7. The Rev.
Mr. Saetveit remained pastor until 1919, in which year important changes took
place, to understand which it is necessary to glance back a little. For a number of
years there had been another Lutheran congregation in Colfax, a United Lutheran
society, which had been formed in the fall of 1900 and had bought the church build-
ing that had been erected by Johm D. Simons. The first regular pastor of this con-
gregation was the Rev. A. P. Lea, from Chippewa Falls, who served until June 1,
1902 and after him came the Rev. N. E. Wickre, of Running Valley, where he
resided while serving Colfax until 1908 ; then the Rev. P. O. Thorson, of Glenwood
City, from 1908 to 1910, and Rev. M. K. Aaberg from 1910 to 1918. The changes
which took place in the vear 1919 were the separation of the three congregations of
the Holden district—namely, Holden, Colfax and Norton—into distinct organiza-
tions, and the consolidation of the Colfax (Synod) congregation with that of the
TUnited Lutherans here. In the same year the Rev. T. Saetveit was succeeded by
the Rev. Chr. S. Thompson, who has since remained here, residing in Colfax, but
who also served the Holden, Norton and North Running Valley congregations,
the latter being officially called The North Running Valley United Lutheran Church.
It has a building which cost $4,000. The present value of the Colfax church
property, including some additional land purchased, is about $15,000. Some re-
pairs have been made recently, a new roof having been laid on the building. This is
an active congregation and publishes a monthly “Parish Record” in the interests
of the Colfax charge and of the Norwegian Lutheran Church of America. It is
edited by the present pastor, while A. R. Bronken is business manager and Sam K.
Iverson assistant.

The Lutheran Free Church at Colfax is a branch of a church of the same de-
nomination in Running Valley, and was established in 1914, the Rev. J. M. Michael-
son, who had held services in the village as early as January, 1912, serving both
congregations and holding services in Colfax every other Sunday. After six or
seven vears he was succeeded by Rev. L. R. Lund, who was pastor for two and a
half vears. Mr. Lund’s successor was the Rev. Carl Amundson, who is still serving.
The Colfax congregation worships in a frame building and includes about 60 families.

About a mile east of Colfax village is a small church called by the congregation,
“Betania,” of the Lutheran Brethren Synod, which originated in the year 1870.
The principal founders were J. J. Petersen, J. Vaade and S. Berentsen of Colfax.
From 1870 to 1900 Betania Church was a branch of the Evangelical Lutheran
Church, but in doctrine and government was substantially a Lutheran Free church.
In 1900 a reorganization took place, the present edifice was built, and the congrega-
tion united with the Lutheran Brethren Synod. The present membership is about
40, with a good attendance. The pastors from 1893 have been as follows: Rev.
J. J. Petersen, 1893-1901; from 1901 to 1903 no pastor; from 1903-1906, Rev. J. J.
Petersen; from 1906 to 1912, pastorate vacant; from 1912-1918 Rev. J. J. Petersen;
in 1919, Rev. R. S. Cjerd (now at Grand Forks, N. D.); in 1920 and 1921 Rev.
Tom Pedersen (now in Antler, N. D.); from the fall of 1921 to present time (August,
1924), Rev. A. O. Huseby. The Rev. J. J. Petersen, who served the church during
three different periods is still living in Colfax, being now 93 years old.

The first preaching by a Methodist minister in Colfax was in 1862, when D. P.
Knapp from an eastern conference visited the place and preached in the schoolhouse.
From that time until the projecting of the church building in 1899 there were 37
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years of religious effort by pastors and others. In 1867 the Rev. Henry Springer
was appointed the first itinerant minister to the charge that included this school
district in his round of preaching appointments. The first revival was conducted
by Rev. Mr. Chingman in the same vear. In August, 1898, a mass meeting of the
citizens of the neighborhood decided to construct a church building for the Metho-
dist Episcopal Church. The subscription list was completed in a few weeks. the
contract let to Hoeppner & Bartlett of Eau Claire, and the work commenced in
earnest. On May 17, 1899, the corner stone was laid. The first sermon was
preached in the church August 6, and the dedication took place Sept. 3, 1899, the
Rev. D. Bolton, from Madison, assisting. No list of the earliest pastors has been
found, but the Rev. F. E. Lewis may have been appointed in 1896, or earlier, as he
was preaching here in April, 1897. The Rev. H. P. Waldron seems to have suc-
ceeded the Rev. Mr. Lewis in the fall of that year, as his name appears in connec-
tion with church services here at that time. These, however, were not resident
pastors. The Rev. H. A. Synder began serving the church in September, 1901
(each pastor beginning service in September); the Rev. Thomas Stamp, who served
three years, came in 1902; the Rev W. T. Scott in 1905; the Rev. Frank Haight in
1912; the Rev. A. A. Marcy in 1913; the Rev. M. E. Fraser in 1915; the Rev. E. T.
Scahtjen in 1918; the Rev. Frank Prucia in 1920, and the Rev. Albert A. Acker, the
present pastor, in the fall of 1922. The first parsonage was a small frame building
erected in 1901 adjacent to the church and on land belonging to the congregation.
During the pastorate of the Rev. Frank M. Prucia it was traded for a building in
the east part of town, about four blocks east of the church, but a vear later the
latter parsonage was traded for the one now in use, just north of the church. Today
the Methodist Episcopal Church of Colfax has about 100 members and a Sundav
school enrollment of 125. The active societies are the Ladies’ Aid, Woman's Home
Missionary, Epworth and Junior Leagues and the Bovs’ and Girls’ Club. In the
summer of 1923 the interior of the church edifice was decorated at a cost of seven
hundred dollars.

Services were held in Colfax in February, 1905, by Rev. H R. Vaughn.a Con-
gregational minister from Elk Mound, and though the formation of a Congrega-
tional Church here was not favored by the Methodists, occasional services in ac-
cordance with the tenets and customs of that denomination were held in the village
for a few years.

This history of Colfax village would be very imperfectly written unless due credit
were given to the work of the women, which, during the last 20 vears has been more
and more manifest, especially along social and civic lines. The pioneer women did
their part individually in the care of their children, the management of household
affairs, and in church work, which was all that most of them found time for: but
with the growth of the community there was felt a desire for progress along cultural
lines. This found expression in the organization, on Januarv 26, 1904, of the
Ladies’ Reading Club, of which Mrs. C. S. Hawker was elected president, \rs.
George Vorland vice president, Mrs. A. C. Chase secretary, and Mrs. Elmer B.
Hill treasurer. Meetings were held everv two weeks on Tuesdayv afternoons, the
activities and discussions of the club being confined for some time to literary topics.

The society at first was small, but the members earnest and enthusiastic. It
had been organized but a short time when the need of a better supplyv of books was
felt, and it was resolved to make an effort to establish a local library, not only for
the benefit of the club members, but also for that of the general public. The
question was brought up and discussed at a meeting held June 14, 1904, at the home
of Mrs. Elmer B. Hill, and the general opinion being favorable to the enterprise,
steps were taken to carry it into execution. A few books were donated by the mem-
bers, and arrangements made to secure the benefit of the state traveling library,
with headquarters at Madison; also of the Stout traveling library, which sent out
books from Menomonie. With these a start was made, Miss Mattie Ingerson being
appointed to serve three months as librarian. On Nov. 20, 1899, the Colfax Mes-
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senger announced that the library was open to the public. Progress at first was
slow and considerable effort was reeded to keep the institution going without aid,
though a little money was raised from time to time through donations and by getting
up entertainments to which admission tickets were sold.

On Feb. 13, 1906, the village board was approached on the question of public
aid. but the committee was told that the population of the village was under the
number specified in the state laws as justifying such an appropriation. In April,
1907, however, the village board voted an appropriation of $100 for the library,
and in 1908, $100 more was received from the same source. Since then the board
has continued to help, gradually increasing the amount voted, and during the last
13 or 14 vears a special library tax has been assessed. The appropriation for 1923
was 8$1,400. On Dec. 15, 1908, the library was removed to a room in the lean-to -
addition to the office of J. H. Critsmier, and Miss Anna Fuller became librarian.
The library remained in that location until 1915, when it was moved into the munici-
pal building, completed in that year, where it has since remained.

The Colfax Woman's Club—which name was adopted by the Ladies’ Reading
Club when it joined the State Federation of Women’s Clubs on Feb. & 1916, and
which has grown from 12 to 42 members—still makes donations to the library.
The librarians succeeding Miss Fuller have been Miss Irene Carter, Miss Cora
Amble (holding the office for three years), Miss Lillian Gunderson (one year), and
Mrs. E. B. Rosenberg, the last mentioned being now in charge. The library
occupies a spacious and c¢omfortable room, which was planned for its present use
as both circulating department and reading-room. It is nicely furnished, electri-
cally lighted and steam heated, a fireplace having also been provided for additional
warmth and comfort on special occasions. The library is open every afternoon
for reference purposes, and also for book circulation except on Sunday, as well as
four evenings each week. It now contains about 2,400 books, about half of which
are fiction; and the reading-room is supplied with about 20 or more of the leading
magazines and two daily newspapers. Its privileges are enjoyed both by the people
of the village and those of the surrounding country. In 1923 the experiment was
tried of sending out a traveling librarv from Colfax, but the plan was given up, as
there was not a sufficient demand for books issued in that manner.

On Feb. 25, 1914, a committee of five ladies from the Ladies’ Reading Club
(now the Woman’s Club), namely, Mrs. W. R. Brooks, Mrs. A. C. Chase, Mrs.
Ed. B. Rosenberg, Mrs. A. J. Running and Mrs. Geo. T. Vorland, met with repre-
sentative business men at the Bankof Colfax to discuss and formulate plans for the
construction of the' municipal building already mentioned in connection with the
history of the library. The construction having been decided upon, plans were
accepted, the contract made, and bonds issued. The cornerstone was laid Nov-. 6,
1915, with appropriate ceremonies, the main feature of which was an address by
Gov. C. L. Phillipp. The buildi.g consists of two stories and basement, with a
square tower in front. The library occupies a large room on the first floor, separate
quarters on the ground floor being occupied by the fire department. On the second
floor is an auditorium capable of seating 560 people, at one end being a stage or
platform on which plays may be enacted, or musicians or speakers be acccmmo-
dated. Four longtablets—two on each side of the proscenium arch—front the audi-
ence, bearing the names of 161 service men from Colfax and the surrounding
country, who helped their country in the World War. The building contains
a banquet hall, council room, police room, jail, two rest rocms, and a gymnasium
room, in addition to the other rooms or parts already mentioned, and is admirably
adapted to all the purposes of a community building.

Another notable achievement of the Woman'’s Club was the inauguration of the
Community Civic League Fair. It was first known as the Junior Civic League
Fair, the original object being to interest the young people in the work of cleaning
and beautifving the village, the cultivation of small gardens, and other useful
work, including domestic science, needle and fancy work, and school and manual
training work. The first fair was held in the fall of 1913, premiums being offered
to the children, with an age classification of 14 to 16 vears, and the fairs have been
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held annually from that time to the present, with beneficial results. The scope of
the work has also been enlarged to include live stock exhibits. During the last
two years the Colfax Commercial Club has assisted in this work, and it was when it
began to help that the name of the Community Civic League Fair was adopted.

The Woman'’s Club has also been active in other civic and social work and has
proved itself a live force in the community. During the war it aided in the various
drives for funds, and in war stamp and Red Cross work, held one baby clinic,
conducted a nurses’ school for three weeks, had cooking schools, made donations
for the *“Near East, and adopted a French war baby. It keeps in touch with
school conditions by sending visiting committees to the schools, also encouraging
parents to visit them and become personally acquainted with the teachers. and in
cooperation with the Commercial Club it has set out flower boxes on certain street
corners, wherever the people in the vicinity will care for the flowers.

During the progress cf Colfax as a village community a number of fraternal anA
other societies have been instituted, most of which are still flourishing. In 189,
long before national prohibition was thought of as a means of curbing the drink
evil, a Good Templars lodge was established here, known as Colfax Lodge, No. 70,
I.O0. G. T. It was a useful institution for a number of vears. In December, 1900,
Evergreen Tent No. 94, of Maccabees, was instituted but ceased to function a num-
ber of years ago. On Dec. 8, 1899, Fidelity Lodge No. 34, I. O. O.F., was in-
stituted with 18 members, and was chartered in June, 1900. This lodge has had a
successful career and has a good membership today. Its auxiliary branch, Martin
Rich Rebekah Lodge, was chartered Aug. 15, 1916, starting with 16 members, and
is also in good condition. Nordland Lodge No. 50, I. S. W. A., obtained a charter
dated March 2, 1901. Some 12 vears ago this lodge established a park on the east
edge of town, which was turned over to the village April 11, 1924. It is known
as the “S. A. F. Park” (Scandanavian America Fraternity). Red Cedar Camp
No. 2746, M. W. A_| was first organized as early as 1897, or before, and obtained a
new charter March 8, 1918 Eight members of this camp served in the World
War. Banner Camp No. 3143, Royal Neighbors of America, the auxilliary society
to the Woodmen, was instituted Julv 3, 1902, with 25 members and is still flourish-
ing. In October, 1903, a lodge of Beavers was organized with 26 members. For
some time past this lodge has held no meetings, though, being an insurance order,
the members still pay their dues. Sluppen Lodge No. 233, Sons of Norway, was
chartered June 9, 1923 with 24 members.

Orrin Russell Post No. 131, of the American Legion, was established in 1919.
It has about 40 members and holds meetings in the basement of the Municipal
building. Its commanders in succession have been Dr. E. O. Kalk, Lawrence A.
Fjelsted, Arthur Michaelson and Chris A. Shern, the latter now serving (1924).
Orrin Russell, for whom the post was named, died from woun<s receied in battle.
Herman Fruvog and several others from this section were also killed at the front.
(See Ludington Guard article in this volume). During the progress of the war the
village of Colfax met all its allotments in the various drives, surpluses being turned
into a standing fund for war purposes.

Colfax is now the largest village in Dunn County, having a population of about
1,000. The site is level. except that the ground slightly rises north of the creek.
The stores, with the post office and municipal building, are located on both sides
of Main Street, and a grain elevator and potato warehouses near the railroad tracks:.
The residential section is notable for its neat, well painted houses, most of which
have spacious lawns.  As the village has now advanced far beyond the mere hamlet
stage, no attempt will be made to ennumerate all its business concerns. Some of
the most important have been already mentioned in the course of this narrative,
and further references of this kind may be found in the biographies of A. J. Running,
G. F. Martin, T. E. Thompson, Fred H. Martin, Christ Ugger, E. O. Larson, Carl
O. Larson, J. E. Rublee, Christ J. Johnson, Thomas Running, E. C. Ajer, S. K.
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Iverson and others.

The Colfax Band, already mentioned as having been reorganized in 1900, is
an old institution of the village. Like similar organizations in other places, it has
had its up and downs. It was active frcm 1960 to 1902, then lapsed into a state of
desuetude. About 1913 it was started again with a membership of 43, or there-
abouts; but during the war practice was given up and not resumed until 1921,
when with 25 members it started on a new period of activity and is a live organiza-
tion at the present time, with Dr. L. A. Larson as leader.

Downing is an incorporated village in the southwest corner of the town of
Tiffany, on the Minneapolis, St. Paul & Sault Ste. Marie Railway, commonly known
as the “Soo.”  According to the recollection of one or two still surviving pioneers,
the site of the village in very early davs was known as Tiffany, being so named after
Pettis Tiffany, the pioneer, who came to Dunn County in 1840, settled on the creek
that bears his name, (also perpetuated in the name of the town), and conducted the
first lumbering operations here. :

There is probably no one now living who remembers the settlement as it then
existed, but it was doubtless very small. The student of local history, familiar with
early conditions, would naturally picture it as consisting of a few log cabins inhabited
by lumbermen, with perhaps a little store, or depot of supplies, among which whis-
key was pretty sure to figure.

As Mr. Tiffany was 89 years old at the time of his death, which occurred Jan. 25,
1873, he must have been born in 1783 or 1784, within a year or two after the close of
the Revolutionary War, and was about 56 when he came to Dunn County. After
he ceased his lumbering operations here, the place dropped out of sight, or, as a
community settlement, ceased to exist. Abraham Culbertson, now living in Down-
ing, remembers that when he came here at the age of 15 years in November, 1869,
there were in the vicinity at that time several white settiers who had homesteads,
among them “old Phineas Lyman from Hudson,” and William Daugherty, both
living within a mile of the viilage site. The land was heavily timbered and there
was pine wood on the hill that is included within the village limits, so Mr. Tiffany’s
logging operations, if they were conducted at this exact spot, were evidently quite
limited. Fred Grassley, an elderly man, had a contract from the Knapp, Stout &
Co. Company to log the timber. ~He cut between 15,000,000 and 20,000,000 feet
down the creek, but made a financial failure. The man who had general charge of
the company’s logging interests in this locality, however, was James Downing, who
owned a farm and large house, which was a stopping-place for travelers, and it was
he after whom the modern village, started in the early 80’s, was named.

The western part c¢f Downing touches the line between Dunn and St. Croix
counties. The business part, with most of the residences, lies south of the railroad
tracks, and was included some 40 years ago or more in a tract of 120 acres owned
by Jonathan Stoddard, who surveved and platted five blocks. There is at the
court house, however, the record of a plat of 10 blocks north of the railroad, called
“A. A, M. H. and R. A. Weed’s Addition to Downing,” the location being defined
as Section 30, Township 30 north of Range 13 west. A small part of the Weed
addition was later vacated. Other additions have been recorded as follows: Stod-
dard’s Addition, surveved and platted April 21, 1885, for Jonathan Stoddard,
Stoddard’s Second Addition (of three blocks), March, 1887; Coolcroft Addition by
the Coolidge Company, June, 1910; Sunnyside Addition for M. E. and E. F. Stod-
dard, June, 1910. The Mound Cemetery plat was surveyed in August, 1916.

John H. Coolidge, who had a contract to cut ties for the railroad, came to Down-
ing in 1882, and, with asscciates, organized the Downing Manufacturing Company,
which was incorporated in 1885. The concern owned about 16,000 acres of timber
and built a large sawmill—the largest hardwood sawmill in the United States—
and also had a shingle mill to cut up scattering pine, besides conducting a store.
Mr. Coolidge was connected with the business until his death in 1891, after which
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his sons, Dana C. and Marshall H., came into posseqsion of it and continued to
operate until they had exhausted the timber, which was in or about the year 1900.
More recently the ccmpany was reorganized by Dana C. Coohdge R. A. Cleveland
and C. T. Montanvea (the latter since deceased) and is engaged in the manufacture
of show cases and refrigerators, Dana C. Coolidge being president of the company.

In the early 90’s there was also a saw and grist mill owned and operated by G.
Rudsell. The population at that time was sald to be about 500.

Alexander H. McCabe had the first general store in Downing, which he erected
in 1884 on the corner of Main and Wilson streets. The business of this store soon
outgrew its capacity, and in 1889 Mr. McCabe built a larger one; but he met with
misfortune, as in 1905, the large store was totally destroyed by fire. The loss was
too great for Mr. McCabe to stand and he did not rebuild.

It was Alexander H. McCabe who established the Downing post office, being
appointed as the first postmaster in the spring of 1885. After holding the office for
a short time, he was succeeded by Norman Van Valkenburg, who had it for a short
time under President Cleveland’s first administration. The next postmaster was
Dr. W. H. Park, who was appointed under Harrison's adminis‘r 1tion, and held the
office until 1895, when he was succeeded by John E. Dennis (in Cleveland’s second
administration). Mr. Dennis held the office for four years, and was succeeded by
Dr. W. H. Park, under the McKinley administration. In August, 1903, Mr. Park
was succeeded by E. F. Stoddard, who was appointed under the Roosevelt adminis-
tration, and was postmaster until May, 1917, when John E. Dennis was again ap-
pointed. this time under the Wilson administration, and held the cffice for four
vears. Then E. F. Stoddard took it again, receiving the appointment under the
civil service rules of the Harding administration and assuming its duties in May,
1922. He isstill serving. Downing is an office of the third class and has two rural
routes: Route No. 1, 25 miles in length, runs north 12 miles, has 125 boxes, and
is a very heavy route; Route No. 2 runs south three miles in the shape of a double-
TU-loop, has 88 boxes, and is an average rural route, 20 miles in length. The post
office, which has been located in the same building on Main Street since 1900, has
125 ¢mall, 20 medium, and 25 large boxes. During the World War a large business
was done in war savings stamps.

In 1907 Oliver H. Herdahl came to Downing and with his brother, Nels O.,
bought the old “‘company store,” which they conducted for one vear under the firm
name of Herdahl Bros. Then they incorporated the business and in 1909 O. C.
Nelson bought an interest in it. Later Nels O. Herdahl <old his interest to Walter
Clark of Menomonie. A large general merchandise business was conducted for
a number of years, but in the latter part of October, 1922, the building and contents
were destroved by fire. Mr. Herdahl is now engaged in the undertaking business
in Downing.

The country surrounding the village is a rich dairving section and within a
radius of 10 miles there are some 5,0C0 cows. As early as 1860 the farmers started
a creamery here, but after operating it for & short t'me and finding they could not
agree, they sold it to the Montanvea Creamery Co., by whom it was conducted for
a while. Then the National Dry Milk Co. took up the business, but, lacking a
manager of sufficient practical experience to make a success of it, they sold out in
1922 to the Ripon Produce Co., who are operating successfully and on a large scale.
They have a three story building and high powerplant, and manufacture all kinds
of milk products.

Mercantile activities in Downing have experienced the usual changes and
fluctuations, but among those who have staved the longest was Lewis H. Foss,
who went to work for the Downing Manufacturing Co. in 1886 and became clerk
in their store two vears later. In 1890 he put up a building and opened a general
store on his own account, which he conducted for 29 years, finally selling out in 1918,
There are now two general stores in the village, besides one or two smaller ones deal-
ing in Confectionery. cigars, etc., a millinery store, three hotels, two potato ware-
houses, a hardware store, blacksmith’s shop, garage, and feed mill. There is also
a local band and orchestra, which functions scmewhat intermittently.
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In 1913 Arthur Heinsohn bought the Downing feed mill—a building 40 x 60
feet in surface dimensions—and conducted it as a general feed and grist mill until
1917, when he went to. Wheeler and established a mill there.

Downing was incorporated as a village in 1909, previous to which it was under
town government. The water supply is obtained from wells. The electric power-
line laid to Downing by the Glenwood Light & Power Co. in 1905 inaugurated the
era of electric lighting, though the ownership of the lines has since undergone some
changes. Downing is now on the same line as Colfax.

The Bank of Downing was organized in 1903, the charter bearing the date of
August 14. Previous to that it had existed for about two vears as a private bank,
having been started as such by Dana C. and Marshall H. Coolidge. On its becom-
ing a state bank Elizabeth Ccolidge was made president and Dana C. Coolidge was
vice president and cashier, Elizabeth Coolidge, A. M. Underwood and M. H. Coo-
lidge being directors. The capital stock was $5,600, which has Leen since increased
to 816,0600. Business was started in a building on Main Street, opposite the loca-
tion now occupied, the present building being erected in the winter of 1920-21.
It is a substantial brick structure, furnishing excellent banking facilities, and was
first occupied on Feb. 2, 1921.  The bank has been an important factor in the busi-
ness life of the village and the territory surrounding it. The present officers, who
are also directors, are: D. C. Coolidge, president; E. C. Wagner, vice president;
Ray Williamson, cashier; E. Berg, assistant cashier.

The viliage has a fine brick community building, or civic hall, which was opened
in 1917, having been erected at a cost of about $10,000. On the first floor is an
auditorium seating 250 people, or more, and provided with a stage and adjacent
dressing-rooms, and having a rear gallery, in which some of the seats are placed.
The basement contains a dining-room and kitchen and there are also several ad-
ditional rocms in the building, in one of which is installed the village library.

An attempt to start a public library was made at an early date—-in the middle
80’s, or perhaps a little before—but no permanent results were obtained. Then
about 1888 some prominent residents of the village, namely, E. F. Stoddard and
wife, Mrs. C. B. Coleman and daughter Emma, the McCabe family, and others,
raised some money, bought books, and made a new start. The Rev. W. J. James
also proved of considerable help. The library is still small, activity in its behalf
having been somewhat intermittent, but it is appreciated by the best people of the
community and forms a nucleus frem which a larger and more complete institution
may in time be developed

The people of Downing have seen several journalistic enterprises started in the
village. The first was the Downing Review, which was founded in 1893 by Dr.
W. H. Parks and M. E. Collins. The office was on the first floor of the new I. O. O.
F. building on Main Street. The publication of this paper was continued for a
period of about two years, when fire destroyed the building and also the printing
plant. The building was never rebuilt and the newspaper publication was never
resumed. There were two other efforts made to establish a paper for Downing.

In 1896 a man by the name of Hichkock started a small plant, which had a very
short career—about six months. Then a man by the name of J. F. Donham came
here and started a weekly magazine that he called *“ Donham’s Doings,”” but owing
to the marked eccentricities of the publisher, this enterprise was also of short dura-
tion—about two vears. In March, 1909, Jacob De Wilde, cashier in the Bank of
Downing, and E. F. Stoddard, postmaster in Downing, started the Downing Chron-
icle, a monthly magazine, which was printed in New Richmond, Wis., the magazine
being made up from contributions by several of the citizens of Downing. Besides
Mr. Stoddard, who was the literary editor, there were the Rev. W. E. Marsh, who
contributed items on religious and church doings, Prof. Walter Best, whose depart-
ment pertained to schools and agriculture, Mrs. F. J. Mclntyre, contributor on
domestic and social matters, and A. L. Best, who sent in items in regard to agricul-
ture. This magazine met with the approval of its readers and the Chronicle had a
large subscription list. But the work connected with the compiling of a magazine
of this nature took a lot of time, and as those interested in it were doing their part
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without compensation, besides having other work which demanded all their time,
it was decided to' discontinue the publication of the Chronicle, which was done,
and the subscription list was turned over to D. M. Merrill, a printer from St. Paul,
who came here and published what was known as the Downing Review, a weekly
publication, and enjoyed a large jobwork patronage in connection. When war
broke out with Germany, Mr. Merrill was offered a very remunerative job in the
detective service of the United States and sold the plant of the Herald to James A.
Neil, from Eau Claire, who enlarged it, added a linotype machine of late pattern,
and did a very large business; but, wanting to get into a larger town, and receiving
an attractive offer from the citizens of Elmwood, Wis.. he removed all of the presses
and other oufit belonging to the printing plant to that city in the fall of 1921.
Not wishing to be without a local paper, the Commercial Club took the matter up
and persuaded Geo. L. Elsworth, publisher of the Knapp Enterprise, to remove
his printing plant from Knapp to Downing; but Mr. Elsworth remained here only
a few months, leaving in the fall of the same year, and for a few months thereafter
there was no publication. Then the Enterprise was taken over by the Commercial
Club, a stock company being formed, ind pt!-'ication was resumed, the company
operating under the name of the Downing Newspaper Association. The Rev. L. L.
Litchfield, the local Methodist minister, having had some newspaper experience,
was placed in charge, an experienced typist, Miss Eva Barber, was employed, and
the whole management was placed in the hands of Newton Little, a stockholder.
Later, in the spring of 1924, Mr. Little leased the whole plant from the Association,
and at this time is getting out an eight-page, six-column paper, about one-third
being home print. There is a paid up subscription list of about 600 copies.

The first school in this locality stood by the creek on the Gus North farm, or
on the other side of the present creamery site, where now stands the residence
of Charles Hawkins. There was another school district which took in a part of the
village, its schoolhouse—known as the Livingston school—being situated on the
village line, about 40 rods west of where the post office is now. The building of the
mills had caused a considerable influx of people and better school accommodations
were needed; so, in 1887; Joint District No. 7 was formed, including not only terri-
tory in the tewns of Stanton and Tiffany, Dunn County, but also territory in the
town of Glenwood, St. Croix County, and a good-sized building for a grade school
was erected, occupying the site of the new high school on Wilson Street. The dis-
trict includes the same territory today as it did when it was formed 37 years ago.
The two buildings first mentioned were rural schools. One of the earliest teachers
in the Livingston school was Mrs. E. F. Stoddard, while the earliest teacher in the
schoolhouse beyond the creamery site was, as now remembered, a Mrs. Lamphere.
The schoolhouse of Joint District No. 7 was used for grades only until the vear 1900,
when an addition was built on to it and a high school established. In its double
capacity it was in use until May, 1922, when it burned down, and for a year there-
after the classes were taught in the Odd Fellows’ building and the civic hall. On
April 15, 1924, the present schoolhcuse was opened, a fine brick building erected at
a cost of 840,000, and which included the grades and a four-department high school.
With the principal, five teachers are employved, and the total number of pupils is
between 150 and 160.

Methodist class meetings were held in Downing in the early 90’s, if not before,
and this village in time became the headquarters of the Glenwood-Downing cir-
cuit, Boyceville and Connersville being included until 1917, when Boyceville became
a separate charge. In Dcwning services were held on Sunday afternoons, the
preachers coming frcm Glenwcod City. The Methodists, however, were not strong
enough financially to erect a building unaided. so a church was built through the
efforts of the Protesant people of the community generally, to serve the purpose of
a union church, and the building, improved and enlarged, is today owned by the
Union Evangelical Asscciation. It has been used by several denominations, and
at one time—about 1903-04—a small Episcopal society conducted occasional serv-
ices in it, but, aside frcm the ownership of the building, it has been for the moest
part under Methodist control, and since 1899 has been served by resident Metho-
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dist pastors. These pastors, assuming charge in September, usually, according
to Methodist custom, have been as follows: Rev. W. J. James, 1899-1901; Rev.
Charles P. Keast, 1902-1903; Rev. George Willett, 1903-1904; Rev. William Gallo-
way. 1904-1907; Rev. A. A. Siefert, 1907-1908; Rev. W. E. Marsh, 1908-1910;
Rev. W. G. Johnson, 1910; Rev. John I. Sainty, 1912-1915; Rev. R. R. Braddick,
one vear; Rev. A. H. Pierstorf, over ore year; Rev. A. F. Acker, three vears: Rev.
L. L. Litchfield, from September, 1922; Rev. H. A. Waste, from October, 1924, to
the present time. A parsonage was built at an early day and was remodeled in the
pastorate of the Rev. John I. Sainty, the church building being improved at about
the same time and a basement put in. Several years ago the parsonage was sold
and another building bought for that purpose at a cost of 4,000, which, however,
it is now the intention to sell, as a third residence building has been purchased and
is now the parsonage. This was bought in June, 1923, and cost $3,200. It belongs
to the Methodist Church. The present seating capacity of the church is about 200.
It is well furnished and provided with electric lights and furnace heat, and the base-
ment contains a kitchen and dining-room for use on social occasions. There are
138 members. Services are held twice each Sunday, and there is a Sunday school,
a Ladies’ Aid Society of 40 to 50 members, and Epworth League Society of 35
members, and a W. C. T. U. Society of about 65 members.

The Odd Fellows and Modern Woodmen, with their auxiliary lodges, or camps,
of Rebekahs and Royal Neighbors, have been represented in the village for a number
of years. Tiffany Lodge No. 40, I. O. O. F., was instituted July 25, 1887. The
lodge was twice burned out, and a new charter, dated May 31, 1902, was secured.
The lodge has at the present time about 95 members, but at one time had as many as
106. Twin City Rebekah Lodge No. 60, I. O. O. F., was instituted Dec. 9, 1891.
Like the men’s branch of the order, it was burned out, and was given a new charter
dated May 31, 1902. It has about 50 members. Downing Camp No. 5752,
M. W. A., was chartered Oct. 11, 1898, and started with 10 members. It had re-
ceived a new charter, dated Dec. 28, 1923, and is an active organization with a good
membership. Fairnook Camp, No. 6598, R. N. A., was instituted Sept. 9, 1910, its
charter being dated October 28, that year. It started with 22 members. The
American Legion also a post in Downing, No. 234.

Elk Mound is an incorporated village of about 350 inhabitants on the Chicago,
St. Paul, Minneapolis & Omaha Railway, in Section 27 of the political tcwn of Elk
Mound.

It has been said that it was surveyed and platted in May, 1874, but the first
survey and plat on record bears the date of March 8, 1878, and was made for the
West Wisconsin Railway Co. (now the “Omaha”) by J. W. Remington. It con-
sisted of Block A of 10 lots, Block B of 12 lots, and Block C of 26 lots on the south
side of Main Street. The location was defined as “on the southeast quarter of
Section 27, Township 28 north of Range 11 west.”’

The situation of the village is picturesque, the ground on which it stands rising
in the northern part into a lofty bluff from which its name, Elk Mound, is derived.
In regard to this bluff there is a story concerning a magnificent elk which in early
days would occasionally appear on the summit. From the top of the bluff a fine
view may be seen of many miles of country. There was but little lumbering here,
though some pine was cut by Eau Claire mill people about 1905, and there were a
few scattered sawmills in the surrounding district.

In January, 1882, “Robert’s Addition” to the village was surveyed and platted
by William Weissefels for Richard and Emily S. Roberts. Three other plats are
also on record: Wingen’s Addition, made for Peter Wingen and wife; an East Side
Addition surveyed in 1906, and Nels Hanson’s Addition, also surveyed in 1906.

The construction of the railroad in 1870 brought to Elk Mound its first settlers,
but its early growth was slow, as in 1880, nine years later it had but 75 residents.
In the next ten years its increase was only about 25, and it had then, in addition to
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the railway station, two churches, a post office, a district school, a stcre, a black-
smith’s shop, and a steam feed mill owned and operated by E. J. Martiboy. Soon
after that, probably in 1892 or 1893, Mr. Martiboy scld his mill and went to Hay-
wood. An old brick and stone building in the west end of the village, it has passed
through several hands, and in January, 1923, was bought by Guy Hanson, an ex-
service man of the World War, from the Olaf Oas estate and is now in operation,
Mr. Hanson grinding all kinds of feed.

Henry Ausman, who was for many years the most prominent figure in the busi-
ness life of the village, engaged in mercantile business here while still living on a
farm, in 1878 buying a small grocery kept by a man who also ran a bar and sold beer
and whiskey. Mr. Ausman at once cut out the bar and put in a stock of general
merchandise. He conducted that business for 32 years, at the end of which time he
retired, turning it over to his sons, by whom it is now conducted under the name of
H. Ausman & Sons. Mr. Ausman is still living (May, 1924) and is now in his eighty-
eighth vear. Another pioneer resident of the village having a long business record
is Nels Hanson, who for 48 years conducted a wagon making and repairing shop,
starting in 1875 aud retir’n ¢ in 1923. Twenty-two years ago William Seidenberg
entered into mercantile business here and is still engaged in it, being proprietor of
the Farmers’ store. Among the later business men may also be mentioned M. T.
Birge, who for the past nine years has conducted a good modern drug store. The
village has two good general stores, a confectionary, pool room and barber shop,
blacksmith’s shop, two garages, feed mills, lumber yard, telephone exchange, and
other business activities.

In July 1908, a small manufacturing enterprise was started a mile and a half
west of Elk Mound, on the Arne Tilleson farm, by A. H. Kleven, S. A. Gorenson and
Archie Stahlman, who manufactured concrete blocks there until 1918, when, be-
cause of lack of material, they quit the business. Mr. Kleven is now a contractor in
the village.

Another enterprise, which promised well but ultimately failed to maintain it-
self, was a flax mill started in the spring of 1905 by the Eau Claire Linen Mill Co.,
who erected a plant here and bought flax from the farmers, who had several hundred
acres planted in it, the raw material being manufactured into fibre for rope, towel-
ling, furniture packing and refrigerator linings. The flax was hand-pulled and in
summer emplovment was given to about 100 hands. But the company failed to
make money, the Eau Claire plant burned down, and the Bank of Elk Mound,
taking over the local mill, operated it for three years, and then quit, the property
being sold piecemeal. The officers of the bank during that period were: A. B.
Ausman, president; E. B. Ingram, vice president; and E. S. Gregerson, secretary
and treasurer; O. H. Ingram being head of the Eau Claire company.

The Bank of Elk Mound was incorporated as a state bank on Dec. 23, 1903,
by O. H Ingram of Eau Claire, A. B. Ausman and Henry Ausman, Sr., the first
mentioned being president, Henry Ausman, Sr., vice president, and E. S. Gregerson
cashier, while the directors were O. H. Ingram, C. A. Chambeilin, C. T. Bundy,
H. Ausman, Sr., and O. J. Garton. The capital was $10,000. The bank opened
for business Feb. 3, 1906, in a brick and stone building on the north side of Menom-
onie Street, moving to its present location on the opposite side of the street on Nov. 1,
1921. This building, erected by the bank for its own use only, is a handsome and
substantialstructure, fire proof with terazzofloorsand marblefixtures, a strongmodern
vault electrically protected, and a customers’ vault for safety deposits. On Jan. 13,
1920, the bank increased its capital stock to $25,000. E. S. Gregerson, elected
president in 1916, is still serving, and since the same year E. W. Hanson (previously
assistant cashier) has been cashier. Also since that year A. B. Ausman has served
as vice president and Noble Hanson as assistant cashier. During the war the bank
took an active part in pushing the Liberty loan and other drives (E. W. Hanson
being in the service), and in every drive went over the top. The bank takes a great
interest in all activities which are a bhenefit to the farmers and the community.

Two attempts at journalism have been made in the village, but were unsuc-
cessful. A paper called The Mound Builder, the editor of which was Edward
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Conry, was started about eight vears ago but ran for about a year only, after which,
Mr. Conry—a hustling sort of man—Ileft town. The other paper was the Mound
Journal, published by a man from Minnesota, who also was unable to make his
paper stick, going elsewhere after a vear or so.

The village being situated in the midst of a good farming and grazing country,
the farmers about 30 vears ago started a creamery, which was practically a co-
-operative concern. Ten vears ago the building burned down and the company
was then reorganized under the new co-operative laws, and is still a flourishing
institution, manufacturing about 600,000 pounds of butter per annum. If is in
stalled in a good modern brick building.

There was a grain elevator in Elk Mound as early as 1874, operated by an uncle
of W. Erpenbach, and sirce then the village has always had accommodations for
grain storage and shipments. The present elevator, built more than a quarter
of a century ago, is owned by the Elk Mound Elevator Co., formed in 1920, who
then took it over from H. Ausman & Sons, the latter concern having previously
taken it over from the Wisconsin Elevator Co. The president of the Elk Mound
Elevator Co. is E. O. Wright of Menomonie, while E. W. Scott, a farmer, is vice
president, and Frank Crane of Menomonie is secretary-treasurer. The elevator
has a capacity of 20,000 bushels, and last year the company built a feed mill, which
they are operating in connection with it.

A man named Webb is said to have been the first postmaster of Elk Mound,
the office having been established through the influence of Henry Ausman. Mr.
Webb, who kept a small store, failed and was succeeded by John Weisenfels, who
sought to increase his profits by selling intoxicating liquor, and who had the post
office for awhile. Henry Ausman, who bought out Mr. Weisenfels and abolished the
bar feature of the store, and who was railway and express agent and notary public,
also became postmaster, serving in that office from 1878 to 1915, He was succeeded
by Arthur M. Howe, who was appointed July 1, 1915, under President Wilson, and
being reappointed in that president’s second term, is still postmaster. The office
has now five rural routes, covering many miles of the surrounding country.

The Elk Mound Commercial Club, organized about the year 1900, has at times
done some important work in promoting local improvements, though its activity
has been somewhat intermittent. At its inception it was composed of 80 per cent
of the men living within half a mile of the village. It has been instrumental in
removing a number of unsightly buildings, getting fine residences built and good
sidewalks laid, and also in the establishment of the present splendid school.

An early attempt was made to establish a public library in the village, but there
was not sufficient interest or energy in the movement and it died out. In the flour-
ishing days of the Congregational society, some books, which served the purpose of
a small public library, were kept in the church, but were destroyed when the build-
ing burned in 1912." Then a village library association was formed, books being
obtained from the state library commission at Madison and loaned out from the
manual training room at the school, this system being in vogue for two years. At
the end of that time it was given up, though the state library commission still sends
out books to those making individual application.

The village of Elk Mound was incorporated in the spring of 1909, the first
ordinance being enacted in March. The first village officers were : Henry Ausman,
president; Nels Hanson, C. H. Mau, Matt Schaaf, P. E. Riley, Torval Jensen and
O. J. Garten, trustees; E. S. Gregerson, clerk; J. G. Brackett, treasurer; B. J. Ben-
son, supervisor; M. L. Van Dreser, assessor; E. A. Ausman, corstable; E.S.Greger-
son and O. ]J. Garten, justices of the peace. About this time, or in the following
year, 1910, electric lights were introduced into the village, the first power for which
‘was supplied by the Chippewa Falls Light & Power Co., later by the Wisconsin-
Minnesota Light & Power, and now by the Northern States Power Co., Elk

Falls, where one of their dams is situated.
A volunteer fire department was organized on a small scale in or about the year
1905, a small sum of money being raised and invested in a hand-pumping engine
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and a water tank on wheels. This apparatus was housed in a shack in the lumber
yard, and when the lumber took fire and burned two or three years later the appara-
tus was destroyed. Then the property holders of the village took up a subscription
and raised more money, and another outfit was purchased, for which a shed was
built. After the incorporation of the village in 1909 a more efficient system was
inaugurated, a fire company being organized, consisting now of 22 men, with a
chief, assistant chief and secretary, the men being paid for service at fires, rehearsals
and false alarms. There are now three tanks, a chemical engine, and hook and
ladder truck, the tanks being mounted on wagons. Eight call hoxes have been
placed in various parts of the village, operated electrically, and the residents are
afforded reasonable protection. After Elk Mound had begun to function as an
incorporated village a hall was leased for civic purposes in a building corporation.
In 1912 that building burned and a company was organized, which in the following
year erected the civic building and hall now in use.

The first school of the district including the village was situaied about a mile and
three quarters to the northwest. It is not now remembered when it was built,
but school was held there in 1878-79, if not earlier. Somewhat later another school-
house was erected about three quarters of a mile east of the center of the village,
and the two schools were united as School District No. 2, Joint, of the towns of
Elk Mound and Wheaton. The building to the east of the village was used up
to 1905, when the proposition to establish a school on the hill in the north end of
the village was strongly opposed and led to an acrimonious dispute. But the ad-
vocates of the change of location had their way and a building was accordingly
erected on the hill, being used for school purposes until three years ago, when the
fine consolidated grade and high school, inclusive of several districts, that is now
the pride of the village, was built, being opened in October, 1921. The following
information in regard to this school, furnished by Principal Chester H. Byrnes,
will be of interest to parents of this vicinity, and doubtless to many of the pupils,
either now or in later years.

The Elk Mound Consolidated Grades and High School brings to the rural boys
and girls the same privileges offered to their city cousins. The building, which
cost $80,000 with equipment, is a beautiful modern structure standing on the south
slope of the high mound from which the village takes its name. Looking south-
ward from its well lighted assembly room, one can see an ideal rural valley. The
farm homes in this valley are owned by a progressive class of farmers, having every
modern convenience. The school is equipped with a steam heating plant, a venti-
lating system, electric lights, hot and cold water and showers. In the fine gym-
nasium every boy and girl has his or her physical training period daily. There is
a fine shaded park in the rear of the building. The tennis court is located here.
The playground equipment consists of swings, trapezes and teeters. A fine athletic
field lies to the west of the building. Eight covered wagons transport the boys and
girls from their homes to the school and back again, cars being used in the fall and
spring. The faculty has a 100 per cent enrollment in the Wisconsin Teachers’
Association. The school has a 50 per cent enrollment over last year and the con-
stant annual growth shows that the rural boys and girls appreciate the privilege of a
secondary education.

A high standard of academic preparation is required. Reports from normal
schools and colleges and the university show that our graduates compare very
favorably with those from the citv high schools. Last year (1923) the eighth grade
took the county diploma examination. Out of a class of 15, 13 were honor graduates
with an average of 85 per cent or better. There is a Parent-Teachers’ Association
which meets monthly to discuss constructive suggestions and the programs are
varied and interesting. Work done by the pupils of this school has been exhibited
in the county fair and the school won a loving cup as having the largest number of
points in educational exhibits; and in project work during the vacational period
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the boys and girls, through exhibits and club entries have won about $225 in pre-
mium money.

In declamatory and oratory the Elk Mound contestants took first honors in the
local league, winning two loving cups, while the representatives sent to the district
contest held at Eau Claire furnished keen competition for the larger city schools.
In athletics the Elk Mound school has successfullv competed with schools having
a much larger enroliment. The athletic council is composed of five members,
namely: the coach of the boys’ and the coach of the girls’ team, one member repre-
senting the student body, one representing the school board, and one the Parent-
Teachers’ Association. A wonderful spirit of service and charitv at home has been
developed through the Camp Fire organization; food and clothing have been
collected by the girls and then distributed among the poor and needy. Thev have
a Camp Fire lodge fully equipped for banquets and ceremonials, and which has been
made a comfort room for members and guests. The school has nine teachers.

Trinity Evangelical Church, the largest in the village, had its origin in a con-
gregation started more than half a century ago at a location about a mile south and
a mile east of here, where Evangelical services were held, in the German language,
up to 1907. In the meanwhile the village was growing and at last it seemed to
many of the members desirable to build a church here, as a more central and
convenient location. The movement was opposed by some, who were attached to
the old rural church, but the other party had its way, H. Ausman exercising a strong
persuasive influence, and in 1906-07 the church was built. The objectors remained
behind, retaining the old building and joining the German Methodist Episcopal
denomination, and that church is now served from Menomonie, a preacher coming
every three weeks.

The edifice in the village is a fine, large brick building with stained glass win dows,
and adjacent to it is a large frame parsonage, suitably corresponding in style with
the church. The congregation is an active one and numbers 108 members, the
attendence at services being about twice as large. There is a highly organized
Sunday school with an enrollment cf over 250 scholars. The auxilliary societies
include the following: A Woman’s Missionary Society of 19 members; the Ladies’
Aid of 33 members; Evangelical League of Christian Endeavor, 23 members; and
the Junior Church Endeavor with 20, a very live organization. The present pastor
(1924) is the Rev. Lester H. Laubenstein, who assumed the charge on May 5, 1923.
A recent predecessor was the Rev. Levi Goehring, who served three years. Before
the Rev. Mr. Goehring came, and for awhile afterwards, the church was on the
circuit of Elk Mound and Menomonie, but it became independent while he was
pastor and is now the headquarters of the Elk Mound circuit, there being another
Evangelical church in the country, eight miles southwest of the village.

This latter church is generally known as the Iron Creek Church, because of its
location on Iron Creek, but its denominational name is Salem Evangelical Church.
It had its origin in a Sunday school started in 1861 and is the mother church of all
of this denomination within some miles of Elk Mound. In October, 1923, it cele-
brated its sixtieth anniversary. There was a large attendance, many pioneers being
present, and also several of the charter members. The Iron Creek Church has a
membership of 76, with an attendance of 120 to 130, and a Sunday school with an
enrollment of 135. It is served by the Elk Mound pastor. The Evangelical Church
in America was established in Pennsylvania by Germans, and the Elk Mound
church formerly had services in the German language, but now all the services are
in English, the latter language having been gradually adopted.

St. Joseph’s Catholic Church, Elk Mound, originated—it is thought about 40
years ago—in the town of Spring Brook, about a mile south and a mile west of the
village, where a church and cemetery were established. In 1916 the church edifice
in the village of Elk Mound was erected, a good frame building of fair seating capac-
ity. The land for the purpose was donated by W. Erpenbach, the congregation
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putting up the building. The old church was served from Chippewa Falls, and at
earlier periods from Eau Claire and Mencmonie. The present pastor, Rev. A. T.
Thome, comes from Chippewa Falls. There are now about 25 or 30 families in the
congregation.

The Norwegian Lutherans of Elk Mound began holding services about 1912,
and in 1914 built a frame church at a cost of between §2,800 and 8$3,000. The
congregation was started with 16 families and now includes 27. Services are held
every three weeks, the present pastor (May, 1924) being the Rev. John Paulson,
who comes from Chippewa Falls, though since May, 1923, pastors from other
places have occasionally preached here. Before that time there were resident
pastors, the first being the Rev. A. P. Lea, who came from Chippewa Falls, and, after
him, the Rev. C. M. Horneland, who remained three years. There is a Ladies’
Aid Society. This church is an offshoot from the Barum Norwegian Lutheran con-
gregation, started over 50 years ago, whose church edifice is situated three miles
northeast of the village. The Barum congregation was formerly a large cne but
its numbers have dwindled.

A church was established in the village of Elk Mound, in 1913, the name of
which, in German, is Der Evangelischen Fiiedens Gemeinde. Its records begin in
the month of January, that year. Services were first held in a building located near
the present community hall, and which was used for hall and church purposes, the
building rented until it burned down in 1912. After that the people erected their
present building in the northeast part of the village. They have preaching every
other week, the pastors coming from Fall Creek and Cadott.

A Congregational Church was organized in Elk Mound village about the year
1900 and had an existence of some 15 vears. A Sunday school of this denomination
had been started in the village about 1897 by the Rev. Howard R. Vaughn, the
church, a frame building being erected in 1900. Mr. Vaughn was pastor and worked
in Elk Mound for about 12 years, or until 1910, serving this church and several
others, at Albertville, Truax and Amy respectively, the church at Amy being of the
Baptist denomination. After he left, there were two other pastors here. In 1912
the church building burned down and was not rebuilt. Summer educational work
of a religious character was taken up in 1902, school being held six days a week.
Rev. H. R. Vaughn was the official head of the movement until two years ago, and
though his successor in the pastorate here had no summer school, it was held else-
where. In 1920 it was reestablished in Elk Mound by the Evangelicals and is now
in operation. This type of school has beccme the recognized model of religious
(Protestant) day schools, being copied in certain points by the Lutherans. Its
main feature lies in the application of modern physiology to religious education.

A camp of Modern Woodmer: of America—Elk Mound Camp No. 5952—was
established in Elk Mou~d in 1892, and subsequently a camp of the auxilliary branch
of Roval Neighbors. Both are still active. About the year 1900 a Beavers’
lodge was started, the members of which—scme 60 in number—do not now hold
meetings, but continue to pay their dues. Lloyd S. Howe Post No. 37, American
Legion, was organized in September, 1919, the first ccmmander being Dr. Geo. H.
Schlenker. He was succeeded by Ervin L. Frederick, the latter by Henry L. Carden,
and he by Guy Hanson, the present commander. This post started with 15 mem-
bers and at one time rose to 50, but the present number of paid up members is 27.
In May, 1923, the post secured a portable projector for showing moving pictures
and until January 1, 1924, gave weekly exhibitions in the community hall. They
then closed for the winter. In May, 1924, an extra machine was secured and the
exhibitions were resumed, being given each Wednesday. :

Knapp—The incorporated village of Knapp is situated on the Chicago, St.
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Paul, Minneapolis & Omaha Railway in the southern part (Section 33) of the town
of Stanton. It lies in a valley protected on the north, south and west by high
bluffs, or hills, through which flows Wilson's Creek. The railroad, first known as
the West Wisconsin Railway, was built by Humbert & Baldwin, connection being
made with St. Paul in September, 1871, though trains ran through Knapp in the
previous year. Before that time the site of the village and the surrounding country
was mostly a dense forest, traversed only by Indians, white hunters and, occasion-
ally, an itinerant Methodist minister. With the coming of the railroad came also
the settlers, among the first being John Bailey, Omar Ccle, and several home-
steaders. In the following year a post office was established, the first postmaster
being A. K. Humphrey, who built and conducted the first store, which stood on the
ground now occupied by the store of L. A. Prichard. ' ,

The first plat of Krapp on record at the county courthouse is undated, but
was made not later than the spring of 1875. It bears the title, ‘“ Merrill’s part of
the Village of Knapp,” the location being described as “the S. E. M of N W I
of Section 33, Township 29 north of Range 14 west.” It was surveyed by J. H.
Webster for “ John and De Lila Merrill.”  On April 14 and 15 J. H. Webster sur-
veyed a plat of the village “by order of Arch K. Humphrey and Lydia J. Hum-
phrey,” described as the S.W.14 of the N.E.14 of Section 33, Township 33 north of
Range 29 west. Subsequently plats of the village, or parts thereof, were made, as
follows: A plat of East Knapp by J. H. Webster, June 27, 1875, for E. P. Bailey,
Lucinda Bailey, Solomon Fletcher and Amy A. Fletcher, which consisted of “parts
of the E. 15 of the N. W. 14 of Section 34, Township 29, Range 14;” an addition of
nine blocks to East Knapp made for J. D. Miller in May, 1878; an addition to Knapp
surveyed for John and Christina Whiteford in May, 1878; Merrill’s second addition,
of four blocks, surveyed in April, 1880, for John and De Lila Merrill; Hall’s addition
(Blocks A to H), surveyed April 21, 1881; Miller’s second addition, recorded in
November, 1881; A. R. Hall's second addition in June, 1881, and an addition by
Lydia J. Humphrey, recorded in June, 1882.

Owing to the large supply of various kinds of timber in the vicinity, manufac-
turing was started at an early date, soon after the comin g of the railroad, the first
sawmill being erected by James Bailey, brother of the John Bailey already men-
tioned. The Knapp,Stout & Co., ater known as the Knapp, Stout & Co. Company,
had a small sawmill in Knapp in early days, and it was from the Knapp family that
the village took its name, though that concern did not cut much timber in this
immediate vicinity. With the start of the village Omar Cole and A. K.Humphrey
started a sawmill business, and after Mr. Humphrey’s death, which occurred either
in 1875 or a year or two later, A. C. Poore became Mr. Cole’s partner, but the firm
met with reverses and after four or five years the mill closed down.

Another sawmill was put up by Temple and Harrington, by whom it was oper-
ated until it burned down. It was then rebuilt by Cole & Poore, who disposed of
it.to the Hall & Dann Barrel Co. of Minneapolis, organized in 1879. This company
ealarged the plant considerably, building a store in 1880, and for several years did
an extensive business in the manufacture of lumber, staves and barrel headings,
employing at times as many as 200 men. In 1881 they were turning out 2,500 sets
of barrel stock per day. The heading mill cut 40 cords of wood per day, making
200 sets, and about 75,000 staves were slashed out, the wood used being white and
red oak, maple, ash, rock elm, birch, butternut and basswood. Logs brought from
82 to $9 per thousand at the mills, and the dry-houses kiln-dried the stock in 24
hours. William Kimball was superintendent. This concern subsequently became
absorbed into the Hardwood Manufacturing & Storage Co., a Minneapolis corpora-
tion of which Albert R. Hall was the president. The operation of the plant was
stopped in 1888 and the machinery sold piecemeal. Two or three years later the
stack was blown down and wrecked the greater part of the building. The company
sold their remaining timber to the Downing Manufacturing Co. and to George H.
Christian, the latter selling to A. R. Hall, who had a small mill and did some lumber-
ing on his own account. He did not log that timber, however, but sold it to the
Frank Carter Company. Some of it is said to be standing yet, in which he has an
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interest. Mr. Hall manufactured and sold hubs to a wagon factory in Shakopee,
Minn., which concern, claiming that they were not all of white oak, as contracted
for, refused to pay cash for them, but gave him a number of wagons instead, which
he sold to the farmers.

In 1875 or 1876, the Northwestern Hub & Spoke Factory was started in Knapp
by Knute Hubbard & Thomas Morgan. who also operated a store and blacksmith’s
shop. Within a year or two, Morgan, who was the junior partner, sold to Hubbard,
and the latter after operating the business for a few vears, disposed of it to E. T.
Bond, of South Evanston, Ill. About 25 men were employed and the concern
manufactured about 40 full sets of hubs and spokes per day, finished and polished,
some sawed felloes being also made. A store was conducted in connection with the
works, but after a few years Mr. Bond gave up the business; though he sold the
property, the factory was no longer operated.

Another large business started in Knapp was that of the Bailey Manufacturing
Co., incorporated Oct. 18, 1880, with a capital of $100,000, the incorporators being
E. P. Bailey and S. J. Fletcher. They took over the sawmill built by ““ Jim” Bailey,
and added to it a large nlant for the manufacture of lumber, wagons, trunk slats,
and the Springer cultivator and seeder (combined). From 80 to 100 men were
employved in the works, and a store was also built, the sales of which, it is said aver-
aged about 840,000 a year. The concern failed, however, in 1883 for 875,000 and
the works were taken over by Stillwater parties, who operated them for a year or so
and then quit.

John Anderson started the second store in the village, but sold out after a while
to H. W. Kellogg, who, it is said, subsequently came to a tragic end by suicide in
St. Paul.

One of the active business men of Knapp for some vears was Charles Townsend,
who opened a drug store in 1884. Several vears later he went into manufacturing,
leasing a mill from the Hardwood Manufacturing & Store Co., which stood on Block
3 of the original village site, and which he operated for two seasons as a spoke
factory. He then turned it into a sawmill and factory for the manufacture of
staves for syrup barrels, and as such conducted it until 1902. In the meanwhile he
had extended his activities to include the operation of a creamery and a grain eleva-
tor; but the farmers, having organized a co-operative creamery, forced him to give
up that branch of his business. His factory was closed out in 1902, when he went
to Cedar Falls, taking a part of his plant with him, and the elevator in 1904 passed
into the hands of the New Richmond Roller Mills: it is the elevator now owned and
operated by the Co-operative Equity Co. Mr. Townsend sold his store when he
left to a co-operative company, who conducted it for three years, selling in 1911 to
Goedecke & Jones, who moved the business to their present brick store, the old
building being torn down in the fall of 1922.

In the early 80’s, when F. E. Blaser was railroad agent here, the amount of
freight forwarded per month was 2,500,000 pounds; the amount received 500,000
pounds, and 8300 per month was taken in for passenger fares. Dr. W. W. Dorr
conducted the boardinghouse for Hall, Dann & Co., while there were two other
doctors in the village, A. T. Bright and C. H. Tressel; H. W. Kellogg was con-
ducting the store he bought from John Anderson, while Herbert Lucas was proprie-
tor of a hardware and tin shop, and Mathew McCormic of a billiard room. There
was a Good Templar lodge, organized in 1873, and a lodge of United Workmen,
instituted in 1880. Religious services were held in the schoolhouse. The village
was under town government, as it continued to be for some 14 vears thereafter, the
town of Stanton then having a population of 500.

In 1886 iron ore was discovered in the hills near Knapp, and also in the vicinity
of Wilson, Wildwood and Lucas, and some excitement resulted, considerable
prospecting being done. Five hundred tons of the ore were smelted at Black River
Falls in 1890, but activities in this direction ceased when it was realized that there
was not enough of the ore to make mining profitable. A little later a still greater
excitement was caused by the discovery of some gold amengst the ore mined in this
neighborhood, and which was extracted by the cyanide process to the amount of
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five dollars’ worth to the ton, though some single specimens were found to be much
richer. As the total cost of production, however, was some $12 or $13 per ton, the
acquisition of wealth in this manner was found to be impracticable and Knapp
failed to become a mining town.

It has been claimed that in 1885 Knapp had a population of 800, though in 1880
there were but 500 or so in the whole town of Stanton. The increase of course was
due to the manufacturing industries that were established here, many of the work-
men being married and bringing their wives and children here. With the decay of
manufacturing the population dwindled, so that a historian writing in 1891 (History
of the Chippewa Valley) said that there were then not more than 350 in the village.
In 1920 the village population was given as 478 and it has not increased to any
appreciable extent since then. Progress in recent years has been chiefly along
other lines, such as better public utilities and the development of stronger social
educationaland religious agencies,in which some good work has been accomplished.
Business, however, has not stood still since the lumbermen departed.

What is now the First National Bank was organized as a state bank in 1904 by
Chester R. Case, and others, Mr. Case having come here in May that year at the
instance of Albert R. Hall, who was a man of business and political influence, and
who was made president of the institution. Charles Townsend being vice presi-
dent, and Mr. Case cashier. There was also an assistant cashier. The officers
whose names are given, together with F. H. Welcome and W. H. Francis formed the
board of directors. Business was started in a small building of 16 x 24 feet, owned
by Mr. Hall and situated on the lot adjoining the present site, this building being
occupied for about three years. Then removal was made to the James Austin
building across the street, which was the home of the bank until the building now
occupied was erected in 1915. In June, 1918, the bank was converted into a
national bank, with a capital of $25,000 and an earned surplus of $5,000; the de-
posits were then about $200,000. The officers elected on the reorganization were:
William Robinson, president; W. H. Francis, vice president; Chester Case, cashier:
Dale Carter, assistant cashier. William Robinson, W. H. Francis, F. H. Welcome,
C. R. Case and ]. E. Case were directors. Subsequently the three first mentioned
all died and their places were filled by others. The present officers are: W. H.
Francis, president; Theodore Albrecht, vice president; C. R. Case, cashier, and
Walter L. Leslie, assistant cashier. The directors are W. H. Francis, W. H. Kim-
ball, C. R. Case, J. E. Case and Theodore Albrecht. The bank’s capital and
surplus have rot changed, but the deposits are now (May, 1924) about $250,000.
This bank has proved a strong friend of the farmer, and during the great war made
a fine record in putting over the government loans, going well over the top in all
of them,

A. K. Humphrey has been mentioned as the first postmaster of Knapp, and H,
W. Kellogg also had the office for a while. The exact succession of postmasters
is uncertain, with respect, at least to the early period, but Tim Murphy is remem-
bered as one and Alden M. Kimball as another, the latter serving about 1891. Of
the later ones there is a definite record. Mrs. Chrissie Frizzell took the office
Dec. 1, 1893; Alden L. Kimball (2nd time) in November, 1897; Miss May L.
Kimball, September, 1903; Miss Nelle Tufts, April 1, 1915; Samuel L. Tufts,
April, 1917, to February, 1922, his commission being dated March 16, 1917 and
Matthew H. Schlosser has served since Feb. 1, 1922. Under Mr. Tuft the office
was advanced to the third class, and it now has two rural routes, No. 1 running
south from the village and No. 2 running north.

The Knapp Telephone Company was started in August, 1903, by Charles
McV. Fletcher and Charles Townsend, who formed a company and incorporated.
The territory covered included Boyceville and Wheeler and lines running with
Downing and Weston; but in 1914 Boyceville and Wheeler became independent,
each now having its own exchange, the lines being controlled by the three villages
to a half way distance between them. Downing is operated from Glenwood,
The Knapp exchange controls about 200 phones and gives day and night service,
S. F. Cole has been president of the company since 1913. H. W. Jodel 1s now vice
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president, George Hart treasurer, Al Morrell secretary and manager and Geo. W.
Schaefer a director.

Several attempts at journalism have been made here in the past, but the results
attained were not permanent. A paper called the Knapp News was started at the
time of the gold excitement, some 20 vears ago or more. It passed through several
hands, one of the successive proprietors changing the name of the paper to “The
Knapp New News,” but none of them made a pronounced success and about 1909
the issue ceased. .

The first school taught in the vicinity of Knapp was at the home of Omar Cole
in Section 34, town of Stanton, and was held for two terms, the first of which was
taught by Miss Lydia L. Cole, a sister of Omar who had come here from Pennsyl-
vamia. The second term was taught by Mary L. Weatherby, daughter of Dr. L.
P. Weatherby who was one of the first physicians to settle in this region and lived
on a farm six or seven miles north of Knapp. Then a log schoolhouse was built
about a quarter of a mile north of the east end of the village; and later, in 1872, a
small frame schoolhouse just across the east limits of Knapp, both these school-
houses i-eing in No. 3 Joint District, and the latter in Scction 27. The first teacher
in the frame schoolhouse above mentioned was, so far as is now remembered,
Miss Nettie C. Brown, who later became the wife of William Vanderhoof, and this
schoolhouse was in use until Districts No. 3 and 4 were consolidated, District No. 4
taking the west end of Knapp village. Here and at that time another frame build-
ing was erected and was in use for a number of years until it was finally discarded
for school purposes and was taken over by the local G. A. R. post, who used it for
their meetings as long as they held any. The building still exists and is now used
for a barn. When the number of pupils in Knapp and the vicinity had so increased
as to overcrowd the building last mentioned, a new and graded school was erected—
in 1884—in the west end of town, this being a two-story frame structure on the
present schoolhouse site. It was in use until the fall of 1908, when it took fire from
some unknown cause and was burned to the ground. In the following year, 1909,
the present brick building was erected, which is practically a three-story building
including the basement, as the latter is lighted with large windows, making it sub-
stantially a ground floor. This school includes the eight grades and a two-year
high school. The building cost about $8,000, or, with the furniture, about $9,000.

The country around Knapp is a good grazing district, well watered and has many
dairies. A creamery was started here in the early 90's and bought the Episcopal
church, which was no longer used, for its operations. It failed, however, and was
taken over by Charles Townsend who operated it for awhile but was finally forced
out by the farmers, who had started one on the co-operative plan. They failed
to agree among themselves, however, and were unsuccessful. The present concern,
the Knapp Creamery Co., took over the business of the Knapp Co-operative
Creamery Co. on Jan 1, 1923, and in that year turned out 350,000 pounds of butter,
buying from the farmers about 400,000 pounds of cream. The run has since been
increased, the company is shipping now fium 70 to 80 tubs of butter per week,
of about 64 pounds to a tub. The concern is a partnership, A. J. Olson and E. H.
Close being the proprietors.

As early as 1856 the territory in which the site of Knapp village was included was
a part of the Knight’s Creek Circuit of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and in
1870 regular services were established in it by the Rev. M. S. Webster. It contained
five preaching places. Subsequently the name was changed to Knapp Station
Circuit, and services held here every other Sunday. In 1876 the Knapp
Methodists built a small church edifice at the cost of $600, and for two years the
Rev. ].P.Greer was pastor, to be followed by a long line of faithful ministers down
to the present time. As the congregation increased with the growth of the village,
the original building was in time found to be too small, and in 1893 a much larger
one was erected, which is still in use and is a neat and well cared for building. The
church has the usual auxilliary societies and maintains a good Sunday school.
There is an excellent parsonage. .

For about seven or eight vears Protestant Episcopal services were held in Knapp,
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a church of that denomination being erected in the village in 1883, chiefly through .
the efforts of the Rev. M. L. Kern of Menomonie, who had conducted services here
previously in the schoolhouse. The practice of supplyving the pulpit from Me-
nomonie was continued until the summer of 1890, when it was given up, owing to
the smallness of the congregation. The building being left to care for itself, soon
fell into decay, and was finally sold to the then existing creamery company, who for
some time used it as their plant.

The Baptist congregation in the village was organized over 30 years ago, the
exact date being uncertain, as all the original members have passed away. When
the Methodists erected their new building, however, in 1893, the Baptists purchased
their old one, which was a small building, but which they enlarged to some extent
by putting on an addition. They also moved it to a more easterly location.
Though the congregation is now small, it has a resident pastor, the Rev. Mr. An-
derson, and regular services are held.

At quite an early period some people of the Adventist faith held cccasional
services in the country near Knapp, and continued to do so until an Adventist
church was erected in the village, about 1887, so far as can be now remembered.
This congregation is still in existence, though it has never had a regular pastor,
it being customary for an elder to direct the services. Occasiona]ly, however, a
visiting pastor exercises that function.

Knapp was incorporated as a village in June, 1903, the incorporators being
Charles Townsend, Charles M. Fletcher, Samuel M. Tufts, L. B. Roseberry and
Henry Billebeau. This movement was brought about owing to the high taxes the
village was paying under town government, amounting to 4 per cent. After the
incorporation the tax went down to 2 per cent. Charles M. Fletcher was chosen
as the first village president, T. B. Schaefer as clerk, William Miller treasurer,
Samuel M. Tufts assessor, and George Gibson, George Carpenter, R. D. Waterson,
George Myers, Andrew J. Nutter, Warren Green and W. W. Chapple trustees,
Mr. Chapple being supervisor. The incorporation was opposed by the town
officials, who declined to let Mr. Tufts take the books when he wished to make out
his assessment lists, but his thorough local knowledge enabled him to dispense with
them.

Previous to 1921 home gasoline plants were generally used for lighting purposes,
but in that year the lines of the Burkhardt Electric Light & Power Co. were put
through the village, the power plant being located at E irkhardt on Apple River,
but the headquarters of the company being at Hudson. For domestic water
pur; oses there are individual wells, this supply being supplemented by a town
reservoir fed from a spring, the water being piped from the reservoir to the watering
trough and distributing place. The village hall, built 25 years ago, was burned’
in the spring of 1924. In addition to the enterprises already named the village
possesses a fairly good-sized hotel, four or five general merchandise stores, a drug
store, a grocery, a notion and variety store, a pool hall, barber shop, garage, two
blacksmith’s shops, the lumber vard of D. E. Kiser, a Cameron lumber yard,
the Knapp Co-operative Exchange elevator, and a small screen manufactory with
AL S. Sampson proprietor. Open air moving picture shows are being exhibited in
the village once a week (1924), as they are in several other villages in the county,
and will be continued during the summer, the expense being paid by the business
men.

Since Knapp became a community center the lodges of several fraternal orders
have been established here. Those now active are the following:

Ridgley Lodge No. 164, I. O. O. F., was chartered June 7, 1882, and now has a
membership of about 96. The lodge owns a building in which is a large room used
both by the Odd Fellows and by several other lodges. The Odd Fellows member-
ship has fluctuated greatly, at one time being down to eight members—just enough
to fill the offices—and at another being up to 104. The present condition, however,
is good. e

Valley Lodge No. 98, Daughters of Rebekah, the woman’s branch of the:Qdd
Fellows, was chartered June 8, 1887, and was continued for a number of years, when,



196 HISTORY OF DUNN COUNTY

owning to a decrease in membership the charter was surrendered and the lodge
moved to Hersey. A new Rebekah lodge, known as Sunshine Lodge No. 81, was
established in,Knapp in 1914, the charter bearing the date of July 2. It was started
with 50 members and now has about twice that many.

Samaritan Encampment No. 72, I. O. O. F., was chartered Feb. 6, 1884, the
village at that time having a considerable population. ~After the mills here stopped
running and the population rapidly decreased, Samaritan Encampment was moved
to Wilson, on invitation of the Wilson Odd Fellows. It was kept up there for a
short time, but the members drifting away, the charter was surrendered. A new
Encampment at Knapp, the name of which is Friendship Encampment No. 12,
1. 0. O. F., was chartered in March, 1913 with 24 members, and still holds meetings.

John H. Knapp Lodge No. 238, F. & A. M., was instituted in 1888, its charter
being dated June 13. It has continued to flourish and has now between 50 and 60
members.

Crown Camp No. 1245, M. W. A, chartered Nov. 4, 1889, has 90 members.

Knapp Camp of Royal Neighbors of America, auxiliary to the Modern Wood-
men of America, was instituted Augus? 21, 197, with 20 members, and received a
charter dated August 27, that year. It is still operating.

A Beavers’ Reserve Fund Fraternity, and The Queens, a branch of the same
order, were started in the village many years ago, and were consolidated under a
new charter June 17, 1922, having then 13 members.

On April 30, 1884 the old soldiers of the Civil War organized in Knapp, A. K.
Humphrey Post No. 148, G. A. R., and subsequently held meetings for many years
until death had so thinned their ranks that further activities were given up. At
present there is no American Legion post in Knapp, the young soldiers of the World
War belonging mostly to the post at Wilson or that at Menomonie.

Ridgeland is an incorporated village situated in Section 6, Township 31 nort of
Range 12 west, or in the political town of Wilson. It is surveyed and plattea in
the year 1900 by Sidney G. Jones for the Ridgeland Company, of which George
M. Huss was president and F. V. Vial secretary, the plat being certified June first.
Another plat was made in 1920, when the population of the village was 184, and in
the following year the village was incorporated.

Ridgeland is close to the Barron County line and occupies a level site. A branch
~ of the “Soo” Railway known as ‘“The Blueberry,” runs from Ridgeland to Park
Falls in Price County. About one half of the mail for the village comes in by this
road and the other half by rural route from Wheeler, which is on another branch
of the “So00.” The post office was established in 1900, the year the village was first
platted, George Johnson being the first postmaster, while Warren F. Grover now
holds that office. There is one rural route.

Ridgeland is a convenieut shippi.ig point and place of supplies for the farmers in
the northern part of Dunn County. Here are two general stores, a hardware store,
one farm machinery dealer, a feed mill, a cooperative shipping association, a cream-
ery, a blacksmith’s shop, two restaurants, a hotel, a garage and two filling stations,
a lumber yard, a grain elevator, potato warehouses, a shoe shop, a barber shop, a
moving-picture theatre and a bank. Church and school are not lacking and the
village has telephone communication. The water supply is derived from individual
wells, and for protection against fire a bucket brigade has been organized which
every Ridgeland worthy of the name regards as ‘‘the best in Wisconsin.”

The first store in Ridgeland was started by Ole Jorstad and A. L. Pangraf under
the firm name of Pangraf & Jorstad, and O. E. Willard opened the first hotel in a
two-story frame building. The second hotel was opened by August L. Luer, who
is still conducting it.

The children in Ridgeland first attended a joint-district school situated nearly
a mile outside the village. The first schoolhouse in the village was a frame building
erected in 1904. This was replaced in 1917 by a modern brick building, which is
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also a joint-district school. Three teachers were employed up to 1922 and since
then four, as in that year a two-vear high school course was instituted. Early in
December, 1924, the attendance was 91 pupils in all grades. A meeting of the citi-
zens was called for Dec. 16, 1924, to discuss the installation of electric lights in all
the rooms of the school building. .

In 1902 the Methodist Episcopal Church was organized in the village, the Rev.
Mr. Bradley being the first pastor. The edifice is a frame building with a seating
capacity of 175. The pulpit is supplied from Prairie Farm.

The Ridgeland Cooperative Creamery was first started as the Rid geland Cream-
ery. In 1904 the business men of the village bought the site and sold shares in the
company. In 1922 the present fine brick building was erected, which is fully in-
stalled with modern machinery including an ice-making machine. Since the organ-
ization of the company Louis Handorf has held the office of president. Ernst Kahl
was the first vice president, with Albert Bongratz treasurer and H. H. Clough the
first manager. Of the new company Louis Handorf was president, Ernest Kahl
vice president, Ole Jorstad treasurer and E. Beiswanger manager. At the start
the output of butter was sometimes as low as eight tubs per week. The growth of
the concern has been very satisfactory, the figures for 1923 showing that in that
vear the creamery received from the farmers 1,631.480 pounds of cream and 534,212
pounds of butter fat, for which they were paid $211,114.17. The receipts were
8230,777.76, or an average price for butter of $0.432 per pound. All cream was
paid for f. 0. b. at the farmer’s door. The present officers of the company are:
Louis Handorf, president; Will Gear, first vice president; John Nelson, second vice
president; Fritz Scheltheiss, secretary and treasurer, and E. Beiswanger, manager.

The Ridgeland Shipping Association is a farmers’ cooperative concern that was
organized in October, 1916, though some shipping was done a year earlier. The
concern ships all kinds of livestock and poultry, the annual shipments of stock,
including hogs, amounting to about 70 carloads. The present officers are: Otto
Kahl, president; John H. Nelson, vice president; A. E. Holten, secretary and
treasurer, and Fred Jordan and Charles Bilse, directors.

The Farmers State Bank of Ridgeland was organized in 1913 by M. L. Randall,
Ole Jorstad and Dave Russell, with a capital of $10,000.00. M. L. Randall was the
first president and L. B. Thompson the first cashier. In 1914 a one-story brick
building was erected, supplied with a fire-proof vault and time locks. A general
banking business is done and the institution has been successful. The capital stock
is now (December, 1924) the same as at the beginning, the surplus and undivided
profits§3,000.00 and the deposits$181,000.00. The present officers and directorsare:
M. L. Randall president and director, Old Jorstad vice president and director,
F. L. Van Sickle vice president and director, A. J. Mattke cashier and director, and
William Jellema assistant cashier and director.

The Prairie Farm, Ridgeland & Dallas Telephone Co. was started in 1908 with
connections also at Wheeler on the south, Hillsdale on the north and New Auburn
on the east, and with switchboards at Prairie Farm, Ridgeland and Sand Creek.
At the present time the company has about 900 subscribers and the present officers
are: Frank Roamhild, president; John Rassback, vice president, and Martin
Larson secretary and treasurer.

Wheeler is an incorporated village on the “Soo”” railway in the southeastern
corner of the town of Hay River. Its population for 1920 was given as 217 and it is
close to that figure now. The history of the community dates back 40 years or
more. It was first known as Welton, and as such was surveyed and platted in June,
1884, by D. W. Waite, county surveyor, for Mrs. Mariah L. Welton, a widow and
early settler here. The location as defined on the plat was: ‘“‘Part of the N. E. 14
of the N. W. 1{ of Section 36, Township 30 north of Range 13 west.” An addition,
called Bullock’s Addition, was surveyed in the same month and year by J. H. Web-
ster for Louisa L. Bullock, but was not recorded until Nov. 8, 1889. In October,
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1908, an addition was surveyed and platted for Patrick Nooney. All these are
recorded as plats of Welton, or of a part of it. Other plats, however, have been
recorded as additions to Wheeler, one for Andrew Lien in April, 1913; one in the
same year for Thomas E. Lunn, Robert R. Porter, W. F. Stark and Amund Olson,
and two for Patrick Nooney in 1917. Mr. Nooney, who came to the village in 1892,
put up a business block, in which he and his wife for three years conducted a general
store. For15yearsthey also kept a hotel, later conducting it for awhile as a board-
ing-house.

.-.-The two earliest settlers now living in the village are Frank J. Basner and Martin
Lefstad. Mr. Basner says that when he arrived here in 1886 there were about half
a dozen buildings on the village site, among them being the grain house now in use,
though not the elevator. The railroad had been built a year and a half before and
the railroad company had named the station Lochiel, though the post office was
called Wheeler and the village Welton. There was at the same time a post office
called Lochiei three miles to the north, where there was also a store and small
settlement. '

At Welton, or what is now Wheeler, a store had been started before Mr. Basner
came by S. A. Sherburne and H. D. Wheeler, who conducted business under the
name of Sherburne & Wheeler. The latter was the first postmaster here and it was
in his honor that the village subsequently tcok its present name, as about 1892 or
1893 the people got the railroad company to change the name of the station to
Wheeler.  The village, therefore, became known as such, and the general adoption
of that name followed in time.

The Sherburne-Wheeler store burned down and the partners left instead of
rebuilding. It was for that cause that in1886 Mr. Basner came here from Eau Claire,
considering it a good business opening. He started another store and has now been
engaged in business here for 38 years. In early days Jess Cisco had a saloon and
boarding-house here, M. M. Granger, a Civil War pensioner, conducted a small
grocery, Martin Lefstad was blacksmith, and William Buckley established the
first hotel in the village. A pioneer of the town of Hay River was Nathaniel Crosby,
who called himself the ‘“ Father of the Town,” as he had taken a prominent part in
having it set off.

The village had a slow growth, and by 1892 had a population of about 50.
It had two brickyards, one operated by Echart & Co. and the other managed by
William Kindred, and a sawmill for the manufacture -of railroad ties and wagon
spokes, owned and conducted by F. J. Marshall & Co. The manufacture of rail-
road ties was one of the important industries in early days, and the harvesting of
the blueberry crop was another. Nowadays there are not so many blueberries, and
what there are are bought up by city people, the local residents not getting any.

The brick yard already alluded to as having been managed by William Kindred,
and which was a mile and a half east and south from the village, was for a few years
quite an important concern. The business was started in 1887 by the Minnesota
Brick Co., who invested $150,000 in the plant, which included, in addition to the
brick yards and sheds, a hotel, blacksmith’s shop and livery stables. The buildings
were large and imposing in appearance. William Kindred was superintendent.
There was a deposit of good clay here for brick making purposes, and the prospects
seemed good for success, but owing to lack of practical experience and other causes,
the concern failed in 1894.

Another enterprise which failed to realize initial expectations was a feed mill
started in 1904 by Lester and Laverne Butterfield, two farmer boys who sold their
farms to get the 87,000 which they put into the business for building and machinery.
They failed to make good and the property was taken over by Minneapolis people
on a mortgage, the Butterfield boys leaving town and going, one (Laverne) to
Alaska and the other (Lester) to Panama as a soldier in the U. S. army. The
Minneapolis people who took over the mill ran it for awhile, but they, too, got into
financial difficulties, and 10 or 12 years ago the mill stopped running.

About 1905 Christ Johnson established an industry that is still flourishing, the
Concrete Silo Manufacturing Co. He makes house, barn and silo cement blocks
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and has built up a good business. Five years ago he put up a new building, 34 x 94
feet in ground plan, which is no larger than he needs for the amount of product he.
turns out.

Robert R. Porter, the present postmaster of the village, who came to Wheeler
in 1894, for some years conducted a warehouse here, buying and selling grain, pota-
toes and other produce. Martin Lefstad conducted his blacksmith shop from 1885
to 1904, adding a woodworking department and also dealing in farm implements.
He still continues in the implement business and also conducts a hardware store.

In August, 1917, Arthur Heinsohn came to Wheeler from Downing and started
what is now the Wheeler feed mill, which he conducted under that name for three
years. At the end of that time he sold it to the Wisconsin Milling Co., who em-
ployved Albert Giere as manager.

The Wheeler creamery was built in 1903 and for a number of years was a co-
operative farmers’ enterprise; but as such it was not successful, and in the fall of
1914 it was bought by Walter Stolpe, who has continued to operate it. In 1923
he bought from the farmers 645,000 pounds of cream, paying out $78,940.00 and
made 207,077 pounds of butter.

By 1912 the village began to feel the need of a banking institution and the
Wheeler State Bank was founded, the incorporators being D. C. Coolidge, A. H.
Breitengross, P. A. Beebe, Martin Lefstad, Andrew O. Lien, Ole Pererson, L. H.
Rockwell, Jr., R. F. Breitengross and Pat Nooney. The first officers were: D. C.
Coolidge, president: A. H. Breitengross, vice president; and A. Pederson, cashier.
The directorate included the above mentioned officers, together with Martin Lef-
stad, O. O. Tuveng, Swen Anderson and P. A. Beebe. The capital was $10,000
and on starting business the bank occupied a part of the Lefstad hardware store
until its present building was erected, which was a few months later. In 1914 A.
Pederson was succeeded as cashier by P. Hovden, who is still serving as such. In
the same year A. H. Breitengross was succeeded as vice president by R. F. Brieten-
gross, who has since remained in that position. In 1920 the capital stock of the
bank was doubled and is now 820,000; there is a surplus of $1,000 and deposits of
$180,000.

The Wheeler Telephone Exchange was formerly under control of the Knapp
Telephone Co., whose lines also took in the village of Boyceville, but in 1914 the
Wheeler and Boyceville branches became independent concerns, and now each
company controls lines to a distance extending half way between its home office
and the other villages mentioned. Connection is made through Menomonie with
the Bell long distance system. The Wheeler Telephone Co. has at present about
225 phones. The president is August Sahlie, the vice president Ole O. Tuving, and
the secretary R. F. Breitengross. ~

In addition to the business interests already mentioned, the O. & N. Lumber
Co. has a yard here, there are three potato warehouses, a Gedney salting station,
two garages and a service station, a hotel kept by H. U. Owen, three general stores,
one of which has a furniture department, a hardware store, a millinery store, two
restaurants, a meat market and a blacksmith's shop.

In 1915 a Commercial Club was organized, but after awhile the interest died
out and the club became inactive. On Jan. 10, 1920, it was reorganized and has
since proved an active factor in the progress of the village. It introduced the
electric lighting system, and has caused a small park to be started near the railroad
tracks, money being raised by voluntary subscription, a piece of land leased from
the railroad company and flowers planted. The benefits of electric light have been
enjoyed for the last four years, the power being obtained from the lines of the
Northern Wisconsin Light & Power Co., with headquarters at Amery, Wis. Wed-
nesday is bargain day in Wheeler and in the evening outdoor moving pictures are
exhibited by a Minneapolis concern, the local merchants and other citizens con-
tributing funds to meet the expense. Geo. Hilson is agent at Wheeler for the “Soo”’
line, and Dr. R. A. Draper has practiced medicine here since May, 1914, having
succeeded Dr. J. J. Curtain, whose practice he purchased.

The question of incorporating the village came up in May, 1922, and the incor-
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poration was carried into effect in the spring of 1923. A volunteer fire department
was started on Jan. 14, 1924, an Ajax chemical being purchased, with axes and lad-
ders. There are ten men in the department, with F. J. Basner as chief. At the
same time that the question of incorporation of the village came up—or in the spring
of 1922—a waterworks company was formed, which has 12 stockholders. The
system consists of a circular cement tank, 16 feet deep and 16 feet in diameter, into
which water is pumped from a well 286 feet deep by a windmill and from the tank
is piped to the houses of the stockholders. Other residents obtain their domestic
water from private wells.

The first postmaster of Wheeler was H. D. Wheeler. His successor, according to
present recollection, was G. W. Pepper, a preacher, who acted for a while as assist-
ant, and after the Wheeler-Sherburne store burned and Mr. Wheeler left town,
continued to take charge of the mails until the appointment of the next postmaster,
Marshall Granger, using as an office a grain house which is now the property of the
Wisconsin Milling Co. Mr. Granger remained postmaster until 1893, after Grover
Cleveland had been a second time elected president. He appointed Frank J.
Basner to the Wheeler post office and Mr. Basner served four years and three
months. The latter’s successor was N. Crosby, who in 1400 was .ucceeded by
Robert R. Porter, now serving, and who in 1908 erected the building now occupied -
by the post office, which is an office of the third class. Mr. Porter has also estab-
lished three rural routes, one running north,another northeast, and the third north-
west. The northerly route goes as far as Ridgeland and takes care of about one
half of the Ridgeland mail.

The first schoolhouse in the vicinity of Wheeler was a log building across Hay
River to the north, which, after being in use for three years, was burned down on
the last day of the term, some 34 or 35 years ago. A school board was then organ-
ized consisting of Frank J. Basner, F. S. Sherwood and Dan Budd, and built in the
village a frame schoolhouse of one room, the land for the purpose being donated by
Mrs. Mariah L. Welton. That building forms part of the present one, an addition
having been built on to it so as to convert it into a two-room building. It is now
an eight-grade school with two teachers. For the term ending in May, 1924, the
primary room had 46 pupils and the senior room 36.

At quite an early day religious services were held in the country surrounding
Wheeler, one of the means of grace being a Baptist chapel car, which came to the
village occasionally. This was before any church was built here.

A congregation of the Evangelical Church of the Wisconsin Conference was
organized in Wheeler a number of years ago, and is known as Evangelical Grace
Church. For a number of years this place was only a preaching point, having no
parsonage and being served by pastors from other places. In 1909 the church
edifice now in use, was erected, a neat frame building of fair seating capacity,
which has been kept in good condition up to the present time. In 1914 the pastor
serving the congregation was the Rev. R. A. Buschweiler, and he was followed in
1915 by the Rev. E. J. Aubach, and the latter by the Rev. John E. Marks. The
Rev. W. G. Schulz came in April, 1916. He built the parsonage and was resident
pastor here for four years, leaving in 1920. For a year after his departure no ap-
pointment was made, but the Rev. A. O. Boettcher of Prairie Farm looked after
the circuit that year and preached occasionally in Wheeler. The Rev.P.E. Walter
was pastor one year, 1921-22, being succeeded May 2, 1922, by the present pastor,
Rev. William Croft. The church is a mission connected with the Boyceville and
Oak Grove congregations, the former of which has a membership of 27 and a church
located a mile and a half east of Boyceville on County Trunk Road K, and the
latter being a small congregation that meets in a schoolhouse. One or two services
are held in Wheeler ever Sunday and at the other two points every other Sunday,
all being under the charge of the pastor at Wheeler.

The Norwegian Lutherans also have a congregation in Wheeler, which was or-
ganized about the vear 1902, and a year later a small church building was erected
one mile southwest of the village, an acre of land, through the solicitation of F. J.
Basner, having been donated as a site by the railroad company. The congregation
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chase. In 1908 they erected their present church in the village, a good frame build-
ing, and the original site is now a graveyard. This congregation began with nine

s 37. It was formerly served from Prairie Farm, but now the
pastors come chiefly from Glenwood City.

The Modern Woodmen and Royal Neighbors have camps in the village. I. M.
Gates Camp No. 6393, M. W. A hasa charter dated April 12, 1899, showing the
names of 27 members. Five members of this camp rendered service to their country
in the World War, namely, Harold W. Lei, Edward Fellback, Harry E. and William
E. Budd and Andrew Erickson. Wheeler Camp No. 3253, R. N. of A., was insti-
tuted Oct. 10, 1902, the date on its charter being October 27. It started with 21
members.

In connection with Wheeler should be mentioned the Big Beaver Cheese and
Butter Co., whose factory is situated cn Beaver Creek, on rural route No. 3 out of
Wheeler. This company was started 23 years ago by the neighboring farmers as

standing, is now used for a garage, the one now used as the factory having been
built four or five years ago. This concern has had a successful career and turns out.
a considerable Quantity of American twin cheese.



CHAPTER XX
UNINCORPORATED VILLAGES AND PLACE NAMES

In this chapter it has been thought proper to include not only those unincor-
porated villages in the county that are communal entities at the present time, but
also those whose periods of business and social activity belong to a past time, and
to add to them mention of certain places that have never at any time attained the
importance of villages but which for one reason or another have become known by
name to the inhabitants of the county past or present and the names of which,
therefore, have a certain historical significance. The alphabetical method of ar-
rangement has been chosen as the simplest.

Amy, a mile or so northeast of the center of the town of Spring Brook, never
rose to the dignity of a village or even a hamlet, but a post office was formerly located
here, as shown by the_county atlas published in 1845, A Baptist church was also
organized in the locality, in which occasional services were held 15 to 20 years ago
by the Rev. R. H. Vaughn, a Congregational minister of Elk Mound.

Baxter is a small community center on the bank of Hay River in the town of Hay
River and about nine miles north of the village of Wheeler. Its exact geographical
location is defined as ‘‘in the northeast quarter of the southwest quarter of Section 3,
Township 30 north of Range 13 west.” The nearest railroad is the ““Soo’’ passing
through Wheeler. About 15 or 16 years ago a creamery was started here which
has since been turned into a cheese factory, one of the best in the county. Andy
Baxter at the same time opened a general store which he is still conducting. Both
these enterprises are up to date and there is also a blacksmith’s shop and garage,
besides half a dozen or more houses.

Blairmoore was formerly a post office in Section 31, town of Wilson. It is said
to have been named for a Mr. Blair, who lived for a while in the neighborhood.

Carrolton, was formerly a station on the Wisconsin Central Railway (now the
“S00”) in Section 4, town of Tainter. In November, 1884, David D. Darling had
D. W. Waite plat the site of a village here, but no village ever grew up.

Caryville is a station, hamlet and post office on the Chippewa Division of the
Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul Railway in the northern part of the political town
of Rock Creek. It is also on State Highway No. 83 giving direct road communica-
tion with Eau Claire and Chippewa Falls to the northeast and with Durand to the
southwest.

Caryville was settled as early as 1855 but has never attained much size as a
village.” On Sept. 5, 1883, a survey of the site, or what must have been nearly the
site, was made by D. W. Waite, county surveyor, by order of George Schuyler
Pierce and wife Martha, and a plat was made and recorded under the name of *“ The
Village of Pierce,” the location being denined as “‘in the eastern part of Section 11,
Township 26 north of Range 11 west.” This plat was rescinded Nov. 12, 1883, and
in May, 1892, another survey and plat were made for the Milwaukee Land Co., of
which John W. Cary was president, the location being defined as ““the south half of
the northeast quarter of Section 11, Township 26 north of Range 11 west.”” It was
from this Mr. Cary that the village took its name. The post office was called Cary-
ville as early as 1886, if not before, as it thus appears in an atlas of the county
published in that year.

The present noticeable features of Caryville are, after the station, the general
store of Geo. B. Plumer, formerly station agent, who bought out O. M. Smith in
1913;.a grain elevator, and a hall used for lodge and community meetings. The
residences are not many but are neat and homelike in appearance. The grain
elevator belongs to the R. E. Jones Company of Wabasha, Minn. It was built
by the Milwaukee Elevator Co., who conducted it for three years, selling it
at the end of that time to the Armour Grain Co., who also had it for about three
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vears, and from them it was bought some four or five years ago by the R. E. Jones
Company. Carl Froseth has been manager from the beginning.

The post office is of the fourth class, with one rural route which covers about
28 miles, passing through Rock Falls and to the southeast. Mrs. Alice M. Plumer
has been postmistress since 1910, having succeeded Mrs. Ann C. Wagner, who had
the office previously for about three vears.

Caryville Camp No. 5480, M. W.'A., was started in July, 1899. It has a small
membership and meetings are held but rarely. The Ladies branch, Mayflower
Camp, R. N. A, was organized about 1910 and meets once a month. There is a
district school in the village, and a local telephone company, called the Caryville
Telephone Co., of which Geo. B. Plumer is the secretary and treasurer. Near the
village, in Section 2, Town 26 north of Range 11 west, there is a ferry across the
Chippewa River. ' ' : ‘

Cedar Falls, located in Section 6, town of Red Cedar, and on the Red Cedar
River, which is crossed at this point by a bridge, was settled in 1856. In 1839 a
water-power mill was built here by the Gilbert Brothers from Gilbert’s Creek, and
they sold it later to Berry & McCormick, the “Berry” of this firm being Dr. W. A.
Berry, an eye specialist, whose name has been confused by former historians with
that of a Frenchman named Burry, who, if not the first settler here, was at least
a pioneer of the village. Berry & McCormick sold out to Maxwell, McGilton & Co.,
the latter member of which firm, John H. McGilton, was one of the notable pioneers
of Dunn County. He was born in Clinton County, N. Y., in 1825, son of Thomas
and Isabella McGilton of Dublin, Ireland. He emigrated to Canada about 1838, and
came to Dunn County in 1856, settling first in Eau Galle, where he followed the
trade of millwright. It was in 1865 that he came to Cedar Falls and bought a half
interest in the mill property. He also owned 800 acres of land and was elected to
the legislature in 1880.

Maxwell, McGilton & Co. operated their mill for 10 vears and it was then sold
by the sheriff to S. A. Jewett & Co., who disposed of it to Hayley, Pitcher & Co.
The plant was later purchased by the Knapp, Stout & Co. Company, early operators
here, who made additions to it from time to time, and a spur from the “Omaha’”’
railway was run into the village for freight purposes, and was operated until the
mill closed. In the early 90's, in addition to the lumber mills, there were large
planing and shingle mills, the capacity of the sawmill being about 100,000 feet in a
day of 11 hours. About 100 men were employed and the population of the village
was 250, half of them being Norwegians. Some 25 families belonged to the Scan-
dinavian Evangelical Church, which was served by the Rev.L. Lund of Menomonie,
who visited the place once a month.

James Galdwell, who arrived about 1879, was proprietor for a number of vears
of the Cedar Ralls house. The three Harrington brothers, Edwin L., George and
John, came to Cedar Falls in 1878 and bought land in the village and also on Sher-
burne Prairie. In addition to farming they also, about 1877, built a large stone
building in the village and for four vears conducted a store in it, at the end of which
time they sold to G. W. Horton, who had another store, which was run for the bene-
fit of the mill. The Knapp, Stout & Co. Company when they quit in the fall of
1890 sold their store to Oscar Fitch.

In one of the plat books in the courthouse at Menomonie is the record of a plat
called “ Harrington’s Addition" to Cedar Falls, though the present editor was unable
to find a copy of the original plat. The History of Northern Wisconsin, published
in 1881, gave the population of Cedar Falls as 50, adding, ““ The place has a pros-
perous appearance.” Ten vears later as already shown, it was five times as great.

The glory of the old mills has passed away, together with most of the people, and
the chief object of interest here now is the large dam and power plant built in 1910
and now owned by the Northern States Power Company. There are also at Cedar
Falls a general store, garage, grist mill and a Methodist Episcopal church. The
church is a frame structure with a seating capacity of 113. The congregation was
organized many years ago when the viilage was large and prosperous. It is served
every Sunday from Menomonie.
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Comfort, in Section 34, town of Weston, on a short branch of the “Omaha’
Railway, was once platted as a village by William J.Starr of Eau Claire,whq had a
lumber camp here. He built a small warehouse, a platform and a box car station,
and for a while, especially about 1909, there was a considerable passenger traffic
to and from this point, even more than there was at Weston, the terminus of the
railroad. The platform and box car are still in evidence, but otherwise the place is
nothing but a name and a memory. No village ever developed here.

Connersville is a hamlet in the town of New Haven on the intersection of the
lines between Sections 27-28 and 33-34, and on the south fork of Hay River. Itis
not on a railroad but is traversed by State Highway No. 64. Connersville was
settled in 1865. In the early 70’s and for a number of years thereafter the stage
route from Menomonie to Prairie Farm passed through the village and a post office
was established here; but about 1879 or 1880 the office was moved to a point two
miles to the northwest, where it remained until after the building of the Wisconsin
Central Railroad some six or seven miles to the south. The village is now served
from Downing.

Connersville was named after David Conners, a well known pioneer of this
region. The Roberts family were also prominent here in early days, Leslie Roberts,
it is said, starting the first store in or about the vear 1879. He later sold it to
Charles Hendrickson, by whom it was conducted for 15 years, at the end of which
time Mr. Hendrickson sold out to Joseph Fujko. The second store was started by
David H. Clark, who is still conducting it.” Two years ago Carl Byrd opened a
third store. Fred Christianson conducts a blacksmith shop and H. R. Knoepke a
garage. :

The village has had a slow growth and has always been small. In 1890 it had
about 40 inhabitants and there were a sawmill and a feed mill here. About the same
time the farmers started a cooperative creamery, which is still flourishing, and the
people have a community church, previous to which time religious meetings were
held in the schoolhouse. The Rev. Mr. Boyne, a Methodist minister from Prairie
Farm, preached here some 50 years ago as one of several places that he visited in
northern Dunn County, Connersville being as far south as he got. In 1880, when
the hamlet had a population of 23, there was a Methodist mission here, the Rev.
J. Q. Helm serving Connersville and Nanceville, and the Methodist church has ever
since continued to minister to the spiritual needs of some of the residents. The
German Lutherans have lately bought a schoolhouse and remodeled it for church
purposes. The feed and sawmill of Henry Schlough has been operated for the last
nine or ten years, and there is a filling station in the village for cars. There are
about a dozen residences, and Bolan Camp, No. 6568, M. W. A., is active with a
number of members.

The name Bolan needs further mention, as it was the early name of the village,
as shown by a plat preserved in the courthouse at Menomonie, which is entitled
““A Plat of Bolan,” the location being described as ““A part of the S. W. 14 of the
S. W. 4 of Section 27 Township 31, north of Range 14 west.” This site was
surveyed in November, 1885 by J. H. Webster for F. L. Roberts. An atlas pub-
lished in 1888 gives the name of Bolan to the dot which represents the village, while
immediately underneath appear the words “Connersville P. 0.” In time the place
took the name of the post office and that of Bolan was dropped, except as preserved
in the name of the Modern Woodmen Camp.

Davis some 35 years ago was a settlement in the town of Sherman, about five
miles east of Knapp. It had a post office.

Downsville is an unincorporated village on the Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul
Railway in the town of Dunn, eight miles south of Menomonie. It is on the Red
Cedar River and has a very picturesque situation, the bluffs on each side of the
valley rising to a considerable height. State Highway No. 25 runs north and south
through the village, furnishing good road communication with Durand, Menomonie
and other points. Some time ago J. C. Ticknor, in a paper read before the Old
Settlers’ Society, said in regard to Downsville:

“On June 22, 1855, Ebenezer Thompson selected the lands where the village of
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Downsville is located, on which he built a small sawmill, cutting a short ditch across
the bend in the Red Cedar River, and using this ditch as a mill race; but high water
soon enlarged the ditch until it became the main channel. On Feb. 24, 1858,
Thompson deeded his interests in this mill to B. B. Downs, who built a dam across
the river at this point, and by his name was the village known.”

The first survey and plat recorded were made in May, 1859, for B. B. Downs
and Ebenezer Thompson and included 22 blocks, whole and fractional, in Sections
34 and 35, Township 27 north of Range 13 west. A second plat was recorded
Jan. 7, 1861, of 20 blocks, whole and fractional, made for Burrage B. Downs.
Another plat was made March 3, 1883, by D. W. Waite, county surveyor, and a
“Tirst addition to Downsville” was recorded July 8, 1885. In June, 1885, a ceme-
tery was surveyed and laid out.

Captain Downs sold his mill to Knapp, Stout & Co., who enlarged and improved
it, increasing its capacity to 100,000 feet in a day of 11 hours. They had planing
and shingle mills in connection with it and gave employment to about 100 men,
keeping a boarding-house, which was managed for them by S. C. Rogers. They
also conducted a store for some years, selling it in 1891 to Sam and John Kyle.
In 1883 there occurred a great flood which washed out the dam and railway tracks,
and the Knapp-Stout people, then operating under the name of Knapp, Stout & Co.
Company, got Captain Downs, who was a man of good constructive ability, to
come back and repair the damage. Thls flood is usually referred to by the local
residents as “ The second big washout.”

The Knapp, Stout & Co. Company finished their work here in September, 1900,
and tore down their mill and took it away, leaving Frederick Borm, their manager,
to close out their local business for them. About that time, and previously, John
Coats owned and operated a steam feed mill, which he continued to do until 1892.
Soon after that he died and the mill was subsequently dismantled. Another feed
mill was built at a distance of about two blocks from the site of the Coats’ mill,
and was operated for about two years by Henry Ames. He sold it to Reuben War-
ren, who sold it out to a man who had it for a while and thenleft the village, going to
Cedar Falls. Then two young men ran the mill for a while. For the last three or
four years it has been operated by Annis & Wing.

On June 7, 1905, occurred the third big flood in the Red Cedar, the water reach-
ing the highest point ever known. It washed out two wagon bridges, one at Me-
nomonie and one at Irvington, and at Downsville it carried away the railroad
bridge, washed out the east side dam and the banks of the river to within 30 feet of
the lumber office, also taking away a part of the lumber yard. The reconstruction
of the dam after this disaster changed the course of the river. and shortened it, as,
instead of describing a wide loop as it formerly did, it now pursues a comparatively
straight course at this point. The location of the railway depot and lumber vard
have akso heen changed, as they are now 1,000 feet farther north than the former
depot and vard were.

When the Knapp, Stout & Co. Company left here, George Whinnery bought
their sleeping shanty and turned it into a store, with a hall upstairs, which was
used as a lodge room by the Modern Woodmen. This building was burned on
March 24, 1904 and the Woodmen lost their charter and regalia. Ole Quarn then
built his present store on the site. The lumber yard was started August 24, by
Frederick Borm, its present proprietor, who deals in hemlock, white pine and
western fir; also in cement and general building material. The Knapp-Stout store,
sold to Kyle Bros., is now conducted by Harry Kyle, son of John, and this and the
Ole Quarn store represent the present mercantile interests of the village. Ralph W.
Loomis conducted a store here for four years and a half, starting in 1915. The
hotel, built many years ago—a large and well preserved building—has passed
through a number of hands, and for the last five or six years has been conducted by
John Wolf. For the last five years Reed & Murdock have had a salting station in
Downsville.

The Downsville Co-operative Creamery, said to be the largest in the county,
was incorporated in 1903 by a number of farmers of this locality, who started the



206 HISTORY OF DUNN COUNTY

business in the building now in use, though it has since been twice enlarged. The
first butter was made June 10, 1904, by Thomas Wittig, the creamery already having
126 patrons. The original building was 26 x 60 feet in surface dimensions and the
first addition, made ten years later, measured 14 x 60 feet. This sufficed for
another ten years and then the second addition, of brick, 26 x 50 feet, was built
(1924) costing about $11,000. The first officers of the concern were: D. C. Billings,
president; Henry Bates, vice president; Dean McDonald, secretary, and Amos
Smith, treasurer. R. E. Bundy was an additional director. Mr. McDonald
having resigned one month after the business was started, Frederick Borm suc-
ceeded him and has since served as secretary. The present officers have held
their positions for at least ten years—the treasurer and secretary since the first
organization, except for the month that Mr. McDonald was secretary. These
officers are: T. B. Denning, president; C. N. Whinnery, vice president; Frederick
Borm, secretary and manager; Amos Smith, treasurer, and John Roth, director.

The following selected statistics show the growth and size of the business:

Figures for the first half year, June 10 to Dec. 3, 1904.—Pounds of cream bought,
328,479; pounds of butter made, 114, 645; amount received for same, $20,999.13.

1905—Pounds of cream bought, 711,430; pounds of butter made, 242,289;
amount received for same, 851,738.34.

1924—Pounds of cream bought, 3,212,920; pounds of butter made, 1,155,275;
amount received for same, $455.851.34. The total for 20 vears is as follows:
Pounds of cream bought, 35,540,746; pounds of butter made, 12,725.721; amount
received for same, $4,643,840.59. The amount paid the farmers during that period
was $4,282,983.82.

The Downsville Telephone Co. was organized in 1903 and in the following year
combined with the Louisville Telephone Co. under the present name. The lines
take in the village of Weston on the west, Fall City on the east, and Dunnville on
the south. The company has 214 phones on its own lines, and has connections with
the Eau Galle Telephone Co., the Elmwood Telephone Co. and the Wisconsin
Telephone Co. E. B. Young is president of the company, Henry Miller vice presi-
dent, Fred Borm secretary, manager and treasurer, and T. B. Downing and J. T.
Larson are directors.

The Farmers and Merchants State Bank was organized by W. R. Thomas in
1916, the articles of incorporation being dated September 25. The bank opened
for business on May 19, 1917, with a capital of $10,000 and a surplus of $1,000.
H. L. Kyle was president, and John Roth vice president. W. R. Thomas, who had
been chosen cashier at the time of organization, held that office nominally until a
week before the opening of the bank, when he sold his interest and dropped out,
S. H. Feldman taking his place. The directorate included the officers with the
addition of R. W. Loomis and Alex Norb. A good substantial building of Dunn-
ville stone had been erected, roomy and comfortable, and provided with modern
equipment. The changes which have since taken place in the personel of the in-
stitution have been-as follows: During the war pericd S. H Feldman was in the
navy, having enlisted therein on April 25, 1918 and serving until March 15, 1919.
In the interval his place as cashier was supplied by his brother H. O. Feldman. In
1918 Mr. Loomis left and was succeeded as director by Amos Smith. A. E. Feld-
man, who had been the first assistant cashier, also went into the navy and there
"vas no assistant cashier while he was away. After that K. V. Fleming took the
office, serving from January to March, 1919, when, the Feldman brothers, having
returned, reassumed their former positions. Later Walter Stremel became assistant
cashier, A. E. Feldman going to Bay City, Wis., to enter a bank there of which he
is now cashier; and on Mr. Stremel leaving W. M. Bisson succeeded to his place.
After remaining here two years, Mr. Bisson left to take a position in the First
National Bank of Menomonie, and H. M. Fortney, from Wheeler, became assistant
cashier. Mr. Bisson returned early in 1923, and he and his father, C. A. Bisson,
bought a considerable interest in the bank; W. M. Bisson is cashier at the present
time, (June, 1925). The capital of the bank remains at $10,000 but there is now
(May, 1924) a surplus of 83,000 and deposits of $200,000. The bank was active
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in war work whenever possible, and has been helpful to the community in various
ways. -

The first post office in Downsville was kept in the store of Knapp, Stout & Co.,
and remained there after the store had been bought by Sam and John Kyle. Then
H. T. Cassidy, who had worked for the Kyles, bought out another store-keeper
named Drake and was postmaster for a number of years, or until his death. After
that Mrs. Cassidy conducted it for a year or two. The office then passed to O. K.
Ranum, who conducted a drug store in the village for four or five years. At the
end of that time Mrs. Emily M. Fayerweather was appointed postmistress (Dec. 6,
1910) and has since served in that capacity, the office being located in her residence.
There is no train service, Downsville being on a rural route from Menomonie, but
there is also a rural route attached to the Downsville office, which goes eastward,
then makes a wide curve and returns to the village from the west. Merton Turner
is the rural mail carrier and had served for 17 years up to June 17, 1924, being the
only carrier who had served the route.

In the early 60’s there was a small frame schoolhouse in Downsville, which
stood on the site of the present Cantrell garage, and which was afterwards con-
verted into a store. Some time after the erection of this, a schoolhouse was built
about a mile west of the river. Then in the early or middle 70’s a frame school
building was erected across the river about a quarter of a mile southwest of the
village, the other two schoolhouses going out of use. This schoolhouse built in the
70’s 1s still in use and has been supplemented by another building erected near it,
the two together forming the district school, namely, Joint District No. 2, Dunn
and Weston. It is a nine-grade school, the ninth grade corresponding to the first
year of high school, and has three teachers. Daniel S. Brill is the present principal,
he having succeeded Archie Schaefer in that office in the fall of 1924. In the same
district, four miles north of Downsville, there is another schoolhouse, with one
room and one teacher, making four teachers in the district.

In the early 60’s the Rev. Mr. Gurley, a Methodist elder who resided in Pepin,
visited Downsville occasionally and conducted services. Other preachers also
came, including the Rev. Mr. Doughty and the Rev. John Holt, the latter from
Louisville, Dunn County, where there was, and still is, a Methodist church and
parsonage. The small frame edifice that is now the Methodist church in Downs-
ville was formerly used as a union chapel, but in time the Methodists obtained
control and the building is now owned by them. The congregation numbers about
30 people and services are held about once in every two weeks. There is a Sunday
school of 30 children, and a Ladies’ Aid Society which meets once a month and
renders valuable aid in support of the church, giving lunches, suppers, and other
entertainments in order to raise funds. On certain occasions they have cleared
$100 or more.

About half a mile from the village to the south is a German Lutheran Church.
The congregation was organized about the year 1875, or at least meetings began to
be held about that time in private houses, the visiting pastors coming from Pepin,
Mondovi, Menomonie, and other places. In 1900 the church edifice was erected,
being dedicated in June that year, and since then the congregation has been served
from Menomonie, the pastor for the last seven or eight years being the Rev. John
Woerth. There are now about 14 or 15 families in the congregation, and there is a
Ladies’ Aid Society in connection with the church. Jacob and Christiana Herman
had bought the land, including the site both of the church and of Rosehill Cemetery,
from Stephen Tibbetts, a pioneer, and the cemetery which they had surveyed and
laid out is still owned in the family. Jacob Herman, Jr., and Jacob Flick also helped
materially to get the church started by going around and obtaining subscriptions.

In addition to the cemetery above mentioned there are two others close to the
village. One of these—the Parnell Cemetery—is the oldest in or near Downsville,
and it is here that the remains of nearly all of the earliest settlers of this locality
repose. It is located half a mile west of the village. It is now used only occasion-
ally. The other is the Riverview Cemetery, east of the village, which is managed
by the Riverview Cemetery Association.



208 HISTORY OF DUNN COUNTY

In Downsville’s busy days, when the lumber industry was flourishing, and there
were about 500 residents here, the village had a Norwegian Lutheran congregation,
which was organized in December, 1888, by the Rev. L. Lund of Menomonie.
Beginning with 40 members, it was subsequently increased to 60 or more. The clos-
ing of the mills two years later caused practically all the members to drift away to
- seek a living elsewhere, and services ceased to be held. The same cause led to the
abandonment or break-up of a Norwegian Methodist congregation which flourished
here for a while about the same time as the Lutheran congregation. Neither of
the Norwegian congregations had a church building, the members meeting in each
other’s homes or in what is now the Methodist church.

Downsville may be regarded as an ideal rural community. Its situation on the
river fringed with bluffs, is attractive; its school is good, and social activities enter
largely into the life of the village. Its short distance from Menomonie, with which
it has direct rail communication, together with good roads (State Highways Nos. 25
and 51) for automobile travel, join the conveniences of the city to the advantages
of the country. The water for domestic purposes is obtained in most cases from
individual wells. A small waterworks system was put in, however, in the summer
of 1921 and supplies some seven or eight families with pipe water. The source of
supply is an artesian well, the water being raised by a Rife hydraulic ram to a tank
having a capacity of 55 barrels. The system was installed at a cost of only $1,500
and has proved economical. As yet the village has no electric lighting system, the
people using lamps or gasolene home light plants. A garage and a blacksmith’s
shop should be mentioned as among the business enterprises. In 1923 a band was
started which is making good progress under the direction of Mr. E. L. Edes,
present county superintendent of schools.

During the last 30 years or so a number of fraternal societies have established
lodges in Downsville, which have filled a useful social purpose aside from their
insurance features. These will now be briefly alluded to.

Downsville Camp No. 2356, M. W. A., was first chartered June 18, 1894, but
the original charter was lost in the fire that destroyed the lodge building in March,
1904. A new charter, dated April 30, 1904, was then obtained, which shows the
names of 11 members. The camp has now nearly 80 members.

Riverside Camp No. 3115, R. N. A., was instituted June 28, 1902. It also lost
its original charter in the fire above mentioned and was granted a new one, dated
Feb. 7, 1905.

Juvenile Camp No. 3115, R.N.A., was chartered Sept. 1, 1922, with 11 members.

Downsville Lodge No. 196, I. O. O. F., was instituted May 20, 1893. Like
the Woodmen, it has had trouble from fire, losing its original charter and other
property when its first hall was burned. Its second charter is dated March 27,
1908. In the year in which it secured its new charter (1908) the lodge erected a
fine stone building, two stories high and of attractive appearance, in which it now
holds its meetings, the same hall being used by the auxiliary lodge of Rebekahs.
The first floor of this building consists of a good-sized dance hall, with stage, suitable
for entertainments of various kinds and general community meetings, while up-
stairs are the lodge rooms with a kitchen department attached. The board of
directors at the time the building was constructed consists of W. E. Dean, C. E.
Fisher, Al Fayerweather and O. M. Laughlin, with W. H. McIvor general manager,
and H. Walter contractor. The lodge has now about 70 members,

Marie Lodge No. 142, Rebekahs, was instituted Jan. 28, 1896. Like the men’s
lodge it lost its original charter by fire, but secured a duplicate one, dated March 27,
1908, which shows the names of 14 members. The lodge now has several times that
many.

Downsville Colony No. 286, Beavers’ Reserve Fund Fraternity, was incor-
porated Jan. 20, 1902. The names of nine members show on the charter, but there
were 25 present at the first regular meeting, and it is now a good-sized colony.

Golden Rod Colony No. 135 of Queens (the ladies’ auxiliary to the Beavers)
started shortly after with 14 members and has had a satisfactory growth. The
Beavers meet in the Odd Fellows hall.
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Scme reminiscences of Downsville in early days, written by Mrs. Thomas Huey,
may be found in Chapter XXI of this volume.

Dunnville, the first county seat of Dunn County, and a former point of opera-
tions of Knapp, Stout & Co.. but which as a village passed out of existence many
vears ago, and is now a place of no importance except for the stone quarries in its
vicinity, was situated on the Red Cedar River about a mile and a half above where
it enters into the Chippewa. It was named in honor of Judge Dunn. Today the
Menomonie branch of the Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul Railway passes through
the site of this former village, of which some 70 vears ago much was hoped and
expected.

As early as 1840 the first house was built on the site by a man named Lamb,
who conducted it as a tavern, enjoying a considerable patronage from the rough
class of lumbermen and hunters who passed this way. It is said that Lamb was
an old soldier—doubtless of the War of 1912-15 with Great Britain— also that he
was so dissipated as to be unfit to attend to business. He had married Margaret
Demarie, an adopted daughter of Louis Demarie, a resident of what was then
known as French Town. In a former history of this county was printed a story of
a murder committed at Lamb’s place, which is here repeated, as there are probably
many people of Dunn County now living who have never heard of it, and also be-
cause, in a work which aims chiefly to present the better side of human nature and
to record worthy actions, it raises the veil for a moment by way of contrast, on
scenes and actions of a different kind, which were not uncommon in pioneer days
in this region, when the conditions of life were rough, and whiskey was cheap and
almost universally consumed, often to excess.

“In 1848 Lamb disposed of his business to his brother-in-law, Arthur McCann,
who had come to the Chippewa River in the previous year with his brothers, Stephen
and Dan McCann, and had recently married Rosalie Demairie, a sister of Mrs.
H. S. Allen. He had in partnership with J. C. Thomas commenced in 1843, and
nearly completed, the ““Blue Mill,” now (1892) known as the Badger State Mills,
the former remaining at hcme. They had employed on the work a man named
Sawyer, who, when his time was up, came to McCann for a settlement. The busi-
ness part of the meeting disposed of, Sawyer was invited by the former to a game of
cards. The play went on until evening, the men drinking freely, when a dispute
arose and hot words ensued. McCann threw a scale weight at Sawyer, when the
the latter at once repaired to the cabin of Philo Stone nearby, loaded his rifle,
returned to the door of McCann’s house and called him. When he came to the
door Sawyer took deliberate aim and shot him dead. The murderer made good his
escape and was never afterwards heard of, though a large reward was offered for his
apprehension. The voung widow then returned to her parents and afterwards
married George P. Warren, the first county clerk of Chippewa County. Philo
Stone took possession of the tavern. His wife was a full-blooded Chippewa squaw
and proved to be a good housekeeper.” (See also Chapter II, p. 18).

The same historian relates that Dunnville was first called Colburn’s, after
another early settler, who put up a frame building which he called a hotel, and which
was conducted from 1856 to 1858 by Charles S. Curtiss. In 1843 John Macauley
came to reside here. Dana Heller, who came to the county in 1856, kept a hotel in
Dunnville, and also practiced dentistry and operated a farm. He was elected
county treasurer in 1866. A large farm was owned in the vicinity of Dunnville
by Dr. Walter Crocker and operated by him and his relatives, the Curtisses. It
may also be mentioned that one of the early creameries in the county was built
here and operated for some time.

Dunnvilie was the county seat of Dunn County from the formation of the
county in 1854 to the setting off of Pepin County in 1858. In September, 1856, a
plat of 42 blocks was surveved by A. W. Miller for John H. Knapp, Henry L. Stout,
Eveline Stcut and others, but was not filed for record until Feb. 28, 1859. All of
this plat except four blocks was vacated by order of the county board in November,
1869. An addition of 10 blocks, called “Bundy’s Addition to Dunnville,” was
surveyed in February, 1859. The first election for county officers took place in
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Dunnville in November, 1856, and official business was started in a small frame
building erected for the purpose by Romeyn Fiske. This was subsequently burned
down and the early records destroyed.

When Dunnville was chosen as the county seat, Dunn County embraced not
only the territory that is included in it today but also what is now Pepin County;
but when in 1858 the latter was set off as a separate political entity, the former
balance of material interests and voting power was destroyed and the county seat
was shifted to Menomonie. In the early 80’s there was a stage line between Dunn-
ville and Menomonie, the stage running twice a week. E. W. Parker was the
contractor and P. F. Orr the driver. The Knapp, Stout & Co. Cempany owned and
operated their sawmill and general store up to the early 90’s, at which time the place
had about 80 residents. The stopping of the mill caused the place to decline and,
as a village, it gradually disappeared, though the quarrying of stone has largely
taken the place of the former lumber industry. (See the reminiscences of Mrs.
Thomas Huey, Chapter XXI).

Eau Galle is a small village on the Eau Galle River in the southeastern part of
the town of the same name, or in Township 36 north of Range 14 west. The
situation is picturesque, as the river here widens into a small lake called Eau
Galle Pond, caused by the building of a dam, and on the opposite side from the
village are some fairly high bluffs. It is a rural community and distant some seven
or eight miles from the nearest railroad, which is the Chicago, Milwaukee & St.
Paul.

Eau Galle is a village with a long history, though the most important events
now lie in the past. White men are said to have made their appearance on the
Eau Galle River as early as 1832, and in 1835, N. S. Manning, who had been in the
United States’ service and up the Chippewa and Red Cedar rivers after lumber to
rebuild Fort Griswold, came to Eau Galle.

The real history cf the place began a few years later, in 1838-39, when Capt.
George Wales, a West Point graduate, in partnership with Thomas Savage and a
millwright styled Captain Dix, erected a sawmill here. According to a former
historian, (History of the Chippewa Valley, 1892) Captain Wales was a man of .
rare business capacity but of dissolute and extravagant habits. The mill was put in-
to operation the following spring. William Carson and Henry Eaton, two yvoung men
the former from Canada and thelatter from New England, visited therlverat thattime,
selected a location and began to get out square timber and shingles. Some months
afterwards Thomas Savage (a brother-in-law of Carson) and Captain Dix disposed
of their interest in the mill to the new comers and the firm became Carson, Eaton &
Wales. Captain Wales attended to the financial department of the concern until
he retired from it in the fall of 1844 and left the valley never to return. The mill
burned but was rebuilt. According to Frank Pierce, now president of the First
National Bank of Menomonie, who was in the employ of the concern for 10 years—
from January, 1889 to the latter part of 1898—first as bookkeeper and then as
manager, Mr. Savage sold to William Carson about the year 1839, and the business,
then small, was continued under the name of William Carson & Co. Not very
long afterward Henry Eaton entered into partnership with William Carson under
the name of Carson & Eaton. For a very short period Burrage B. Downs was 3
partner. Late Elbridge D. Rand of Burlington, Iowa, came in, making it Carson,
Eaton & Rand, and it so remained for quite a long time. Both Downs and Rand
were in the concern in 1854, as shown by a real estate abstract now in possession of
B. E. Graves of Eau Galle. Downs sold out for 810,000, and in February, 1866,
Mr. Eaton sold land, and it was probably at that time that he got out of the con-
cern and went to Winona, Minn., and the subsequent style of the concern was
Carson & Rand. Mr. Rand died about the year 1887, and his estate, which was
large, was cared for by three trustees, Mr. T. G. Foster, Horace F. Rand (a son)
and Mrs. Carrie A. Rand, the widow. Mr. Foster was the active trustee, and it
was he who in January, 1889, brought Frank Pierce to Eau Galle to take the place
of bookkeeper for the firm, which proved a short step to the position of manager.
Some time before Mr. Pierce’s advant on the scene the firm had discontinued the -
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manufacture of lumber in Eau Galle—the pine timber having been all cut by 1879
or 1880—and remodeled the water mill into a roller flouring mill, which was one of
the first, if not the first, in the state. previous grinding having been done by stones.
About 1897 this mill burned and was not rebuilt. Mr. Carson. the last surviving
partner of the old firm, having died, Mr. Pierce closed out the business in 1898,
finally sending all documents to the heirs both of Mr. Carson and Mr. Rand at
Burlington, Iowa. Since then Eau Galle has since seen nothing like its former
activity, as the Carson & Rand concern, through all the latter phases of its existence,
at- least, was very active in handling evervthing which farmers produce or are
interested in. :

One of the live personalities of the village for many vears, and general superin-
tendent of mill and yard work for the company, was William H. Smith, who was
born in Will County, Ill., in 1832, of Vermont parents, taught school as a young man,
and came to Eau Galle in the spring of 1857. He married Miss Sarah J. Flint.
Mr. Smith was a brother-in-law of William Carson. He has passed away, as also
has Patrick Fitzgerald, another well known pioneer, who came to the village with
Mr. Carson and was made outside superintendent for the company, directing and
supervising the work of the men in the woods, with power to hire and discharge
men according to his judgment. He was capable, honest and genial, and very
popular.  He finally retired and bought a little house in the village. where he made
his home for the rest of his life, for ten years never going outside of it as far as
Durand. James Rayburn was the original village blacksmith, and James A.
Graves, father of the present postmaster, was lumber pilot on the river for Carson &
Rand, and also kept a boarding-house.

The village was surveyed and platted in September, 1889, for the trustees of
the estate of Elbridge D. Rand, namely, T. G. Foster, Carrie A. Rand and Horace
S. Rand. )

William Carson, so far as now remembered, was the first postmaster of Eau
Galle and had the office for many years, some say for about 40. The next was E.
M. Drake, who moved the office to the east side of the river on top of the hill, where
he had a store. Daniel Barnes, who succeeded Mr. Drake and had a small confec-
tionary store, moved it down town again. Then David Caldwell became post-
master, who was a shoemaker and had a small shop, though he did not locate the
post office there. O. W. Fowler, successor to Mr. Caldwell as postmaster, moved
the office to its present location next to the E. J. Nelson store, and continued to
handle the mail for the next 10 or 11 years. He was succeeded by Bennett E.
Graves, the present postmaster, who took the office May 13, 1915, under the first
administration of President Wilson. The Eau Galle post office is one of the fourth
class, with two rural routes, which were established in Postmaster Caldwell’s
time. One of these routes goes east and has a length of 25 miles; the other goes
west and is 16 miles long. The office has 16 lock boxes and 108 call boxes,

The people here have seen three different creamery enterprises operated, the
first by Carson & Rand. The second was a cooperative farmers’ concern, which
ran for some six or seven years, the building being located across the bridge on the
east side of the river. Owing to differences of opinion among the farmers, it was not
a great success and finally came to an end. There is now a good creamery in the
village, installed in a modern building of stucco construction, which was erected by
Hackman Bros. in 1920. In 1921 they sold out to W. M. Koage, the present
proprietor, who in 1923 turned out about 151,000 pounds of butter and 4,100
gallons of ice cream. ‘

Bennett E. Graves, who was in mercantile business in Eau Galle for 20 years,
was first employed here in the brick store of Carson & Rand: afterwards in the
Weinzril building, the frame building now occupied by the store of E. J. Nelson,
who bought the business in May, 1923, from Mr. Graves, the latter having started
it in 1907. The post office occupies the same building, a partition dividing it from
the store. The Carson & Rand store was sold to George Tarrant & Sons, for whom
Mr. Graves worked for six years, and they sold to Graves & Drake, the Graves of
this firm being Bennett E. Graves, the present postmaster. Silas Unser also con-
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ducted a mercantile store in the village with his son, William P., as partner, for
about ten years, starting about 1908. There are now three general stores in the
village. ’

Within recent years there have been several bad fires here, one of which, about
two years ago, destroyed the former Nelson store, together with E. H. Hooper's
pool hall and confectionary. An active enterprise is the Topliss wagon and repair
shop, started by Geo. R. Topliss and father in 1891. There is no regular hotel in
Eau Galle, but Mr. and Mrs. Peter Wolf supply transients with rooms and meals.
The daily stage that carries the mail between here and Durand also takes passen-
gers. Banking facilities are found at Durand and Downsville.

The Eau Galle Telephone Company is a local concern established over 20 vears
ago and incorporated April 7, 1904. The lines extend out about seven miles in all
directions and there are from 240 to 250 phones. The present officers of the
company are: George Baer, president; A. M. Abbott, vice president; George
McGilton, secretary, and B. E. Graves, treasurer.

The people in the village of Eau Galle obtain their water for domestic purposes
from wells, some raising the water by windmill power, but others obtaining power
from the lines of the Durand Light & Power Co., who bought out a locai farmers’
cooperative plant, the secretary and manager of which was William H. (known as
“Dan”) Huntington. The Durand Light & Power Co. was organized in 1899,
William H. (“Dan”) Huntington, H. M. Orlady, Frank Pierce, F. J. Gobar, A. ]J.
Wallace, George Topliss, Jr., George Tarrant, Sr., George Tarrant, Jr., C. A.
Ingram and H. D. Tanner being among the other stockholders, who numbered
about 25 in all, most of them being Durand people. None of these original stock-
holders are now in the company. The present dam at Eau Galle was built, or
completed, in 1913. In December, 1922, the company put in a new generator and
have two now in use, the other having been installed in 1914. The older one is a
generator of 200 kilowatts and the newer one of 250 kilowatts. Power is furnished
to quite a number of families in the village, and to some outside, having home
storage plants, the total number being about 50. The power plant also operates
the feed mill which was formerly operated by H. D. Tanner and has been continued
in use up to the present time. Harrison Boa is the present manager of the power
plant at Eau Galle, while H. A. Miles is manager for the company in the Durand
offices.

The first school in the village that is now remembered was kept in one end of
the Carson & Eaton boarding-house in the early 60’s and for probably nine or ten
vears subsequently. Then a school was built on the present school site and was in
use until some 30 years ago at that location, when it was moved to a position nearer
the center of the village. About the beginning of the present century, or soon after,
the two-story school building now in use was erected, and the old one, being sold for
a store, burned down a few years later. About the same time an addition was made
to the present building, which houses a ten-grade school, the two highest grades
corresponding to the two first years of high school There are four rooms, with as
many teachers. This school is designated as Joint District No. 1 of Eau Galle and
Waterville.

St. Henry’s Congregation.—Previous to the year 1866 the spiritual needs of the
Catholics in Eau Galle were attended to by missionary priests, who came here
from different places and held occasional services. Among them was the Rev.
Michael Heiss from Milwaukee, who was later archbishop of that place, and there
were also some French priests. The services at first were held in private homes,
but in 1859 a small frame edifice was erected for worship, which stood close to the
bridge in the southwest part of the village on lots 2, 3 and 4. From 1866 Eau Galle
had resident pastors, the first of whom was the Rev. Fagin, who remained two years.
Then Father Florenz was here for a year. He was followed by Father Nicholas,
who also spent a year here, his pastorate covering the year 1870. For the next
three years the pastor was the Rev. John Meurs, at which time there were probably
about 50 families in the congregation. The church began to get stronger in the
early 70’s after the Franco-German war. At that time there was a French parish
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at Dead Lake in Pepin County. The next pastor, Rev. H. Wirz, came in 1873,
and was succeeded by Father G. Keller, whose pastorate lasted from 1874 to 1876.
The pastor’s duties were then by no means confined to the village of Eau Galle,
for at that time Eau Galle was the center of a parish that included several other
Dlaces as missions. From 1869 to 1877 Durand was a mission to Eau Galle; El
Paso, Pierce County, was a mission to this place in 1873, 1876, 1880 and 1881;
Menomonie was a mission of Eau Galle from 1869 to 1878; Mondovi and Plum
City were also missions and there was a mission at East Springfield, Buffalo County.
Father Edward Fraley succeeded Father Keller, and the next pastor was the Rev.
M. Flammang, who was here seven months. Then came Father Joseph M. Baur,
who was here from 1881 to 1883, his successor bein g the Rev. W. Weckes, from 1883
to 1885. The Rev. Bernard Klein served as a supply from 1885 to 1892, and the
Rev. William Reading was pastor from 1893 to 1903. Father Reading did good
work in building a new church, of brick veneer construction, in the west end of the
village, where eight acres of land had been bought in 1883 from William Carson,
and two more (also from Carson) in 1884. The building of the church was begun
in 1893 and in 1894 Father Reading built the parsonage. In 1900 he built an addi-
tion to the church which caused the building to assume the form of a cross. Father
Reading’s successor was the Rev. Adolph Miller, who came in 1903 and remained
until 1907. Then Father William Ludwig spent a year as pastor in Eau Galle,
and after him the Rev. A. Douben was pastor from 1908 to October, 1912. Father
Douben’s successor was Rev. Joseph Laufer, who served until Feb. 10, 1917, when
he was succeeded by the present pastor in charge, Rev. Joseph Steinhauser. The
latter had been here but a few months when, on July 5, 1917, the church edifice was
struck by lightning and burned down. This was a heavy disaster for both priest and
. people, but Father Steinhauser took up the task of erecting a new building, and, his
people responding to the call, the work on it was started in September the same vear,
though on account of causes connected with the war, it was not finished until
February, 1919, being dedicated on May 18 following, by Bishop Schwabach. It
is a nice looking building, with a ground plan of 46 x 98 feet, and has a fine basement
and a belfry with three bells. There are about 400 souls or 100 families in the con-
gregation. When Father Steinhauser first came here he had Elmwood and Farm
Hill for missions, but was soon relieved of them and since no missions have been
attached to Eau Galle, so regular services are held here. There are six active
societies connected with the church: the Holy Name society, for men; the Catho-
lics Knights of Wisconsin, for adults, and a juvenile branch of the same order;
the Ladies’ Altar Society; the Young Ladies’ Sodality and the Catholic Boys’
Brigade. At an early day a Catholic cemetery was laid out across the creek, but
was superseded in 1882 or 1883 by the cemetery now used.

The other church in the village belongs to the Methodist Episcopal denomina-
tion. This congregation was started many years ago, the first Methodist preacher
coraing here in June, 1856, from Spring Creek. Rev. Mr. Gurley came about 1856
and held services in the schoolhouses and in homes. Fau Galie was then served
from Arkansaw, Pepin County, but about 1884 or 1885 became a separate charge,
with the Rev. F. Borgia pastor. The congregation was then a large one and about
1887 erected the present church edifice. There are now three outside appointments
in connection with the charge, namely: West Chapel, situated four and a half
miles west of the village, the congregation having a small building; East Chapel,
also with a small building, located four miles to the east, in the locailty known as
Waubeek in the town of Dunn: and a congregation at Hay Creek, three miles
northeast of the village, which holds services in a schoolhouse. The services in
Eau Galle are held every Sunday morning, there being a meeting of the Epworth
League in the evening. The congregation numbers from 85 to 90 members. A
good parsonage forms a part of the church property.

In addition to the churches a camp of Modern Woodmen of America and one
of Royal Neighbors, long established, afford opportunities for social meetings.
John Green Post No. 167, G. A. R., was also for many years an institution of the
village, where the Civil War veterans used to gather to greet each other, transact
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post business, and fight their battles o’er again until time so thinned their ranks
that further meetings were discontinued.

Fall City is situated in the upper part of Section 30, Township 27 north of Range
11 west, and is in the political town of Spring Brook. This locality was settled in
May, 1855, by several members of the Wiggins family, including Elijah, S. T., H. B.
and J. W. Wiggins, also C. C. Tubbs and Silas Blodgett, all of whom had taken
claims of 160 acres each a year before. At that time this region was very wild ard
there were many Indians in the vicinity. .

Soon after settling here H. B. Wiggins began the erection of a sawmill, and in
1856 began sawing lumber. About the same time a sawmill and grist mill were
built by a millwright named Reuben George. About the middle 60’s there were in
Fall City a sawmill, a grist mill, a store, two blacksmith shops, a photograph
gallery, a carpenter shop, and for a part of the time two hotels, besides some
dwelling-houses. Later a stage line was established between Fall City and Menom-
onie, the stages running twice a week. E. W. Parker was the contractor and a man
named Bradford the driver. In 1880 the place had a population of 40. For many
years a post office was maintained, but it has been discontinued ard the village 1s
now on a rural route served from Menomouie. Tiicre is a general store conducted
by Curtis Verne, a garage, the proprietor of which is O. W. Klatt, and a feed mill
operated by Glen Whiting. The village is not without a good school (District No. 2,
established in 1876), and there is also a camp of Modern Woodmen of America,
No. 6050, which has a good membership. There are about 18 or 20 residences,
somewhat scattered.

An interesting article in regard to Fall City, written by Eugene Wiggins, was
published by the Dunn County News on. June 14, 1923, and has been reprinted in
this volume. It may be found in Chapter XXI.

Granger was a settlement which existed some 40 to 45 years ago, the location of
which has been vaguely described as ““‘in the northwest part of the county.” It is
said to have had a population of about 100.

Graytown is a small community center in Section 5, town of New Haven. The
place was named for Aaron B. Gray, who is regarded as its founder, and who was
born at Wheeler, N. Y., Feb. 7, 1843, son of Daniel and Lydia (Wheeler) Gray.
On June 3, 1874, Mr. Gray married Emma Colbath, who was born at Czmeron,
N. Y., March 20, 1858, daughter of William and Rebecca (Chase) Colbath. Mr.
Gray came west in 1879, was in the hotel business at New Richmond, Wis., for two
vears, and came to the town of New Haven, Dunn County, in the fall of 1881. He
bought 40 acres of land in Section 5, which he farmed for 24 vears. Graytown is
not on a railroad, nor has it any post office, the mail being collected and delivered by
rural route service from Clear Lake, Polk County. From about 1889 to 1899 the
Glenwood Manufacturing Co., a lumber concern, had a spur tract from the **Soo”
at Glenwood to Graytown and cut timber in this vicinity. The village has a saw-
mill, and shingle mill, a cheese factory, a general store, and a few residences. The
nearest church is at Reeve, Barron County. Gravtown has always been a small
village, but has its charm for those who prefer life in a quiet rural community to the
noise and bustle of the cities.

Hatchville, situated on the line dividing the town of Lucas from that of Weston,
and close to the western line of Dunn County, was formerly a post office, and though
never more than a small hamlet, has been known to the people in the western part
of the county for many vears. At the present time Hatchville has a store and a
creamery, the latter situated in the town of Weston. There is also a church known
as St. John’s Church. Postal service is supplied by rural route from Spring Valley.

Haystown is the name of an early settlement in the town of Tiffany, which was
about a mile west of Boyceville. About 1868 a sawmill was established here by
five men, four of whom were members of one family, the name of which was spelled
““Hays”’ by some of the members, and ‘“Hayes” by others. The four men alluded
to were William, Ansel A., John N. and Alonzo W. Hayes, the other partner being
David Lawton. Having bought the power site, they built a dam and mill, which
latter they operated for 135 years or so. Then they added a grist mill and operated
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both, the plant being known as the Tiffany Creek Mills. A small settlement grew
up, named for the Hayes (or Hays) family, and consisting—in addition to the
mills—of a store and post office and a few dwellings. The store was conducted
by Daniel Shaw, and the first postmaster was A. D. Caryl, the mail coming by
stage from Menomonie. This stage was driven for a number of years by William
Boursau. Later, before the coming of the railroad, the post office was moved to
the home of John Cook, at Bovceville, and was known as the Boyceville post office,
though the railroad company named the station Barker, the latter name—used both
for the station and village—not being dropped for some seven or eight years. The
Tiffany Creek Mills ceased operations in 1914, after which there was nothing much
left. Some seven or eight years ago, however, William Teegarden settled here and
has since remained. He operates a sawmill and has also a large itehouse. Quite
recently Henry M. Lohnis, who was a soldier in the World War, has built a large
hennery at Haystown. It measures 20 x 80 feet and contains an incubator with a
capacity of 5,808 eggs.

Irvington, two and a half miles south of Menomonije and on the Red Cedar
River, which is here crossed by a bridge, derives its name from the Irvine family.
The place was formerly called Bullard’s Creek. In 1854 Geo. K. Irvine settled
here and operated a sawmill (water mill) until 1882, when he settled on a farm one
mile south. Then his son, Frank C. Irvine (born in Iowa and now living in Minne-
apolis), bought a steam mill situated on the creek 80 rods south of the water mill,
and operated it until 1890. In that year the property came into the hands of a
Minneapolis concern known as Coffin’s Box & Lumber Company, who established
a plant at Irvington, starting in a small way but gradually adding to it in buildings
and machinery until it was quite a large and important concern. At first the
company manufactured veneering, but subsequently started a basket factory, mak-
ing bushel baskets from elm wood, a business that they carried on until 1907.” E. C.
Coffin was general manager and William C. Schaefer, superintendent of the mill.
Frank C. Irvine was resident buyer and had charge of the shipping and office work.
When timber became scarce in this locality the company closed out their business
here and are now located at Midway between St. Paul and Minneapolis. At
Irvington there is now a store and a feed mill, and the Frank Carter Company of
Menomonie ship some wood from here. The store, which includes a meat market,
is conducted by Henry L. Rude, who bought it in April, 1823, from J. D. Fisher,
the former proprietor.

Lochiel, a former village situated on Otter Creek in the town of Hay River,
and about three miles north of the village of Wheeler, is said to have been first
settled in 1869. 1In 1891 it had a population of about 100 (reported), with a post
office and a mail service twice a week. At the same time there was a steam feed
mill owned and operated by D. D. & A. McPherson, who also operated a lumber
business here, the mills being conducted until about 1896, after which the place
declined and ceased to exist as a community center.

Louisville is a locality in the eastern part of the town of Dunn, which was first
settled in the middle 50°s of the last century. It has always been a farming com-
munity and no village has ever developed here; it is said, indeed, that Louisville
has never even contained a store or a blacksmith shop. As there were quite a
number of people who came here and took land for farming purposes, the settlement
was more or less scattered. The locality was originally called the Massee settle-
ment after a pioneer family of that name; but in 1865 a post office was established
in the neighborhood and named Louisville in honor of Theodore Louis, one of Dunn
County’s most notable pioneers, and the settlement soon took the name of the post
office. A more detailed account of it, written by J. C. Ticknor, may be found in
Chapter XXI of this volume. ‘

Lucas was many years ago a farm-house post office in Section 32, town of Lucas.
In the early 80’s a man named Z. Bliss ran a stage between this place and Menom-
onie. About 25 people lived in the vicinity of the post office.

Menomonie Junction is in Sections 4 and 11, Township 28 north of Range 13
west. It is on the Chicago, St. Paul, Minneapolis & Omaha Railway, which here
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makes a junction with a branch of the Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul. The
“Omaha” road (this branch then being known as the West Wisconsin railroad) was
opened for traffic at this point in the spring of 1871; and the C. M. & St. Paul
branch from here to Menomonie was built in 1880 (see Chapter XII). At the
Junction there is a store and there is a population in the vicinity of 100 or more.
A survey and plat were made in October, 1881, but no real village has yet developed
here. The chief importance of the place is that travelers by the ‘“Omaha’ going
to or coming from Menomonie have to change trains here.

Meridean.—The village of Meridean is situated on the ‘Chicago, MMilwaukee &
St. Paul Railway, in Section 14 of the town of Peru, and is about half a mile from
the Chippewa River. The original village of Meridean, however, now referred
to as ““old Meridean,” was in Section 6, town of Rock Creek, at the confluence of
Fall Creek with the Chippewa, where for many vears a ferry has been maintained
(in Section 5, Township 26, Range 11). At old Meridean a shingle mill was built
in 1863 by Ira Dean, who in the following yvear sold it to Garland & Nicholls, a firm
composed of Jerome B. Garland and E. A. Nicholls. The mill later came into
possession of Chapman an1 Thor;» . who operated it 1or a number of vears and in
1880 were turning out about 75,000 shingles a day. Up to that time the property
had been destroyed three times by fire but rebuilt.

In 1871 Garland & Nicholls and the Eau Claire Lumber Co. built a sawmill there
which had a capacity of 18,000,000 feet per vear. It was equipped with one gang
and two rotary saws, a gang edger, trimmers, and lath, shingle and picket machines.
E. A. Nicholls had come to (old) Meridean in 1864 with Mr. Garland and entered
into partnership with Chapinan & Thorpe in the shingle mill. He also managed
the company’s stock farm on 1,500 acres. A tragic incident of those days is still
remembered. On Sept. 30, 1871, the boiler in the shingle mill exploded, whereby
Nora Nebow, a young girl of 16, and her uncle, Peter Aas, employed as fireman, were
killed. Miss Nebow was a sister of Mrs. Ole Fossum now living in Meridean.
In 1888 the Eau Claire Lumber Co. sold out to the Mississippi River Logging Co.,
the village at that time having about 135 inhabitants. The latter company
operated the business for several vears and then changed the scene of their activities
to Routledge, Minn. This brought the life of the old village to an end and the
Meridean post office was moved to its present location, where there was a store
conducted by L. E. Schnare. What was left of the original village also moved
with the post office and the present village of Meridean was started.

The Norwegians, who formed a considerable part of the population of old
Meridean, at an early date built an Evangelical Lutheran church there, which was
destroved by a flood in 1880. It was rebuilt in 1882, being dedicated Jan. 7, 1883,
but in 1886 it was again destroyed, this time by fire. Another building was erected
to take its place in 1889, the new structure being dedicated on August 23, that year.
Two Sunday schools were conducted in connection with it, the organization being
in charge of the Rev. L. Lund of Menomonie. The church remained at its old
location until-thic spring of 1921, when it was moved to a point a mile and a quarter
south and two miles east of Meridean, in the town of Rock Creek.

There are several traditions in regard to the origin of the name Meridean, which
have been investigated somewhat carefully by O. E. Hagen of the town of Rock
Creek, and the result of his investigations is here presented.

One tradition is to the effect that in the early part of the nineteenth century,
before the beginning of the lumber traffic and the advent of settlers into this region,
a trapper named Dean lived with his family on what is known as Meridean Island.
After a few years he lost his wife, whose name was Mary, by drowning in the river
or slough, and in her memory the trappers and early adventurers called the place
Mary Dean.

According to another tradition, in the early days of the lumber traffic on the
Chippewa, a voung woman named Mary Dean came down the river on a lumber
raft from a sawmill above. On arriving at the mouth of the slough the raftsmen
tied up the raft for the night and got into a drunken brawl, in the course of which
she was murdered by them. and after burving her body in the jungle close by,
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they called the place by her name in a sort of grim jest.

In the third story it is related that in the pioneer days of this region a certain
Mrs. Dean came up the Chippewa River on a steamboat, being on her way to join
her husband, who was emploved in the lumber traffic. She was accompanied by
her bright little daughter Mary, who from her sweet character soon became the pet
of all on board, so that the rough manners and profane conversation of the boatmen
and lumberjacks were for the time, at least, softened into a semblance of decency
and higher manhood. But she was suddenly taken dangerously ill and had to
be taken ashore, the craft being tied up to the bank for a time, while with tearful
sympathy those present watched her life ebb away until death ended her suffering.
A little coffin was improvised from an empty box, and with few ceremonies but
many tears she was buried under a tree, where later the company’s blacksmith
shop was built. In loving commemoration of her, those present gave her name to
the place. The grave and tree were later (1884) washed away by a flood.

Mr. Hagen regards this last account as the true one, as it is supported by a chain
of evidence, starting with one of the men who had witnessed the death and burial
of the child. This man, many years afterwards, when Meridean was pulsating with
the hum of the sawmills and the vibration of mill machinery, visited the place and
told the story to Edward A. Nicholls of the lember company, who later told it to
the informant of Mr. Hagen. It was also corroborated in 1912 by E. F. Baker of
Eau Claire, who in a newspaper article (Dunn County News, Feb. 8, 1912) related
how he had heard the story in 1881 from an old man named McCann (Stephen
McCann, according to his recollection), which differed only in one or two minor
details from the other account. According to him, the girl, who was about ten years
old, and her mother, a widow, came up the river on a steamboat which he com-
manded, and was taken ill and died on the boat.

Other accounts of the origin of the name have also been given, which need not
be repeated here, as enough has already been said. The fact that within a period
of 60 or 70 years so many stories had arisen in regard to what would seem to be a
simple matter, may be taken as a modern illustration, close to hand, of the manner
in which many ancient myths were started, the chief elements in the matter being
faulty recollection and superabundant imagination on the part of the many who
contributed to their propogation.

In the course of time the place name under present consideration became modi-
fied into Maridean (see History of the Chippewa Valley, 1892), and then into
Meridian, which was the name of the post office for a number of years up to 1912,
when the U. S. postal department altered it to its present form of Meridean at the
instance of O. E. Hagen, acting through the Hon. I. L. Lenroot, member of the
House of Representatives. (This, the present form, however, must have been in
ordinary use for some years previously, as the namie of the village is given as “ Meri-
dean” in an atlas of Dunn County published in 1888, a copy of which may be seen
in the register of deeds’ office in the courthouse in Menomonie.—Editor.)

The history of the present village, as already shown, does not extend back much
more than 25 years. There has been no great or rapid growth, but the business
interests include a good general store kept by I. E. Brack, a bank, a lumber yard,
a creamery, and two garages. There is also a small schoolhouse and a good-sized
church. The site of the village is level, but there are bluffs about half a mile to
the south and higher ones farther out towards the north.

The first steps toward starting the creamery were taken in 1898 by I. E. Brack
and Torger Olson, who drove around calling on the farmers to get them interested.
Louis Hagen also took a prominent part in the work but the farmers were slow to
be convinced, and it was not until the following year that the enterprise began to
assume a practical form. Then a farmers’ cooperative company was organized with
65 shares at $50 a share. The creamery has been operated continuously ever since
and has remained a cooperative concern. Louis Hagen was the first manager,
acting as such for nine or ten years, and being succeeded by I. E. Brack, who still
holds that position. In the year 1923 the farmers were paid about $65,000 for their
cream, which was manufactured into 150,000 pounds of butter., The creamery
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building was erected when work was started and its location is close to the Brack
store. A cheese factory was operated for a while before the creamery, the head
man and organizer being Ole Kleven, who also helped to organize the creamery and
was first president of the latter company.

The lumber yard in Meridean was started by Knute Flakoi (now of Mondovi,
Wis.) about the year 1902. It was bought in July, 1916 by the Meridean Lumber &
Fuel Co., owned by H. M. Orlavoy of Durand. The concern deals in all kinds of
lumber, building material and fuel. Olaf Olson is local manager.

The Meridean State Bank was organized Oct. 20, 1920, with a capital of $15,000.
The organizers were chiefly farmers, who took stock in the enterprise. Frank Pierce
(now president of the First National Bank of Menomonie), Walter J. Rowe, 1. E.
Brack and Olaf Olson took a leading part in the crganization. Frank Pierce was
the first president, I. E. Brack vice president, and Walter J. Rowe cashier; while
the directors were Frank Pierce, I. E. Brack, Andrew J. Brunner, J. P. Fossum,
A. D. King, Olaf Olson, O. Theo. Torgerson, Joseph Weber and D. W. Andrew.
On May 24, 1921, Frank Pierce resigned as president and was succeeded by J. P.
McLean, and at the same time Joseph Weber resigned as director. being sticceeded
by Oscar Wilson. No other changes in the personel of the institution have since
occurred (to May, 1924). The capital of the bank has remained as before and the
deposits are now about $85,000. The present building was started soon after
organization and completed on Jan. 20, 1921, except for the fittings. It is a sub-
stantial brick structure with modern equipment, including a steel, manganese,
burglar-proof safe. The bank handles insurance and everything within the legit-
imate sphere of banking operations.

The church at Meridean is known as Cranberry Creek Lutheran Church. The
congregation (Norwegian) is an old one, having been started in 1858, when the Rev.
(Prof.) Larson came to this country from Norway and preached in Pierce County,
and at Little Elk Creek, five miles south of Menomonie. An uncle of Evan Torger-
son of Meridean (Hans Torgerson Dahl) wrote to Prof. Larson to try to induce him
to hold services here. At that time Prof. Larson had a daughter in this vicinity
who was about to be married, and he therefore came, riding horseback by way of
Goose Lake and through a very rough country. He held services and started the
congregation at a place one mile southeast of Meridean in a small log house. Sub-
sequently services were held at intervals in private homes until 1876, when a church
edifice was erected about three-quarters of a mile east of the village site, or half
a mile east of the present site of the church. In 1901 it was moved to its present
" location and rebuilt, and in 1921 it was rebuilt into a cross-shaped building, with
full basement, a belfry and bell being also added. The original building cost
about $600, but the expense cof the enlargement and improvements mentioned was
about $8,000. The people belonged to the Froen congregation of Elk Creek until
Jan. 13, 1878, when they organized themselves into a separate congregation. The
present pastor is the Rev. C. N. A. Garness, who succeeded the Rev. K. Sumstad.
There is a Sunday school, a Ladies’ Aid Society, and a young veoples society called
the Willing Workers. One of the oldest members of the congregation is Even
Torgerson, who came to this locality in 1858 and has been here most of the time
since, having been engaged in farming until his retirement eight years ago.

The district school in Meridean is an old building, erected probably over 40
years, but has been kept in good condition. It contains one room and one teacher
is employed. The people of Meridean obtain their domestic water from wells and
use gasoline lamps for illuminating purposes, except I. E. Brack, who has an indi-
vidual lighting plant.

About a mile and a half west of the village, in Section 15, town of Peru, there is
a ferry across the Chippewa River, which is known as Fair Play Ferry.

Norton, on the “Omaha” railway, five miles west of Colfax and in the town of
Tainter, is a small community center comprising a general store, a cheese factory,
one or two garages, and several residences. Norton was formerly a post office but
is now on a rural delivery route from Colfax. The cheese factory was built about
1917 by Lewis E. Root, who sold it in June, 1923, to William Prange. At Norton
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a Lutheran congregation was organized many years ago and became attached to
what is known in Lutheran circles as the Holden district, being served from Colfax.-
It has continued to flourish and in 1911 erected a church edifice at a cost of $4000.

Red Cedar, in the town of Peru, and on the Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul
Railway, near the junction of its Menomonie branch with the Chippewa Valley
Division, has a station, and a general store kept by H. J. Holland, who is also post-
master. At an early day the place was known as Hunt, and for a number of years
the Knapp, Stout & Co. Company had a mill here. In the early 90's Red Cedar
had about 150 inhabitants, and there was a sorghum and feed mill here run by Frank
Lorshbough, but the former activities are no longer in evidence. There are now .
five or six houses in addition to the store; also a Methodist church.

Rock Falls is a village on Rock Creek in Section 22, town of Rock Creek. It is
on Trunk Line Highway No. 85, furnishing direct road connection between Durand
and Eau Claire, while two miles to the north is Caryville, a station on the Chicago
Milwaukee & St. Paul Railway. The first settler in the territory now included in
the towns of Peru and Rock Creek was a notable man of a very different type from
the average pioneer, and as his name is closely connected with the early history of
the village, the following allusion to him from the pen of Prof. O. E. Hager, published
in the Dunn County News, March 10, 1910, will not be out of place 1n this article.

“One of the very earliest arrivals in the Chippewa Valley, antedating that of
Torger Olson and his companions (who arrived in 1855), and the first settler in the
towns of Peru and Rock Creek. . ... ... was William Plaisted of Vermont, the sage
of the Chippewa Valley, a marvel in the realms of thoughts, living in a world of his
own, far removed from all scenes of the mad scramble for money and wealth. He
was a scion of a family of literary and scientific proclivities, and an uncle of his was
a lexicographer of the rank of Worchester and Webster. Mr. Plaisted’s store of
knowledge, though mostly self acquired, was amazing, and when delving into the
deep recesses of thought his whole soul was aglow with a fervor that was contagious,
inspiring and impelling. His knowledge of the English language was phenomenal
and some of us who have sat at his feet and those of the greatest scholars of our age,
men of high academic rank and distinction, do not hesitate to pronounce Mr.
Plaisted the profoundest of them all. He could read lexicons and grammars as
others do novels, for pastime, at one time bursting into loud laughter over quaint
definitions and at another trembling with scholarly indignation over incorrect or
imperfect ones. Despite the fact that he lived the life of a recluse, he was always
social, affable and genial, having none of that narrow, clannish and uncosmopolitan
feeling so common here, and so offensive to the more sensitive foreigners. As to
his views, political or religious, he was neither intrusive nor obtrusive. Mr. Plaisted
‘was a millwright by trade and as such had traveled extensively, both in the Northern
and Southern states and he may have come here in quest of employment. He ar-
rived here scmewhere about 1850 and was soon captivated by the romantic canyons
and rushing waters of the Rock Creek and the scenic beauty of the site of Rock Falls,
of which he became the first owner. The place is said first to have been called
Rock Run, the name given to it by Mr. Plaisted. Later on he located on the pre-
cipitous bluffs overlooking the Chippewa Valley near the confluence of the Chippewa
River and Rock Creek, where, unknown or misunderstood by the more maternialistic
community, he lived after the fashion of Diogenes, spending his days in profound
metaphysical speculations. Mr. Plaisted died in the nineties of the last century,
like sages of old a conumdrum to the world, a remarkable instance of how genius
is misplaced in life and how an unappreciative world thrusts greats lights aside in
order that cunning and pretentious mediocrity may garner the material benefits
and wear the laurels of distinction He was buried in the cemetery at Rock Falls,
where no tombstone marks his grave and soon nobody will be able to point out the
last resting-place of the pioneer father of this part of the county.” ,

The actual beginning of the village of Rock Falls can be dated from the arrival
in 1856 of George H. Chamberlin. Mr. Chamberlin, who was born in Canaan,
N. H,, Jan. 12, 1827, had come west in 1851 to Briggsville, Marquette County, Wis.
He was married in 1852 to Antoinette Weston, and they resided in Briggsville until
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the removal to Rock Falls, Dunn County. Mr. Chamberlin was a man of practical
affairs, a worker and a builder who established a mercantile business in Rock Falls
which he conducted for 46 years. He also held many local offices of trust and repre-
sented Dunn County in the assembly in the session of 1881. Appointed postmaster
of the village in 1857, during the administration of President Buchanan, he served
in that office for a full half century, retiring in 1907 as the oldest postmaster in the
United States.

In the oldest plat book preserved in the courthouse at Menomonie may be seen
a plat of the village site (or a part of it) recorded under the name of Rock Creek,
the location being defined as “ The north half of the southwest quarter of Section 22,
Township 26 north of Range 11 west.” It is not stated by whom or for whom this
plat was made. The village was again surveyed and platted (this time as Rock
Falls) in November, 1875, for George H. Chamberlin, S. J. Kendall and Betsey
Weston, proprietors, the plat being recorded Feb. 16, 1876. Another plat was made
in June, 1887, for George H. Chamberlin, a part of which, however, was later va-
cated.

In 1857 the first mill was built at Rock Falls by Weston & Chamberlin, and
Mr. Chamberlin, not being a practical miller, hired a man to run the mill until his
brother Hiram had had time to learn the business. In 1868 the mill was sold to
M. R. Bump. On Aug. 23, 1878, it was undermined and washed out by a flood.
Mr. Bump rebuilt it and afterward sold an interest to J. P. Schneider and it was then
operated under the name of Bump & Schneider. Later Mr. Schneider sold his
interest to Wilbur D. Churchill, the firm then becoming Bump & Churchill. After-
wards Samuel and D. W. Andrews (father and son) bought it and it was operated by
them together for ten years. Then Samuel the father, died, and D. W. Andrews
has since been sole proprietor. Where the mill is situated the creek flows through
a deep rocky gorge, which is one of the most picturesque spots in Dunn County,
mill and falls together making a picture tempting to artists and amateur photo-
graphers. Mr. Andrews manufactures rye, wheat, buckwheat, wheat graham and
rye graham flour and feed. In 1923 a concrete dam was put in, replacing the old
wcoden one.

In 1880 the village had a population of 150 and had a tri-weekly mail service.
At the same time M. R. Bump was operating his ““ grist” mill, Harrison Beeman was
established in the village as a mason and carpenter, and William Skelton was
conducting a blacksmith’s shop. Ten years or so later, when the mill above men-
tioned (which seems then to have been called a ‘“‘flour’” mill), was being operated
by Bump & Schneider, there was also a grist mill run by Edward Hoover, which,
however, amounted to little, as it was deficient in power. Another blacksmith’s
shop was started by a man named Weygant, who sold it to N. P. Johnson, the pres-
ent proprietor. The other business interests of the village at the present time in-
clude the general store of George F. Day, a hardware store conducted by J. H. Day,
a creamery, a garage and three service stations, and two dealers in farm implements.
Another store, that of Kleven & Swenson, closed out business in 1923. There are
two churches, one Catholic and the other union. Telephone facilities are furnished
by the Rock Falls & Meridean Telephone Co., of which Lewis E. Hagen is secretary
and manager. .

The creamery was started by the farmers in 1902 and has always been a coopera-
tive concern. It has occupied the same building from the beginning and there are
now about 40 stockholders in the company. During the year 1923 this creamery
received 896, 264 pounds of cream from the farmers and turned out 284,166 pounds
of butter. The value of the butter shipped was $115,935.97, the amount paid
patrons was 8$113,704.67. The buttermaker, H. K. Hanson, has been with the
creamery for 14 vears.

The school district is No. 2, and the present schoolhouse was built about 16
vears ago. An event remembered by a few ‘“‘old-timers’” was the burning of a
former schoolhouse on May 4, 1875.

The first preaching in this part of the county was in 1856, when the Rev. Mr.
Beeman, a Protestant minister, came into the field and at intervals for two vears
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held services in private homes. Then in 1857 the Rev. Mr. Goff entered upon the
work, preaching in residences and schoolhouses until the end of the year 1859.
In 1860 the Rev. Mr. Skinner came and worked until the close of 1862. From 1863
in 1871 the people were served by five successive pastors, the Revs. Doughty,
Webster, Frizzell, Kingsley and Barrett, the last mentioned of whom died during his
second vear's work. In 1872 the Methodist Episcopal conference sent the Rev. H.
D. Jellison, who served as a supply for two vears. In 1875 only a few services were
held and in the fall of that year the conference sent the Rev. Mr. Doughty, who
served two vears, and during his pastorage a parsonage was built. In 1877 the
Rev. G. W. Smith worked in this field; then in 1878 the Rev. John Butler, a Metho-
dist, came, and in that vear the parsonage was destroyed by fire:- In 1879 the Rev.
G. L. Bowen, another Methodist, had the charge. In 1881 and 1882 only a few
services were held, as there was no regular preacher; and from 1883 to 1891 they
were more or less irregular, though the following pastors served here for short per-
iods: Revs. Norris, Doremus, Rossiter (a Universalist), Wells (Baptist) and
Bartlett, the last mentioned being a Sunday school worker and missionary from Eau
Claire. In 1891 the Rev. Mr. Robinson took charge and during his year in the
field the present frame church building was erected, and the old town hall—for some
time the previous place of worship—-was no longer used. In 1893 the Rev. John
Hainer, of Eau Claire, was sent by the Methodist Episcopal Church and served until
18935, after which the Rev. R. Stoakes, F. G. Drake and W. E. Monroe, served each
one year. In 1898 the conference appointed Rev. T. Bigger, who served two years,
and after him the Rev. E. D. Upson served for an equal length of time. Since
then there was been a succession of different pastors, some Methodist, the present
pastor, Rev. E. A. Raue, belonging to the Presbyterian denomination. A Sunday
school is maintained and there is a Ladies’ Aid Society. In the present year the
church was remodeled.

The atholic congregation in Rock Falls was organized 16 vears ago and now
numbers 35 families. The church was built a year after the organization and is a
frame building. It was first served by Rev. Henry Tholler from Altoona, Eau
Claire County, who came here once a month on Sundays and on some of the church
holidays. Then Father A. Siebert, from Round Hill (three miles from Durand)
visited Rock Falls for two years. Then Father Tholler served the congregation
again for two vears, and after him Father Hackner, from Mondovi, who now
serves the congregation twice a month, on the first and third Sundays. A Ladies’
Aid Society is maintained.

As a rural village Rock Falls has strong attractions, and the bustling city of Eau
Claire, with its excellent stores, can be easily reached by car, or by train from Cary-
ville. The benefit order of the Beavers’ Reserve Fund has some members in the
village and its vicinity.

Rumsey’s Landing was a steamboat landing on the north bank of the Chippewa
River close to the point formed by the Southeast corner of Section 35 west, town of
Spring Brook with the southwest corner of Section 36 west, that town; or in Range
12 west and close to the line separating Township 26 north from Township 27 north.
The name of Rumsey’s Landing is associated closely with pioneer times, the years
from 1840 to 1850 being busy ones at the Landing, and also for 20 years later, the
farmers selling their grain here until the coming of the railroad in 1871. There
was an elevator here, a store and a grain warehouse, besides a ferry, the store
being the only one for miles around. In the early 90’s H. C. Ballard operated a
sawmill in the vicinity. The Landing was doubtless named for John and H. T.
Rumsey, who were very early settlers here.

Rusk is a station and hamlet on the Chicago, St. Paul, Minneapolis & Omaha
Railway in the town of Red Cedar. The site is flat and forms part of a considerable
stretch of prairie land. As surveyed by J. W. Remington for the West Wisconsin
Railway Co. (now the ‘“Omaha’), the plat being recorded Jan. 28, 1875; it was
described as *‘a portion of the west half of Section 15 in Township 28 north of Range
12 west.” In 1879 the railway company had an addition surveyed (recorded May
22) that included blocks A to L for a public park.
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On the coming of the railroad (1872) several business enterprises were started
here. R. F. Juchtke opened the first store and George A. Gilbert & Bro. a wagon
and blacksmith’s shop, which they conducted for a number of years thereafter.
It was not long before a second store was opened by W. R. Culbertson, who was a
merchant in the village for about ten years; and a grain elevator was built, it is
thought by James Hill, though it was owned and operated for many years by Hill,
Kinsey & Moulton. Later it passed to C. F. Freeman & Co., and from them to the
Wisconsin Elevator Co., the later concern selling to A. H. Aldrich & Co. of Roberts,
Wis., who are the present proprietors.

F. R. Ross, the present postmaster, was a merchant here for many years, start-
ing in 1887 and for two years having A. B. Webert as partner. William Beyer
and wife, previously farmers, conducted a hotel in the village from 1876 to about
1887, when they returned to their farm. Nicholas Cook, a German immigrant,
opened a meat market in Rusk in 1889 and operated it for four or five years until
his residence was burned, when he returned to farming, his former occupation.
Edward K. Drayton, a harness maker, arrived here in June, 1877, and several years
later was serving as town clerlr. The “rm of Zuehlke & Moedy also conducted a
general merchandise business for some years. Others had settled on farm lands in
the vicinity before the village was started, among whom were the following: John
Hause, who took land in Section 20, in 1855; Adelbert C. Sherburne, who settled
in Section 9 in October the same vear, and George D. Owen, who came in 1865, and
started a farm in Section 5. J. F. Ronneberger took land in Section 8 in 1876.
These men became successful and wealthy farmers. The Sherburne family was
prominent not only here, but in other parts of Dunn County. A feed mill was
started in the village in 1885 by Nels K. Christensen. Since then it has passed
through several hands and is now owned and operated by J. C. Lee.

For some 15 or 20 years after the village was founded it enjoyed a busy and
prosperous life as a wheat shipping center, and it was no uncommon thing to see as
many as 100 teams of farmers and buyers here at the same time. Towards the
end of that period the chintz bug made its appearance, which wrought so much
damage in the fields that the farmers stopped raising wheat and went into dairying
instead. They had already—about 1885—started a cooperative creamery, which
became more prosperous with the increase in the amount of dairying, and is now
conducted under the name of The Rusk Creamery Co. Several lumber companies
have done business in Rusk, including the North Star, the Wilson Weber and the
La Pointe Lumber Co., of Mencmonie, the last mentioned now having a yard and
office here. In addition to the interests already mentioned there are in the village
a blacksmith’s shop. two garages, and a general store conducted under the name of
the Rusk Co-operative Mercantile Co.

The Rusk post office is of the fourth class and has no rural routes. F. R. Ross,
who came to the village 40 years ago, was postmaster for 20 years and, after an
interval, is again serving, having been reappointed under the Harding administra-
tion.

A Baptist congregation, which was organized March 9, 1895, and is now com-
posed of ten families, has a church about a mile and a half northwest of the village.
Two and a half miles northeast of Rusk is the Catherine German Lutheran Church.
This congregation, now including 50 families, was started in 1876. The present
pastor is the Rev. William A. Baumann, who lives near the church and also serves
a church near Iron Creek.

Sand Creek.—The village of Sand Creek, situated in Section 13 of the town of
Sand Creek (Township 31, Range 11), and on the Red Cedar River, was surveyed
and platted in July, 1871, the survey and plat being made by W. Weissenfels for
H. P. and Mary J. Graham, Samuel and Clara A. White and Robert and Mary
R. Folles, all of the city of Eau Claire. .

Sand Creek is a somewhat retired rural community, the nearest railroad station
being New Auburn on the “Omaha,” which is about eight miles to the east and
slightly north, while Ridgeland on the **Soo” lies about 12 miles to the west. Soon
after the platting of the village, or in 1872, a dam across Sand Creek and a flour
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mill were constructed, and for some 12 years thereafter the mill was an important
enterprise of the village, though it and the dam were several times carried away by
floods. Finally in 1884 another flood washed them out and they were not rebuilt.

In 1873 the first school was started, and in the same year Tucker & Pomeroy
had a small store in the village, which they later sold to Ezra Clark, and soon after
that another store was established. The village grew and prospered until in ad-
dition to the mill, it contained five stores, three blacksmith’s shops, three hotels and
two wagon shops. The population was then (1880) about 130. The height of
prosperity was reached about 1881, in November of which year H. Brewer surveyed
and platted a small addition for Ole Nelson. A stage line furnished transportation
three times a week between Menomonie, Sand Creek, and Rice Lake, F. E. Smith
being the contractor and E. L. Doolittle the carrier.,

About 1881, however, the village began to decline, which was due, partly at

least, to the fact that the railroad now known as the “Omaha”, which was then in

process of construction and completed as far as New Auburn, did not build through
Sand Creek, but passed some miles to the east of it, thus depriving it of direct rail
communication. In 1891 the population was given as 100. At that time, in ad-
dition to the post office, there were in the village several stores, a blacksmith’s
shop, a church, a district school, a grist mill and a flour mill. Of the two mills the
former was operated by A. T. Johnson and the latter by P. S. Peterson & Co. The
population of Sand Creek village is now about 110. A large creamery, owned by
the Farmers’ Store Company, has been in successful operation for 18 or 20 years.
The Cooperative Store Co. also conducts a mercantile enterprise that is well patron-
ized and financially stable. A combined feed and planing mill—the one formerly
operated by the Johnson family, and which is located half a mile west by south
across the river—has within the last few years passed into other hands. ~In the
vicinity there used to be a carding mill, which ceased operation after the raising
of sheep was given up here. Telephone service is furnished by the Prairie Farm,
Ridgeland & Dallas Telephone Co., which was organized in the fall of 1906 and
took in Sand Creek as an additional exchange. There is a brick schoolhouse,
housing a two-room graded school built within the last two years, a bank, a hotel,
several stores, a garage and a blacksmith’s shop.

The Bank of Sand Creek, which is a state bank, was established in 1918 and
has membership in the State Bankers Association. It has a paid up capital of
$10,000, with a surplus and undivided profits (Jan. 1, 1924) of $4,060, and deposits
of $144,280. William Larson is president; Theodore Nelson, vice president; and
J. M. Moe, cashier.

The Norwegian Lutheran Congregation of Sand Creek was organized Oct. 3,
1867, and in 1881 a church edifice was erected two miles west of the village, which is
a frame building with a seating capacity of about 200. The congregation has also
two other churches, one situated about five miles west on Lower Pine Creek ,and
the other on Popple Creek, while the parsonage is in the village of Sand Creek.
There has been a resident pastor (in the village) since 1871. The following pastors
have served this congregation or parish: Revs. K. Torstenson, Harald Haakenson,
D. J. Growe, J. Waage, O. T. Flaaten, M. Flekke, O. Neilson and Rev. Engel-
Olsen, the last mentioned being the present incumbent. About 100 families now
belong to the congregation. The societies connected with it are: The Ladies’
Aid (four branches in four different locations), the Young Peoples’ Society, the Dor-
cas Society, and the church choir.

Teegarden, on the “Omaha” railroad in Section 6, town of Menomonie is the
seat of the lumber establishment of Thos. Teegarden & Son, and of the Teegarden
Co-operative Cheese Co. Members of the family from whom the place takes its
name built a small mill in the vicinity (in Section 1, town of Lucas) as early as 1856
or 1857. Teegarden has rural mail delivery from Knapp. '

Tonnar is a place name shown in Foote’s Atlas (1888) in the north part of Section
8, town of Wilson, or about a mile southeast of the site of the present village of
Ridgeland. About 1890 the place had a post office and some 50 inhabitants,

Tramway, on the “Omaha’ railroad in the northwest part of the town of Menom-
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onie, has been known for 40 years until recently as a place where brick was manu-
factured. The industry was started in 1884 by W. W. Winterbotham and a partner
named Holden, forming the firm of Winterbotham & Holden, who bought the site
from Albert Traxler, who had homesteaded the land in 1865. The brick yard they
established and conducted for a number of years, subsequently passed through
several hands until in 1920 it came into those of the Hydraulic Pressed Brick Co.
of Minneapolis, who stopped the work here.

Truax some 40 years ago or more, in the flourishing days of the lumber industry,
was a village or hamlet, the location of which has been vaguely described as *“ down
the river from Menomonie on a little stream that enters the Red Cedar from the
east.” It has long since disappeared.

Tyrone, a former community center, platted in 1858, was situated close to the
Chippewa River, in Sections 21 and 28, town of Peru, or in Township 26 north of
Range 12 west. The place was named by Hamilton W. Hubbard, who settled there
in 1856 on coming from Fond du Lac County. He established a large farm and mill
there and also did some logging, leaving about 1894 on the death of his wife, Mar-
garet.

Vanceberg is a small hamlet of 30 or 40 people on the Hay River in the N. 1. 14
of the S. W. 11 of the town of Sheridan. It takes its name from LeviVance, anoted
pioneer of this county, who established a fur-trading post here at an early date.
It was he who built the first hotel in Menomonie, and he was sheriff of the county
at the time of his death, which took place Sept. 22, 1864. At Vanceberg about
1868 there occurred a battle between the Sioux and Chippewa Indians, which was
fought around the Vance home on the hill, and in which about 100 Indians were
killed, mostly Sioux, as the Chippewa were victorious. In July, 1873, a mail route
was put in between Menomonie and Vanceberg, via Tiffany, and for many years
the hamlet had a post office. It is now served by rural route from Prairie Farm.
In the fall of 1866 a sawmill was built here by Thomas J. and Ingersoll George, who
engaged in the lumber business, and the latter was proprietor of the mill as late as
the early 90’s. About 25 years ago it was moved to Silver Creek, Barron County.
A general merchandise store kept by L. G. Richards, who started it in 1911, and a
small church are the two main features of the community now. The store building
was erected by Elias Cummings.

Waneka, on Muddy Creek, in the northern part of the town of Spring Brook,
is a farming community, the name of which, however, carries with it some historical
associations. In 1852 B. Fowler, father of the late Mrs. Cyrus S. Whittier of
Mencmonie, and a native of the state of Maine, came to Waneka from Dane County
with his family and built a hostelry and stage station here which was practically
a half-way house on the journey between Menomonie and Eau Claire. He was the
first settler in the locality, but after six vears sold out to a man named Heller and
returned to Dane County. At Waneka during the anxious Civil War days the
women used to meet and sew garments for the soldiers, and in the early 80’s there
was a post office and the stages running between Black PRiver Falls and Hudson
used to stop here, but after railroads had been built through this region the stage
lines were abandoned and and Waneka lost its only remaining importance. There
is no sign of a village, but there are two conspicuous churches, one of which is
that of the Evangelical Lutheran St. John's Society (German), a fairly large frame
building with a steeple, built in 1902, there being also a gravevard in connection with
the church. The other is the Salem Evangelical Church, somewhat smaller, bear-
ing the date of 1861, indicating the time when the congregation was organized.

Waubeek, in Section 27, Township 26 north of Range 13 west (town of Dunn),
is not a village but a locality where there was formerly a post office. Waubeek
derived its name from a place in Pepin County, where formerly there were mills.
In course of time the mills burned down and the people then got up a petition and
had the post office moved into Dunn County, to the location above mentioned.
This was done under President Cleveland’s first administration (1885-1889),
the office retaining the name of Waubeek. Mrs. Luthera E. Gardiner (now Mrs.
Luthera E. Ames, of Eau Galle) was postmistress there for 20 vears, taking the office
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at the death of her father in 1888 and holding it until the rural main service was
established. There is a4 small Methodist Church at Waubeek, which was built
about 1884, and in which services are occasionally held at the present time, though
few of the early members are now left. The locality is a fine farming region and
some of the best farms in the county may be found here. Among them is the
Edgar Bow place, the land constituting which was bought from the government
about 1858 by Lyman Fitch (father of Mrs. Ames above mentioned). Another
man had pre-empted it but Mr. Fitch bought him out. Frank Ames (Mrs. Ames’
husband’s grandfather) gave the land for the cemetery. At one time there were
five Ames families in the neighborhood, and it was then called Amesville, but none
are left here now.

Weston is a village in Section 22 of the town of Weston. It is the terminus of
a short branch of the ““Omaha” railway (now the C. & N. W.). Inthe pioneer days
of the county the Fox River Land & Lumber Company operated in this vicinity
and many of the early settlers bought their land from them.

About 1889 William J. Starr of Eau Claire bought up a considerable quantity
of land in this part of the county—about 14,000 acres, comprising about one-haif
of the town of Weston—and a year or two later, having induced the “Omaha’”
road to build their spur track to the site of the present village he built a saw and
planing mill here and began lumbering. That was the start of the village, which
soon became a lively place. A post office was established in the depot, with Alfred
E. Boe, who came here as agent for the railroad in 1902, as postmaster. Within
a few years Weston had a population of about 320 people.

The mill while in full operation cut about 50,000,000 feet of lumber annually.
Mr. Starr continued his operations until 1910, by which time he had cut all his tim-
ber and so closed his business here. The population immediately decreased and
Weston has since been a somewhat quiet rural village. It was incorporated in 1909
but went back to town government in 1919, chiefly on account of having experienced
three disastrous fires, one of which destroyed about half the village.

Alfred E. Boe, already mentioned, who erected the second frame house in
Weston, was among those who left the village after it had ceased to be a place of
considerable activity, but in 1921 he returned and entered into mercantile business
here, buying the stock of general merchandise of W. H. Bliss. At the same time
he again became postmaster and is still serving as such, besides being storekeeper.
Mr. Boe also acts as manager for the Elmwood Lumber & Grain Company, who have
a lumber yard here, C. K. Averill of Menomonie being the chief stockholder in the
company.  There is a garage and filling station and the village is on the lines of
the Downing Telephone Company, organized in 1903.

Some years ago a Methodist Episcopal congregation was started in Weston,
the congregation first holding services in the Modern Woodmen hall, a branch of
that order having been previously established here. About 1919 they bought the
building and continued subsequently to use it for their church home until it was
destroyed by fire two or three vears later. After that they worshiped for a while
in a small building that had been erected to serve the purpose of a village hall,
afterwards building their present church.

In addition to the places already mentioned, a few others may be found referred
to in old publications such as former histories or atlases, the early files of local
journals, and early plat books preserved at the courthouse. Several were merely
plats of villages which never developed into anything. Perhaps two or three
were lumber camps of transient existence ard importance. At one locality,
Mamre, situated four or five miles west of Menomonie, there is a Lutheran Church
(see page 157). One or two were laid out as summer resorts. A plat was recorded
Feb. 1, 1858, showing certain lots north and south of the Chippewa River in Town-
ship 26 north of Range 11 west, the section not being stated. It was a proposed
village called Elkton, the proprietors being W. H. Gleason, C. \I. Seley, C. Belles



226 HISTORY OF DUNN COUNTY

and F. R. Church, the last mentioned being at that time register of deeds for the
county. This plat was vacated by the county board in July, 1867.

Grand View Camps in the town of Tainter, on the backwater lake from the Red
Cedar River, were laid out by William and Mary Burch in 1921 as a summer resort.



CHAPTER XXI
MISCELLANY

Local Sites of State, County and City High School Buildings and Grounds
(By C. E. Freeman).

These sites and grounds in this city cover a space equal in area to three and one-
half of our city blocks and beside, one lot and the full width of street one block in
length. They are distributed over five blocks, four of which lie in the heart of the
city in the form of a square and are situated west to east, between Broadway and
Third Street, and north to south between Main Street and Ninth Avenue.

The State Manual Training building, a department of the Stout schools, and
the city high school building, with their surrounding grounds, occupy blocks 53
(south block) and 76 (north block) and that part of Wilson Avenue, now vacated,
that did formerly run east and west between these blocks. There is in this tract
an unbroken parcel of school ground thirty-six rods long, north and south and sixteen
rods wide, east and west, of three and six-tenths acres of land.

The main building of the training school is located on the east side of this paral-
lelogram tract, facing on Second Street, and that of the high school on the west
side thereof, fronting on Broadway. These two buildings are placed squarely
across that part of Wilson Avenue that formerly extended between these two blocks
53 and 76. They are connected by a long, enclosed, elevated and commodious
passageway stretching from the second story of one building to the second story
of the other, running lengthwise over the strip of vacated street.

Before the erection of these buildings, the city resident and the stranger on its
streets, turning into upper Wilson Avenue, from north or south, looked, if he
would, westward down the avenue and out of its end into the sunshine high over
the river basin and of the valley of Gilbert’'s Creek on to the distant hills and
bluffs. The sky line of these hills and bluffs and the upper portion of their densely
wooded eastern slopes presented a pleasing view, the like of which is not to be
seen through the end opening of any other of the city streets.

The city having acquired title to these blocks 53 and 76, the city council in the
plenitude of its power, gained largely by its grip of actual possession of these blocks,
vacated the intervening street, and now, he that is on upper Wilson Avenue, looks
westward along its open way into a cul-de-sac, closed by the brick wall of the training
school building. Its dark bricked up end was made darker by the shadows cast
therein by the surrounding walls of other school buildings.

The once distinguishing feature of this avenue, the view beyond its western end,
must remain only a remembrance, personal to those who over 20 years ago looked
out upon it. It was a vista that may be mentioned but cannot be visualized by
description so that the reader or hearer can see it, even with the mind’s eye.

The four-story domestic science building of The Stout Institute covers the whole
of the south one-half of block 75. Its main entrance, seldom used by students or
visitors, faces south on Wilson Avenue, while its end entrances on Second and on
Third streets serve the constant daily use of the building.

The site of this building was given to the state. The plan for its construction
was made to cover every available inch of the site. The plan being exhibited, the
adjacent property owners were asked to give, from the north one-half of the
block, sufficient land to afford light and air for the back part of the building and
for access thereto by a public alley.

A sovereign asks, and the asking is intended as, and is interpreted to be a request.
The necessary land was given and the north wall of this state building stands flush
with the north boundary line of the land at first given.

Connected with the educational management of this state school, in its domestic
science department, are two buildings known as the Homemakers’ school. These
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are located on the north one-half of block 40. They are dwelling houses and front
respectively west and east, on Fifth and Sixths streets. Ninth Avenue bounds the
grounds on the north. The house on Fifth Street stands back from the avenue on
the second lot. It is on a commanding height that gives a view of the river basin
and of Gilbert’s Creek to the westward, the house on Sixth Street is in the northeast
corner of the school grounds. This last mentioned house was long the residence of
Mr. George H. Barwise and of his family. They were nice people, rather exclusive
as English people are apt to be.

Mr. and Mrs. Barwise were in many respects typical English folk. The grounds
of the Homemakers’ school then were fashioned on English lines. The oak and the
evergreen trees and the ornamental shrubbery that covered the whole ground now -
occupied by the school, was trimmed and cared for as we are wont to think English
estates are trimmed and cared for. Mr. Barwise was a book-keeper and ever
faithful to his task. It is said that for 20 years the farthest he went from his desk
was to the station at Menomonie Junction. His daily round of labor and pleasure
was methodical in the extreme with a morning cup of coffee brought to him piping
hot in a thin china cup, while he was still in hed. Connoisseurs in taste affect to
believe a certain delicious delicacy is added to coffee drunk from a thin cup, to
beer drunk out of a thick ice-cold mug, and to wine sipped from a thin glass.
In a “bone-dry” nation, succeeding generations, probably, cannot verify these
suppositions, save as to the enhanced savor of coffee so drunk. Never, never
again, possibly, shall man or woman, know the taste of liquor; and of cereals and
grapes there shall, doubtless, nevermore be a brewing, distillation or vinous fermen-
tation. To appreciate the richness of the bead in beers, the acme of flavor in dis-
tilled liquors, and the fine bouquet of wines, may perchance, become one of the lost
arts.

Mr. Barwise gave notice that he must quit the office on account of a chronic
illness. He was told to come each day, if he could, even though he stayed but a
few minutes, or an hour. His employers appreciated his faithfulness and realized
that if he felt that his labors were ended he would not rest easy. He was kept on
the pay roll.

This man and. woman were earnest churchmen and had much to do with the
establishment and the early maintenance of Grace church, then as now, located but
a block away. They made a great deal of Christmas time and as their grand-
children increased in number Mrs. Barwise was busy from one Christmas until the
next in making and purchasing presents for all. Not one was ever overlooked.
At one time M. L. Kern was rector in charge of this church. He had cogitated and
grew from some outside orthodox sect into the Episcopal faith. He was generally,
in the community, spoken of as “Elder Kern.” In meeting Mrs. Barwise he
often accosted her as “‘Sister Barwise,” to which greeting she invariably replied:
“Don’t sister me, I am not a Methodist.”

The Stout Institute gymnasium building occupies all of lot 7 in block 54. It
fronts endwise north on Wilson Avenue, its west wall runs north and south on the
line of Second Street, and stands opposite the south portion of the manual training
school building. The outside face of its eastern wall marks the line between lots
7 and 8, the residence lot of Mr. R. G. Ingraham. He and his family live on this
lot. In winter their house is shaded by the county school building in the morning
and in the afternoons the years around, it is in the deep shadow of the gymnasium.

On this gymnasium lot there once stood a large and richly finished Baptist
church. It was also lavishly furnished, having among its appointments, near the
pulpit, a fine pipe organ, and underneath the pulpit an adequate immersion fount.
When the fount was to be used the pulpit was pulled aside as a discarded stand.

Cost sometimes shows the laudable intention of a builder to build well, and it
‘may indicate somewhat the grandeur of the buildings constructed. This church
‘was built in 1870-1871, when materials and labor were cheap and low compared
‘with prices of today. The writer seems to be reliably informed as to the cost of
this church. It cost $17,000 with an additional cost of $1,700 for the organ.

This church building made over, now stands as a dwelling house on lot 4 of block
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8 at the intersection of Twelfth Avenue and Sixth Street. Its pipe organ (soon
to be discarded for a new one) is now in service, at St. Paul’s Evangelical church at
the corner of Eleventh Avenue and Ninth Street in this city, but the whereabouts
of its fount is not known. The church was built and owned by Capt. William
Wilson.

The county school main building and its adjacent special buildings in which are
located the county training school for teachers of the common schools, the
county school of agriculture, and domestic economy are situated on the east one-
half of block 54. The main building is set well back in its grounds, its north side
answers as a front and faces on Wilson Avenue. Back of it on Ninth Avenue is a
solid mass of wooden structures that serve the activities of the agricultural depart-
ment. This department has its schoolroom in the lower story of the main building.

Where now this main building stands was once a dwelling house in which the
Rev. John C. Sherwin lived for a few years. MTr. Sherwin was one of those men who
by nature and nurture was qualified and equipped to go forth as a missionary to
the early sojourners on the frontier where lived men and women, for the most part
honest of purpose and earnest in the walks of life, but careless of the conventional-
ities of society and of the church. He early appeared in the Mississippi River
Valley and at an early day made LaCrosse his home. He came here in 1859 and
organized the Congregational church. In 1868 he came again and reorganized
this church and became its resident pastor until 1874.

He moved pleasantly and modestly among all of the people. Under his gentle
manners there was a strong and persistent air of purpose which attracted and did
not repel.  He was a successfulhunterand fisherman. Hedid notalarm norflush the
game. He never scared a school of fish from its secluded hole but quietly caught
each fish there. He did not attempt to scare sinners from hell but enticingly
beckoned them to heaven. Whether he was called of God is not known, but it is
known that he came to the people of the West and that he did much good.

Main and Broadway are the principal streets of the city, and all of these school
buildings, except those of the Homemakers’, are within one and two blocks of these
streets, and those excepted, are but two blocks south from Main and four east of
Broadway.

These sites are now the seats of inculcated learning. Here students by repeated
conning of lessons gain a knowledge of the general principles that govern the physical
and mental activities of life. These studies are supplemented by manual training,
but this training is on lines previously determined upon and specifically worked out
in advance for illustration of the texts taught.

Before their present use these sites were not fallow ground. On them were then
the abodes of men and women who lived here some of the experiences, noted some
of the effects and recorded some of the conclusions, that have now become the basis
of study and observation in these schools. The knowledge they acquired rested
largelyontheirdaily direct contact with the unlooked for, theadventitiouseventsof life.

They went before and prepared the way for the student throng we now see upon
our streets. It may not, therefore, be amiss at some future time, to recall the names
of these pioneers while some still live who knew them in the flesh.

Block 76 was always known as school block, but three dwellings were built
thereon before the increase in the school ground area. Block 53 had six dwelling
houses located on it, when, in 1897, it was purchased for school purposes. These
houses were among tte earliest built in the town plat and had in the mutation of
home settlement housed many early day families connected with early day local
history. Three houses stood on the ground now covered by the domestic science
school building and in them lived at different times a number of the early day promi-
nent families. Two houses occupied the ground of the county schools.  Before
the Barwise family occupied the Homemakers’ house it was successively the abode
of the family of a foreman, a preacher, and a teacher. It was a building early
erected on the village plat.

Memoir of Peter Jungck.—The author of this memoir, who passed away early
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in the present year, 1925, was an early settler of Menomonie who knew this com-
munity when it was a mere cluster of homes. It had been his privilege to see Me-
nomonie develop from a lumbering settlement to it present size. His mind treas-
ured many incidents of the early days and had imparted his recollections to C. E.
Freeman, who has gathered much in the way of historical lore pertaining to Dunn
County and the Chippewa Valley. The narrative, recalling Menomonie as it was
in 1868, when Mr. Jungck came here, was given by him to Mr. Freeman in 1914,
and appeared in the Dunn County News of Feb. 12, 1925,

“I came to Menomonie in June, 1868. My brother, Carl Jungck, had been here
for two years. On the block where Egbert Marks now lives, block 128, there were
no residences but the Methodist church stood on the southwest corner of the block
facing south. The Congregational church was built later on the northwest corner
of this block facing north, where Henry E. Knapp’s house now stands.

“My brother, Jacob Jungck, came here in 1853 and was pilot on the rafts that
ran down the Red Cedar River. Somewhere about 1863 he went into the flour
mill of the Knapp, Stout Company as clerk under John J. Carter. About 1866
Mr. Carter built a two story building on lot 3 in block 126 and with my brother,
Jacob, opened therein a store, run in the name of Jacob Jungck.

““When I came here there was a small dwelling house on the southeast corner of
this block and the store built by Mr. Carter and a dwelling house of Henry Grobe
on the west side of the block. These were the only buildings then on the block.

““My brother, Jacob, at the time he went into the mill, married Margaret
Hafmeier, who died in this city in August, 1914. She was the first German girl
who came here to live.

On the triangular block opposite where Mr. Carter’s store was built, there stood
the Wisconsin house, a hotel run by Fritz Knoble. For about two years my brother,
Carl and I lived over the Carter store and my brother, Jacob, lived in a lean-to
back of the store. My two brothers, however, had lived there about two years
before I came here.

“On the grounds known as the Captain Tainter homestead, running from near
the bridge at the company’s mill to where the City hall now stands, there were no
buildings. In 1869, I think, Andrew Tainter, known as Captain Tainter, began
construction of a large house, now the Bertha Tainter hall. The frame was up and
not enclosed, but the roof was on when one day there came up a thunder storm with
a very high wind. I was then at the Carter store. My brother was also there.
We had hard work to keep the doors in the store from blowing in. I looked out
toward the Tainter house and saw it blow over. It went down flat with the ground.
Phillip Rhomback was the contractor and had to stand the loss. John E. Edwards
was the architect.

““On the block south of the block where Mr. Carter’s store stood there was but
one building, a small house, which stood a little north of the southeast corner of
the block. On the block where the Royal hotel now stands there were four build-
ings. At the northwest corner there was the Tyroler house, run by Anton Berger
and Frank Wasser. At the southwest corner the dwelling of Peter Lammer, which
now stands back of the hotel and north of Lammer’s a small building of Mr. Brooks.
On the southeast corner of the block a building occupied by Henry Grobe. The
Wisconsin house, the Tyroler house and the Grobe building were used as saloons.

““On block No. 84 there were on Broadway the store building of Brook & Hess
on the northeast corner, the small dwelling of Philip Rhomback in the middle,
north and south, and the dwelling of William Huber, a little north of the south-
east corner, and the house of John Hess near the Brook & Hess store. On the
opposite block east, No. 835, there was on the northwest corner a small dwelling
house owned by Torger Hansen. On the northeast corner there was the building
used at times for a blacksmith shop and as a machinery shed. On the southeast
corner there was a dwelling house of David Heller and to the west of it was a small
building. This small building was then used as a dental office by J. A. Heller,
a son of David Heller. In the Brook & Hess store and in the Torger Hansen
buildings there were saloons.
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“On block No. 77 there was on the northeast corner what was known as the
court house building. Next south was the dwelling of Andrew Simon. On the
southeast corner was the dwelling of Lorenzo Vaplon, a shoemaker, and on the
southwest corner on the bluff overlooking the low ground, where now is located the
Omaha depot and railroad tracks, was the house of Henry Richard, a worker in the
flour mill.  On the northwest corner was the house of Crist Conrad, a mason.

“On block No. 52 at the northeast corner was the house of Butcherin. On the
next lot south was the house of August Geisert. On the southwest corner was
the house of Jacob Ehrhard, the father of Louis Ehrhard. There were no houses
further south on Broadway, except it may be that Mrs. Morgan’s house was at
what is now the corner of Birch Street and Broadway.

“On block No. 76, the schoolhouse block, David S. Hull had at the east end of
lot 8 a store building-—one story with an “L” at the back end for a dwelling. He
had a drug store and was then justice of the peace. The west half of the lot was
sold to George F. Burton in 1869 and he built on the east part of his west half, a
building. He and another man for a while ran a flour and feed store. The business
did not pay and he the next year conveyed the east half of his west half to Mr. Hull,
who then moved his drug store into this building. In the same year, 1870, Burton
sold the west half of west half of lot 8 to Christian Voedisch and he built thereon a
two-story building. He used the second story as a dwelling and the first floor as a
cabinet shop and undertaker’s parlor. In the basement he had a saloon. He
personally and alone ran the shop and the saloon.

“On the lot south of the Voedisch building on Broadway was a house of an
upright of two stories and a wing of one story in which William Young lived. On
the northeast corner of the block was a small one-story frame house used as a school-
house. Afterwards when the large school house was built on the south side of the
block this small house was moved by Henry Richard onto lot 6 in block No. 77.
It faced the west. Christian Voedisch first lived in it. The building was after-
ward burned.

“On block No. 53 on lot 6 there was a large house, an upright and a long wing.
It was then the residence of W. W. Winterbotham. I think the house on the north-
east corner of the block was built when I came here and that James Blair lived there.
The house west of the corner was built after I came and William Blair lived there.
The house in which Mrs. Mott afterwards lived on lot 3, block 53, was occupied
when I came by Larkham. There may have been a house on the southeast corner
but I do not remember it. These were all the houses on the block.

“The building known as the court house on block No. 77 was used as a court
house upstairs and for a dance hall and church. The stairway was inside the build-
ing on the south side. The building was 34 feet on Broadway and 36 feet on Main
Street. The downstairs was used as dwelling rooms. In a year or two the county
offices were moved to a building where the First National bank building now stands
and court was held in Grobe’s hall on Broadway.

““At first, after my brother and I bought the building 1870, we rented the south
side to Thomas McMoren for a harness shop and my brother, Carl, used the north
side for a shoe shop and I worked for him. The upper part was used as a dwelling.
McMoren died in a few months and we rented this side to John Anderson for a
harness shop. After about two vears he moved away, then we rented the room to
Elsi Gerard for the same business. In about three years he failed and I bought
his stock. This is the building Carl and I conveyed to the city of Menomonie in
1905.

“In 1868 the site of Menomonie where not cleared for houses was covered with
small brush. There was the appearance of there having been some large trees
but they were few and scattered.’”

History of the Massee Settlement (later called Louisville), from a paper read
before the Old Settler’s Society by J. C. Ticknor.—On July 26, 1851, Amos Colburn
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selected the lands south and west of the Red Cedar River on which was afterwards
located the village of Dunnville. There were others who were there at an earlier
date, but they were ‘“‘squatters,” as they did not acquire title to any land. On
March 21, 1854, J. H. Knapp took the lands on the east or north side of the river
opposite to the Colburn tract, on which his company located their store, hotel
called “ Tainter House,” barn and warehouse. The first date on the Tainter House
register is April 21, 1858. As this point was the head of river navigation, it become
a busy point, where the change was from water to land transportation; and
it continued to be so until the railroad through the country put the steamboat
out of commission. No history of the vicinity would be complete without mention
of Dr. Crocker, who located at Dunnville in about 1855 or 1856, was the only phy-
sician in this vicinity for some years and was kept busy attending the ills of the
early settlers.

On June 22, 1855 Ebenezer Thompson selected the lands where the village of
Downsville is located, on which he built a small sawmill, cutting a short ditch across
the bend in the Red Cedar River, using this ditch as a mill-race; but high water
soon .enlarged the ditch until it became the main channel. On Feb. 24, 1858,
Thompson deeded his interests in this mill site to B. 3. Dowu:s, who built a dam
across the river at the head of the ditch, and in the winter of 1859-60 erected a
sawmill at this point; and by his name was the village known.

In McHenry County, Illinois, were a number of families who had come west
from “York State”, who were desirous of getting for themselves a home, and they
decided tocome to northwest Wisconsin. Henry H. Steves came to investigate
and to locate lands for some of them. After looking over the surrounding country,
hedecided that as Dunnville was the prospective county seat, to get lands in that
vicinity; and on Nov. 2, 1855, he selected and entered lands for himself, George
Massee, James Vasey, Edward Ticknor and Stephen Morphey in Sections 5, 6, 7
and 8, town 26 north of Range 12 west. On Dec. 10, 1855 Aaron Vasey selected
land in 1-26-13. On May 26, 1856, William Creaser, Sr., Thomas Massee and Wil-
liam Massee entered lands in the same vicinity.

Having located their lands, the next question was to get their families upon the
new homes. In the spring of 1856 H. H. Steves covered his wagons, loaded his
household goods and family, and with ox teams started for Dunn County. Thomas
Massee came with him to help drive what stock he could bring, and in June, 1856
he landed in Dunn County.

In the fall of 1856 William Massee, with a part of his family, arrived at their
new home, driving there with the first horse team. In 1857 James Vasey, Thomas
and Fletcher Massee and J. B. Steves came through with ox teams and live stock ar-
riving in June of the same year.

In 1858 Edward Ticknor, F. T. and Aaron Vasey and William Creaser, Sr.,
with their families, ox teams, covered wagons loaded with house goods, and cattle,
started for Dunn County and arrived in June, 1858. And in 1859 Stephen Morphey
and family made the trip, arriving in June. and with him came a young man by
the name of William Magden. The trip from McHenry County, Ill., took fully
six weeks when made with oxen.

Theodore Louis, then a young man who had spent some time in the west hunting
and fishing, came to this vicinity in 1856, and finding game and fish plentiful, made
a camp near a small creek and on July 7, 1856, selected this land being in Section 9,
Township 26 north, Range 12 west.

Daniel Smith from Pennsylvania came west with his family and on Oct. 8§, 1855,
entered lands in 7-8, 26-12, early in 1856 moving on to the same with his family.

Israel Barnum and family landed at Dunnville, and on April 5, 1858 entered
lands in 18-26-12 and soon after moved his family thereon. These farms were so
located so that a spring or creek could be used and the buildings were located so
that water from either of these sources was convenient thereto. Good water con-
venient for use was deemed very important by all early settlers.

Francis and John Lorshbough and Michael Smith came west from Pennsylvania
and settled in this neighborhood about the same date or soon after. Samuel Kvle,
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Sr., and family arrived in Dunn County on June 2, 1855, camping first on Mud
Creek, and on July 5. 1838, with the assistance of T. B. Wilson, entered lands in -
Sections 1 and 2, 26-13, and upon which he made his first home. Malcom McLean
entered lands in Section 12, 26-13 on Aug. 1, 1856 and soon moved his family upon
the same. He was one of the first to operate a country blacksmith shop in this
vicinity.

In this neighborhood in 1858 a schoolhouse was built of logs 16x24 with a seat
around the walls with two rows of board desks and seat combined in the center.
In the summer of 1838 Nettie Barnum taught the first term of school therein.
Fanny and Mary Massee each taught this school for several terms immediately
following. In the early 60-s, as other school districts were organized, spelling
schools became the vogue for winter evenings. It was considered an honor for
anyone to be selected by the teacher to enter these contests.

The districts in which these contests were more frequently held were “Cum-
mings or Forest Center, Kyles and Fall City.” The teachers would send out
invitations or notices that on a certain evening a spelling contest would be held
at their respective schoolhouses and would then drill their school for the contest.
Two leaders would be named and they would then select their members from those
present after a warming-up heat, as race men would say. The real contest would
come when a misspelled word would send the speller to his or her seat. In this
contest the school in which the winner was a member would claim the victory.
Many pleasant evenings were thus spent and the ride to the place of meeting would
be made in a large sleigh, the box of which would be filled with straw, and then
with robes and blankets over and under, the boys and girls would enjoy the ride.

In the early 60’s the Fourth of July would be celebratoed by a joint Sunday school
picnic and was usually held in the grove near the Forest Center school. The chil-
ren of the several classes would be dressed up in their Sunday best, loaded into
lumber wagons with as many seats thereon as the box would permit, and with four
horses hitched to the same would be taken to the picnic grounds, where long tables
would be spread with the best eatables the country then afforded.

One of the articles that was thought necessary was a spring pig for each table,
nicely roasted with a lemon in its mouth and red, white and blue ribbons tied around
its tail. The salute was fired, but as cannons were scarce, two anvils were used
instead.

Nearly all of the carly settlers of this neighborhood were members of the Metho-
dist Church before coming here and immediately commenced to organize a religious
society, holding services in the log schoolhouse, and because of their activity
induced their minister to reside in their vicinity. One of the first ministers in this
settlement was Elder J. L. Dver, who was on this charge in 1859 and 1860; and they
built the first church in 1868 under the leadership of Rev. John Holt.

This settlement and near vicinity responded to the call to arms during the Civil
War by the enlistment in the service in August, 1862, of Aaron Vasey, William
Creaser, Jr., Robert Creaser, George Kyle. John Kyle, William Magdén, Samuel
Dyer (minister’s son) E. W. Gurley and T. M. Robinson, who with others from
Dunn County were recruited to fill up Company K, Fifth Wisconsin: but when
taken to. the front they were used to fill up other companies. Aaron Vaszey was
the only one who left a wife and family at home, the others being single men.
David McLean enlisted at Eau Claire in the “Eagle Regiment” in August, 1861.

Of these Aaron Vasey and William Creaser, Jr., were killed in service. William
Magden and Samuel Dyer were wounded and with the others returned after
seeing full service. This company embarked on the Knapp, Stout & Co.’s steam-
boat ““Chippewa Falls” at Dunnville on its return trip from Eau Claire to Read’s
Landing on Aug. 23, 1862 (as noted on the Tainter House register).

On the day for leaving all the friends were there to bid the soldiers goodbye.
As the load would be large the boat dropped down to near the mouth of the river
and the soldiers went on board at that point. This boat was taken over by the
Ili*}uited States government about this date and used as a transport on the Mississippi

iver.
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Horses were scarce in the early days and to supply the demand Fletcher and
Thomas Massee and F. T. Vasey would return to Illinois during the winter and there
they would buy a number of horses and drive them up here, usually arriving in
March so as to have them on hand for sale or trade at the opening of the spring
work. And by their trafficking in horses it became known as the ‘* Massee Settle-
ment,”’ the home of the horse traders.

And my first experience as a witness in a law suit was in a suit to replevin a span
of horses which had been traded for another span. The trial was held in the drug
store of D. S. Hull, Esq. It was a justice and jury trial. E. B. Bundy and F. C.
McLean were the attorneys for the respective litigants and I was the star witness,
and McLean made the statement in the argument to the jury, that ‘“the people
of this settlement were teaching their babies how to trade horses.” As I was then
only 12 or 13 years old, this remark I shall never forget, as I took it as a personal
slam.

Upon the last Sunday in August, 1862, this neighborhood was thrown into a
fright by the report that Indians were on the war path, and that a large band was
in the vicinity of Mud Creek swamp. Chnrch service had been held as usual and
those who lived east of the schoolhouse were met by someone with the report that
the Indians were coming, and for them to give the alarm.

Thomas Massee and F. T. Vasey on horseback immediately started to see that
all were warned. They rode by father’s home as we were eating dinner and sug-
gested that we meet at Downsville. Father insisted on finishing dinner while
mother picked up the few valuables that were around the house. Before these
preparations were completed the neighbors commenced to drive by, all headed for
Downsville.

When we arrived it seemed as though everybody in that vicinity was there;
some had their household goods; but each had some sort of weapon of defense;
all the guns, axes, pitchforks and sythes were there. Then the question was, what
nexttobedone? Somefavoredonewayandsomeotherways,but it finally was agreed
that something more definite should be known before it could be decided what ought
to be the line of action. A company of men on horseback was sent out towards
Mud Creek, all armed with rifles or shot guns. Among these were Theodore Louis,
‘Thomas Massee, J. B. Steves, and F. T. Vasey, and it was agreed that one was to
return and report if any definite news could be learned. But they all stayed to-
gether and when in the vicinity of Fall City they met some parties who had like-
wise been sent our from other parts, and as none had seen any indications of danger,
they all started to return, but, were caught in a heavy thunder storm, and they
camped in a barn by the road until daylight the next morniug. When they returned
they found that the cows had come home during the night and they commenced
milking them for the neighbors.

While the assembly at Downsville were waiting for reports from the scouts
sent out, some decided to go to Durand, and loaded their belongings on a flat boat,
and others built rafts, while cthers took wagons and started for the same point.
While these preparations were going on, a heavy thunderstorm came up, and when
the first thunder was heard many declared it was the cannon at Menomonie, while
others insisted it was thunder. I remember a remark made by a Mrs. Andrew
Shafer which I can now recall very distinctly, ““ If that is thunder I will lick grease.”
It was a mystery to me where she was going to get the grease. The storm lasted
till night and nearly evervbody was thoroughly drenched, and with no place to
sleep for the whole crowd; so some commenced to think that the danger could not
be as great as at first imagined, and they talked of returning home. Three or four
families of this neighborhood decided to try that, and my father was one who did.
By the next night nearly all were back again and soon matters resumed their usual
course. :

Where this scare started from, or by whom it was started, was never definitely
ascertained, but J. A. Heller, then living with his parents on Mud Creek, has given
me this version of the Indian scare. A son and daughter of a Mr. Jones, living on
a farm in the vicinity of Mud Creek, started on horseback for a ride towards Elk
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Mound, and when near the head of the Mud Creek swamp saw smoke from a fire
back of Nathan Skeel’s house, and several persons running around the house and
barn, and they imagined that they were Indians on the war path. They im-
mediately returned home and gave the alarm throughout that neighborhood, and
the families in that vicinity started for Dunnville. I find upon the Tainter House
register of Aug. 31, 1862 this entry: *‘Indian delegation from Mud Creek, Messrs.
Heller, Jones, Harshman, Tubbs and families, residence Mud Creek. Destination,
home.” On inquiry a day or so afterwards, it was ascertained that Mr. Skeel’s
folks were making soap and some of the neighbors were assisting. The same scare
spread throughout the neighboring counties. .

A post office was established, after petition, in 1865. At a meeting called at
the schoolhouse H. H. Steeves suggested that it be called Louisville in honor of
Theodore Louis, the first white man to camp in that vicinity; and this name was
agreed upon. F.T. Vasey was the first postmaster. He held the position for about
three years, when he resigned and J. B. Steves was appointed and held the position
for about 32 years, and until 1900, when the free rural service was established and
the office abolished. Mail was received at first weekly, then semi-weekly, and lastly
daily.

Mrs. Thomas Huey, Downsville, has some interesting memoirs which she
read before the Old Settlers’ Society and which were published in the Dunn
County News, of the early days in Dunn County as she knew them.

Coming to Dunn County by ox team with her parents in 1864 she resided here
through the greater part of the pioneer period, and in her paper she tells of the
hardships of those times.

“I did not come into Dunn County riding after any fine dapple gray horses,
but instead I came riding after an ox team sixty-one years ago this last summer.
A mere child, I came with my parents, Katherine and Thomas Davidson, and family,
from our old home in Waukesha County, near Milwaukee, to five miles out from
Menomonie on the Hudson road.

“0Old Mr. Cockeram, whom you all no doubt remember, had been writing to
my father about how cheap land could be acquired up here and that it was a good
place for a poor man to get a start, so father decided to come up here and buy some
land.  Mr. Cockeram had been our neighbor in southern Wisconsin and had come
to Dunn County previously to our coming. .

“We took the train at Milwaukee, coming part way. Then we got off and took
a boat as the train did not run any further. I think this place was Prairie du Chien.
After coming a short distance this boat was stuck on a sand bar and another boat
passing which was carrying soldiers, as this was in Civil War days, took the passen-
gers from our boat on and brought them to Reads Landing. There we staved all
night at the Bullard House.

“The next day we took a small boat called the Monitor, which brought us to
Durand. There we were met by some friends, the Nimmos, who had also been
our neighbors in southern Wisconsin. They were the parents of Alex. Nimmo,
formerly of this city. They met us with an ox team and took us out to their home
four miles out from Durand on Spring Creek.

““The next day my father walked all the way to Mr. Cockeram’s on the Hudson
road, returning with him and his ox team and took us all and our baggage to the
Cockeram home, which was a long, tedious trip. There were no fine bridges
those days, but it was just down one hill and up another. We arrived at Mr.
Cockeram’s away after dark.

“I remember Mrs. Cockeram as a dear, kind woman and she had supper waiting.
I remember she had some honey for supper which they told us had been gotten out
of a tree in the woods, which we thought very wonderful then. Mr. Cockeram’s
people then lived in a log house which consisted of just one room.

“That fall my father bought the land that is now known as the Jacob Brevad
place on the Hudson road. He acquired this land for three and one-half dollars
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per acre. Just one small field of this land was cleared and there were no buildings
of course, so there was a bachelor by the name of Ergourd who lived in a cabin -
down on Gilbert’s Creek which they called Bachelor’s hall and he went to the army
and we got his cabin to move into. My father had brought a set of carpenter’s
tools from Milwaukee so he got some lumber and made what furniture we had,
which consisted of two bedsteads, table and benches. We had brought our bedding
and dishes with us. Mother cooked on a fireplace and made the finest bread in
a tin oven. I can remember my father carrying a sack of flour home from Menom-
onie on his back five miles.

“We lived there two years before there was a schoolhouse built and our first
teacher in the new schoolhouse was Ruth Hopkins, who afterwards became Mrs.
Miner Dunn, who lived in this city for a number of vears. The first school superin-
tendent to visit our school was Carroll Lucas. I well remember his visitation and
of him telling the children interesting stories. John Kelley, or perhaps he is better
known to you as Judge Kelley, and also his brother, Tom, attended school with us
there. Nellie Drowley also was one of the pupils and later taught the school and
then after that beca: 1: Judge Kelley’s wife.

“ John Oddie and his wife came through about that time from southern Wisconsin °
in a covered wagon and stopped to visit us and then went on and located in the
Boyceville section,

‘““Several years later I came to Dunnville to work in the Knapp, Stout and
Company’s boarding house. There was a family by the name of Burby running
the boarding-house at that time. Charlie Moore, whom some may remember,
was then general manager of the company’s entire business at Dunnville. Mr.
Moore was later elected sheriff of Dunn County and Henry Knapp came to take
his place.

“Dunnville was a busy place those days. The company bought wood and all
kinds of farm produce. There was a large warehouse there at that time where the
boat landed which was first called the Pete Wilson and later built over and renamed
the “Phil Scheckel,” after the captain. This boat brought all the goods up the
river that were used in all the Company’s stores and were hauled from there by
four-horse teams to their various stores.

“I have seen ten or twelve such teams come tearing down the hill and line up
by the warehouse to be loaded. Dr. Lyman clerked on the boat one season while
I was there just before he went to study medicine.

“We received mail only twice a week. The United States mail was carried by
an old Mr. Orr to and from Menomonie, going by way of Louisville and serving the
little post office there. The company kept a big four-horse covered stage which
made daily trips to and from Menomonie, which carried their private mail and any
passengers which would arrive on the boat or any that would come down from Me-
nomonie to take the boat. J. H. Stout was then manager of the river work below
Dunnville and kept a regular room at the hotel which was the first room to the
left at the head of the stairs, which was always kept in rezdiness for him and was
known as Stout’s room. He was not always there as the boat did not get in every
day, depending on the stage of the water. T. B. Wilson kept a driving team and
looked after the river work from Menomonie to Dunnville. He also kept a reserved
room in the hotel further down the hall.

“We all worked hard but there was lots of life to Dunnville those days and we
had jolly times. A great many people from Menomonie came down there in the
winter for sleigh ride parties and had dances in the large dining room. I recall
seeing Jeff George for the first time there at one of these dances. In the winter
there were always a good many stoppers or transients coming through and we would
have the ice crew to board, who put up the ice for the company. John Ticknor
of this city was then teaching the Dunnville school and boarded at the hotel while
I was there. I recall many old familiar faces throughout the county who worked
on the river at that time. Many have passed on. Among them were Pat Mc-
Mahon and William Cassidy.

“While working at Dunnville I met Thomas Huey, who was in the employ of
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the company. We. were married at Eau Claire in July, 1879, and came over to
Menomonie, stopping a few days at the old Menomonie House while buying our
housekeeping goods, which were bought at the company’s old warehouse. Then

While at the hotel, Harry Suter and Jim Williamson made me a potato masher
and rolling pin at the mill, which I still have. The mill was then running on power
and Downsville was then lively.

“Later, in the spring of 1882, we started a little hotel in this Hennemyer house.
It was the spring the Milwaukee railroad was built through and I boarded the men
who surveyed the railroad and also the head men who supervised the building,
and also the first operator at Downsville. His name was Denison. While living
in the Hennemyer house my two oldest children were born.

“In the spring 1883 the big washout, which many will remember, occurred at
Downsville when the dam went out. The company’s store, sleeping shanty, and
several other buildings were washed away. It was then necessary for them to take
the Hennemyer house, which they owned, to put their goods in which had been
saved in the washout, and they bought all of our goods which we wished to dispose
of and sent us to Dunnville to board at the hotel as Mr. Huey was still in the employ
of the company and was needed on the river, being pilot on the rafts in the summer
season and driving team in the woods winters, working for the Knapp, Stout and
Company for over 30 vears. The Cramptons were then running the boarding-
house at Dunnville whiie we boarded there.

“The summer after the washout in 1883, while we were boarding at Dunnville,
the company laid out some lots on what was then known as the old Creaser farm at

I remember so well how happy I was that day when we arrived at our own new home,
and that I made biscuits for supper in the stove I am still using. It had grown so
tiresome boarding with two children and hiring laundry done.

“Mrs. Will Cronk of this city, then Miss Eliza Teare, was teaching at Downs-
ville that year and her sister, Mary, was teaching the Creaser school, which is the
Kyle district now, and the two girls boarded with me in my new home 41 years ago
this winter. A little later Miss Myrtle McGilton of this county taught there and
lived in our home. M Y two voungest children were born in this present home and
we have continued to live there ever since, Mr. Huey passing away in 1915. In his
20 years at Dunnville he had won a host of friends, who recognized him as one of
their trusted citizens. His parents and two brothers preceded him in death. Two
sisters, Mrs. Emma Fohnhow and Mrs. Adelheid Simmork, live in Germany. He
had ro relatives in America. Mr. Walters was a member of the Blue Lodge
chapter and Commandery Masons of Eau Claire, who conducted the ritual at the
grave. He was also a member of the Sons of Herman.

Pioneer Days In Fall City; By Eugene Wiggins; published in the Dunn County
News of June 14, 1923.— During the winter of 1853-54 Elijah Wiggins, S. T. Wig-
gins, C. C. Tubbs, Silag Blodgett and H. B. Wiggins, my father, concluded to
come up and see Dunn County, with the intention of taking up claims if they were
suited with the country. Accordingly in the spring of 1854, in May, they, accom-
panied by J. W. Wiggins, then a young unmarried man, came to Dunn County.

“They were well pleased with the country, and all of the men with families took
up claims near each other of 160 acres, near to what is now the village of Fall City,
in the town of Spring Brook. And in May, 1855, having all disposed of their claims
in Dodge and Dane counties, in Wisconsin, they came together in covered wagons,
each wagon having one or two voke of oxen, the wagons containing the house-
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hold goods. Each man brought two cows and a box of chickens, and they camped
out and cooked their meals outdoors. They were nearly three weeks on the road
and came by way of Black River Falls and through Eau Claire. We arrived near
where the village of Fall City now stands on May 20, 1855, and camped out on the
banks of Mud Creek, and made camp under the spreading branches of a burr oak
tree, on the farm now owned by Budd Young, now of Menomonie. The tree is
still standing. It has not grown much and does not look different from what it
did about 68 years ago. We camped there three weeks while the men folks were
building log shanties, one on each man’s claim. These were the same claims
they had picked out the year before.

“I can remember when we came through Eau Claire. All that was there
was a dinky little mill, a board shanty, and a small cheap ferry boat—and
Menomonie was scarcely larger. The first time I saw Menomonie it was nothing
but trees and brush on the south side of the river. We crossed the river in a small
skiff to get to the Knapp, Stout & Co. store, and left the team hitched to a tree.
I have seen Eau Claire to be the metropolis of the Chippewa Valley, and Menomonie
grow .o be one of the real beauty cities of Wisconsir.. The  nuntry was well tim-
bered then around Fall City, and there were plenty of wild animals, such as deer,
bears, wolves, and various small animals native to this part of the country. At
that time this part of the town, especially near the marshes and hills where there
was much brush growing, abounded in a species of rattlesnakes that we had to pe
on our watch for at all timcz. Twice there were bands of Indians came through. -
I remember my grandfather Wiggins had a large dinner horn that my grandmother
could blow a blast on that could be heard two or three miles, and it was arranged
that in case of danger she was to blow this horn to let the settlers know there was
danger near to some one of the settlers, as the men often went a long ways from home
to cut wild hay, and to cut logs and timber for various uses on their claims.

“One day in summer, as all the men were up on the marsh making hay, the
old dinner horn suddenly sent forth a succession of long and loud blasts that echoed
and re-echoed over the hills and prairie of this part of Spring Brook. The women
at once took their children to what they thought was some safe place where they
could not be found, and the men grabbed their rifles and started for the settlement
on the run. When they got to the house of my grandfather Wiggins, which was
the first one they came to, they found a party of 40 Indians in the log shanty and
clustered around the door, because all could not.get inside. They had done no
damage beyond eating up everything that was in the house and picking up and
appropriating everything they took a fancy to for themselves. The men drove
them outdoors and after some parley with them, told them to “‘puck-a-chee,’’ and
they soon filed away to the north. This party was said to be a party of Sioux
returning from a raid on the Chippewas. This band and one other of the same size
that we saw going along the bank of the Chippewa River towards Eau Claire, were
the only large bands we ever saw at this place. The wolves used to keep us awake
nights, many times howling not far from our log shanties. When my oldest sister
and I got to be about ten and 12 vears of age we used to hunt the cows, which at
that time roamed at will, and bring them home, where they were shut up for the
night. Several times wemet bears and twice we met wolves face to face; but they
always ran one way and we another. I have always been inclined to believe that
we made the best time.

“The settlers at that time had no barns but made cow yards out of tamarack
poles near the house and shut the cattle in them for the night. One dark night a
bear came to our vard, jumped in and killed the only calf we had. Our two cows
were bellowing and making a furious uproar; it woke us allup. Father grabbed his
rifle and ran out, but it was so dark he could not see much. The bear must have
been a big one, for it carried the calf nearly 80 rods from the house, where it stopped
and ate what it wanted. Four men watched near the dead carcass for two nights
but never got a shot at the bear. There used to be herds of deer but I never saw
but one of elk. When the settler wanted meat he went out and killed a deer.
Sometimes they would kill several, cut the meat up in strips and hang it on poles
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in the houses and let it dry, and when smoked a trifle it was fine eating, and would
keep indefinitely.

““As near as I can remember there were only two or three settlers here when we
came, but others soon came and soon there was quite a settlement. There were no
horses and no buggies of any king for quite a long time after this. When we boys
grew up and wanted to take our best girls out we hitched a yoke of oxen to the
old log sled in the winter time, put some hay in the box, got enough boys and girls
to fill the sleigh box full, put buffalo robes over our laps and went to some spelling
school or gathering of some kind, probably three or four miles away. I want to
say right here that those red-cheeked, rosy, happy girls and those bright, strong
pioneer boys had the jolliest and happiest time that can be imagined. They made
the welkin ring as the oxen slouched along, and I venture to say that no young
folks today in their big touring cars have such carefree joyous times as we did in
those happy pioneer days. :

“My father settled on 160 which Mud Creek runs through and began the erec-
tion of a sawmill within a short time after he had settled in his new home. He be-
gan sawing lumber in 1856 with this mill. In Fall City and Waneka there are still
buildings (now standing) erected with lumber sawed in this mill 68 years ago.
In a few years the lordly Chippewa River, which is only a short distance from
Fall City, bore on its bosom a stream of lumber rafts, logs and a number of steam-
boats. Rumsey’s Landing, which is, or rather was situated on the river, about three
miles south of Fall City, was the market to which the farmers of this town, and also
a goodly number from Rusk Prairie, hauled their wheat to be shipped down to the
market by boat. The sawmill and the grist mill owned by John Govin of Fall
City were built about the same time. A millwright, Reuben George, was the man
that finished off both mills and got them to running. He was a splendid mill-
wright and a fine workman. The logs that supplied the sawmill were mostly cut
in the big swamp near Elk Mound, and most of them were run down the creek in
the early spring.

““I well remember the big Indian scare, which strangely enough, went all over the
state in the same day, and stranger, still, at the same hour of the day. It wason a
Sunday morning. We had the chores done and were sitting around the house when
we heard a horse come running at a great speed. We all went to the yard at the
front of the house. The rider proved to be Mr. John Govin, one of our near neigh-
bors. He had a running horse, and, let me say, it could run, too. Mr. Govin was
hatless and his horse covered with foam, and as he flew past he shouted, “ The In-
dians are coming, run for your lives. They are killing everybody and burning
everything they come to.” The next man that came along stated that the Indians
were only two miles northeast of us and numbered over 300 warriors. My father
set me to running bullets at once while he went with several other men to try to
hold the Indians in check until the women and children could be gotten together
in a place of comparative safety. Soon the teams began to go by loaded down
with women, children and old men, and, I regret to say, several men that were
not very old. The teams were running, women screaming, children crying—in
fact, a regular panic. * The mob all went to Rumsey’s Landing, where they were
ferried across the river and all left in a big mob on the south side of it. They
couldnothavebeenleft in a worse place, for ifthe Indians had come they could have
stood on the high yellow banks on the north side of the river and shot the people
down without any serious danger to themselves. All the families came back to-
wards evening and that night camped around the log house of William Bates, while
men stood guard. The next morning all returned home and the Indian scare was
a thing of the past. .

‘“Nearly 60 years ago Fall City was larger than it is today. There was a saw-
mill, grist mill, store, two blacksmith shops, a photograph gallery, carpenter shop,
and part of the time two hotels and a few dwelling-houses. One hotel kept a bar—
the only time I think that liquor has ever been sold over an open bar in the town of
Spring Brook.

“The first term of school in Fall City district No. 2 was taught by Miss Harriet
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Wiggins. She afterwards married H. K. Carrington, now of Menomonie. She
died about 12 years ago. I recall the first term of school. The first term there was
only one book in school, a McGuffy’s spelling book, that was the property of the
teacher. This was passed from one scholar to another as was needed. Later on,
when we began to learn to write, we used brown wrapping paper, when it could be
had, and many times we peeled birch bark off the trees which grew all along the
bank of the creek only afew rods from the schoolhouse. There was not a slate nor
copybook in school at that time and not for many months after that term.  You
will see this was a pioneer school in all ways, in fact, a kind of Abraham Lincoln
outfit. But this school in after years became famous in Dunn County as a school of
good spellers and used to bring home the honors in most all spelling matches with
other schools.

““The first town law enacted in Spring Brook was one against letting hogs run
at large, with a penalty of $5 for violating the law. So far as I know, Hugh Camp-
bell of Elk Mound, who still owns a farm near Fall City, Mrs. E. B. Young, and
myself, are the only ones left of the bunch of pioneers who came in 1855 and settled
near Fall City. The rest have crc sed th: divide into the great unknown.”

Running Valley is a region which extends in a northeasterly and southwesterly
direction, the lower end embracing part of the northeast corner of the town of Colfax
and the southeast corner of the town of Grant, and the upper end extending into
Chippewa County. An account of its settlement was read by the late Mrs. D. C.
Baldwin at the Old Settlers’ meeting held at Menomonie, Oct. 20, 1917, from which
the following extracts have been made.

Running Valley was settled in 1862; Gunder Kinney and Ole Running were the
first settlers, filing on their homesteads in the early summer of that year. Mr.
Running brought his family the same year, but Mr. Kinney did not bring his until
the following year. Several moved there with their families,—the Larsons, Dahls,
Bennetts, Ambles, Halvorsons, and Helgesons. Their covered wagons afforded
them temporary shelter, but by fall they had rude log houses erected. Most of
the men worked during the summer on the Moore farm, earning money wherewith
to buy the necessities of life. In the following year they began to open up their
land, but had to endure many hardships.

In 1870 the settlement was visited by an epidemic of smallpox, which proved
fatal to many. That year, also, Gunder Kinney, while tearing down an old straw-
covered granary, met with an accident which cost him one of his legs. Tom Run-
ning was sent on horseback to Eau Claire for a doctor, and brought back Dr. Alex-
ander, who amputated the leg, Mr. Running assisting by holding the chloroform;
but the operation was so crudely performed that it was a yvear before Mr. Kinney
was able to get around.

Miss Frank Buttertield, wlo later became Mrs. Frank Van Wie, taught the
first school in the valley. The schoolhouse was small and not pretentious, it con-
sisting merely of a few boards crudely placed together so as to afford a rude shelter.
The next year her sister, Ada Butterfield (Mrs. Ada Preston of Eau Claire, now
deceased), taught the school. “They had erected a log schoolhouse by this time
right on the spot where the stone schoolhouse stands, called the Kinney school-
house. When Ada Butterfield taught in the log schoolhouse, it was customary,
the last thing before closing school, to sing. They all stood up and were singing,
when a dozen or more Indians were attracted by the lovely music and were a-peeping
in the windows: but Ada stood at her post. She commenced to keep time with her
foot, and the children forgot all about the Indians, who soon disappeared.”

At one time the Kinney school was the voting place, the precinct extending ffom
Sherburne Prairie to Barron County. Mr. Dahl was elected assessor, and it took
him all summer to do the assessing. The Dahls lived in a log house with an attic
above, and when Mr. Dahl was away from home, Mrs. Dahl and the children slept
in the attic; thev climbed up a ladder in the middle of the house and then pulled the
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ladder up after them, so the Indians could not get at them. When Mr. Alic Run-
ning and Miss Christine Salverson were married, Miss Salverson prevailed on Mrs.
Russell Culbertson to bake the wedding cake, and one who attended the wedding
went back to Norway and took a piece of the cake with him, and it was on exhibi-
tion at one of their fairs. ““That is the reason,” adds Mrs. Baldwin,” so many
sturdy Norwegians emigrated to Northern Wisconsin.

“The James and Andrew Mathews’ families had a log house—-logs just rolled
up but no chinking. They had blankets hung up at the windows. Dick Bennett
and the Knapp, Stout & Co. Company’s men all camped in the house and in the
morning it was 40 below zero. They had one cow but no stable to put her in and
she froze her udder so bad they could not milk her. They went to the marsh above
where Colfax now stands, broke the ice and gathered moss and filled the open spaces
and fixed the windows and the house was very comfortable.” '

In March, 1863 there was a heavy snow, four feet on the level.  The pe